
Resources and Transformation Directorate
Legal and Democratic Services  Cumbria House  107-117 Botchergate  

Carlisle  CA1 1RD  
Tel 01228 606060  Email democratic.services@cumbria.gov.uk

14 March 2017

To:  The Chair and Members of the Cumbria 
Health Scrutiny Committee

Agenda
SPECIAL CUMBRIA HEALTH SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

A Special meeting of the Cumbria Health Scrutiny Committee will be held as follows: 

Date: Wednesday 22 March 2017
Time: 10.30 am
Place: Conference Room A/B, Cumbria House, Botchergate, 

Carlisle. CA1  1RD

Dawn Roberts
Corporate Director – Resources and Transformation

NB A PRE-MEETING WILL BE HELD AT 9.15 AM IN CONFERENCE 
ROOM A/B AND ALL MEMBERS ARE ENCOURAGED TO ATTEND

Enquiries and requests for supporting papers to:  Lynn Harker
Direct Line: 01228 226364 / 07825340229
Email: lynn.harker@cumbria.gov.uk

This agenda is available on request in alternative formats

Serving the People of Cumbria



MEMBERSHIP

Conservative (2) Labour (3)

Mr J Bland
Mr J Lister

Mrs GR Troughton
Ms C Wharrier
Mr M Wilson

Liberal Democrat (1) Independent (1)

Mr N Hughes (Chair) Mr A Toole

District Council Representatives (6)

Ms J Williams - Carlisle City Council
Ms C McCarron-Holmes - Allerdale Borough Council
Mr R Gill (Vice-Chair) - Copeland Borough Council
Mrs V Rees - South Lakeland District Council
Ms V Taylor - Eden District Council
Mr M Cassells - Barrow Borough Council

ACCESS TO INFORMATION

Agenda and Reports

Copies of the agenda and Part I reports are available for members of the public to inspect 
prior to the meeting.  Copies will also be available at the meeting.

The agenda and Part I reports are also available on the County Council’s website – 
www.cumbria.gov.uk 

Background Papers

Requests for the background papers to the Part I reports, excluding those papers that 
contain exempt information, can be made to Legal and Democratic Services at the 
address overleaf between the hours of 9.00 am and 4.30 pm, Monday to Friday.

http://www.cumbria.gov.uk/


A G E N D A

PART 1: ITEMS LIKELY TO BE CONSIDERED IN THE PRESENCE OF THE PRESS 
AND PUBLIC

1  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

To receive any apologies for absence.

2  MEMBERSHIP OF THE COMMITTEE

To note any changes to the membership of the Committee.

3  DISCLOSURES OF INTEREST

Members are invited to disclose any disclosable pecuniary interest they have in any item 
on the agenda which comprises

1. Details of any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on for 
profit or gain. 

2. Details of any payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other than from 
the authority) made or provided within the relevant period in respect of any 
expenses incurred by you in carrying out duties as a member, or towards your 
election expenses.  (This includes any payment or financial benefit from a trade 
union within the meaning of the Trade Union and Labour Relations 
(Consolidation) Act 1992. 

3. Details of any contract which is made between you (or a body in which you have 
a beneficial interest) and the authority.

(a) Under which goods or services are to be provided or works are to be 
executed; and 

(b) Which has not been fully discharged. 

4. Details of any beneficial interest in land which is within the area of the authority.

5. Details of any licence (alone or jointly with others) to occupy land in the area of 
the authority for a month or longer.

6. Details of any tenancy where (to your knowledge).

(a) The landlord is the authority; and

(b) The tenant is a body in which you have a beneficial interest.

7. Details of any beneficial interest in securities of a body where



(a) That body (to your knowledge) has a place of business or land in the area 
of the authority; and

(b) Either – 

(i) The total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or one 
hundredth of the total issued share capital of that body; or

(ii) If that share capital of that body is of more than one class, the total 
nominal value of the shares of any one class in which the relevant 
person has a beneficial interest exceeds one hundredth of the total 
issued share capital of that class.

Note

A “disclosable pecuniary interest” is an interest of a councillor or their partner 
(which means spouse or civil partner, a person with whom they are living as 
husband or wife, or a person with whom they are living as if they are civil 
partners).

4  EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC

To consider whether the press and public should be excluded from the meeting during 
consideration of any item on the agenda.

5  HEALTHCARE FOR THE FUTURE - WNE CUMBRIA

To consider a report by the Corporate Director – Resources and Transformation (copy 
enclosed).
(Pages 7 - 558)

a  Consultation Process  

b  Children's Services/Paediatrics  

c  Maternity Services  

d  Community Hospitals  

e  Emergency and Acute Care  

f  Hyper-Acute Stroke Services  

g  Emergency Surgery, Trauma and Orthopaedic Services  

h  Consultation Implementation  



6  DATE OF FUTURE MEETING

To note that the next meeting of the Committee will be held on Wednesday 24 May 2017 
at 10.30 am at County Offices, Kendal.



This page is intentionally left blank



CUMBRIA HEALTH SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

Meeting date: 22 March 2017

From: Corporate Director -Resources & Transformation

HEALTHCARE FOR THE FUTURE – WNE CUMBRIA

1.0 PURPOSE OF REPORT

1.1 This item outlines, for consideration by the Committee, the decisions made by 
NHS Cumbria Clinical Commissioning Group (NHS CCCG)  Governing Body on 
‘The Future of Health care in West, North & East Cumbria’ proposals and 
represents Stage 3 of the Committee’s Variation Protocol

2.0 ISSUES FOR SCRUTINY

2.1 The Cumbria Health Scrutiny Committee is asked to:
i. Receive a note setting out the decisions taken by the NHS Cumbria 

Clinical Commissioning Group Governing Body, the decision-making 
documents presented to the Governing Body and supporting papers. 

ii. Seek any clarification it requires on each decision 
iii. To consider for each decision made by the NHS Cumbria Clinical 

Commissioning Group Governing Body, whether to refer the decision to 
the Secretary of State. 

3.0 BACKGROUND AND CONTEXT

3.1 The Cumbria Health Scrutiny Variation Protocol states that where the parties 
agree that a proposed variation is substantial the Committee will provide 
comments/recommendations to the NHS Organisation which will then consider 
the comments and go out to consultation formally with the relevant 
stakeholders in accordance with the relevant legislation.

3.2 At its meeting of 24 February 2016 the Committee were advised that both the 
Success Regime and the NHS CCCG considered the expected proposals 
(referred to at the time as the Clinical Strategy) to be a substantial variation. 
Having consulted the chair of the variation sub-committee, the Committee 
agreed that they would be a substantial variation and agree to move to stage 
two of the protocol.  At that stage the detail of the proposals had not been 
announced.

7

Agenda Item 5



3.3 The Cumbria Variation Protocol states that where the parties agree that a 
proposed variation is substantial the Committee will provide 
comments/recommendations to the NHS Organisation which will then consider 
the comments and go out to consultation formally with the relevant 
stakeholders in accordance with the relevant legislation.

3.4 The Committee received an update from the Success Regime/NHS CCCG on 
the development of the draft clinical Strategy at its 13 April 2016 meeting and 
again at its meeting of the 16 May 2016.  At these meetings the Committee had 
opportunity to make comments and recommendations about the proposals for 
public consultation, and consultation process itself.

3.5 The Committee requested:

 additional public meetings, double the number of meetings originally 
proposed, including public meetings in all eight of the community hospital 
localities.

 monthly briefing meetings for stakeholders to update them on consultation 
progress.

 briefings for the County Council’s four local committees on consultation 
progress.

These were all accepted by the NHS CCCG and incorporated into the 
consultation plan

3.6 At the 16 May meeting the Committee agreed that:

 the proposed extent of consultation activity is appropriate (incorporating the 
requests of the Committee);

 no specific additional consultation activity should be considered;

 That its comments and recommendations had been accepted by the NHS 
CCCG and that stage 2 of the variation protocol, with respect to 
consultation, had been discharged.

3.7 The consultation was launched on 26 September 2016 and ran until 19 
December 2016.  At the 13 October 2016 meeting Members received the 
Future of Health Care in West, North & East Cumbria Public Consultation 
Document and the proposals contained therein.  The Committee were provided 
with an opportunity to listen to a range of witnesses to gather evidence on the 
likely impact of the proposals being consulted upon.

3.8 Members were informed that the CCCG has the legal responsibility for 
undertaking local consultations highlighting that this was in close consultation 
with the Success Regime and partner organisations.  It was noted that the 
outcome of the public consultation was an important factor in health service 
decision making and that no decisions had yet been made.  They were briefed 
that the responses to the consultation would be analysed independently and 
reported to the NHS CCCG Governing Body with the decisions brought back to 
the Cumbria Health Scrutiny Committee for consideration. 

3.9 The NHS CCCG Governing Body met on 8 March 2017 and their decisions on 
the various proposals are appended at Appendix 2. 

8



3.10 Stage 3 of the Variation Protocol states that once the consultation has been 
completed the NHS Organisation will report the results of the consultation back 
to the Committee with its response and proposed next steps. If at this stage the 
Committee feel that the proposal would not be in the interests of the health 
service in its area, the Committee will then make a decision on whether or not 
to refer the matter to the Secretary of State. 

3.11 The circumstances for referral of a proposed substantial development or 
variation are laid out in legislation. That is, where a health scrutiny body has 
been consulted by a relevant NHS body or health service provider on a 
proposed substantial development or variation, it may report to the Secretary of 
State in writing if: 
1. It is not satisfied with the adequacy of content of the consultation with the 

committee. 
2. It is not satisfied that sufficient time has been allowed for consultation with 

the committee.
3. It considers that the proposal would not be in the interests of the health 

service in its area. 
4. It has not been consulted, and it is not satisfied that the reasons given for 

not carrying out consultation are adequate.
As set out there are four grounds for referring a proposed substantial variation 
to the Secretary of State. Three of these grounds (grounds 1, 2 and 4) relate to 
consultation between the CCG and the Committee which were addressed at the 
Committee meetings on 13 April 2016, 16 May 2016 & 13 October 2016.  
As a consequence when considering whether or not to refer the substantial 
variation to the Secretary of State, the consideration for Members at this 
meeting is whether the proposal would not be in the interests of the health 
service in Cumbria. 

3.12 If the Committee determines that it will make a referral to the Secretary of State 
a report must be sent to the Secretary of State setting out:
(a) an explanation of the proposal for a substantial variation to which the 

report relates, i.e. which parts (or all) of the proposals presented by the 
CCG;

(b) a summary of the evidence considered, including any evidence of the 
effect or potential effect of the proposal on the sustainability or otherwise 
of the health service in the area of the authority;

(c) an explanation of the reasons for the making of the report; and
(d) any evidence in support of those reasons.

3.13 The report would be agreed by the Corporate Director - Resources and 
Transformation in consultation with the Health Scrutiny Lead Members and the 
Member of the Committee who made the recommendation to refer.

3.14 The variation protocol sets out a dispute resolution procedure to be followed 
where the health body and the Health Scrutiny Committee fail to reach 
agreement.  This process was intended to allow both parties to investigate 
whether there was any way of resolving the situation before a referral to the 
Secretary of State.

9



If this process was to be followed then the Health Scrutiny would need to 
consider at its next meeting whether the resolution process had been 
successful and then make a further decision about whether to refer the decision 
to the Secretary of State.  This would have the impact of delaying the final 
decision until the 24th May with a resultant increase in uncertainty within the 
health system. Given this, discussions have taken place with the CCG and it 
has been agreed that if necessary the resolution procedure will be undertaken 
within an adjournment on the 22nd March meeting. The Committee will then 
reconvene immediately after this on the 22nd to agree whether the resolution 
process had been successful and then make a further decision about whether 
to refer the decision to the Secretary of State.

3.15 Where the Committee makes a referral to the Secretary of State on the grounds 
set out above, the Secretary of State may:
(a) Make a final decision on the proposal; or
(b) Give directions to NHS England, including directions as to direct the 

CCG, in relation to the proposal.

Dawn Roberts
Corporate Director – Resources and Transformation

March 2017

Appendix

Appendix 1 Cumbria Health Scrutiny Committee Variation Protocol
Appendix 2  Report from Cumbria Clinical Commissioning Group on decisions of the 

Governing Body
Appendix 3 CCG Decision – making paper
Appendix 4 Background papers

Contact: David Stephens
Policy & Scrutiny Project Officer
david.stephens@cumbria.gov.uk

10

mailto:david.stephens@cumbria.gov.uk


Appendix 1

Substantial Variation Protocol

Introduction

This protocol has been developed to facilitate a common approach between NHS Organisations and 
the Health Scrutiny Committee of Cumbria County Council as to what constitutes a ‘substantial 
variation or development’ of health services. 

It is intended to promote early discussions on potential substantial variations as they are initially 
considered, prior to any formal consultation, so as to facilitate a more collaborative and joined up 
approach to substantial variations.  The protocol is about working together, within the legal 
framework, to improve the experience of patients. Whilst concentrating on substantial variations or 
developments of health services, a recurrent theme is the need for the NHS Organisations and the 
Health Scrutiny Committee of Cumbria and opportunities to improve their care

It is not intended that this protocol shall prejudice, conflict with or affect the exercise of the 
statutory functions, powers, rights, duties, responsibilities or obligations arising or imposed under 
any legislative provision enactment, bye-law or regulation whatsoever, nor shall it fetter the exercise 
of any discretion the Council or any NHS Organisation may have.

Legislative & Constitutional Context

Section 244 of the National Health Service Act 2006 authorises the Secretary of State to make 
regulations in relation to health scrutiny. 

Regulation 23 of the Local Authority (Public Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health 
Scrutiny) Regulations 2013 (The Regulations) place an obligation on NHS Organisations to consult 
with the Council where they are considering any proposal for substantial developments or 
substantial variations to health services other than where a decision must be made as a result of the 
risk to safety or welfare of patients or staff. 

The Council may issue a report to the Secretary of State where:

a. the Council is not satisfied that consultation on any proposal has been adequate in 
relation to content or time allowed;

b. the Council is not satisfied that the reasons given by the NHS Organisation not to 
consult are adequate; or

c. the Council considers that the proposal would not be in the interests of the health 
service in its area.

Other than in relation to the University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust the 
Council has delegated its role in relation to the above regulations to Cumbria Health Scrutiny 
Committee (CHSC). This Protocol shall not apply in relation to the University Hospitals of Morecambe 
Bay NHS Foundation Trust whose substantial variations shall be addressed in accordance with the 
Council’s Constitution. 

11



Stage 1 - Substantial variation determination  procedure

There is no definition within the Regulations of what constitutes a substantial variation or 
development and as a result proposals for service change should be discussed with the CHSC at an 
early stage to attempt to reach a common position between the NHS Organisation and CHSC where 
possible. 

Without limiting the previous paragraph the parties will, where appropriate, use the following 
procedure:

1. When an NHS Organisation develops or is made aware of a proposed variation which 
may be substantial it shall advise the CHSC as soon as possible. 

2. The NHS Organisation shall, as soon as reasonably practicable, provide the CHSC with 
such information as is reasonably necessary to allow it to form a view on whether a 
change is substantial.

3. Both parties shall then attempt to form a common position on whether the variation is 
substantial. In deciding whether a change is a substantial variation the NHS 
Organisation and the CHSC will consider:
 Whether there is a major change to services experienced by patients and future 

patients; 
 the impact of the change upon patients, carers, the community, other services and 

the public who use a service, or may use it in the future;
 whether the majority of patients using the service would experience a significant 

material change in how they receive that service, particularly in terms of access 
or location

4. Where, following the parties assessment, the NHS Organisation notifies the CHSC that it 
considers that the variation not to be substantial, but the Council considers the 
variation is substantial the parties shall follow the resolution procedure below with a 
view to resolving the disagreement. 

Relevant factors 

The NHS Organisations and CHSC have agreed that the following factors may be relevant in 
determining the nature of a variation:

Characteristics likely to diminish 
defining proposals as substantial

Characteristics likely to increase 
defining proposals as substantial 

Where questions are about quality
 Area of proven practice with robust clinical 

governance and risk assessment 
arrangements

 Proposal not tried and tested 
 Conflict or disagreement Ethical issues 
 Where issues of quality, or choice vs. access 

need to be balanced
Groups affected and nature of impact
 Patients do not consider proposals 

significant 
 Patients consider proposals significant 
 Proposals will have varying impact on 

12



 Proposals will have positive impact on 
patients and carers 

 Proposals to increase 
capacity/access/address any adverse travel 
implications

 Proposal is for a short or temporary duration
 Small number of patients / or low proportion 

of a particular group affected

different constituencies 
 Proposals increase inequalities in access to 

services
 Proposal is for a permanent change to the 

service
 Large number of patients affected, or 

all/most of a particular group of patients 
affected. 

Wider implications:
 Adverse impact on patients groups 
 Lack of cohesion with other NHS or 
 community strategies 
 Widening of inequalities 
 Cumulative effect 
 Effect on wider community 

Climate of opinion
 Clinical support for proposal
 Support from community and patients 

through robust community and stakeholder 
engagement at all stages 

 Proposals specifically address concerns e.g. 
transport provision and home support for 
day surgery 

 Proposal based on need for change and 
agreement on way forward 

 Lack of clinical consensus 
 High level of opposition, especially from 

patients and public, concerns not 
addressed, inadequate community 
engagement 

 Rationale for proposal not clear 

Stage 2 -Substantial Variation Implementation Procedure 

Where the parties agree that a proposed variation is substantial the NHS Organisation shall produce 
a draft variation plan which it shall submit to the CHSC for consideration. The CHSC will provide 
comments to the NHS Organisation which will then consider the comments and go out to 
consultation formally with the relevant stakeholders in accordance with the relevant legislation.

The timetable for consideration of the drafts shall, unless otherwise agreed, be:

Action Timing
Submission of draft variation plan to 
the Council

As soon as possible following determination that the 
change is substantial, but in any event within [2] weeks.

Consideration and initial comments by 
the Council

Comments & recommendations to be provided within [4] 
weeks of submission of plans.

NHS Organisation to review comments 
and recommendations and provide 
feedback on changes

Feedback to the Council on comments and 
recommendations within [2] weeks of receipt of 
comments. 

13



In certain instances the NHS Organisation may request the proposed variation be implemented on a 
temporary basis whilst consultation is undertaken, if this is agreed by the Committee this should be 
for a maximum of 6 months with any proposal to make the variation permanent to come back to the 
Committee before the end of that period.

Where the NHS Organisation chooses not to implement a recommendation or comment on the 
adequacy of the proposed consultation by the CHSC the parties shall follow the resolution procedure 
set out below.  

Stage 3 – Consultation on the Substantial Variation

The NHS Organisation will carry out it’s public consultation providing details to the CHSC to allow for 
appropriate engagement by the Committee. Once the consultation has been completed the NHS 
Organisation will report the results of the consultation back to the CHSC with its response and 
proposed next steps.

Ifat this stage the CHSC feel that the proposal would not be in the interests of the health service in 
its area the parties shall follow the resolution procedure set out below.  

Resolution procedure 

This section sets out the process which the NHS Organisation and CHSC will go through in order to 
resolve disagreements over whether a change is substantial and over changes recommended and 
comments made by the CHSC on draft variation plans. 

Should the NHS Organisation and the CHSC fail to reach agreement on any of the matters discussed 
above either party may:

1. Send to the other a [form/letter] setting out the area of disagreement and that party’s 
position in relation to it. The [form/letter] shall propose not less than three dates for a 
meeting to discuss the dispute with the other party.

2. The Chair of the CHSC and the relevant senior officer of the NHS Organisation shall meet 
within 28 days of the receipt of the [form/letter] to discuss the disagreement in further 
detail. 

3. Should an agreed position not be reached within 7 days of the meeting referred to at 
paragraph 2, above, the parties may make proposals for further negotiations or, if no 
proposals are received or accepted, this protocol will be considered exhausted and the 
NHS Organisation may take a decision on how to proceed. The CHSC will then make a 
decision on whether or not to refer the matter to the Secretary of State.

The parties shall agree minutes of dispute meetings which may be disclosed to the Secretary of 
State, other competent bodies or in accordance with any other obligation to disclose by either party. 

14



NHS Organisation advises CHSC of 
potential variation which may be 

substantial

Both parties attempt to form a common 
position on whether the variation is 

substantial.

Where the NHS Organisation chooses 
not to implement a recommendation or 

comment of the CHSC may decide to 
refer to the SOS (following resolution 

procedure)

Agree

Disagree

If, parties cannot reach consensus and 
NHS Organisation decides to go ahead 

without consultation the CHSC may 
decide to refer to the SOS (following 

resolution procedure)

NHS Organisation submit a draft 
variation plan to the CHSC for 
consideration CHSC to provide 

comments and recommended changes 
to the draft variation plan. 

NHS Organisation can accept or reject 
the comments from CHSC

Accept

Reject

NHS Organisation undertakes 
Consultation reporting the results back 
to the CHSC with their response to the 

consultation 

If following the consultation the CHSC 
considers that the proposed change still 

would not be in the interests of the 
health service in its area it may decide 

to refer to the SOS (following resolution 
procedure)

St
ag
e 
1

St
ag
e 
2

St
ag
e 
3

15



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 2

Present: Ruth Gildert Registered Nurse (RG)
Les Hanley Lay Member – Health Improvement (LH)
Geoff Jolliffe Lead GP Representing the South of the County (JG)
Rachel Preston Lead GP Representing the North of the County (RP)
Hugh Reeve Clinical Chair (Chair) (HR)
David Rogers Medical Director and Interim Accountable Officer (DR)
Jon Rush Lay Member – Public Engagement (JR)
Peter Scott Lay Member – Finance & Governance (PS)
Charles Welbourn Chief Finance Officer (CW)
Kevin Windebank Secondary Care Doctor (KW)

Observers: Sue Stevenson Healthwatch Cumbria (SS)

In Attendance: Amanda Boardman County Lead GP Children and Safeguarding (MB)
Stephen Childs Chief Executive (SC)
Helen King Director of Nursing & Quality (HK)
Gerard Hanratty Legal Advisor, Capsticks (GH)
Helen Horton Lead GP – Copeland (HH)
Neill McGreevy Lead GP – Allerdale (NM)
Sir Neil McKay Programme Chair, Success Regime (SNM)
Colin Patterson Lead GP – Carlisle (CP)
Caroline Rea Director of Primary Care (CR)
Peter Rooney Chief Operating Officer (PR)
Stephen Singleton Medical Director, Success Regime (SSi)
Brenda Thomas Governing Body Support Officer (BT)

GB 20/17 AGENDA ITEM 01: Chairs Welcome and Apologies

The Chair welcomed everyone to the meeting and explained that as well as members 
of the public there were a number of representatives from stakeholders in 
attendance.  The Chair confirmed that this was an extraordinary meeting of the 
Governing Body to determine the outcomes of the Healthcare for the Future, West, 
North and East (WNE) Cumbria Public Consultation, and to consider the 
recommendations.  Therefore it would not be receiving minutes or receiving 
questions from the public.

NHS CUMBRIA CLINICAL COMMISSIONING GROUP
MINUTES OF THE GOVERNING BODY MEETING

Wednesday 8 March 2017
The Oval Centre, Salterbeck, Workington.  CA14 5HA

17



The Chair then invited Sue Stevenson (SS), Healthwatch Cumbria (HWC) to address 
the Governing Body.

SS stated that she represented HWC, which had observer status on the Governing 
Body.  Whilst this did not permit her to vote when decisions were made it presented 
the opportunity to ensure that members of the Governing Body were reminded of, 
and urged to take account of, the views and experiences of local people in the 
decision making process. 

SS acknowledged that Governing Body members had spent a lot of time reviewing a 
large amount of technical material and the full analysis of the consultation responses 
during the last few weeks and, that, there were some very complex issues to be 
considered.  However, over the period of the Success Regime, HWC had engaged 
with over 14,500 people in a variety of ways and was aware of the time, energy and 
concern people had invested in getting involved in debates.  She also stated that the 
decisions taken today could well have a profound impact on how they received their 
healthcare in the future.  Hence their views and experiences mattered.   SS 
confirmed that HWC submitted a response to the consultation informed by what 
people had told them and that report was summarised in The Campaign Company 
analysis report.

SS advised that regardless of what decisions were made, there needed to be 
extensive plans to engage with the public through the implementation process to 
help shape future services and offered the support of HWC to enable this.

The Chair thanked SS for her remarks and welcomed the input from SS through the 
remainder of the meeting.

GB 21/17 AGENDA ITEM 02: Declarations of Interest

There were no declarations of interest.

GB 22/17 AGENDA ITEM 03: Purpose of the Meeting

This was covered during agenda item 1.

GB 23/17 AGENDA ITEM 04: Presentation from the Success Regime

Sir Neil McKay (SNM), Programme Chair of the Success Regime outlined the 
challenges in Health and Social Care both nationally and internationally.   He stated 
that there were some striking features of the NHS in Cumbria which included a 
number of very good services, a very dedicated and hard-working workforce, and 
local people who are committed to their local NHS.  However there were also a 
number of services which had been found to require improvement by the Care 
Quality Commission (CQC), and which had resulted in North Cumbria University 
Hospitals Trust (NCUH) being place in special measures.  As a result of this the 
Success Regime had been developed to support system leaders to redefine services 
in WNE Cumbria to ensure that they provided the best outcomes of care for patients.

18



SNM stated that the Cumbria Health Economy had been trying to reconfigure the 
way it delivered services for many years.  Therefore it was crucial that, whatever 
options the Governing Body approved, there needed to be cohesive implementation 
plans which were developed in conjunction with local communities.  

It was also acknowledged that whilst there were some high profile issues which had 
received a lot of attention in the press, there were also a number of other important 
elements to the proposals being considered today.  These included:

 a vision to create a ‘Centre of Excellence for integrated Health and Social care 
in rural, remote and dispersed communities’

 the development of Integrated Care Communities (ICCs) and their central 
position in the delivery of health and some social care in the community

 new ideas for community hospitals generated by local people in Alston, 
Maryport and Wigton

 lifesaving proposals for stroke services
 innovative partnerships with the University of Central Lancaster, Newcastle 

Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust and Northumbria Healthcare NHS Foundation 
Trust

 recruitment partnership with the Air Ambulance service
 emerging ideas for organisational form based on high levels of mutual trust 

and collaboration involving North Cumbria University Hospitals NHS Trust, 
Cumbria Partnership Trust (CPFT), NHS North Cumbria CCG (CCG), Cumbria 
County Council (CCC) and General Practitioners (GPs)

SNM reiterated that whatever decisions were made, the implementation of service 
change needed to be carefully thought through with the involvement of clinicians, 
the public and patient groups in the spirit of co-production.

SNM thanked everyone that had been involved in the work the Success Regime had 
undertaken and in particular paid tribute to the public and patient groups for their 
contribution to the process which had supported and shaped the options 
recommended for approval today.

GB 24/17 AGENDA ITEM 05: Healthcare for the Future, West, North and East Cumbria 
Introduction

Stephen Childs (SC) advised that this meeting of the Governing Body was a very 
important step towards the delivery of a high quality, sustainable and affordable 
health care system for WNE Cumbria.  

SC confirmed that whilst the recommendations before the Governing Body reflected 
a long standing development process and discussions with many interested parties 
and partner organisations, the decision making responsibility fell solely upon NHS 
Cumbria CCG’s Governing Body.

SC further stated that before making any decisions, the Governing Body should 
assure itself that it had met the requirements for lawful consultation which were:

 consultation should occur when proposals were at a formative stage
 it should give sufficient information to permit intelligent consideration;

19



 should allow adequate time
 outcomes of consultation must be consciously taken into consideration
 there should be clear evidence that the decision makers have considered the 

consultation responses before taking a decision, and

that they had taken into account the impact any decision would have on:

 the population health outcomes and health inequalities
 implications for quality and clinical sustainability
 the deliverability of the proposed clinical model, and 
 the financial consequences; and

that the options being considered for approval met NHS England’s four tests for 
service change, which were as follows:

 Strong public and patient engagement 
 Consistency with current and future need for patient care
 A clear clinical evidence base
 Support from GPs

SC then outlined the processes undertaken to date as detailed in Sections 3 and 4 of 
the ‘Decision Making’ document.  This included an overview of the following:

 the development of a sustainable Clinical Strategy which addressed the CQC’s  
concerns regarding services provided by North Cumbria University Hospitals 
NHS Trust 

 the pre-consultation stages
 the external expertise and independent assurance sought and the 

requirements of regulatory processes of NHS England and NHS Improvement
 compliance with the Equality Act 2010 and the undertaking of an Equality 

Impact Assessment – details of which were in Appendix 1
 Health Impact Assessment, Travel Impact Assessment and a Rural Proofing 

Assessment – included in Appendices 2 to 4
 Robust risk assessment undertaken, including risks raised by the public during 

the consultation process – description and approach taken outlined in 
Appendix 5 

GB 25/17 AGENDA ITEM 06: Healthcare for the Future in West, North & East Cumbria 
Consultation Process

SC reminded Members of the significant, extensive public, patient and partner 
engagement work that had been undertaken prior to the Success Regime.   He 
advised that the Success Regime had continued this work by holding over 170 public, 
private stakeholder and staff meetings, making 86 location visits and capturing the 
views of more than 3,400 people throughout the engagement process.  He then 
outlined the key themes captured from the engagement work (as detailed on pages 
18 and 19 of the ‘Decision Making’ document).

SC advised that the consultation period ran from 26 September 2016 to 19 December 
2016 and the extensive range of activities held during this period were set out in 
pages 19 – 21 of the said document.   He then stated that the following petitions had 
also been received during the consultation period:

20



Petition Number of Signatories

Save our Services (Cumberland News) 9157

Say No to Nonsense – Stop the Success Regime (local 
residents) 394

Women’s Institute 64

Alston Labour Party: Petition Against the Success 
Regime’s Proposals 24

Our lives are under threat! Save Alston Cottage 
Hospital beds (local residents) 698

Penrith Border Labour Party: Success Regime Petition 313

In addition the ‘We need West Cumberland Hospital Group – Vote of No Confidence 
in the Success Regime’ petition was received after the close of the consultation 
which had over 20,000 signatories on it.  All of these petitions feature in the 
Campaign Company’s consultation report. 

Members were also advised that in order to ensure compliance with its statutory 
requirements, the CCG had kept the Cumbria Health Scrutiny Committee informed 
throughout the process.   

To give added assurance that the engagement and consultation process had been 
carried out to the highest standard, the Success Regime had commissioned an 
external assessment by the Consultation Institute.  The Institute had completed its 
assessment and had awarded a Certificate of Best Practice.

SC advised that the results of the public consultation were independently analysed 
by The Campaign Company and a final consultation report was received on 27 
February 2017.  This report was published on the CCG’s website on 28 February 
2017.  Details of the responses can be found on pages 21 and 22 of the ‘Decision 
Making’ document.

SC then outlined the findings from the public consultation as detailed in section 4.3 
of the document and confirmed that the full independent analysis of the public 
consultation was detailed in Appendix 6.

In response to a number of questions regarding the telephone interviews undertaken 
as part of the consultation, PR confirmed that people that chose to take part in the 
public consultation were not always representative of the whole population.  
Therefore best practice recommended that a telephone consultation also be 
undertaken to provide a wider view from a demographically representative sample.  
However, given that people interviewed were not always aware of the consultation 
document or the options being consulted on, then the questions had to be amended 
to reflect this.  In terms of how the responses to the telephone consultation had 

21



been compared to the other responses, PR confirmed that they were not directly 
comparable but did provide a different source of information to enable a more 
rounded view.

The Chair confirmed that the rationale of the telephone survey was contained in 
Appendix 6, commencing on page 179.

JR commented on the fact that 64% of the public contacted by telephone were not 
aware that there was a public consultation being undertaken.  The Chair confirmed 
that this was not atypical for most consultations despite significant media coverage.

SC read out recommendation 1 detailed on page 24 of the report confirming that the 
recommendation was based on:

 the public consultation being undertaken for a twelve week period in line 
with the requirement of the Cumbria Health Scrutiny Committee;

 a wide ranging approach being used to consult with an appropriate level of 
responses from people in the areas most affected by the proposals; 

 the process had been independently assured by the Consultation Institute; 
and

 the responses were independently analysed by the Campaign Company.

SC advised that following the public consultation partner organisations received all 
the responses.  Suggestions for improving the proposed models or alternative 
models not part of the consultation process were evaluated using the same criteria 
as in Stage 1 of the pre-consultation process.  

For each service the report explains how the preferred option had been considered.  
SC stated that the Decision Making meeting was the culmination of a three month 
fact finding exercise by Members of the Governing Body which had entailed:

 site visits
 presentations from the Campaign Company on the consultation
 governance workshops
 development sessions on recruitment and implementation, and
 use of a dedicated resource room 

SC then confirmed that the decisions made by the Governing Body would be a key 
part of delivering the CCG’s vision of ‘a centre of excellence for integrated health and 
social care provision in rural, remote and dispersed communities’ and provided two 
clear messages:

1. Certainty of service development
2. Creation of an innovative model that creates a unique selling point over the 

rest of the Country.

The Chair then reiterated the recommendation.

Proposed: by Jon Rush, seconded by Dr Geoff Jolliffe.
Agreed: The recommendation was agreed unanimously through a show of hands 

from the Governing Body members.

22



Resolved: The Governing Body confirmed that the CCG had met its statutory duties 
in ensuring that an effective and robust public consultation had been 
undertaken and would be used to inform the decisions it made.                   

GB 26/17 AGENDA ITEM 07: Healthcare of the Future in West, North & East Cumbria 
Consultation:

a) Maternity Services

SC stated that the preferred option in the Consultation Document was option 2, ‘The 
consolidation of a consultant led unit at Cumberland Infirmary, Carlisle (CIC) and the 
establishment of a midwifery led unit at West Cumberland Hospital (WCH)’.  He then 
outlined the statistics and preferences detailed in section 7 of the Decision Making 
document. He specified that a significant number of the respondents wanted to see 
the current service retained at West Cumberland Hospital.  The feedback for this was 
in the main influenced by the relative safety to expectant mothers and babies.  Some 
of the specific feedback was outlined on page 28.

SC confirmed that NHS Organisations expressed support for Option 2. North West 
Ambulance Service (NWAS) raised concerns during the consultation regarding the 
transfer of patients, impact on overall performance and the need for protocols and 
mitigations.  Following discussions and assurances, NWAS had confirmed its support 
for Option 2.   He advised that there was also support for Option 2 from local hospital 
Consultants but there was opposition from other clinicians including West 
Cumberland Hospital Midwives and GPs in West Cumbria.

Section 7.2 of the document sets out the overall consideration of the options in light 
of the consultation and the challenges in sustaining the current service due to the 
continued issues of recruitment, especially for Consultant Paediatricians and 
Consultant Anesthetists (as set out on pages 29 and 30).

SC also outlined the following details of section 7 of the document:

 the Greater Manchester, Lancashire & South Cumbria Clinical Senate provided 
an independent review of the proposed clinical models and agreed with the 
preferred Option 2.  The full report was included in Appendix 7.

 the Northern England Clinical Network for Maternity Services was asked for 
an independent view of the access and outcomes for maternity care – a 
summary of that view was contained in pages 31 and 32 (full response 
contained in Appendix 8).

 7.2.3 outlined the concerns raised about the risk to mothers and babies who 
may be transferred between WCH and CIC and references the proposal for a 
dedicated ambulance vehicle to be situated at WCH.

 7.2.4 acknowledged the public view that Option 2 would be a reduction in 
patient choice.

SC advised that following the consultation there had been two further clinical 
workshops to try and reach a consensus view in light of the responses.  The lack of 
support from the public and West Cumbria GPs for Option 2, was carefully taken into 

23



account, and considered alongside the support for this option from the professional 
bodies, NHS organisations and some Consultants.  The outcome of this was that 
Option 1 was considered to be unlikely to be deliverable in the medium to long term.  
However it was acknowledged that it was the strong preference of both the public 
and GPs.  The Clinical Workshop advised system leaders to take further opportunities 
for transformational change that would support Option 1, but to be in a position to 
implement Option 2 or 3 should Option 1 not prove possible to sustain.  In addition 
Option 1 should proceed on the basis of a collaborative, ‘co-production’ model, akin 
to that suggested by West Cumbria Voices.

SC then read out the recommendations and confirmed what each of the options 
were.  He also advised that Members were also being asked to endorse the actions 
set out on pages 34 and 35 of the Decision Making document and for clarification 
purposes he read through those actions, emphasising the creation of an 
independently chaired Co-production Steering Committee.  

b) Children’s Services

SC advised that the options for Maternity and Children’s services were inter-related.  
He confirmed that the preferred option for Children’s Services in the Consultation 
Document was Option 1.   SC then provided an overview of the findings of the 
consultation outlined in Section 8 of the Decision Making document highlighting the 
following:

 much of the qualitative feedback related to the safety of young patients as 
well as the impact on family members and carers – again location and 
distance from services were a major factor

 recognition from the public that uncertainty around service provision had 
undermined recruitment, concerns expressed around the deterioration of 
children being transferred from West Cumberland Hospital to Cumberland 
Infirmary Carlisle and the impact of having to travel could have on some 
families

 organisations, clinicians and professional bodies felt there was a need for 
ongoing public and clinical engagement, a need to adhere to national 
policy/clinical guidelines, and there was a mixed response on the 
sustainability of current services

SC confirmed that NHS organisations supported Option 1. North West Ambulance 
Service had raised concerns during the consultation, but subsequently clarified their 
support for Option 1.  

SC also provided an overview of Section 8.2 which explained why the current service 
model did not present an attractive option to newly qualified Paediatricians and 
confirmed that 8.2.2 describes the view of the North West Clinical Senate and its 
preference for Option 2. The Senate report did note that Children’s Inpatient services 
Option 1 more fully supports the delivery of the  Maternity Services Option 1.

SC then read out the recommendations detailed in pages 41 and 42 of the said 
document and asked Governing Body Members to endorse the actions required to 
address the recruitment issues.

24



Discussion ensued around the recommendations for both maternity and children’s 
services.  

GJ welcomed the change in the preferred option for Maternity Services to Option 1 
but sought assurance that there was a real commitment from all partners to test the 
viability of this option over the proposed 12 month period.  He also acknowledged 
that the 12 month period would not be from the date of the decision but from when 
the Co-production Steering Committee had been established.  

The Chair asked SC to explain what co-production meant.  SC confirmed that this was 
working with all stakeholders to develop services, as had been undertaken in Millom. 

SSi confirmed this was working with communities to transform services.  Part of the 
co-production process would include defining what would be judged as success and 
the criteria against which success would be judged.

JR stated that the CCG had listened and endeavoured to take on board the views 
expressed during the public consultation, hence the desire to fully explore Option 1. 
This included working with the public through the co-production process.  He advised 
it was important to gain public confidence that everything was being done to try and 
maintain sustainable and safe services.  However he sought clarification on whether 
the co-production group would only focus on the maternity issues.  In response DR 
confirmed that this approach would cover maternity, paediatrics and the relevant 
clinical interdependence with anaesthetics.  

In response to a question from SS, the Chair confirmed that the North Cumbria 
University Hospital NHS Trust had provided assurance that it was fully engaged in the 
co-production process and was committed to making it work.  There would also be 
external support provided and the outcomes would be scrutinised by an Independent 
Review Panel.  He also confirmed that if Option 1 was not sustainable a report would 
need to be provided to the Governing Body before Option 2 was implemented.

LH supported the retention of full maternity services at West Cumberland Hospital, 
and expressed concerns that 12 months was not long enough to work through 
actions supporting the recommendations.  In response DR advised that there would 
need to be a genuine recognition of what could be done in terms of recruitment, this 
would need to be undertaken in an open and transparent process through the Co-
production Steering Committee which would determine the criteria to achieve this.   
LH confirmed that there was a need to promote West Cumbria in a more effective 
manner. 

RG supported Option 1 and the comments made by GJ.  However she advised 
Members of the model undertaken in Tayside, North East Scotland, and the 
successful delivery of a Midwifery Lead Unit in a very remote part of that area. 
Therefore whilst she fully supported further work to deliver Option 1, she confirmed 
that work should also be undertaken to support the implementation of Option 2 in 
the event that Option 1 was not sustainable. 

25



RG also advised that whilst 12 months did not seem a long period of time, there 
needed to be a proposed date for when the decision would be taken as to whether 
or not Option 1 was safe and sustainable. 

GJ confirmed that there were significant issues in the rural area of South Copeland 
and these needed to be addressed whatever option was approved.

The Chair then sought any questions on Children’s services.

KW advised that he had been in contact with paediatric services in Cumbria for over 
25 years whilst working in Newcastle and recruitment had always been an issue.   He 
stated that there needed to be a pathway for Paediatricians to come to Cumbria that 
included training in specialised areas.  In addition he advised that if there was a 
commitment to encourage people to apply for jobs in the west of the County then 
there needed to be a network put in place that would allow them to bring their 
families and to fully commit to the area.  This would need to be worked through the 
Co-production Steering Committee and it would be beneficial if the Royal College of 
Paediatrics were asked to support this process.

PS stated that it was important that there was a timeline in place to ensure there was 
sufficient focus on this work being undertaken.  However that timeline should be 
kept under review by the Co-production Steering Committee rather than having a 
definitive time frame.  The Chair confirmed this should be included in the criteria set 
by the Co-production Steering Committee.

In response to a question on travel implications, PR advised that these were provided 
in pages 11 to 15 of Appendix 3a.

Maternity Services

The Chair read out the recommendations for Maternity Services and also asked the 
Governing Body to endorse the actions to be undertaken in order to deliver the 
recommendations and, note the implementation considerations for Maternity 
Services.

Proposed: by Dr Rachel Preston, seconded by Dr David Rogers.

Agreed:  The recommendation was agreed by a majority vote with a show of hands 
from the Governing Body members. There were nine votes in favour and 
one against the recommendation.

Resolved:  The following Maternity Services recommendations be approved:

1. Recommendation 2.1 to test the viability of Option 1 (as detailed in the 
Healthcare for the Future in West, North and East Cumbria Public 
Consultation Document pages 20 – 23 inclusive) over a 12 month period. The 
twelve month period would not begin immediately. The start date the twelve 
month period will be agreed by the Governing Body with input from the Co-
production Steering Committee. The Governing Body will receive a report for 
consideration following the twelve month period.

26



2. Recommendation 2.2 if Option 1 (as defined above) was not proven to be 
deliverable or sustainable then Option 2 (Healthcare for the Future in West, 
North and East Cumbria Public Consultation Document pages 20 – 23) be 
implemented at the end of the 12 month period (as defined above);

3. Recommendation 2.3 whilst testing Option 1 (as define above), to prepare for 
Option 2 (as defined above, if Option 1 is not sustainable) by implementing a 
Midwifery Led Unit (MLU) at West Cumberland Hospital alongside a 
Consultant Led Unit, in order that the MLU can be audited as if it was 
freestanding; and

4. Recommendation 2.4 to implement Option 3 (as detailed in the Future in 
WNE Cumbria Public Consultation Document pages 20 – 23) if Option 1 (as 
defined above) was not proven to be deliverable or sustainable and, following 
an audit of the MLU, if Option 2 (as defined above) is not deemed to be safe. 

The Governing Body endorsed the following actions to be undertaken in order to 
deliver the above recommendations:

 Strenuous efforts would be made with local communities, GPs, patients and 
staff led by an independently chaired ‘Co-production’ Steering Group, to test 
to the limit the deliverability and sustainability of Option 1

 The criteria for testing the viability of Option 1 will be jointly agreed by the 
independently chaired Co-production Steering Committee. The criteria for 
which were likely to include the following:

o The staffing and number of filled posts at agreed progress points
o Evidence of adequate future supply of staff to maintain improvement 

with recruitment and retention
o Monitoring of serious incidents / near misses / clinical outcomes
o Measures of staff and patient satisfaction
o Demonstrable change in ways of working for quality improvement 

 The criteria would be reviewed by an Independent Review Panel
 Co-production approaches would be used to develop other innovations 

including the development of the MLU(s), and proposals to mitigate the 
challenges of providing care at distance 

 The audit of the Whitehaven MLU would be undertaken using agreed criteria. 
The outcome of the audit will be received by the Independent Review Panel 

 The Co-production Steering Committee and Independent Review Panel would 
fit within an agreed governance structure with jointly agreed terms of 
reference

 It was acknowledged that much work would be required to collaboratively 
plan for, and deliver a successful ‘co-production’ and this would begin in 
earnest as soon as possible if the recommendations were approved.

The Governing Body was also asked to note the implementation considerations for 
Maternity Services which were as follows:

 Significant work needed to be undertaken to provide a clearer vision for 
maternity services across the entire pathway of care in line with “Better 
Births” which outlines the choices available at all stages and develops the 
concept of community hubs

27



 The development of the detailed standard operating procedures for a 
dedicated ambulance vehicle would need to take place if Option 2 were 
implemented

 All the relevant implementation issues raised by the Greater Manchester, 
Lancashire & South Cumbria Clinical Senate should be addressed as part of 
implementation planning

 An organisational development plan should be developed that addresses the 
cultural challenge within the service that would come with the 
implementation of the new service model

 A full training plan needed to be developed for staff to address the required 
skill changes

 Any outstanding recommendations from the Royal College of Obstetricians 
and Gynaecologists report be completed.

Children’s Services

The Chair reiterated the recommendations for Children’s Services and also asked the 
Governing Body to endorse the actions to be undertaken in order to deliver the 
recommendations and, note the implementation considerations for Children’s 
Services.

Proposed: by Ruth Gildert, seconded by Jon Rush.

Agreed:  The recommendation was agreed by majority vote through a show of hands 
from the Governing Body members, with nine votes in favour and one 
abstention.

Resolved:  The Children’s Services recommendations be approved:

Recommendation 3.1, Option 1 (as detailed in the Future of Healthcare in West, 
North and East Cumbria Public Consultation Document pages 25 – 27 inclusive) and

Recommendation 3.2 in the event Option 1 (as defined above) was ultimately proven 
to be unsustainable then Option 2 (as detailed in the Future in WNE Cumbria Public 
Consultation Document pages 25 – 27 inclusive) should be implemented.

The Governing Body endorsed the following actions:

 Significant efforts would need to continue to address the recruitment issues 
within paediatric services

The Governing Body was also asked to note the implementation considerations for 
Children’s Services which were as follows:

 Significant efforts needed to continue to be made to address the recruitment 
issues within paediatric services

 Detailed scenario planning needed to take place to ensure standard operating 
procedures for the stabilisation and transfer of children out-of-hours takes 
place safely and effectively

28



 The development of detailed standard operating procedures needed to be 
developed for the dedicated ambulance vehicle prior to a new service model 
beginning

 All the relevant implementation issues raised in by Greater Manchester, 
Lancashire & South Cumbria Clinical Senate should be addressed as part of 
implementation planning

GB 27/17 AGENDA ITEM 08: Healthcare for the Future, West, North & East Cumbria 
Consultation:  Community Hospitals

SC advised that section 9 and 10 of the Decision Making document sets out the 
options in the Consultation Document.  He outlined the responses in the section,  
advising that several key themes emerged from the feedback, as set out on page 45, 
which included:

 accessibility and patient safety;
 resourcing and quality of care;
 a clear case made for retaining the community hospitals, and
 concerns of a financial, economic and social nature

Section 9.2 outlines the overall consideration of the options in light of the 
consultation feedback and refers to the following:

 the major challenge in recruiting and retaining staff
 the limited prospects for staff in small isolated units
 the operational difficulties when trying to rota small numbers of staff, and
 the challenge of meeting clinical standards as set out by the National Institute 

for Health and Care Excellence.

Therefore the programme considered it important to have in-patient units with at 
least 16 beds where possible.

SC confirmed that although the primary focus of the communities had been to 
defend bed closures, there have been some very innovative proposals for the future 
roles of community hospitals and differing services they could provide.  These have 
been co-produced by Cumbria Partnership NHS Foundation Trust working with the 
public stakeholder groups such as the Hospital League of Friends and the local GP 
practices in each of Maryport, Wigton and Alston.   SC outlined the proposals for 
each of those areas as described in pages 47 to 50 of the Decision Making document.

SC advised that the Governing Body was asked to approve Option 1 and read out the 
recommendation.

SS advised that whilst she was pleased to see that alternative proposals were being 
worked through, Members needed to be mindful that community hospitals were 
considered an integral part of their community and removing them would be seen as 
diminishing those communities.  In addition she advised that Alston had submitted a 
4,000 signatory petition to the Governing Body prior to the public consultation 
against bed closures there.  However this had not been included on the list which SC 
read out earlier.  

29



Significant discussion ensued around the proposals put forward in Alston, Maryport 
and Wigton, and NHS England’s national announcement that Hospital beds should 
not be closed until alternative options were in place.    It was noted that the bed 
closures recommended in Option 1 were not scheduled to take place until 2018/19.  
CW reminded Governing Body members that between April and November 2016 
there had been approximately 20 beds closed on a daily bases due to staff shortages.   

PR confirmed the following in relation to the NHS England’s announcement on 
hospital beds. Firstly that the requirements would come into effect from 1 April 
2017; and included that one of the following three conditions must be met prior to 
Hospital bed closures:

 alternative provision of services would need to be in place
 new treatments would reduce the categories for admission
 if efficiency was below the national average, there would need to be a 

credible plan to improve performance 

PR confirmed that the CCG would give full consideration to those conditions during 
the implementation phase if the recommendation was approved. He also reminded 
the Governing Body that the workforce position in Community Hospitals, and 
especially in Alston, was very fragile and that it may become necessary for bed 
closures even in the shorter term due to difficulties in sustaining safe staffing levels.

Members supported the further development of the alternative proposals by 
Cumbria Partnership NHS Foundation Trust and the communities involved.  However 
they also acknowledged that bed closures are likely to continue happening on an un-
planned basis because of the on-going staff recruitment and retention challenges.  

In response to a question from RG, SC confirmed that Cumbria County Council has 
been engaging and is keen to work with stakeholders on the development of 
business cases for the proposals from Alston, Maryport and Wigton.  

PS reminded members of the Governing Body that the reason for the proposed 
reduction of the bed base was about sustainability of the staffing model and the 
estate, and the need to reconfigure services to ensure safe and effective care is 
delivered.   

In response to a question from SS, SC confirmed that the recommendation did mean 
the closure of the inpatient medical beds at Maryport, Wigton and Alston, which 
would only be implemented following careful planning. 

The Chair reiterated the recommendations for the community hospital bed base and 
also asked the Governing Body to endorse the actions to be undertaken.

Proposed: by Dr Kevin Windebank, seconded by Dr Geoff Jolliffe.

Agreed: The recommendation was agreed unanimously by a show of hands from the 
Governing Body members.

Resolved: Recommendation 4.1, Option 1 (as detailed in the Healthcare for the 
Future in West, North and East Cumbria Public Consultation Document 
pages 28 – 31 inclusive) be approved.

30



The Governing Body endorsed the following actions:

 A process of co-production with stakeholders in Maryport, Wigton and Alston 
should be continued. It was anticipated that co-production would lead to 
further proposals within the next twelve months, as part of the plans to 
implement Integrated Care Communities.  Any such proposal would require 
further consideration and approval by the CCG’s Governing Body and the 
broader West, North and East System Leadership Board prior to 
implementation.

GB 28/17 AGENDA ITEM 09: Healthcare for the Future, West, North & East Cumbria 
Consultation: 

a) Emergency and Acute Care

SC advised that section 10 on page 52 of the Decision Making document sets out the 
options consulted upon with Option 1 being the preferred option.  SC outlined the 
findings of the consultation as detailed on pages 53 and 54.

SC stated the consultation also heard public concerns regarding early access to 
critical care, how uncertainty and low morale were affecting recruitment, the desire 
to retain an intensive therapy unit at West Cumberland Hospital and the need for a 
full risk analysis to be undertaken.

Themes arising from organisations, clinicians and professional bodies included the 
need for ongoing public and clinical engagement, the need to adhere to national 
policy and clinical guidelines, and some concerns about medical training in the 
context of a composite workforce.  

Local NHS organisations supported Option 1. During the consultation North West 
Ambulance Service raised concerns around transfers and operating protocols but had 
subsequently confirmed the deliverability of the preferred option.  SC advised that 
no matter which option was approved, greater efforts would need to be made to 
recruit medical staff.

SC stated that section 10.2 on page 55 responds to the feedback and reiterates the 
reasons set out in the Consultation Document as to why the status quo was not put 
forward as an option.  Those reasons included:

 the risk of stretching a medical team over two sites;
 difficulties with supervision, training and maintaining skills;
 difficulties in meeting health regulations and performance standards; and
 the challenge to recruitment presented by the geographical location.

SC also reminded members of the Governing Body that the CQC rated General 
Medical Services as inadequate in 2015 and Health Education North East forecast 
current recruitment difficulties to continue into the future.

31



SC confirmed that North Cumbria University Hospitals NHS Trust had made 
significant progress in improving emergency care at both Cumberland Infirmary 
Carlisle and West Cumberland Hospital, but that further improvement was still 
required.  

The programme has benefited from external support from the Clinical Senate in 
developing an innovative workforce solution.  It was felt that the preferred model 
actually addressed many of the concerns raised during consultation, principally 
because the vast majority of care would continue to be delivered locally.

SC advised that section 10.3 provided assurance that the recommended option 
meets the four assessment domains.  

SC advised that the Governing Body was asked to approve Option 1 and read out the 
recommendation.

Discussion ensued and Members advised that some of the initial concerns they had 
raised had been resolved.  It was also stated that it was important (as with every 
recommendation being determined) that the implementation plan was cohesive and 
realistic and that the required training to support this change was put in place.

The Chair reiterated the recommendations for the emergency and acute services and 
also asked the Governing Body to endorse the actions to be undertaken in order to 
deliver the recommendations.

Proposed: by Dr David Rogers, seconded by Dr Rachel Preston.

Agreed: The recommendation was agreed unanimously through a show of hands 
from the Governing Body members.

Resolved: Recommendation 5.1 Option 1 (as detailed in the Future in WNE Cumbria 
Public Consultation Document pages 34 – 36 inclusive)   

b) Hyper-Acute Stroke Services

SC advised that section 11 of the Decision Making document provides an overview of 
the options consulted on and that Option 2 was the preferred option.  

SC outlined the specific findings from the public consultation as detailed on pages 57 
to 59 of the report.   Responses from the public included some recognition of the 
benefits of a Hyper-Acute Stroke Unit and delivery of rehabilitation as close to home 
as possible. Concerns about early access to services (and reference to a ‘Golden 
Hour’) and the need for a full risk analysis had been raised. 

The themes from organisations, clinicians and professional bodies included:

 need for ongoing public and clinical engagement;
 adherence to national policy and guidance; and
 mixed views about sustainability and possible alternative proposals for West 

Cumberland Hospital

32



SC advised that some stakeholders suggested that initial diagnosis and treatment 
would be undertaken at West Cumberland Hospital before transferring to 
Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle.   

SC confirmed that NHS organisations strongly supported Option 2 and following the 
close of the consultation, North West Ambulance Service had confirmed 
deliverability of the preferred option but in the context of additional capacity 
required.

Section 11.2 on page 59 responds to the consultation finding and reminds Members 
of the rationale for the preferred option.  The preferred option was supported by an 
independent clinical review, led by Professor Tony Rudd, National Clinical Director for 
Stroke and members of the Northern England Strategic Clinical Network.  The 
suggestion that initial diagnosis and treatment would take place at West Cumberland 
Hospital was not supported and the Northern England Clinical Senate felt that this 
would be the ‘worst possible pathway’.

SC stated that it was important to point out to Members that the key measure of 
access for a stroke was not the ‘Golden Hour’ but to receive thrombolysis within 3 – 
4 hours.  This standard was deliverable in terms of travel time for all parts of West, 
North and East Cumbria.

Section 11.3 provides assurance that the recommended option meets the four 
assessment domains.

SC advised that the Governing Body was asked to approve Option 2 and read out the 
recommendation.

The Chair asked SSi to provide the Governing Body with assurance on the proposed 
changes and why it would benefit a higher percentage of the West, North and East 
Cumbria population.  SSi advised that there were two reasons why a single 24/7 
Hyper Acute Stroke Unit would be better for all.  All recent evidence shows that the 
treatment received during the first week after a stroke is very important in 
determining outcomes, including if the patient would manage to return to their own 
home.  Secondly services that would be provided in this one unit would enable 
patients to access multi-disciplinary teams such as specialist speech therapists and 
occupational therapists.  

Assurance was sought around the public adverts for people demonstrating signs of 
having a stroke to seek medical advice as quickly as possible, i.e. ‘the Golden Hour’.   
DR confirmed that the standard related to patients receiving thrombolysis within 4 
hours of diagnosis, and for thrombectomy within 5 hours, while recognising that they 
are only appropriate interventions for a minority of stroke patients. DR confirmed 
that the public adverts were encouraging people to seek medical help, rather than 
waiting to see if the symptoms went away.  

PR explained that the clinical evidence showed that a Hyper Acute Stroke Unit would 
improve outcomes for everyone. This includes patients who do not receive, but 
would have benefitted from, thrombolysis. This is due to the presence of specialist 
Physicians, Nurses, and Therapists working in a single unit seven days a week, 

33



providing highly skilled specialist care. He also explained that current thrombolysis 
rates at both West Cumberland Hospital and Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle are very 
low. 

The Chair reiterated the recommendations for the hyper-acute stroke service and 
also asked the Governing Body to endorse the actions to be undertaken in order to 
deliver the recommendations.

Proposed by Dr Geoff Jolliffe, seconded by Dr Jon Rush;

Agreed:  The recommendation was agreed unanimously by a show of hands from the 
Governing Body members.

Resolved:  Recommendation 6.1 Option 2 (as detailed in the Future in WNE Cumbria 
Public Consultation Document pages 38 – 40 inclusive) be approved for 
implementation.

The Governing Body endorsed the following actions to be undertaken in order to 
deliver this proposal:

 the development of a 7-day Transient Ischaemic Attack service be considered 
part of the development of the hyper-acute stroke unit

 the focus on the recruitment of stroke physicians continued 

c) Emergency Surgery, Trauma and Orthopaedic Services

SC described the proposal in the consultation to make permanent the interim 
changes previously made on safety grounds. The consultation included the proposal 
to return some emergency surgery and trauma care to return to West Cumberland 
Hospital. This is set out on page 63 of the ‘Decision Making’ document.

SC outlined the independent analysis of the consultation in relation to the proposal 
which showed:

 concerns about patient safety during transfer to Cumberland Infirmary 
Carlisle

 support for the retention and return of services at West Cumberland Hospital
 support for the better use of the new hospital at West Cumberland Hospital
 acknowledgement of the staffing issues

During the consultation an alternative model was proposed which entailed 24 hour 
emergency care, excluding major trauma, at West Cumberland Hospital with 
consultant led care 8 till 8, 7 days a week for medicine, surgery, trauma and 
othopaedics and gynaecology.

SC advised that the alternative model was considered, and that a number of issues 
arose indicating the challenge of maintaining two surgical teams, with low volumes 
of activity, safety, viability and sustainability concerns.  SC also advised that because 
the majority of proposals had already been working in practice following the interim 
change, there had been the opportunity to evaluate their positive impact as set out 
on pages 65 – 67.

34



Section 12.2 of the Decision Making Document responds to the consultation findings 
and reiterates why a return to the previous model of emergency surgery and trauma 
at West Cumberland Hospital would not meet quality and safety standards.

Section 12.3 provides assurance that the recommended proposal meets the 4 
assessment domains.

SC advised that the Governing Body was asked to approve the proposal set out in the 
Public Consultation document for implementation.  SC read out the proposal.

The Chair invited Stephen Eames (SE), Chief Executive of North Cumbria University 
Hospitals NHS Trust to provide assurance that the Trust was committed to the 
repatriation of services to West Cumberland Hospital.  SE confirmed that this was the 
case and that to date over 2,000 more procedures had been undertaken at West 
Cumberland Hospital, of which around 700 to 750 had been emergency procedures.  

In response to a question from RG, CW confirmed that the cost of additional 
ambulance resources had been factored into all of the options.

The Chair reiterated the recommendation in relation to emergency surgery, trauma 
and orthopaedics. 

Proposed: by Dr David Rogers, seconded by Jon Rush

Agreed: The recommendation was agreed unanimously through a show of hands 
from the Governing Body members.

Resolved:  Recommendation 7.1, the proposal set out in the Public Consultation 
Document (as detailed in pages 41 to 43 inclusive) be approved for 
implementation.

GB 29/17 AGENDA ITEM 10: Healthcare for the Future, West, North & East Cumbria 
Consultation: Implementation

SC advised that section 14 explains the relationship between the Success Regime and 
the Sustainability and Transformation Plan, in particular the integrated governance 
arrangements provided for through the System Leadership Board.

The implementation programme will be clinically led, and will be built on a principal 
of co-production with stakeholders, including the community, patients and carers 
and members of the public.  SC confirmed the proposal for an independently chaired 
Implementation Reference Group.  SC advised that if this proposal was approved, Jon 
Rush, Lay Member for Public Engagement and David Rogers, Medical Director would 
be members of the Reference Group.

SC advised that part of the implementation process will be to continually review and 
update the equality impact assessment and to seek further reductions in inequalities.  
He stated that in particular there would be a continuation of trying to engage with 
the traveller community.   

35



SC advised that the Governing Body was asked to approve the proposal set out on 
page 76 of the Decision Making document.  SC read out the recommendation.

Members advised that there were significant issues around travel and how the staff 
and public will be engaged throughout these developments.  

It was also acknowledged that there was significant financial challenge within the 
whole Health and Social Care economy, which would require a long term and 
continuous focus.  

SS stated that the Implementation Reference Group was very important and that 
Healthwatch Cumbria would welcome the opportunity to support the continued 
process of engagement and co-production.

The Chair reiterated the recommendation.

Proposed: by Dr Rachel Preston, seconded by Ruth Gildert;

Agreed: The recommendation was agreed unanimously through a show of hands 
from the Governing Body members.

Resolved: The formation of an Implementation Group to feedback on the 
implementation process be approved (as detailed on page 76 of the 
‘Decision Making’ document).

GB 30/17 AGENDA ITEM 11: Summary and Close

SC thanked the members of the public present for their attendance and courtesy 
throughout the Governing Body meeting, also the representatives of the CCGs 
partner organisations for their support. He again thanked all of the members of the 
public and stakeholders who had participated in the consultation, and thanked all of 
the staff for their tremendous efforts in undertaking the consultation and preparing 
for today’s meeting.

SC confirmed that the recommendations approved during the course of this meeting 
would be considered by the Cumbria County Council Health Scrutiny Committee on   
22 March 2017.

The Chair expressed his appreciation of all the hard work that had made the meeting 
possible and thanked the public for their patience whilst the Governing Body made 
their decisions today.

Close of the Meeting.

The meeting closed at 13.15

36



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

CONFIDENTIAL 
 

West, North and East Cumbria Success Regime  
  

Decision Making Report  
 
 
 
 
 

NHS Cumbria Clinical Commissioning Group  
 

8 March 2017 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

Appendix 3

37



 

 
 
 
 

  

 
38



 

Contents  
 
 

1. Executive Summary ................................................................................................................ 5 
1.1 Introduction ..................................................................................................................... 5 
1.2 Background to the proposed options .............................................................................. 5 
1.3 Engagement and consultation ......................................................................................... 6 
1.4 The decision-making process ........................................................................................... 7 
1.5 The decision-making context ........................................................................................... 8 
1.6 Summary of recommendations ....................................................................................... 8 
1.7 Implementation considerations ..................................................................................... 10 
1.8 Next steps for the decision-making process .................................................................. 11 

 

2. Introduction ......................................................................................................................... 12 
 

3. Overview of the process to date .......................................................................................... 13 
3.1 The Clinical Strategy for West, North and East Cumbria ............................................... 13 
3.2 Pre-consultation stage ................................................................................................... 14 
3.3 Independent expert advice and assurance .................................................................... 15 
3.4 Impact and risk assessment ........................................................................................... 16 

 

4. Engagement and the consultation ....................................................................................... 18 
4.1 Pre-consultation engagement ....................................................................................... 18 
4.2 The public consultation process .................................................................................... 19 
4.3 Findings from the public consultation ........................................................................... 23 

 

5. Decision-making process ..................................................................................................... 25 
 

6. Decision-making context ...................................................................................................... 26 
 

7. Maternity services................................................................................................................ 27 
7.1 Specific findings of the public consultation in relation to Maternity Services .............. 27 
7.2 Overall consideration of the options ............................................................................. 29 

7.2.1 External clinical view ............................................................................................... 31 
7.2.2 Travel time risk and impact on patient and their families experience ................... 31 
7.2.3 Risk associated with transfer between sites........................................................... 32 
7.2.4 Impact on choice ..................................................................................................... 33 

7.3 Recommendations for Maternity Services .................................................................... 33 
7.4 Implementation considerations for Maternity Services ................................................ 35 

 

 

8. Children’s services................................................................................................................ 37
8.1 Specific findings of the public consultation in relation to Children’s Services .............. 37
8.2 Overall consideration of the options ............................................................................. 39

8.2.1 Travel time and transfers ........................................................................................ 40
8.2.2 External clinical view ............................................................................................... 40

39



 

8.3 Recommendations for Children’s Services .................................................................... 41 
8.4 Implementation considerations for Children’s Services ................................................ 42 

9. Community hospital inpatient beds..................................................................................... 44 
9.1 Specific findings of the public consultation in relation to the community hospital 
proposals .............................................................................................................................. 44 
9.2 Overall consideration of the options ............................................................................. 46 
9.3 Recommendation for the community hospital bed base .............................................. 51 

 

10. Emergency and acute services ........................................................................................... 52 
10.1 Specific findings of the public consultation in relation to emergency and acute 
services ................................................................................................................................. 53 
10.2 Overall consideration of the options ........................................................................... 55 
10.3 Recommendation for the emergency and acute services ........................................... 56 

 

11 Hyper-acute stroke services ................................................................................................ 57 
11.1 Specific findings of the public consultation in relation to hyper-acute stroke service57 
11.2 Overall consideration of the options ........................................................................... 59 
11.3 Recommendation for the hyper-acute stroke services ............................................... 60 
11.4 Implementation considerations ................................................................................... 61 

 

12. Emergency surgery, trauma and orthopaedic services ..................................................... 63 
12.1 Specific findings of the public consultation in relation to emergency surgery, trauma 
and orthopaedics ................................................................................................................. 63 
12.2 Overall consideration of the options ........................................................................... 64 
12.3 Recommendation for emergency surgery and trauma and orthopaedics .................. 69 

 

13. Final decision-making considerations ................................................................................ 70 
 

14. Implementation considerations ......................................................................................... 75 
 

15. Next steps for the decision-making process ...................................................................... 77 
 

16. List of appendices .............................................................................................................. 78 
 

  

 
40



 

1. Executive Summary 
 

1.1 Introduction to the executive summary 
 
The NHS Cumbria Clinical Commissioning Group Governing Body meeting is an important 
step on the journey to deliver a high quality, sustainable and affordable health care system 
for West, North and East Cumbria. 
 
Whilst the recommendations being put forward result from a long-standing development 
process undertaken through wide-ranging discussions with partner organisations, the 
decision-making responsibility falls solely with the NHS Cumbria Clinical Commissioning 
Group Governing Body.  
 
As such, this document, whilst set in the context of the work of the Success Regime, is 
owned and authored by NHS Cumbria Clinical Commissioning Group. This report supports 
the Governing Body in making decisions in line with the NHS Cumbria Clinical 
Commissioning Group Constitution.  
 

1.2 Background to the proposed options 
 
The Success Regime is a national initiative led by NHS England and NHS Improvement in 
three of the most challenged health economies in England. In September 2015 the West, 
North and East Cumbria Success Regime was launched. It is comprised of local NHS partner 
organisations, including NHS Cumbria Clinical Commissioning Group, and is led by Sir Neil 
McKay as the Independent Chair. 
 
One of the key aims of the Success Regime is to develop a sustainable clinical strategy. This 
recognised the significant challenges in relation to the sustainability of clinical services, 
financial sustainability, workforce recruitment and retention and indeed the immediate 
performance challenges in seeking to deliver the NHS Constitution Standards. This also 
recognised the requirement of the Care Quality Commission to produce a system wide 
Clinical Strategy which would enable transformational service improvement.  
 

 

The first iteration of the Clinical Strategy was produced in March 2016 to meet the timescale
required by the Care Quality Commission. The strategy then widened into the full range of
proposals  across  the  wider  NHS  as  described  in  the  Pre-Consultation  Business  Case  in
summer 2016. The local partner organisations always had a clear commitment to ensure an
appropriate Public Consultation prior to deciding on any permanent major service change.

41



 

 
A two-stage process was used to identify, develop, appraise and prioritise the service model 
options put forward for Public Consultation that will address: 
 

• the clinical sustainability issues as described in the Clinical Strategy, and  
• the financial challenges facing the West, North and East Cumbria health economy as 

described in the wider Success Regime terms of reference.  

 

1.3 Engagement and consultation 
 
Public, patient, staff and stakeholder views have been a key feature of the Success Regime 
process, from engagement to inform the development of the long list of options and then 
through consultation on the short-listed options. 
 
The programme undertook a significant amount of engagement work prior to consultation 
including stakeholder meetings, staff engagement meetings, use of an online staff survey 
and numerous location visits using the Healthwatch Cumbria Chatty Van.  
 
The formal public consultation process ran from the 26th September 2016 to the 19th 
December 2016. The consultation activities included sixteen public meetings across West, 
North and East Cumbria, the establishment of a consultation website, a representative 
telephone survey undertaken which contacted over 1000 people and the distribution of 
20,000 hard copies of consultation documents. 
 
The full set of responses were independently analysed by The Campaign Company. 
The analysis shows that a large number of respondents did not indicate a preferred option 
from any of the consultation options, and in the comments explained that they did not 
support any of the options. However, where respondents did indicate a preferred option, 
there was support for the Consultation document preferred options for the following 
service areas: 
 

• Children’s services 
• Community Hospitals Inpatient beds 
• Emergency and acute care 

 

Respondents indicating a preferred option did not support the Consultation document 
preferred options for the following areas: 
 

• Maternity services 
• Hyper-acute stroke services 

 
42



 

 

For emergency surgery and trauma and orthopaedic services, a proposal to substantiate 
service changes already in place on an interim basis was included in the Consultation 
document, rather than a series of options. In this instance the qualitative feedback heard 
through public consultation was used to test the proposal put forward before making a 
recommendation to the Governing Body. 
 

1.4 The decision-making process 
 
Following the completion of the public consultation, collectively all the partner 
organisations including NHS Cumbria Clinical Commissioning Group reviewed the responses.  
 
Where new models were identified the model was evaluated using the same criteria as used 
in Stage 1 of pre-consultation process.  
 
The Governing Body is not bound by the recommendations or conditions put forward in this 
report and can choose to support, reject or amend them as it sees fit.  
 
 
  

 
43



 

1.5 The decision-making context 
 
The vision as set out in the Pre-Consultation Business Case is to develop West, North and 
East Cumbria as: 
 

“A centre of excellence for integrated health and social care provision in rural, 
remote and dispersed communities” 

 

The choices made by the Governing Body will be a key part of delivering this vision by 
providing the foundations upon which to enable a step change in workforce recruitment 
and retention. Decision-making will do this by providing two clear messages: 
 

1. Certainty on service development to convince people to come here, stay here and 
put down roots / by a house they need certainty around the model of care 
 

2. The creation of an innovative model of care that creates a unique selling point over 
all other parts of the country where NHS organisations are also chasing the same 
workforce and that meets the employment expectations of the modern workforce  

 

1.6 Summary of recommendations 
 
The following section sets out the recommendations made to the Governing Body. The 
rationale for each recommendation is set out in later sections of the document. 
 
Recommendation 1: The Governing Body is requested to confirm that NHS Cumbria Clinical 
Commissioning Group has met its statutory duties in ensuring that an effective and robust 
Public Consultation has been undertaken and will be used to inform the decisions made.  
 
Recommendation 2: The Governing Body is requested to approve the following proposal 
(recommendations 2.1 – 2.4 inclusive) for implementation. All Options relate to those 
described in the Healthcare for the Future in West, North and East Cumbria Public 
Consultation Document, pages 20 – 23 inclusive: 
 
Recommendation 2.1: To test the viability of Option 1 over a 12 month period 

 
Recommendation 2.2: If Option 1 is not proven to be deliverable or sustainable then 
implement Option 2 at the end of the 12 month period 

 

 

Recommendation 2.3: Whilst testing Option 1, to prepare for Option 2 by implementing a
Midwifery Led Unit (MLU) in Whitehaven alongside the Consultant Led Unit, in order that
the MLU can be audited as if it was freestanding

44



 

 
Recommendation 2.4: To implement Option 3 if Option 1 is not proven to be deliverable or 
sustainable and, following audit of the MLU, Option 2 is not deemed to be safe. 
 
Recommendation 3.1: The Governing Body is requested to approve Option 1 for 
implementation. 
 
This option involves the development of an inpatient paediatric unit serving West, North 
and East Cumbria based at Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle along with a Short Stay Paediatric 
Assessment Unit. At West Cumberland Hospital, Whitehaven, there would be a Short Stay 
Paediatric Assessment Unit for children requiring short term observation and treatment. 
There would be some overnight beds at Whitehaven for children with less acute, low risk 
illnesses but children who needed more acute inpatient admission would be transferred to 
Carlisle. 
 
Recommendation 3.2: The Governing Body is requested to approve that should Option 1 
ultimately prove to be unsustainable then Option 2 for Children’s Services may need to be 
implemented.  
 
Recommendation 4.1: The Governing Body is requested to approve Option 1 for 
implementation. 
 
This option includes the consolidation of inpatient Community Hospital beds into six sites. In 
total there would be 104 inpatient beds at Whitehaven (Copeland Unit), Cockermouth, 
Workington, Penrith, Brampton and Keswick. 
 
Recommendation 5.1: The Governing Body is requested to approve Option 1 for 
implementation. 
 
This involves a 24/7 A&E at Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle along with acute medical 
inpatient services, including for the most complex cases. There would be assessment and 
inpatient beds for the frail elderly, as well as specialist rehabilitation. The number of 
intensive care beds currently on site would increase slightly, as would the number of 
emergency assessment unit beds.  
 
There would also be a 24/7 A&E at West Cumberland Hospital along with acute medical 
inpatient services and rehabilitation. There would also be a small intensive care unit but 
some of the most seriously ill patients would be transferred to Carlisle if it was felt they 
would benefit from the extra support available there. 
 

 
45



 

Note: This will not change the bed base of the Intensive Care Unit at West Cumberland 
Hospital. This will also not change the previously implemented high risk pathways including 
those relating to cardiology and respiratory. 
 
Recommendation 6.1: The Governing Body is requested to approve Option 2 for 
implementation. 
 
This would see all acute stroke cases managed in a single hyper-acute stroke unit based at 
Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle. Ambulances would take possible stroke patients direct to 
Carlisle. Patients arriving at West Cumberland Hospital by other means would be transferred 
by ambulance to Carlisle. On leaving the hyper-acute stroke unit patients resident in West 
Cumbria would be transferred to acute stroke and rehabilitation facilities at West 
Cumberland Hospital if further hospital care was needed. This service would be 
complemented by ensuring improved, early supported discharge in both Carlisle and 
Whitehaven. 
 
Recommendation 7.1: The Governing Body is requested to approve the proposal set out in 
the Public Consultation document for implementation. 
 
Recommendation 8.1: The Governing Body is requested to approve the formation of an 
Implementation Reference Group to feedback on the implementation process. The 
membership of this group will be agreed in discussion with patient and the public 
representative groups, stakeholders and partners but would include representation from 
the Clinical Commissioning Group including the Lay Member Lead for Patient Engagement 
and the Medical Director. 
 
This group may wish to use a sub-group structure around each of the main areas of change 
(i.e. maternity and paediatrics, acute and emergency care and community hospitals). 
 

1.7 Implementation considerations 
 
In early 2016 as part of the national process, the West, North and East Cumbria area was 
recognised as a Sustainability and Transformation Plan area. The Sustainability and 
Transformation Plan governance arrangements include a new System Leadership Board that 
will oversee the implementation of these decisions made by the NHS Cumbria Clinical 
Commissioning Group Governing Body 
 

 

As part of the implementation process, it is recommended that the Clinical Commissioning
Group  establish  an  independent  Implementation  Reference  Group  to  feedback  on  the
implementation process.

46



 

1.8 Next steps for the decision-making process 
 
Following the Governing Body meeting, the Clinical Commissioning Group will formally write 
to Cumbria Health Scrutiny Committee to inform them of each decision made. 
 
The Cumbria Health Scrutiny Committee will then review these decisions and choose 
whether or not to give feedback to the Governing Body on each decision.  
 
Once the position of the Cumbria Health Scrutiny Committee is known and any feedback 
received, NHS Cumbria Clinical Commissioning Group will work through the Sustainability 
and Transformation Plan governance mechanism in partnership with other organisations to 
develop a full implementation and delivery plan to enact the decisions made. 
 
NHS Cumbria Clinical Commissioning Group will also work with local partner organisations 
to ensure a full business case is provided to NHS England and/or NHS Improvement if 
required. 

  

 
47



 

2. Introduction 
 
The NHS Cumbria Clinical Commissioning Group Governing Body meeting is an important 
step on the journey to deliver a high quality, sustainable and affordable health care system 
for West, North and East Cumbria. 
 
The Success Regime is a national initiative led by NHS England and NHS Improvement in 
three of the most challenged health economies in England. In September 2015 the West, 
North and East Cumbria Success Regime was launched. It is comprised of local NHS partner 
organisations, including NHS Cumbria Clinical Commissioning Group, and is led by Sir Neil 
McKay as the Independent Chair. 
 
One of the key aims of the Success Regime is to develop a sustainable clinical strategy. This 
recognised the significant challenges in relation to the sustainability of clinical services, 
financial sustainability, workforce recruitment and retention and indeed the immediate 
performance challenges in seeking to deliver the NHS Constitution Standards. This also 
recognised the requirement of the Care Quality Commission to produce a system wide 
Clinical Strategy which would enable transformational service improvement.  
 
The first iteration of the Clinical Strategy was produced in March 2016 to meet the timescale 
required by the Care Quality Commission. The strategy then widened into the full range of 
proposals across the wider NHS as described in the Pre-Consultation Business Case in 
summer 2016. The local partner organisations always had a clear commitment to ensure an 
appropriate Public Consultation prior to deciding on any permanent major service change. 
 
The decisions that will be made are a sub-set of the full range of actions that West, North 
and East Cumbria need to take to ensure clinical and financial stability for the population, 
based on the better integration of care that will underpin the changes to the way services 
are provided in our hospitals. 
 
Each decision will be made taking into account the impact they will have in terms of: 
 

• the population’s health outcomes and health inequalities,  
• impacts on quality (in terms of clinical standards, patient experience and safety) and 

ongoing clinical sustainability 
• the deliverability of the proposed service model (both in its own right and in 

combination with the other decisions being made), and 
• the financial consequence of implementing the change 

 

 

Whilst the recommendations put forward result from a long-standing development process
undertaken  through  wide-ranging  discussions  with  partner  organisations,  the  decision-

48



 

making responsibility falls solely with the NHS Cumbria Clinical Commissioning Group 
Governing Body.  
 
As such, this document, whilst set in the context of the work of the Success Regime, is 
owned and authored by NHS Cumbria Clinical Commissioning Group. This document 
contains: 
 

• an overview of the process taken to develop the options that went to public 
consultation 

• an outline of the pre-consultation engagement and public consultation process and 
how they informed the development and appraisal of the options 

• a description of the decision-making process 
• an overview of the decision-making context based on the Clinical Strategy and the 

Pre-Consultation Business Case 
• Recommendations for each service subject to decision-making  
• Considerations for implementation of the final decisions, and an outline of the next 

steps following this meeting 

3. Overview of the process to date 
 
This report comes to the Clinical Commissioning Group Governing Body at the decision-
making stage of the process following the conclusion of the earlier stages depicted in figure 
1. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

3.1 The Clinical Strategy for West, North and East Cumbria 
 
The Clinical Strategy was developed as the local response to the significant challenges faced 
in the health economy. It was also developed in response to the Care Quality Commission’s 
requirement for both a sustainable clinical strategy for West, North and East Cumbria and 

 
Figure 1: Success regime programme stages 

 
49



 

assurance that the issues highlighted in relation to services provided by North Cumbria 
University Hospitals NHS Trust were being addressed. 
 
The strategy confirmed the actions being taken to stabilise the most fragile acute hospital 
services as well as outlining how improved performance against key constitutional targets 
including Accident and Emergency performance and waiting times would be achieved.  
 
The Care Quality Commission accepted the Clinical Strategy in March 2016 and the 
programme moved to the second stage of its work. 
 

3.2 Pre-consultation stage 
 
The pre-consultation stage was used to identify, develop and appraise the service model 
options that will address: 
 

• the clinical sustainability issues as described in the Clinical Strategy, and  
• the financial challenges facing the West, North and East Cumbria health economy as 

described in the wider Success Regime terms of reference.  
 
As described in the Pre-Consultation Business Case (and shown in figure 2) a two-stage 
process was used to identify the options to be put forward for public consultation from the 
long lists of conceivable options.   
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The two stages were as follows: 
 

 
Figure 2: Long-list to preferred option process 

 
50



 

• Stage 1: the application of a set of three ‘hurdle criteria’ against each option in the 
long list. These hurdle criteria were: 

- Hurdle 1: compliance with essential national quality / safety standards within 
two years (Can the option meet a minimum level of safety and required 
quality standards?) 

- Hurdle 2: operational deliverability within two years (Are the staffing 
assumptions for this option credible and training requirements feasible?) 

- Hurdle 3: contribution to reducing financial deficit within five years (Can this 
option be delivered with the capital funding we can secure and make a net 
positive contribution to the 2020/21 forecast gap?) 
 

• Stage 2: appraisal of the short-listed options that passed stage 1 the following 
evaluation criteria: 

- the impact they would have on the health and wellbeing of the population 
- the impact they would have on the quality of care (including the sustainability 

of the current workforce, patient experience, safety and the achievement of 
clinical standards) 

- the impact they would have on closing the funding and efficiency gap across 
West, North and East Cumbria  

- how easy or hard it would be to deliver the option if agreed and the 
timeframe over which this would take 

 
All the options passing Stage 1 went forward for public consultation. Stage 2 of the process 
identified the preferred option for each service area. 
 

3.3 Independent expert advice and assurance  
 
Throughout the pre-consultation stage, the programme sought external expertise and 
independent assurance to ensure that the development of the options put forward for 
consultation were as robust as possible.  
 
This external advice and assurance included: 
 

 

• Clinical assurance– to ensure that the best clinical opinion and advice was received
in the development and assessment of the options for new service models.
- Development support from the Northern England Clinical Senate.
- Development support and review of evidence by the Northern England Clinical

Networks
- A formal Clinical Assurance Review from Greater Manchester, Lancashire and

South Cumbria Clinical Senate

51



 

• External clinical advice. Advice from national experts such as:  
- Dr Matthew Jolly - National Clinical Director: Maternity Review and Women’s 

Health for NHS England and Professor Jacqueline Dunkley-Bent - Head of 
Maternity, Children & Young People for NHS England in relation to the maternity 
services options 

- Dr Tony Falconer - former President Royal College of Obstetricians and 
Gynaecologists, lead author of the Royal College of Obstetricians and 
Gynaecologists Review 2014, who supported the maternity working group 
throughout the process 

- Dr David Shortland - Vice-president for the Royal College of Paediatrics and Child 
Health) in regards to the children’s services options 

- Peter Colclough (expert on integrated care) which would inform the wider work 
on the Integrated Care Community concept 

- Dr Tony Rudd - National Clinical Director for Stroke for NHS England in regards to 
the hyper-acute stroke model 

• Engagement and consultation assurance from the Consultation Institute – to ensure 
that engagement and consultation with the public was undertaken effectively and 
appropriately  

• Programme assurance – to ensure that the programme was run effectively and 
robustly using a Gateway Review process 

 
As well as engaging outside expertise and assurance, the programme has met with the 
requirements of the regulatory processes of national arms-length-bodies (NHS England and 
NHS Improvement). These processes ensure that national guidance and policy on the 
assurance of service change was followed by the programme. 

 

3.4 Impact and risk assessment  
 
To ensure the Clinical Commissioning Group comply with the requirements of the Equality 
Act 2010 (the Public Sector Equality Duty) the programme carried out an Equality Impact 
Assessment.  
 
Equality Impact Assessment is a process designed to ensure that a policy, project or scheme 
does not discriminate against any disadvantaged or vulnerable people. The full methodology 
and findings of the Equality Impact Assessment can be found in appendix 1. 
 

 

As  well  as  the  Equality  Impact  Assessment,  a  range  of  other  impact  assessments  were
carried out to support the development of the proposed options and to test the risks (and
mitigations) that were identified during the public consultation. These were:

52



 

 

• A Health Impact Assessment (HIA). This is developed using a combination of public 
health procedures, methods and tools and is the means by which a policy, 
programme or project may be judged as to its potential effects on the health and 
wellbeing or health inequalities of, and the distribution of those effects within, a 
population. The full Health Impact Assessment methodology and findings can be 
found in appendix 2. 
 

• Travel impact assessments for acute hospital services, community hospitals and the 
proposed Integrated Care Communities. Travel impact assessments are used to 
model the effect the proposed service changes may have across West, North and 
East Cumbria. The full travel impact assessment methodologies and findings can be 
found in appendix 3. 
 

• A Rural Proofing assessment. Rural Proofing is a process that enables organisations 
and departments to ‘screen’ their policies and programmes at the development 
stage in order to ascertain their potential impact upon rural communities.  The full 
methodology and findings of the Rural Proofing process can be found in appendix 4. 

 

 
Alongside the impact assessment process, a robust risk assessment process has been 
utilised to:  
 

• assess potential risks through the model generation and options appraisal process. 
The long list of options was assessed against hurdle criteria and then a more detailed 
set of evaluation criteria to appraise short-listed options. The criteria included option 
compliance with essential national quality / safety standards and operational 
delivery risks. 

• review risks raised by the public consultation and identify appropriate mitigations for 
them when making the recommendations to the Governing Body. This included 
drawing on outside independent expertise such as Royal Colleges, Clinical Networks 
and Clinical Senates as well as working with partners such as the North West 
Ambulance Service on risks associated with access, conveyance and transfers 

 
A description of the approach to the assessment of risk can be found in appendix 5. 

  

 
53



 

4. Engagement and the consultation 
 
Public, patient, staff and stakeholder views have been a key feature of the Success Regime 
process, from engagement to inform the development of the long list of options and then 
through consultation on the short-listed options. 
 

4.1 Pre-consultation engagement 
 
As outlined in the Pre-Consultation Business Case and the consultation document, the 
Success Regime undertook a significant amount of engagement work prior to consultation 
including: 
 

• 142 public or private stakeholder meetings  
• 31 staff engagement meetings  
• 161 responses to an online staff survey  
• 210 comment cards completed by staff  
• 163 written responses (letters, emails, blogs, etc.)  
• 229 online responses through the ‘Have Your Say’ form on the West, North and 

East Cumbria Success Regime website  
• 86 location visits from a travelling ‘chatty van’ engagement vehicle, led by 

Healthwatch, which has travelled to communities across West, North and East 
Cumbria, covering more than 3,700 miles and capturing the views of more than 
3,400 people  

 

The key themes that can be drawn from this engagement work were as follows: 
 

• Recruitment and retention. This included feedback that staff feel stretched with low 
morale and that more should be done to solve recruitment problems before any 
services are changed. Many assert that a clear vision with a bright future for services 
in Cumbria will help attract and retain staff and that this is not helped by uncertainty 
about services in West Cumbria.  
 

• West Cumberland Hospital. There was little evidence of public support for any 
option that reduces the level of service in the West Cumberland Hospital 
(particularly accident and emergency and consultant-led maternity services) 
 

 

• Community hospitals. While people understand the difficulties associated with
recruiting,   retaining   and   rostering   staff   in   community   hospitals,   there   was
considerable opposition to the idea of removing inpatient beds from any community
hospital site.

54



 

 
• Finances. There were some people who believe North Cumbria University Hospitals 

NHS Trust should bear the burden of any cost reductions because its deficit makes 
up a large proportion of the overall health system overspend.  

 
• Integration. All respondents agreed that better integration of services – between 

adult and social, residential, community and acute care – is essential to improve 
healthcare in Cumbria. As such, there was a great deal of support for the idea of 
Integrated Care Communities. 
 

• New services. There was widespread support for the increased use of tele-medicine 
or anything that aids service delivery in remote areas in delivering efficient and 
effective patient care.  
 

• Factors specific to West, North and East Cumbria. The rurality and geography of 
west, north and east Cumbria – and its poor transport links – was perhaps the single 
most common concern among all responses received. There were concerns about 
expectant mothers and acutely ill patients not receiving adequate care during the so-
called ‘Golden Hour’. Furthermore, while many supported the idea of care closer to 
or in people’s home, several people highlighted issues in such as the time it would 
take for nurses and other social care staff to travel from patient home to patient 
home. 

 

This feedback was used to update the oversight groups for the programme (the Programme 
Executive Group meetings and Programme Board meetings) and was given to the Senior 
Responsible Officers for each programme work-stream to inform their development of their 
long list of options and support the option appraisal process. 
 

4.2 The public consultation process 
 
The formal public consultation process ran from the 26th September 2016 to the 19th 
December 2016. The consultation activities included: 
 

• sixteen public meetings across West, North and East Cumbria 
• the establishment of a consultation website 
• a representative telephone survey undertaken which contacted over 1000 people. 
• the distribution of 20,000 hard copies of consultation documents 
• coverage in the local and regional media, and  
• use of the Healthwatch ‘Chatty Van’ 

 
 

 
55



 

Responses mainly came through the consultation questionnaire, but also: 
 

• Letters, emails and long form submissions 
• Social media 
• Public, stakeholder and staff meetings 
• Petitions 

 

To ensure compliance with the statutory requirement for NHS bodies to consult a Local 
Authority on proposals under consideration for a substantial development of or variation in 
the provision of health services the programme and NHS Cumbria Clinical Commissioning 
Group have kept the Cumbria Health Scrutiny Committee informed throughout. 
 
To give the NHS Clinical Commissioning Group Governing Body additional assurance that the 
engagement and consultation process has been carried out to the highest standard, the 
Success Regime requested an external assessment by the Consultation Institute.  
 
The Consultation Institute provide a formal Quality Assurance service to ensure that public 
consultation is carried out to best practice standards. The process involves several 
checkpoints at which the Institute checks whether best practice is being observed.  These 
checkpoints are: 
 

1. Scoping - When the basics of the consultation are agreed 
2. Project Plan - When consultation activities are set out and organised 
3. Documentation - Ensuring that hard copy and electronic documents are fit for 

purpose and that questionnaires conform to best practice 
4. Mid-Point Review - To assess whether all relevant views are being collected 
5. Closing Date - To finalise plans for analysis, feedback and to influence the outcome 
6. Final Report - To confirm the Institute’s endorsement of the consultation 

 

To date the Healthcare for the Future consultation programme has been successfully signed 
off with respect to the first four of the checkpoints described above with the final 
assessment to come in the near future. 
 
The results of the public consultation have been assessed and analysed independently by 
The Campaign Company. The Campaign Company provided the final consultation report on 
the 23rd February 2017. The report was published on the NHS Cumbria Clinical 
Commissioning Group website on 24th February. This publication date was chosen in order 
to meet the pre-election period guidance relating to the Copeland by-election on the 23rd 
February 2017. 
  

 
56



 

The total number of responses by the way in which the response was made can be seen in 
figure 3. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Responses came for a broad spectrum of the population. The breakdown by age, gender 
and ethnicity can be seen in figure 4.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

 
Figure 3: Number of responses to the public consultation 

 
Figure 4: Demography of those responding to the consultation 
 

 
57



 

Responses also came from all localities within West, North and East Cumbria. A breakdown 
of this can be seen in figure 5. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Public consultations are not necessarily representative exercises. Against the census profile 
there are some examples of this: 
 

• People aged under 25 and over 65 in the consultation response were under-
represented compared to the population of West, North and East Cumbria 

• Women were over-represented in the consultation response compared to the 
population of West, North and East Cumbria 

• Residents from Copeland District were over-represented in the consultation 
response compared to the population of West, North and East Cumbria 

 

The consultation analysis undertaken by The Campaign Company and outlined later in this 
report is representative of the response received during the consultation. 
 
  

 
Figure 5: Consultation questionnaire respondents by locality 
 

 
58



 

4.3 Findings from the public consultation 
 
The independent analysis of the public consultation found that: 
 

• For all services there were very significant numbers of responders who could not 
support any of the options put forward for public consultation 

• There is mixed support for many of the proposals outlined (this is consistent across 
all the different consultation channels).  

• Most vocal response has been where people see a ‘loss’ or changes to current 
service provision.  

• Patient safety and risk to life, accessibility to quality care, viability of proposals and 
health and social impacts are the key themes across the response. 

 

The analysis shows that a large number of respondents did not indicate a preferred option 
from any of the consultation options, and in the comments explained that they did not 
support any of the options. However, where respondents did indicate a preferred option, 
there was support for the Consultation document preferred options for the following 
service areas: 
 

• Children’s services 
• Community Hospitals Inpatient beds 
• Emergency and acute care 

 

Respondents indicating a preferred option did not support the Consultation document 
preferred options for the following areas: 
 

• Maternity services 
• Hyper-acute stroke services 

 

For emergency surgery and trauma and orthopaedic services, a proposal to substantiate 
service changes already in place on an interim basis was included in the Consultation 
document, rather than a series of options. In this instance the qualitative feedback heard 
through public consultation was used to test the proposal put forward before making a 
recommendation to the Governing Body. 
 
Consultation responses specific to each of the service areas are highlighted in the decision-
section later in this report. 
 
The full independent analysis of the public consultation by The Campaign Company can be 
found in appendix 6. 
 
 

 
59



 

4.4 Recommendations  
 
Recommendation 1: 
 

The Governing Body is requested to confirm that NHS Cumbria Clinical Commissioning 
Group has met its statutory duties in ensuring that an effective and robust Public 
Consultation has been undertaken and will be used to inform the decisions made.  
 
This recommendation is made on the basis that: 
 

• the public consultation was ran to the twelve week requirement of the Cumbria 
Health Scrutiny Committee,  

• used a wide ranging approach to consultation with an appropriate level of response 
from people in the areas most affected by the proposals,  

• had independent process assurance from the Consultation Institute,  and  
• was independently analysed by The Campaign Company  

 

  

 
60



 

5. Decision-making process 
 
This report supports the Governing Body in making decisions in line with Cumbria Clinical 
Commissioning Group Constitution.  
 
Following the completion of the public consultation, collectively all the partner 
organisations including the Clinical Commissioning Group reviewed all of the responses. 
Where suggestions were made as to where models could be strengthened or improved or 
where alternative models not put forward for consultation and that weren’t considered 
during the pre-consultation process. Where new models were identified the model was 
evaluated using the same criteria as used in Stage 1 of pre-consultation process. The detail 
of where alternative models were suggested can be found in the following sections for each 
service area. 
 
To support the Governing Body in making these decisions each service section will include 
the following: 
 

• How each preferred option has been considered against the feedback heard through 
the consultation process. This includes how interdependent services have been 
considered, what risks have been identified and how they have been tested against 
the impact assessments carried out by the programme.  
 

• For each service included in the public consultation, a recommendation has been 
made to the Governing Body as to which option would appear to be the strongest. 
This includes considering the feedback from the consultation and from each of the 
relevant NHS Trust organisations in relation to the deliverability of each option.  
 

• Alongside some of the recommendations for each area consulted on, additional 
considerations for implementations have been highlighted which the Governing 
Body may also wish to consider. These were developed in response to issues raised 
during the consultation process or from the discussions around deliverability during 
the option appraisal process. They are intended to help define the grounds on which 
it would become possible to implement the recommendation put forward or provide 
additional safeguards that need to be put in place during implementation.  
 

 

• In some instances there is further work may that may need to be carried out prior to
the  option  chosen  “going  live”.  This  work  is  not  material  to  the  decision  on  the
options being made in principle but is included for completeness as it will impact on
the  implementation  phase  of  the  programme  in  terms  of  both  work-plan  and
timeline.

61



 

6. Decision-making context  
 
The recommendations outlined in the following sections support delivery of the West, North 
and East Cumbria Clinical Strategy and the wider system development described in the Pre-
Consultation Business Case. 
 
NHS Cumbria Clinical Commissioning Group is committed to working in partnership to 
deliver the transformation in care services that will achieve improved outcomes for our 
population: 
 

• Ensuring that all who use our services are at the centre of everything we do. 
• Becoming world leaders in how to run the most efficient, safe and effective hospital 

services in remote and rural settings. 
• Cultivating first class responsive and accessible community services, tailored around 

the needs of their communities. 
• Returning our health and social care system to financial balance. 

 

The vision is to develop West, North and East Cumbria as: 
 

“A centre of excellence for integrated health and social care provision in rural, 
remote and dispersed communities” 

 

The choices made by the Governing Body will be a key part of delivering this vision by 
providing the foundations on which to enable a step change in workforce recruitment and 
retention. Decision-making will do this by providing two clear messages: 
 

1. Certainty on service development to convince people in order to come here, stay 
here and put down roots / buy a house they need certainty around the model of care 
 

2. The creation of an innovative model of care that creates a unique selling point over 
all other parts of the country where NHS organisations are also chasing the same 
workforce and that meets the employment expectations of the modern workforce  

 

 
 
 
 
  

 
62



 

7. Maternity services 
 
The options included in the public consultation are shown in figure 6: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The preferred option outlined in the public consultation document was Maternity Option 2. 
 

7.1 Specific findings of the public consultation in relation to Maternity 
Services 
 
The independent analysis of the public consultation found that only 57% of respondents to 
the questionnaire indicated a first preference against one of the consulted on options. A 
significant number of the remaining 43% of respondents did not support any of the options.  
 
There was strong support for Option 1 over the other two options put forward amongst the 
57% of respondents indicating a first preference as shown in (figure 7). 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
Figure 7: Preferences in the consultation response for the maternity service options 

 
Figure 6: Maternity service options 

 

 
63



 

 
This view was consistent across all localities, age, gender, and whether respondents have 
young children, but the strongest support for Option 1 came from respondents in West 
Cumbria. 
 
A very significant number of responses rejected all three options, and put forward the view 
that they would like to retain the current model at the West Cumberland Hospital. 
 
In terms of the qualitative feedback received on this across the consultation response, it is 
clear that the main influence on the response to the maternity options is the relative safety 
that is offered to expectant mothers and babies by each of the options. Maternity Option 1 
was perceived by many as the safest option. 
 
There was strongly expressed opposition to all of the options, across all the consultation 
channels, with many making the case for retaining the current level of maternity service 
provision at West Cumberland Hospital. 
 

Other specific feedback included: 
 

• Maternity Services Liaison Committee - “Community does not feel an acceptable 
option has been presented and on that basis would say that there is a need to work 
together to produce [one]” 

• West Cumberland Hospital Midwives - “If the Children's preferred option 1 is to be 
made a success of by recruiting paediatricians, why maternity option 1 would not 
also be a sustainable and therefore the preferred option?” 

• GPs in Allerdale & Copeland - “All the [maternity] proposals are unsafe…and take 
away choice” 

• West Cumbrians’ Voice for Health Care -“Why not have a moratorium [allowing 
option zero to continue] and do more co-production and see if it is still not 
sustainable? Risks of staffing failures are less than the risks of any other options 
[especially 2&3]. No clear evidence that proposals will improve outcomes [as 
demanded by policy]” 

 

Responses from other NHS organisations (North Cumbria University Hospitals NHS Trust, 
Newcastle Upon Tyne Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust and Northumbria Healthcare NHS 
Foundation Trust) included formal Trust support for Option 2. 
 
North West Ambulance Service highlighted concern about transfers, impact on overall 
performance and need for clear protocols / mitigations during the consultation. North West 
Ambulance Service has subsequently confirmed in writing that the Trust supports Option 2, 
the preferred option, for maternity services, having received a further explanation of the 
proposed approach to managing inter-site transfers. North West Ambulance Service 

 
64



 

confirmed in their letter dated 23 February 2017 that the Trust was satisfied that it would 
be able to deliver the ambulance elements of any preferred option for maternity services. 
 
There was also significant support from local some local clinicians for Option 2 (the 
preferred option in the Consultation document), particularly from different groups of 
Hospital Consultants, while other groups of clinicians including a significant number of 
Midwives and General Practitioners in West Cumbria expressed strong opposition to Option 
2. 
 
In the detailed review of all of the consultation feedback specifically referring to Maternity 
Services by the programme, no new alternative models were identified that had not already 
been considered during the option appraisal process. 
 

7.2 Overall consideration of the options 
 
The availability of obstetricians (maternity doctors), midwives, anaesthetists, paediatricians 
(children’s doctors) and other specialists is making it increasingly difficult, across the 
country, to provide 24-hour consultant-led maternity care in small district general hospitals 
with low numbers of births. This means that it is becoming increasingly challenging to 
maintain the quality of maternity services as defined by a range of regulatory and oversight 
bodies. 
 
The workforce position as applies to both Maternity and Children’s Services is summarised 
below: 
 
Clinical Role Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle West Cumberland Hospital 
Consultant 
Obstetrician non-
resident on-call 

All post substantively filled 
(5.7) 

All post substantively filled (5) 

Middle Grade & 
1st tier 
(Obstetrics) 

2.8 vacancies out of 16.10 
substantive posts. 

All post substantively filled (7). 

Consultant 
Paediatrician 

6.2 substantive positions, 6 in 
post plus a long term locum. 
 

5.4 substantive positions; 1.3 filled 
substantively with locums for 
remaining 4.1 vacant posts. (As at 8th 
Feb they were two twelve month 
fixed term “appointed candidates in 
due diligence’. The prospective post-
holders require supervision and 
further training before they can be 

 
65



 

Clinical Role Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle West Cumberland Hospital 
considered as permanent 
appointments). 

Other Medical 
Grades 

Of 7.0 posts, 3.10 are vacant 
and there are 2 locums in 
place. This is a worsening in 
position since April 2015 

8 in post with 2 vacancies/on call 
gaps filled by locums – this has not 
improved since April 2015. 

Advanced 
Paediatric Nurse 
Practitioner 

1 in post 1 in post 

 
 
Nationally, there is a forecast to be an oversupply of Obstetricians and Gynaecologists over 
the next 11 or so years, despite high attrition rates and expectation of 7 day consultant 
delivered services.  However there is a 40% vacancy rate nationally in doctors coming into 
training in this specialty leading to a recent proposal that the 7 units in the North East and 
Cumbria should reduce to 3 training sites for middle grade doctors. This may mean that it 
will be more difficult to sustain an Obstetric model reliant on middle grade Doctors in the 
future. 
 
Nationally there is a significant projected shortfall of Consultant Paediatricians over the 
medium term. 
 
Nationally there is a significant projected shortfall for Consultant Anaesthetists, in part due 
to the differentiation in clinical roles in anaesthetics.  
 
Paediatric medical staffing was noted as an area of concern by the Care Quality Commission 
Inspection Team on both sites in 2016. 
 
In combination these factors mean that it is not possible to retain the current service model. 
 
While developing the options, and during the Public Consultation, experts advised that 
option 1 will be difficult to sustain in the long term and option 3 (although more straight-
forward) would mean there would be less choice for women in the West thus making 
maternity option 2 the preferred option. Due to the substantive vacancies, particularly 
Consultation Paediatricians, and the subsequent reliance on Locums, it is also noted that 
there are challenges in sustaining the current model even in the medium term. 
 

 

The consultation document was clear about how difficult this decision would be and further
work has been done following the analysis of the public consultation to test the options in
light of the concerns and risks raised.

66



 

7.2.1 External clinical view 
 
As part of the programmes assurance arrangements, the Greater Manchester, Lancashire & 
South Cumbria Clinical Senate provided an Independent Review of the Proposed Clinical 
Models for the North, West & East Cumbria Success Regime prior to public consultation. 
 
The Greater Manchester, Lancashire & South Cumbria Clinical Senate have since provided a 
second report which outlines their assessment of the options that went to consultation. In 
this report, their expert clinical panel found that: 
 

“The review panel agreed with the preferred option (Option 2) and 
considered it a transformational model that needs testing. This is assuming 
the risks are robustly identified and properly mitigated against”. 

 
The full Greater Manchester, Lancashire & South Cumbria Clinical Senate Update Report can 
be found in Appendix 7. 
 

7.2.2 Travel time risk and impact on patients and their families experience 
 
One of the key issues identified during consultation was the concern around the risk 
associated with increased travel times for patients in the West should the Consultant-Led 
Unit not continue at West Cumberland Hospital.  
 
The travel impact assessment found that over 600 women would need to travel for more 
than an additional 30 miles in the options where consultant-led maternity care would be 
centralised at Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle each year. There are currently nearly 1400 in-
patient admissions at West Cumberland Hospital (higher than the number of births as not all 
in-patient admissions lead to a birth). 
 
To establish an independent view of the risks associated with travel time, the programme 
asked the Northern England Clinical Network for Maternity Services to review the evidence 
between access and outcome for maternity cases. 
 
The Northern England Clinical Network for Maternity Services summarised their view as 
follows: 
 

 

• “Overall, we do not feel that there is sufficient evidence in the papers referenced to
justify a conclusion that increased travel times to the nearest maternity unit (at less
than 4 hours distance) are associated with an increased risk of either stillbirth and /
or neonatal death”.

67



 

• “There is evidence…..that longer travel times might be associated with an increased 
incidence of interventions such as inductions of labour and / or hospitalisation, as 
might be expected when clinicians and parents might be taking decisions with the 
intention of minimising potential problems caused by longer travel times” 

• “The evidence that longer travel times might lead to an increase in the numbers of 
out-of-hospital births is consistent across several studies, and is plausible. It is, 
therefore, particularly reassuring that even if out-of-hospital births are more 
frequent, overall perinatal mortality rates in these studies – when controlled for 
confounding factors – aren’t significantly affected by longer travel times (at < 4 hours 
from the nearest unit)”. 

• “Detailed consideration of infrastructure issues such as transfer arrangements and 
accommodation near Cumberland Infirmary, Carlisle would help mitigate any 
potential increased risks.” 

 

The full detailed response from the Northern England Clinical Network for Maternity 
Services can be found in Appendix 8. 
 
Whilst accepting the expert opinion from the Northern England Clinical Network for 
Maternity Services on the clinical evidence base, the programme does recognise the impact 
on patient’s experience of the perceived risks associated with increased travel time.  
 

7.2.3 Risk associated with transfer between sites 
 
A significant number of concerns were raised during consultation about the risk to mothers 
and babies who may transfer between West Cumberland Hospital and Cumberland 
Infirmary Carlisle following complications in or after labour (under Option 2).  
 
To address these concerns the programme has developed an outline proposal for 
commissioning a dedicated ambulance vehicle that would be stationed at West Cumberland 
Hospital solely to convey these patients, and children who require transfer (dependent on 
which of the Children’s inpatient options are taken forward  -see section 8) to Cumberland 
Infirmary Carlisle. 
 
This dedicated ambulance vehicle will only be used for this purpose. It will not be used for 
transferring other patients. The vehicle will not be unique or specially adapted, and other 
ambulance vehicles could also additionally be used for undertaking the transfers in the 
event that more than one patient required transfer at the same time.  
 

 

The programme has modelled circumstances where more than one transfer is required at
any one time. In this circumstance other emergency vehicles would then be utilised.

68



 

 
If a decision is made to implement a model which included a dedicated ambulance vehicle, 
further work on the development of detailed standard operating procedures will be 
required before the new service goes live. 
 
In all future options, women would have a personalised birth plan which will be 
underpinned by the continual assessment of risk to the mother and child. This would reduce 
the number of women at risk of transfer due to complications arising during labour. 

7.2.4 Impact on choice 
 
Members of the public, and patients, would consider there to be a reduction of choice (in 
terms of location and accessibility, rather than the service delivered) if a Consultant Led Unit 
is not maintained at West Cumberland Hospital. This also applies to higher risk pregnant 
women who will not be able to book their birth at West Cumberland Hospital. 
 
Choice (in terms of the range of different services available, rather than their location) will 
be enhanced by the delivery of alongside Midwifery Led Units. Choice would also be 
enhanced (in terms of the range of different services available, rather than their location) if 
a stand-alone Midwifery Led Units was developed at West Cumberland Hospital as this 
choice is not available in the current service configuration. It is recognised that the number 
of women who would be able to make a choice to birth at a stand-alone Midwifery Led Unit 
is comparatively small. 
 

7.3 Recommendations for Maternity Services 
 

 

As part of the decision-making process, two Clinical Workshops have been held to facilitate
a consensus clinical view of the maternity options in the light of consultation responses. The
second  of  these  workshops  weighed  up  the  considerable  concerns  raised  during  the
consultation, and the lack of support from both the public and GPs for the preferred option
(2)  against  the  positive backing  of  professional  bodies, NHS  organisations  and  consultants
locally and regionally in the key specialities.

There was confirmation at the Workshop that the ‘status quo’ is not a long-term option and
(as  described  in  the  consultation)  that  a  de-risked  CLU  (option  1)  was  unlikely  to    be
deliverable  in  the  medium  to  longer  term  because  of  issues  with  both  paediatric  and
anaesthetic  recruitment  (now  and  into  the  future).    But  we  acknowledge  that  there  is  a
widely expressed public and GP view that the status quo or option 1 is strongly preferred.

The conclusion of the Clinical Workshop was to advise the system leadership group to test
further opportunities for transformational change that could support Option 1 but be in a

69



 

position to implement option 2 or 3 should Option 1 fail and to proceed on the basis of a 
collaborative and ‘co-production’ model both to make and to judge progress.  
 
System leaders have reflected on this advice and have arrived at a set of Recommendations 
for the Governing Body which are as follows:  
 
Recommendation 2: Maternity Services 
 
The Governing Body are requested to approve the following proposal (recommendations 
2.1 – 2.4 inclusive) for implementation. All Options relate to those described in the 
Healthcare for the Future in West, North and East Cumbria Public Consultation Document, 
pages 20 – 23 inclusive: 
 
Recommendation 2.1: To test the viability of Option 1 over a 12 month period 

 
Recommendation 2.2: If Option 1 is not proven to be deliverable or sustainable then 
implement Option 2 at the end of the 12 month period 

 
Recommendation 2.3: Whilst testing Option 1, to prepare for Option 2 by implementing a 
Midwifery Led Unit (MLU) in Whitehaven alongside the Consultant Led Unit, in order that 
the MLU can be audited as if it was freestanding 

 
Recommendation 2.4: To implement Option 3 if Option 1 is not proven to be deliverable or 
sustainable and, following audit of the MLU, Option 2 is not deemed to be safe. 
 
The Governing Body is requested to endorse the following actions to be undertaken in order 
to deliver recommendations 2.1 – 2.4: 

 
• Strenuous efforts will be made with local communities, GPs, patients and staff led by 

an independently chaired ‘co-production’ steering group to test to the limit the 
deliverability and sustainability of Option 1  
 

 

• The criteria for testing the viability of Option 1 will be jointly agreed by the
independently chaired ‘co-production’ steering committee. The criteria are likely to
include the following:

o The staffing and number of filled posts at agreed progress points
o Evidence of adequate future supply of staff to maintain improvement with

recruitment and retention
o Monitoring of serious incidents / near misses / clinical outcomes
o Measures of staff and patient satisfaction

70



 

o Demonstrable change in ways of working for quality improvement including: 
a hub and spoke approach with risk stratification and transfer of high risk 
care, development of Short Stay Paediatric Assessment Units (SSPAU), 
development of the midwifery agenda including the MLU model, 
restructuring of medical working practices, arrangements for emergency 
cover, skills maintenance and improved leadership  

 
• The criteria will be reviewed by an Independent Review Panel, involving regulators 

and Royal College experts, for a ‘stop/proceed’ decision at each milestone.  
 

• Co-production approaches will be used to develop other care model innovations 
including development of the MLU(s), and proposals to mitigate the challenges of 
providing care at distance 
 

• The audit of the Whitehaven MLU will be undertaken using pre-agreed criteria and 
the outcome of the audit will be received by the Independent Review Panel which 
will decide if a free-standing MLU in Whitehaven could be safely instated.  
 

• The Co-production Steering Committee and Independent Review Panel will fit within 
an agreed governance structure with jointly agreed terms of reference.  
 

• There is an acknowledgement that much work will be required to collaboratively 
plan for and deliver a successful ‘co-production’ and this will begin in earnest as soon 
as possible should the recommendations be approved. 

 

7.4 Implementation considerations for Maternity Services 
 
The following issues have been identified through the public consultation or ongoing 
discussion with staff and clinicians as part of the programme. These issues do not affect the 
ability of the Governing Body to make a decision but will require consideration during the 
implementation phase: 
 

• Significant work needs to be undertaken to provide a clearer vision for maternity 
services across the entire pathway of care in line with “Better Births” which outlines 
the choices available at all stages and develops the concept of community hubs 
 

• The development of the detailed standard operating procedures for the dedicated 
ambulance vehicle will need to take place before the new service model starts 
 

 
71



 

• All the relevant implementation issues raised in the second Greater Manchester, 
Lancashire & South Cumbria Clinical Senate should be addressed as part of 
implementation planning 
 

• An organisational development plan should be developed that addresses the cultural 
challenge within the service that will come with the implementation of the new 
service model 
 

• A full training plan needs to be developed for staff to address the required skill 
changes 
 

• Any outstanding recommendations from the Royal College of Obstetricians and 
Gynaecologists report are completed. 
 

  

 
72



 

8. Children’s services 
 
The options that were included in the public consultation are shown in figure 8: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The preferred option outlined in the public consultation document was Children’s Option 1. 
 

8.1 Specific findings of the public consultation in relation to Children’s 
Services 
 
The independent analysis of the public consultation found that only 46% of respondents to 
the questionnaire indicated a first preference against one of the consulted on options. A 
significant number of the remaining 54% of respondents did not support any of the options.  
 
There was strong support for Option 1 over the other two options put forward (figure 9) 
amongst the 46% of respondents indicating a first preference. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Figure 9: Preferences in the consultation response for the Children’s Services options 

 
Figure 8: Children’s service options 
 

 

 
73



 

This view was consistent across all localities, age, gender, and whether respondents have 
young children, but strongest support for Option 1 was from respondents in West Cumbria. 
 
A significant number of respondents rejected all 3 options in favour of a ‘fully functioning 
paediatric service’  
 
In terms of the qualitative feedback received across the consultation channels, much of the 
response to the children’s services options relate to safety for patients as well as the impact 
on the wellbeing of their parents, carers and families. As is familiar with other service areas, 
location and distance from services is a major factor affecting respondents’ feelings on the 
options. 
 
The consultation also heard from the public that: 
 

• there was recognition that uncertainty has undermined recruitment 
• there were concerns around the potential deterioration of the child during the 

journey to Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle and the extreme difficulty for some 
parents/children  to travel (and the impact this has on the on the family) 

• strong public expectation that there must be a full risk analysis of the proposals 
 

There were numerous responses from organisations, clinicians and professional bodies. The 
predominant themes were: 
 

• A need for ongoing public and clinical engagement and to adhere to national 
policy/clinical guidelines 

• Mixed response from professional bodies on sustainability 
• Local clinicians had mixed views, including the view that alternative proposals for 

West Cumberland Hospital were not expressed 
 
Responses from other NHS organisations (North Cumbria University Hospitals NHS Trust, 
Newcastle Upon Tyne Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust and Northumbria Healthcare NHS 
Foundation Trust) showed formal support Option 1. 
 
North West Ambulance Service raised concern about transfers, impact on overall 
performance, and need for clear protocols / mitigations in their response. North West 
Ambulance Service has subsequently confirmed the deliverability of the options, but in the 
context of the additional capacity that will be required. 
 
In the detailed review of all of the consultation feedback specifically referring to Children’s 
Services by the programme, no new alternative models were identified that had not already 
been considered during the option appraisal process. 
 
 

 
74



 

8.2 Overall consideration of the options 
 
As described in the public consultation document, the current service configuration for 
Children’s Services in West, North and East Cumbria does not present an attractive option to 
newly qualified paediatricians. This is because it is not possible to offer them either the 
opportunity to work in a large specialist unit or in a specific area of children’s medicine.  
 
Difficulty in attracting newly qualified paediatricians in turn makes it harder to attract 
paediatric consultants into permanent employment. At West Cumberland Hospital just one 
in five of our consultant paediatrician posts is currently filled by a permanent member of 
staff. 
 
A fuller explanation of the current Paediatric workforce is provided in section 7.2 above. 
 
The consequence of this is that West, North and East Cumbria has a heavy reliance on 
locums which can interrupt continuity of care and means the children’s service at both 
Whitehaven and Carlisle which makes it more at risk of temporary closure or reduction in 
service due to lack of staff.  
 
A fuller explanation of the current Paediatric workforce is provided in section 7.2 above. 
 
As well as these workforce issues, the way in which childhood illness is treated has changed 
considerably in recent years. National evidence suggests that up to 97% of children who 
come to hospital as an emergency can be safely cared for in a short stay paediatric 
assessment unit without the need to be admitted as an inpatient.   
These factors mean that maintaining the status quo was not considered for public 
consultation. 
 
The consultation document put forward the programme’s preferred option as being Option 
1. The programme believed that this option was the strongest as it provided the best 
balance of offering sustainability in the medium term while keeping significant children’s 
services at both West Cumberland Hospital and Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle.  
 
Option 1 would see the creation of some overnight beds at Whitehaven for children with 
less acute, low-risk illnesses and would review the use of beds regularly to assess how often 
they were used along with their impact and effectiveness. This option was dependent on 
the successful recruitment of doctors and the training and development of advanced 
paediatric nurse practitioners to comply with current standards. 
 

 
75



 

8.2.1 Travel time and transfers 
 
In the options where West Cumberland Hospital introduces the short stay paediatric 
assessment unit model with all inpatient paediatric beds moving to the Cumberland 
Infirmary Carlisle, very poorly children requiring an in-patient admission presenting at West 
Cumberland Hospital would be stabilised and transferred using a dedicated ambulance 
vehicle to the other site. 
 
In Option 1, low acuity beds would remain at West Cumberland Hospital which would mean 
a paediatrician would be available on-call out-of-hours. Very poorly children needing 
inpatient admission presenting at West Cumberland Hospital would still be stabilised and 
transferred using a dedicated ambulance vehicle to the other site. 
 

8.2.2 External clinical view 
 
As mentioned in the section on maternity services the Greater Manchester, Lancashire & 
South Cumbria Clinical Senate have provided a second clinical review report which outlines 
their assessment of the children’s services options that went to consultation.  
 
In this report, their expert clinical panel found that: 
 

“The review panel felt the best option was Option 2 [Not the preferred 
option]:  Full service at Carlisle and 1- hour Short Stay Paediatric 
Assessment Unit at West Cumberland Hospital plus Dedicated Ambulance 
Vehicle.” 

 

The rationale for this view was given as follows: 
 

• It is a transformational model that has a good clinical case. This is demonstrated 
through provision of Short Stay Paediatric Assessment Unit on both sites, having 
consultants working across both sites in a network model to provide resilience and 
maintenance of skills, as well as integration of community and secondary care. 
 

• Option 2 offers higher deliverability and sustainability than the other options by 
being more attractive to prospective consultants (offering an improved on-call rota 
ratio) and by requiring fewer overall whole time equivalent consultants than in 
option 1 ( the preferred option). 
 

 
76



 

• Option 2 would mean additional transfers required between West Cumberland 
Hospital and Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle than option 1 (the preferred option) as 
there would be no overnight low acuity beds 

 

The Greater Manchester, Lancashire & South Cumbria Clinical Senate felt that for Children’s 
Services the preferred option (Option 1) had some merits: 
 

“Option 1 also includes overnight beds at WCH. This would support 
overnight deliveries in maternity and again it was noted that the outcome 
of the consultation was that the current service or the least possible 
service reconfiguration (Option 1) were the preferred choices.”  

 

However the independent review panel considered there to be a range of issues that that 
gave uncertainty as to whether Option 1 is deliverable or sustainable. These included: 
 

• The requirement for two rotas or a dual rota across Whitehaven and Carlisle.  
• The number of consultants required to support these rotas and associated daytime 

work 
• No indication that it is possible to recruit the number of substantive consultants 

required to cover these rotas thereby placing an undue reliance on locums (often 
long term). 

• Any maternity option based upon this paediatric option would also be at risk if 
Option 1 becomes unsustainable 

 

The full Greater Manchester, Lancashire & South Cumbria Clinical Senate report can be 
found in Appendix 6. 
 

8.3 Recommendations for Children’s Services 
 
Below is a summary consideration of the four assessment domains in relation to the 
recommended option: 
 

• There will be no adverse impact on health outcomes at a population level 
• There will be an overall improvement in clinical quality, workforce sustainability and 

the achievement of clinical standards. The key risks and mitigations have also been 
identified. 

• The model is deliverable 
• There is no negative financial impact 

 
Recommendation 3.1: The Governing Body is requested to approve Option 1 for 
implementation. 
 

 
77



 

This option involves the development of an inpatient paediatric unit serving West, North 
and East Cumbria based at Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle along with a Short Stay Paediatric 
Assessment Unit. At West Cumberland Hospital, Whitehaven, there would be a Short Stay 
Paediatric Assessment Unit for children requiring short term observation and treatment. 
There would be some overnight beds at Whitehaven for children with less acute, low risk 
illnesses but children who needed more acute inpatient admission would be transferred to 
Carlisle. 
 
Recommendation 3.2: The Governing Body is requested to approve that should Option 1 
ultimately prove to be unsustainable then Option 2 for Children’s Services may need to be 
implemented.  
 
The Governing Body is requested to endorse the following actions to be undertaken in order 
to deliver this proposal: 
 

• Significant efforts will need to continue to address the recruitment issues within 
paediatric services regardless of the decision made 
 
 

8.4 Implementation considerations for Children’s Services 
 
The following issues have been identified through the public consultation or ongoing 
discussion with staff and clinicians as part of the programme. These issues do not affect the 
ability of the Governing Body to make a decision but will require consideration during the 
implementation phase: 

 

• Significant efforts need to continue to be made to address the recruitment issues 
within paediatric services regardless of the decision made 
 

• Detailed scenario planning needs to take place to ensure standard operating 
procedures for the stabilisation and transfer of children out-of-hours takes place 
safely and effectively 
 

• The development of the detailed standard operating procedures for the dedicated 
ambulance vehicle prior to the new service model beginning 
 

• All the relevant implementation issues raised in the second Greater Manchester, 
Lancashire & South Cumbria Clinical Senate should be addressed as part of 
implementation planning 
 

 
78



 

• An organisational development plan should be developed that addresses the cultural 
challenge associated with the implementation of the service model 

 
• A full training plan needs to be developed for staff to address the required skill 

changes 

  

 
79



 

9. Community hospital inpatient beds  
 
The options that were included in the public consultation are shown in figure 10: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The preferred option outlined in the public consultation document was Community 
Hospitals Option 1. 
 

9.1 Specific findings of the public consultation in relation to the community 
hospital proposals 
 
The independent analysis of the public consultation found that only 45% of respondents to 
the questionnaire indicated a first preference against one of the consulted on options. A 
significant number of the remaining 55% of respondents did not support any of the options.  
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Figure 10: Community hospital inpatient bed options 
 

 
80



 

 
There was strong support for Option 1 over the other two options put forward (figure 11) 
amongst the 45% of respondents indicating a first preference. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Figure 11: Preferences in the consultation response for the Community Hospital Inpatient Bed options 
 
Several key themes were found by the independent analysis of the consultation. 
Firstly, there were concerns regarding accessibility and patient safety: 
 

• Major impact on rural areas 
• Inadequate transport infrastructure and problem roads 
• Difficulty of visiting 
• Not in line with ‘Closer to Home’ principles 
• Lives at risk, and end-of-life care particularly impacted 

 

Secondly, there were concerns around resourcing and quality of care: 
 

• Limited support for consolidation to improve staffing levels and quality of care 
• Staffing issue not a reason to penalise patients – better recruitment and rewards 

needed 
• Reductions in beds now not sustainable long-term with aging population and 

increasing pressure on acute hospitals 
 

Through-out the consultation feedback, a clear case for community hospitals was made: 
 

• Importance of locally accessible care – community assets, relieve pressure on acute 
hospitals 

• Particularly important for rehabilitation, palliative care, some urgent care 
• Role to play in Integrated Care Communities 
• Concern about future function of those liable to lose beds 
• Millom Community Hospital cited as an example of small inpatient service alongside 

varied care close to home 
• Maryport – some consolidation with nearby hospitals accepted by some, but not at 

Maryport’s expense (noting the high levels of deprivation) 

 

 
81



 

• Alston – remoteness emphasises hospital’s importance, great difficulty in accessing 
other services 

• Wigton – provides easiest access to care for residents across Solway 
 

There were also concerns of a financial, economic and social nature: 
 

• Concern about health and social care budgets covering implementation of options 
and the Integrated Care Community model 

• Possible long-term cost due to increased care at home  
• Small financial gain maybe not worth it 
• Criticism of the impact of the Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle Private Finance Initiative 

(PFI) and reduced public spending 
• Options impacting the most vulnerable areas and communities 

 

In the review of all of the consultation feedback referring to Community hospital inpatient 
beds some proposals were put forward for Maryport, Wigton and Alston.  
 

9.2 Overall consideration of the options 
 
As described in the consultation document, patients should spend only the time that is 
absolutely necessary in a hospital bed with as much being done to support them in their 
own home as possible. The main reasons why we feel that change needs to happen to 
deliver this ambition was set out in the document's case for change: 
 

• There is a major challenge in recruiting and retaining the necessary staff to support 
inpatients in our community hospitals where West, North and East Cumbria has 
much higher vacancy rates for nurses and health care assistants across community 
hospital inpatient units 
 

• The model of small, isolated units offer limited opportunities for training, limited 
exposure to clinical experience and lack support from colleagues within other 
professions 

 
• Rostering staff to support a small number of inpatients in a large number of isolated 

units is a significant challenge and less resilient when there are instances of staff 
sickness 

 

 

• The small inpatient units find it harder to meet clinical standards set down by the
National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. These guidelines recommend one
registered nurse  for  every  eight  inpatients  and  there  are  clear benefits  in  having  a
minimum of two nurses working together in any inpatient unit overnight

82



 

 

Considering the factors above the programme considers it important to have inpatient units 
with  at least sixteen beds (or as close to sixteen as possible where there are considerable 
restraints in adapting the current estate) in size to improve staff resilience, pool clinical 
expertise, offer staff a greater opportunity to develop and maintain skills whilst offering 
patients a better service. 
 
Through the consultation process we have had feedback on the proposed closure of 
community hospital inpatient beds, but far more significantly we have been presented with 
some innovative and wide-ranging proposals for the role community hospitals can play in a 
different service offer for their local populations. 
 
In particular this has come from work co-produced by staff from Cumbria Partnership NHS 
Foundation Trust working with the public, stakeholder groups (such as the Hospital League 
of Friends) and other action groups and local GP practices.  
 
The most developed proposals came from Maryport, Wigton and Alston. These are positive 
proposals for how community hospital care could be delivered as part of the vision for 
Integrated Care Communities, rather than simply bed base reductions. 
 
9.2.1 The Maryport proposal 
 
Maryport is one of the most deprived communities in Cumbria poor public transport links 
and low car ownership.  Over 50% of the Maryport health budget leaves the town to pay for 
acute hospital care. In 2014/15 there were 29,572 journeys out of the town for care (22,208 
Outpatient appointments, 3,496 Accident and Emergency attendances, 1,995 non-elective 
admissions and 1,873 elective admissions) 
 
The service provision in Maryport currently consists of: 
 

• The community hospital with 13 beds 
• 200 residential and nursing home beds  
• 79 extra care housing units  
• Strong general practice 

 

The Maryport Alliance put forward two proposals; both based on a wider place-based 
population health system. In both models, the Alliance propose to keep the current 
resource in Maryport, but re-focussed on admission avoidance with Maryport Hospital as 
the hub of an emerging population health system. 
 
 
 

 
83



 

Maryport Alliance proposal 1: 
 

• An eight bed hospital running 24 hours a day, seven days a week focussing on 
rehabilitation and reablement 

• These beds would be "Step-up" beds in the main (i.e. not part of the wider ‘medical’ 
bed model) 

• The activities would see the community hospital focus on becoming a ‘bed avoidance 
unit’ for other parts of the system (i.e. avoiding care home and acute hospital bed 
use). 

• More short and overnight stays and the continuation of palliative care provision 
 

Maryport Alliance proposal 2: 
 

• Maryport Hospital running seven days a week but no overnight stay 
• The Maryport Alliance feel this would save around £373,000 by not staffing evening 

and night shifts which they would advocate reinvesting in improved local services 
• Merging the hospital and community teams and focussing on proactive and reactive 

admission avoidance 
• Funding some public health initiatives e.g. with schools 
• Funding a doctor and increase palliative care nurse skills for the community 

 
Proposal 1 is the preferred alternative of the Maryport Alliance. 
 

9.2.2 The Wigton (Solway) proposal 
 

The Solway area covers 500 square miles and a population 34000 people over (a significant 
proportion of which are elderly). There are transport challenges in the area and there are 
difficulties in recruiting staff. It is hard to provide some care services in Solway whilst 
hospital and residential care facilities are often dated. The Wigton hospital and residential 
beds also provide support for the wider system (including people from Carlisle). 
 

The service provision in the Solway currently consists of: 
 

 

• Hospital with nineteen beds, currently fourteen open beds occupied by Solway and
Carlisle residents

• Wigton Hospital is a hub for Allied Health Professionals and community services
across Solway, with good relationships between teams and services

• Six GP practices
• Base for Out-of-Hours GP for Solway
• Solway Integrated Care Community includes Keswick where there are 12 beds
• Inglewood care home in Wigton with forty beds
• 110 care beds in total across Solway
• Extra Care housing in Wigton Fair View Court.

84



 

 

The proposal put forward by the Solway Community Care Alliance is to create an integrated 
hub for care across the Solway. This hub will aim to deliver holistic, sustainable care that 
supports patients in or near to their own communities and will create the platform for 
effective delivery in the context of the challenges faced in this rural area. 
 
The proposal includes: 
 

• The creation a single bed base in Wigton through the integration of residential and 
step up/step down short term beds 

• Supporting the beds and community services with one team working to meet needs 
wherever they are, with a flexible staffing model 

• Supporting the development of the Integrated Care Community in delivering care to 
patients locally and the wider system by offering care to patients who come from 
outside of the Integrated Care Community 

• Providing a service that provides ambulatory care support, prevents deterioration 
and avoids crisis in patients 

 

9.2.3 The Alston proposal 
 
Alston has a small population of circa 2600 people and is situated in a very isolated and 
remote location. The service provision in Alston currently consists of: 
 

• A community hospital with six beds 
• A residential care home with thirteen beds 
• A GP surgery  
• Eden Housing units  
• A community ambulance  

 

The services there are hard to support from a distance yet currently successfully keep 
hospital admission rates to a very low level when compared with other parts of West, North 
and East Cumbria. More importantly the services there are highly interdependent on each 
other and changes to one part of the service can have unintended consequences in the 
other. 
 
The proposal put forward by the Alston Moor Care Alliance is intended to ensure 
sustainable resilient services that meet the needs of Alston, recognises the interdependency 
of the current services (and the risk of losing any component) whilst continuing to offer 
accessible holistic care in the spirit of the Integrated Care Community concept. 
 
 

 
85



 

 
The proposal includes: 
 

• The creation of one bed base for long term and step up/ step down care 
• The formation of one team around the beds and the community service 
• Exploring alternative staffing models to ensure sustainability 
• The creation of a hub for telehealth and access to specialist care 
• Bringing together social day care, ambulatory care and rehabilitation 

 
9.2.4 Assessing the models identified through public consultation 
 
These proposals were assessed using the same process and criteria as used in the option 
appraisal process to define the four options that were consulted on. In terms of maturity, 
the Maryport proposal was the most fully developed with Wigton and Alston a few weeks 
further behind. 
 
The assessment of the Maryport proposals found that: 
 

• Maryport has some of the widest health inequalities in Cumbria (and nationally)  
• the conversation in Maryport has been reframed from the issue of bed numbers to 

population health 
• Proposal 2 is strongly supported by nursing teams – there is real excitement around 

the potential to create an exemplar of place based admission avoidance and 
improved population health. 

• Proposal 2 will require reinvestment. If that reinvestment cannot be delivered then 
there would be strong opposition to take funds out of Maryport. 

 

The programme concluded that the Maryport Alliance proposal 2 was in fact very similar to 
the preferred option in the consultation document except that it reinvested all of the 
resource released back into Maryport. 
 
The assessment of the Wigton / Solway proposals found that: 
 

• there was a strong recognition of the positive and constructive engagement in 
producing this proposal by the GPs, League of Friends and local community in the 
Solway.  

• both Wigton Hospital and the local care home in Wigton operate out of old 
buildings. The population is super-ageing.  

• the geography is challenging with long travel times, which means that the costs of 
multiple daily home visits could exceed that of residential care, which needs to be 
given careful consideration.  

 

 
86



 

An innovative integrated model, built on a residential home platform but with a small 
number of step-up / step-down beds supported by an enhanced community clinical team, is 
considered a strong option requiring further exploration. 
 
The assessment of the Alston proposals found that: 
 

• the engagement of the community and local practice in this work has been 
extremely positive and constructive 

• the conversation has moved from community hospital beds in Alston to finding a 
sustainable, affordable health and care model for the most remote town in England  

• the principle of a single bed base between health and social care with a single 
integrated team was strongly supported but it was recognised that further detailed 
discussion with Cumbria County Council would be needed if this idea was to be 
progressed.  

 
The programme concluded that the current very small, isolated medical ward in Alston 
posed significant operational risks, especially around safe staffing levels and medical cover 
making it vulnerable to sudden staff sickness. This requires the implementation of a new 
model as quickly as possible.  
 

9.3 Recommendation for the community hospital bed base 
 
Below is a summary consideration of the four assessment domains in relation to the 
recommended option: 
 

• there will be no adverse impact on health outcomes at a population level 
• there will be an overall improvement in clinical quality, workforce sustainability and 

the achievement of clinical standards. The key risks and mitigations have also been 
identified. 

• the option is deliverable, though there is more work required on each of the 
complementary proposals for each of Alston, Maryport and Wigton, including in 
relation to investment and joint working with other partner organisations 

• there is a financial benefit in reducing the community hospital inpatient bed base 
and increased chance of delivery of the Integrated Care Community concept which is 
linked to the delivery of efficiencies in the Pre-Consultation Business Case 

 

Recommendation 4.1: The Governing Body is requested to approve Option 1 for 
implementation. 
 

 
87



 

This option includes the consolidation of inpatient Community Hospital beds into six sites. In 
total there would be 104 inpatient beds at Whitehaven (Copeland Unit), Cockermouth, 
Workington, Penrith, Brampton and Keswick. 
 
The Governing Body is requested to endorse the following actions: 

 
• A process of co-production with stakeholders in each of Maryport, Wigton and 

Alston should continue. It is anticipated that co-production will lead to further 
proposals within the next twelve months, as part of the plans to implement 
Integrated Care Communities. Any such proposal will require further consideration 
and approval by the NHS Cumbria Clinical Commissioning Group Governing Body and 
the broader West, North and East System Leadership Board prior to implementation. 

10. Emergency and acute services 
 

The options that were included in the public consultation are shown in figure 12: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Figure 12: Emergency and acute service options 

 
88



 

10.1 Specific findings of the public consultation in relation to emergency and 
acute services 
 
The independent analysis of the public consultation found that only 46% of respondents to 
the questionnaire indicated a first preference against one of the consulted on options. A 
significant number of the remaining 54% of respondents did not support any of the options. 
There was strong support for Option 1 over the other two options put forward (figure 13) 
amongst the 46% of respondents indicating a first preference. 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Figure 13: Preferences in the consultation response for the emergency and acute services 

 
This preference was consistent across age, gender and localities, but strongest support for 
Option 1 came from respondents in Copeland and Allerdale. 
 
A large number of respondents reject all 3 options, based on keeping a full service at West 
Cumberland Hospital and patient safety concerns for intensive care transfers to Cumberland 
Infirmary Carlisle. 
 
The consultation also heard from the public that: 
 

• there was concern about access to ‘Golden Hour’ interventions 
• there is recognition of staffing issues, but viewed as a symptom of uncertainty  and 

low morale, not intractable structural challenges 
• there is a strong public expectation that there must be a full risk analysis 
• that a full Intensive Therapy Unit bed retained at West Cumberland Hospital 

 

There were numerous responses from organisations, clinicians and professional bodies. The 
predominant themes were that: 
 

• there is need for ongoing public and clinical engagement and for adherence to 
national policy/clinical guidelines 

• there was a mixed response from professional bodies on sustainability 

 

 
89



 

• “a composite workforce does not support effective medical staff training” 
• local clinicians had mixed views, including view that alternative proposals for West 

Cumberland Hospital were not expressed 
 

Responses from other NHS organisations (North Cumbria University Hospitals NHS Trust, 
Newcastle Upon Tyne Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust and Northumbria Healthcare NHS 
Foundation Trust) showed support for Option 1. 
 
The North West Ambulance Service raised concern about transfers, impact on overall 
performance, and need for clear protocols / mitigations. North West Ambulance Service has 
subsequently confirmed the deliverability of the options, but in the context of the additional 
capacity that will be required. 
 
In the review of all of the consultation feedback specifically referring to Acute and 
Emergency Services there was a suggestion that there should be greater efforts to recruit 
medical staff and retain all categories of patients at West Cumberland Hospital. 
 
  

 
90



 

10.2 Overall consideration of the options 
 
The consultation document outlined clearly why maintaining the status quo was not put 
forward as an option. These reasons were: 
 

• Providing care across two sites stretches available staffing and is expensive, 
particularly because it requires more doctors to run two sets of emergency rotas.  

• Small teams and low volumes of activity on each site make roles less attractive and 
skills difficult to maintain.  

• There are also difficulties providing the right sort of supervision and training for 
junior staff. The challenges are made more difficult by the fact that health 
regulation, professional standards and the expectations of the Royal Colleges are 
becoming more exacting. 

• There are workforce gaps on both sites in Accident and Emergency and emergency 
medicine (40% staff vacancies in total) but these are most severe at West 
Cumberland Hospital. 

• Currently the middle tier of acute medicine doctors working overnight are all locums 
and just three of the 11 consultants posts are filled by permanent staff 

• The geographical location of West, North and East Cumbria is a challenge to 
recruitment and retention, as is professional isolation. Health Education North East 
forecasts that the current recruitment issues are likely to continue into the future 

• In 2015 the Care Quality Commission judged general medical services at West 
Cumberland Hospital to be inadequate. This was largely due to the workforce 
difficulties, and the lack of a plan to address the challenges 

• The hospitals in West, North and East Cumbria are facing rising levels of activity. 
Accident and Emergency attendances have risen almost 10% over the past four years 
and emergency admissions have risen by 20%. In 2014/15, the number of Accident 
and Emergency attendances resulting in admission was more than 43%; the national 
average is under 25%. 

 

North Cumbria University Hospitals NHS Trust has made significant progress in improving 
emergency care both in Carlisle and in Whitehaven. The introduction of assessment by a 
senior clinician very early after admission and the recruitment of a group of nurse 
practitioners undertaking roles previously performed by junior doctors has helped, but 
further change is needed if safe services are to be maintained. 
 
The programme had strong external support in the development of the options for 
emergency and acute care from the North of England Clinical Senate. In particular the model 
put forward in the preferred option provides a truly innovative workforce solution to the 
challenges facing this service. 
 

 
91



 

 
The preferred model addresses many of the concerns raised during consultation about 
access, principally because the vast majority of care would continue to be delivered locally.  
 
Concerns were raised that “a composite workforce does not support effective medical staff 
training”. This is considered to be a matter of clinical versus educational supervision where 
the competency of the supervisor is more important that their title. 
 
In response to the alternative suggestion put forward during consultation the programme 
(“greater efforts to recruit medical staff and retain all categories of patients at West 
Cumberland Hospital”) the programme found that: 
 

• In regards to greater efforts to recruit medical staff, focused efforts to recruit a 
conventional medical workforce have not met with success.  
Nationally 44% of acute physician posts remain vacant (Reference - RCP 15/16) and it 
is unlikely that this situation will improve. 

• In regards to the retention of all categories of patient at West Cumberland Hospital 
(unselected take) - not all medical specialities retain a presence at West Cumberland 
Hospital. 

 
As such there are significant inherent challenges in recruiting to the service model. 

10.3 Recommendation for the emergency and acute services 
 
Below is a summary consideration of the four assessment domains in relation to the 
recommended option: 
 

• There will be no adverse impact on health outcomes at a population level 
• There will be an overall improvement in clinical quality, workforce sustainability and 

the achievement of clinical standards. The key risks and mitigations have also been 
identified. 

• The model is deliverable 
• There is no negative financial impact 

 
Recommendation 5.1: The Governing Body are requested to approve Option 1 for 
implementation. 
 

 

This  involves  a  24/7  A&E  at  Cumberland  Infirmary  Carlisle  along  with  acute  medical
inpatient  services,  including  for  the  most  complex  cases.  There  would  be  assessment  and
inpatient beds for the frail elderly, as well as specialist rehabilitation. There would also be a
24/7  A&E  at  West  Cumberland  Hospital  along  with  acute  medical  inpatient  services  and
rehabilitation.  There  would  also  be  a  small  intensive  care  unit  but  some  of  the  most

92



 

seriously ill patients would be transferred to Carlisle if it was felt they would benefit from 
the extra support available there. 
 
Note: This will not change the bed base of the Intensive Care Unit at West Cumberland 
Hospital. This will also not change the previously implemented high risk pathways including 
those relating to cardiology and respiratory. 
 
The Governing Body is requested to endorse the following actions to be undertaken in order 
to deliver this proposal: 
 

• Efforts to recruit should be strengthened  regardless of the implementation of any 
new model 

11 Hyper-acute stroke services 
 
The options that were included in the public consultation were: 
 

• Option 1 would largely maintain services as they are now but the service would be 
enhanced by ensuring improved, early supported discharge in both Carlisle and 
Whitehaven. 
 

• Option 2 would see all acute stroke cases managed in a single hyper-acute stroke 
unit based at Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle. Ambulances would take possible stroke 
patients direct to Carlisle. Patients arriving at West Cumberland Hospital by other 
means would be transferred by ambulance to Carlisle. On leaving the hyper-acute 
stroke unit patients resident in West Cumbria would be transferred to acute stroke 
and rehabilitation facilities at West Cumberland Hospital if further hospital care was 
needed. As with option 1 this service would be complemented by ensuring 
improved, early supported discharge in both Carlisle and Whitehaven. 

 
The preferred option outlined in the public consultation document was Hyper-Acute Stroke 
Option 2 

 

11.1 Specific findings of the public consultation in relation to hyper-acute 
stroke service 
 

 

The independent analysis of the public consultation found that only 44% of respondents to
the  questionnaire  indicated  a  first  preference  against  one  of  the  consulted  on  options.  A
significant number of the remaining 56% of respondents did not support any of the options.

93



 

There was strong support for Option 1 over the other two options put forward (figure 14) 
amongst the 44% of respondents indicating a first preference. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Figure 14: Preferences in the consultation response for the hyper-acute stroke service 
 
There was variation in preference by locality where the first preference was supported by 
56% of Carlisle respondents but 42% Eden respondents. 
 
Option 1 was more strongly supported by under 45s (75% as 1st preference) than over 45s 
(63%). 
 
The responses from the public also included: 
 

• Recognition of the potential benefits of a hyper acute stroke service and delivery of 
rehabilitation and ongoing care as close to home as possible 

• Major concern on access, including significant reference to the ‘Golden Hour’ and 
loss of timely interventions from a West Cumberland Hospital stroke service 

• Strong public meeting expectation that there must be a full risk analysis 
 

There were numerous responses from organisations, clinicians and professional bodies. The 
predominant themes were that: 
 

• Need for ongoing public and clinical engagement and to adhere to national 
policy/clinical guidelines 

• There was a mixed response from professional bodies on sustainability 
• Local clinicians had mixed views, including the view that alternative proposals for 

West Cumberland Hospital (not do nothing) were not expressed 
 

Responses from other NHS organisations (North Cumbria University Hospitals NHS Trust, 
Newcastle Upon Tyne Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust and Northumbria Healthcare NHS 
Foundation Trust) showed formal support for Option 2, the preferred option.  
 
Following the close of the Consultation North West Ambulance Service confirmed the 
deliverability of the options, but in the context of the additional capacity that will be 
required. 

 

 
94



 

 
During the Public Consultation there was support from some stakeholders to maintain 
clinical capacity at West Cumberland Hospital to undertake initial diagnosis and treatment 
prior to rapid transfer to Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle. This is sometimes referred to as the 
‘drip and ship’ model where the initial receiving hospital undertakes some initial diagnosis 
and treatment (for example thrombolysis) under specific clinical protocols. 
 

11.2 Overall consideration of the options 
 
Despite great strides in improving stroke services in West, North and East Cumbria in recent 
years, they are still not as good as they should be. The care of stroke inpatients in both 
Whitehaven and Carlisle is provided in clinical areas that are not dedicated to stroke, the 
service operates for just five days a week and it has proved very difficult to recruit more 
stroke specialists to extend the available service.  
Transient Ischaemic Attack (TIAs - sometimes known as mini-strokes and a good predictor of 
full strokes) services are also not available on a 7-day a week basis. 
 
By 2020/21 the challenge will be even greater than it is now. It is estimated that the number 
of local stroke cases will have increased from an annual figure of approximately 600 
admissions to more than 700. 
 
Stroke services are measured against a set of national quality standards (using the SSNAP 
audit) which are not being currently met. Largely this is because the service cannot recruit 
enough stroke specialists and is not able to offer those who may be available the 
opportunity to work in a dedicated stroke facilities with full service seven days a week.  
 
As a consequence of these factors, remaining with the status quo was discounted as an 
option during the option appraisal process. 
 
As outlined in the public consultation document, a sustainable hyper-acute stroke service is 
far more likely to be achieved if we concentrate our resources for stroke assessment and 
treatment on one site rather than spreading them across two. 
 
This view was supported by an independent clinical review led by Professor Tony Rudd, 
National Clinical Director for Stroke, and involving members of the Northern England 
Strategic Clinical Network. 
 

 

Whilst  the  analysis  of  the  consultation  process  showed  that  there  was  support  for  the
concept  of  the  single  hyper-acute  site  there  were  concerns  about  the  risk  surrounding
access for patients living further away from the Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle site.

95



 

 
Also during the consultation, questions were raised about why the “Drip and Ship” model 
was not put forward as an option during the consultation. The programme has assessed the 
“Drip and Ship” model and found the following: 
 

• Very few examples of this model being used successfully in other parts of the 
country 

• The model would see low numbers of patients treated and therefore clinicians will 
not be able to maintain their clinical competency 

• External clinical advice recommended that introducing mixed models for stroke 
should be avoided and focus be placed on the evidence based Hyper-acute Stroke 
Unit model. The Northern England Clinical Senate gave the clear view that ‘”The 
worst possible pathway would be admission to one hospital Accident and Emergency 
followed by transfer to a second hospital Accident and Emergency” 

• There is a greater clinical gain from immediate transfer to a Hyper-acute Stroke Unit 
therefore any intermediate intervention slows this down 

• The ‘Drip and Ship’ model does not contribute to the wider clinical sustainability of 
West, North and East Cumbria. 

 
The evidence suggests that creation of a single hyper-acute stroke unit would benefit all 
patients who were admitted to it (including those travelling the longer distances). 
 
One of the key themes received during the public consultation was concerns around the 
introduction of Option 2 and the impact this would have on access (particularly the “Golden 
Hour”). 
 
The key measure in terms of access for stroke is not the “Golden Hour”. For high quality 
stroke care, thrombolysis for those patients who require it should be within 3 – 4 hours. This 
standard would be deliverable in terms of travel time for all parts of West, North and East 
Cumbria (assuming a travel time from Seascale to Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle max of 1 
hour and 40 mins). 
 

11.3 Recommendation for the hyper-acute stroke services 
 
Below is a summary consideration of the four assessment domains in relation to the 
recommended option: 
 

• There will be no adverse impact on health outcomes at a population level 

 
96



 

• There will be an overall improvement in clinical quality, workforce sustainability and 
the achievement of clinical standards. The key risks and mitigations have also been 
identified. 

• The model is deliverable 
• There is no negative financial impact 

 
Recommendation 6.1: The Governing Body are requested to approve Option 2 for 
implementation. 
 
This would see all acute stroke cases managed in a single hyper-acute stroke unit based at 
Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle. Ambulances would take possible stroke patients direct to 
Carlisle. Patients arriving at West Cumberland Hospital by other means would be transferred 
by ambulance to Carlisle. On leaving the hyper-acute stroke unit patients resident in West 
Cumbria would be transferred to acute stroke and rehabilitation facilities at West 
Cumberland Hospital if further hospital care was needed. This service would be 
complemented by ensuring improved, early supported discharge in both Carlisle and 
Whitehaven. 
 
The Governing Body is requested to endorse the following actions to be undertaken in order 
to deliver this proposal: 
 

• That the development of a 7-day Transient Ischaemic Attack service be considered 
part of the development of the hyper-acute stroke unit  

• That the focus on the recruitment of stroke physicians continues regardless of the 
decision made 

 

11.4 Implementation considerations  
 
The following issues have been identified through the public consultation or ongoing 
discussion with staff and clinicians as part of the programme. These issues do not affect the 
ability of the Governing Body to make a decision but will require consideration during the 
implementation phase: 
 

• Co-production was a significant part of the development of the Hyper-Acute Stroke 
Unit model. The Stroke Association were represented on the Hyper-Acute Stroke 
Unit planning group and there was involvement of previous service users / carers / 
advocacy groups. It is recommended that this approach continues into the 
implementation phase. 
 

 
97



 

• That a second Computerised Tomography (CT) scanner be purchased and potentially 
sited to allow for  direct access onto the hyper-acute stroke unit 
 

• That the ongoing development of the Centre of Excellence for Rural Health concept 
at the West Cumberland Hospital includes scenario planning for future service 
delivery opportunities once the hyper-acute stroke service model is fully established 

  

 
98



 

12. Emergency surgery, trauma and orthopaedic services 
 
The proposal consulted upon was that the arrangements previously made for general 
surgery and trauma and orthopaedics on safety grounds last year are now made permanent 
but with some further changes which allow additional emergency surgery and trauma care 
to take place at West Cumberland Hospital.  
 
Specifically the proposals are: 
 

• Additional minor trauma surgery will take place on some days each week at West 
Cumberland Hospital with any displaced planned surgery being managed in an 
additional weekly list at West Cumberland Hospital 
 

• Some non-complex day case general surgery is returned to West Cumberland 
Hospital including key-hole gall bladder operations, surgical treatment of abscesses, 
and investigation of abdominal pain (with keyhole procedure if necessary) 
 

• Single ‘Professional Point of Access’ communication arrangements are used to allow 
the referrer (often the patient’s GP) to discuss directly with the hospital based 
surgeon the best place to see and assess individual patients 
 

• Additional outpatient fracture clinics at West Cumberland Hospital. 
 

12.1 Specific findings of the public consultation in relation to emergency 
surgery, trauma and orthopaedics 
 
This service was described in terms of a proposal (rather than a series of options) in the 
consultation document. The main feedback in relation to these services was: 
 

• Concerns about patient safety from transfers to Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle 
• Strong support for retention of services at West Cumberland Hospital, and returning  

interventions temporarily delivered at Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle 
• Repeated reference to the new estate at West Cumberland Hospital meaning more 

surgery should take place there 
• Some support for the proposal in terms of staffing issues, and a small (Carlisle 

centric) support for more centralisation of surgery at Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle 
 

 

In the detailed review of all of the consultation feedback specifically referring to emergency
surgery,  trauma  and  orthopaedic  services  by  the  programme  team,  an  alternative  model
was put forward that differed from the proposal in the public consultation document. This

99



 

was for 24 hour emergency care (for everything but major trauma) with Consultant-led care 
8am – 8pm every day for medicine, surgery, trauma and orthopaedics and Gynaecology 
provision at West Cumberland Hospital. Consideration of this model is outlined alongside 
the models put forward for consultation in the following section. 

 

12.2 Overall consideration of the options 
 
We do not believe that reverting to the model of emergency surgery and trauma at West 
Cumberland Hospital in place prior to any of the changes made is a viable option. The 
former model is unsustainable in terms of staffing, and the care it would be able to deliver 
would not be of the standard acceptable to regulators and clinicians in terms of safety and 
quality. 
 
Whilst there is a clear clinical consensus that the substantiation of the interim changes is the 
best approach, the public consultation did receive strong support for retention of services at 
West Cumberland Hospital and returning the interventions temporarily delivered at 
Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle. 

 
During consultation a suggestion was made for an option that was not put forward for 
consultation. This was for 24 hour emergency care (for everything but major trauma) with 
Consultant-led care 8am – 8pm every day for medicine, surgery, trauma and orthopaedics 
and Gynaecology provision at West Cumberland Hospital. 
 

On review of the model put forward, the key issues would be the:  
 

• ability to recruit and retain two skilled surgical teams on two sites 
• volumes of clinical activity to retain skill base 
• viability and sustainability of running full spectrum surgical services on two sites 
• lower levels of clinical quality and outcomes 

 

Evaluation of the alternative model proposed found the following: 
 

• Previously West Cumberland Hospital trauma and orthopaedics service never 
achieved best practice tariff (a marker of high quality care) for any patients with 
fracture neck of femur, had a 30 day mortality rate of 9%, and ulcer rates of 3 to 6% 

• Performance data since transfer (data until Dec 2016) show a sustained 
improvement in outcome. Best practice tariff  is achieved in 60% cases (see figure 16 
below), 30 day mortality 6.2% (national 6.2%), ulcer rates 2% (national 2.7%), and 
time to surgery 32 hours (national 32 hours) 

 
100



 

• Years of trying to reinvigorate the local service running up to 2013 failed to achieve 
this quality of service 

 
As the majority of the proposals have already been working in practice on an interim basis, 
we have some data by which to evaluate their impact.  
 
The current model has been reviewed and shows that: 
 

• Evidence shows that high risk patient pathway transfers (West Cumberland Hospital 
to Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle) have saved lives and improved outcomes in 
patients suffering orthopaedic trauma, emergency surgery, heart disease and 
intestinal bleeds. 

• Fractured hip surgery - Based on a transfer of all cases to Cumberland Infirmary 
Carlisle from 2013/14, the standard of care achieved now matches the rest of 
England. 

• Orthopaedic trauma - Deaths have reduced from 33 in 2013 to 21in 2016 for 
residents of West Cumbria post codes, thought there has been a rise since 2014 
(figure 15 below) 

• Emergency Surgery - Deaths for patients with West Cumbria post codes have 
reduced from 42 in 2012 to 28 in 2016, again with a slight increase from 2014 (figure 
17) 

• Emergency General Surgery Admission Deaths – for patients with a West Cumbria 
post codes since have reduced from 99 in 2012 to 71 in 2016 (figure 18). 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Figure 15: Orthopaedic trauma deaths by West Cumbria postcode 

 
101



 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Figure 16: Best Practice Tariff Achieved In Broken Hip Surgery 

 
102



 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
As outlined in the public consultation document some patients will continue to have to go 
directly to Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle or be transferred there from West Cumberland 
Hospital. There were concerns raised during the public consultation about patient safety 
from transfers to Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle. 
 

 
Figure 17: Emergency surgery deaths by West Cumbria postcode 
 

 
Figure 18: Emergency General Surgery Admission Deaths 

 
103



 

We have reviewed the patient transfers from West Cumberland Hospital to Cumberland 
Infirmary Carlisle and found that the increase in patient transfers (West Cumberland 
Hospital to Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle) actually began in 2012/13 (figure 19). 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The proposal would save the NHS nearly £500,000 a year through savings on temporary 
staff. This would be offset by a small cost of about £65,000 per year relating to the 
additional surgical list each week. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

 
Figure 19: Patient transfers from West Cumberland Hospital to Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle 

 
104



 

12.3 Recommendation for emergency surgery and trauma and orthopaedics 
 
Below is a summary consideration of the four assessment domains in relation to the 
recommended option: 
 

• There will be no adverse impact on health outcomes at a population level 
• There will be an overall improvement in clinical quality, workforce sustainability and 

the achievement of clinical standards. The key risks and mitigations have also been 
identified. 

• The model is deliverable 
• There is a small financial saving 

 
Recommendation 7.1: The Governing Body are requested to approve the proposal set out 
in the Public Consultation document for implementation. 
 
 
 
 
 

  

 
105



 

13. Final decision-making considerations 
 
The table below shows a summary of the options recommended in this paper: 
 

Sector Service 
Recommended 

option Site impact 

Acute 
Hospital 

Maternity Services 

 
Option 1 
implemented to 
test deliverability 
/ sustainability  

 
No change, unless 
Option 1 is not 
sustainable. 

Children’s Services Option 1 

 
Higher number of 
admissions for 
higher acuity 
children at 
Cumberland 
Infirmary Carlisle 
 

Acute and Emergency Option 1 
No change on 
sites, but new 
workforce model 

Hyper-acute Stroke Option 2 

Creation of Hyper-
acute Stroke Unit 
in Cumberland 
Infirmary Carlisle 

Emergency Surgery, trauma and 
orthopaedic services 

Support proposal 

More specialist 
procedures 
carried out in 
Cumberland 
Infirmary Carlisle 
and minor trauma 
returning to West 
Cumberland 
Hospital 

 

Community 
Hospital 

Community inpatient beds 

Option 1 (but 
with co-
production on 
site-by-site basis 

Reduced bed base 
but better service 
model offer 

 
106



 

Sector Service 
Recommended 

option Site impact 
for Wigton, 
Alston and 
Maryport) 

 
As each decision is taken in isolation for each service, an assessment needs to be made by 
the Governing Body as to the ability to deliver and implement the recommendations as a 
group. This assessment will need to be based on the following: 
 

• The consideration of interdependencies between the services that will be changed 
by the decisions made to see if they are mutually supportive 

• The combined impact of the decisions on the ability to deliver the vision and meet 
the main challenges facing West, North and East as described in the Clinical Strategy 
and Pre-Consultation Business Case. 

 

As outlined in the public consultation document, the main service areas subject to decision-
making which are clinically dependent on each other are maternity services and children’s 
services.  
 
The matrix below (figure 20) shows which of the maternity and children’s in-patient options 
are mutually supportive. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Following decision making by the Governing Body, the following pieces of work need to be 
completed prior to implementation: 
 

• The completion of the assessment of the physical capacity and estate implications 
for the service configuration that reflects the final decisions made 

 
Figure 20: Cross-check of maternity and paediatric options 

 
107



 

• The completion of the assessment of the impact on activity flows across West, North 
and East Cumbria that would be the result of the final decisions made 

• The completion of the assessment of the combined impact of the decisions on the 
impact on capacity and performance of the North West Ambulance Service that 
would be the result of the implementation of the final decisions made 

• The completion of the transport plan that takes into account the findings of the 
travel impact assessments for acute hospitals, community hospitals and Integrated 
Care Communities and Equality Impact Assessment (especially in relation to areas 
with low car ownership) that reflects the final decisions made  

 
Ensuring compliance of the “Four Tests” for service change 
 
Throughout the service reconfiguration process, clinical commissioning groups are required 
to mind the “Four Tests” for service change set out by (then) Secretary of State for Health 
Andrew Lansley. The Four Tests are: 
 

• a robust clinical case,  
• strong patient and public engagement, 
• consistency with choice and competition, and  
• GP commissioner support 

 

The table below outlines to the Governing Body how the Success Regime and clinical 
commissioning group have ensured that the Four Tests for service change have been met 
throughout this process. 
 

Test 
Evidence of consideration of Test pre-

consultation 

Evidence of consideration of Test 
post-consultation / decision-

making 

1. Robust 
clinical case 

• West, North and East Cumbria Clinical 
Strategy developed and published in 
March 2016 

• Pre-consultation Business Case clearly 
outlines the case for clinical change 

• Use of external clinical experts through 
the process to give both independent 
advice and formal clinical assurance  

• Clinical Strategy (CQC report) 
• PCBC (Section 2 Why we need to 

change) 
• Further independent expert opinion 

from professional bodies and NHS 
Organisations 

 
108



 

Test 
Evidence of consideration of Test pre-

consultation 

Evidence of consideration of Test 
post-consultation / decision-

making 

2. Strong 
patient and 

public 
engagement 

• Long standing engagement activities 
(pre-Success Regime) on issues included 
in the Pre-Consultation Business Case for 
example, the maternity review extensive 
engagement process 

• Wide-ranging programme of 
engagement across West, North and East 
Cumbria involving HealthWatch as 
outlined in the Pre-Consultation Business 
Case that informed option development 
and assessment 

• Full Public Consultation exercise 
carried out 

• Independent consultation process 
assurance provided by the 
Consultation Institute 

• Independent analysis of the 
findings of the public consultation 
by The Campaign Company  

• Incorporation of analysis by the 
Campaign Company into the 
recommendation to support 
decision-making 

• Commitment to ‘co-production’ for 
significant elements of the service 
changes recommended 

3. Consistency 
with choice and 

competition 

• Legal advice has been sought from the 
outset on choice and competition. Due to 
the unique geography, Cumbria already 
has a large monopoly acute provider (as 
well as a large monopoly provider for 
community and mental health)  

• Some options for maternity services 
increase the choice of type of maternity 
care available (within the same provider)  

• The wider Integrated Care Community 
strategy in the Pre-Consultation Business 
Case will widen choice for out-of-hospital 
service options (within the same 
provider) 

• Patient choice will be maintained as 
patients will still be able to exercise their 
right to access services outside of the 
area. 

• As at Pre-Consultation Business 
Case Stage 

4. GP 
commissioner 

support 

• Engagement meetings and ongoing 
dialogue with GP commissioner has 
taken place throughout the pre-
consultation process. 

• The clinical commissioning group 
governing body approved the Pre-
Consultation Business Case and the 
Public Consultation strategy and 
documentation 

• Local GPs have a number of 
concerns that have taken into 
consideration when preparing the 
Decision making report 

• It is recognised that there is some 
opposition to the proposals put 
forward for consultation. The 
Recommendations before the 
Governing Body have taken those 
concerns fully into account 
particularly in the areas of 
paediatrics and maternity. The 

 
109



 

Test 
Evidence of consideration of Test pre-

consultation 

Evidence of consideration of Test 
post-consultation / decision-

making 

Governing Body will make the 
decision based on the service 
change options in line with the 
NHS Cumbria Clinical 
Commissioning Group 
Constitution 
 

 

  

 
110



 

14. Implementation considerations  
 
In early 2016 as part of the NHS England national planning process, the West, North and 
East Cumbria area was recognised as a Sustainability and Transformation Plan area in its 
own right.  
 
The role of Sustainability and Transformation Plan areas is to co-ordinate the transformation 
of health services to address the three gaps (health and wellbeing, care and quality and 
finance and efficiency) identified in the NHS England Five Year Forward View. In October 
2016 the transitional governance arrangements for the Sustainability and Transformation 
Plan became the mechanism for overseeing the development of the Success Regime 
programme proposals.  
 
The System Leadership Board for West, North and East Cumbria (representing all of the NHS 
bodies, the County Council and Healthwatch Cumbria) is chaired by the Success Regime 
Independent Chair and co-chaired by the STP Chief Officer. The board makes 
recommendations to statutory organisations represented on the Board, each of which will 
then take the decision formally.  
 
Figure 21 depicts the new governance arrangements following the introduction of the 
Sustainability and Transformation Plan area under a new System Leadership Board that will 
oversee the implementation of the decisions made by the Clinical Commissioning Group 
Governing Body. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Figure 21: Sustainability and Transformation Plan Governance arrangements  
111



 

 
The implementation programme will be clinically-led and will involve clinical professions 
from all backgrounds and organisations. The programme will be built on a principle of co-
production. Patients, carers and members of the public will be invited to participate in the 
transition and implementation planning and will be included as key members of the 
Implementation Reference Group (outlined below), which will include an independent 
Chair. 
 
The “Our Infrastructure” group includes sub-groups responsible for the detailed planning on 
transport and estates and facilities work as mentioned in section 13.   
 
A System Dashboard will be maintained throughout the implementation phase of the 
programme, reporting key success measures to the System Leadership Board on a monthly 
basis.  Programme risk and issue management will continue to be in place to ensure risks to 
delivery are managed and escalated appropriately within the agreed governance 
framework.  
 
As part of the implementation process, it is recommended that the clinical commissioning 
group establish an independent Implementation Reference Group to feedback on the 
implementation process.  
 
A key part of the implementation process will be to continuously review and update the 
equality impact assessments, and to seek to reduce inequalities.  We will develop an action 
plan to take this forward.  
 
Recommendations for Implementation 
 
A range of recommendations and issues to consider regarding implementation have been 
set out in each of the preceding chapters. Additionally, the following recommendation is 
made. 
 
Recommendation 8.1: The Governing Body is requested to approve the formation of an 
Implementation Reference Group to feedback on the implementation process. The 
membership of this group will be agreed in discussion with patient and the public 
representative groups, stakeholders and partners but would include representation from 
the clinical commissioning group including the Lay Member Lead for Patient Engagement 
and the Medical Director. 
 
This group may wish to use a sub-group structure around each of the main areas of change 
(i.e. maternity and paediatrics, acute and emergency care and community hospitals). 
 

 
112



 

 
 

15. Next steps for the decision-making process 
 
Following the Governing Body meeting, NHS Cumbria Clinical Commissioning Group will 
formally write to the Cumbria Health Scrutiny Committee to inform them of each decision 
made. 
 
The Cumbria Health Scrutiny Committee will then review these decisions and choose 
whether or not to give feedback to the Governing Body on them.  
 
Once the position of the Cumbria Health Scrutiny Committee is known and any feedback 
received, NHS Cumbria Clinical Commissioning Group will work through the Sustainability 
and Transformation Plan governance mechanism to prepare any required full business 
case(s) to be considered by NHS England and/or NHS Improvement. 
 
Working in partnership through the Sustainability and Transformation Plan governance 
mechanisms NHS Cumbria Clinical Commissioning Group will also develop a full 
implementation and delivery plan to enact the decisions made, including practicable 
mitigations to any reasonable risks identified during the Public Consultation and from the 
impact assessments set out in the Appendices. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

 
113



 

16. List of appendices 
 
 

• Appendix 1 – Equality Impact Assessment 
• Appendix 2 – Health impact assessment 
• Appendix 3a – Travel impact assessment – Acute Hospitals 
• Appendix 3b – Travel impact assessment – Community Hospitals 
• Appendix 3c - Travel impact assessment – Integrated Care Committees 
• Appendix 4 – Rural proofing 
• Appendix 5 – Approach to risk assessment 
• Appendix 6 – The Campaign Company Independent Consultation Response Analysis 
• Appendix 7 - Greater Manchester, Lancashire and South Cumbria Clinical Senate 

Update Report  
• Appendix 8 - Letter from Northern England Maternity Clinical Network  
• Appendix 9 – Deliverability statements from each NHS Provider Trust 

 

 
114



APPENDIX 1 
 

 
    

 
Name of the Document Equality Impact Analysis and Workshop Report 

Date Completed 23 February 2017 

Author Lisa Gibbons and Christine Harrison, NHS Cumbria CCG 

 Summary of the Document  

 
NHS Cumbria Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) is fully committed to meeting its duties to relating 
to equality and diversity, including the requirements of the Equality Act 2010 (the Public Sector 
Equality Duty). 
 
Throughout the process of developing and considering options, the CCG has ensured that 
appropriate Equality Impact Analysis have been undertaken as a continuous, dynamic process. This 
included: 

 

• An Equality Impact Analysis was undertaken in July 20161 which assessed the potential 
impact of the significant changes proposed within the Pre Consultation Business Case 
(PCBC) 

• In November 2017, further analysis was undertaken which resulted in an addendum to the 
original EIA focusing on proposals for the Hyper Acute Stroke Services and Emergency 
Surgery, Trauma & Orthopaedic Services2 

 
In December 2016 a series of workshops were held to review the Equality Impact Analysis. These 
were attended by a range of stakeholders and representatives of groups of the population with 
protected characteristics. A copy of the report from the workshops is attached as an Appendix A. 
 
Informed by the process outlined above, and including the feedback received during the December 
workshops, a fuller Equality Impact Analysis was finalised in February 2017 which updated the work 
previously undertaken. This document is attached as an Appendix B. The document does not repeat 
the demographic information provided in the earlier document from July 2016. 
 
While focussing on the potential service changes subject to the Public Consultation, the report also 
records a number of improvements that could be made to existing services. 
 
The Equality Impact Analysis demonstrates how the CCG, working with our partners, has considered 
the potential impact of the service changes consulted upon, the potential mitigation of any negative 
impact, and our collective commitment to comply with our responsibilities under the Public Sector 
Equality Duty Section 149 of the Equality Act. 
 

 

1 http://www.wnecumbria.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/11/West-North-and-East-Cumbria-Equality-
Impact-Analysis-Report-Jul-2016.pdf    
2 http://www.wnecumbria.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/09/West-North-and-East-Cumbria-Equality-
Impact-Analysis-Report-Addendum-Nov-2016.pdf  

 
 

                                                

115

http://www.wnecumbria.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/11/West-North-and-East-Cumbria-Equality-Impact-Analysis-Report-Jul-2016.pdf
http://www.wnecumbria.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/11/West-North-and-East-Cumbria-Equality-Impact-Analysis-Report-Jul-2016.pdf
http://www.wnecumbria.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/09/West-North-and-East-Cumbria-Equality-Impact-Analysis-Report-Addendum-Nov-2016.pdf
http://www.wnecumbria.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/09/West-North-and-East-Cumbria-Equality-Impact-Analysis-Report-Addendum-Nov-2016.pdf


Appendix A 

 
 
 

Healthcare for the Future in 
West, North & East Cumbria  

Equality Impact Assessment Workshop Report 
December 2016 

 

  

 
116



 

Feedback from the Equality Impact Analysis Workshop – 6th December 2016 
 
The workshop was organised in partnership with the Action for Health Network with the aim of gathering feedback 
directly from those with a protected characteristic or those who specifically support those with a protected 
characteristic, across all of the proposed changes in the Healthcare for the Future Consultation.    
 
There were 28 people who attended the workshop, all of the protected characteristics were represented other than 
the Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, transgender (LGBT) community.  To strengthen the input into the EIA process and to 
ensure that every effort has been made to cover as many of the protected characteristics and ‘hard to reach’ groups 
as possible a further 3 deliberative events were held, one for representatives of the Neurological Alliance and one 
for representatives from the deaf community (both in west Cumbria) and one for the LGBT community (held in 
Carlisle).  Feedback from all of these events is included in the following information  

Although not part of the formal consultation, the workshop also provided an opportunity for people to comment on 
changes to Public Health, General Practice and Integrated Care Communities and the status quo.  The feedback for 
each section is split across each of the protected characteristics.   

Representatives were asked to consider how the proposals would affect people under each of the protected 
characteristics and any possible mitiagations. 

Some general concerns were raised and are reflected in the feedback.  Some issues relating to access to health 
services in general, rather than specifically to the consultation were also raised.  These have been contained  in the 
feedback to ensure they available for in a future planning and can be found in the section ‘General Feedback on 
Status Quo.’  

There was a discussion about how many people need to be affected to justify a small or a large impact, as this is a 
subjective process this was not resolved during this process. 

There was a general feeling looking at the overall impact of the proposals that there is a negative impact on women 
as a whole.  This was due to the maternity issues and that women take on a greater caring role be in for children or 
older people. 

Concerns over recent extreme weather and the impact on travelling around the county, as well as the general road 
and travel conditions were expressed as a general concern affecting any proposal. 

  

 
117



General Feedback on Status Quo 

Protected 
Characteristic 

Issues Raised Suggestions to address the issues raised 

 
 
Race 
 

There is already a lack of understanding among health and 
social care staff of different cultural issues in Black & Minority 
Ethnic (BME) communities. 

Some immigrant communities (Bengali was mentioned) tend 
not to register with GP, but make use of hospital services. This 
is believed to be mainly due to lack of understanding of the 
system, need to raise awareness.  
 
BME increase in elderly population from those who settled in 
the 80’s tend not to access services. 
 
Needs to be greater awareness of cultural issues, specifically 
during pregnancy, birth and postnatal care. 
 
Gypsy and Traveler children are likely to need greater access 
to acute paediatric care as they have lower immunisation 
levels and are less likely to be registered with a GP Practice. 
 
Higher incidence of stroke in some ethnic groups? 
 

Improve cultural awareness and 
attitudes, with better understanding of 
different cultures, identifying and 
working with available support 
networks.   

 

Clarify place based – identify 
community of identity and interest and 
how to reach them rather than a 
geographic community. 

 
 

 
Religion & 
Belief 
 
 
 
 

 
Staff going in to support people within their homes will be less 
able to seek advice from colleagues on cultural issues – 
particularly relevant to end of life care. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 

Gender 

Concerns over services being less likely to be accessed by men 
at present  
 
Staff: lone working and related issues may affect women more 
(more vulnerable, higher proportions of staff are female). Shift 
patterns have bigger impact on women as more likely to have 
other caring responsibilities. 

Target marketing at publicity at men, 
and develop specific services for men 
where they are identified at being at 
risk of higher health inequalities 

 

 

 

 

 
118



Protected 
Characteristic 

Issues Raised Suggestions to address the issues raised 

 
Disability 

 

Wider range of staff working with less support – increased 
need for training around disability issues, need for a broader 
knowledge base. 
 
Mental health issues and the impact on physical health 
 
Care in a different community may cause care to be less 
connected – at moment, GP with detailed knowledge of 
patient will often visit in CH, unlikely to happen if outside of 
area. 
 
Wheelchair access is poor at CIC – rooms too cramped  
 
Children with disabilities or long term medical conditions may 
require more frequent visits to hospital services which has 
significant cost and time implications for families 
 
People with disabilities suggested they may not feel  their 
conditions are fully understood, within the context of their 
disability 
 
Learning difficulties – capacity and communications issues bring 
added implications – out of normal routines 

Cuts in social care – end up in healthcare as social care collapses 

 

 

 
 
 
 

Sexual 
Orientation 

Some people may prefer a more anonymous service in 
acute hospital rather than a community setting if they do 
not wish their sexual orientation to be known. 
 
Lifestyle and vulnerable groups – homeless young people 
and how to access this group. 
 
Cumbria can be more of a closed community 
 
Concerns raised that there may be risks associated with 
pregnancy in lesbian couples – e.g. higher likelihood of IVF, 
and perhaps higher risks from that. Possibly more likely 
artificial insemination, and unlikely to have higher risks at 
birth. 
 
Discrimination against women in same sex relationships 
(links to paediatrics).  Despite improvements in legislation 
national research over the last few years shows that 
discrimination can still be an issue. 

 
Ensure choice is available for accessing 
particular services. 

 
 
 

Grassroots work in schools 

 
119



Protected 
Characteristic 

Issues Raised Suggestions to address the issues raised 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Age 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Older adults who experience social isolation will not be 
included fully if they do not have support and 
encouragement to access local health and care services 
 
Dementia is more common in older people, and can place 
heavy demands on carers (also often older people).  
 
Lots of people retired here so no family support – some 
communities all of a similar age. 
 
Community hospital beds are more likely to be used by older 
adults, and given there are already concerns regarding 
loneliness and isolation in the over 80’s population – this could 
be exacerbated in the areas where beds are removed as there 
will be less opportunity for families and friends to visit 
(especially when those friends are also older adults) 
 
As the system is already under strain, there are concerns that 
it will not really be resolved and older adults will be considered 
to be ‘bed blocking’.  
 
Older people perceived to be more susceptible to the stress of 
being in an unfamiliar environment. 
 
Growing needs of those with dementia not being met 
Ageing population with more complex needs – don’t recover as 
quick 

 
 
 
 

Ensure good signposting and referrals 
between services, designed with all 
providers (including 3rd sector) 

 

Pregnancy & 
Maternity 

Babies on paediatric ward can’t be left alone (or at least not 
encouraged), so hard for mum to get meals, shower etc. 
(don’t get hospital meals) if other parent isn’t there – which is 
more likely the further unit is from home 
 

Parents are encouraged to say on 
children’s ward (preferably one parent but 
two can stay) – fold out camp beds on the 
ward 

 
 

Gender 
Reassignment 

Concern over lack of understanding of the issues within local 
health services. 

 
Can take a long time to get a referral, then waiting long time 
for an appointment 

Availability of choice 

Raise awareness within local health 
services 

 
120



Protected 
Characteristic 

Issues Raised Suggestions to address the issues raised 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Rural Isolation 
& Deprivation 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Difficulty recruiting home care staff in rural areas because of 
contract terms (often not paid for travel time, which is 
significant in rural areas), whereas there is a belief that it is 
comparatively easy to recruit staff to work in care home or 
community hospital.   
 
No or poor phone / broadband reception so issues of poor 
internet services 

 
Problems in accessing rural areas in poor weather / floods 

 
Transport costs less affordable for those in deprived wards 
which may be a barrier to them accessing services 

 
Not all home environments are suitable – e.g. old house, fuel 
poverty, too cold. 
 
Tourists – tourists tend to use A&E instead of other health 
services, less likely to be informed about the best place to 
attend. 

 

Funding of social care staff, contracts 

Improve Adult Social Care workforce and 
what is needed – allow separate travel 
time (not part of care time). 
 

 

Potential for access to services to be 
improved Infrastructure is critical – 
broadband, roads, mobile phone 
coverage etc. 

 
Need to consider in wider resilience 
context. 
 

Is it better to bring people to one place 
where it’s easier to see them than  
visiting everyone at home 

 Carers Identify difference between paid care workers and unpaid 
carers. 
 
Young Carers may find it difficult to support the person they 
care for, to access health and care services, within school 
hours 

 
Carers may find it difficult to support the person they care 
for, to access health and care services,  within work hours 
 
There is a risk that if people have less contact with their GPs 
that Carers are not identified and do not receive 
appropriate support. 
 
Respite Care is already a considerable problem for unpaid 
Carers, and if it is not provide then Carers are more likely to 
have failing health. Community Hospital beds provide 
essential respite care.  
 

Develop focus groups with young 
Carers and link with schools to 
publicise support available for Carers 
locally  

 

Ensure good levels of knowledge 
regarding Carers Assessments for 
example, throughout the health and 
care system. This will help to ensure 
Carers are at least encouraged and 
signposted to available support. 

 

 

 

 

Public Health, General Practice and Integrated Care Communities 

While not formally part of the consultation these 3 areas are what underpins the proposed changes so it was important to give 
people an opportunity to give some feedback on these proposals.  Generally these areas are seen as a positive step in improving 
health and social care across the area, initially to relatively small groups of people but expanding to take in more of the 
population. 

The biggest area of concern is related to social care and its possible impact on the success or failure of all of the Integrated Care 
Communities. 

 

 
121



Protected 
Characteristic 

Issues Raised Suggestions to address the issues raised 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Race 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Lack of understanding among health and social care 
staff of different cultural issues in BME communities 
including: 

• Lifestyle and working patterns 
• Access and understanding information 
• Alternative issues – not just smoking 

cigarettes other things worse for health i.e. 
pan, gutka, spari  

• Assumption that everyone has friends and 
family – there is some social integration 

 
Some immigrant communities (Bengali was 
mentioned) tend not to register with GP, but make 
use of hospital services. This is believed to be 
mainly due to lack of understanding of the system, 
need to raise awareness.  

 
How to ensure that the generic and/or localised 
provision (within the 8 ICC’s) does not affect access 
to more specialised services such as interpreters, 
which may make them less accessible to people 
where English is not their first language.  
 
Gypsy & Traveller community – difficult to promote 
self-care when people are moving between areas. 
Could be difficult to provide services in own home. 
Lack of understanding of the issues affecting the 
community and poor engagement. 

Improve cultural awareness and attitudes, with 
better understanding of different cultures, 
identifying and working with available support 
networks.   

Clarify place based – identify community of identity 
and interest and how to reach them rather than a 
geographic community. 

Ensure a good understanding of relevant services 
that may be able to support ICC’s to be more 
accessible (for example working with groups that 
support BME groups) by using existing networks 

Good engagement from ICC team could have a 
positive impact here. 
 

Follow Accessible Information Standard to ensure 
access to translation services and information in an 
understandable format across all ICC’s, and 
community based services ensuring that they are 
meeting relevant legislation. 

 

Provision of information in an accessible format 
available on sites, use of social / visual media and 
available networks. 

 
 

Religion & 
Belief 
 
 
 
 

 
Staff going in to support people within their homes 
will be less able to seek advice from colleagues on 
cultural issues – particularly relevant to end of life 
care. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Develop protocols and minimum standards for all 
ICC’s, ensuring that they are required to ensure 
provision is in place to meet the needs of people that 
are from minority ethnic groups 
 
Training & support 
Central point of contact for both staff and families 

 
 
 

Gender 

Concerns over services being less likely to be 
accessed by men, both at present and in the 
future.  
 
Dignity – care for people in own home may make 
it more difficult to offer people a choice of carer 
(particularly men who would prefer a male carer, 
when the majority of staff are female) 
 
Men in rural areas and of a certain age seem to 
disappear – medication which means they can’t 
drive so disappear from usual activities. 
 
Staff – Increased lone working and related issues 
may affect women more (more vulnerable, 
higher proportions of staff are female). Shift 
patterns may change and bigger impact on 
women as more likely to have other caring 
responsibilities. 
 

Target marketing at publicity at men, and develop 
specific services for men where they are identified at 
being at risk of higher health inequalities 
 
 
Appropriate training and support 

 
122



Protected 
Characteristic 

Issues Raised Suggestions to address the issues raised 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Disability 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Identify difference between paid care workers and 
unpaid carers. 
 
ICC facilities, GP surgeries and other place based 
services may be based for convenience and 
economic reasons rather than easy access for the 
general public.  This may mean they are less 
accessible for people who have mobility problems.   
 
Wider range of staff working with less support – 
increased need for training around disability issues, 
need for a broader knowledge base. 
 
Earlier supported discharge home – home may be 
adapted if long term disability, but if new disability 
(e.g. amputation, stroke) then home may not be 
ready. Unsuitable facilities (toilets, hoists etc.)  
 
Transport – providing services more locally doesn’t 
necessarily mean they’re easier to access if don’t 
have own transport. Changes to benefits system 
means that many people have lost their mobility 
care and are now reliant on others for transport. 
Cuts to bus subsidies, and so loss of services, make 
this worse. 
 
Learning Difficulties – issues in accessing 
information on line – need accessible format 
 
 

 
 
 
Work with disability/access groups to ensure that 
locations are accessible not only for people who use 
wheelchairs but also people who have limited mobility, 
and those who require additional support/carers 
 
 
Recruit champions’ within ICC’s, Public Health provision 
and GP Surgeries who have greater awareness of 
specific needs, for example Dementia Champions, 
Mental Health Champions and Veterans Champions 
 
Other agencies – housing, social care – need to be 
involved, and adequately funded 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
HAWCS need to be trained to work with people with 
communication issues 

 

  
3rd sector staff (Mencap) trained to very high level 
– training costs high – cover community nurse roles 
(tracheotomy management) – could become an 
issue in the future. 
 
Mental health issues and the impact on physical 
health 

 
Feed into CLIC re access to training for 3rd Sector 
(could use as funding in kind) 

 
 
 
 

Sexual 
Orientation 

Some people may prefer a more anonymous 
service in acute hospital rather than a 
community setting if they do not wish their 
sexual orientation to be known. 
 
Lifestyle and vulnerable groups – homeless 
young people and how to access this group. 
 
Cumbria can be more of a closed community 

 
Ensure choice is available for accessing particular 
services. 

 
 
 
 

Grassroots work in schools 

 
123



Protected 
Characteristic 

Issues Raised Suggestions to address the issues raised 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Age 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Older adults who experience social isolation will 
not be included fully if they do not have support 
and encouragement to access local health and 
care services 
 
ICC model may rely heavily on volunteers, and 
many of these will be older adults – e.g. 
volunteer drivers 
 
Many carers are older people, and ICC 
model/care in home may increase demands on 
carers. Could be positive, but the worry is that 
services won’t be in place in community before 
community hospital beds are lost. 
 
Dementia is more common in older people, and 
can place heavy demands on carers (also often 
older people).  
 
Older people who live alone may find it very 
isolating to be cared for at home. Difficult to 
provide same continuity of care (e.g. checking 
that an individual is eating adequately). 
 
Public transport is limited in North Cumbria and 
this may have an additional impact on young 
people and older people who do not drive 
 
Young carers? 
Single parents with no family support 
Why are we losing our young people? 
Lots of people retired here so no family support – 
some communities all of a similar age. 
 
PH – not everyone has access to online services 

Ensure good signposting and referrals between 
services, designed with all providers (including third 
sector) 
 
Ensure suitable, affordable transport provision (that 
covers the ICC footprint) for those who do not drive, to 
access services 
 
 
Planning, support and training 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Adequate support, respite care and escalation 
procedures (when carer is unable to cope) 
 

 
 
ICC should involve social care, schools and 3rd 
sector 

 

Pregnancy & 
Maternity 

Better births talks of “maternity hubs” – will 
these be part of ICC model? 
 
 

Perinatal mental health – opportunity for a positive  
impact if services are provided well at a community 
level, as destigmatises 

 

Gender 
Reassignment 

May prefer anonymous service  
 
Concern over lack of understanding of the issues 
within local health services. 
 
Can take a long time to get a referral, then 
waiting long time for an appointment 

Availability of choice 

Raise awareness within local health services 

 
124



Protected 
Characteristic 

Issues Raised Suggestions to address the issues raised 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Rural Isolation 
& Deprivation 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Additional transport costs for those who live in 
rural areas 
 
ICC footprints are developing based on population 
size, not the distance people have to travel to 
access services. This means that those in rural 
areas will have poorer access to support. 

 
Care in own home means more travel for care 
staff. This might be an issue in rural areas in winter 
& severe weather – e.g. gritting of rural roads.  
 
Difficulty recruiting home care staff in rural areas 
because of contract terms (often not paid for 
travel time, which is significant in rural areas), 
whereas relatively easy to recruit staff to work in 
care home or community hospital. 
 
No or poor reception so issues of poor internet 
services 
 
Difficulty in getting to village halls, no public 
transport 
Mental health issues and access to physical health 
services 
 
Problems in accessing rural areas in poor weather 
/ floods 
 
Losing young people – lack of affordable housing 
No workforce to provide care 
 
More chance of seeing GP than pharmacy 
 
Transport costs less affordable for those in 
deprived wards which may be a barrier to them 
accessing services 
 
Not all home environments are suitable – e.g. old 
house, fuel poverty, too cold. 
 

 Work with local, specialist organisations to capture 
their knowledge of local need. 

 

  Utilise very local facilities (consider village halls etc. 
as in The Bolton Village Exchange where they have 
space for people to get flu jabs for example) to 
deliver services, wherever possible, close to those 
who have highest levels of need.  

 

Potential for access to services to be improved 
Infrastructure is critical – broadband, roads, mobile 
phone coverage etc. 

 

Need to consider in wider resilience context. 
 

 

 Funding of social care staff, contracts 

 

  Is it better to bring people to one place where it’s  
easier to see them than  visiting everyone at home 

   

Improve ASC workforce and what is needed – allow 
separate travel time (not part of care time). 

   

    

Carers Young Carers may find it difficult to support the 
person they care for, to access health and care 
services, within school hours 
 
Carers may find it difficult to support the person 
they care for, to access health and care services,  
within work hours 
 
ICC footprints/areas may be outside of peoples 
natural communities, so Carers may have to 
travel elsewhere to access support 
 
Personal contact with Carers may be lost if 
services are delivered via digital methods 

Develop focus groups with young Carers and link 
with schools to publicise support available for 
Carers locally  
 
Good community engagement when developing 
ICC’s to ensure that they reflect the needs and (as 
much as practically possible) the preferences of 
people who use the services, and their Carers 
 

Ensure that there are choices available in terms of 
how people receive information and support (offer 
other means to digital) 

 
125



Protected 
Characteristic 

Issues Raised Suggestions to address the issues raised 

  
GPs are the main point of contact for most 
people experiencing problems with their health; 
it is also an important point of contact when 
identifying unpaid Carers.  
 
There is a risk that if people have less contact 
with their GPs that Carers are not identified and 
do not receive appropriate support. 
 
End of life care – assumption that people want to 
die at home, but this places significant demands 
on carers. 
 
Risk that carers are less likely to be identified, 
and so not get appropriate support. 
 
85% of carers have a chronic illness themselves, 
so support for carers is vital.  
 
Increased costs on family when care is provided 
at home. 
 
Assumption that everyone has friends and family  
 
Access to GP – ring at half 8 – can’t get through – 
have to take kids to school – have to get to work 
 
Need to assess wider family needs, not just the 
patient, and identify the stress points. 

 
Use the development period of ICC’s to develop 
public and patient participation groups, thus 
ensuring that the level of support meets the needs 
of local people, and those with additional support 
needs  
 
Ensure good levels of knowledge regarding Carers 
Assessments for example, throughout the health 
and care system. This will help to ensure Carers are 
at least encouraged and signposted to available 
support. 
 
ICC needs to provide adequate professional 
support – but could be positive impact if done well. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Live in one area, work in another – arrange to have 
(blood test) in work area 

 

 

  

 
126



Community Hospitals 

 

 

Option 1 
Minimal 
Consolidation of beds 

Option 2a 
Partial Consolidation 
around 5 sites (incl 
Cockermouth) 

Option 2b 
Partial Consolidation 
around 5 sites (incl 
Workington) 

Option 3 
Consolidation round 3 
sites 

Option / area west north east west north east west north east west north east 

Race N N N N N N N N N - N - N - N 

Religion & 
Belief - N - N - N N N N N N N N N N 

Gender - N N - N N N N N N N - N N - N 

Disability - - N - - - - N - - - - N - - - - - /+ - - 

Sexual 
Orientation N N N N N N N N N N N N 

Age  - - N - - - - N - - - - N - - - - - /+ - - 

Pregnancy & 
Maternity N N N N N N N N N N N N 

Gender 
Reassignment N N N N N N N N N N N N 

Rural Isolation 
& Deprivation - - N - - - - N - - - - N - - - - N - - 

Carers - - N - - - - N - - - - N - - - - N - - 

 

Protected 
Characteristic 

Issues Raised Suggestions to address the issues raised 

 
Workshop 
Feedback - Race 

BME increase in elderly population from those who 
settled in the 80’s tend not to access services. 
 
Often run business with little support so if someone is ill 
have to close business because no family support. 
 
Nepalese bringing in parents. 
 
Brexit new situation, no longer an attractive place to be 
– community care has a huge immigrant workforce.  
 

  Some dementia suffers revert back to original language 

CCG to work with the Allerdale, Carlisle, 
Copeland and Eden District Councils and CPFT 
to: 

•       identify current Gypsy and Traveler 
sites/resident numbers across the 
WNE Cumbria area 

• Assess possible health need in relation 
to community hospitals 

• If health need is identified, carry out 
specific consultation with Gypsies and 
Travelers who may be affected by the 
proposed options 

•  
 Facilitate accessible communication 

Workshop 
Feedback 
– 
Religion & 
Belief 

 

End of life care – may be harder to be aware of, and/or 
accommodate religious beliefs in community hospital 
rather than acute hospital. 
 
Mixed sex wards in community hospitals may be 
unacceptable to some faiths 
 

   Multi-faith chaplain service – skype  

   facilities (wouldn’t work for everyone) 

 
127



Protected 
Characteristic 

Issues Raised Suggestions to address the issues raised 

Workshop 
Feedback –  
 
Gender 

Carers are disproportionately female (70 %?); closure 
of community hospital beds will have large impact on 
carers, and by implication, on women.  Details under 
Carers section. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
Workshop 
Feedback –  
 
Disability 

Concerns that provision of support in peoples own 
homes (away from community hospitals) don’t address 
the issue of the suitability/accessibility of a person’s 
own home. In cases where a person is 
temporarily/short term disabled it is less appropriate 
(or economically sensible) to install accessibility aids 
and adaptations - so this could have additional 
negative impact on those people. 
 
Closure of some community hospital beds and care in a 
community hospital in another community will make it 
more difficult for people in those areas to see their 
families, increasing their isolation. This is especially 
relevant where people have existing vulnerabilities 
around their mental health. 
 
Equipment provided in people’s own homes is not 
always easy to use, so even when it is provided it’s not 
always useful 
Patients often receive transport to community hospital 
bed (e.g. from acute hospital) but rarely from 
Community Hospital to home. Arranging this from a CH 
in a different community is more challenging, and 
disproportionately so for people with some disabilities 
(sight problems, learning disabilities, dementia). 
 
Care in a different community may cause care to be less 
connected – at moment, GP with detailed knowledge of 
patient will often visit in CH, unlikely to happen if 
outside of area. 
 
Family members with disability will find it harder and 
more expensive to travel and visit relative in CH if this is 
more distant. 
 
People with learning difficulties find it more difficult to 
visit parents in hospital if out of area. 
Can’t visit because of their disability  
Where does mental health fit into this 
Complex disability – what happens when things go 
wrong, don’t need acute but need a bit of extra 
support – where do they go – removing safety net 

• Ensure suitable transport is affordable as 
well as adequate. 
 

• Provide training in the use of equipment, 
in the persons own home 

 

 

 

 
128



Protected 
Characteristic 

Issues Raised Suggestions to address the issues raised 

 
 
Workshop 
Feedback –  
 
Age 
 
 

Community hospital beds are more likely to be used by 
older adults, and given there are already concerns 
regarding loneliness and isolation in the over 80’s 
population – this could be exacerbated in the areas 
where beds are removed as there will be less 
opportunity for families and friends to visit (especially 
when those friends are also older adults) 
 
Where it is not appropriate for someone to receive 
support in their own home (because of the level of care 
needed), and where there are no local community 
hospital beds – people may be more likely to stay in 
local residential care homes. Given the uncertainty 
around the future of residential care homes this could 
create issues for older adults who require complex end 
of life care. 
 

(There are links with Carers section) Respite Care, often 
provided within community hospitals, and especially 
where there are co-dependent couples, is essential to 
maintaining independence and living at home in the long 
term. Removing this in proposed areas could increase 
pressure elsewhere on the system in future. 

 
Proposals are removing beds from areas of highest 
deprivation (West) and great rural disadvantage (East) 
therefore having the greatest impact on those older 
adults who are already experiencing disadvantage.  
 
As the system is already under strain, there are concerns 
that it will not really be resolved and older adults will be 
considered to be ‘bed blocking’. If community beds are 
removed, what is there to fall back on? The future of 
residential care is also in question, so adds to concerns. 
 
Intergenerational links likely to be broken (e.g. 
grandchildren less likely to visit if further away) 
 
End of life care – partner likely to be older, and less likely 
to be able to travel to visit if beds further away. 
 
Older people perceived to be more susceptible to the 
stress of being in an unfamiliar environment. 
 
Older volunteers – e.g. volunteer drivers – likely to be 
under more pressure. 
 
Community hospitals work well for children, out of school 
to physio and back to school 
 
Removing support networks 
Family moved away / or moved away from family 
 
Implications re workforce and issues of having enough 
care workers to visit people in own homes. 
 
Young disabled what does parent do if care given further 
away. 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

• Links to other beds in locality – e.g. social 
care beds 

 
 
 
• Much improved discharge processes 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
129



Protected 
Characteristic 

Issues Raised Suggestions to address the issues raised 

Workshop 
Feedback –  
 
Rural Isolation 
& Deprivation 

The proposals suggest the closure of beds in deprived 
and/or rural areas – in some cases the most deprived 
and the most rural. The proposals therefore have the 
greatest impact on the people who are least able to 
cope with them. 
 
The proposals remove hospital beds from The Solway 
Plain – so essentially putting the burden of bed closures 
on a very specific community (along with Alston). This 
means that it has a greater impact upon single 
communities rather than sharing the burden across the 
North of Cumbria. 
 
Alston – the road from Alston to Brampton (which is 
where beds would move to) is gritted by Northumbria 
(loops out of Cumbria and back again) – rarely seen as a 
priority route. Moves the risk to patient & relatives – 
travel in poor weather 
 
Staff access to patients in poor weather – more 
challenging if cared for at home rather than in  
Community hospital. 
 
None of the options improve things for elderly in rural 
areas 
 
Loss of rural bus services – not everyone can access 
mini bus services - No provision for transport in plans 
Having to travel further is difficult for people who have 
dual responsibilities (farmers, etc.). 
Community Hospital should be focus for ICC 
 

  Clarify viability of hospital if beds close. 

Shift may be bigger than anticipated – e.g. Alston used 
to do a lot of end of life care, but if not possible due to 
staffing, tends to go to hospice in Carlisle rather than 
Brampton CH. 

 

 

Transport routes into Keswick make it an ideal 
site to be developed 

Workshop 
Feedback –  
 
Carers 
 
(Carers were 
added as a 
separate 
category for the 
workshop due to 
a number of 
concerns raised 
beforehand) 

Respite Care is already a considerable problem for 
unpaid Carers, and if it is not provide then Carers are 
more likely to have failing health. Community 
Hospital beds provide essential respite care.  
 
There are high levels of trust regarding Community 
Hospital staff, where beds are planned to close, 
Carers will be put under increased strain as they will 
not have the same levels of reassurance. 
 
Carers will have to travel further (where bed closures 
are planned) putting increased time and money 
pressure on to them. This could lead to a decline in 
their own health and wellbeing. 
 
Placing people ‘out of reach’ of their unpaid care and 
support could potentially put more strain on the 
health system, as Carers will not be filling gaps in 
unmet need.  
 

• Ensuring Carers are part of care 
planning, to ensure that their needs are 
also met when decisions are being made.  
 

• Reassurance for Carers around the 
joined up working between health and 
social care, to meet people’s needs. 

 

 
130



Protected 
Characteristic 

Issues Raised Suggestions to address the issues raised 

 
 

 
 
The proposals describe the difficulties in recruiting 
staff in Alston, for example. There are concerns 
because this is also the case when recruiting care 
Workers. If there is a shortage of Care Workers then 
unpaid Carers may be required to provide greater 
levels of care. 
 
Single parent – difficulties in looking after children 
and working, while having sick child or adult.  Don’t 
necessarily have support networks 
Pressure of taken away from community and have 
other responsibilities 

 

 

 

• Recruitment should be considered a 
system wide challenge, not just within 
the NHS 

 

  

 
131



 

Maternity Services 

Protected 
Characteristic 

Option 1 

New Ways of Working 

Option 2 

Partial Consolidation 

Option 3 

Full Consolidation 

Option / area west north east west north east west north east 

Race N N N N N N N N N 

Religion & Belief N N N N N N N N N 

Gender - N N N N N N N N N 

Disability - - - N - N - - - N - N - - - N - N 

Sexual Orientation N N N N N N N N N 

Age  - - N N - - N N - - - N - N 

Pregnancy & 
Maternity - N N - - - N - N - - - - 

Gender 
Reassignment I I I I I I I I I 

Rural Isolation & 
Deprivation - - N N - - N N - - - N - N 

Carers - N N  N N - - - N - N 

 

Protected 
Characteristic 

Issues Raised Suggestions to address the issues raised 

Workshop 
Feedback - Race 

Needs to be greater awareness of cultural issues 
 
 

  Multi-faith chaplain service 

Workshop 
Feedback - 
Religion & 
Belief 

Jehovah’s Witness – blood transfusion issues, increased distance 
to CLU and alternative surgical solutions – may increase 
likelihood of poor outcome. Likely to be identified in pregnancy 
as high risk and advised to attend CLU (?) – effectively reduces 
choice for these women 

  Identification during pregnancy and advice    
  on choices and risks 

Workshop 
Feedback -
Gender 

Also some disproportionate impacts on men identified: 
 
Driving to hospital during labour (and back home afterwards, often 
without sleep) – stressful, and some men very traumatized by this 
– mental health implications – and increased stress as distance 
increases. 
 
Stress of trying to juggle caring responsibilities – partner and older 
children – again, more of a problem as distance/travel time to 
place of birth increases 
 
Greater risk to women if remove consultant led unit at WCH 

Availability of accommodation at/near CIC 
to avoid need to drive back without sleep 

 

 
132



Protected 
Characteristic 

Issues Raised Suggestions to address the issues raised 

 
Workshop 
Feedback - 
Disability 

Women with a disability may also require more support during 
labour (particularly if require support with communication – 
LD, deaf), and arranging this may become more difficult if 
distance to services increases (particularly if support is 
provided by partner/family member, and there are other 
siblings to care for) 
 
Wheelchair access is poor at CIC – rooms too cramped. Issue 
for women giving birth and also partners/visitors. 
 
Because women who have disabilities may experience greater 
difficulties during pregnancy, options which do not include 
consultant led Maternity services in West Cumbria may have a 
greater impact on disabled women living in West Cumbria 
because they are less likely to opt for a home birth because of 
increased risk 
 
Learning difficulties and autism, don’t always know what’s 
happening to them so issues may not be identified soon enough 

Ensure transport options cater for 
women who have additional equipment 
(wheelchairs, scooters etc.)  

 
 

 

 

Improve access at CIC/allocate 
suitable room – not limited to 
maternity 

 

Workshop 
Feedback –  
 
Sexual 
Orientation 

Perhaps very tenuous – but are there any risks associated with 
pregnancy in lesbian couples – e.g. higher likelihood of IVF, and 
perhaps higher risks from that. Suspect not – more likely 
artificial insemination, and I suspect that’s not got higher risks 
at birth. 
 
Discrimination against women in same sex relationships (link to 
paediatrics) 

 

Workshop 
Feedback –  
Age 
 

Other factors related to teenage pregnancy that increase 
impact: 
• Less likely to have own transport 
• Support networks more fragile 
• Tend to be higher risk pregnancies – both because of 

age, and because of increased incidence of other risk 
factors – smoking, heavy alcohol use, drug use, late 
access to antenatal care 

• Danger high risk pregnancies will present at WCH (to 
MLU, or A&E if no MLU) because of lack of antenatal 
care (& so knowledge) or simply because of lack of 
transport 

• (? Some evidence from other areas this happens) 
 

• Where required, community 
midwives can offer mental 
wellbeing advice and reassurance  
-  

• Some concern with the wording of 
this, and suggestion that MW would 
have to reassure even when they 
may feel concern is justified 

 
 

Workshop 
Feedback –  
Pregnancy & 
Maternity 

Haven’t looked at TIA – but perhaps need to mention that babies 
born “in transit” have higher chance of poor outcome – and every 
chance number of babies born before arrival will increase as 
distance increases? 
 
Increased stress from increased travel distance (and parking 
difficulties at CIC, and lack of dedicated maternity entrance) will 
have an impact on birth experience, and a cascade of longer term 
impacts: 
• Stress shifts body from producing oxytocin to adrenaline – 

tends to stall labour, and make interventions more likely 
• Disruption of normal birth process 
• Consequently, more difficult to establish breastfeeding, and 

increased incidence of postnatal mental health issues 
 

 

 
133



Protected 
Characteristic 

Issues Raised Suggestions to address the issues raised 

  
Women may choose to set off from home earlier in labour to avoid 
risk of giving birth before arrival – increased chance of arriving 
early in labour and being sent home, or offered induction. May 
lead to increased time spent in hospital during labour – which has 
knock-on effects for women from other parts of Cumbria (e.g. CIC 
labour ward full, sent to other units?) 
 
(Lack of) Pain relief during long journey 
 
Grade 1 section 30 minutes no time to transfer 
If one (either mother or baby) needs to transfer what happens to 
the other – additional stress 
Stand alone midwife unit not safe 

 
• Better Births (national doc) requires a family focus – increased 

travel distance makes this much harder 
• In options 1 & 2, it’ll be the highest/higher risk mums who have 

to travel further in labour – this seems the wrong way round. 
What are the options for the highest risk mums – specialist 
ambulance (twin pregnancies – suggestion that if born on 
journey, ambulance would have to stop and await second crew 
as can’t transport mum plus 2 babies??), helicopter? 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

• improved parking arrangements at 
CIC 
 

• Advice on suitable pain relief (e.g. 
paracetamol OK in labour) 

• 3 lane decent road for A595 - travel 
time under 30 mins? 

• Reviewing hospital services has to 
improve infrastructure – CIC often 
full and divert to WCH 

• Different progression routes – 
offering GPs opportunity to 
specialize  

• Different ways of providing support 
• Keep consultant led unit and full 

paediatric service 
• Stop undermining unit 
• Speak to ST6 trainees- can’t do 

general paediatrics in many places – 
mix with research and job swap 

• None of the options work – 
urbanized models – not fit for 
purpose – be more innovative 

• Can we lobby for the Community 
Hospitals to have a role?  

 
Workshop 
Feedback –  
 

Rural Isolation 
& Deprivation 

 

Rural – as above for increased travel distances 
Deprivation – costs of travel and implications for support during 
labour and any subsequent hospital stay. Cost of partner 
travelling to/from Carlisle, and difficulty of caring for other 
children, is likely to mean less family support 
 
Given the three most deprived wards have been identified in 
West Cumbria, the options will have an increased impact upon 
those deprived communities – and do not take in to 
consideration the links between deprivation and problems during 
pregnancy.  
 
Deprivation – low levels of education – people turn up at A&E 
not knowing they are pregnant. 
Levels of Literacy some of it hidden 
 
Rural areas under threat – losing services all over.  People move 
out community gets older 
 

  Tourists – do access Cumbrian maternity services, more likely to 
be doing so in high risk situation (early labour) and less likely to 
know where the best unit to attend is 

 

• Need rural model  
• Remove NHS from Government 

 

 
134



Protected 
Characteristic 

Issues Raised Suggestions to address the issues raised 

Workshop 
Feedback –  
 
Carers 
 
(Carers were 
added as a 
separate 
category for the 
workshop due to 
a number of 
concerns raised 
beforehand) 

Fathers/Grandparents/Friends  as carers for other children – 
more necessary and bigger commitment as distance to place of 
birth increases 
 
Impact on family – mental health of parents – extra stress going 
through this 
 
Higher risk of abuse – rates increase with depression and stress 
Man left at home with children – additional stress levels 
 

Childcare options at/near CIC? 

 
  

 
135



 

Paediatric Services 
 

Protected 
Characteristic 

Option 1 

New Ways of Working 

Option 2 

Partial Consolidation 

Option 3 

Full Consolidation 

Option / area west north east west north east west north east 

Race N N N N N N N N N 

Religion & Belief N N N N N N N N N 

Gender N N N N N N N N N 

Disability N N N N N N N N N 

Sexual Orientation N N N N N N N N N 

Age  - N N - N N - - - - 

Pregnancy & 
Maternity 

- - N N - - N N - N N 

Gender 
Reassignment 

N N N N N N N N N 

Rural Isolation & 
Deprivation 

- N N - N N - - N N 

Carers - N N  N N - - - N - N 

 
Protected 
Characteristi
 

Issues Raised Suggestions to address the issues raised 

 
Workshop 
Feedback - 
Race 

 
Gypsy and Traveller children are likely to need greater access to 
paediatric care as they have lower immunisation levels and are 
less likely to be registered with a GP Practice. 
 
Other recent immigrants (Polish & Lithuanian mentioned) – 
children may also be on different immunization schedule, have 
missed jabs in move, and less likely to register with GP (due to lack 
of knowledge of system, language difficulties, etc.) and make more 
use of acute paediatric services as a result (present to A&E with 
child who’s more ill). Access more difficult as travel distance 
increases – and danger of present at WCH A&E with no paediatric 
back up (under various combinations of options) 
 
Refugees – concerns raised about immunization, poor general 
health, etc. [my involvement in refugee work suggests that those 
being taken under national government schemes are given 
thorough health screening & immunisations before arrival – so 
may not be significant issue. May still be more likely to be 
malnourished, etc., and more need for services as a result? Higher 
chance of disability? Mental health concerns – outside scope of 
consultation/EIA?] 

CCG to work with the Allerdale, Carlisle, 
Copeland and Eden District Councils and 
CPFT to: 

• identify current Gypsy and Traveller 
sites/resident numbers across the 
WNE Cumbria area 

• Assess possible health need in 
relation to Paediatric services 

• If health need is identified, carry out 
specific consultation with Gypsies and 
Travellers who may be affected by the 
proposed options  

 
• Identification & education by 

community teams 
• Links into communities by AWAZ, etc., as 

education/information route 

 
136



Protected 
Characteristi
 

Issues Raised Suggestions to address the issues raised 

Workshop 
Feedback - 
Gender 

Women, as the primary carer for children in most families, are 
likely to be more affected by increased journey lengths, and 
consequent difficulties with juggling other commitments 
(work, other children, caring for older relatives). 
 
Teenage mums – will/may still be accessing paediatric services 
themselves, and so directly affected by the changes 

 

Workshop 
Feedback - 
Disability 

Children with disabilities or long term medical conditions may 
require more frequent visits to hospital services and this will have 
significant cost and time implications for families if there is a 
longer travel distance. Travel difficulties may also cause parents 
to delay access to services (e.g. mum may wait for husband to 
come home from work before driving child to A&E, particularly if 
other children to care for) 
 
Significant stress of longer travel time with an acutely ill child 
(e.g. severe asthma attack), and possibility of increased use of 
999/NWAS 
Impact on mental health of young people – especially those who 
may already have poor mental health, and/or an existing 
diagnosed MH condition (in particular option 3 puts greater strain 
on a greater number of young people who may have disabilities 
inc. MH problems)  
 
Greater impact on younger disabled people (including those who 
are temporarily disabled as part of their medical condition) in 
west Cumbria,   
 
Complex child low risk maintained condition suddenly goes 
wrong wouldn’t be time to transfer 
 
Children with learning difficulties can’t always explain symptoms 
and pain levels 

Improved education/support for “self” 
(parent if younger) management 

   
 
 Improve awareness and communications 
skills 

Workshop 
Feedback - Age 

Danger children are taken to wrong place if parents transport to 
A&E – i.e. take direct to A&E at WCH, when at some options no 
paediatric back up 24/7 
 

Children deteriorate so quickly and often through night 

 

 
Workshop 
Feedback - 
Pregnancy & 
Maternity 

SCBU – confusion over what is proposed in option 1, conflict 
between consultation document and EIA. 
 
Remote SCBU has number of implications – SCBU has no 
facilities for mum to stay on site, if attempting to breastfeed 
need to visit frequently. So increased travel distance makes 
successful breastfeeding less likely, with long term health (and 
health service cost) consequences. Particularly difficult if other 
children to care for. Travel a particular problem if mum has had 
a C-section and is unable to drive. 

 
Babies on paediatric ward can’t be left alone (or at least not 
encouraged), so hard for mum to get meals, shower etc. (don’t 
get hospital meals) if other parent isn’t there – which is more 
likely the further unit is from home 

 

• More support within unit. Access to 
hospital meals. 

 

• Develop alternative staffing structure 
• Improve staff experience to retain staff 

 
137



Protected 
Characteristi
 

Issues Raised Suggestions to address the issues raised 

 
 

 
Special care – travelling and expressing and how to get it to 
hospital 
More risky to have two people at risk than one – i.e. baby 
delivered. 
 
No professional would consider moving to a department 
under threat 

 

Workshop 
Feedback –  

Rural Isolation 
& Deprivation 

And increased cost, relative to disposable income. 
Deprivation  
? Higher rates of child abuse. If reduced use of services, 
reduced chance of abuse being detected? 
 
? Higher incidence of stress, weak support networks – so 
increased travel time & cost more likely to have negative 
impact on mental health 
Greater impact on young people and their families  
Increased risk and decreased ease of access for parents in 
West Cumbria travelling to CIC in an emergency situation, 
outside of daytime hours (in all options) so this 
disproportionately impacts on those who live further away, in 
deprived communities 
 
Proposals rely on transport solutions… in rural and deprived 
areas people may become increasingly reliant on these 
transport solutions, if they do not have public transport 
available – or they cannot afford public transport. If transport 
solutions have inadequate provision then this will impact more 
detrimentally on these communities.  
 
Extreme weather may prevent people seeing/visiting their 
loves ones which will be especially difficult if it’s a parent/child 
relationship that is impacted upon 
 
Travel time will impact on families with other children 
attending school etc. as transport solutions tend to run on 
their own schedule (rather than based around individual 
circumstances) 

Education to increase knowledge/awareness 
amongst community teams, schools, etc. 

Workshop 
Feedback –  
 
Carers 
 
(Carers were 
added as a 
separate 
category for the 
workshop due 
to a number of 
concerns raised 
beforehand) 

 
Greater impact on carers/parent carers and greater 
expectations on them to travel to provide support. This will 
have ongoing impact upon their employment, other family 
members and their finances 
 
Concerns from carers that they will lose the relationship that 
they have built up with specialists (esp. west Cumbria) and that 
by centralizing those specialists/services the broader 
knowledge and awareness will be lost  
 
Any statistics for the number of parent/carers in west 
Cumbria? 

 

 

 

 
138



 

Emergency & Acute Care, 

Protected 
Characteristic 

Option 1 

New Ways of Working 

Option 2 

Partial Consolidation 

Option 3 

Full Consolidation 

Option / area west north east west north east west north east 

Race N N N N N N N N N 

Religion & Belief N N N N N N N N N 

Gender N N N N N N N N N 

Disability - N N N - - N N - - - - 

Sexual Orientation N N N N N N N N N 

Age  - N N N - - N N - - - N - N 

Pregnancy & 
Maternity N N N N N N N N N 

Gender 
Reassignment N N N N N N N N N 

Rural Isolation & 
Deprivation - N N N - - N N - - - N - N 

Carers  - N N N - - N N - - - N - N 

 

Protected 
Characteristic 

Issues Raised Suggestions to address the issues raised 

 
Workshop 
Feedback – 
Religion & 
Belief 
 

 
Jehovah’s Witnesses – longer travel distance to A&E may 
mean patients arrive in worse condition, and so be more 
likely to be considered to need blood transfusion on arrival. 

 

Workshop 
Feedback – 

 
Gender 

Are men more likely to attend A&E, and more likely to suffer 
serious injuries – farm & industrial injuries, sporting injuries, 
road traffic accidents (and so be affected by changes in 
some options) 
 
Women – more likely to be victims of domestic violence – 
less likely to attend A&E for injuries if travel distance greater 
due to practical difficulties, so less likely to be identified and 
offered support? 
 
Increasing numbers due to nuclear industry 

 
 
 
 
 
Better training for other professionals in contact 
with women 

 
139



Protected 
Characteristic 

Issues Raised Suggestions to address the issues raised 

Workshop 
Feedback – 

 
 Disability 

Travel tends to be more difficult for people with 
disabilities than for the general population, so options 
that increase travel distances may make access more 
difficult. 
 
Wheelchair access is poor at CIC 
 
People with disabilities suggested they may not feel  
their conditions are fully understood, within the context 
of their disability and this may be increased if they are 
not able to go to familiar points of contact  
 
Communication difficulties (Learning difficulties) 
 
Using respite beds for issues with people with disability 
rather than resolving ongoing support issues. 

Cultural shift required through the whole health 
and care system that address the reasons that 
people access A&E rather than other means of 
getting the support/advice /treatment required 
 
Improved awareness of the role of pharmacies, 
and improved trust in that support 
 
Education to help people be better informed of 
where to go for support, and engagement with 
the frequent attenders to identify reasons why 

 
Workshop 
Feedback – 

 
 Age 

Children – families where abuse takes place may be less 
likely to access A&E if travel distance increases (partly due 
to concern about leaving other children with the abuser). 
This may both lead to injuries being untreated, and abuse 
being undetected. If families do attend A&E, lack of paeds 
back up (and access to specialist opinion) may make it less 
likely abuse is detected. 
 
Children – more likely to be separated from main carer for 
a significant length of time if they or a family member is 
injured or acutely ill – stress 
 
Children – if parents transport direct to A&E, rather than 
calling ambulance, may not attend most appropriate 
hospital (i.e. no paeds back up, or reduced A&E hours) and 
so need to be transferred – increase in time spent 
travelling. 
 
Older people – falls – if end up travelling further, may be 
more likely to need admission, and so prolonged recovery 
[not clear if evidence supports this?] 
No local provision for complex care (in west Cumbria) so 
concerns things may be missed, or people will be reluctant 
to access services as they’re concerned they will be taken 
further away from home, their families and codependent 
partners (esp. for older people) 
 
Elderly care been seen in GP surgeries 
Growing needs of those with dementia not being met 

 
 
Education of public 

 
Increase in carers salaries 

 
 

Urgent care GP part of A&E 
 

Better use of interim care beds 
 

Improve access to GPs and out of hospital 
services. 

 
140



Protected 
Characteristic 

Issues Raised Suggestions to address the issues raised 

Workshop 
Feedback – 

Pregnancy & 
Maternity 

Assumption was disputed – it was believed that women 
will use A&E as their first point of contact for unusual 
events during pregnancy – e.g. baby stops moving, or 
vaginal bleeding. 
 
Unidentified pregnancy was also identified as an issue – 
women of childbearing age with abdominal age 
presenting to A&E (perhaps most impact if A&E on site, 
but no obstetric back up for a specialist opinion) 
 
Unstable ectopic pregnancy is a particular concern, as will 
require emergency surgery, but patient should not be 
transported (land or air) 
 
Centre for Research in Midwifery & Childbirth 
recommendation – all pregnant women who attend A&E 
(for any reason, not just pregnancy issues) should be 
screened by a maternity specialist (midwife may be 
acceptable). Could be difficult if A&E on site, but not 
obstetrics. 

 

 

 

 

Staff training and access to remote specialist 
support 

 

 

 

Ability to transfer surgical team to patient 

Workshop 
Feedback – 

Rural Isolation 
& 
Deprivation 

Attendance at wrong site as well as non-attendance (i.e. 
attend site from which A&E has been removed). 
 
Cost of increased travel – danger of non-attendance, or 
increased use of 999 
 
• Tourists – tourists tend to use A&E instead of other 

health services, less likely to be informed about the best 
place to attend. 
 

• Danger this is the “thin end of the wedge” – A&E 
services at WCH hospital perceived to be very fragile, 
and danger of services being gradually withdrawn. 

 
       

 
          
 

 

Workshop 
Feedback –  
 
Carers 
 
(Carers were added 
as a separate 
category for the 
workshop due to a 
number of 
concerns raised 
beforehand) 

Same issues as earlier sections of IA 
 
Increased pressure on carers when the person they care 
for is transferred a longer distance away – more 
travelling, more time taken, harder to balance life/care 
and family and more cost. Given this will impact more on 
West Cumbria, where deprivation is a bigger issue it was 
felt this is a significant impact on carers in the west 
(options 2 b& 3) 
 
Carers identified that a lack of ‘5pm to 9am’ services 
present greater challenges for them if they’re in work 
(options 2 b& 3) 
 
Travel issues if caring for more than one person 

 
 

A&E for many is a place of safety where 
people are sure they will be seen, over 
reliance on A&E was felt (by some carers) to 
be because they are frustrated at not getting 
the care and support needed (for them or the 
person they care for) so it is important to 
ensure that trust is built, and culture changed 
before services are removed in the west.  
 

 

  

 
141



Urgent Care, Trauma & Orthopaedics 

Protected 
Characteristic 

Changes made on Safety 
Grounds February 2014 

Consultation Proposal 

Option / area west north east west north east 

Race N N N N N N 

Religion & Belief N N N N N N 

Gender N N N N N N 

Disability - N N N - N N 

Sexual Orientation N N N N N N 

Age  - N N N - /+ - /+ - /+ 

Pregnancy & 
Maternity - N N N N N N 

Gender 
Reassignment N N N N N N 

Rural Isolation & 
Deprivation - N N - /+ - /+ - /+ 

Carers - N N N - /+ - /+ - /+ 

 

Hyper-Acute Stroke 

 

Protected Option 1 Option 2
Characteristic

Option / area            west          north          east          west         north          east

Race - N - N N - N N + N +

Religion & Belief N N N N N N

Gender N N N N N N

Disability - N N - N N

Sexual Orientation N N N N N N

Age - N N - + +

Pregnancy &
Maternity N N N N N N

Gender
Reassignment N N N N N N

Rural Isolation &
Deprivation - N N - + +

Carers - N N - + +

142



 

Protected 
Characteristic 

Issues Raised Suggestions to address the issues raised 

Workshop 
Feedback - Race 

 
Higher incidence of stroke in some ethnic groups? 

 

Workshop 
Feedback - 
Gender 

Young men more likely to involved in serious trauma (e.g. 
road traffic accidents) that require trauma & orthopaedic 
services. 

 

Workshop 
Feedback - 
Disability 

Poor wheelchair access at CIC 
Accessing services that are some distance away may be 
more difficult for those who have disabilities, considering 
the additional transport and support requirements thus 
making it more challenging to attend appointments very 
early in the morning, for example or when they do not 
have an BSL interpreter available to support them 
Learning difficulties – capacity and communications issues 
bring added implications – out of normal routines 
Cuts in social care – end up in healthcare as social care 
collapses 

Ensure people who have disabilities are 
offered flexibility in terms of appointment 
times and days 

 
Ensure facilities are accessible not only for 
those who use wheelchairs but also those 
who have limited mobility and choose to 
walk/use walking aids – and those who 
experience hearing loss, reduced sight etc. 

 
Make best use of new hospital 

Raise awareness of issues 

Better partnership working across all services 

Workshop 
Feedback - Age 

Both ends of the age spectrum are more affected by long 
travel distances 
Young men more likely to involved in serious trauma (e.g. 
road traffic accidents) that require trauma & orthopaedic 
services. 
Ageing population with more complex needs – don’t 
recover as quick 
Elderly disabled – taken further away from support 
networks 
Social isolation and systems not working properly 

Utilising ICC’s as centres for support and 
daytime respite – especially when people 
require shorter term support and significant 
care planning is not cost effective and quick 
solutions are required. This also provides 
opportunities for people to access wider 
health and care support – improving overall 
health and wellbeing which is vital for good 
and speedy recovery 

Workshop 
Feedback -  
Pregnancy & 
Maternity 

Higher incidence of stroke during pregnancy? – check 
figures 

 

Workshop 
Feedback - 
Rural Isolation 
& Deprivation 

 

Stroke – population living south of Whitehaven will be 
disadvantaged under proposals due to long travel time to 
Hyper acute unit – and many in this population have risk 
factors for stroke. 

Delayed access to care for these patients is likely to have 
long term consequences for patients are recovery is likely 
to be less complete. 

3 hour window for stroke – 2 hours travelling will impact 
on outcome 

Tourists make up a significant proportion of trauma 
surgery & orthopaedics – to the extent that services are 
noticeably less busy during winter months. As before – 
less likely to know where best to attend to access correct 
services, and harder to reach in advance to educate them 
about this. 

 

 
143



Protected 
Characteristic 

Issues Raised Suggestions to address the issues raised 

Workshop 
Feedback –  
 
Carers 
 
(Carers were 
added as a 
separate 
category for the 
workshop due 
to a number of 
concerns raised 
beforehand) 

 

Stroke – extent of recovery from stroke will have 
significant impact on carers. Proposals that have a 
positive impact on recovery will benefit carers, but if 
there are parts of the population that are disadvantaged 
by proposals (those south of Whitehaven), there are likely 
to be bigger demands on carers in these areas. 

Stroke may result in people becoming new carers (so 
relatives etc. may be unfamiliar with the role and the type 
of support they will need to offer). Because of the 
increased distance for those in West Cumbria to travel to 
see the person they will be/are supporting – this results in 
additional time and resource pressures on them.   

(Also included in Age section) Increased impact on older 
adults who are carers/co-dependent due to the increased 
risk of stroke – both financially and in terms of mental 
health (less contact between those involved if services are 
wholly shifted to Carlisle) 

“Drip & ship” model should be considered for 
this population in addition options proposed 
– or other models such as a “stroke 
ambulance” able to scan. 

 
Important to recognise ‘new carers’ and 
ensure that they are able to be included in 
care planning, and have access to support.  
 
Consider offering unpaid carers financial 
reimbursement for travel (if they are on low 
income/benefits etc.) would be cost effective 
in the long term and ensure better levels of 
support for people who have had stroke, 
emergency surgery etc. and encourage better 
use of personal health budgets. 
 
Ensure Care Navigators work with and include 
carers (including those who may be ‘short 
term’ carers as a result of stroke, trauma, 
emergency surgery etc. to mitigate the 
impact on their lives and enable people to 
‘return to normal’ as speedily as possible 

 

 

 
144



Appendix B    

 
 

Healthcare for the Future in 
West, North & East Cumbria  

Updated Equality Impact Analysis Report   
February 2017  

 
  

 
145



 

Contents 
 

1) Introduction .............................................................................................. 1 

2) Impact Analysis Methodology ................................................................... 2 

3) Public Health, General Practice and Integrated Care Communities. ............ 3 

4) Community Hospitals ................................................................................ 7 

5) Maternity Services .................................................................................. 14 

6)  Paediatric Services ................................................................................... 19 

7)  Emergency & Acute Care .......................................................................... 24 

8) Emergency Surgery, Trauma & Orthopaedics ........................................... 31 

9) Hyper-Acute Stroke ................................................................................. 35 

10) Conclusions & Recommendations ........................................................... 40 
 

                      
 

  

 

 
146



 
1) Introduction 

The Equality Impact Analysis (EIA) undertaken in July 161
 assessed the potential impact of the significant changes 

proposed within the Pre Consultation Business Case (PCBC). Following the publication of  ‘The Future of Healthcare 
in West, North and East Cumbria Public Consultation Document’2

 further analysis was undertaken which resulted in 
an addendum to the original EIA focusing on proposals for the Hyper Acute Stroke Services and Emergency Surgery, 
Trauma & Orthopaedic Services3.  
 
This further report updates previous Equality Impact Analyses and includes feedback from the EIA Engagement 
events which was held in November and December but does not include any additional feedback as part of the 
consultation process which closed on 19th December 2016.   

The Flow Chart below depicts the ongoing process to develop the EIA including engagement with representatives 
with protected characteristics, in line with Public Sector Equality Duty Section 149 of the Equality Act. 

 

1 http://www.wnecumbria.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/11/West-North-and-East-Cumbria-Equality-Impact-Analysis-
Report-Jul-2016.pdf    
2 http://www.wnecumbria.nhs.uk/consultation-document  
3 http://www.wnecumbria.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/09/West-North-and-East-Cumbria-Equality-Impact-Analysis-
Report-Addendum-Nov-2016.pdf  

 

Updated EIA Report: February 2017 

EIA Engagement Process 

Desktop review of 
PCBC option 
25 July 2016 

EIA Report July 2016 

Desktop Review of 
consultation 

options 
7 November 2016 

EIA Report: November 2016 

Disability 
Workshop 

23 November 
2016  

Pregnancy and 
Maternity 
Workshop 

29, 30 
November  

1 December 
2016 

EIA Protected 
Characteristics 

Workshop 
6 December 

2016 

Sensory 
Workshop 

14 December 
2016 2016 

LGBT 
Workshop 

15 December 
2016 

Desktop Review 
including Workshop 

feedback  
25 January 2017 

 

                                                           

147

http://www.wnecumbria.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/11/West-North-and-East-Cumbria-Equality-Impact-Analysis-Report-Jul-2016.pdf
http://www.wnecumbria.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/11/West-North-and-East-Cumbria-Equality-Impact-Analysis-Report-Jul-2016.pdf
http://www.wnecumbria.nhs.uk/consultation-document
http://www.wnecumbria.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/09/West-North-and-East-Cumbria-Equality-Impact-Analysis-Report-Addendum-Nov-2016.pdf
http://www.wnecumbria.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/09/West-North-and-East-Cumbria-Equality-Impact-Analysis-Report-Addendum-Nov-2016.pdf


Our considerations in undertaking this addendum, relating to Equality Legislation, Local Demographics & Protected 
Characteristics are concurrent with those used in the EIA from July 2016; as a result they have not been reproduced 
here. For the detailed information, please refer to pages 2 – 12 of EIA July 2016. 

 
2) Impact Analysis Methodology 

The aim of the engagement events was to gather feedback directly from those with a protected characteristic or 
those who specifically support those with a protected characteristic, across all of the proposed changes.   They were 
supported by Action for Health, a third sector network of organisations with an interest in health and social care, and 
part of Cumbria Council for Voluntary Service. 
 
The workshop on 6th December covered all of the protected characteristics, a report detailing this workshop and its 
outcomes is detailed in Appendix A. Additional work was also carried out to ensure that the traditional ‘hard to 
reach’ groups were specifically targeted and offered an opportunity to contribute, over 50 organisations were 
contacted as part of that process. In addition specific events to consult with Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, transgender 
(LGBT) community and sensory disability community which had not been overtly represented at the workshop were 
undertaken. 
 
As previously the options were scored using a matrix (table 1) and were broken down to West – Allerdale & 
Copeland, North – Carlisle Area, East – Eden, as it was recognised that for the protected groups in these areas the 
impact may be different. As well as the original addition of Rural Isolation and Deprivation to the list of protected 
characteristics, carers have also been added as a specific group for consideration, following feedback on protected 
characteristic groups.  The protected groups and this report also gives consideration to developments relating to 
Integrated Care Communities, Health and Wellbeing and General Practice, which are key components of the plans in 
delivering integrated health and care for people living in rural, remote and dispersed communities and have been 
included for completeness. 

The feedback and the matrix scores from the events is attached in Appendix A, (all issues from the events were 
captured and are reflected in the feedback.  Issues relating to access to health services in general and these have 
been contained captured within ‘General Feedback on Status Quo.’). Using this feedback a further desk top 
screening exercise was undertaken for each of the proposed options to give an updated analysis of the potential 
equality impacts that could occur. The actual impact will be dependent on which option is implemented – it will be 
vital to make sure that the diverse needs of patients and the families and carers are at the very heart of this process. 

 
High Impact Medium Impact Neutral Medium Impact High Impact 

++ + N - - - 

Significant positive 
impact on a large 

proportion of 
protected 

characteristic 
groups 

Medium positive impact 
on a large proportion of 
protected characteristic 

groups. Significant 
positive impact on a 
small proportion of 

protected characteristic 
groups. 

no change / no 
assessed 

significant impact 
of protected 
characteristic 

groups 

Medium adverse impact on 
a large proportion of 

protected characteristic 
groups. 

Significant adverse impact 
on a small proportion of 
protected characteristic 

groups. 

Significant adverse 
impact on a large 

proportion of people 
with protected 
characteristics 

 
 
 

 
148



 

 

3)  Public Health, General Practice and Integrated Care Communities
Although   not   part   of   the   formal   consultation   process   Public   Health,   General   Practice   and   Integrated   Care
Communities underpin many of the proposed changes within the consultation. As a result and part of the ongoing
development  of  the  EIA,  the  workshop  groups  were  additionally  asked  to  consider  the  developments  being
implemented and to give an indication of the equality impacts that could occur.

The detail of these developments can be found in the Pre Consultation Business Case, but have been summarised
below for ease.

The focus for Public Health is to reduce social isolation, prevent illness and disease and enable citizens to live healthy
and independent lives. It will be achieved by creating a health and wellbeing system to support and empower the
population to stay healthy and includes; The development of universal and targeted prevention services, enabled
through  ‘health  and  well-being  coaches’,  Better  targeting  of  lifestyle  services  towards  those  who  will  benefit  the
most from them, Mechanism for connecting socially isolated people to local communities and opportunities.

For  General  Practice,  initiatives  are  in  progress  to  help  stabilise  and  sustain  primary  care,  which  is  nationally  and
locally in an increasingly fragile position. For example the role played by community pharmacies is being extended;
practices   are   being   supported   to   benefit   from   technology   enablers,   infrastructure   investment,   increased
collaboration and new models of care. The maintenance of high standards of general practice is fundamental to the
success of the development Integrated Care Community model (ICCs). The ICCs will wrap care around patients by
bringing  together  public  health,  general  practice,  social  care,  community  services,  mental  health  services  and
community  assets,  including  community  hospitals  to  act  as  single  integrated  hubs,  with  active  support  from  key
secondary care specialists, such as geriatricians, as well as providing access to timely and appropriate acute based
diagnostics. With the intention that, wherever possible, care will be provided as close to home as possible.

Feedback from the EIA Engagement Events

Generally the feedback during the EIA engagement events were that  the plans were a  positive step in improving
health and social care across the area, initially to relatively small groups of people but expanding to take in more of
the population. Concerns were raised in relation to social care and its possible impact on the success or failure of all
of the Integrated Care Communities.

The general view was that Public Health can make a big impact on a small number of people which would roll out
over time, whereas General Practice is usually the first point of contact for most people accessing healthcare so is
likely to have a bigger impact on a larger number of people.

Integrated Care Communities (ICCs) were seen as a key to delivering joined up care involving the NHS, social care
providers and the voluntary sector.  It is however recognised that there are organisational and cultural barriers to
overcome before true partnership working can be achieved, and the challenges facing social care may have an effect
on ICCs.

The matrix below was scored at the workshops and the further desktop review made no adjustments.

Protected                             Public Health                               General Practice                       Integrated Care
Characteristic                                                                                                                                       Communities

Option / area              west           north           east           west          north           east         west      north      east

Race N N N N N N N N N
Religion & Belief N N N N N N N N N
Gender + + + ++ ++ ++ + + +
Disability N N N N N N N N N

149



Protected 
Characteristic 

Public Health  General Practice Integrated Care 
Communities  

Option / area west north east west north east west north east 
Sexual Orientation N N N N N N N N N 
Age  + + + ++ ++ ++ + + + 
Pregnancy & 
Maternity N N N N N N N N N 

Gender 
Reassignment N N N N N N N N N 

Rural Isolation & 
Deprivation + + + N N N + + + 

Carers  
 

N N N N N N N N N 

 
 
Impact Assessment & Mitigation 

Protected 
Characteristic 

Reason for impact assessment rating Mitigation 

Race 

 

Compared to England & Wales, Cumbria has lower 
proportions of residents from all broad ethnic groups, 
therefore the changes in GP Practice, Public Health and 
ICCs are not likely to impact on health and wellbeing linked 
to ethnicity. Because of these lower proportions it may be 
that there is a lack of understanding among health and 
social care staff of different cultural issues in Black & 
Minority Ethnic (BME) communities including: 
• Lifestyle and working patterns 
• Access and understanding information 
• Assumption that everyone has friends and family – 

there is some social integration 
 

Between 2001 and 2011, Cumbria experienced a greater 
proportional increase in numbers of residents from BME 
groups than the national average; with the greatest 
increases seen in Carlisle (+143.4%) and Eden (+104.1%); 
particularly in relation to migration from the eastern 
Europe. Some BME communities tended not to register 
with GP, but make use of hospital services. This may be as a 
result of a lack of understanding of the system.  
 
Gypsies and Travellers have significantly poorer health status 
and more self-reported symptoms of ill-health, particularly in 
relation to high levels of anxiety and stress, smoking, alcohol 
and drug use. 

(source:http://www.cumbriaobservatory.org.uk/elibrary/C
ontent/Internet/536/671/4674/5359/5360/40723111743.p
df) when people are moving between areas it can be 
difficult to promote self-care and provide services in own 
home, however there is not enough data available to 
identify geographical areas where need may be greater. 
 

The proposed changes have been assessed as ‘neutral’. 

 

• Regarding broad ethnic groups - 
No current mitigation is 
assessed as required, although 
advice from AWAZ Cumbria is 
recommended particularly in 
the development of ICCs to 
ensure that cultural needs are 
considered.  

 
• Ensure a good understanding of 

relevant services that may be 
able to support ICC’s to be 
more accessible (for example 
working with groups that 
support BME groups) by using 
existing networks. Ensure 
access to translation services 
and information in an 
understandable format across 
all ICC’s. Develop protocols and 
minimum standards for all 
ICC’s, ensuring that they are 
required to ensure provision is 
in place to meet the needs of 
people that are from minority 
ethnic groups. 

 
•  Wherever possible, the ethnicity 

of patients accessing GP, Public 
Health ICC services should be 
monitored. This would allow 
ethnicity profiles to be identified, 
and service provision and cultural 
training for staff to be reviewed 
and amended if required. 

 
• CCG to work with the Allerdale, 

Carlisle, Copeland and Eden 
District Councils and CPFT to: 

 
150

http://www.cumbriaobservatory.org.uk/elibrary/Content/Internet/536/671/4674/5359/5360/40723111743.pdf
http://www.cumbriaobservatory.org.uk/elibrary/Content/Internet/536/671/4674/5359/5360/40723111743.pdf
http://www.cumbriaobservatory.org.uk/elibrary/Content/Internet/536/671/4674/5359/5360/40723111743.pdf


Protected 
Characteristic 

Reason for impact assessment rating Mitigation 

 
 
 

identify current Gypsy and 
Traveller sites/resident numbers 
across the WNE Cumbria area to 
Improve cultural awareness and 
promote self –care  

Religion & 
Belief 

 

In Cumbria, the reported religion held by residents in each 
district (as reported in the 2011 census) is not statistically 
different from the England averages, this indicates that 
population health and wellbeing linked to religion will not be 
significantly impacted upon by the proposed changes. 
Thought it is important that Staff going in to support people 
within their homes are able to seek advice from colleagues 
on cultural issues – particularly relevant to end of life care. 

The proposed changes have been assessed as ‘neutral’. 

• Based on the assessment carried 
out, no mitigation required, 
although advice from AWAZ 
Cumbria is recommended 

 

 
 

Gender 

 

The proportion of male and female residents across West, 
North and East Cumbria are equally split (no significant 
difference between population %).  

But increased lone working and related issues may affect 
women more (more vulnerable, higher proportions of 
staff are female).  
The proposed changes have been assessed as ‘positive’.  

Overall these changes have been assessed as positive for 
women because more services will be offered locally through 
GPs and ICCs. Women are more likely to have caring 
responsibilities (Children and Elderly) so will improve access. 
For men it was felt that with more services provided locally 
this could increase the opportunity for men to access 
services. 

• Based on the assessment carried 
out, building links with Health & 
Wellbeing Coaches (HAWCs) into 
ICCs to tackle isolation / loneliness 
will be critical.  

 
 
 

Disability 

 

The percentage of residents in Allerdale and Copeland who 
describe their day-to-day activities as ‘limited a lot’ is greater 
than the Cumbria average (10.1% and 10.7% versus 9.7%). 
Eden has a lower percentage (7.8%). 

3 neighbourhoods in West, North and East Cumbria rank 
within the 1% most deprived in the country for health and 
disability: these neighbourhoods are in Harbour (Copeland), 
Moss Bay (Allerdale), and Sandwith (Copeland) wards. 

It should be noted that changes to benefits system may 
mean that some people have lost their mobility and are now 
reliant on others for transport. As disabled people find it 
easier to access services closer to home, options that 
improve choice could be beneficial though the wider range 
of staff working with less support. 

The proposed changes have been assessed as ‘neutral’. 

 

• Work with Cumbria CVS  to Recruit 
champions’ within ICC’s, Public 
Health provision and GP Surgeries 
who have greater awareness of 
specific needs, for example 
Dementia Champions, Mental 
Health Champions and Veterans 
Champions 

• Ensure that stakeholder 
involvement includes other 
agencies – housing, transport etc. 
 

• Disability awareness training for 
staff to be reviewed and amended 
if required. 

Sexual 
Orientation 

 

There is no robust data available for groups with this 
protected characteristic. Public health, ICCs and GPs are 
accessible to all groups regardless of sexual orientation, 
therefore the impact of the proposed options have been 
assessed as ‘neutral’ with relation to sexual orientation.  

• Based on the assessment carried 
out, no mitigation required – 
although it is important that 
organisations commissioning and 
providing health and social care 
be aware of the existence LGB 
groups and ‘hidden’ LGB people 

 
151



Protected 
Characteristic 

Reason for impact assessment rating Mitigation 

 

 
 

who may be older, from BME or 
working class backgrounds. 
Ensure choice is available for 
accessing particular services. 
 

Age  

 

Population data (source – ONS): The proportion of the 
population in Cumbria aged 65+ years, by district (and 
comparison with Cumbria and England & Wales averages) 
England & Wales – 17.4, Cumbria – 22.2, Allerdale – 22.3, 
Carlisle – 19.6, Copeland – 20.5, Eden – 23.8 

Between 2012 and 2017, the 65+ years population in likely to 
increase by the following in each district: Allerdale (2,600), 
Carlisle (2,200), Copeland (1,700), Eden (1,700).  

ICCs proposals aim to provide improved care within 
people’s communities, with more integrated working 
between all sectors, leading to more coordinated care. 
Particular focus on risk stratifying community should 
help in providing tailored support and escalation 
procedures, including older people who may  experience 
social isolation  
 
The reduction in public transport services may leave 
many older people susceptible to isolation this is 
particularly so in rural areas.  The ICC model may rely 
heavily on volunteers, and many of these will be older 
adults – e.g. volunteer drivers 
 

Dementia The number of people with dementia is expected 
to rise substantially as our population ages.  Over the next 5 
years, numbers of people with dementia are predicted to 
increase by 17.7%; by 2030 numbers are projected to 
increase significantly by 60.7%, from 7,721 to 12,410. 
Numbers of people with dementia in Copeland are predicted 
to increase by +63.7% by 2030.  

The proposed options have been assessed as potentially 
having a  ‘positive impact’  as more care will be offered 
closer to home with services becoming more integrated and 
patient-centred e.g. the development of frailty pathways and 
paediatric community services  

ICC proposals aim to provide 
improved care within people’s 
communities. Transforming 
community hospital sites into 
integrated health and care hubs 
with support provided into people 
homes. 

 

• Working with the Local Authority 
to develop sustainable models to 
improve connectivity of local 
communities (that covers the ICC 
footprint) 

 
• Ensure adequate and affordable 

transport options are available for 
patient, families and carers 

 

 
 

Pregnancy & 
Maternity 

 

The impact of the proposed options have been assessed as 
‘neutral’  though there is opportunity to improve in terms of 
Perinatal mental health and the possible the development of 
“maternity hubs”  as outlined in Better births. 

 

• Based on the assessment carried 
out, no mitigation required. 
Although consideration should be 
given to the interdependencies 
with Maternity options, ‘Better 
Births’ etc as outlined within the 
consultation. 

Gender 
Reassignment 

 

There is no robust data available for groups with this 
protected characteristic in Cumbria. However, GP Practice, 
Public Health and ICCs should be fully accessible to anyone 
who proposes to, starts or has completed a process to 
change his or her gender. Therefore the impact of the 
proposed options has been assessed as ‘neutral’  

• Based on the assessment carried 
out, no mitigation required. 
Although there may be scope to 
improve awareness and 
understanding of the issues within 
local health services. 

 

 
152



Protected 
Characteristic 

Reason for impact assessment rating Mitigation 

Rural 
Isolation & 
Deprivation 

 

54% of Cumbria’s residents live in rural areas compared to 
18% nationally. Of Cumbria’s districts, Allerdale and Eden 
have the greatest proportions of residents living in rural 
areas (72% and 71% respectively.  Some wards within 
Copeland and Allerdale are identified as having high levels of 
deprivation compared to the national average. 

ICC proposals aim to provide improved care within 
people’s communities. The health and wellbeing system 
also takes a more place based approach which should 
bring significant benefits to communities. However, ICC 
footprints vary significantly in size and geography. Careful 
consideration will need to be given in terms of delivering 
parity of service with some local flexibility. Transport costs 
are less affordable for those in deprived wards which may 
be a barrier to them accessing services however close they 
are. No or poor phone / broadband reception so there 
may be issues with care delivery  in people’s homes and 
not all home environments are suitable for providing care  
e.g. old house, fuel poverty, too cold. 
 
The proposed options have been assessed as potentially 
having a ‘positive impact’ for Public Health and ICC 
development. 

• Based on the assessment carried 
out, no mitigation required. 
Although thorough transparent 
consideration of the 
interdependencies with 
Community hospitals options 
should be given. 

 
• ICCs need to work with local, 

specialist organisations to 
capture their knowledge of local 
need. Careful consideration will 
need to be given in terms of 
delivering parity of service with 
some local flexibility. 

 
• To investigate a system wide 

approach to the recruitment and 
retention of care staff   

 
• Focus on improved 

Infrastructure required to 
access to services. Work with 
the Local Authority and other 
key partners   

Carers 

In 2011 more than 56,000 residents across Cumbria were 
providing unpaid care to family members, friends, 
neighbours or others because of a long-term physical or 
mental ill-health / disability or problems relating to old age. 
In addition the estimated number of young carers is around 
7,700 (Source: Carers Support Cumbria, 2014) giving an 
estimated total of 63,700. There are greater proportions of 
carers in Cumbria compared to the rest of England (11.3% 
compared to 10.2%).   

Most carers in Cumbria (around 64%) provide on average 1 
to 19 hours of care per week; 1 in 4 carers (around 23.5%) 
provide 50 or more hours.  Numbers of those providing 
unpaid care are increasing. 28% of carers in Cumbria report 
that their own activities are limited due to long-term health 
problem or disability. GPs are the main point of contact for 
most people experiencing problems with their health; it is 
also an important point of contact when identifying unpaid 
Carers and support. The development of ICCs and risk 
stratified community should enable access to more tailored 
support for carer and their families  

The impact of the proposed options has been assessed as 
‘neutral’ 

• Good community engagement 
when developing ICC’s to 
ensure that they reflect the 
needs and (as much as 
practically possible) the 
preferences of people who 
use the services, and their 
Carers. 
 

• Use the development period 
of ICC’s to develop public and 
patient participation groups.  

 
• Ensure good levels of 

knowledge regarding Carers 
Assessments for example, 
throughout the health and 
care system.  

 
 

 

 
 

4) Community Hospitals 
 

 

Community  hospitals  have  a  long  history  in  the  area  and  are  strongly  supported  by  their  local  communities  and
active League of Friends that contribute significant funds.

153



 
Community hospitals will be a significant asset in the delivery of integrated out-of-hospital care particularly in the 
context of the development of ICCs.  

Engagement involving a wide range of health and social care stakeholders makes it clear that thriving, sustainable 
community hospitals can support rural communities and provide centres for the delivery of integrated health and 
social care with facilities for diagnostics and ambulatory care. 
 
Current Position 
There are currently eight community hospitals in WNE Cumbria and an inpatient unit on the WCH site, which are 
operated by CPFT. The geographical position of the hospitals has, to a large extent, grown up based upon historical 
development rather than population health needs. Some community hospitals host minor injury and/or primary care 
assessment services as well as a range of outpatient and therapy services.  
Where community hospitals have a small number of beds, there have been significant challenges associated with 
recruitment and safe staffing levels. Some of the units are very small and often only have 1 registered nurse on duty, 
recruitment and sickness issues in small units can lead to crisis situations where no registered staff are available to 
work which results is unplanned bed closures putting pressure on the whole system. This can lead to existing staff 
working long hours, double shifts for prolonged periods of time. The CQC report in autumn 2015 highlighted that 
staff often felt isolated and vulnerable  

The cost of community hospital inpatient beds is comparatively high, with significant variation between sites ranging 
from £288- £454 per bed night (correct August 2015). Admission criteria is variable across sites, and there have been 
a number of quality and safety issues – which are a concern given the increased pressure on a depleted workforce 
who may not always have the most appropriate skill sets to provide optimum care (depending on the complexity of 
need). There is considerable variation in the condition of community hospital estates and the ongoing ability to meet 
national standards.  

 
New Models of Care 
In considering the options for community hospital inpatient beds, it has been recognised that these must be seen in 
the context of the changing needs of the population and the wider changes being considered to support safe and 
sustainable health and care services in WNE Cumbria. While community hospitals are considered primarily as having 
beds, as strengthened out of hospital care is developed, they will have a much broader role in the context of ICCs – 
acting as natural hubs to provide a focus for the delivery and co-ordination of care. 

In considering the needs of the population, a review of community hospital inpatient capacity has been undertaken, 
which suggested that WNE Cumbria currently has a significantly higher number of community hospital inpatient beds 
compared to most other areas in England. (Based on a population of 330,000, and making a presumption that the 
beds are used appropriately, the data would indicate the need for 84 community hospital beds, compared with 133 
beds currently).  

• Option 1 - Focus the future bed bases on to fewer sites within West Cumbria, Eden and Carlisle (minimum 16 
bed units) 

• Option 2 & 3  - Focus the future bed bases on to fewer sites within West Cumbria, Eden and Carlisle, with some 
specialisation (minimum 16 bed units) 

• Option 3 - Create capacity to deliver 102 community bed equivalents (such as through hospital at home model, 
commissioning capacity through nursing homes etc.). 

 

 
154



 

Option 2 
Partial Consolidation 
around 5 sites (loss of 
beds at Maryport, 
Wigton, Alston, 
Workington & 
Carlisle) 

Option 3 
Partial Consolidation 
around 5 sites (loss of 
beds at Maryport, 
Wigton, Alston, 
Carlisle & 
Cockermouth) 

 

Option 4
Consolidation round 3
sites (only beds in
Whitehaven, Penrith &
Carlisle)

Option / area       west      north      east      west      north      east      west      north      east      west       north        east

Race N N N N N N N N N N N N
Religion &
Belief N N N N N N N N N N N N

Gender N N N N N N N N N N N N

Disability - - N  - - - N - - - N - - - - - + - -

Sexual
Orientation N N N N N N N N N N N N

Age - - N - - - - N - - - N - - - - - + - -
Pregnancy &
Maternity N N N N N N N N N N N N

Gender
Reassignment N N N N N N N N N N N N

Rural Isolation - - N - - - - N - - - - N - - - - N -

-

The  remaining  options  pass  the  hurdle  criteria  and  have  been  confirmed  as  the  short  list  of  options  to  be  taken
forward for detailed appraisal. There is recognition that the opportunity of creating ‘virtual beds’ capacity will need
to be considered at a local level as the development of ICCs is progressed, and this therefore should be progressed
differentially across WNE Cumbria

For all options, the expectation is that the implementation of ICCs will strengthen out of hospital care and reduce the
need for unplanned hospital admissions and enable a significant reduction in length of stay. As a result, the financial
plans are assuming a reduction in the total number of inpatient beds across the system over time. For example, to
mitigate  the  impact  of  additional  travel  for  the  three  hospitals  without  in-patient  beds  (Alston,  Wigton  and
Maryport), we are proposing to reinvest 50% of the savings to greatly strengthen local primary and community nurse
and therapy teams aimed at supporting more people to stay in their own homes.’

Feedback from the EIA Engagement Events

The  matrix  assessment  undertaken  during  the engagement  process  primarily  changed  the  equality  impact  from a
neutral to medium impact and medium impact to a high impact, (Appendix A) recognising the strength of feeling in
communities about their local hospital. These scoring changes were considered in the desktop review and for those
relating to race, religion, belief and gender the impacts were not considered different to those of the population as a
whole and the numbers involved would be small, as result the medium impact was reduced to neutral.  The impact
for disability in east was also reduced from high impact to a medium impact, as, whilst it was recognised for the
individuals affected the impact would be significant, the numbers would be small. Option 4 for the north, shows a -/+
as it relates to a loss of community hospital in Brampton, but a new build in Carlisle.

                  Option 1
                  Minimal

Consolidation of beds
(loss of beds at
Maryport, Wigton &
Alston)

‘In  relation  to  operational  deliverability,  the  initial  judgement  regarding  suitability  of  current  community  hospital
sites for future sustainability is that:

• It would be prohibitive to expand two of the current sites to support the minimum of 16 beds (Maryport
Community Hospital and Alston Community Hospital);

• Wigton is assessed as no longer being suitable for long-term provision of inpatient beds, with minimal scope
to address current issues given the estates condition.

155



& Deprivation 
 
Carers - - N - - - - N - - - - N - - - - N - - 

Impact Assessment & Mitigation  

Protected 
Characteristic 

Reason for impact assessment rating Suggested Mitigation 

Race 

 

Compared to England & Wales, Cumbria has lower 
proportions of residents from all broad ethnic groups, 
therefore most of the proposed options for community 
hospitals are not likely to impact on health and wellbeing 
linked to ethnicity.  

It should be noted that some dementia sufferers revert back 
to original language and  people BME people living in 
predominately white British areas can face particular 
challenges in terms of accessing culturally appropriate 
services and being ‘invisible’ to providers. It should be noted 
that between 2001 and 2011, Cumbria experienced a 
greater proportional increase in numbers of residents from 
BME groups than the national average. 

As already highlighted, Gypsies and Travellers have 
significantly poorer health status and more self-reported 
symptoms of ill-health, particularly in relation to high levels 
of anxiety and stress, smoking, alcohol and drug use.  

This suggests that Gypsies and Travellers may be more likely 
to require inpatient care at a community hospital than other 
ethnic groups, however there is not enough data available to 
identify geographical areas where need may be greater. 

The proposed options have been assessed as ‘neutral’ with 
relation to race. 

• Regarding broad ethnic groups - 
No current mitigation is assessed 
as required, however advice 
from AWAZ Cumbria is 
recommended and that 
wherever possible, the ethnicity 
of patients using community 
hospitals in Cumbria is reviewed 
annually. This would allow any 
changes in ethnicity profiles to 
be identified, and service 
provision and cultural training 
for staff to be reviewed and 
amended if required. 

 

• CCG to work with the Allerdale, 
Carlisle, Copeland and Eden 
District Councils and CPFT to: 
1) identify current Gypsy and 

Traveller sites/resident 
numbers across the WNE 
Cumbria area 

2) Assess possible health need 
in relation to community 
hospitals 

3) If health need is identified, 
carry out specific 
consultation with Gypsies 
and Travellers who may be 
affected by the proposed 
options  

Religion & 
Belief 

 

In Cumbria, the reported religion held by residents in each 
district (as reported in the 2011 census) is not statistically 
different from the England averages, therefore this indicates 
that population health and wellbeing linked to religion will 
not be significantly impacted upon by the proposed changes 
to community hospitals.  

• Based on the assessment carried 
out, no mitigation required, 
although advice from AWAZ 
Cumbria is recommended. 

 

Gender 

 

The proportion of male and female residents across West, 
North and East Cumbria are equally split (no significant 
difference between population %). There is no evidence to 
suggest that Community Hospital inpatient bed usage is 
disproportionate between males and females. Therefore, 
the proposals related to community hospital beds are 

• Based on the assessment carried 
out, no mitigation required. The 
potential impact on women is 
considered in the carers section.   

 
 

 
156



Protected 
Characteristic 

Reason for impact assessment rating Suggested Mitigation 

unlikely to impact specifically on either males or females. 

It should be noted, however, that carers are 
disproportionately female  (58%) and the proposals could 
have an large impact on carers, and by implication, on 
women, so a potentially ‘neutral/medium negative impact’ 
has been indicated for West and East Cumbria 

Disability 

 

The percentage of residents in Allerdale and Copeland who 
describe their day-to-day activities as ‘limited a lot’ is 
greater than the Cumbria average (10.1% and 10.7% versus 
9.7%). Eden has a lower percentage (7.8%). 3 
neighbourhoods in West, North and East Cumbria rank 
within the 1% most deprived in the country for health and 
disability. 

As disabled people are more likely to require inpatient care, 
and find it easier to access services closer to home, options 
that reduce or exclude inpatient provision in west Cumbria 
could significantly impact on disabled groups both as 
patients and as visitors of friends and relatives. This refers to 
all the options proposed. So a potentially ‘high negative 
impact’ has been indicated. 

Lack of inpatient provision in Alston could potentially impact 
on disabled people living in the East area, both as patients 
and as visitors of friends and relatives. However the data 
suggests that the numbers would be lower than in West, so 
a potentially ‘medium negative impact’ has been indicated. 

The workshop also highlighted that the proposals could 
increase isolation of disabled people from GP, family and 
friends and would make already challenging transport 
even more challenging, and disproportionately so for 
people with some disabilities 

• Through the development of 
integrated care communities, 
provide support to residents 
with disabilities in their own 
homes and communities, in 
order to reduce the requirement 
for inpatient care in community 
hospitals 

 

• Ensure adequate and affordable 
transport options are available 
for patients with disabilities who 
need to travel further to access 
community hospital services, 
including access to parking. 

 
• Disability awareness l training for 

staff to be reviewed and 
amended if required. 

 
. 

Sexual 
Orientation 

 

There is no robust data available for groups with this 
protected characteristic in Cumbria. However community 
hospital services (both inpatient and outpatient) are 
accessible to all groups regardless of sexual orientation, 
therefore the impact of the proposed options have been 
assessed as ‘neutral’ with relation to sexual orientation.  

 

• Based on the assessment 
carried out, no mitigation 
required – although it is 
important that organisations 
commissioning and providing 
health and social care be aware 
of the existence LGB groups and 
‘hidden’ LGB people who may 
be older, from BME or working 
class backgrounds. 

Age  

 

Population data (source – ONS): The proportion of the 
population in Cumbria aged 65+ years, by district (and 
comparison with Cumbria and England & Wales averages) 
England & Wales – 17.4, Cumbria – 22.2, Allerdale – 22.3, 
Carlisle – 19.6, Copeland – 20.5, Eden – 23.8 

Between 2012 and 2017, the 65+ years population in likely 
to increase by the following in each district: Allerdale 
(2,600), Carlisle (2,200), Copeland (1,700), Eden (1,700).  

Community hospital beds are more likely to be used by 
older adults and sometimes for Respite Care, especially 
where there are co-dependent couples, to help maintain 

• It is important that any 
proposed changes to 
community hospital provision 
are mitigated against through 
the timely provision of 
community-based services, 
particularly specialist dementia 
and frail elderly support. This is 
particularly important for 
people living in West Cumbria 
and the Alston area.  

 

 
157



Protected 
Characteristic 

Reason for impact assessment rating Suggested Mitigation 

independence and living at home in the long term. 
Consideration should be given to the social impact of any 
changes in terms of access to respite, loneliness and 
isolation for older people and carers. 
 
In End of life care as the partner is likely to be older, and less 
likely to be able to travel to visit if beds further away. 

Public Transport services have been significantly reduced, 
leaving many older people isolated this is particularly so in 
rural areas.  

Dementia: Patients with dementia may be more likely to use 
community hospital inpatient beds (e.g. for respite care).  
The number of people with dementia is expected to rise 
substantially as our population ages.  Over the next 5 years, 
numbers of people with dementia are predicted to increase 
by 17.7%; by 2030 numbers are projected to increase 
significantly by 60.7%, from 7,721 to 12,410.   

Numbers of people with dementia in Copeland are predicted 
to increase by +63.7% by 2030. Therefore, any reduction in 
locally available community hospital inpatient beds is likely 
to have a significant impact on the health and wellbeing of 
the population (particularly older residents, people living 
with dementia, carers and family members). Options 1 and 
2a would improve accessibility to inpatient community 
hospital beds for older people living in Cockermouth area 
(and option 3 would see improved provision in Carlisle), 
however these options would also see reduced provision in 
more deprived areas, such as Workington and rurally 
isolated areas, such as Alston. 

The proposed options have been assessed as potentially 
having a ‘high negative impact’ in west and east Cumbria. 

• Ensure adequate and affordable 
transport options are available 
for patient, families and carers 
who need to travel further to 
access community hospital 
services, including access to 
parking. Working with the Local 
Authority to develop 
sustainable models to improve 
connectivity of local 
communities. 

 
• Investigate the potential of any 

social impact of any changes in 
terms of access to respite care, 
loneliness and isolation for 
older people. 

 
 

 

 

Pregnancy & 
Maternity 

For general pregnancy and maternity care, women are not 
more likely to use community hospital beds in Cumbria. 

• Based on the assessment 
carried out, no mitigation 
required. 

Gender 
Reassignmen
t 

 

There is no robust data available for groups with this 
protected characteristic in Cumbria. 

However, community Hospital services (both inpatient and 
outpatient) are fully accessible to anyone who proposes to, 
starts or has completed a process to change his or her 
gender. Therefore the impact of the proposed options has 
been assessed as ‘neutral’ with relation to gender 
reassignment.  

• Based on the assessment 
carried out, no mitigation 
required. 

Rural 
Isolation & 
Deprivation 

 

54% of Cumbria’s residents live in rural areas compared to 
18% nationally. Of Cumbria’s districts, Allerdale and Eden 
have the greatest proportions of residents living in rural 
areas (72% and 71% respectively. 

The proposals do have a disproportionate impact upon in 
deprived and/or rural areas. Some wards within Copeland 
and Allerdale are identified as having high levels of 
deprivation compared to the national average. 

• It is important that any 
proposed changes to 
community hospital provision 
are mitigated against through 
the timely provision of 
community-based specialist 
services that support people to 
remain at home during their 
care. This is particularly 

 
158



Protected 
Characteristic 

Reason for impact assessment rating Suggested Mitigation 

There is some evidence to suggest that people living in 
deprived areas are more likely to access community hospital 
beds at present (i.e. due to poorer lifestyles/support 
networks). Any options that involve the closure of beds in 
deprived areas have been assessed as having a potentially 
negative impact due to the additional travel (and therefore 
additional costs) of attending community hospitals further 
away. 
 
Considering the loss of rural bus services and the large % of 
residents in West and East Cumbria who live in a rural area, 
and may not have access to a car, changes to community 
hospital services could significantly impact on accessibility 
for vulnerable patients and carers and relatives. In addition 
the provision of alternative community services and care in 
rural areas  can be challenging particularly in poor weather 

The proposed options have been assessed as potentially 
having a ‘high negative impact’ in west and east Cumbria. 

 
 

important for people living in 
West Cumbria and the Alston 
area. For option 3, this also 
includes residents in the 
Brampton area. 

 
• Investigate the potential for the 

disproportionate impact on 
deprived areas. 

 
• Ensure adequate and affordable 

transport options are available 
for patient, families and carers 
who need to travel further to 
access community hospital 
services, including access to 
parking. Working with the Local 
Authority to develop 
sustainable models to improve 
connectivity of local 
communities. 
 

• ICC proposals aim to provide 
improved care within people’s 
communities. Transforming 
community hospital sites into 
integrated health and care hubs 
would further mitigate travel 
issues for people from low 
income households. 

Carers 

In 2011 more than 56,000 residents across Cumbria were 
providing unpaid care to family members, friends, 
neighbours or others because of a long-term physical or 
mental ill-health / disability or problems relating to old age. 
In addition the estimated number of young carers is around 
7,700 (Source: Carers Support Cumbria, 2014) giving an 
estimated total of 63,700. There are greater proportions of 
carers in Cumbria compared to the rest of England (11.3% 
compared to 10.2%).   

Most carers in Cumbria (around 64%) provide on average 1 
to 19 hours of care per week; 1 in 4 carers (around 23.5%) 
provide 50 or more hours.  Numbers of those providing 
unpaid care are increasing. 28% of carers in Cumbria report 
that their own activities are limited due to long-term health 
problem or disability. 

Access to local Respite Care is essential for unpaid Carers 
to maintain health and wellbeing. Carers find it easier to 
access services closer to home; options that reduce or 
exclude inpatient provision in west and east Cumbria 
could significantly impact on carers both as carers for 
others and on their own health and wellbeing. 

 
As a result the proposed options have been assessed as 
potentially having a ‘high negative impact’ in west and east 

• Ensure adequate access to 
respite care 

 

• As part of the ICC 
developments ensuring 
Carers are part of care 
planning, to ensure that 
their needs are also met 
when decisions are being 
made.  
 

 
159



Protected 
Characteristic 

Reason for impact assessment rating Suggested Mitigation 

Cumbria. 

 

 

 

5) Maternity Services 
 

For further information, please see the Maternity Services Section of ‘The Future of Healthcare in West, North and 
East Cumbria Public Consultation Document’4 

Current position  

In autumn 2014 the CCG commissioned a review of Maternity Services, by the Royal College of Obstetricians and 
Gynaecologists (RCOG). The purpose of the review was to provide independent and expert advice on the best way to 
arrange high quality, safe and sustainable maternity services in the future. The review took place in November 2014 
and reported in March 2015. The report made a number of recommendations and identified six options to address 
the ongoing issues. Of the six options only three were recommended to be taken forward subject to a detailed 
feasibility report exploring the cost, viability and risk associated with each one, considering working in very different 
ways to try and improve long term safety through different configurations and working practices of staff. As a result 
of the work to date, three possible service models are being considered and tested in terms of deliverability and 
sustainability. It is recognised that the model for maternity services must also take account of the key 
interdependencies with other key services, specifically paediatrics and anaesthetics, both of which are experiencing 
significant pressures associated with workforce availability.  

Potential models for maternity services in WNE Cumbria:  

The high-level service implications for the maternity options are summarised below. It is important to note that for 
all options, local antenatal and post-natal care will continue to be provided across WNE Cumbria.  

1) New ways of working will retain a Consultant Led Unit (CLU) at WCH with risk stratification such that women 
assessed as higher risk will be advised to have their intrapartum care at CIC. This option also proposes an 
MLU is established at WCH & CIC. Based on current estimates, between 200-300 women would be impacted 
by this change – specifically women expecting twins, with a BMI greater than 35, women who have had a 
previous section and where the expected foetal weight is over 4.5kg. If planned inductions and caesarean 
sections would have transferred this would further reduce the number of women delivering in Whitehaven 
by 30% (330). 
 

2) Partial consolidation would consolidate a single CLU at CIC, with a midwife-led unit at WCH & CIC providing 
an option for women assessed as low risk and suitable for midwife- led care. Based on current data 489 
would be advised to have consultant led care, however given the geographic distance some lower risk 
women may choose to deliver their babies at CIC. 

 
3) Full consolidation of all intrapartum care at CIC. All deliveries, other than home births would be provided at 

CIC. Based on current data this would impact on just over 1600 women a year who would receive their care 

4 http://www.wnecumbria.nhs.uk/consultation-document  

 

                                                           

160

http://www.wnecumbria.nhs.uk/consultation-document


at CIC rather than WCH. 
 

 

 
Feedback from the EIA Engagement Events 

There was some question over provision of a Special Care Baby Unit at both Carlisle and West Cumberland Hospitals 
in Option 1. For clarification Option 1 includes provision of a Special Care Baby Unit at both hospitals in the event 
that Option 1 in paediatrics is chosen. 
 
Again feedback from the group related to changing from a medium impact to a high impact for the west of the 
county due to the strength of feeling in the community relating to removing services from an area with high levels of 
deprivation.  The further desktop review made no adjustments. 
 
The desktop review identified possible positives to the north and east relating to an improvement in choice due to 
the provision of a midwife led unit and a consultant led unit, moving to -/+ for option 3 because of the possible 
impact to access and availability if all services are moved to CIC. 
 

 

 

Protected                               Option 1                                        Option 2                                       Option 3
Characteristic               New Ways of Working                 Partial Consolidation                    Full Consolidation
Option / area            west          north          east          west         north          east          west          north          east

Race N N N N N N N N N

Religion & Belief N N N N N N N N N

Gender - N N - N N -- N N

Disability - - - N - N - - - N - N - - - N - N

Sexual Orientation N N N N N N N N N

Age - N N - N N - - - N - N

Pregnancy &
Maternity - + ++ ++ - - N + N + - - - + - +

Gender
Reassignment N N N N N N N N N

Rural Isolation &
Deprivation - - N N - - N N - - N N

Carers - N N - - N N - - N N

161



 

 
 

 
Impact Assessment & Mitigation 

Protected 
Characteristic 

Reason for impact assessment rating Suggested Mitigation 

Race 

 

Compared to England & Wales, Cumbria has lower 
proportions of residents from all broad ethnic groups, 
therefore all the proposed options for Maternity 
services are not likely to impact on health and 
wellbeing linked to ethnicity. Yet we have noted that 
people from BME people living in predominately 
white British areas can face particular challenges in 
terms of accessing culturally appropriate services and 
being ‘invisible’ to providers. It should be noted that 
between 2001 and 2011, Cumbria experienced a 
greater proportional increase in numbers of residents 
from BME groups than the national average; with the 
greatest increases seen in Carlisle (+143.4%) and Eden 
(+104.1%); particularly in relation to migration from 
the eastern Europe. 

Gypsies and Travellers have significantly poorer health 
status and more self-reported symptoms of ill-health. 
This suggests that Gypsies and Travellers may be more 
likely to have higher risk births, however there is not 
enough data available to identify geographical areas 
where need may be greater 

There is need for greater awareness of cultural issues, 
specifically during pregnancy, birth and postnatal 
care. The proposed options have been assessed as 
‘neutral.’  

• Regarding broad ethnic groups - No 
current mitigation is assessed as 
required, although advice from AWAZ 
Cumbria is recommended and 
wherever possible, the ethnicity of 
patients using Maternity services in 
WNE Cumbria is reviewed annually. 
This would allow any changes in 
ethnicity profiles to be identified, and 
service provision and cultural training 
for staff to be reviewed and amended 
if required. 

 

• CCG to work with the Allerdale, 
Carlisle, Copeland and Eden District 
Councils and CPFT to: 

- identify current Gypsy and 
Traveller sites/resident numbers 
across the WNE Cumbria area 

- Assess possible health need in 
relation to Maternity services  

- If health need is identified, carry 
out specific consultation with 
Gypsies and Travellers who may 
be affected by the proposed 
options 

 

Religion & 
Belief 

 

In Cumbria, the reported religion held by residents in 
each district (as reported in the 2011 census) is not 
statistically different from the England averages, 
therefore this indicates that population health and 
wellbeing linked to religion will not be significantly 
impacted upon by the proposed changes to Maternity 
services. 

• Based on the assessment carried out, 
no mitigation required although advice 
from AWAZ Cumbria is recommended. 

 

Gender 

 

For women this is assessed in the maternity and 
pregnancy section 

For men some disproportionate impacts were 
identified including the stress of driving to hospital 
during labour and increased stress as distance 
increases. The stress of trying to juggle caring 
responsibilities partner and older children was deemed 
more of a problem as distance/travel time to place of 
birth increases. Hence the ‘negative’ score for west. 

• Consideration needs to be given to 
transport and accommodation 
solutions for family members. 

 

Disability 

 

The percentage of residents in Allerdale and Copeland 
who describe their day-to-day activities as ‘limited a 
lot’ is greater than the Cumbria average (10.1% and 
10.7% versus 9.7%). Eden has a lower percentage 

• Ensure adequate suitable transport 
options, including parking are available 
for patients with disabilities (e.g. may 
have additional equipment) who need 

 
162



Protected 
Characteristic 

Reason for impact assessment rating Suggested Mitigation 

(7.8%). 

3 neighbourhoods in West, North and East Cumbria 
rank within the 1% most deprived in the country for 
health and disability. As people with disability are 
more likely to have high risk pregnancies and find it 
easier to access services closer to home, options that 
reduce or remove provision in west Cumbria could 
significantly impact on disabled groups. Women with 
a disability may also require more support during 
labour (particularly support with communication – 
Learning disability, deaf, autistic), and arranging this 
may become more difficult if distance to services 
increases (particularly if support is provided by 
partner/family member, and there are other siblings 
to care for) 

Wheelchair access is poor at CIC – rooms are 
cramped and may be an issue for women giving 
birth and also partners/visitors. The proposed 
options have been assessed as mainly ‘negative.’ 

to travel further to access Maternity 
services. 
 

• Work with Cumbria CVS to carry out 
ongoing specific consultation with 
disability groups who may be affected 
by the proposed options. 

 
• Undertake a full assessment of the 

limitations of access to  CIC for people 
with disabilities and explore all options 
to maximise ease of access for people 
with disabilities 

 
• Ensure Accessible Information 

Standard is used to highlight and 
individual’s specific communication 
needs. Disability awareness training for 
staff to be reviewed and amended if 
required. 

Sexual 
Orientation 

 

There is no robust data available for groups with this 
protected characteristic.  Although national research 
suggests that there is discrimination against women in 
same sex relationships. Consideration should also be 
given that there may be risks associated with 
pregnancy in lesbian couples – e.g. higher likelihood 
of IVF 

• Based on the assessment carried out, 
no mitigation required – although it is 
important that commissioners and 
providers of health and social care 
consider the needs of LGB groups. 

Age  

 

Evidence suggests that older women are more likely 
to have complications and pregnancy risks are higher 
for mothers age 35 and older. The Table below shows 
the number of births in Cumbria by mother’s age 
between 2006 and2010. 

 

Allerdale and Copeland have higher teenage 
pregnancy rates (2.1%) than the national average, 
(1.5%) as result options for consolidation of Maternity 
services could significantly impact on accessibility for 
teenagers, because they are less likely to have access 
to transport, their support networks may be more 
fragile.   

The proposed options have been assessed as 
mainly ‘negative’ for west  

 

• It is important that consideration is 
given to ambulance capacity for 
maternity transfer of maternity cases 
between sites as well as transport 
solutions for appointments and 
transport and accommodation 
solution carer/family members to aid 
visiting. 

 
• Community midwives will need to be 

aware that pregnant women (and their 
families) living in West Cumbria may be 
anxious as a result of having to travel 
further to give birth (even when 
pregnancies are classified as low risk). 
Where required, community midwives 
can offer mental wellbeing advice with 
appropriate escalation plan. 
 

• Disability awareness l training for staff 
to be reviewed and amended if 
required.  

 
163



Protected 
Characteristic 

Reason for impact assessment rating Suggested Mitigation 

Pregnancy & 
Maternity 

 

All the proposals have the development of a 
Maternity Led Unit at both sites, which will potentially 
give more choice. With Option 1, the proposed 
change relates to higher risk pregnancies, specifically 
women expecting twins, with a BMI greater than 35, 
women who have had a previous section and where 
the expected foetal weight is over 4kg.  

Copeland and Allerdale have high obesity levels when 
compared to the national average. See data below: 

Excess weight in Adults - % of adults (16+ years) 
classified as overweight or obese (Source: Active 
People Survey, Sport England (PHOF) 2012-14 

• 71.4% of adults (aged 16+ years) in Copeland are 
classified as obese or overweight, worse than the 
England average of 64.6%; and ranked the 3rd 
worst (out of 39) local authority in the North 
West.   

• 68.6% of adults (aged 16+ years) in Allerdale are 
classified as obese or overweight, worse than the 
England average of 64.6%; and ranked 10th worst 
(out of 39) local authority in the North West.   

Women who are obese are more likely to have 
associated diseases and pregnancy complications and 
have higher risk pregnancies 
(source: http://www.acog.org/Patients/FAQs/Obesity-
and-Pregnancy). 

Travel time for intrapartum care is perceived as a 
significant risk, which may disrupt the normal birth 
process. 
 
Women may choose to set off from home earlier in 
labour to avoid risk of giving birth before arrival and 
as result may have an increased chance of arriving 
early in labour and being sent home. In options 1 & 2, 
it’ll be the highest/higher risk mums who have to 
travel further in labour.  

• Carry out specific ongoing 
engagement with groups who may be 
affected by the proposed options. 

 
• It is important that consideration is 

given to ambulance capacity for 
maternity transfer of maternity cases 
between sites as well as transport 
solutions for appointments and 
transport and accommodation 
solution carer/family members to aid 
visiting 

 

• Ensure adequate and affordable 
transport and accommodation options 
are available for patients, carers and 
family members who need to travel 
further. 

 

 
 

. 

Gender 
Reassignment 

There is no robust data available for groups with this 
protected characteristic in Cumbria. 

• Based on the assessment carried out, 
no mitigation required. 

Rural Isolation 
& Deprivation 

 

Considering the large % of residents in West 
Cumbria who live in a rural or deprived area 
(particularly people south of Whitehaven) and may 
not have access to a car, travel time, for intrapartum 
care is perceived as a significant risk. The cost and 
difficulty of caring for other children is also a 
consideration. The proposals have a 
disproportionate impact upon deprived communities 
in west Cumbria  
 
Tourists – do access Cumbrian maternity services, 
more likely to be doing so in high risk situation (early 
labour) and less likely to know where the best unit to 
attend is. 

 

• Consideration needs to be given to 
transport and accommodation 
solutions for Carer/family members to 
aid visiting. 

 
• Ensuring appropriate 

birthing/escalation plans are in place 
for all expectant mothers.  

 
 

 
164

http://www.acog.org/Patients/FAQs/Obesity-and-Pregnancy
http://www.acog.org/Patients/FAQs/Obesity-and-Pregnancy


Protected 
Characteristic 

Reason for impact assessment rating Suggested Mitigation 

Carers 

In 2011 there was an estimated total of 63,700 carers 
in Cumbria. There are greater proportions of carers in 
Cumbria compared to the rest of England (11.3% 
compared to 10.2%).  Fathers/Grandparents/Friends  
as carers for other children – is a  bigger commitment 
as distance to place of birth increases 

 
• Consideration needs to be given to 

transport and accommodation 
solutions for Carer/family members to 
aid visiting. 

 

 
 

6) Paediatric Services 
 

Current position  
Currently NCUHT provides paediatric assessment and inpatient services at both CIC and WCH, with 38 beds across 
the two sites (24 beds at CIC and 14 bed at WCH) operating as 16 inpatient beds and eight assessment beds from 
08.00 to 20.00 hours. The 14 beds in WCH operate as seven inpatient beds and seven assessment beds from 08.00 to 
21.00 hours; they function as a 14-bed area overnight.  
 
We are awaiting the most recent outcome of the CQC inspection for NCUHT’s paediatric services, however longer 
term sustainability issues in paediatrics have been noted as a challenge to the system for some time and the Royal 
College of Paediatrics & Child Health (RCPCH) requirements for senior assessment and emergency cover are only 
partially met on the two sites.  
 
There may by significant scope to change patterns of demand for urgent and emergency care through improved 
integrated community children’s services and encouraging and supporting self-care. 
 
New Models of Care 
The aim is to create an evidence-based, sustainable, one-team model focused on integrated services to improve 
health outcomes and patient experience for children, young people and their families.  

The changing nature of childhood illness means that fewer children require an inpatient hospital stay and those that 
do need to be admitted tend to have a shorter length of stay than in the past. Changing epidemiology also means 
there has been an increase in children with complex long term conditions and technological developments have 
enabled a children’s health service delivery model that is much more community-based and multidisciplinary.  
 
The new model reflects the fact that 37% of children admitted to hospital stay less than 12 hours and 83% stay just 
one day. (Nationally the evidence shows that up to 97% of children referred as emergencies can be safely managed 
through a Short Stay Paediatric Assessment unit (SSPAU) without needing an inpatient admission). 

The proposals focus on supporting staff to work as a single team.  Specifically:  

• An integrated clinical workforce, including a coordinated children’s nursing service that will deliver acute care 
and community-based, multidisciplinary care as close to home as possible including Cumbria’s children’s hospice 
as part of the integrated nursing team.  

• A place-based approach – ensuring that children can get care they need as close to their home as possible.  
• Working seamlessly with SSPAUs delivering rapid assessment and treatment and support for children who 

require a specialist assessment or period of observation.  
 

 
165



The short-listed options for paediatric services are as follows:  

• New ways of working would see the establishment of a 14-hour SSPAU with nurse-led low-acuity beds at WCH. 
SCBU and inpatient paediatrics would be consolidated at CIC. In relation to paediatric care, we believe that the 
establishment of consultant led paediatric assessment units at both CIC and WCH represents the optimal model 
to provide rapid, expert assessment, diagnosis, treatment and assessment.   Based on current activity, this would 
have an impact on just under 250 episodes of care each year for children in West Cumbria who may need 
consultant-led inpatient care at CIC.  

• Partial consolidation would result in all inpatient beds being consolidated at CIC, with a 14-hour SSPAU at WCH. 
Based on current activity this would have an impact on just over 300 episodes of care each year for children 
living in West Cumbria who would have their care provided at CIC.  

• Full consolidation would result in a single SSPAU at CIC, with outpatient paediatric services at WCH to include 
9am-5pm hot clinics. Based on current activity this has the potential to have an impact on over 1600 episodes of 
care each year.  

 
The table below summarises which types of services would be delivered at Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle and West 
Cumberland Hospital in each of the options described above. 

 

Feedback from the EIA Engagement Events 

The feedback from the groups related to changing from a medium impact to a high impact for the west of the county 
and the possible changes to services due to the strength of feeling in the community relating to removing services 
from an area with high levels of deprivation.  The further desktop review made no adjustments. 
 
Disability in west was changed from N (neutral) to a medium impact as the group are more likely to be considered 
complex so less likely to be seen in WCH.  Disability groups worked in partnership with the NHS to ensure the new 
build at WCH was as fully accessible, CIC is relatively poor in terms of access for people with disabilities. The further 
desktop review made no adjustments. 
 

Protected 
Characteristic 

Option 1 
New Ways of Working Partial Consolidation Full Consolidation 

 

Option 2                                      Option 2

Option / area             west          north          east          west         north        east          west         north        east
Race

N                N                N               N               N               N               N               N               N

Religion & Belief
N                N                N               N               N               N               N               N               N

Gender
N                N                N               N               N               N               N               N               N

166



Protected 
Characteristic 

Option 1 
New Ways of Working 

Option 2 
Partial Consolidation 

Option 2 
Full Consolidation 

Option / area west north east west north east west north east 
Disability 

- N N - N N - N N 

Sexual Orientation 
N N N N N N N N N 

Age 
-  + + + - + + - - - - 

Pregnancy & 
Maternity 

 
- 

 
N 

 
N 

 
- 

 
N 

 
N 

 
- - 

 
N 

 
N 

Gender 
Reassignment 

 
N 

 
N 

 
N 

 
N 

 
N 

 
N 

 
N 

 
N 

 
N 

Rural Isolation & 
Deprivation - N N - N N -- N N 

  Carers 

 

- N N - N N - - - N - N   

 

Impact Assessment & Mitigation 

Protected 
Characteristic 

Reason for impact assessment rating Suggested Mitigation 

Race 

 

Compared to England & Wales, Cumbria has lower 
proportions of residents from all broad ethnic 
groups, therefore all the proposed options for 
paediatric services are not likely to impact on health 
and wellbeing linked to ethnicity. Yet we have noted 
that people from BME groups living in 
predominately white British areas can face 
particular challenges in terms of accessing culturally 
appropriate services and being ‘invisible’ to 
providers. It should be noted that between 2001 
and 2011, Cumbria experienced a greater 
proportional increase in numbers of residents from 
BME groups than the national average; with the 
greatest increases seen in Carlisle (+143.4%) and 
Eden (+104.1%); particularly in relation to migration 
from the eastern Europe. 

As a result children may also be on different 
immunization schedule and maybe less likely to 
registered with GP (due to lack of knowledge of 
system, language difficulties, etc.) Refugees may 
initially need more access to services, for treatment 
and follow-up. 

Gypsy and Traveller children are likely to need 
greater access to paediatric care as they have lower 
immunisation levels and are less likely to be 
registered with a GP Practice.   

However in all the above cases numbers are likely to 
be small and as a result the proposed options have 
been assessed as ‘neutral.’ 

• Regarding broad ethnic groups - No 
current mitigation is assessed as 
required, however it is 
recommended that advice from 
AWAZ Cumbria is sought and 
wherever possible, the ethnicity of 
patients using Paediatric services in 
Cumbria is reviewed annually. This 
would allow an understanding of 
ethnicity profiles to be identified, 
and service provision and cultural 
training for staff to be reviewed and 
amended if required enabling 
identification & education by 
community teams 

 

• CCG to work with the Allerdale, Carlisle, 
Copeland and Eden District Councils and 
CPFT to: 
- identify current Gypsy and Traveller 

sites/resident numbers across the 
WNE Cumbria area and assess 
possible health need in relation to 
Paediatric services  

 

 

Religion & In Cumbria, the reported religion held by residents • Based on the assessment carried out, no

167



Protected 
Characteristic 

Reason for impact assessment rating Suggested Mitigation 

Belief 

 

in each district (as reported in the 2011 census) is 
not statistically different from the England averages, 
therefore this indicates that population health and 
wellbeing linked to religion will not be significantly 
impacted upon by the proposed changes to 
Paediatric services. 

mitigation required, although advice 
from AWAZ Cumbria is recommended. 

Gender 

 

There is limited information regarding the ratio of 
boys to girls accessing paediatric services across 
Cumbria.  However, in 2012/13, males accounted 
for 58% of children’s and 62% of young people’s 
attendances to A&E. 

In addition as women, are the primary carer for 
children in most families, they are more likely to 
be more affected by increased journey lengths, 
and consequent difficulties with juggling other 
commitments (work, other children, caring for 
older relatives). 
 
However in all the above cases the numbers are 
likely to be small as a result the proposed options 
have been assessed as ‘neutral.’ 

• Based on the assessment carried out, no 
mitigation required, although further 
work to identify causes for A&E 
admission in children in Cumbria should 
be carried out, and actions to help 
prevent admissions prioritised across 
primary care, public health and early 
help (e.g. accident prevention advice and 
promotion of self-care).  
 

• Consideration needs to be given to 
transport and accommodation solutions 
for family members. 

 

Disability 

 

Evidence shows that Copeland and Allerdale do not 
have a higher than average % of children 0-19 with 
‘long-term health problems or disability/activities 
limited’ 

There is no robust evidence to indicate that families 
with disabled children are more likely to access 
paediatric A&E, than families with children who do 
not have disabilities. However the literature 
suggests that families with disabled children might 
actually avoid taking them to A&E, due to a 
perception that the staff may not understand the 
needs of the child. The development of the SSPAU 
on both could be an opportunity to improve 
awareness and relationships. 

Parents with disabilities may find it more challenging 
to travel longer distances for inpatient care, 
especially if they do not own their own transport. 

The proposals have a greater impact on younger 
disabled people (including those who are 
temporarily disabled as part of their medical 
condition) in west Cumbria. Hence the medium 
negative impact score for west Cumbria.   

• Ensure adequate suitable transport 
options, including parking are available 
for patients with disabilities who need to 
travel further to access Paediatric 
services. 
 

• Consideration needs to be given to 
transport and accommodation solutions 
for family members. 

 

• Undertake a full assessment of the 
limitations of access to  CIC for people 
with disabilities and explore all options 
to maximise ease of access for people 
with disabilities 

 
• Raise awareness of disability with staff in 

the proposed SSPAU  
 
• Improved education/support for “self” 

(parent if younger) management 
   
 

 
Sexual 
Orientation 

There is no robust data available for groups with this 
protected characteristic.  

• Based on the assessment carried out, no 
mitigation required  

Age  

 

During 2014/15 there were over 16,000 A&E 
attendances by children aged 0-18 years at WNE 
Cumbria hospitals, 45 children per day (60% at CIC 
and 40% at WCH).  The rate of attendance varies 
considerably across localities: 780 attendances for 
children on practice lists in Eden; 3975 for those in 

• Based on the assessment carried out 
further work to identify causes for A&E 
admission in children in Cumbria should 
be carried out, and actions to help 
prevent admissions should be 
prioritised across primary care, public 

 
168



Protected 
Characteristic 

Reason for impact assessment rating Suggested Mitigation 

Copeland; 3995 for those in Allerdale; and 6108 in 
Carlisle. This suggests that those living closest to an 
acute hospital have the highest attendance rate. 
86% of children attending A&E are discharged home 
without admission. 

Options that involve consolidating paediatric 
services to CIC, may impact on children and families 
living in the Allerdale and Copeland districts e.g. if a 
child requires urgent care during the night, the 
family may  need to take the child to Carlisle, which 
would mean a longer distance to travel and a longer 
time period before accessing services. Hence the 
negative score for west. The negative score for east 
and north relates to potential impact on assess and 
capacity for people in North and East should 
services be consolidated to CIC.  

However the development of the SSPAU at both 
sites in Option 1 & 2 is seen as having a positive 
impact. 

health and early help (e.g. accident 
prevention advice and promotion of 
self-care). 
 

• It is important that consideration is 
given to ambulance capacity for transfer 
of paediatric cases between sites and 
transport and accommodation solution 
carer/family members to aid visiting 

 

• Nationally the evidence shows that up to 
97% of children referred as emergencies 
can be safely managed through a SSPAU 
without needing an inpatient admission. 
Therefore options that include SSPAU 
provision at WCH are preferable to those 
that do not. 

Pregnancy & 
Maternity 

 

All the options propose consolidating SCBU to CIC. 
As this service is used by the youngest of children, 
all the proposals could potentially have a negative 
impact on the very young (e.g. premature babies) 
and their families resident in West Cumbria e.g. 
longer distances to travel could create anxiety 
amongst family members,  increased travel distance 
makes successful breastfeeding less likely. 

There are two rooms for parents to stay on SCBU. 
Maternity can also help accommodate and Parents 
are encouraged to say on children’s ward. 

All options propose consolidating SCBU to CIC this 
will have a disproportionate impact of children 
and families west hence the negative impact 
score for west Cumbria.   

• A thorough analysis of the risks involved 
in having no SCBU facility at WCH needs 
to be carried out and the findings used to 
support additional consultation with 
stakeholders, the public and 
representative groups in order to 
identify the best possible service 
configuration in the future. 
 

• Ensure there are adequate transport 
and accommodation solutions to enable 
carer/family members to stay close by. 

 

• Ensure all relevant maternal care 
pathways are updated and tested to 
ensure that they maintain optimal levels 
of care for babies who require SCBU and 
whose families would have used the 
service at WCH if it was still present. 

Gender 
Reassignment 

There is no robust data available for groups with this 
protected characteristic in Cumbria 

• Based on the assessment carried out, no 
mitigation required. 

Rural Isolation 
& Deprivation 

 

Considering the large % of residents in West 
Cumbria who live in a rural or deprived area and 
may not have access to a car, travel time for 
children requiring paediatric services is a risk, 
especially for families living in West Cumbria.  

Levels of child poverty are below the national 
average across West, North and East Cumbria. 
However, there are notable pockets of child poverty 
e.g. Sandwith ward in Copeland (42.2%); and Moss 
Bay ward in Allerdale (33.6%). As children from 
deprived areas are more likely to access paediatric 
services, any consolidation of services to CIC (from 

 
• Consideration needs to be given to 

transport and accommodation solutions 
for Carer/family members to aid visiting.  
 

• Consider providing additional resources 
to support health improvement work (for 
0-19 year olds and their families) through 
primary care, public health and early 
help in Workington and Whitehaven. 
Including GPs who specialise in general 
paediatrics  

 
169



Protected 
Characteristic 

Reason for impact assessment rating Suggested Mitigation 

WCH) may have a negative impact on families in 
parts of Whitehaven and Workington, due to 
reduced accessibility, particularly out of hours. 
(Source: Child Poverty Needs Assessment (February 
2014 update), Cumbria Intelligence Observatory) 

There is concern that safeguarding issues might 
be missed if travelling further and seeing a wider 
range of staff. 

 
All options will have a disproportionate impact 
of children and families in the west who live 
further away, in deprived communities. Hence 
the negative impact score for west Cumbria.   
 

 
. 

 

 

Carers 

In 2011 there was an estimated total of 63,700 
carers in Cumbria. There are greater proportions of 
carers in Cumbria compared to the rest of England 
(11.3% compared to 10.2%).  The centralisation of 
services has a greater impact on carers/parent carers 
and greater expectations on them to travel to 
provide support and may impact on continuity of 
care. 

Hence the negative score for west. The negative 
score for east and north relates to  potential impact 
on assess and capacity for people in North and East 
should services be consolidated to CIC 

• Consideration needs to be given to 
transport and accommodation solutions 
for Carer/family members to aid visiting. 
 

 

Other Secondary Care Services 

In the first EIA Emergency & Acute Care covered a range of services that were, during the process, separated out.  
The services are now covered under the following headings: 

• Emergency and Acute Care 
• Urgent Care, Trauma and Orthopaedics 
• Hyper Acute Stroke Services 

 

 

7) Emergency & Acute Care
Current Position

Acute services at Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle and West Cumberland Hospital face serious challenges for a number
of  reasons.  Providing  care  across  two  sites  stretches  available  staffing  and  is  expensive,  particularly  because  it
requires more doctors to run two sets of  emergency rotas. Small teams and low volumes of  activity on each site
make  roles  less  attractive  and  skills  difficult  to  maintain.  There  are  also  difficulties  providing  the  right  sort  of
supervision and training for junior staff. The challenges are made more difficult by the fact that health regulation,
professional standards and the expectations of the Royal Colleges are becoming more exacting.

Currently  the  middle  tier  of   acute  medicine  doctors  working  overnight  are  ALL  locums  and  just  3  of   the  11
consultants  slots  are  filled  by  permanent  staff.  The  geographical  location  of  West,  North  and  East  Cumbria  is  a
challenge to recruitment and retention, as is professional isolation. Health Education North East forecasts that the
current recruitment issues are likely to continue into the future.

170



 
In 2015 the Care Quality Commission judged general medical services at West Cumberland Hospital to be 
inadequate. This was largely due to the workforce difficulties and the lack of a plan to address these. 
 
The hospitals in West, North and East Cumbria are facing rising levels of activity. A&E attendances have risen almost 
10% over the past four years and emergency admissions have risen 20%. In 2014/15, the number of A&E 
attendances resulting in admission was more than 43%, compared to a national average of under 25%. 
 
There are workforce gaps on both sites in A&E and emergency medicine (40% staff vacancies in total) but these are 
most severe at West Cumberland Hospital. 

 
 New Models of Care  

Health and care organisations in West, North and East Cumbria agree the need to develop the two acute hospitals in 
Carlisle and Whitehaven in ways which comply with national standards for the best clinical care, seven days a week. 
During the process of developing ideas for improved services at these hospitals, it was agreed that certain core services 
should remain on both sites, specifically: 
• 24/7 urgent care services providing walk-in minor illness and minor injury services 
• Elective surgical care 
• Full outpatient services 
• Comprehensive diagnostic services 
• The necessary services to support inpatient and outpatient activity 

 
Option 1 involves a 24/7 A&E at Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle along with acute medical inpatient services, including 
for the most complex cases. There would be assessment and inpatient beds for the frail elderly, as well as specialist 
rehabilitation. The number of intensive care beds currently on site would increase slightly, as would the number of 
emergency assessment unit beds. There would also be a 24/7 A&E at West Cumberland Hospital along with acute 
medical inpatient services and rehabilitation. There would also be a small intensive care unit but some of the most 
seriously ill patients would be transferred to Carlisle if it was felt they would benefit from the extra support available 
there. 
 
Option 2 involves a 24/7 A&E at Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle and acute medical inpatient services with extra 
capacity at night and for more complex cases. There would be assessment and inpatient beds for the frail elderly, as 
well as specialist rehabilitation. The number of inpatient beds and intensive care beds would increase, as would the 
number of emergency assessment unit beds. At West Cumberland Hospital there would be a daytime only A&E 
service and a 24/7 urgent care centre which would see patients overnight with less serious injuries and conditions. 
Selected patients would be admitted by emergency ambulance and through referral from their GP during the day. 
There would be no intensive care unit at Whitehaven but there would be support from specialist clinicians for any 
very sick patients in order to provide immediate care prior to transfer. There would a number of assessment and in-
patient beds including beds for the frail elderly who are medically stable and for rehabilitation. 
 

 

Option 3 involves a significantly expanded 24/7 A&E at Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle equipped to care for all West,
North  and  East  Cumbria  patients  brought  in  by  emergency  ambulance.  It  would  also  care  for  the  majority  of  GP
referrals. The number of emergency assessment unit, inpatient, and intensive care beds would increase to manage
all  acutely  ill  patients  in  this  area.  There  would  also  be  inpatient  beds  for  the  frail  elderly,  as  well  as  specialist
rehabilitation. At West Cumberland Hospital there would be no A&E unit and no intensive care unit but there would
be  a  24/7  urgent care centre  which would  see  patients  with  less  serious  injuries  and  conditions.  The  urgent  care
centre and outpatient services for those not requiring admission would be supported by specialist clinicians in the
daytime  but  there  would  be  no  overnight  care  for  acutely  unwell  patients.  Medically  stable  frail  elderly  patients

171



could be admitted as inpatients, and there would also be assessment services for the frail elderly along with 
rehabilitation beds. This option would also require more paramedics and ambulances. 
 
The table below summarises which types of services will be delivered at Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle (CIC) and 
West Cumberland Hospital (WCH) under each of the emergency and acute care options.  

 

Feedback from the EIA Engagement Events 

Feedback from the events was for services to be maintained at the highest level possible. In line with the desktop 
review it was considered that the nature of accident and emergency treatment would not have specific impact on 
race/religion, gender, sexual orientation so is largely neutral. Full consolidation was felt to have a medium negative 
effect on East and North and high negative for west for disability because of capacity issues at CIC and the better 
disabled facilities at WCH. Similar impacts were felt in age, carers and rurality as more patients will have to travel 
and there would be a greater burden on individual and families.  The further desktop review made no adjustments. 

Protected 
Characteristic 

Emergency & Acute 
Option 1 

Emergency & Acute 
Option 2 

 

Emergency & Acute 
Option 3 

 

 

Option / area            west          north          east          west         north          east          west          north          east

Race N N N N N N N N N

Religion & Belief N N N N N N N N N

Gender N N N N N N N N N

Disability - N N N - - N N - - - -

Sexual Orientation N N N N N N N N N

Age - N N N - - N N - - - N - N

Pregnancy &
Maternity N N N N N N N N N

Gender N N N N N N N N N

172



Protected 
Characteristic 

Emergency & Acute 
Option 1 

Emergency & Acute 
Option 2 

 

Emergency & Acute 
Option 3 

 
Option / area west north east west north east west north east 

Reassignment 

Rural Isolation & 
Deprivation - N N N - - N N - - - N - N 

Carers  - N N N - - N N - - - N - N 

 

Impact Assessment & Mitigation 

Protected 
Characteristic 

Reason for impact assessment rating Mitigation 

Race 

 

Compared to England & Wales, Cumbria has lower 
proportions of residents from all broad ethnic 
groups, therefore all the proposed options for 
Emergency & Acute services are not likely to impact 
on health and wellbeing linked to ethnicity.  

Yet we have noted that people from BME groups 
living in predominately white British areas can face 
particular challenges in terms of accessing culturally 
appropriate services and being ‘invisible’ to 
providers. It should be noted that between 2001 
and 2011, Cumbria experienced a greater 
proportional increase in numbers of residents from 
BME groups than the national average; with the 
greatest increases seen in Carlisle (+143.4%) and 
Eden (+104.1%); particularly in relation to migration 
from the eastern Europe 

As already highlighted, Gypsies and Travellers have 
significantly poorer health status and more self-
reported symptoms of ill-health, particularly in 
relation to high levels of anxiety and stress, 
smoking, alcohol and drug use. 

(source:http://www.cumbriaobservatory.org.uk/elib
rary/Content/Internet/536/671/4674/5359/5360/4
0723111743.pdf) This suggests that Gypsies and 
Travellers may be more likely to require Emergency 
& Acute Services than other ethnic groups, however 
there is not enough data available to identify 
geographical areas where need may be greater. 

There was a suggestion that for Jehovah’s 
Witnesses, longer travel distance to A&E may mean 
patients arrive in worse condition, and so be more 
likely to be considered to need blood transfusion on 
arrival. However there is insufficient evidence 
available to support that assumption. 

The proposed options have been assessed as 
‘neutral’  

• Regarding broad ethnic groups - No 
current mitigation is assessed as 
required, although advice from AWAZ 
Cumbria is recommended and wherever 
possible, the ethnicity of patients using 
Emergency & Acute services in Cumbria 
is reviewed annually. This would allow 
any changes in ethnicity profiles to be 
identified, and service provision and 
cultural training for staff to be reviewed 
and amended if required. 

 

• CCG to work with the Allerdale, Carlisle, 
Copeland and Eden District Councils and 
CPFT to: 

- identify current Gypsy and Traveller 
sites/resident numbers across the WNE 
Cumbria area 

- Assess possible health need in relation to 
Paediatric services  

- If health need is identified, carry out 
specific consultation with Gypsies and 
Travellers who may be affected by the 
proposed options 

 
173

http://www.cumbriaobservatory.org.uk/elibrary/Content/Internet/536/671/4674/5359/5360/40723111743.pdf
http://www.cumbriaobservatory.org.uk/elibrary/Content/Internet/536/671/4674/5359/5360/40723111743.pdf
http://www.cumbriaobservatory.org.uk/elibrary/Content/Internet/536/671/4674/5359/5360/40723111743.pdf


Protected 
Characteristic 

Reason for impact assessment rating Mitigation 

Religion & 
Belief 

 

In Cumbria, the reported religion held by residents 
in each district (as reported in the 2011 census) is 
not statistically different from the England averages, 
therefore this indicates that population health and 
wellbeing linked to religion will not be significantly 
impacted upon by the proposed changes to 
Emergency & Acute Services. 

The proposed options have been assessed as 
‘neutral’  

• Based on the assessment carried out, no 
mitigation required, although advice 
from AWAZ Cumbria is recommended 

Gender 

 

The proportion of male and female residents across 
West, North and East Cumbria are equally split (no 
significant difference between population %). There 
is no evidence to suggest that men are more likely 
to attend A&E than women, but they are more likely 
to suffer injuries resulting from accidents e.g. farm, 
sports and road traffic accidents. However numbers 
are small. As a result it is not anticipated changes 
proposed will disproportionately affect males or 
females.  

The proposed options have been assessed as 
‘neutral’  

• Based on the assessment carried out, no 
mitigation required. 

Disability 

 

The percentage of residents in Allerdale and 
Copeland who describe their day-to-day activities as 
‘limited a lot’ is greater than the Cumbria average 
(10.1% and 10.7% versus 9.7%). Eden has a lower 
percentage (7.8%). 3 neighbourhoods in West, 
North and East Cumbria rank within the 1% most 
deprived in the country for health and disability: 
these neighbourhoods are in Harbour (Copeland), 
Moss Bay (Allerdale), and Sandwith (Copeland) 
wards. 

As disabled people are more likely to require 
Emergency & Acute Services, and find it easier to 
access services closer to home, both as patients and 
as visitors of friends and relatives options that 
reduce or exclude provision in west Cumbria could 
significantly impact on disabled groups. This refers 
to all the options proposed.  

Wheelchair access is poor at CIC compared to 
WCH. WCH was designed in conjunction with 
disabled people. People with disabilities have 
suggested they may not feel their conditions are 
fully understood, within the context of their 
disability and this may be increased if they are not 
able to go to familiar points of contact. 
 
Options that do not include A&E or ICU provision 
could potentially impact on disabled people living in 
the west, although these numbers are likely to be 
small. 
 
The proposed options have been assessed as having 

• Through the development of integrated 
care communities, provide support to 
residents with disabilities in their own 
homes and communities, in order to 
reduce the requirement for Emergency & 
Acute Services admissions 
 

• Ensure adequate and affordable 
transport options are available for 
patients with disabilities who need to 
travel further to access Emergency & 
Acute Services. 

 
• Undertake a full assessment of the 

limitations of access to CIC for people 
with disabilities and explore all options 
to maximise ease of access for people 
with disabilities. 

 
174



Protected 
Characteristic 

Reason for impact assessment rating Mitigation 

a ‘medium to high’ impact for people with 
disabilities in west. Option 3  having a ‘medium to 
high’ impact in west, north and east Cumbria 

Sexual 
Orientation 

 

There is no robust data available for groups with this 
protected characteristic. Emergency & Acute 
Services are accessible to all groups regardless of 
sexual orientation, therefore the impact of the 
proposed options have been assessed as ‘neutral’ 
with relation to sexual orientation.  

 

• Based on the assessment carried out, no 
mitigation required – although it is 
important that organisations 
commissioning and providing health and 
social care be aware of the existence 
LGB groups and ‘hidden’ LGB people 
who may be older, from BME or working 
class backgrounds. 

Age  

 

Between 2008/09 – 2012/13 the rate of emergency 
hospital admission (all causes) across Copeland and 
Allerdale was significantly lower than the England 
average, however rates for CHD, stroke and MI were 
significantly higher than the England average (COPD 
– no significant difference).  

Between 2012 and 2017, the 65+ years population is 
likely to increase by the following in each district: 
Allerdale (2,600), Carlisle (2,200), Copeland (1,700), 
Eden (1,700). The number of people affected by age 
related conditions including dementia is predicted 
to increase significantly and this cohort of patients 
are also more likely to utilise Emergency & Acute 
Services. A reduction in locally available Emergency 
& Acute Services and consolidation of A&E is likely 
to have a significant impact on the health and 
wellbeing of the population (particularly older 
residents, carers and family members) including 
non-attendance and increased use of 999.  

The proposed options have been assessed as having 
a ‘medium to high’ impact for older people in west. 
Option 3  having a ‘high to neutral/medium’ impact 
in west, north and east Cumbria 

• It is important that any proposed 
changes to Emergency & Acute Services 
are mitigated against through the timely 
provision of enhanced community-
based services. Including care plans and 
escalation procedures. This is 
particularly important for people living 
in West Cumbria.  

 
• It is important that consideration is 

given to ambulance capacity for the 
transfer of patients between sites as 
transport solutions for Carer/family 
members to aid visiting. 

 
• Discharge planning that proactively 

takes into consideration transport issues 
and support to get people home. 

 
 

Pregnancy & 
Maternity 

 

Women are not likely to access Emergency & Acute 
Services for general pregnancy and maternity care. 
Most women will go directly to community 
midwives or hospital-based maternity units. 

However in a small number of cases women may 
use A&E as their first point of contact for unusual 
events during pregnancy – e.g. baby stops moving, 
or vaginal bleeding or as result of an unidentified 
pregnancy or unstable ectopic pregnancy. 
 
The proposed options have been assessed as 
‘neutral’  

• Based on the assessment carried out, no 
mitigation required.  Although 
consideration will need to be given to 
the Centre for Research in Midwifery & 
Childbirth recommendation – all 
pregnant women who attend A&E (for 
any reason, not just pregnancy issues) 
should be screened by a maternity 
specialist. 

 

Gender 
Reassignment 

 

There is no robust data available for groups with this 
protected characteristic in Cumbria. However, 
Emergency & Acute Services are fully accessible to 
anyone who proposes to, starts or has completed a 
process to change his or her gender. Therefore the 

• Based on the assessment carried out, no 
mitigation required. 

 
175



Protected 
Characteristic 

Reason for impact assessment rating Mitigation 

impact of the proposed options has been assessed 
as ‘neutral’ with relation to gender reassignment.  

Rural Isolation 
& Deprivation 

 

54% of Cumbria’s residents live in rural areas 
compared to 18% nationally. Considering the loss of 
rural bus services and the large % of residents in 
West Cumbria who live in a rural area and may not 
have access to a car, changes to Emergency & Acute 
Services  could significantly impact on accessibility 
for vulnerable patients,  carers and relatives. Some 
wards within Copeland and Allerdale are identified as 
having high levels of deprivation compared to the 
national average. There is some evidence to suggest 
that people living in deprived areas are more likely to 
access acute services (i.e. due to poorer lifestyles).  
Consolidation of A&E could result in non-attendance 
or increased use of 999 by those living furthest from 
the service, posing a significant risk and increased 
pressure on ambulance services. 

The proposed options have been assessed as having 
a ‘medium to high’ impact for people in west. 
Option 3  having a ‘high to neutral/medium’ impact 
in west, north and east Cumbria 

• Impact and capacity mapping for 
increased ambulance provision. 

 
• It is important that any proposed 

changes to Emergency & Acute services 
are mitigated against through the 
provision of enhanced community-
based specialist services that support 
people to remain at home when they 
are unwell and/or living with a long-
term condition. 

   

• Consideration needs to be given to 
transport and accommodation solutions 
for Carer/family members to aid visiting. 

 
• Transparency of the interdependencies of 

acute services and any likely implications 
that changes to one service might have 
on others. 

Carers 

In 2011 more than 56,000 residents across Cumbria 
were providing unpaid care to family members, 
friends, neighbours or others because of a long-term 
physical or mental ill-health / disability or problems 
relating to old age. In addition the estimated 
number of young carers is around 7,700 (Source: 
Carers Support Cumbria, 2014) giving an estimated 
total of 63,700. There are greater proportions of 
carers in Cumbria compared to the rest of England 
(11.3% compared to 10.2%).   

Most carers in Cumbria (around 64%) provide on 
average 1 to 19 hours of care per week; 1 in 4 carers 
(around 23.5%) provide 50 or more hours.  Numbers 
of those providing unpaid care are increasing. 28% 
of carers in Cumbria report that their own activities 
are limited due to long-term health problem or 
disability. 

Some wards within Copeland and Allerdale are 
identified as having high levels of deprivation 
compared to the national average. Carers find it 
easier to access services closer to home; options 
that reduce or exclude Emergency & Acute 
Services in west Cumbria could significantly 
impact on carers both as carers for others and on 
their own health and wellbeing in some of the 
county’s most deprived areas. 
 
The proposed options have been assessed as having 
a ‘medium to high’ impact for people in west. 
Option 3  having a ‘high to neutral/medium’ impact 

M 
 
• As part of the ICC developments 

ensure carers are part of care 
planning (for them or the person 
they care for)  
 

 
176



Protected 
Characteristic 

Reason for impact assessment rating Mitigation 

in west, north and east Cumbria 

 
8) Emergency Surgery, Trauma & Orthopaedics 

 
Current Position 
Currently West Cumberland Hospital provides inpatient, day case and outpatient services for planned orthopaedic 
surgery. Fracture clinics are provided five days a week by trauma consultants. Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle provides 
a similar service but with seven day a week fracture clinics. It also manages the higher risk cases for all of West, 
North and East Cumbria and it undertakes all emergency orthopaedic operations along with weekend emergency 
assessment. The previously agreed centralisation of emergency complex trauma and orthopaedic surgery at the 
Cumberland Infirmary in Carlisle took place in June 2013. The decision to cease minor trauma operations, emergency 
admissions and the on-call service at West Cumberland Hospital was made in early 2014 on safety grounds. Since 
June 2014 there have been no minor trauma operations, emergency admissions, or out of hours assessment service 
at West Cumberland Hospital. Out of hours advice to A&E staff at West Cumberland Hospital is now provided by the 
orthopaedic team based at Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle. It is also important to note that more planned 
orthopaedic operations than ever before are now taking place at West Cumberland Hospital as surgeons work across 
both hospital sites to treat as many patients as possible locally. Recently the NHS further increased the number of 
orthopaedic operations taking place in Whitehaven in order to fully utilise the state-of the-art operating theatres in 
the new hospital which opened in October 2015. 
 
Proposals for Emergency Surgery, Trauma and Orthopaedics in WNE Cumbria: 
The proposal is that that the arrangements previously made on safety grounds are now made permanent BUT with 
some further changes which allow additional emergency surgery and trauma care to take place at West Cumberland 
Hospital. Specifically  

• Additional minor trauma surgery will take place on some days each week at West Cumberland Hospital with 
any displaced planned surgery being managed in an additional weekly list at West Cumberland Hospital.  

• Some non-complex day case general surgery is returned to West Cumberland Hospital including key-hole gall 
bladder operations, surgical treatment of abscesses, and investigation of abdominal pain (with key hole 
procedure if necessary). 

• Single ‘Professional Point of Access’ communication arrangements are used to allow the referrer (often the 
patient’s GP) to discuss directly with the hospital based surgeon the best place to see and assess individual 
patients.  

• Additional outpatient fracture clinics at West Cumberland Hospital. 
 

Feedback from the EIA Engagement Events 

Feedback from the session was that because some surgery would be returning to WCH there is the potential for 
improvement in access to services closer to home, however for some very seriously ill patients it may mean 
travelling greater distances to access services. The further desktop review made no adjustments. 

 

 
177



Protected 
Characteristic 

Changes made on Safety 
Grounds February 2014 

Consultation Proposal 

Option / area west north east west north east 

Race N N N N N N 

Religion & Belief N N N N N N 

Gender N N N N N N 

Disability - N N N - N N 

Sexual Orientation N N N N N N 

Age  - N N N - /+ - /+ - /+ 

Pregnancy & 
Maternity - N N N - N N N 

Gender 
Reassignment N N N N N N 

Rural Isolation & 
Deprivation - N N - /+ - /+ - /+ 

Carers - N N N - /+ - /+ - /+ 

 

 
Impact Assessment & Mitigation 

Protected 
Characteristic 

Reason for impact assessment rating Mitigation 

Race 

 

Compared to England & Wales, Cumbria has lower 
proportions of residents from all broad ethnic groups, 
therefore the changes proposed to Emergency Surgery, 
Trauma & Orthopaedic services are not likely to impact on 
health and wellbeing linked to ethnicity. Yet we noted in the 
EIA July 2016 that people from BME groups living in 
predominately white British areas can face particular 
challenges in terms of accessing culturally appropriate 
services and being ‘invisible’ to providers. It should be noted 
that between 2001 and 2011, Cumbria experienced a greater 
proportional increase in numbers of residents from BME 
groups than the national average; with the greatest 
increases seen in Carlisle (+143.4%) and Eden (+104.1%); 
particularly in relation to migration from the eastern Europe 

Gypsies and Travellers have significantly poorer health status 
and more self-reported symptoms of ill-health, particularly in 
relation to high levels of anxiety and stress, smoking, alcohol 
and drug use. 

(source:http://www.cumbriaobservatory.org.uk/elibrary/Co
ntent/Internet/536/671/4674/5359/5360/40723111743.pdf) 
This suggests that Gypsies and Travellers may be more likely 
to require Emergency Surgery, Trauma & Orthopaedics than 
other ethnic groups, however there is not enough data 
available to identify geographical areas where need may be 

• Regarding broad ethnic groups - 
No current mitigation is assessed 
as required, although advice 
from AWAZ Cumbria is 
recommended and wherever 
possible, the ethnicity of 
patients using Emergency 
Surgery, Trauma & Orthopaedics 
in Cumbria is reviewed annually. 
This would allow any changes in 
ethnicity profiles to be 
identified, and service provision 
and cultural training for staff to 
be reviewed and amended if 
required. 
 

• CCG to work with the Allerdale, 
Carlisle, Copeland and Eden 
District Councils and CPFT to: 

- identify current Gypsy and 
Traveller sites/resident numbers 
across the WNE Cumbria area 

- Assess possible health need in 
relation to Emergency Surgery, 
Trauma & Orthopaedics 

 
178

http://www.cumbriaobservatory.org.uk/elibrary/Content/Internet/536/671/4674/5359/5360/40723111743.pdf
http://www.cumbriaobservatory.org.uk/elibrary/Content/Internet/536/671/4674/5359/5360/40723111743.pdf


Protected 
Characteristic 

Reason for impact assessment rating Mitigation 

greater. 

The proposed options have been assessed as ‘neutral’  

- If health need is identified, carry 
out specific consultation with 
Gypsies and Travellers who may 
be affected by the proposed 
options 
 

Religion & 
Belief 

 

In Cumbria, the reported religion held by residents in each 
district (as reported in the 2011 census) is not statistically 
different from the England averages, therefore this indicates 
that population health and wellbeing linked to religion will 
not be significantly impacted upon by the proposed changes  
to Emergency Surgery, Trauma & Orthopaedics. 

• Based on the assessment carried 
out, no mitigation required, 
although advice from AWAZ 
Cumbria is recommended 

Gender 

 

The proportion of male and female residents across West, 
North and East Cumbria are equally split (no significant 
difference between population %). There is no evidence to 
suggest that men are more likely to attend suffer from 
serious injury than women. As a result it is not anticipated 
changes proposed will disproportionately affect males or 
females. The proposed options have been assessed as 
‘neutral’  

• Based on the assessment carried 
out, no mitigation required. 

Disability 

 

The percentage of residents in Allerdale and Copeland who 
describe their day-to-day activities as ‘limited a lot’ is greater 
than the Cumbria average (10.1% and 10.7% versus 9.7%). 
Eden has a lower percentage (7.8%). 

3 neighbourhoods in West, North and East Cumbria rank 
within the 1% most deprived in the country for health and 
disability 

It is difficult to assess the impact of a Minor Trauma Surgery 
and non-complex day case general surgery changes to 
individuals or groups with disabilities due to the wide range 
of conditions these services cover. However it is important to 
consider any additional distance to assess services and the 
poor wheelchair access at CIC. Which is more likely to impact 
on people with disability e.g. challenges with public transport 
and the additional stress this causes. 

The proposed options have been assessed as ‘neutral’ and 
‘neutral –medium’ impact for the west 

• Through the development of 
integrated care communities, 
provide support to residents 
with disabilities in their own 
homes and communities. 
 

• Ensure adequate and affordable 
transport options are available 
for patients or carers or family 
members with disabilities who 
need to travel further. 

 
• Undertake a full assessment of 

the limitations of access to CIC 
for people with disabilities and 
explore all options to maximise 
ease of access for people with 
disabilities. 

 

Sexual 
Orientation 

 

There is no robust data available for groups with this 
protected characteristic. Emergency Surgery, Trauma & 
Orthopaedics are accessible to all groups regardless of sexual 
orientation, therefore the impact of the proposed options 
have been assessed as ‘neutral’ with relation to sexual 
orientation.  

The proposed options have been assessed as ‘neutral’  

 

• Based on the assessment 
carried out, no mitigation 
required although it is 
important that organisations 
commissioning and providing 
health and social care be aware 
of the existence LGB groups and 
‘hidden’ LGB people who may 
be older, from BME or working 
class backgrounds. 

Age  

 

Between 2012 and 2017, the 65+ years population is likely to 
increase by the following in each district: Allerdale (2,600), 
Carlisle (2,200), Copeland (1,700), Eden (1,700). The number 
of people affected by age related conditions is predicted to 
increase significantly and this cohort of patients are also 

• It is important that any 
proposed changes to 
Emergency Surgery, Trauma & 
Orthopaedic Services are 
mitigated against through the 

 
179



Protected 
Characteristic 

Reason for impact assessment rating Mitigation 

more likely to utilise Emergency Surgery, Trauma & 
Orthopaedic Services. For example hip fractures generally 
occur in elderly patients who are often frail and have other 
health problems.   

It is difficult to assess the impact of a Minor Trauma Surgery 
and non-complex day case general surgery changes to 
individuals or groups due to the wide range of conditions 
these services cover. However it is important to consider any 
additional distance to assess services which is more likely to 
impact on older people and younger people e.g. challenges 
with public transport and the additional stress this causes. 
Elderly disabled – taken further away from support networks 

Social isolation and systems not working properly. 

The proposed options have been assessed as ‘neutral’ and 
‘medium’ for west. 

timely provision of enhanced 
community-based services to 
enable them to return to their 
homes/communities.  

 
• It is important that 

consideration is given to 
ambulance capacity for the 
transfer of patients between 
sites as transport solutions for 
Carer/family members to aid 
visiting. 

 
• Early discharge planning that 

proactively takes into 
consideration transport issues 
and support to get people 
home. 

• Ensure adequate and affordable 
transport options are available 
for patients and relatives who 
need to travel further. 

Pregnancy & 
Maternity 

 

The impact of the proposed options have been assessed as 
‘neutral’ however it should be noted that If the changes 
meant that women with ectopic pregnancies or bleeding 
travelled the impact would be negative. 

• Based on the assessment 
carried out, no mitigation 
required. Although the impact 
of changes in 2014 is unknown. 

Gender 
Reassignment 

 

There is no robust data available for groups with this 
protected characteristic in Cumbria. However, Emergency 
Surgery, Trauma & Orthopaedics are fully accessible. 
Therefore the impact of the proposals has been assessed as 
‘neutral’ with relation to gender reassignment.  

• Based on the assessment 
carried out, no mitigation 
required. 

Rural 
Isolation & 
Deprivation 

 

54% of Cumbria’s residents live in rural areas compared to 
18% nationally. Injuries resulting from  accidents e.g. farm, 
sports and road traffic accidents are more likely to be 
experienced by younger men often in rural communities for 
example the rates of people killed or seriously injured on 
roads in Eden and Allerdale are significantly higher than the 
national average  at 48 per 100,000 for Eden and 50 per 
100,000 (2014). All major trauma cases are currently taken at 
CIC or transferred to a tertiary centre e.g. Newcastle.  

There is a potential negative impact that transfer times from 
rural west may be effected due to adverse weather 
conditions and road closures which may be problematic in 
the transfer for emergency trauma and orthopaedic cases. 

The current proposal to return and expand some Minor 
Trauma Surgery and non-complex day case to West 
Cumberland Hospital whilst beneficial for people with 
protected characteristics in West Cumbria may mean that 
some people from North & East may need to travel to West 
Cumbria for some complex day case general surgery. 

• It is important that any 
proposed changes to 
Emergency Surgery, Trauma & 
Orthopaedics is mitigated 
against through the provision of 
enhanced locally community-
based specialist services  

 
• Consideration needs to be given 

to transport solutions for 
Carer/family members to aid 
attending appointments and 
visiting. 

Carers 
In 2011 more than 56,000 residents across Cumbria were 
providing unpaid care to family members, friends, 
neighbours or others because of a long-term physical or 

• As part of the ICC 
developments ensure 
carers are part of care 

 
180



Protected 
Characteristic 

Reason for impact assessment rating Mitigation 

mental ill-health / disability or problems relating to old age. 
In addition the estimated number of young carers is around 
7,700 (Source: Carers Support Cumbria, 2014) giving an 
estimated total of 63,700. There are greater proportions of 
carers in Cumbria compared to the rest of England (11.3% 
compared to 10.2%).   

Most carers in Cumbria (around 64%) provide on average 1 
to 19 hours of care per week; 1 in 4 carers (around 23.5%) 
provide 50 or more hours.  Numbers of those providing 
unpaid care are increasing. 28% of carers in Cumbria report 
that their own activities are limited due to long-term health 
problem or disability. 

Because of the increased distance for those in West Cumbria 
to travel to see the person they will be/are supporting – this 
results in additional time and resource pressures on them.  

planning including 
escalation  (for them or the 
person they care for)  

. 

• Ensure ICCs include carers 
(including those who may be 
‘short term’ carers as a result of 
Emergency Surgery, Trauma & 
Orthopaedics. to mitigate the 
impact on their lives and enable 
people to ‘return to normal’ as 
speedily as possible. 

 

 

9) Hyper-Acute Stroke 
Stroke services are measured against a set of national quality standards. Whilst NCUHT has been successful in 
making some improvements, they report that they are not able to meet a number of the highest standards for stroke 
care due to limited access to stroke specialist staff and facilities and an inability to provide full services seven days a 
week on two sites. 

Nationally, the NHS is centralising immediate acute stroke care in well resourced, specialist hyper-acute stroke units 
as research suggests a centralised model of acute stroke care, in which hyper acute care is provided to all patients 
with stroke, can reduce mortality and length of hospital stay. In addition there is a national shortage in stroke 
consultants as well as workforce challenges in a number of other key areas.  

Despite great strides in improving stroke services in WNE Cumbria the view is that they are still not as good as they 
should be. The care of stroke inpatients in both Whitehaven and Carlisle is provided in clinical areas not dedicated to 
stroke, services operate for five days a week and it has proved very difficult to recruit more stroke specialists to 
extend the available service.  

Current Position 
Currently patients with suspected stroke are assessed, treated for a blood clot if necessary, and admitted for acute 
care both at West Cumberland Hospital in Whitehaven and at Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle. Patients also receive 
early rehabilitation on both sites. Patients in Carlisle can also receive early, intensive rehabilitation services that 
helps them to leave hospital more quickly and return to their own homes in order to maximise independence as 
quickly as possible after their stroke.  
 
Outside of normal working hours CT scan images for patients with suspected stroke on both sites are reviewed 
remotely as part of our ‘telestroke’ arrangements with other hospitals. 
 
Acute stroke admissions in WNE Cumbria total approximately 700 per year, with 410 in Cumberland Infirmary 
Carlisle (CIC) and 290 in West Cumberland Hospital.  Current services are reported as extremely ‘fragile’: if one 
element were to disappear (such as an individual consultant leaving), the service is at risk of collapsing. 
 

 
181



Potential models for Hyper Acute Stroke services in WNE Cumbria: 
As a result of the work to date, two possible service models are being considered and tested in terms of 
deliverability and sustainability, outlined below. Further information is contained in ‘Acute Stroke Services Briefing 
Note’ available from Healthcare for the Future consultation website 5  
 
The short-listed options for hyper acute services are as follows:  

Hyper-Acute Stroke - Option 1  Hyper-Acute Stroke - Option 2 
Option 1 would largely maintain services as 
they are now but the service would be 
enhanced by ensuring improved, early 
supported discharge in both Carlisle and 
Whitehaven 

Option 2 would see all acute stroke cases managed in a 
single hyper-acute stroke unit based at Cumberland 
Infirmary Carlisle.  Ambulances would take possible 
stroke patients direct to Carlisle.  Patients arriving at 
West Cumberland Hospital by other means would be 
transferred by ambulance to Carlisle.  On leaving the 
hyper acute stroke unit patients resident in West 
Cumbria would be transferred to acute stroke and 
rehabilitation facilities at West Cumberland Hospital if 
further hospital care was needed.  As with option 1 this 
service would be complemented by ensuring improved, 
early supported discharge in both Carlisle and 
Whitehaven. 

 
 
Feedback from the EIA Engagement Events 

Feedback from the group was that as some people form ethnic groups had a higher risk from strokes any changes 
would have a medium impact, this was considered by the desktop review but as the numbers were small, a Neutral 
impact was recorded. For disability, age, rural isolation and carers there was feedback that Option 1 had medium 
negative impact, The desktop review were of the view that given this option largely maintains services as they are 
the impact should be assessed as neutral.    
 

Protected 
Characteristic 

Option 1 Option 2 

Option / area west north east west north east 

Race N N N N N N 

Religion & Belief N N N N N N 

Gender N N N N N N 

Disability N N N - N N 

Sexual Orientation N N N N N N 

Age  N N N - + + 

Pregnancy & 
Maternity N N N N N N 

Gender 
Reassignment N N N N N N 

5 http://www.wnecumbria.nhs.uk/publications-documents/ 

 

                                                           

182



Protected 
Characteristic 

Option 1 Option 2 

Option / area west north east west north east 

Rural Isolation & 
Deprivation N N N - + + 

Carers  N N N - + + 

 

Impact Assessment & Mitigation 

Protected 
Characteristic 

Reason for impact assessment rating Mitigation 

Race 

 

Compared to England & Wales, Cumbria has lower 
proportions of residents from all broad ethnic groups, 
therefore the proposed options for to Hyper Acute Stroke 
Services are not likely to impact on health and wellbeing 
linked to ethnicity. However despite low representation it 
should be noted that Stroke rates are highest in people of 
African Caribbean descent and diabetes in the African 
Caribbean and South Asian population is much higher than in 
the white population.  

Between 2001 and 2011, Cumbria experienced a greater 
proportional increase in numbers of residents from BME 
groups than the national average; with the greatest 
increases seen in Carlisle (+143.4%) and Eden (+104.1%); 
particularly in relation to migration from the eastern Europe 

Gypsies and Travellers have significantly poorer health status 
and more self-reported symptoms of ill-health, particularly in 
relation to high levels of anxiety and stress, smoking, alcohol 
and drug use with Heart diseases and strokes causing (25%) 
of deaths6. This suggests that Gypsies and Travellers may be 
more likely to access stroke services than other ethnic 
groups, however there is not enough data available to 
identify geographical areas where need may be greater. 

The proposed options have been assessed as ‘neutral’ with 
relation to race. 

• Regarding broad ethnic groups - 
No current mitigation is assessed 
as required, although advice from 
AWAZ Cumbria and the Stroke 
Association West & North Cumbria 
is recommended and wherever 
possible, the ethnicity of patients 
using Stroke Services in Cumbria is 
reviewed annually. This would 
allow any changes in ethnicity 
profiles to be identified, and 
service provision and cultural 
training for staff to be reviewed 
and amended if required. 
 

• CCG to work with the Allerdale, 
Carlisle, Copeland and Eden 
District Councils and CPFT to: 

- identify current Gypsy and 
Traveller sites/resident numbers 
across the WNE Cumbria area 

- Assess possible health need in 
relation to Stroke Services  

- If health need is identified, carry 
out specific consultation with 
Gypsies and Travellers who may be 
affected by the proposed options 
 

Religion & 
Belief 

 

In Cumbria, the reported religion held by residents in each 
district (as reported in the 2011 census) is not statistically 
different from the England averages, this indicates that 
population health and wellbeing linked to religion will not be 
significantly impacted upon by the proposed changes to 
Hyper Acute Stroke Services. 

• Based on the assessment carried 
out, no mitigation required, 
although advice from AWAZ 
Cumbria is recommended 

Gender 

 

The proportion of male and female residents across West, 
North and East Cumbria are equally split (no significant 
difference between population %). There is no evidence to 
suggest that the changes proposed will disproportionately 
affect males or females. The proposed options have been 
assessed as ‘neutral’ with relation to race. 

• Based on the assessment carried 
out, no mitigation required. 

6

 

                                                           
 http://health.gov.ie/blog/publications/all-ireland-traveller-health-study/

183



Protected 
Characteristic 

Reason for impact assessment rating Mitigation 

Disability 

 

The percentage of residents in Allerdale and Copeland who 
describe their day-to-day activities as ‘limited a lot’ is greater 
than the Cumbria average (10.1% and 10.7% versus 9.7%). 
Eden has a lower percentage (7.8%). 3 neighbourhoods in 
West, North and East Cumbria rank within the 1% most 
deprived in the country for health and disability. 

As disabled people find it easier to access services closer to 
home, options that reduce or exclude provision could 
significantly impact on disabled groups. However there is 
strong evidence that there are improved outcomes for stroke 
patients if they have access to timely specialist stroke care.  
Ongoing care is then provided locally. 

Wheelchair access is poor at CIC compared to WCH. WCH 
was designed in conjunction with disabled people. People 
with disabilities have suggested they may not feel  their 
conditions are fully understood, within the context of their 
disability and this may be increased if they are not able to 
go to familiar points of contact  
 
The proposed options have been assessed as ‘neutral’ except 
in Option 2 for west. 

• Ensure adequate and affordable 
transport options are available for 
patients with disabilities who need 
to travel further to access Services. 

 
• Undertake a full assessment of the 

limitations of access to  CIC for 
people with disabilities and 
explore all options to maximise 
ease of access for people with 
disabilities 
 

Sexual 
Orientation 

 

There is no robust data available for groups with this 
protected characteristic. Hyper Acute Stroke Services are 
accessible to all groups regardless of sexual orientation, 
therefore the impact of the proposed options have been 
assessed as ‘neutral’ with relation to sexual orientation.  

 

• Based on the assessment carried 
out, no mitigation required – 
although it is important that 
organisations commissioning and 
providing health and social care 
be aware of the existence LGB 
groups and ‘hidden’ LGB people 
who may be older, from BME or 
working class backgrounds. 

Age  

 

Between 2012 and 2017, the 65+ years population is likely to 
increase by the following in each district: Allerdale (2,600), 
Carlisle (2,200), Copeland (1,700), Eden (1,700). The number 
of people affected by age related conditions is predicted to 
increase significantly and this cohort of patients are also 
more likely to utilise Hyper Acute Stroke Services.  

A reduction in locally available Stroke Services could have a 
significant impact on access to services from those in west 
Cumbria; however there is strong evidence that there are 
improved outcomes for stroke patients if they have access to 
timely specialist stroke care.  Ongoing care is then provided 
locally. 

Consolidation of service into a single base could improve 
outcomes for those living in East & North Cumbria. Hence 
the positive impact assessment in Option 2  

• It is important that any proposed 
changes to Stroke Services ensure 
that ongoing care is provided as 
close to home as possible.  

 
• This is particularly important for 

people living in West Cumbria.  
 

• It is important that consideration 
is given to ambulance capacity for 
the transfer of patients between 
sites and transport solutions for 
Carer/family members to aid 
visiting. 

 
• Early discharge planning that 

proactively takes into 
consideration transport issues and 
support to get people home. 

Pregnancy & 
Maternity 

The impact of the proposed options have been assessed as 
‘neutral’ however it should be noted that there is a higher 
incidence of stroke during pregnancy , 25–34 cases per 

• Based on the assessment carried 
out, no mitigation required. 
Although consideration should be 

 
184



Protected 
Characteristic 

Reason for impact assessment rating Mitigation 

 100,000 deliveries, whereas the incidence of stroke in non-
pregnant woman aged 15–44 is 11 per 100,000 women7  

The proposed options have been assessed as ‘neutral’ 

given to the interdependencies 
with Maternity options outlined 
within the consultation. 

Gender 
Reassignment 

 

There is no robust data available for groups with this 
protected characteristic in Cumbria. However, Stroke 
Services are fully accessible to anyone who proposes to, 
starts or has completed a process to change his or her 
gender. Therefore the impact of the proposed options has 
been assessed as ‘neutral’  

• Based on the assessment carried 
out, no mitigation required. 

Rural 
Isolation & 
Deprivation 

 

54% of Cumbria’s residents live in rural areas compared to 
18% nationally. There is a potentially negative impact that 
transfer times from rural west may be effected due to 
adverse weather conditions and road closures. Delayed 
access to care for these patients could potentially have long 
term consequences for patient’s recovery. Consolidation of 
service into a single base could improve accessibility and 
outcomes for those living in East & North Cumbria.   

• It is important that any proposed 
changes to Hyper Stroke services 
are mitigated against through the 
provision of Early Supported 
Discharge in both West 
Cumberland Hospital and 
Cumberland Infirmary.   

 
• Consideration needs to be given 

to transport and accommodation 
solutions for Carer/family 
members to aid visiting. 

Carers 

In 2011 more than 56,000 residents across Cumbria were 
providing unpaid care to family members, friends, 
neighbours or others because of a long-term physical or 
mental ill-health / disability or problems relating to old age. 
In addition the estimated number of young carers is around 
7,700 (Source: Carers Support Cumbria, 2014) giving an 
estimated total of 63,700. There are greater proportions of 
carers in Cumbria compared to the rest of England (11.3% 
compared to 10.2%).   

Most carers in Cumbria (around 64%) provide on average 1 
to 19 hours of care per week; 1 in 4 carers (around 23.5%) 
provide 50 or more hours.  Numbers of those providing 
unpaid care are increasing. 28% of carers in Cumbria report 
that their own activities are limited due to long-term health 
problem or disability. 

Proposals that have a positive impact on recovery will 
benefit carers.  Stroke may result in people becoming new 
carers because of the increased distance for those in West 
Cumbria to travel to see the person they will be/are 
supporting – this results in additional time and resource 
pressures on them.   

• As part of the ICC 
developments ensure carers 
are part of care planning 
including escalation  (for them 
or the person they care for)  

. 

• Ensure ICCs include carers 
(including those who may be 
‘short term’ carers as a result of 
stroke to mitigate the impact on 
their lives and enable people to 
‘return to normal’ as speedily as 
possible. 

 

  

7

 

                                                           
  James AH, Bushnell CD, Jamison MG, et al. Incidence and risk factors for stroke in pregnancy and the puerperium. Obstetrics &

Gynaecology. 2005; 106:509–516. [PubMed]

185

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/16135580


 

10) Conclusions & Recommendations 
There is potential here to reduce the barriers which marginalised groups currently experience in relation to accessing 
health care and improve the quality of care and life for people through system re-design. However, the actual impact 
will depend on how these different initiatives are implemented – it will be vital to make sure that the diverse needs 
of patients are at the very heart of this process if the potential gains for different groups are to be realised.  

Risks identified by both the desktop review and engagement with different groups have been highlighted under each 
of the protected characteristics. There are also significant potential gains for different groups and an opportunity to 
narrow inequality in the provision of heath care and in health outcomes, through providing a more person-centred 
(rather than service-lead) approach through the Integrated Care Communities. This will, however, require significant 
culture change and a clear understanding of equality and diversity must lie at the heart of that change.  

Action planning and next steps The partner organisations in WNE Cumbria are asked to review the contents and 
conclusions of this report. This EIA should be seen as part of an ongoing process to engage with representatives 
covering the protected characteristics. 

The impact of the proposed changes on the protected groups (as specified by the Public Sector Equality Duty Section 
149 of the Equality Act) have been assessed. The following table summarises the recommendations and suggested 
action plan of this assessment. 
 
Model  Recommendation 
All models of care   • Wherever possible, the ethnicity of patients accessing all services should be 

monitored with service provision and cultural training for staff to be reviewed and 
amended if required. In addition it is recommended that advice is sought form AWAZ 
Cumbria and Cumbria CVS as required. 

• Through the development of integrated care communities, explore the opportunities 
to enhance community service provision and support residents to access 
support/self-manage conditions in their own homes and communities, in order to 
reduce the requirement for hospital services. 

• Wherever possible, the Accessible Information Standard should be used to highlight 
and individuals specific communication needs.  

• The CCG should work with the Allerdale, Carlisle, Copeland and Eden District Councils 
and CPFT to assess the potential health care needs of Gypsy and Traveller Groups.  

• Explore the options for additional adequate and affordable transport and 
accommodation options for patient, families and carers who need to travel further to 
services, including access to parking.  

• Raise awareness within communities of any changes to services so families 
understand how to access the right service in the right place. 

• Investigate the opportunity and raise awareness of the need to offer more flexibility 
in appointment times to accommodate travel and patient/carer needs  

• Work with the Local Authority to develop sustainable models to improve connectivity 
of local communities e.g. technology, transport, outreach etc 

• Investigate the potential for a disproportionate impact on deprived areas. 
• Investigate the potential for a disproportionate impact on women who have the 

majority of caring responsibilities. 
• Explore opportunities to access telemedicine and telehealth services for all services 

but particularly for younger people.  
 

 

Public Health, General
• Ensure a good understanding of relevant non statutory services that may be able

Practice and ICCs to support ICC’s to be more accessible (for example working with groups that
support BME groups) by using existing networks.

• Explore options to access to translation services and information in an
understandable format across all ICC’s.

• Consider developing protocols and minimum standards for all ICC’s, to ensure

186



Model  Recommendation 
provision is in place to meet the needs of people that are from minority ethnic 
groups. 

• Explore opportunities to work with Cumbria CVS  to Recruit champions’ within ICC’s, 
Public Health provision and GP Surgeries who have greater awareness of specific 
needs, for example Dementia Champions, Mental Health Champions and Veterans 
Champions. 

• Investigate the opportunity to develop communities of interest as well as geography 
to promote wider health and well-being issues 

• Consider protocols and minimum standards for all ICC’s in terms of delivering parity 
of service within each ICC with some local flexibility. 

• Utilise opportunities for community engagement when developing ICC’s to 
ensure that they reflect the needs and (as much as practically possible) the 
preferences of people who use the services, and their carers. 

• Consider the utilisation and development of public and patient participation 
groups.  

• Explore the benefits of raising awareness of Carers Assessments  
 

Community Hospitals • Proposed changes to community hospital provision should be mitigated through the 
timely provision of community-based services, particularly specialist dementia and 
frail elderly support. This is particularly important for people living in West Cumbria 
and the Alston area 

• Promote awareness of cultural issues and identify and how to access different 
religious support for those in end of life care. 

• Investigate the potential of the social impact of changes in terms of loneliness and 
isolation for older people. 

• Investigate the requirement for access  to respite care 
• As part of the ICC developments ensure carers are part of care planning, to 

ensure that their needs are also met when decisions are being made.  
• Raise awareness within communities of any changes to services so family's 

understand how to access the right service in the right place 
 

Maternity Services • Assess ambulance capacity for maternity transfer between sites. 
• Investigate transport options cater for women with additional equipment needs, 

wheelchair, scooter.   
• Assess the limitations of access to CIC for people with disabilities and explore all 

options to maximise ease of access for people with disabilities 
• Carry out specific ongoing engagement with groups who may be affected by the 

proposed options. 
• Consider transport and accommodation solutions for Carer/family members to aid 

visiting. 
• Raise awareness within communities of any changes to services so women fully 

understand the changes to services and what it means for them to ensure they can 
make an informed. 

• Assess the preferred option for rural proofing.     
 

 

Paediatrics
•

Identify causes for A&E admissions in children and identify actions to help prevent
admissions through primary care, public health and early help initiatives (e.g.
accident prevention advice and promotion of self-care).

• Consider providing additional resources to support health improvement work (for 0-
19 year olds and their families) through primary care, public health and early help in
Workington and Whitehaven. Including GPs who specialise in general paediatrics.

• Investigate the risks involved in having no SCBU facility at WCH to inform any further
additional consultation with stakeholders, the public and representative groups to
identify the best possible service configuration in the future.

• Assess all relevant maternal care pathways to ensure that they maintain optimal
levels of care for babies who require SCBU and whose families would have used the
service at WCH if it was still present.

• Assess the limitations of access to  CIC for people with disabilities and explore all

187



Model  Recommendation 
options to maximise ease of access for people with disabilities 

• Review ambulance capacity for transfer of paediatric cases between sites. 
• Explore the opportunities to involve young people in the development of services 

including young people with protected characteristics. 
• Raise awareness within communities of any changes to services so families 

understand how to access the right service in the right place. 
 

Emergency & Acute 
Services 

• Assess how the proposed changes to Emergency & Acute Services are mitigated 
against through the timely provision of enhanced community-based services. 
Including care plans and escalation procedures. This is particularly important for 
people living in West Cumbria.  

• Consider ambulance capacity for the transfer of patients between sites as transport 
solutions for Carer/family members to aid visiting. 

• Assess the limitations of access to  CIC for people with disabilities and explore all 
options to maximise ease of access for people with disabilities 

• Explore discharge planning that proactively takes into consideration transport 
issues and support to get people home 

• Consider the CEMAC recommendation – all pregnant women who attend A&E (for 
any reason, not just pregnancy issues) should be screened by a maternity specialist. 

• Wherever possible, help people to be better informed of where to go for support 
and engagement with the frequent attenders. 

• Transparency of the interdependencies of acute services and any likely implications 
that changes to one service might have on others. 

 
Urgent Care , Trauma and 
Orthopaedics 

As above  (except bullet 5) and  
• Review how ICCs/care navigators work will include carers including those who may 

be 'short term' carers as a result of trauma to mitigate the impact on their lives and 
enable people to 'return to normal' as speedily as possible. 
 

Hyper Acute Stroke Unit As above  (except bullet 5) and  
• Review how the proposed changes to Hyper Stroke services are mitigated against 

through the provision of Early Supported Discharge in both West Cumberland 
Hospital and Cumberland Infirmary.   

• Utilise ‘lessons learned’ including  patient feedback from the development of the 
Heart Centre at CIC  

 

 
188



APPENDIX 2 
 

 
    

 
 

Name of the 
Document 

West North East Cumbria, Rapid Desktop Health Impact 
Assessment (v3) 

Date Completed February 2017 

Author Prepared by the Public Health Team as an independent professional 
assessment and does not necessarily represent County Council policy 

 
 Summary of the Document  

 
A Health Impact Assessment (HIA) is “a combination of procedures, methods and tools by 
which a policy, programme or project may be judged as to its potential effects on the health 
of a population, and the distribution of those effects within the population” (ECHP, WHO, 
1999).   There is no specific recognised framework for completing HIAs. 
 
The HIA was completed during Consultation using an agreed framework; the assessment 
took place between September 2016 and January 2017 with final minor amendments in 
February 2017. 
 
This report has attempted to methodically assess the potential health impacts of the 
Success Regime proposals, using a set of nationally recognised population health indicators. 
The assessment also takes into consideration feedback from the public consultation that 
was held between September and December 2016. 
 

 

 
 

189



Appendix 2 

 
 
 

Healthcare for the Future in 
West, North & East Cumbria  

Rapid Desktop Health Impact Assessment  
January 2017 

 

  

 
 

190



 
1. Introduction 

 
The West, North and East Cumbria (WNE) Success Regime has been established to help create the right 
conditions for high quality health and social care to develop in this area. The aim is to secure improvement by 
introducing new care models where appropriate, developing leadership capacity and capability across the 
health system and ensuring collaborative working.  
 
The vision is to position WNE Cumbria as an area recognised for its expertise in delivering integrated health and 
care for people living in rural, remote and dispersed communities. This will require services to be underpinned 
by a comprehensive approach to public health and prevention and characterised by strong clinical networks 
across health and social care within WNE Cumbria and beyond.  
 
It is clear that change is needed in order to respond to the challenges of:  
 
• An ageing population with increasingly complex needs  
• National shortages of key clinical roles  
• Meeting ever increasing external standards  
• Significant financial pressure facing all parts of the NHS and social care.  
 
The aim is to deliver more services within the community, protecting and enhancing primary care and 
strengthening out-of-hospital services, while also encouraging individuals to change their behaviour to prevent 
poor health and reduce overall demand. The implementation of Integrated Care Communities (ICCs) is seen as a 
focus for the development of community and primary care, with community hospitals playing a key part. The 
expectation is that ICCs will strengthen out of hospital care and reduce the need for unplanned hospital 
admissions. This will enable North Cumbria University Hospitals Trust (NCUHT) to focus on delivering secure, 
safe, stable, and high-performing acute hospital services.  
 
A number of options detailing how services can be delivered differently in the future have been proposed 
across the following six areas: 
 
• Maternity Services  
• Paediatric Services  
• Community Hospitals 
• Emergency and Acute Medical Care, Urgent Care, Trauma & Orthopaedics and Hyper-acute stroke Services 
 
The development of mental health services in parity to physical health services (from prevention to treatment 
and care) is also fundamental to the proposals. However as statutory consultation on the wider plans to 
transform mental health services takes place as part of a related Cumbria-wide process, it does not form part of 
this analysis.  
 
The potential for the four area options to enhance or negatively impact on health (as part of a wider impact 
assessment that also considers equality, care quality and financial efficiency) should be analysed and 
understood.  Therefore, this Health Impact Assessment (HIA) has been completed. 

 
2. Health Impact Assessment Methodology 

 
What is Health Impact Assessment (HIA)?  

A HIA is “a combination of procedures, methods and tools by which a policy, programme or project may be 
judged as to its potential effects on the health of a population, and the distribution of those effects within the 
population” (ECHP, WHO, 1999). There is no specific recognised framework for completing HIAs. 
 

 
191



The need to complete a HIA is normally determined by completing a screening process. A simple screening 
framework, when applied to the proposals confirmed that a HIA should be completed. See table 1 below. 

 
Table 1: Basic Screening Framework to assess need for HIA 

Question Answer: 
Yes/No* 

Will the proposals affect health and wellbeing in anyway? Yes 
Will there be health consequences? Yes 
Is there a trade-off to be made between good and harmful effects? Yes 
Do the proposed changes have significant financial implications? Yes 
Are people worried about the proposals? Yes 

 
There are three types of HIA; prospective, concurrent and retrospective1: In this instance, due to timescales, the aim 
was to complete a rapid, desktop prospective HIA, which considered: 
 

• A range of public health indicators of population health across the districts within West, North and East 
Cumbria. Public Health England Profiles for Allerdale, Carlisle, Copeland and Eden (published in 2016) were 
used to provide data for these indicators2. In addition, the potential impact on informal carers is also 
assessed. 

• Feedback from public consultation, which took place between September and December 2016. This 
included focus groups with protected groups. Consultation was informed by ‘The Future of Healthcare in 
West, North and East Cumbria Public Consultation Document’3

 published in September 2016  
 
The potential health impact of the options proposed for the four service areas were assessed using the following 
matrix and were broken down to West – Allerdale & Copeland, North – Carlisle Area, East – Eden, as it was 
recognised that the impact on population health may be different across these areas. The reason for impact 
assessment rating is outlined as are suggested mitigations. Wider developments proposed as part of the proposals 
(e.g. health and wellbeing (public health) and Integrated Care Communities are considered as part of these 
mitigations.  

 
High Impact Medium Impact Neutral or  

Not Applicable 
Medium Impact High Impact 

++ + N or NA - - - 

Significant 
positive impact 
on a large 
proportion of 
the population 
 

Medium positive 
impact on a large 
proportion of the 
general population 
or  
significant positive 
impact on a small 
proportion of the 
population relevant 
to the health 
indicator 

no change / no 
assessed 
significant 
impact on 
population 
health 

Medium adverse impact 
on a large proportion of 
the general population 
or  
significant adverse 
impact on a small 
proportion of the 
population relevant to 
the health indicator 
 

Significant adverse 
impact on a large 
proportion of the 
population  

 

1 http://www.who.int/hia/examples/en/HIA_londonHealth.pdf  
2

 

                                                           

http://fingertipsreports.phe.org.uk/health-profiles/2016/e07000026.pdf , http://fingertipsreports.phe.org.uk/health-
profiles/2016/e07000028.pdf , http://fingertipsreports.phe.org.uk/health-profiles/2016/e07000029.pdf ,
http://fingertipsreports.phe.org.uk/health-profiles/2016/e07000030.pdf
3 http://www.wnecumbria.nhs.uk/consultation-document

192

http://www.who.int/hia/examples/en/HIA_londonHealth.pdf
http://fingertipsreports.phe.org.uk/health-profiles/2016/e07000026.pdf
http://fingertipsreports.phe.org.uk/health-profiles/2016/e07000028.pdf
http://fingertipsreports.phe.org.uk/health-profiles/2016/e07000028.pdf
http://fingertipsreports.phe.org.uk/health-profiles/2016/e07000029.pdf
http://fingertipsreports.phe.org.uk/health-profiles/2016/e07000030.pdf
http://www.wnecumbria.nhs.uk/consultation-document


 
3. Maternity services 

 
For further information, please see the Maternity Services Section of ‘The Future of Healthcare in West, North 
and East Cumbria Public Consultation Document’4 

Current position  

In autumn 2014 the CCG commissioned a review of Maternity Services, by the Royal College of Obstetricians and 
Gynaecologists (RCOG). The purpose of the review was to provide independent and expert advice on the best 
way to arrange high quality, safe and sustainable maternity services in the future. The review took place in 
November 2014 and reported in March 2015. The report made a number of recommendations and identified six 
options to address the ongoing issues. Of the six options only three were recommended to be taken forward 
subject to a detailed feasibility report exploring the cost, viability and risk associated with each one, considering 
working in very different ways to try and improve long term safety through different configurations and working 
practices of staff. As a result of the work to date, three possible service models are being considered and tested 
in terms of deliverability and sustainability. It is recognised that the model for maternity services must also take 
account of the key interdependencies with other key services, specifically paediatrics and anaesthetics, both of 
which are experiencing significant pressures associated with workforce availability.  

Potential models for maternity services in WNE Cumbria:  

The high-level service implications for the maternity options are summarised below (see consultation document 
for more detail). It is important to note that for all options, local antenatal and post-natal care will continue to be 
provided across WNE Cumbria.  

1) New ways of working will retain a CLU at WCH with risk stratification such that women assessed as higher 
risk will be advised to have their intrapartum care at CIC. This option also proposes an MLU is established at 
WCH & CIC. Based on current estimates, between 200-300 women would be impacted by this change – 
specifically women expecting twins, with a BMI greater than 35, women who have had a previous section 
and where the expected foetal weight is over 4.5kg. If planned inductions and caesarean sections would 
have transferred this would further reduce the number of women delivering in Whitehaven by 30% (330). 
 

2) Partial consolidation would consolidate a single CLU at CIC, with a midwife-led unit at WCH & CIC providing 
an option for women assessed as low risk and suitable for midwife- led care. Based on current data 489 
births/women per year would be advised to have consultant led care, however given the geographic 
distance some lower risk women may choose to deliver their babies at CIC. 

 
3) Full consolidation of all intrapartum care at CIC. All deliveries, other than home births would be provided at 

CIC. Based on current data this would impact on just over 1600 women a year who would receive their care 
at CIC rather than WCH. 

 
Population Health Indicator No Change Option 1 

New Ways of Working 
Option 2 

Partial Consolidation 
Option 3 

Full Consolidation 
Option / area west north east west north east west north east west north east 

Ability to provide informal care N N N - N N - N N - N N 

Deprivation N N N - N N - N N - N N 

Children living in poverty N N N N N N N N N N N N 

4 http://www.wnecumbria.nhs.uk/consultation-document  

 

                                                           

193

http://www.wnecumbria.nhs.uk/consultation-document


Homelessness N N N N N N N N N N N N 

Education N N N N N N N N N N N N 

Violent Crime N N N N N N N N N N N N 

Unemployment N N N N N N N/- N N N/- N N 

Smoking N N N - N N - N N - N N 

Breastfeeding - N N + + + + + + - - - 

Obesity N N N - N N - N N - N N 

Alcohol misuse  N N N - N N - N N - N N 

Under 18 Conceptions N N N - - N - - N - - N 

Physical Activity N N N N N N N N N N N N 

Early Cancer Diagnosis N N N N N N N N N N N N 

Self-Harm N N N - N N - N N - N N 

Diabetes N N N - N N - N N - N N 

Sexually Transmitted Infections N N N N N N N N N N N N 

Hip Fractures NA NA NA NA NA NA NA NA NA NA NA NA 

Infant Mortality N N N N N N N/- N N N/- N N 

Killed and Seriously Injured on 
roads N N N/- N N N/- N N N/- N N N/- 

Suicide Rates N N N N N N N N N N N N 

Deaths from Drug Misuse N N N N N N N N N N N N 

Under 75 Mortality Rate: 
Cardiovascular and Cancer NA NA NA NA NA NA NA NA NA NA NA NA 

Excess Winter Deaths NA NA NA NA NA NA NA NA NA NA NA NA 

 
Population Health 
Issue 

Reason for impact assessment rating  Suggested Mitigation 

Ability to provide 
 informal care 

Feedback via public consultation – When women are in 
hospital giving birth, other family members may have 
increased caring responsibilities e.g. of other children or older 
parents. If women are transferred from West Cumbria to CIC 
(for complex births), the additional travel time/distance may 
cause more stress to carers. Therefore the impact in these 
instances has been assessed as potentially negative. 

Community midwives and other health 
professionals to assess possible impact on 
ability to provide informal care in situations 
where distance between birth site and home 
is deemed significant. 
Signposting to carers organisations where 
appropriate. 

 
194



Population Health 
Issue 

Reason for impact assessment rating  Suggested Mitigation 

Deprivation Some evidence to suggest that women living in deprivation 
are more likely to have complex births5. Some wards in 
Copeland and Allerdale are identified as having high levels of 
deprivation compared to the national average. Therefore, 
under options 1, 2 and 3, women from west Cumbria who live 
in poverty may be more likely to be transferred to CIC for 
intrapartum care. Whilst numbers are likely to be low, 
transport may be a cost issue in this group. They may also be 
more likely to discharge themselves earlier than 
recommended if they feel isolated from family and friends due 
to the distance between hospital and home. Therefore the 
potential impact is assessed as negative for West. 

During pre-natal care period – any 
affordability issues linked to additional travel 
to CIC should be identified. Transport options 
discussed.  

For high risk pregnancies in women identified 
as living in poverty – consider developing a 
travel plan using health-funded transport 
options. 

 

Children living in 
poverty 

The % of children living in low income families in West, 
North and East Cumbria is not significantly higher than the 
national average; therefore the impact of any changes is 
assessed as neutral. This said, it should be acknowledged 
that 4,425 children in West Cumbria live in low income 
families. For these families, transport costs as detailed above 
may be an issue. 

See box above. 

Homelessness Rates of statutory homelessness are relatively low across 
West, North and East Cumbria; therefore the number of 
homeless women giving birth is likely to be very small and 
the potential impact is assessed as neutral. 

Not applicable 

Education Rates of GCSE’s achieved are significantly lower in Copeland 
(compared to the national average). Low education levels 
are linked to poverty, which in turn, is linked to poorer birth 
outcomes. In contrast, women with high education levels 
are more likely to have babies at an older age. Older 
mothers may be more likely to have complications during 
birth. Therefore, overall, the impact of any proposals on 
education is assessed as neutral.  

Not applicable 

Violent Crime Rates of violent crime are higher than the national average 
in Copeland and Carlisle, however there are no identified 
health impacts linked to the maternity service proposals and 
violent crime and therefore the impact is assessed as 
neutral. 

Not applicable 

Unemployment Rates of long-term unemployment are significantly higher 
than the national average in Allerdale and Copeland (West 
Cumbria). Removing services from West Cumberland 
Hospital (WCH) (Whitehaven) may result in health workforce 
redundancies in the area. Whilst numbers are small, this 
would have a significant impact on the individuals affected, 
therefore the potential impact is assessed as negative for 
west. 

Workforce modelling should be carried out 
to identify the possible impact of all 
options on workforce at WCH. Support 
staff to relocate to Cumberland Infirmary 
Carlisle (CIC), or support alternative 
employment opportunities locally. 

Smoking Women who smoke during pregnancy are more likely to 
experience adverse pregnancy outcomes.  
Data collection regarding smoking status at time of delivery is 
poor in North Cumbria. Smoking prevalence in adults is not 
significantly different from the England average across all 
districts in WNE Cumbria; however we know that on average, 
1 in 5 adults smoke in Copeland. Women who smoke during 
pregnancy may be more likely to be transferred to CIC to give 
birth.  
During public consultation, people felt that travel to CIC may 
cause additional stress for pregnant women living in West 

Regardless of health impact, data 
collection regarding smoking status at time 
of delivery needs to be improved. 

Carbon Monoxide testing should be made 
a compulsory part of booking 
appointments, with signposting to stop 
smoking services offered to pregnant 
women and their partners if they smoke. 

Any pregnant women expressing anxiety 

5 E.g. http://bmjopen.bmj.com/content/2/3/e000964.full  

 

                                                           

195

http://bmjopen.bmj.com/content/2/3/e000964.full


Population Health 
Issue 

Reason for impact assessment rating  Suggested Mitigation 

Cumbria. Although there is no robust evidence to support 
the claim, this stress may result in more women smoking 
during pregnancy, or make it more difficult for women to 
stop smoking. Therefore the potential impact is assessed as 
negative for west. It should be noted that the Stop Smoking 
Service provided by pharmacies in Cumbria is not in scope to 
change as part of these proposals. 

about additional travel to CIC should have 
their smoking status checked. 

Breastfeeding Breastfeeding initiation rates in Allerdale, Carlisle and 
Copeland are lower than the national average. Data for 6-8 
week breastfeeding status is poor, so we are unable to assess 
the potential impact of proposals on breastfeeding 
continuation rates. 
There is some evidence that breastfeeding rates are higher in 
midwife-led units6, therefore any options that propose a 
midwife-led unit may support new mums to start 
breastfeeding, whilst any option that does not include MLUs 
are, by comparison, less likely to support breastfeeding. The 
impact scoring reflects this. 

Regardless of health impact, data 
collection regarding 6-8 week 
breastfeeding status needs to be 
improved. 

Trust to continue to work towards Baby 
Friendly Initiative (BFI) accreditation across 
all relevant sites. 

Breastfeeding continues to be a priority of 
the 0-19 Healthy Child Programme 

Obesity Women who are obese may be more likely to be advised to 
give birth at CIC.  
Both Allerdale and Copeland districts have rates of excess 
weight in adults significantly higher than the England 
average. Therefore women in West Cumbria with excess 
weight would have to travel further to give birth than those 
in Carlisle or Eden. 
In contrast, knowledge of greater travel distances may 
encourage women to achieve a healthy weight prior to 
conceiving, or during conception. There may be a small risk 
that concerns over travel distance may encourage unhealthy 
weight-loss attempts during pregnancy, but there is no 
evidence to support this. 
Overall the potential impact is assessed as neutral for north 
and east and negative for west. 

Primary Care professionals to consider a 
referral to the Tier 2 community weight 
management programme for women with 
excess weight wishing to conceive. 

Public Health and Obstetrics & 
Gynaecology teams to explore options for 
safely referring pregnant women to weight 
management support and build into 
maternity pathways where relevant. 

Alcohol misuse  Women who misuse alcohol during pregnancy are more 
likely to have pregnancy complications and be identified as 
‘high risk’.  
Hospital stays for alcohol-related harm are significantly 
higher than the national average in Copeland and Allerdale. 
Whilst numbers are likely to be small, the additional travel to 
CIC may be stressful and more likely to be problematic for 
pregnant women living in West Cumbria who misuse alcohol. 
Therefore the potential impact is assessed as negative for 
west.  

Continue to ensure good links between 
maternity services and the Cumbria 
Substance Misuse Service – Unity. 

Public Health Locality Managers to support 
healthy drinking behaviours through 
Health and Wellbeing Forum plans/area 
plans. 

Under 18 
Conceptions 

Young people who conceive under the age of 18 are likely to 
be identified as ‘high risk’ due to their age. In 2014, 49 15-17 
year-olds conceived in Allerdale and Copeland. 
Whilst the rates of under-18 conceptions are not significantly 
different to the national average in west Cumbria, for the 
small number of individuals living in West Cumbria, the 
additional travel to CIC may be stressful. This age group may 
not have easy access to transport (feedback from public 
consultation). 
Rates of under 18 conceptions are significantly higher than 
the national average in Carlisle. For these young people, the 
level of care they receive at CIC may be impacted on as a 

Ensure travel plans are in place (ideally as 
part of a birthing plan) for individuals who 
may not have easy access to transport. 

Review service provision to ensure that it 
can adequately support the needs of young 
people under the age of 18 who conceive 
(especially in Carlisle). 

6

 

                                                           
 E.g. https://www.rcm.org.uk/sites/default/files/Maternity%20Service%20Reconfiguration%20Wales%20A5_2.pdf

196

https://www.rcm.org.uk/sites/default/files/Maternity%20Service%20Reconfiguration%20Wales%20A5_2.pdf


Population Health 
Issue 

Reason for impact assessment rating  Suggested Mitigation 

result of the service becoming busier. Therefore the potential 
impact of the proposed changes for north and west is 
assessed as negative 

Physical Activity Rates of physical activity in adults are slightly lower in West 
Cumbria when compared to the national average, however 
not significantly so. There is no indication that the proposals 
related to maternity will negatively impact on physical 
activity levels, therefore the potential impact is assessed as 
neutral. 

Not applicable 

Early Cancer 
Diagnosis 

There is no indication to suggest that the proposals relevant 
to maternity will impact on early cancer diagnosis rates.  
Detection rates across WNE Cumbria are similar to the 
national average. 
Therefore the potential impact is assessed as neutral. 

Not applicable 

Self-Harm The rate of hospital stays due to self-harm are significantly 
higher than the national average in Copeland, Allerdale and 
Carlisle (significantly better in Eden). Examples of self-harm 
include deliberate self-poisoning using prescription 
medication, drugs or other substances and intentional injury. 
People who are at risk of self-harming are likely to be 
classified as ‘high-risk’ during pregnancy.  
Whilst the numbers are likely to be small, options that would 
result in additional travel from west Cumbria to give birth 
(and being further away from supportive friends and family 
networks) may create additional stress for vulnerable women 
during pregnancy, including those who self-harm. 
Therefore the potential impact is assessed as negative for 
west. 

Risk of self-harm should be regularly 
assessed during the pre-natal care period. 
Hospital staff who identify self-harm in 
women suspected of/confirmed as being 
pregnant should refer to mental health 
services and check patient is attending 
routine midwife appointments. 

Travel plans (ideally as part of a birthing 
plan) should be in place as soon as possible 
into pregnancy for vulnerable women. 

Diabetes Rates of recorded diabetes are significantly higher than the 
national average in all districts in WNE Cumbria. Whilst this 
may indicate that detection is better here than elsewhere, it 
can also indicate that prevalence of diabetes is greater in the 
population.  
Gestational diabetes (or pregnancy in women previously 
diagnosed as Type 1/2 diabetic) can cause pregnancy 
complications, therefore women from west Cumbria would 
have to travel further for care. Women who have gestational 
diabetes may be more anxious at the prospect of a longer 
transfer to hospital.  
Feedback from public consultation indicated public concerns 
about adverse outcomes for mother and baby in high risk 
pregnancies where travel distance was extended. 
Therefore for west, the potential impact is assessed as 
negative. 

Travel plans (ideally as part of a birthing 
plan) should be in place as soon as possible 
into pregnancy for women diagnosed with 
diabetes. This can help to reduce anxiety. 

Where appropriate, ensure eligible women 
of child-bearing age are referred to the 
Diabetes Prevention Programme. 

 

Sexually Transmitted 
Infections 

Sexually Transmitted Diseases (STIs) can cause complications 
during pregnancy (e.g. infections can be passed on to the 
baby).  
Rates of new STIs are significantly lower than the national 
average in all districts in WNE Cumbria, therefore the 
proposals for maternity are unlikely to impact on population 
sexual health and are assessed as neutral. 

Not applicable. 

Hip Fractures Profile data relevant to those over the age of 65, therefore 
indicator not applicable to maternity service options. 

Not applicable. 

Infant Mortality The most recently recorded infant mortality rates (deaths in 
infants <1 year of age per 1,000 live births) are not 
significantly different to the national average across all 
districts in WNE Cumbria. Between 2012-2014, there were 7 
recorded deaths in Copeland (3.1), 11 in Allerdale (4.0), 16 in 

Ensure any additional risks as a result of 
greater travel distances to give birth are 
assessed and mitigated against wherever 
possible. 

 
197



Population Health 
Issue 

Reason for impact assessment rating  Suggested Mitigation 

Carlisle (4.4) and 2 in Eden (1.6) – rate shown in brackets. 
England average = 4.0. 
Complications during pregnancy/birth may result in poorer 
outcomes for infants after birth. Consultation has indicated 
that public concern is high regarding the potential risk to 
mothers and babies as a result of longer travel distances 
from West Cumbria to Carlisle, especially if being transferred 
under emergency situations. 
Whilst many studies indicate that there is not a significant 
risk of adverse birth outcomes related to longer travel 
distances, ultimately this may cause anxiety to expectant 
mums and their families. Therefore the risk is assessed as N/- 
for west Cumbria for options where transfer to Carlisle is 
required. 
It is also important to note that the evidence-base for links 
between other factors (such as smoking and living in poverty) 
and adverse pregnancy/birth outcomes is stronger. 

Community midwifery and other relevant 
services such as the new Strengthening 
Families programme – encourage all 
pregnant women to attend regular/routine 
pre-natal appointments and receive 
support to stop smoking. 

 

Killed and Seriously 
Injured (KSI) on 
roads 

Rates for Killed or Seriously Injured on roads is in line with the 
national average across Allerdale, Copeland and Carlisle, 
however rates in Eden are significantly higher than the 
national average (89.3 compared to 39.3 per 100,000 of the 
population). Therefore across all the options, travel for 
pregnant women living in East Cumbria may be more 
dangerous. The actual maternity proposals themselves are 
unlikely to impact on rates of KSI in East (hence the N/- 
assessment), but acknowledging the data is deemed 
important. 

Public consultation: Concerns about the condition of the two 
main A roads between West Cumbria and Carlisle (A595 and 
A596) due to perceived number of accidents, effects of 
adverse weather conditions and volume of farm traffic. This 
data does not indicate a specific impact on health, however 
travel analysis between West Cumbria and Carlisle should 
consider different travel scenarios (sensitivity analysis)  

Travel plans (ideally as part of a birthing 
plan) should be in place as soon as possible 
into pregnancy for all pregnant women. 
Where women are particularly anxious 
about travel, different scenario planning 
should be built into travel plans. 
 
Impact of travel delays between West 
Cumbria and Carlisle should be factored 
into travel assessments. 

Suicide Rates The average rate of suicides in England between 2012-14 was 
10/100,000 population. In WNE Cumbria districts, the rates 
are as follows; Copeland (16.1), Allerdale (numbers too small 
to calculate rate), Carlisle (11.3) and Eden (numbers too small 
to calculate rate).  

The proposed changes to maternity services are unlikely to 
impact on suicide rates; therefore the impact has been 
assessed as neutral. 

Not applicable. 

Deaths from Drug 
Misuse 

Deaths due to drug misuse are low across Copeland, 
Allerdale and Eden (the rate in Carlisle is higher at 
9.6/100,000 (between 2012-2014).  
The proposed changes to maternity services are very 
unlikely to impact on the number of deaths due to drug 
misuse; therefore the impact has been assessed as neutral. 

Not applicable. 

Under 75 Mortality 
Rate: Cardiovascular 
and Cancer 

Indicator not applicable to maternity options. Not applicable. 

Excess Winter Deaths Indicator not applicable to maternity options. Not applicable 

 
198



 
Additional comment: 

It should be noted that clinical care improvements (as a result of consolidating services) may result in improved outcomes. If this 
were the case, it would help to mitigate potential impacts linked to longer travel distances, however careful planning is required 
to ensure CIC can cope with a greater number of normal/complex births. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
199



  
4. Paediatric Services 

 
Current position  
 
Currently NCUHT provides paediatric assessment and inpatient services at both CIC and WCH, with 38 beds  
across the two sites (24 beds at CIC and 14 bed at WCH) operating as 16 inpatient beds and eight assessment 
beds from 08.00 to 20.00 hours. The 14 beds in WCH operate as seven inpatient beds and seven assessment 
beds from 08.00 to 21.00 hours; they function as a 14-bed area overnight.  
 
During the CQC inspection, NCUHT’s paediatric services were rated as “good”, however longer term 
sustainability issues in paediatrics have been noted as a challenge to the system for some time and the Royal 
College of Paediatrics & Child Health (RCPCH) requirements for senior assessment and emergency cover are 
only partially met on the two sites.  
 
There may by significant scope to change patterns of demand for urgent and emergency care through improved 
integrated community children’s services and encouraging and supporting self-care.  
 
New Models of Care  
 
Please note, assessment of the preferred option only (against the current service model) has been carried out.   

Preferred Option: 

Paediatric  Option 1: This option involves the development of an inpatient paediatric unit serving West, North 
and East Cumbria based at Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle along with a short stay paediatric assessment unit. At 
West Cumberland Hospital, Whitehaven there would be a short stay paediatric assessment unit for children 
requiring short term observation and treatment. There would also be some overnight beds at Whitehaven for 
children with less acute, low risk illnesses but children who needed more acute inpatient admission would be 
transferred to Carlisle. 

 

Population Health Indicator No Change Option 1 
 

Option / area west north east west north east 
Ability to provide informal care N N N - N N 

Deprivation N N N - N N 

Children living in poverty N N N N/- N N 

Homelessness N N N N N N 

Education N N N N N N 

Violent Crime N N N - N N 

Unemployment N N N - N N 

Smoking N N N - N N 

Breastfeeding N N N N N N   

Obesity N N N - N N   

Alcohol misuse N N N -- N N   

Under 18 Conceptions N N N N N N   

Physical Activity       

 

N               N               N               N               N               N

200



Population Health Indicator No Change Option 1 
 

Option / area west north east west north east 
Early Cancer Diagnosis N N N N N N   

Self-Harm N N N -- N N   

Diabetes N N N - N N   

Sexually Transmitted Infections N N N N N N   

Hip Fractures 
 

NA NA NA NA NA NA   

Infant Mortality N N N N/- N N   

Killed and Seriously Injured on roads N N N - N N   

Suicide Rates N N N N N N   

Deaths from Drug Misuse N N N N N N   

Under 75 Mortality Rate: Cardiovascular and 
Cancer 

NA NA NA NA NA NA   

Excess Winter Deaths NA NA NA NA NA NA   

 
 

Population Health 
Issue 

Reason for impact assessment rating  Suggested Mitigation 

Ability to provide 
 informal care 

Feedback via public consultation – concern was expressed 
that additional travel distances would cause anxiety to 
family carers. 
Carers with an existing high-level caring burden (due to 
ongoing child illness or disability) may be more likely to 
require inpatient paediatric services. For those families 
living in West Cumbria, the preferred option therefore 
represents possible extended travel and time away from 
wider support networks of family and friends. 
The impact has therefore been assessed as potentially 
negative for this area. 

Community engagement elements of 
Integrated Care Communities: promote 
paediatric self-care. 
Healthcare staff to signpost carers of ill or 
disabled children to carers supports groups 
where appropriate. 
CCG to explore options for funding/provision 
of overnight accommodation, meals and 
transport assistance for family members of 
children admitted to inpatient paediatric  
Units where distance from home is identified 
as creating challenge 

Deprivation Some wards within Copeland and Allerdale are identified 
as having high levels of deprivation compared to the 
national average. 
There is some evidence to suggest that children who are 
part of families living in deprived areas are more likely to 
access A&E services when ill. This may be linked to poorer 
parental coping skills. 
Reducing the range of paediatric services available at WCH 
may result in increased anxiety for families and also 
increased costs linked to extended travel distances. 
It is unclear whether additional travel distances may result 
in reductions in paediatric emergency admissions. A 
potential benefit might be reduced inappropriate use; 
however a potential risk may be that families do not seek 
timely support for very sick children if it is less convenient 
to access services (this was raised during consultation). 
Overall the impact is assessed as negative for west. 

Community engagement elements of 
Integrated Care Communities: promote self-
care and appropriate use of A&E facilities. 
 
CCG to explore options for funding/provision 
of overnight accommodation, meals and 
transport assistance for family members of 
children admitted to inpatient paediatric  
Units where distance from home creates 
financial pressures to families on low 
incomes. 

Children living in 
poverty 

The % of children living in low income families in WNE 
Cumbria is not significantly higher than the national 
average; therefore the impact of any changes is assessed 
as neutral. This said, it should be acknowledged that 

See box above. 

 
201



Population Health 
Issue 

Reason for impact assessment rating  Suggested Mitigation 

4,425 children in West Cumbria live in low income 
families. For these families, transport costs as detailed 
above may be an issue, therefore the overall assessment 
for option 1 is N/- 

Homelessness Rates of statutory homelessness are relatively low 
across WNE Cumbria; therefore the proposed changes 
are unlikely to impact on this health indicator (assessed 
as neutral). 

Not applicable 

Education Rates of GCSE’s achieved are significantly lower in 
Copeland (compared to the national average). Low 
education levels are linked to poverty, which in turn, is 
linked to greater use of emergency services by families 
with children. Overall however, the proposed changes to 
children’s services are unlikely to impact on education 
levels, therefore the impact is assessed as neutral. 
Taking another viewpoint on education, community 
engagement opportunities via ICCs has the potential to 
improve people’s health literacy; however children’s 
health is not currently identified as a specific priority. 

Self-care promotion through ICCs – ensure 
health education can be understood and 
adopted by people with differing levels of 
educational attainment. 

Violent Crime Rates of violent crime are higher than the national 
average in Copeland and Carlisle. If children are 
implicated, the preferred option for paediatric services 
means that children in Copeland would have further to 
go to access emergency inpatient care. This could delay 
their ability to receive timely treatment and has 
therefore been assessed as potentially negative.  
Data collected by the Trauma and Injury Intelligence 
Group7 also indicates that the rates of paediatric 
accidents are higher than the national average in West 
Cumbria. 
Therefore the potential impact is assessed as negative 
for west. 

ICC self-care approaches to support accident 
prevention in children, with support and 
advice from Public Health. 

 

Unemployment Rates of long-term unemployment are significantly higher 
than the national average in Allerdale and Copeland 
(West Cumbria). Reconfiguring paediatric services may 
result in health workforce redundancies in the West area. 
Whilst numbers are small, this would have a significant 
impact on the individuals affected, therefore the 
potential impact is assessed as negative for west. 

Workforce modelling should be carried out 
to identify possible impact of all options on 
workforce at WCH. Support staff to 
relocate to CIC, or support alternative 
employment opportunities. 

Smoking Data collection regarding smoking status at time of 
delivery is poor in North Cumbria. Smoking prevalence in 
adults is not significantly different from the England 
average across all districts in WNE Cumbria, however we 
know that on average, 1 in 5 adults smoke in Copeland. 
Children who live in households where people smoke are 
more likely to suffer from health conditions that may 
result in them requiring paediatric care (e.g. asthma).  
The preferred option could potentially make this care less 
accessible due to extended travel distances. Therefore for 
west Cumbria, the potential impact is assessed as 
negative. 

Stop smoking support should be included 
in workforce and service plans across 
community/primary and secondary care.  

7 http://www.cph.org.uk/tiig/  

 

                                                           

202

http://www.cph.org.uk/tiig/


Population Health 
Issue 

Reason for impact assessment rating  Suggested Mitigation 

Breastfeeding Breastfeeding initiation rates in Allerdale, Carlisle and 
Copeland are lower than the national average, however 
the proposed changes to paediatric services is not 
assessed as directly influencing breastfeeding rates. 
Therefore the assessed impact is neutral. 
 

NCUHT continue to work towards Baby 
Friendly Initiative accreditation across all 
relevant sites, so mothers attending 
paediatric units with their babies are 
encouraged to breastfeed where 
appropriate. 

Obesity Obesity rates in children (measured at Year 6) are 
significantly higher than the national average for 
Copeland, indicating that children in this area of west 
Cumbria may be more likely to be overweight.  
Children who are overweight may be more likely to 
access paediatric services due to conditions such as 
diabetes and asthma (but numbers may be small). 
Therefore the potential impact on west is assessed as 
negative 

Not applicable, however given the levels of 
childhood obesity, it should be a 
consideration across public health, primary 
care and acute services. 

Alcohol misuse  Alcohol-specific hospital stays in those under the age of 
18 are significantly higher in Copeland and Allerdale than 
the England average (Carlisle and Eden rates are not 
significantly different). Copeland has the highest recorded 
rate in England (104.4/100,000 between 2012-2015), 
although the actual count (number) equates to 42 stays 
during this time.  
Due to the high rate, the impact of changes to paediatric 
services in west Cumbria is therefore assessed as 
potentially double negative.  

Further work required to understand the 
high rates of hospital stays for children 
resident in Copeland. 

Ensure care pathways are in place for 
alcohol related issues in young people and 
consider the need for hospital-based 
alcohol support services. 

Under 18 
Conceptions 

In 2014, 49 15-17 year-olds conceived in Allerdale and 
Copeland. Rates of under-18 conceptions are not 
significantly different to the national average in west or 
east Cumbria, however they are significantly higher in 
Carlisle.  
Service changes do not impact on access to contraception 
or sexual health advice, therefore the overall impact is 
assessed as neutral. 

Not applicable. 

Physical Activity Physical activity levels for children in west Cumbria are 
not significantly higher than the national average. 
Nationally, there is a weak correlation between physical 
activity levels and accidents/injuries in children (e.g. 
playing contact sports/using trampolines may make a 
child slightly more likely to suffer an injury requiring 
inpatient paediatric care). However, there is no evidence 
to suggest a particular risk as a result of service changes; 
therefore the overall impact is assessed as neutral. 

Not applicable 

Early Cancer 
Diagnosis 

Cancer diagnosis in children is rare. There is no indication 
to suggest that the proposed proposals relevant to 
children’s services will impact on early cancer diagnosis 
rates (unless children have less convenient access to 
diagnostic tests in west) . Detection rates across WNE 
Cumbria are similar to the national average. 
Therefore the potential impact is assessed as neutral. 

Not applicable 

Self-Harm The rate of hospital stays due to self-harm are 
significantly higher than the national average in 
Copeland, Allerdale and Carlisle (significantly better in 
Eden). Examples of self-harm include deliberate self-
poisoning using prescription medication, drugs or other 
substances and intentional injury. Young people who self-
harm are a very vulnerable group, who may experience 
stress and less timely care as a result of extended travel 

Emotional health and wellbeing in children 
and young people should be a priority 
across all relevant delivery frameworks and 
care pathways being developed as part of 
service changes. By adopting a systems 
approach to children’s emotional health, 
changes to individual services will be 

 
203



Population Health 
Issue 

Reason for impact assessment rating  Suggested Mitigation 

times to access inpatient care. CAMHS and Tier 2 mental 
health services for young people are also oversubscribed 
in Cumbria. Therefore the potential impact of the 
proposed changes is assessed as double negative (--). 

mitigated against where possible. 

Diabetes Rates of recorded diabetes are significantly higher than 
the national average in all districts in WNE Cumbria. 
Whilst this may indicate that detection is better here than 
elsewhere, it can also indicate that prevalence of diabetes 
is greater in the population.  
Children and young people with Type 1 diabetes may be 
more likely to require inpatient care (e.g. due to poorly 
controlled insulin levels). Whilst numbers will be small, 
the impact of travelling further for acute care could be 
significant. Therefore the potential impact is assessed as 
negative for west. 

CCG to ensure that the needs of Children 
and Young People with Type 1 diabetes 
have been considered in service change 
proposals and ensure appropriate care 
pathways are in place. 

Sexually Transmitted 
Infections 

Rates of new STIs are significantly lower than the national 
average in all districts in WNE Cumbria, therefore the 
Success Regime proposals for Children’s Health are 
unlikely to impact on population sexual health. There is 
no evidence to suggest young people use the services in 
scope as a route to sexual health advice, STI testing or 
contraception. 

Not applicable 

Hip Fractures Profile data relevant to those over the age of 65, 
therefore indicator not relevant to paediatric service 
options. 

Not applicable 

Infant Mortality The most recently recorded infant mortality rates (deaths 
in infants <1 year of age per 1,000 live births) are not 
significantly different to the national average across all 
districts in WNE Cumbria. Between 2012-2014, there 
were 7 recorded deaths in Copeland (3.1), 11 in Allerdale 
(4.0), 16 in Carlisle (4.4) and 2 in Eden (1.6) – rate shown 
in brackets. England average = 4.0. 
Whilst the numbers are small, there may be a risk that 
acutely ill children may experience poorer outcomes if 
they have to travel further for care. Therefore the 
potential impact is assessed as N/- 
Concerns about this were highlighted during public 
consultation. 

Risk of additional travel distances to be 
estimated and mitigated against by CCG. 

Killed and Seriously 
Injured (KSI) on 
roads 

Children seriously injured in accidents in west Cumbria 
will need to be transferred to CIC, which means they 
would have a longer transfer. Public concern that this 
would result in poorer clinical outcomes. Therefore the 
potential impact is assessed as negative for west. 

Not applicable. 

Suicide Rates The proposed changes to paediatric services are very 
unlikely to impact on suicide rates; therefore the impact 
has been assessed as neutral. 

Not applicable. 

Deaths from Drug 
Misuse 

Deaths due to drug misuse are very low across Copeland, 
Allerdale and Eden (the rate in Carlisle is higher at 
9.6/100,000 between 2012-2014).  
The proposed changes to paediatric services are very 
unlikely to impact on the number of deaths due to drug 
misuse; therefore the impact has been assessed as 
neutral. 

Substance misuse services are not in scope 
for any proposed changes. 

 

 
204



Population Health 
Issue 

Reason for impact assessment rating  Suggested Mitigation 

Under 75 Mortality 
Rate: Cardiovascular 
and Cancer 

Indicator not applicable to paediatric services option. Not applicable. 

Excess Winter 
Deaths 

Indicator not applicable to paediatric services option. Not applicable 

 
Other factors highlighted during public consultation:  
 
People expressed concern about the immunisation status of children from the following groups: immigrants, refugees, 
gypsies and travelers. The concern expressed was that children may be more likely to require acute care if they 
became ill with a serious illness that they had not been vaccinated against. Taking into account immunisation policies, 
rates and herd immunity factors, there is no indication that the proposed change to paediatric services would impact 
on the health of children who have not received the full UK programme of childhood immunisations. 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
205



 

 

 

 

5. Community Hospital Inpatient Beds 
 

Community hospitals have a long history in the area and are strongly supported by their local communities and 
active League of Friends that contribute significant funds. Overall they deliver a high standard of nursing care 
and excellent patient experience. Community hospitals will be a significant asset in the delivery of integrated 
out-of-hospital care particularly in the context of the development of ICCs.  
 
Engagement involving a wide range of health and social care stakeholders makes it clear that thriving, 
sustainable community hospitals can support rural communities and provide centres for the delivery of 
integrated health and social care with facilities for diagnostics and ambulatory care.  
 
Current Position  
 
There are currently eight community hospitals in WNE Cumbria and an inpatient unit on the WCH site, which 
are operated by CPFT. The geographical position of the hospitals has, to a large extent, grown up based upon 
historical development rather than population health needs.  
 
The number of inpatient beds in each hospital ranges from six (currently seven in Alston) to twenty-eight. Some 
community hospitals host minor injury and/or primary care assessment services as well as a range of outpatient 
and therapy services.  
 
Where community hospitals have a small number of beds, there have been significant challenges associated 
with recruitment and safe staffing levels. Some of our units are very small and often only have 1 registered 
nurse on duty, recruitment and sickness issues in small units can lead to crisis situations where no registered 
staff are available to work which results is unplanned bed closures putting pressure on the whole system. This 
can lead to existing staff working long hours, double shifts for prolonged periods of time. The CQC report in 
autumn 2015 highlighted that staff often felt isolated and vulnerable  
 
The cost of community hospital inpatient beds is comparatively high, with significant variation between sites 
ranging from £288- £454 per bed night (correct August 2015). Admission criteria is variable across  
sites, and there have been a number of quality and safety issues – which are a concern given the increased 
pressure on a depleted workforce who may not always have the most appropriate skill sets to provide optimum 
care depending on the complexity of need). There is considerable variation in the condition of community 
hospital estates and the ongoing ability to meet national standards.  
 
New Models of Care proposed prior to consultation 
 
In considering the options for community hospital inpatient beds, it has been recognised that these must be 
seen in the context of the changing needs of the population and the wider changes being considered to support 
safe and sustainable health and care services in WNE Cumbria. While community hospitals are considered 
primarily as having beds, as strengthened out of hospital care is developed, they have a much broader role in 
the context of ICCs – acting as natural hubs to provide a focus for the delivery and co-ordination of care.  
 

 

In considering the needs of the population, a review of community hospital inpatient capacity has been
undertaken, which suggested that WNE Cumbria currently has a significantly higher number of community
hospital inpatient beds compared to most other areas in England. (Based on a population of 330,000, and

206



making a presumption that the beds are used appropriately, the data would indicate the need for 84 
community hospital beds, compared with 133 beds currently).  
 
• Option 1 - Focus the future bed bases onto fewer sites within West Cumbria, Eden and Carlisle (minimum 16 

bed units)  
• Option 2 - Focus the future bed bases onto fewer sites within West Cumbria, Eden and Carlisle, with some 

specialisation (minimum 16 bed units)  
• Option 3 - Create capacity to deliver 102 community bed equivalents (such as through hospital at home 

model, commissioning capacity through nursing homes etc.)  
 
 ‘In relation to operational deliverability, the initial judgement regarding suitability of current community 
hospital sites for future sustainability is that:  
 
• It would be prohibitive to expand two of the current sites to support the minimum of 16 beds (Maryport 

Community Hospital and Alston Community Hospital);  
• Wigton is assessed as no longer being suitable for long-term provision of inpatient beds, with minimal scope 

to address current issues given the estates condition.  
 
 The remaining options pass the hurdle criteria and have been confirmed as the short list of options to be taken 
forward for detailed appraisal. There is recognition that the opportunity of creating ‘virtual beds’ capacity will 
need to be considered at a local level as the development of ICCs is progressed, and this therefore should be 
progressed differentially across WNE Cumbria.  
 
For all options, the expectation is that the implementation of ICCs will strengthen out of hospital care and 
reduce the need for unplanned hospital admissions and enable a significant reduction in length of stay. As a 
result, the financial plans are assuming a reduction in the total number of inpatient beds across the system over 
time. For example, to mitigate the impact of additional travel for the three hospitals without in-patient beds 
(Alston, Wigton and Maryport), we are proposing to reinvest 50% of the savings to greatly strengthen local 
primary and community nurse and therapy teams aimed at supporting more people to stay in their own homes.’ 
 
New models of care proposed during consultation 
 
The following options were also proposed during consultation: 

 
• Maryport: New Option 1 – A smaller 8 bed unit running 24/7 focussing on short stay rehabilitation and 

Reablement.  
o Estimated cost – similar to current spend.  
o Mainly step-up.  
o Focussed on a bed avoidance unit (i.e. avoiding care home and acute hospital bed use).  
o More short and overnight stays 
o Continuing to provide palliative care 

 
• Maryport: New Option 2 – Hospital running 7 days a week, but no overnight stay. 

o Population health model. Focus on admission avoidance 
o Creates space for outpatient appointments 
o Improved home-based palliative care 

 
• Solway: A new model of place based integrated health & care provision  

o An integrated bed base providing a wide spectrum of need  
o A hub for community health and social care services  
o Increased use of digital health and care technology  

 

 

• Alston: A new model of place based integrated health and care provision
o One fully integrated health and care team

207



o One integrated bed base providing a wide spectrum of need  
o Radically increased use of digital health and care technology 

 
208



Population Health 
Indicator 

 

No Change Option 1 
Minimal 
Consolidation of 
beds (loss of beds at 
Maryport, Solway & 
Alston) 

Option 2 
Partial Consolidation 
around 5 sites (loss 
of beds at Maryport, 
Solway, Alston, 
Workington & 
Carlisle) 

Option 3 
Partial Consolidation 
around 5 sites (loss of 
beds at Maryport, 
Solway, Alston, 
Carlisle & 
Cockermouth) 

Option 4 
Consolidation round 3 
sites (only beds in 
Whitehaven, Penrith 
& Carlisle) 

New models of care 
proposed during 
public consultation 

Area west north east west north east west north east west north east west north east west north east 

Ability to provide informal 
care 

N N N - N - -- - - -- - - -- - - ++ + ++ 

Deprivation N N N - N - -- N N - - N -- - - ++ + ++ 

Children living in poverty N N N - N N - N N - N N - N N N N N 

Homelessness N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N 

Education N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N 

Violent Crime N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N 

Unemployment N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N + N N 

Smoking N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N + + + 

Breastfeeding N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N 

Obesity N N N - N N - N N - N N N N N + + + 

Alcohol misuse N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N 

Under 18 Conceptions N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N 

Physical Activity N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N + + + 

Early Cancer Diagnosis N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N 

Self-Harm N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N 

 
 

209



 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Diabetes N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N + + + 

Sexually Transmitted 
Infections 

N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N 

Hip Fractures N N N - N - - - - - - - - - - + + + 

Infant Mortality NA NA NA NA NA NA NA NA NA NA NA NA NA NA NA NA NA NA 

Killed and Seriously Injured 
on roads 

N N N N N N/- N N N/- N N N/- N N N/- N N + 

Suicide Rates N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N 

Deaths from Drug Misuse N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N 

Under 75 Mortality Rate: 
Cardiovascular and Cancer 

N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N + + + 

Excess Winter Deaths N N N - N - - - - - - - - - - ++ + ++ 

 

210



Population Health 
Issue 

Reason for impact assessment rating  Suggested Mitigation 

Ability to provide 
 informal care 

Feedback via public consultation – concern was expressed 
that additional travel distances would cause anxiety to 
family carers if community hospital beds were closed. 
Carers with an existing high-level caring burden (due to 
ongoing illness or increasing frailty experienced by 
themselves and the person being cared for) may be more 
likely to require use of community hospitals.  
For those families living in areas where proposals mean 
facilities will close extended travel and time away from 
wider support networks of family and friends could be 
problematic. 
The impact has therefore been assessed as potentially 
negative for these areas.  
Census unpaid care data indicates Allerdale and Copeland 
have a higher percentage of unpaid carers providing more 
than 50 hours of unpaid care per week compared to 
Carlisle and Eden.  
The new proposals seek to optimise the facilities available 
at community hospital sites and would therefore create a 
more convenient ‘one-stop’ shop for carers supporting 
people to attend appointments. Therefore, these 
proposals have been assessed as having a potentially 
positive impact. 

Health and Care providers, in partnership 
with the public, to explore further the 
options for creating health and care hubs at 
community hospital sites. 

Deprivation Some wards within Copeland and Allerdale are identified 
as having high levels of deprivation compared to the 
national average. 
There is some evidence to suggest that people living in 
deprived areas are more likely to access community 
hospital beds at present (i.e. due to poorer 
lifestyles/support networks). Any options that involve the 
closure of beds in deprived areas have been assessed as 
having a potentially negative impact due to the additional 
travel (and therefore additional costs) of attending 
community hospitals further away. 
 

ICC proposals aim to provide improved care 
within people’s communities, therefore the 
need for community hospital beds should be 
reduced. 

Transforming community hospital sites into 
integrated health and care hubs would 
further mitigate travel issues for people from 
low income households. 

 

Children living in 
poverty 

The % of children living in low income families in West, 
North and East Cumbria is not significantly higher than 
the national average; therefore the impact of any 
changes is assessed as neutral. This said, it should be 
acknowledged that 4,425 children in West Cumbria live in 
low income families.  
Some community hospitals are the venue for children’s 
outpatient clinics. If these clinics are impacted by the 
proposed changes, there is a risk that families from low 
income households would have to travel further to 
attend outpatient appointments. The additional cost and 
inconvenience may make them less likely to attend 
appointments, or create financial strain for these 
families. 
The new proposals put forward during consultation tend 
to focus on improving/integrating care for older people, 
therefore would not impact on children. If the new 
proposals meant that current children’s outpatient clinics 
(run through community hospitals) would stop, the 
impact would have to be amended to negative. 

ICC proposals aim to provide improved care 
within people’s communities, therefore 
there should be no need for families with low 
incomes to travel further for outpatient 
appointments.  

However, if the main focus of ICCs and 
Community Hospital proposals is older 
people’s care, the impact of changes to 
children’s clinics would need to be mitigated 
against by identifying other community 
based venues for outpatient clinics. 

 

Homelessness Rates of statutory homelessness are relatively low 
across WNE Cumbria, therefore the proposed changes 
do not impact on this health indicator (neutral). 

Not applicable. 

 
 

211



Population Health 
Issue 

Reason for impact assessment rating  Suggested Mitigation 

Education Rates of GCSE’s achieved are significantly lower in 
Copeland (compared to the national average). Low 
education levels are linked to poverty, which in turn, is 
linked to poorer health and increased need for 
outpatient appointments. Overall however, the 
proposed changes to community hospitals are unlikely 
to impact on education levels, therefore the impact is 
assessed as neutral.  
If community hospitals are currently providing clinics 
such as ‘speech and language’ for children and these 
clinics stop, it may have a negative impact on education 
levels (although small numbers). 

Identify other local community venues for 
these clinics.  

Violent Crime Rates of violent crime are higher than the national 
average in Copeland and Carlisle; however the proposed 
changes are not assessed as having a potential impact on 
rates of violent crime (neutral). 

Not applicable. 

Unemployment Rates of long-term unemployment are significantly higher 
than the national average in Allerdale and Copeland 
(West Cumbria). Reconfiguring the use of Community 
Hospitals may result in improved employment rates, due 
to more sustainable healthcare jobs being available 
(therefore impact is assessed as potentially positive for 
the new proposals emerging from consultation). Numbers 
affected may be small however (especially if digital 
healthcare is also promoted).  

Workforce modelling to include new 
community hospital proposals. 

Smoking Smoking prevalence in adults is not significantly different 
from the England average across all districts in WNE 
Cumbria; however we know for example, that on 
average, 1 in 5 adults smoke in Copeland.  
People may access community hospital beds due to 
smoking related conditions such as COPD, but because 
the rates of smoking are not significantly higher than the 
national average, the overall impact of service changes 
that may result in consolidation is assessed as neutral. 
If community hospitals became health and wellbeing 
hubs, where stop smoking was a priority (e.g. all staff 
trained to delivery brief interventions around stop 
smoking), this could potentially support reductions in 
smoking prevalence. 

Ensure all community hospital sites 
(including buildings, grounds and vehicles) 
are smoke free and train staff to provide 
brief interventions around stop smoking 
where appropriate. 

Breastfeeding Breastfeeding initiation rates in Allerdale, Carlisle and 
Copeland are lower than the national average, however 
the proposed changes to community hospital beds is 
unlikely to impact on breastfeeding rates (unless new 
integrated hubs at community hospitals are BFI 
accredited), therefore scored as neutral. 

Not applicable. 

Obesity Both Allerdale and Copeland districts have rates of excess 
weight in adults significantly higher than the England 
average. People who are significantly overweight may be 
more likely to require community hospital services (e.g. 
rehabilitation due to mobility problems and inpatient 
beds due to Long Term Conditions). Therefore 
consolidation options have been assessed as having a 
potentially negative impact. 
If community hospitals became health hubs and offered 
improved weight management support, there may be a 
positive impact on obesity prevalence across WNE 
Cumbria. 

Both ICC and Community Hospital 
integration plans to prioritise healthy 
weight in order to improve community 
wellbeing. 

 
212



Population Health 
Issue 

Reason for impact assessment rating  Suggested Mitigation 

Alcohol misuse  Hospital stays for alcohol-related harm are significantly 
higher than the national average in Copeland and 
Allerdale; however the proposed changes to community 
hospital beds are unlikely to impact on these rates. 
Therefore the impact is assessed as neutral. 

Not applicable. 

Under 18 
Conceptions 

Services changes do not impact on access to 
contraception or sexual health advice, therefore the 
overall impact is assessed as neutral. 

Not applicable. 

Physical Activity Rates of physical activity in adults are slightly lower in 
West Cumbria when compared to the national average, 
however not significantly so. There is no indication that 
the proposals related to community hospitals will 
negatively impact on physical activity levels.  
If community hospitals became integrated hubs 
promoting amongst other things, weight management, 
this would include physical activity and may support 
increased levels as a result, hence the positive 
assessment. 

Not applicable. 

Early Cancer 
Diagnosis 

There is no indication to suggest that the proposals 
relevant to community hospitals will impact on early 
cancer diagnosis rates (unless integrated models of 
working include provision of clinics offering 
testing/examination relevant to cancer). Detection rates 
across WNE Cumbria are currently similar to the national 
average. Therefore the potential impact is assessed as 
neutral. 

Not applicable. 

Self-Harm The rate of hospital stays due to self-harm are 
significantly higher than the national average in 
Copeland, Allerdale and Carlisle (significantly better in 
Eden). The proposed changes are unlikely to impact on 
these rates (therefore neutral impact score given). 

Not applicable. 

Diabetes Rates of recorded diabetes are significantly higher than 
the national average in all districts in WNE Cumbria. 
Whilst this may indicate that detection is better here than 
elsewhere, it can also indicate that prevalence of diabetes 
is greater in the population.  
People with diabetes may be more likely to require 
inpatient care (e.g. due to poorly controlled blood sugar 
levels), however integrated care community plans include 
actions to improve management of long term conditions 
in the community, which will mitigate this need if 
successfully implemented (therefore integrated plans 
may have a potentially positive impact). 

Integration plans for Community Care and 
Community Hospital sites to include 
actions to improve diabetes prevention 
and care. 

Sexually Transmitted 
Infections 

There is no evidence to suggest young people use 
community hospital services to access sexual health 
advice, STI testing or contraception. Therefore the 
proposed changes to community hospitals are assessed 
as having a neutral impact. 

Not applicable. 

Hip Fractures The rate of hip fractures in people over the age of 65 is 
not significantly different from the national average 
across all districts in WNE Cumbria. However, older 
people suffering injuries and fractures as a result of falls 
are more likely to access post-acute care via community 
hospitals at present (e.g. rehabilitation). 
Increased travel as a result of hospital bed consolidation 
would impact on people who have experienced a hip 
fracture; therefore the impact is assessed as negative.  
Under the new proposals, services such as bone density 

Continue to work up proposals to develop 
community care services at Community 
Hospital sites (including those that support 
falls prevention). 

 
213



Population Health 
Issue 

Reason for impact assessment rating  Suggested Mitigation 

clinics and falls prevention classes are given as examples 
of possible services that could operate out of community 
hospitals. If this were the case, the rate of hip fractures 
may be reduced as a result (and a positive impact 
achieved). 

Infant Mortality Not applicable to service change proposals. Not applicable. 

Killed and Seriously 
Injured (KSI) on 
roads 

Rates for Killed or Seriously Injured on roads is in line with 
the national average across Allerdale, Copeland and 
Carlisle, however rates in Eden are significantly higher 
than the national average (89.3 compared to 
39.3/100,000).  

Therefore across all the options, travel for older people 
living in East Cumbria may be more dangerous. The actual 
community hospital proposals themselves are unlikely to 
impact on rates of KSI in East, hence the N/- assessment, 
but acknowledging the issue is deemed important. 

Public consultation: Concerns about the condition of the 
two main A roads between West Cumbria and Carlisle 
(A595 and A596) due to perceived number of accidents, 
effects of adverse weather conditions and volume of farm 
traffic. This data does not indicate a specific impact on 
health, however travel analysis between West Cumbria 
and Carlisle should consider different travel scenarios 

  

 

 

Integrated care plans that result in reduced 
need for travel across all areas of WNE 
Cumbria would be beneficial (although may 
not impact directly on KSI rates). 
 
Travel impact assessment to consider needs 
of older people having to travel further for 
care as a result of any proposed community 
hospital bed consolidation.  

Suicide Rates The proposed changes to community hospital beds are 
very unlikely to impact on suicide rates; therefore the 
impact has been assessed as neutral. 

Not applicable. 

Deaths from Drug 
Misuse 

The proposed changes to community hospital beds are 
very unlikely to impact on the number of deaths due to 
drug misuse; therefore the impact has been assessed as 
neutral. 

Not applicable. 

Under 75 Mortality 
Rate: Cardiovascular 
and Cancer 

Under 75 mortality rates from cancer and cardiovascular 
disease are significantly higher than the national average 
in Copeland. There may be individuals utilising 
community hospital beds for palliative care and further 
travel distances would be stressful for patients and their 
carers/family. However, there is no indication that access 
to community hospital beds impacts on premature death 
rates, therefore the impact is assessed as neutral for 
consolidation options. 
If community hospital sites become health and care 
hubs, and promote prevention via improved lifestyles 
(e.g. stop smoking), there may be a positive impact on 
premature death rates as a result. 

Consider how to promote prevention 
through advice, referral and activity 
provision at Community Hospital sites 
(when developing ICC and acute care plans 
further). 

 
214



Population Health 
Issue 

Reason for impact assessment rating  Suggested Mitigation 

Excess Winter 
Deaths 

The rates of excess winter deaths are not significantly 
different to the England average across all areas of WNE 
Cumbria; however Community Hospitals do provide a 
range of services to older people that support their 
health and resilience.  
There is no evidence however to suggest that access to 
community hospitals impacts directly on excess winter 
death rates. In this instance, the impact is assessed as 
being potentially negative due to public feedback. There 
is strong public opinion that consolidation of community 
hospital sites would directly impact the health of frailer 
older people. 
This said, if community hospitals became health and care 
hubs focusing on the wellbeing of older people, this 
could potentially support actions that reduce excess 
winter deaths (e.g. referral to third sector to receive 
support around winter fuel payments and home 
insulation). 

Consider how to promote ‘winter warmth’ 
through advice, referral and activity 
provision at Community Hospital sites 
(when developing ICC and acute care plans 
further). 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
215



 

6. Emergency and Acute Care (including hyper-acute stroke unit), Urgent Care, Trauma and Orthopaedics 
 

Emergency and Acute (including Hyper Acute Stroke Unit) 

Current Position  

Many aspects to improve emergency and acute medical care are being progressed as part of the commitment 
to continuous improvement, a number of changes have been made to develop a single-service model across the 
two acute hospital sites with the aim of improving outcomes for patients.  
 
Following pubic consultation (undertaken since June 2013), the majority of operative trauma provision has been 
provided at CIC. Although the major stimulus for that change was associated with improved outcomes, an 
important local factor was the lack of resources to provide a robust service on both sites.  
 
Some trauma services were maintained at the WCH site to minimise travelling as well as the burden on the 
ambulance service and the infrastructure at Carlisle. This comprised an on-call rota, two trauma lists per week 
for minor trauma procedures, new patient fracture clinics for minor injuries and local admission of patients 
requiring conservative management. In February 2014 a number of changes to the service at WCH were made 
on safety grounds. These changes reflected a clinical audit of activity undertaken between July 2013 and 
February 2014.  
 
The changes resulted in the cessation of on call and inpatient trauma care at WCH. It also included a 
reorganisation of consultant input to fracture clinics and revised protocols in A&E. In June 2014, the decision to 
cease minor trauma operations at WCH was made due to extremely low numbers (1-2 per week) and 
consequent inefficiency.  
 
In addition there was a review of the high-risk surgical pathways that were transferred as part of the wider 
changes to emergency surgery. There are three pathways that could be treated effectively and efficiently at 
WCH within the new WCH facility, providing care closer to home for some lower risk patients, allowing more 
efficient use of lists for CIC inpatient emergencies that will improve patient flow.  
 
 New Models of Care  
 
Please note, assessment of the preferred option (against the current service model) only has been carried out.  
The preferred option was ‘option 1’ as presented throughout consultation. 

 

 
 

New ways of working with more emphasis on anticipatory and ambulatory care alongside innovative workforce 
models is a significant departure from previous attempts to work differently and solve the workforce problems, 
particularly at WCH. Based on current activity levels we would expect this option to affect 1092 patients each 
year who would have their care provided at CIC rather than WCH.  
 

 
216



Hyper-acute Stroke Unit 
 
Stroke services are measured against a set of national quality standards. Whilst WNE Cumbria has been successful 
in making some improvements, they report not able to meet a number of the highest standards for stroke care 
due to limited access to stroke specialist staff and facilities and an inability to provide full services seven days a 
week on two sites.  
  
Nationally, the NHS is centralising immediate acute stroke care in well resourced, specialist hyper-acute stroke 
units as research suggests a centralised model of acute stroke care, in which hyperacute care is provided to all 
patients with stroke, can reduce mortality and length of hospital stay. In addition there is a national shortage in 
stroke consultants as well as workforce challenges in a number of other key areas.  
Despite great strides in improving stroke services in WNE Cumbria the view is that they are still not as good as 
they should be. The care of stroke inpatients in both Whitehaven and Carlisle is provided in clinical areas not 
dedicated to stroke, services operate for five days a week and it has proved very difficult to recruit more stroke 
specialists to extend the available service.  
 
Current Position  
 
Currently patients with suspected stroke are assessed, treated for a blood clot if necessary, and admitted for 
acute care both at West Cumberland Hospital in Whitehaven and at Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle.  
Patients also receive early rehabilitation on both sites. Patients in the Carlisle can also receive early, intensive 
rehabilitation services that help them to leave hospital more quickly and return to their own homes in order to 
maximise independence as quickly as possible after their stroke.  
 
Outside of normal working hours CT scan images for patients with suspected stroke on both sites are reviewed 
remotely as part of our ‘telestroke’ arrangements with other hospitals.  
 
Acute stroke admissions in west, north and east Cumbria total approximately 700 per year, with 410 in 
Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle (CIC) and 290 in West Cumberland Hospital. Current services are reported as 
extremely ‘fragile’: if one element was to disappear (such as an individual consultant leaving), the service is at risk 
of collapsing.  
 
Potential models for Hyper Acute Stroke services in WNE Cumbria:  
 
As a result of the work to date, the preferred option for hyper-acute stroke unit is: 

 
All acute stroke cases managed in a single hyper-acute stroke unit based at Cumberland Infirmary, Carlisle. 
Ambulances would take possible stroke patients direct to Carlisle. Patients arriving at West Cumberland Hospital by 
other means would be transferred by ambulance to Carlisle. 
On leaving the hyper-acute stroke unit, patients living in west Cumbria would be transferred to acute stroke and 
rehabilitation facilities at West Cumberland Hospital if further hospital care was needed. This service would be 
complemented by ensuring improved, early supported discharge at both Carlisle and Whitehaven. 
 

Please note, the potential impact of the preferred option (against the current model) only has been completed.  
 
Urgent Care, Trauma and Orthopaedics 
 
In late 2012 a public consultation approved the transfer of high risk surgery & major trauma / hip fractures from 
West Cumberland Hospital to Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle and this was implemented in June 2013. In 
February 2014 the NCUH Trust Board took the decision to cease the on call service, inpatient admissions and 
minor trauma operating at West Cumberland Hospital on the grounds of safety, noting also issues of, 
sustainability and cost efficiency. Since putting in place these changes, monitoring of the service has shown an 
improvement in patient outcomes. Deaths as a result of all trauma have decreased – even for those 
communities living furthest from the Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle.  
 

 
217



Current Position  
 
The current service provision for Trauma and Orthopaedics is that out-patients and elective care is delivered at 
both hospital sites. Fracture clinics are provided seven days per week at the Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle and 
five days a week at West Cumberland Hospital (by trauma consultants), advice is available to A&E in hours. Out 
of hours cover is provided by Orthopaedic on-call team. All non-elective (trauma) is delivered at Cumberland 
Infirmary Carlisle. For general surgery, all high risk non elective operating is delivered at Cumberland Infirmary 
Carlisle. Since the centralisation of emergency general surgery there has been a gradual increase in non-elective 
surgery being transferred to CIC. There is now the opportunity to review providing minor trauma surgery and 
some non-complex day case general surgery at West Cumberland Hospital.  
 
Proposals for Emergency Surgery, Trauma and Orthopaedics in WNE Cumbria:  
The proposal is that the arrangements previously made on safety grounds are now made permanent with some 
further changes which allow additional emergency surgery and trauma care to take place at West Cumberland 
Hospital.  
• Additional minor trauma surgery will take place on some days each week at West Cumberland Hospital with 

any displaced planned surgery being managed in an additional weekly list at West Cumberland Hospital.  
• Some non-complex day case general surgery is returned to West Cumberland Hospital including key-hole gall 

bladder operations, surgical treatment of abscesses, and investigation of abdominal pain (with keyhole 
procedure if necessary).  

• Single ‘Professional Point of Access’ communication arrangements are used to allow the referrer (often the 
patient’s GP) to discuss directly with the hospital based surgeon the best place to see and assess individual 
patients. 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
218



Population Health Indicator No Change Emergency & Acute 
Preferred Option 

 

Hyper Acute Stroke Unit 
Preferred Option 

Emergency Surgery, 
Trauma and Orthopaedics 

Area west north east west north east west north east west north east 

Ability to provide informal care N N N - N N N/ - N/ + N/ + N/ - N/ + N/ + 

Deprivation N N N - N N N/ - N N N/ - N N 

Children living in poverty N N N N N N N N N N N N 

Homelessness N N N N N N N N N N N N 

Education N N N N N N N N N N N N 

Violent Crime N N N N/ - N N N N N N/ - N N 

Unemployment N N N N/ - N N N/ - N N N/ - N N 

Smoking N N N N N N N N N N N N 

Breastfeeding N N N N N N N N N N N N 

Obesity N N N N N N N N N N N N 

Alcohol misuse N N N - N N N N N - N N 

Under 18 Conceptions N N N N N N N N N N N N 

Physical Activity N N N N N N N N N N N N 

Early Cancer Diagnosis N N N N N N N N N N N N 

Self-Harm N N N - N N - N N - N N 

Diabetes N N N N N N + + + N N N 

 
 

219



  
 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Sexually Transmitted Infections N N N N N N N N N N N N 

Hip Fractures N N N - N N N N N - N N 

Infant Mortality NA NA NA NA NA NA NA NA NA NA  NA NA 

Killed and Seriously Injured on roads N N N N N N/- N N N/- N N N/- 

Suicide Rates N N N N N N N N N N N N 

Deaths from Drug Misuse N N N N N N N N N N N N 

Under 75 Mortality Rate: Cardiovascular and Cancer - - - N N N + + + N N N 

Excess Winter Deaths N/- N/- N/- N/- N N + + + N/- N N 

 

220



 

 

221



Population Health 
Issue 

Reason for impact assessment rating  Suggested Mitigation 

Ability to provide 
informal care 

Feedback via public consultation – concern was expressed 
that additional travel distances would cause anxiety to 
family carers travelling from west Cumbria to CIC to 
visit/support relatives who were acutely ill or having 
surgery. 
However, if the proposals result in better clinical 
outcomes for patients, this may relieve the burden of day-
to-day care being provided by informal carers. In addition, 
ICC developments may reduce the need to access acute 
services. 
Overall it is difficult to assess the impact of the proposed 
changes on carers. Ultimately the proposals should have a 
positive impact, but the concerns about additional travel 
from west shift the assessment from positive/neutral to 
neutral/negative in some instances. This is further 
influenced by local data that indicates that emergency 
admissions due to stroke in Copeland and Allerdale are 
currently significantly higher than the national average. 
 

Very clearly communicate the potential 
benefits of the changes via carers groups. 

Deprivation Some wards within Copeland and Allerdale are identified 
as having high levels of deprivation compared to the 
national average. 
There is some evidence to suggest that people living in 
deprived areas are more likely to access these types of 
acute services. Any options that involve the shifting of 
services from west Cumbria to CIC have been assessed as 
having a potentially negative impact due to the additional 
travel (and therefore additional costs) of attending 
hospitals further away. 
 

ICC proposals aim to provide improved care 
within people’s communities, therefore the 
need for acute services should be reduced. 

CCG to explore options for funding/provision 
of overnight accommodation, meals and 
transport assistance for families where 
distance from home is identified as creating 
challenge. 

Children living in 
poverty 

The % of children living in low income families in West, 
North and East Cumbria is not significantly higher than 
the national average; therefore the impact of any 
changes is assessed as neutral.  
However, for low income families, additional travel to 
access acute services means additional cost. 

See box above. 

Homelessness Rates of statutory homelessness are relatively low 
across West, North and East Cumbria, therefore the 
proposed changes do not impact on this health 
indicator.  

Not applicable. 

Education Rates of GCSE’s achieved are significantly lower in 
Copeland (compared to the national average). Low 
education levels are linked to poverty, which in turn, is 
linked to greater use of acute services. Overall however, 
the proposed changes to these acute services are 
unlikely to impact on education levels, therefore the 
impact is assessed as neutral.  

Use ICC developments as an opportunity to 
promote health literacy and ensure 
materials are accessible to people with low 
levels of literacy and numeracy skills 

Violent Crime Rates of violent crime are higher than the national 
average in Copeland and Carlisle. People who are injured 
as a result of crime in west Cumbria may need to travel 
further to Carlisle to access appropriate care.  
It may also mean that ambulance staff have to spend 
longer transferring potentially violent patients. 
However numbers are likely to be small, therefore the 
potential impact is assessed and neutral/negative. 
 

If applicable, CCG to advise Cumbria Police of 
the impact of any changes to acute services 
that may impact on treating victims of 
violent crime, or perpetrators who may be 
injured. 

 
 

222



Population Health 
Issue 

Reason for impact assessment rating  Suggested Mitigation 

Unemployment Rates of long-term unemployment are significantly higher 
than the national average in Allerdale and Copeland (west 
Cumbria). Reconfiguring acute services may result in 
reduced healthcare employment rates in West Cumbria.  
Therefore the potential impact is assessed as negative for 
west. 

Workforce modelling should be carried out 
to identify possible impact of all options on 
workforce at WCH. Support staff to 
relocate to CIC, or support alternative 
employment opportunities. 

Smoking Smoking prevalence in adults is not significantly different 
from the England average across all districts in WNE 
Cumbria; however we know for example, that on 
average, 1 in 5 adults smoke in Copeland.  
People may be more likely to require acute services as a 
result of health conditions linked to smoking, but because 
the rates of smoking are not significantly higher than the 
national average, the overall impact of acute service 
changes are assessed as neutral. 
 

Consider making all hospital sites smoke 
free. 

Consider all opportunities to ‘on-the-spot’ 
prescribe Nicotine Replacement Therapy to 
smokers who receive hospital care, or are 
awaiting surgery.  

Breastfeeding Breastfeeding initiation rates in Allerdale, Carlisle and 
Copeland are lower than the national average; however 
the proposed changes to acute services are unlikely to 
impact on breastfeeding rates, therefore the potential 
impact is assessed as neutral. 
 

NCUHT to support improved breastfeeding 
rates by continuing to work towards 
achieving Baby Friendly Initiative Level 3 
accreditation. 

Obesity Both Allerdale and Copeland districts have rates of excess 
weight in adults significantly higher than the England 
average. People who are significantly overweight may be 
more likely to require acute hospital care (e.g. 
Orthopaedics).  
However, the proposed changes to acute services are 
unlikely to impact on obesity rates across WNE Cumbria 
(neutral scoring). 

Support reduced obesity rates by 
considering incorporating weight 
management into pre-operative care 
pathways. 

Alcohol misuse  Hospital stays for alcohol-related harm are significantly 
higher than the national average in Copeland and 
Allerdale. 
The proposed changes may result in vulnerable people 
having to be transferred further away from supportive 
family and friend networks if admitted to CIC. Therefore 
the potential impact is assessed as negative in these 
instances. 
 

Consider the role of acute services in 
supporting reductions in alcohol-related 
harm e.g. alcohol coordination teams have 
been proven to reduce hospital stays due 
to alcohol-use. 

Under 18 
Conceptions 

Services changes do not impact on access to 
contraception or sexual health advice, therefore the 
overall impact is assessed as neutral. 

Not applicable. 

Physical Activity Rates of physical activity in adults are slightly lower in 
West Cumbria when compared to the national average, 
however not significantly so.  
There is no indication that the proposals related to these 
acute services will negatively impact on physical activity 
levels.  
Public feedback via consultation: injuries due to sports 
and outdoor activities requiring acute hospital admissions 
– people in west Cumbria would have to travel further. 
Concerns about clinical outcomes due to delayed care. 
Whilst there is public concern, there is no evidence to 
suggest that the numbers would be significantly high, or 
that outcomes would be poorer.  

Not applicable. 

Early Cancer There is no indication to suggest that the proposals 
relevant to these acute services would impact on early 
cancer diagnosis rates. 

Not applicable. 

 
223



Population Health 
Issue 

Reason for impact assessment rating  Suggested Mitigation 

Diagnosis Detection rates across WNE Cumbria are currently similar 
to the national average. Therefore the potential impact is 
assessed as neutral. 

Self-Harm The rate of hospital stays due to self-harm are 
significantly higher than the national average in 
Copeland, Allerdale and Carlisle (significantly better in 
Eden).  
The proposed changes may result in vulnerable people 
having to be transferred further away from supportive 
family and friend networks if admitted to CIC. Therefore 
the potential impact is assessed as negative in these 
instances. 
  

Due to the significant levels of self-harm in 
WNE Cumbria, the current service 
transformation plans create an opportunity 
for all providers to consider how best to 
work together to support the prevention of 
self-harm and ensure robust care pathways 
are in place for vulnerable patients. 

Diabetes Rates of recorded diabetes are significantly higher than 
the national average in all districts in WNE Cumbria. 
Whilst this may indicate that detection is better here than 
elsewhere, it can also indicate that prevalence of diabetes 
is greater in the population.  
People with diabetes may be more likely to access acute 
services (e.g. due to neuropathy related conditions). 
People living in West Cumbria would have to travel 
further for services only available at CIC. This said, there 
is no evidence to suggest that service changes will directly 
impact on the rates of recorded diabetes. Therefore the 
impact is assessed as neutral.  
Diabetes is a risk factor for stroke. Therefore, for Hyper 
Acute Stroke Unit proposals, care for people with 
diabetes who have as stroke should be improved. As a 
result, the potential impact is assessed as positive. 
 

Regardless of proposed changes to acute 
services, integration plans for Community 
Care and Community Hospital sites should 
include actions to improve diabetes 
prevention and care. 

Sexually Transmitted 
Infections 

There is no evidence to suggest people use the acute 
services described to access sexual health advice, STI 
testing or contraception. Therefore the proposed changes 
to community hospitals are assessed as having a neutral 
impact. 

Not applicable. 

Hip Fractures The rate of hip fractures in people over the age of 65 is 
not significantly different from the national average 
across all districts in WNE Cumbria. However, older 
people suffering injuries and fractures as a result of falls 
are more likely to access e.g. trauma services.  
Increased travel for people living in West Cumbria could 
impact on people who have experienced a hip fracture; 
therefore the impact is assessed as negative.  

Continue to work up proposals to develop 
community care services at Community 
Hospital sites (including those that support 
falls prevention). 

Infant Mortality Not applicable to service change proposals. Not applicable. 

 
224



Population Health 
Issue 

Reason for impact assessment rating  Suggested Mitigation 

Killed and Seriously 
Injured (KSI) on 
roads 

Rates for Killed or Seriously Injured on roads are in line 
with the national average across Allerdale, Copeland and 
Carlisle, however rates in Eden are significantly higher 
than the national average (89.3 compared to 
39.3/100,000).  

Therefore across all the options, travel for people living in 
East Cumbria may be more dangerous. The actual acute 
service proposals themselves are unlikely to impact on 
rates of KSI in East, hence the N/- assessment, but 
acknowledging the issue is deemed important. 

Public consultation: Concerns about the condition of the 
two main A roads between West Cumbria and Carlisle 
(A595 and A596) due to perceived number of accidents, 
effects of adverse weather conditions and volume of farm 
traffic. This data does not indicate a specific impact on 
health, however travel analysis between West Cumbria 
and Carlisle should consider different travel scenarios 

  

 

 

Integrated care plans that result in reduced 
need for travel across all areas of WNE 
Cumbria would be beneficial (although may 
not impact directly on KSI rates). 
 
Travel impact assessment to consider needs 
of people having to travel further for care as a 
result of any proposed changes to acute 
services.   

Suicide Rates The proposed changes to acute services are very unlikely 
to impact on suicide rates; therefore the impact has been 
assessed as neutral. 

Not applicable. 

Deaths from Drug 
Misuse 

The proposed changes to acute services are very 
unlikely to impact on the number of deaths due to drug 
misuse; therefore the impact has been assessed as 
neutral. 

Not applicable. 

Under 75 Mortality 
Rate: Cardiovascular 
and Cancer 

Under 75 mortality rates from cancer and cardiovascular 
disease are significantly higher than the national average 
in Copeland. The proposed Hyper Acute Stroke Unit may 
result in improved outcomes for people under the age of 
75 who have a stroke, therefore the potential impact is 
assessed as positive (and by comparison, maintaining 
current service standards are deemed potentially 
negative). 
 

Not applicable if Hyper Acute Stroke Unit 
is developed. 

Excess Winter 
Deaths 

The rates of excess winter deaths are not significantly 
different to the England average across all areas of WNE 
Cumbria. 
There is no clear evidence to suggest that access to acute 
services impacts directly on excess winter death rates, 
however public consultation indicated that people are 
concerned about the impact of longer transfer times on 
older frailer people and those experiencing a 
cardiovascular event requiring emergency treatment 
Therefore, for West Cumbria, options that would result 
in longer travel distances are impact-assessed as 
neutral/negative. 
 

Consider how to promote ‘winter warmth’ 
through advice, referral and activity 
provision at acute hospital sites and via 
ICC developments.  

 

 

7. Recommendations and Conclusions

This report has attempted to methodically assess the potential health impacts of the proposed changes to health
and care services in West, North and East Cumbria using a set of nationally recognised population health indicators.
The assessment also took into consideration feedback from the public consultation that was held between
September and December 2016.

225



It is recommended that the CCG: 

• Acknowledge the potential impacts identified through this report and where appropriate, embed 
recommended mitigating actions in service development plans going forward. 

 

 

 

 
226



APPENDIX 3 
 

 
    

 
 

Documents 1) Acute Hospitals Travel Impact Analysis (v0.9) 

2) Community Hospitals Travel Impact Analysis (v0.3)  
3) Impact of Integrated Care Communities and stretch assumptions  
     on patient travel to hospital (v 0.2)    

Date Completed 14 December 2016, 8 June 2016 and 6 February 2017 

 Summary of the Documents 

1)  Acute Hospitals Travel Impact Analysis (V0.9) 
 

This report updates the appendix L to the Pre-Consultation Business Case following refinement of 
the assumptions used.   It does not take account of reductions in acute hospital attendance that will 
result from the development of Integrated Care Communities across West, North and East Cumbria, 
nor does it specify travel times related to the possible shift of elective care from Cumberland 
Infirmary Carlisle to West Cumberland Hospital, or from either site to other locations closer to 
patients’ homes.  Both of these developments would involve significant reductions in travel time for 
residents affected particularly for those living in West Cumbria. 
 

This report was produced with collaboration and input from NHS Cumbria CCG and North Cumbria 
University Hospitals Trust.   

 
2)  Community Hospitals Travel Impact Analysis (v0.3), (8 June 2016) 
 

Updated version of the Community hospitals appendix K to the Pre Consultation Business Case 
including capacity maps and covering finished Day Case and Inpatient activity taking place during 
the period 1 April 2015 – 31 March 2016,  excluding any admissions that were not complete until 
after 31 March 2016.   
 

This report was produced by David Oates, North of England Commissioning Support Unit. 
  
 

3)  Impact of Integrated Care Communities and stretch assumptions on patient travel to hospital             
(V0.2) 
 

This report considers the impact of Integrated Care Communities and other initiatives on 
anticipated growth in activity and its effects on additional travel resulting from the preferred 
options outlined in the West, North and East Cumbria Healthcare for the Future consultation. 
 

This report has been produced by North of England Commissioning Support. 

 

 
 

227



  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Acute Hospitals Travel Impact Analysis 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Date: 14th December 2016 

Version: 0.9 

 

APPENDIX 3a 

 
228



  

Report Specification 

 

Reader note

This   report   updates   the   appendix   to   the   Pre-Consultation   Business   Case   following   refinement   of   the
assumptions used. It does not take account of reductions in acute hospital attendance that will result from the
development of Integrated Care Communities across West, North and East Cumbria, nor does it specify travel
times  related  to  the  possible  shift  of  elective  care  from  Cumberland  Infirmary  Carlisle  to  West  Cumberland
Hospital, or from either site to other locations closer to patients’ homes.  Both of these developments would
involve significant reductions in travel time for residents affected particularly for those living in West Cumbria.

Recipients

Success Regime West, North & East Cumbria.

Data Source

Sources

Data was supplied by North Cumbria University Hospitals NHS Trust and is based on A&E attendances for the
period 1 April 2015 to 31 March 2016 and inpatient admissions where the person was an inpatient at any time
between 1 April 2015 to 31 March 2016, including those still hospital at the end of the period.

Reference is made to the Department for Transport research paper ‘Analysis of travel times on local ‘A’ roads,
England:   2014’ https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/analysis-of-travel-times-on-local-a-roads-england-
2014.

Travel     distances     are     calculated     using     data     made     available     by     the     Ordnance     Survey     (OS
OpenData) https://www.ordnancesurvey.co.uk/business-and-government/products/os-open-roads.html

Geography

This report covers patients with a recorded address within the geographical boundaries of Cumbria CCG.

Period

Data was supplied in April 2016.

Production

This  report  has  been  produced  with  collaboration  and  input  from  NHS  Cumbria  CCG  and  North  Cumbria
University Hospitals Trust.  Please ensure this information is not taken out of context

Completion Date

14th  December  2016.  Updated  to  allow  re-presentation  of  the  data:  reinterpretation  of  the  assumptions
supplied  to  treat non elective  day  cases  as  zero  length  of  stay  rather  than  0-1  days,  changing  numbers  of
maternity  patients  moving,  separating  children’s  and  adult  and  stroke  A&E  attendances,  removal  of non
elective inpatient admissions if the patient had been admitted from the A&E department (as their travel may
already have been reported under A&E) and modelling 20% of children’s non elective inpatients moving  in
Children’s Option 1.

229

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/analysis-of-travel-times-on-local-a-roads-england-2014
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/analysis-of-travel-times-on-local-a-roads-england-2014
https://www.ordnancesurvey.co.uk/business-and-government/products/os-open-roads.html


  

Success Regime: Acute Hospitals Travel Impact Analysis 

Introduction 

An initial travel impact analysis was undertaken to model the effect of possible changes in the 
configuration of acute hospital services in Cumberland Infirmary and West Cumberland Hospital. 
Following further initial engagement and assessment of options, the West, North and East Cumbria 
Success Regime has refined the assumptions for the options for reconfiguration. This report seeks to 
reflect these revised assumptions. 

Scope and approach 

The analysis is based on activity data relating to the location of patients who have used specified 
NHS services. Data used has been supplied by North Cumbria University Hospitals NHS Trust and is 
based on: 

• A&E attendances for the period 1 April 2015 to 31 March 2016 and  
• Inpatient admissions where the person was an inpatient at any time between 1 April 2015 to 

31 March 2016, including those still in hospital at the end of the period. 

The postcode of the recorded address of the person attending hospital has been pseudonymised and 
used to calculate the distance by road to the hospital attended. Following this, work was undertaken 
to model the impact on travel of options to move specified services to Cumberland Infirmary based 
on activity assumptions / rules supplied.  

Modelling assumptions 

It has been assumed that patients have travelled to hospital from their home. In some cases, it is 
likely that the person will have travelled to hospital from another location (such as their place of 
work). Similarly, trauma cases related to road traffic accidents would be assumed to occur away 
from a person’s home and therefore the person is likely to be taken to the hospital closest to the 
accident, which may not be the closest to that person’s home. 
 
Pseudonymised postcodes have been mapped to the nearest travel node (usually well within 400 
metres). 
 
Some emergency attendances / admissions will arise while a person is travelling far away from their 
home (for example while on holiday). For this reason, analysis was restricted to patients with a 
recorded address within the geographical boundaries of Cumbria CCG.  

It is assumed that all roads are available for travel and that the shortest routes are taken. 
 
No account has been made for patients travelling to hospitals other than Cumberland Infirmary and 
West Cumberland Hospital. Similarly, no allowance has been made for patients choosing to not visit 
hospital at all following reconfiguration of services. 
 
The number of neonatal spells is low. There is a higher number of Consultant Episodes within a 
hospital spell but a relatively low number of records with valid postcodes within Cumbria, making 
modelling assumptions less reliable.  
  
  

 
230



  

Specific modelling assumptions were provided by Deloitte on behalf of the Success Regime: 
 

• Non-complex activity is assumed to make up 85% of activity except for A&E and maternity 
where additional assumptions are applied.  

• Gynaecology is split 59:41 complex to non-complex. As the scenarios supplied do not include 
gynaecology but this is a major area of activity, assumptions have been made based on 
corresponding groups within that option. For example, if 100% of non-elective complex 
inpatients would in future be treated at Cumberland Infirmary, the travel impact for 59% of 
non-elective gynaecology inpatients (the proportion deemed to be complex) is shown.  

• 69% of West Cumberland Hospital A&E activity is assumed to be non-complex. Varying 
proportions would in future be treated at Cumberland Infirmary. 

• For maternity, 70% is assumed to be non-complex and 30% complex. These proportions 
have been amended to reflect further guidance provided by North Cumbria University 
Hospitals NHS Trust. 

 
Admission methods 2A – 2D (‘other’) have been excluded as many relate to transfers from other 
health settings. For non-elective inpatients, cases have been excluded where the admission method 
is ‘21’ (Accident and emergency or dental casualty department of the Health Care Provider) as the 
patient’s travel is likely to have been included in the A&E sections. 
 
The transfer of patients between hospitals is excluded: patients’ journeys are measured from their 
home address to the first hospital they attend. 
 
As specific rules have not been defined to agree which patients would be classed as complex, it is 
not possible to pinpoint which individuals would be treated at a different hospital. 
 
It should be noted that Deloitte assumptions were based on 2014/15 position; a number of pathway 
changes agreed in 2015 and since implemented are also included within assumed shifts in activity. 
 
Due to the lack of reliable data on road speeds to calculate travel times, travel distance in miles is 
provided as the main focus. An estimate of additional travel time based on an average speed of 35 
miles per hour is provided. This speed is based on a very small random sample of journeys (12) 
tested on Google maps which averaged 34.7mph. Reference to the Department for Transport 
research ‘Analysis of travel times on local ‘A’ roads, England: 2014’ found that “In 2014, the average 
speed of vehicles on urban local ‘A’ roads is estimated to be 19.3 mph and on rural local ‘A’ roads is 
estimated to be 37.2 mph”. This should be considered as a very broad estimate.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
231



  

BASELINE POSITION 
 
Accident & Emergency  
There were 85,101 A&E attendances (all ages) in 2015/16. 78,486 (92.2%) of these related to people 
whose usual place of residence was recorded as within Cumbria.  
 
Cumberland Infirmary received the majority of these attendances (46,015 or 58.6%). Patients 
attending Cumberland Infirmary A&E travelled 9.3 miles on average from their home address if they 
lived in Cumbria. 
 
32,471 people visited West Cumberland Hospital A&E, travelling an average of 7.1 miles from within 
Cumbria. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
INPATIENTS 
 
The following charts summarise the number of cases at each hospital in 2015/16, showing the 
average miles that patients would have travelled from home. Categories where there are no change 
plans within the consultation, eg elective day cases, are not shown. Similarly, numbers reflect the 
assumptions developed, eg admission method ‘21’ has been excluded from non elective inpatient 
numbers. 
 
 
  

 
232



  

Cumberland Infirmary April 2015 to 31 March 2016  
 
 

 
 
 
 
West Cumberland Hospital April 2015 to 31 March 2016  

 

 
 
 

 

In the following tables, RNLBX refers to West Cumberland Hospital.

233



  

PROPOSALS 
 
Maternity services 

The current assumptions do not specify which individual patients would be affected.  However, the following table shows the numbers admitted to West 
Cumberland Hospital by patient group in 2015/16 and the difference in miles to travel from home to Cumberland Infirmary compared to West Cumberland 
Hospital: 

    Difference in miles travelled to CIC vs WCH 

  WCH Numbers 2015/16 Fewer miles Less than 10 miles 10-19 miles  20 - 29 miles 30 - 39 miles 40+ miles 
Maternity (0 LoS) 223 6 2 45 78 92 0 
Maternity (0 LoS) 223 2.7% 0.9% 20.2% 35.0% 41.3% 0.0% 
Maternity IP 1397 26 25 293 421 632 0 
Maternity IP 1397 1.9% 1.8% 21.0% 30.1% 45.2% 0.0% 

 

 

Maternity Option 1 

This option involves a full range of antenatal and postnatal care at both Cumberland Infirmary and West Cumberland Hospital and the continued option of 
giving birth at the Penrith Birthing Unit or at home. However, the reduced availability of paediatric expertise at West Cumberland would mean that some 
higher risk births would take place in Carlisle.  These patients would travel a further 26.2 miles on average, incurring almost 45 minutes further travel time 
at a mean speed of 35mph.  
 
It is estimated that 150 births (0.4 per day) would instead take place at Cumberland Infirmary. The table below models additional travel time based on the 
data for 2015/16. 
 
 

 

234



  

 
Site 

Ave. 
miles 
to WCH 

Ave. 
miles 
to CIC 

Extra 
miles to 
CIC 

No. of 
people 
affected 
(move to 
CIC) 

Total additional 
miles travelled 
to  CIC (ave) 

Est additional 
travel time per 
journey 
@35mph 

Est total 
additional travel 
time to CIC 
@35mph in hours 

Maternity -  Complex (CLU) inpatient RNLBX 8.6 34.8          26.2  150 3930 00:44:55 112.3 
 
 
Using the profile of difference in miles to travel from home to Cumberland Infirmary compared to West Cumberland Hospital, it might be estimated that 
45% of women affected would travel 30 or more additional miles. This equates to 68 women. 30% might be expected to travel 20 to 29 additional miles 
(approximately 45 women). 3 patients might possibly travel fewer miles. It must be noted that this should be seen as a very broad estimate that would be 
subject to variation due to the relatively small numbers in the sample population.  

 

235



  

Maternity Option 2  
 
Option 2 involves the provision of a consultant-led maternity unit, an alongside midwife-led maternity unit and a special care baby unit at Cumberland 
Infirmary Carlisle along with a full range of antenatal and postnatal care. At West Cumberland Hospital, it would involve a standalone midwife-led maternity 
unit for low risk births, open 24 hours a day 365 days a year, with antenatal and postnatal care delivered by both consultants and midwives and with 
consultants on site between 8am and 8pm. It is anticipated that between 300 and 400 women a year would use the stand alone midwife-led maternity unit 
at West Cumberland Hospital. National evidence indicates that each year, 25% of women in labour would transfer from a midwife-led unit to a consultant 
led unit. 
 
A further 964 women would be treated at Cumberland Infirmary compared to Option 1. This equates to an additional 25,237 miles travelled compared to 
Option 1. 203 emergency caesareans, would move to Cumberland Infirmary. Looking specifically at the locations of patients requiring emergency 
caesareans in 2015/16 (largely time critical), these women would have travelled an additional 27 miles on average if they were to travel to Cumberland 
Infirmary instead of West Cumberland Hospital.  Four women lived over 60 miles from Cumberland Infirmary. The maximum full journey would take almost 
1 hour and 45 minutes for one person if travelling at an average speed of 35 mph. Effective transport arrangements would be required for this group in 
particular. Many of these women would not have travelled direct to Cumberland Infirmary.  
 
In total, 29,167 miles would be travelled by women moving from West Cumberland Hospital, taking a further 833 hours travel time at an average speed of 
35mph.  Approximately three patients per day would travel to Cumberland Infirmary.   
 

 
Site 

Ave. 
miles 
to 
WCH 

Ave. 
miles to 
CIC 

Extra 
miles to 
CIC 

No. of people 
affected (move 
to CIC) 

Total additional 
miles travelled to  
CIC (ave) 

Est additional travel 
time per journey 
@35mph 

Est total additional 
travel time to CIC 
@35mph in hours 

Maternity - Complex 
(CLU) day case RNLBX 9.1 35.0          25.9  67 1735.3 00:44:24 49.6 
Maternity -  Complex 
(CLU) inpatient RNLBX 8.6 34.8          26.2         1,047  27431.4 00:44:55 783.8 

 
 

 

Using the profile of difference in miles to travel from home to Cumberland Infirmary compared to West Cumberland Hospital, it might be estimated that
502 women affected would travel 30-39 additional miles. 339 might be expected to travel 20 to 29 additional miles. 21 patients might travel fewer miles. It

236



  

must be noted that this should be seen as a very broad estimate that would be subject to variation due to the relatively small numbers in the sample 
population. 

 
Maternity Option 3 
 
Option 3 involves the provision of a consultant-led maternity unit, an alongside midwife-led maternity unit and a special care baby unit at Cumberland 
Infirmary Carlisle along with a full range of antenatal and postnatal care. There would be no births at West Cumberland Hospital but consultants and 
midwives would give antenatal and postnatal care at this site. 
 
It is likely that up to 100 women may choose to use services at Furness General Hospital in preference to Cumberland Infirmary. However, modelling here 
assumes that all patients would be treated at Cumberland Infirmary. Based on the data provided, this would lead to 1,464 cases moving to Carlisle, 4 
patients per day. These patients would travel a further 26.2 miles on average, incurring a further 44 minutes and 53 seconds travel time at a mean speed of 
35mph. In total, this equates to 38,337 additional miles travelled, incurring 1,095 hours additional travel time at an average speed of 35mph. 
 
 
 

  Site 

Ave. 
miles to 
WCH 

Ave. 
miles to 
CIC 

Extra miles 
to CIC 

No. of people 
affected (move 
to CIC) 

Total additional 
miles travelled to  
CIC (ave) 

Est additional travel 
time per journey 
@35mph 

Est total additional 
travel time to CIC 
@35mph in hours 

Maternity -  
day case RNLBX 9.1 35.0          25.9  67 1,735.3  00:44:24 49.6 
Maternity -  
inpatient RNLBX 8.6 34.8          26.2         1,397  36,601.4  00:44:55 1045.8 

 
 

 

Using the profile of difference in miles to travel from home to Cumberland Infirmary compared to West Cumberland Hospital, it might be estimated that
660 women affected would travel 30 or more additional miles. 444 might be expected to travel 20 to 29 additional miles. 28 patients might travel fewer
miles. Again, it must be noted that this should be seen as a very broad estimate that would be subject to variation due to the relatively small numbers in the
sample population.

237



  

Children’s services 
 
The current assumptions do not specify which individual patients would be affected.  However, the following table shows the numbers admitted to West 
Cumberland Hospital by patient group in 2015/16 and the difference in miles to travel from home to Cumberland Infirmary compared to West Cumberland 
Hospital: 
 

 
  Difference in miles travelled to CIC vs WCH 

  
  
  
  

  WCH Numbers 2015/16 Fewer miles Less than 10 miles 10-19 miles  20 - 29 miles 30 - 39 miles 
A&E Aged 0-16 5951 310 106 985 1300 3250 

5.2% 1.8% 16.6% 21.8% 54.6% 
Paediatrics - NEL inpatient 587 9 13 118 150 297 

1.5% 2.2% 20.1% 25.6% 50.6% 
Paediatrics – NEL 0 days LoS* 352 7 5 77 98 165 

2.0% 1.4% 21.9% 27.8% 46.9% 
Paediatrics - elective inpatient 17 1 1 1 4 10 

5.9% 5.9% 5.9% 23.5% 58.8% 
Paediatrics - EL DC 47 8 3 5 15 16 

17.0% 6.4% 10.6% 31.9% 34.0% 
Neonatal services IP 32 0 0 9 5 18 

0.0% 0.0% 28.1% 15.6% 56.3% 
 
 
Children’s Option 1 
 
This option involves the development of an inpatient paediatric unit based at Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle along with a short stay paediatric assessment 
unit. At West Cumberland Hospital, Whitehaven there would be a short stay paediatric assessment unit for children requiring short term observation and 
treatment. There would also be some overnight beds at Whitehaven for children with less acute, low risk illnesses but children who needed more acute 
inpatient admission would be treated at Carlisle. 
 

 

238



  

It is estimated that 15% of Paediatrics non elective inpatient cases are complex and all of these would be treated at Carlisle. In addition, 20% of the 
remaining non elective inpatients, 20% of elective inpatients and 20% of neonatal cases would also move to Carlisle.  
 
This would lead to a total of 197 cases moving to Carlisle, 0.5 patients per day. Patients would travel a further 26.7 miles on average, incurring just under 46 
minutes additional travel time at a mean speed of 35mph. In total, this equates to 5,267 additional miles travelled, requiring 152 more hours travel at 
35mph. 
 

  Site 

Ave. 
miles 
to 
WCH 

Ave. 
miles 
to CIC 

Extra 
miles to 
CIC 

No. of 
people 
affected 
(move to 
CIC) 

Total 
additional 
miles travelled 
to  CIC (ave) 

Est additional 
travel time per 
journey 
@35mph 

Est total 
additional travel 
time to CIC 
@35mph in 
hours 

Paediatrics - NEL inpatient Non Complex RNLBX 7.7 34.6          26.9  100 2690.0 00:46:07 76.9 
Paediatrics - NEL inpatient Complex RNLBX 7.7 34.6          26.9  88 2367.2 00:46:07 67.6 
Paediatrics – NEL 0 days LoS* RNLBX 8.0 34.2          26.2  0 0.0 00:00:00 0.0 
Paediatrics - elective inpatient RNLBX 8.6 34.6          26.1  3 41.3 00:44:44 2.2 
Neonatal services inpatient RNLBX 7.5 35.5          28.0  6 168.0 00:48:00 4.8 

 
* Paediatrics – NEL 0 days LoS: This category refers to patients not admitted electively who leave hospital without staying overnight. 
 
Using the profile of difference in miles to travel from home to Cumberland Infirmary compared to West Cumberland Hospital, it might be estimated that 
101 children affected would travel 30 or more additional miles. 50 might be expected to travel 20 to 29 additional miles. 3 patients might travel fewer 
miles. It must be noted that this should be seen as a very broad estimate that would be subject to variation due to the relatively small numbers in the 
sample population. 

 
  

 

239



  

Children’s Option 2 
 
This option involves the development of an inpatient paediatric unit based at Cumberland Infirmary along with a short stay paediatric assessment unit. At 
West Cumberland Hospital – as with option 1 – there would be a short stay paediatric assessment unit for children requiring short term observation and 
treatment but there would be no overnight beds at Whitehaven for children. Any child who needed inpatient admission would be admitted to Carlisle. Also, 
if Emergency and Acute Option 2 is chosen, there would be a daytime only A&E service and a 24/7 urgent care centre, which would see patients overnight 
with less serious injuries and conditions. The impact of this on children and young people aged 0-16 years is shown. 
 
For modelling purposes, it has been assumed that A&E will operate at West Cumberland Hospital between 8am and 6pm and deals with the same cases 
during that time as with option 1. Approximately 57.8% of A&E attendances occurred during these times in 2015/16. According to one document quoted 
(Fin v6.1WCH Med Staff Clin Strategy Props’n.doc), if there was no A&E at WCH, 69% of attendances would still take place at WCH via a minor injuries / 
illness unit. Therefore, 31% of A&E is deemed complex and this proportion of attendances are moved from those taking place between 6pm and 8am. 
 
All paediatric and neonatal inpatient services would take place in Carlisle.  
 
This option affects 1,415 patients in total, just under 4 patients per day, but a further 1,218 patients compared to Option 1. Patients would travel an 
additional 27.7 miles on average, taking 47 minutes and 33 seconds travelling at 35mph. This equates to 39,253 additional miles travelled (1,122 hours at 
35mph).   
 
 

  Site 

Ave. 
miles to 
WCH 

Ave. 
miles 
to CIC 

Extra 
miles to 
CIC 

No. of people 
affected 
(move to CIC) 

Total additional 
miles travelled 
to  CIC (ave) 

Est additional 
travel time per 
journey @35mph 

Est total additional 
travel time to CIC 
@35mph in hours 

A&E RNLBX 6.7 35.1      28.4 779  22123.6 00:48:41 632.1 
Paediatrics - NEL inpatient  RNLBX 7.7 34.6          26.9            587  15790.3 00:46:07 451.2 
Paediatrics – NEL 0 days LoS* RNLBX 8.0 34.2          26.2  0 0.0 00:00:00 0.0 
Paediatrics - elective inpatient RNLBX 8.6 34.6          26.1              17  443.5 00:44:44 12.7 
Neonatal services inpatient RNLBX 7.5 35.5          28.0              32  896.0 00:48:00 25.6 

 
* Paediatrics – NEL 0 days LoS: This category refers to patients not admitted electively who leave hospital without staying overnight. 
 

 

240



  

Using the profile of difference in miles to travel from home to Cumberland Infirmary compared to West Cumberland Hospital, it might be estimated that 
750 children affected would travel 30-39 additional miles. 329 might be expected to travel 20 to 29 additional miles. 51 patients might travel fewer miles. It 
must be noted that this should be seen as a very broad estimate that would be subject to variation due to the relatively small numbers in the sample 
population. 

  

 

241



  

Children’s Option 3 
 
This option involves the development of an inpatient paediatric unit based at Cumberland Infirmary along with a short stay paediatric assessment unit. At 
West Cumberland Hospital, there would be paediatric outpatient services only and no short stay paediatric assessment unit. 
 
If Emergency and Acute Option 3 is chosen (please see section below), there would be no A&E unit at West Cumberland Hospital but there would be a 24/7 
urgent care centre which would see patients with less serious injuries and conditions. The impact of this on children and young people aged 0-16 years is 
shown. 

A substantially greater number of children would be affected by this option – 2,880 compared to 1,415 with Option 2. This equates to 7.9 patients per day. 
79,515 additional miles would be travelled in total, taking 2,272 hours at an average speed of 35mph. 
 

  Site 

Ave. 
miles to 
WCH 

Ave. 
miles 
to CIC 

Extra 
miles to 
CIC 

No. of people 
affected 
(move to CIC) 

Total additional 
miles travelled 
to  CIC (ave) 

Est additional 
travel time per 
journey @35mph 

Est total additional 
travel time to CIC 
@35mph in hours 

A&E RNLBX 6.7 35.1 28.4 1845 52398.0 00:48:41 1497.1 
Paediatrics - NEL inpatient RNLBX 7.7 34.6          26.9            587  15790.3 00:46:07 451.2 
Paediatrics – NEL 0 days LoS* RNLBX 8.0 34.2          26.2            352  9222.4 00:44:55 263.5 
Paediatrics - elective inpatient RNLBX 8.6 34.6          26.1              17  443.5 00:44:44 12.7 
Paediatrics - EL DC RNLBX 14.7 30.9          16.3              47  764.7 00:27:53 21.8 
Neonatal services IP RNLBX 7.5 35.5          28.0              32  896.0 00:48:00 25.6 

 

 

* Paediatrics – NEL 0 days LoS: This category refers to patients not admitted electively who leave hospital without staying overnight.

Using the profile of difference in miles to travel from home to Cumberland Infirmary compared to West Cumberland Hospital, it might be estimated that
1514 children affected would travel 30 or more additional miles. 675 might be expected to travel 20 to 29 additional miles. 515 patients would travel 10-19
miles further. 121 patients might travel fewer miles. It must be noted that this should be seen as an estimate for A&E services where only a proportion of
patients would be affected. This would be subject to variation as the actual patients affected have not been specified.

242



  

Emergency and acute care  
 
For A&E attendances, this section refers to adult cases only. Children’s A&E is included in the children’s services section of this report. 
 
The current assumptions do not specify which individual patients would be affected.  However, the following table shows the numbers admitted to West 
Cumberland Hospital by patient group in 2015/16 and the difference in miles to travel from home to Cumberland Infirmary compared to West Cumberland 
Hospital: 
 
    Difference in miles travelled to CIC vs WCH         
  WCH Numbers 

2015/16 
Fewer miles Less than 10 

miles 
10-19 
miles  

20 - 29 
miles 

30 - 39 
miles 

A&E Aged 17 Plus 26094 1532 471 4282 6104 13705 
5.9% 1.8% 16.4% 23.4% 52.5% 

Non elective (0 LoS)* 
  

953 
  

15 15 183 232 508 
1.6% 1.6% 19.2% 24.3% 53.3% 

Non elective IP 
  

1,039 
  

47 26 210 286 470 
4.5% 2.5% 20.2% 27.5% 45.2% 

Elective  inpatient 
  

1437 
  

423 54 224 244 492 
29.4% 3.8% 15.6% 17.0% 34.2% 

Gynaecology - elective IP 
  

308 
  

36 12 57 60 143 
11.7% 3.9% 18.5% 19.5% 46.4% 

Gynaecology - NEL (0 LoS)* 
  

8 
  

0 0 3 2 3 
0.0% 0.0% 37.5% 25.0% 37.5% 

Gynaecology - NEL inpatient 
  

44 
  

1 0 7 15 21 
2.3% 0.0% 15.9% 34.1% 47.7% 

 
 
* NEL 0 days LoS: This category refers to patients not admitted electively who leave hospital without staying overnight. 
 
 

 

243



  

Emergency and Acute Option 1 
 
Option 1 involves a 24/7 A&E at Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle along with acute medical inpatient services, including for the most complex cases. There 
would also be a 24/7 A&E at West Cumberland Hospital along with acute medical inpatient services and rehabilitation. There would also be a small 
intensive care unit. Some of the most seriously ill patients would be treated at Carlisle if it was felt they would benefit from the extra support available 
there. However, much of this change in activity already occurs with decisions made by consultants on an individual patient’s basis.  
 
This option involves reducing complexity at this site. It is estimated that 15% of the most complex inpatient cases would be treated at Cumberland Infirmary 
rather than West Cumberland Hospital. Gynaecology is included separately to reflect a different split between complex & non-complex activity (59:41). 
Hyper acute stroke services are excluded from this option as they are considered further in another option below. This option does not involve any change 
in A&E attendances. 
 
580 people are affected in total, approximately 1.6 people per day. This would involve travelling an additional 10,788 miles in total, requiring an estimated 
308 hours travel at an average speed of 35mph.  
 
 

  Site 

Ave. 
miles 
to WCH 

Ave. 
miles 
to CIC 

Extra 
miles to 
CIC 

No. of people 
affected 
(move to CIC) 

Total additional 
miles travelled to  
CIC (ave) 

Est additional 
travel time per 
journey @35mph 

Est total additional 
travel time to CIC 
@35mph in hours 

Non elective inpatient Complex RNLBX 8.8 33.7          26.4  156 3884.4 00:42:41 111.0 
Elective  Complex inpatient RNLBX 17.4 28.3          10.9  216 2361.4 00:18:44 67.5 
Gynaecology - elective inpatient RNLBX 11.4 32.5          21.1  182       3,840.56  00:36:10 109.7 
Gynaecology - NEL inpatient RNLBX 8.3 35.3          27.0  26           702.0  00:46:17 20.1 

 
Using the profile of difference in miles to travel from home to Cumberland Infirmary compared to West Cumberland Hospital, it might be estimated that 
242 patients would travel 30 or more additional miles if their service was affected under option 1. 124 might be expected to travel 20 to 29 additional miles. 
93 patients might travel fewer miles. It must be noted that this should be seen as a very broad estimate that would be subject to variation due to the 
relatively small numbers in the sample population. 

 

 

244



  

 
Emergency and Acute Option 2 
 
Option 2 involves a 24/7 A&E at Cumberland Infirmary and acute medical inpatient services with extra capacity at night and for more complex cases. There 
would be assessment and inpatient beds for the frail elderly, as well as specialist rehabilitation. The number of inpatient beds and intensive care beds 
would increase, as would the number of emergency assessment unit beds. 
 
At West Cumberland Hospital, there would be a daytime only A&E service and a 24/7 urgent care centre which would see patients overnight with less 
serious injuries and conditions. Selected patients would be admitted by emergency ambulance and through referral from their GP during the day. There 
would be no intensive care unit at Whitehaven but there would be support from specialist clinicians for any very sick patients in order to provide immediate 
care prior to transfer. There would a number of assessment and in-patient beds including beds for the frail elderly who are medically stable and for 
rehabilitation. 
 
For modelling purposes, it has been assumed that A&E will operate at West Cumberland Hospital between 8am and 6pm and deals with the same cases 
during that time as with option 1. Approximately 57.8% of A&E attendances occurred during these times in 2015/16. According to one document quoted 
(Fin v6.1WCH Med Staff Clin Strategy Props’n.doc), if there was no A&E at WCH, 69% of attendances would still take place at WCH via a minor injuries / 
illness unit. Therefore, 31% of A&E is deemed complex and this proportion of attendances are moved from those taking place between 6pm and 8am. 
Hyper acute stroke services are excluded from this option as they are considered further in another option below.  
 
This option affects 3,694 patients in total, 10.1 patients per day. This is 3,114 more than in Option 1 due to the reductions in provision of A&E. This leads to 
97,882 additional miles travelled in total, taking an estimated 2797 additional travel hours at an average speed of 35mph. 
 
 

  Site 

Ave. 
miles 
to WCH 

Ave. 
miles 
to CIC 

Extra 
miles to 
CIC 

No. of people 
affected 
(move to CIC) 

Total additional 
miles travelled to  
CIC (ave) 

Est additional 
travel time per 
journey @35mph 

Est total additional 
travel time to CIC 
@35mph in hours 

A&E Type I RNLBX 7.1 35.1          28.0  3,114  87093.9 00:47:57 2488.4 
Non elective inpatient Complex RNLBX 8.8 33.7          24.9  156 3884.4 00:42:41 111.0 
Elective  Complex inpatient RNLBX 17.4 28.3          10.9  216 2361.4 00:18:44 67.5 
Gynaecology - elective inpatient RNLBX 11.4 32.5          21.1  182       3,840.56  00:36:10 109.7 
Gynaecology - NEL inpatient RNLBX 8.3 35.3          27.0  26           702.0  00:46:17 20.1 

 

 

245



  

Using the profile of difference in miles to travel from home to Cumberland Infirmary compared to West Cumberland Hospital, it might be estimated that 
1878 of these patients would travel 30 or more additional miles. 852 might be expected to travel 20 to 29 additional miles. 615 patients might be expected 
to travel 10 to 19 additional miles. 276 patients might travel fewer miles. It must be noted that this should be seen as a very broad estimate that would be 
subject to variation due to the relatively small numbers in the sample population. 
 
 
Emergency and Acute Option 3 
 
Option 3 involves a significantly expanded 24/7 A&E at Cumberland Infirmary equipped to care for all patients brought in by emergency ambulance. It 
would also care for the majority of GP referrals. The number of emergency assessment unit, inpatient, and intensive care beds would increase to manage all 
acutely ill patients in this area. 
 
At West Cumberland Hospital there would be no A&E unit and no intensive care unit but there would be a 24/7 urgent care centre which would see 
patients with less serious injuries and conditions. The urgent care centre and outpatient services for those not requiring admission would be supported by 
specialist clinicians in the daytime but there would be no overnight care for acutely unwell patients. Medically stable frail elderly patients could be admitted 
as inpatients, and there would also be assessment services for the frail elderly along with rehabilitation beds. 
 
This option affects 9,380 patients, approximately 25.7 people per day. These patients would travel an additional 255,339 miles, incurring an additional 9807 
hours of travel at an average speed of 35mph. This represents an increase of 5,686 patients affected and an additional 157,457 miles compared to Option 2. 
 

  Site 

Ave. 
miles 
to WCH 

Ave. 
miles 
to CIC 

Extra 
miles to 
CIC 

No. of 
people 
affected 
(move to 
CIC) 

Total additional 
miles travelled 
to  CIC (ave) 

Est additional 
travel time per 
journey 
@35mph 

 

Est total
additional travel
time to CIC
@35mph in hours

A&E Type I                                                    RNLBX             7.1          35.1             28.0                     7,876                 220279.9                   00:47:57                         6293.7
Non elective  (0 LoS)*                                RNLBX             7.5          35.0             27.6                         477                   13141.9                   00:47:14                            375.5
Non elective inpatient (complex) RNLBX             8.8          33.7             24.9                         156                      3884.4                   00:42:41                            111.0
Non elective inpatient (non-complex) RNLBX             8.8          33.7             24.9                         442                   11005.8                   00:42:41                            314.5
Elective  Complex inpatient                      RNLBX          17.4          28.3             10.9                         216                      2361.4                   00:18:44                              67.5
Gynaecology - elective inpatient              RNLBX          11.4          32.5             21.1                         182                      3840.6                   00:36:10                            109.7

246



  

  Site 

Ave. 
miles 
to WCH 

Ave. 
miles 
to CIC 

Extra 
miles to 
CIC 

No. of 
people 
affected 
(move to 
CIC) 

Total additional 
miles travelled 
to  CIC (ave) 

Est additional 
travel time per 
journey 
@35mph 

Est total 
additional travel 
time to CIC 
@35mph in hours 

Gynaecology - NEL (0 LoS)* RNLBX 8.1 32.7          24.6  5 123.0 00:42:10 3.5 
Gynaecology - NEL inpatient RNLBX 8.3 35.3          27.0  26 702.0 00:46:17 20.1 

 
* NEL 0 days LoS: This category refers to patients not admitted electively who leave hospital without staying overnight. 
 
Using the profile of difference in miles to travel from home to Cumberland Infirmary compared to West Cumberland Hospital, it might be estimated that 
4835 of these patients would travel 30-39 additional miles. 2205 might be expected to travel 20 to 29 additional miles and 1579 patients might travel 10 to 
19 additional miles. 583 patients might travel fewer miles. It must be noted that this should be seen as a very broad estimate that would be subject to 
variation as the actual patients affected have not been specified. 
 
  

 

247



  

Hyper-acute stroke services 
 
There were 628 admissions for stroke in 2015/16. 260 of these people started treatment at West Cumberland Hospital. 
 
Hyper-Acute Stroke Option 1 
 
Option 1 would largely maintain services as they are now but the service would be enhanced by ensuring improved, early supported discharge in both 
Carlisle and Whitehaven. This option has no travel impact.  
 
Hyper-Acute Stroke Option 2 
 
Option 2 would see all acute stroke cases managed in a single hyper-acute stroke unit based at Cumberland Infirmary, prior to moves into a stroke unit for 
further treatment and rehabilitation (both sites). 
 
362 A&E attendances for suspected stroke transported by emergency ambulance would be diverted from West Cumberland Hospital to Cumberland 
Infirmary under this option. 260 inpatients from West Cumbria would move their care from West Cumberland Hospital to Carlisle. It is likely that the 
majority of these patients will have attended A&E so their additional journey will have been included already. The inpatient figures are based on actual 
strokes and do not include those patients who show symptoms like stroke but turn out not to have had a stroke. The modelling for this option excludes the 
impact of those who later on in their care were identified as having had a stroke. People lived 8.1 miles from West Cumberland Hospital on average. 
Receiving first treatment at Cumberland Infirmary involves a further 26.1 miles’ journey on average, taking 44 minutes and 44 seconds additional time 
travelling at 35 mph. In total, this option leads to 16,231 additional miles travelled per year, taking approximately 464 hours at a speed of 35mph.  
 

 
Site 

Ave. 
miles 
to WCH 

Ave. 
miles 
to CIC 

Extra 
miles 
to CIC 

No. of 
people 
affected 
(move to 
CIC) 

Total additional 
miles travelled 
to  CIC (ave) 

Est additional 
travel time per 
journey 
@35mph 

Est total 
additional travel 
time to CIC 
@35mph in hours 

A&E stroke attendances via ambulance RNLBX 8.2 34.2 26.0 362 9415.7 00:44:35 269.0 

NEL inpatients RNLBX 8.1 34.3 26.2 260 6815.0 00:44:56 194.7 

 
 

 

248



  

Trauma and Emergency General Surgery 

The travel impact has not been modelled as these pathways are already in place. However for reader information, the volumes of transfers from West 
Cumberland Hospital to Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle in 2015/16 were as shown below. The category ‘other’ includes patients with problems where the 
speciality inpatient beds have always been in Carlisle (e.g.  inpatient renal and range of other specialist services) plus those patients where an individual 
decision has been made that they would benefit from transfer to Carlisle. It is noted that for trauma and emergency general surgery some activity can now 
be safely returned to the West Cumberland Hospital – this is expected to be approximately 150 trauma and 200 new general surgery cases, and will have a 
positive impact on miles travelled. 
 
Cardiology 234 

GI Bleed 67 

Respiratory 12 

Trauma 517 

Emerg. general and 
other surgery (e.g. 
ENT, Maxillofacial) 548 

Other 461 

Total 1839 

 

 

  

 

249



  

Elective activity 

The consultation proposes that some further non-complex day case and inpatient surgery can be returned to West Cumberland Hospital. If, for example, 
the 5% of people who lived closest to Whitehaven and treated as elective day cases at Cumberland Infirmary were treated at West Cumberland Hospital, 
this would lead to reduced travel for 1,043 people saving a total of 37,209 miles. It is unlikely that all of these patients could be treated at West Cumberland 
Hospital as it may not be appropriate to do so in all cases.  
 
Similarly, there is significant outpatient activity at the Cumberland Infirmary which provides care for patients living in West Cumbria postcodes (more than 
30,000 attendances per year). In the proposals it is expected that a proportion of outpatient care will be provided in more local settings including West 
Cumberland Hospital, Community Hospitals, and Health Centres, with some activity being managed in different ways which prevents the need to attend 
hospital.  
 
Whilst this is not within scope of this travel impact analysis, once it can be modelled and taken into account, the impact overall would be expected to be 
significantly positive. 
 

 

 

250



ACUTE HOSPITALS TRAVEL IMPACT ANALYSIS: ACCOMPANYING NOTE 

 

BACKGROUND 

The original travel impact analysis was produced to support the PCBC in May. This was based on 
assumptions supplied by Deloitte.   Following the development of the public consultation document 
and options detailed within it, it was identified that some amendments to the travel impact analysis 
would be required to reflect changes in the assumptions used.  

 
KEY CHANGES TO THE PUBLISHED TRAVEL IMPACT ANALYSIS REPORT 

Children’s and Neonates services:  

• Use of 20% cases affected in Option 1 instead of 80% originally proposed in error in 
assumptions. 

Maternity services:  

• Use of specific numbers of cases affected as proposed in the Consultation instead of the 
original percentage assumptions supplied. 

Treatment of ‘day cases’ (all sections):  

• This term was used in the original modelling in both elective and non-elective instances. 
Non-elective Day Case does not exist within the NHS data dictionary, but as we could not 
apply more specific rules, the Emergency Short Stay Tariff that includes stays of 0 or 1 days 
was used. Figures have been amended to include only zero length of stay as a Day Case. This 
was applied in both non elective and elective instances. 

A&E: 

• No patients are affected in Option 1 (Original assumption was 10% but this was based on 
2014/15 figures with changes having already occurred since then)-  

• Children’s attendances (0-16 years) moved to the children’s services section. 
• Stroke attendances: a list of attendance numbers at WCH was supplied by NCUHT.  This was 

matched to A&E data previously supplied. These records were removed from the A&E 
dataset and specific distances travelled are shown in the Hyper-acute stroke services 
section. 

Hyper-acute stroke services: 

• A&E attendances were calculated and removed from the Emergency and Acute section as 
described above. It is noted that in the preferred option ambulances would take patients 
direct to CIC, but that a number of patients would continue to present at WCH. 
 

APPENDIX 3a 

251



• An aggregate number for inpatients (260) was supplied by the Trust. As the diagnosis was 
not available in the dataset supplied, it was not possible to match this. Therefore HRG codes 
AA22A and AA22B were used to calculate average distances for patients and adjusted to 
reflect 260 patients. 

• For the additional miles modelled for NEL admissions it is likely that the large majority of 
these are already ‘counted’ in the A&E modelling, but recognised that some may be 
admitted directly. 

Non-elective inpatients: 

• Excluded cases where the admission method is ‘21’ (Accident and emergency or dental 
casualty department of the Health Care Provider) as the patient’s travel has already been 
included in the A&E sections. It is noted however that a number of these patients may be 
required to transfer by ambulance to CIC from WCH, although such transfers are not 
modelled in this work. Notes added to acknowledge that, if A&E Option 1 is adopted, 
additional in-hospital transfers may take place that are not within the scope of this work. 

Range of additional miles travelled: 

• For most POD’s, a proportion ranging from 1.5% to 29.4% would actually travel fewer miles 
if they were treated at Cumberland Infirmary. There may be another reason (clinical or 
patient preference) why the patient was treated at West Cumberland Hospital. These cases 
lower the average difference in miles travelled. Showing ranges highlights the number of 
patients who would travel 30 or more additional miles but no patients travel 40 additional 
miles.  

Wording: 

• Removal of the word ‘transfer’ to emphasise that the travel impact analysis does not 
consider transfers between hospitals. 

 

SUMMARY 

The following table quantifies the main differences between the revisions to the Acute Hospitals 
Travel Impact Analysis completed in December 2016 and the version that was published as part of 
the consultation. The greatest changes relate to:  

• Treating all day case assumptions as 0 length of stay,  
• No A&E moves in Opt 1,  
• Moving children's A&E to the children’s section,  
• Excluding non-elective admissions when the admission method states that the patient was 

admitted from A&E.  

 

 

252



  
Consultation 
document Revised Dec 2016 Difference 

  

No. of 
people 
affected 

Total 
additional 
miles 
travelled 
to  CIC 
(ave) 

No. of 
people 
affected 

Total 
additional 
miles 
travelled 
to  CIC 
(ave) 

Change 
(people) 

Change 
(miles) 

Maternity Option 1 489 12816.5 150 3930.0 -339  -8886.5  
Maternity Option 2 708 18652.7 1114 29166.7 406  10514.0  
Maternity Option 3 1058 27980.1 1464 38336.7 406  10356.6  
Children’s Option 1 102 2791.6 197 5266.5 95  2474.9  

Children’s Option 2 
           

337  9192.8 1415 39253.4 1078  30060.7  
Children’s Option 3 1713 45385.5 2880 79514.9 1167  34129.4  
Emergency and Acute Option 
1 4086 110579.8 580 10788.4 -3506  -99791.4  
Emergency and Acute Option 
2 6964 191073.2 3694 97882.3 -3270  -93190.9  
Emergency and Acute Option 
3 13854 379632.0 9380 255339.0 -4474  -124293.0  
Hyper-Acute Stroke Option 2 260 6815.0 622 16230.7 362  9415.7  

 

The actual changes in miles travelled as a result of refining the assumptions would depend on the 
options finally selected. If the Success Regime preferred options are selected for instance (Maternity 
Option 2, Children’s Option 1, Emergency and Acute Option 1, Hyper-Acute Stroke Option 2), there 
would be a  reduction between versions  of 2,643 patients affected and 77,387 fewer additional 
miles. 

253



NHS PROTECT PLEASE ENSURE THIS INFORMATION IS NOT TAKEN OUT OF CONTEXT 

Community Hospitals: Travel Impact Analysis 

Author: David Oates 

Date: 8th June 2016 

Version: 0.3 

APPENDIX 3b

254



 NHS PROTECT PLEASE ENSURE THIS INFORMATION IS NOT TAKEN OUT OF CONTEXT  

 

Report Specification 
Recipients 

Success Regime West, North & East Cumbria. 

 

Data Source 

Sources 

Data was sourced from the Secondary Uses Service data already available to NECS for the period 1 April 2015 

to 31 March 2016. It covers finished day case and inpatient activity taking place during this period so excludes 

any admissions that were not complete until after 31 March 2016. 

Department for Transport research paper ‘Analysis of travel times on local ‘A’ roads, England: 2014’ 

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/analysis-of-travel-times-on-local-a-roads-england-2014. 

Travel distances are calculated using data made available by the Ordnance Survey (OS OpenData)  

https://www.ordnancesurvey.co.uk/business-and-government/products/os-open-roads.html 

Avoidable Mortality in Cumbria – A Review of 73 Fatal Road Traffic Collisions, Centre for Public Health, 

Liverpool John Moores University 

Geography 

This report covers patients with a recorded address within the geographical boundaries of Cumbria CCG. 

Period 

Data was obtained on 9 May 2016. 

Production 

Produced by 

David Oates, Clinical Commissioning Intelligence Specialist, david.oates@nhs.net 

Maps produced by Beth Tear, Senior Information Analyst, beth.tear@nhs.net  

Reviewed by 

Allan Worthy, Clinical Commissioning Intelligence Specialist, allan.worthy@nhs.net 

No part of this report should be reproduced or shared in any form or by any means without reference to NECS 

Clinical Commissioning Intelligence. Please ensure this information is not taken out of context   

Completion Date 

8 June 2016 

Saved in 

\ I:\CCG Specific\O1H - CUMBRIA\Success Regime\Summary  

255

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/analysis-of-travel-times-on-local-a-roads-england-2014
https://www.ordnancesurvey.co.uk/business-and-government/products/os-open-roads.html
mailto:david.oates@nhs.net
mailto:beth.tear@nhs.net
mailto:allan.worthy@nhs.net


 NHS PROTECT PLEASE ENSURE THIS INFORMATION IS NOT TAKEN OUT OF CONTEXT  

 

  

Success Regime: Community Hospital Beds Travel Impact Analysis 

Introduction 

North of England Commissioning Support Unit has been asked to undertake an initial travel impact 
analysis to model the effect of possible changes in the configuration of nine community hospital 
sites managed by Cumbria Partnership NHS Foundation Trust (CPFT). Following further initial 
consultation, the West, North and East Cumbria Success Regime has requested revisions:  

 exclude inpatient cases with zero days length of stay recorded  

 exclude oral surgery cases (previously identified separately)  

 to specify which hospital each patient would attend in addition to identifying additional 
travel details. 

In addition, capacity of hospital sites is examined for each option. There is a reduction in capacity to 
104 beds across all options compared to the current position which is 130 beds, although some of 
these are not in use due to resource issues. This is a risk until ICC hubs are established that can help 
people maintain their health and independence. 

Scope and approach 

The analysis is based on activity data relating to the location of patients who have used community 
hospital beds provided by CPFT during the period 1 April 2015 to 31 March 2016. 

The postcode area, district, sector and first digit of unit of the recorded address of the person 
attending hospital has been used to calculate the distance by road to the hospital attended. 
Following this, work was undertaken to model the impact on travel if the community hospital used 
was not available. In this instance, the community hospital nearest to the patient’s home address 
was selected. 

NECS was asked to model a range of options: 

1. Minimal consolidation of beds to six sites across WNE Cumbria 

2a. Consolidation around 5 sites (including Cockermouth) with effective use of other sites  

2b. Consolidation around 5 sites (including Workington) with effective use of other sites 

3. Consolidation around 3 sites with effective use of other sites. 

 

Modelling assumptions 

The models include people who attended given community hospitals for geriatric medicine. This 
covers a wide range of diagnoses (over 500 distinct categories). Differences are modelled only for 
patients whose existing site would be no longer available.  
 
In all options, it is assumed that patients would attend the nearest available site if the hospital they 
had used was not available. 
 

256



 NHS PROTECT PLEASE ENSURE THIS INFORMATION IS NOT TAKEN OUT OF CONTEXT  

 

It has been assumed that patients have travelled to hospital from their home. It is likely that, in 
many cases, the person will have travelled to hospital from another location, particularly another 
hospital (please see the Baseline Position below).  
 
For reasons of confidentiality, we did not have access to patients’ home addresses, so truncated 
postcodes have been mapped to the nearest travel node (usually within 400 metres). 
 
Some admissions will arise while a person is travelling far away from their home (for example while 
on holiday). For this reason, analysis was restricted to patients with a recorded address within the 
geographical boundaries of Cumbria CCG. Data was sourced from the Secondary Uses Service data 
already available to NECS. 

For model 3, it is assumed that "Carlisle New Site" will be colocated at the Carleton Site in Carlisle. 
It is assumed that all roads are available for travel and that the shortest routes are taken. 
 
It was not possible to include 28 records in the travel impact analysis due to either an invalid 
postcode being recorded or the individual having an address outside of Cumbria. This equates to 
1.2% of admissions overall so is not significant. 8 of these records relate to the Copeland Unit at 
West Cumberland Hospital which remains in each of the options (reducing those records without a 
location to c0.8%). A further 8 relate to Alston admissions and 5 were recorded at Penrith Hospital 
(both sites being likely to serve patients from the neighbouring county). 
 

Due to the lack of reliable data on road speeds to calculate travel times, distance to travel in miles is 
provided as the main focus. An estimate of additional travel time based on an average speed of 35 
miles per hour is provided. This speed is based on a very small random sample of journeys (12) 
tested on Google maps which averaged 34.7mph. Reference to the Department for Transport 
research ‘Analysis of travel times on local ‘A’ roads, England: 2014’ found that “In 2014, the average 
speed of vehicles on urban local ‘A’ roads is estimated to be 19.3 mph and on rural local ‘A’ roads is 
estimated to be 37.2 mph”. This should be considered as a very broad estimate. Further work could 
be undertaken to better estimate travel times at a later date if required. 

 

BASELINE POSITION 
 
In 2015/16, there were 2217 admissions to the community hospitals. This excludes 92 admissions for 

oral surgery at Workington Community Hospital and 28 cases without location data as noted in the 

Modelling assumptions. If inpatient cases with zero days length of stay recorded are removed, this 

figure reduces to 1996. 

1641 (82.2%) admissions were non-emergency transfers from another hospital (presumably step 

down). Whilst travel impact may be less of a factor in these instances, travel for friends and family 

visiting the patient will be a factor. As the address of relatives is not available, the postcode of the 

patient is used in all cases (assuming that many who visit a patient may live at the same address or 

close by). 357 (17.9%) people were admitted from their usual place of residence.  

 

 

 

257



 NHS PROTECT PLEASE ENSURE THIS INFORMATION IS NOT TAKEN OUT OF CONTEXT  

 

The following map shows the location from which patients travelled to each community hospital in 

2015/16. It is important to note that there are a number of cases where patients were not placed in 

their nearest hospital. This may be due to lack of capacity at the nearest hospital. It should also be 

noted that these markers cannot reflect the number of people admitted from that location. This can 

be one or many people.  

 

  

258



 NHS PROTECT PLEASE ENSURE THIS INFORMATION IS NOT TAKEN OUT OF CONTEXT  

 

Community Hospital Activity April 2015 to 31 March 2016 

Numbers of admissions in the year vary from 105 at Alston Hospital to 339 at Copeland. Perhaps 

relevant for visitors, the average length of stay in a community hospital was 21 days. There is a wide 

variation in length of stay from 12.8 days at Cockermouth Hospital to almost 34 days at Wigton. 

 

Hospital No of admissions % Average of Length Of Stay 

BRAMPTON HOSPITAL 181 8.5% 25.9 

COCKERMOUTH HOSPITAL 266 13.0% 12.8 

KESWICK HOSPITAL 167 7.3% 23.0 

MARYPORT HOSPITAL 218 13.1% 16.4 

ALSTON HOSPITAL 105 2.7% 18.8 

PENRITH HOSPITAL 339 16.5% 26.5 

COPELAND (WCH) 296 15.7% 19.6 

WIGTON HOSPITAL 149 8.7% 33.9 

WORKINGTON COMMUNITY 
HOSPITAL 275 14.4% 16.9 

Grand Total 1996 100.0% 21.0 

 

 
 

Average distance travelled to community hospitals from home 2015/16 
 
 

Hospital No of admissions 
Average distance from 
home (miles) 

BRAMPTON HOSPITAL 181 9.5 

COCKERMOUTH HOSPITAL 266 4.4 

KESWICK HOSPITAL 167 7.3 

MARYPORT HOSPITAL 218 4.0 

ALSTON HOSPITAL 105 12.6 

PENRITH HOSPITAL 339 6.3 

COPELAND (WCH) 296 5.0 

WIGTON HOSPITAL 149 7.5 

WORKINGTON COMMUNITY 
HOSPITAL 275 2.2 

Grand Total 1996 5.8 

 
 

259



 NHS PROTECT PLEASE ENSURE THIS INFORMATION IS NOT TAKEN OUT OF CONTEXT  

 

Option 1: Minimal consolidation of beds to six sites across WNE Cumbria 
 
This option maintains community hospitals at Workington, Keswick, Penrith, Brampton, Copeland and Cockermouth. This is the least change option. This 
option affects 472 people with an estimated 1680 additional miles to travel to the nearest community hospital (estimate 48 hours). The greatest impact 
relates to patients who previously would have been cared for in Wigton Hospital: 
 
  

Hospital 
No of 
admissions 

Baseline 
average 
distance 
from 
home 
(Miles) 

No. of 
patients 
affected 

Average Miles 
travelled to 
nearest available 
site 

Average 
Additional 
miles 
travelled 

Est 
additional 
travel 
time time 
per 
journey 
@35mph 

Est. Total 
Additional 
miles 
travelled 

Est total 
additional 
travel 
time time 
(Hours) 

MARYPORT HOSPITAL 218 4.0 218  
                               
6.3  

                 
2.5  00:04:17 545.0  15.6 

ALSTON HOSPITAL 105 12.6 105  
                             
14.0  

                 
1.3  00:02:14 136.5  3.9 

WIGTON HOSPITAL 149 7.5 149  
                             
14.1  

                 
6.7  00:11:29 998.3  28.5 

Grand Total 1996 5.8 472 
                               
6.5  

                
3.5  00:18:00 1680 48.0 

 

 

 

 

 

 

260



 NHS PROTECT PLEASE ENSURE THIS INFORMATION IS NOT TAKEN OUT OF CONTEXT  

 

The following table shows which hospital these people would attend if they were transferred to the next nearest hospital: 

 
Nearest hospital Model 1           

 

Current Hospital No Change 
Brampton 
Hospital 

Cockermouth 
Hospital 

Keswick 
Hospital 

Penrith 
Hospital 

Workington 
CH 

Copeland 
(WCH) 

Total 
admissions 
(Model 1) 

BRAMPTON HOSPITAL 181 
      

292 

COCKERMOUTH HOSPITAL 266 
      

397 

KESWICK HOSPITAL 167 
      

172 

MARYPORT HOSPITAL 
 

3 49 
  

158 8 
 ALSTON HOSPITAL 

 
67 

  
37 

 
1 

 PENRITH HOSPITAL 339 
      

397 

COPELAND (WCH) 296 
      

305 

WIGTON HOSPITAL 
 

41 82 5 21 
   WORKINGTON COMMUNITY HOSPITAL 275 

      
433 

Grand Total 1524 111 131 5 58 158 9 1996 

 

  

261



 NHS PROTECT PLEASE ENSURE THIS INFORMATION IS NOT TAKEN OUT OF CONTEXT  

 

The maps below shows where patients who had previously used Maryport, Alston or Wigton hospitals would transfer if they attended the next nearest 

hospital. Please note: a point may represent more than one person attending from that location. 

 

  

262



 NHS PROTECT PLEASE ENSURE THIS INFORMATION IS NOT TAKEN OUT OF CONTEXT  

 

The following table shows bed days used if these people moved to the above hospitals and stayed for the same lengths of time. There would be likely to be 

capacity issues at all sites, except Keswick: 

Current Hospital 

Total bed 

days 

(Model 1) 

Bed capacity 

(Model 1) Max bed days 

Est Occupancy 

based on current 

LoS 

BRAMPTON HOSPITAL 
7601 16 5840 130.2% 

COCKERMOUTH HOSPITAL 
6761 16 5840 115.8% 

KESWICK HOSPITAL 
4002 16 5840 68.5% 

PENRITH HOSPITAL 
10370 24 8760 118.4% 

COPELAND (WCH) 
5963 16 5840 102.1% 

WORKINGTON COMMUNITY 
HOSPITAL 

7240 16 5840 124.0% 

Grand Total 
41937 104 37960 110.5% 

 

 

  

263



 NHS PROTECT PLEASE ENSURE THIS INFORMATION IS NOT TAKEN OUT OF CONTEXT  

 

Option 2: Consolidation around 5 sites, including Cockermouth 

This option maintains community hospitals at Copeland (32 beds), Cockermouth (16 beds), Penrith (24 beds), Brampton (16 beds) and Keswick (16 beds). 
This option affects 747 people with an estimated 3698 additional miles to travel to the nearest community hospital (estimate 106 additional hours). There is 
a substantial impact for the people who would have used Workington due to the relatively large numbers using this site. The average travel times for 
people who would have used Maryport Hospital also increases compared to option 1 as many would have moved to Workington. 
 
 

Hospital 
No of 
admissions 

Average 
miles 
from 
home 

No. of 
patients 
affected 

Average 
Miles 
travelled 
to nearest 
available 
site 

Average 
Additional 
miles 
travelled 

Est 
additional 
travel 
time time 
per 
journey 
@35mph 

Est. Total 
Additional 
miles 
travelled 

Est total 
additional 
travel 
time time 
(Hours) 

MARYPORT HOSPITAL 218 4.0 218  
                 

8.1               4.3  00:07:25 942.6  26.9 

ALSTON HOSPITAL 105 12.6 105  
               

14.0               1.3  00:02:14 136.8  3.9 

WIGTON HOSPITAL 149 7.5 149  
               

14.1               6.7  00:11:27 994.7  28.4 

WORKINGTON COMMUNITY 
HOSPITAL 275 2.2 275  

                 
8.1               5.9  00:10:08 1,624.3  46.4 

Grand Total 1996 5.8 747  7.6              4.9  00:00:00 3698 106 

 

 

  

264



 NHS PROTECT PLEASE ENSURE THIS INFORMATION IS NOT TAKEN OUT OF CONTEXT  

 

The following table shows which hospital these people would attend if they were transferred to the next nearest hospital: 

 

Nearest Hospital Model 2 

 
Nearest Hospital Model 2         

 

Current Hospital 
No 
Change 

Brampton 
Hospital 

Cockermouth 
Hospital 

Keswick 
Hospital 

Penrith 
Hospital 

Copeland 
(WCH) 

Total 
admissions 
(Model 2) 

BRAMPTON HOSPITAL 181 
     

292 

COCKERMOUTH 
HOSPITAL 266 

     
694 

KESWICK HOSPITAL 167 
     

172 

MARYPORT HOSPITAL 
 

3 193 
  

22 
 ALSTON HOSPITAL 

 
67 

  
37 1 

 PENRITH HOSPITAL 339 
     

397 

COPELAND (WCH) 296 
     

441 

WIGTON HOSPITAL 
 

41 82 5 21 
  WORKINGTON COMMUNITY HOSPITAL 

 
153 

  
122 

 Grand Total 1249 111 428 5 58 145 1996 

 

 

  

265



 NHS PROTECT PLEASE ENSURE THIS INFORMATION IS NOT TAKEN OUT OF CONTEXT  

 

The maps below shows where patients who had previously used Workington, Maryport, Alston or Wigton hospitals would transfer if they attended the next 

nearest hospital. Please note: a point may represent more than one person attending from that location.  

   

266



 NHS PROTECT PLEASE ENSURE THIS INFORMATION IS NOT TAKEN OUT OF CONTEXT  

 

The following table shows bed days used if these people moved to the above hospitals and stayed for the same lengths of time. There would be likely to be 

capacity issues at a number of sites, particularly Brampton and Cockermouth. It is likely that some of those patients whose nearest hospital would be 

Cockermouth would need to be admitted into the increased capacity created in the Copeland Unit at West Cumberland Hospital: 

 

Current Hospital 
Total bed days 
(Model 2) 

Bed capacity 
(Model 2) 

Max bed 
days 

Est Occupancy based on 
current LoS 

BRAMPTON HOSPITAL 7601 16 5840 130.2% 

COCKERMOUTH HOSPITAL 11873 16 5840 203.3% 

KESWICK HOSPITAL 4002 16 5840 68.5% 

PENRITH HOSPITAL 10370 24 8760 118.4% 

COPELAND (WCH) 8091 32 11680 69.3% 

WORKINGTON COMMUNITY 
HOSPITAL 

    Grand Total 41937 104 37960 110.5% 

 

 

 

  

267



 NHS PROTECT PLEASE ENSURE THIS INFORMATION IS NOT TAKEN OUT OF CONTEXT  

 

Option 3: Consolidation around 5 sites, including Workington 

This option maintains community hospitals at Copeland (32 beds), Workington (16 beds), Penrith (24 beds), Brampton (16 beds) and Keswick (16 beds). This 

option affects 738 people with an estimated 2858 additional miles to travel to the next nearest community hospital (estimate 81.7 hours). When compared 

with option 2, it can be seen to have a detrimental effect for those who would have previously been admitted to Wigton Hospital (an average increase of 

1.3 miles). However, the average travel times for people who would have used Maryport Hospital reduces by a similar amount and, overall, this model 

incurs a lower travel impact than option 2. 

 

Site Name 
Number of 
Admissions 

Baseline 
average 
distance 
from 
home 
(Miles) 

No. of 
patients 
affected 

Average 
Miles 
travelled 
to 
nearest 
available 
site 

Average 
Additional 
miles 
travelled 

Est 
additional 
travel 
time time 
per 
journey 
@35mph 

Est. Total 
Additional 
miles 
travelled 

Est total 
additional 
travel 
time time 
(Hours) 

COCKERMOUTH HOSPITAL 266 4.4 266  
           
7.8  

               
3.3  00:05:38 873.0  24.9 

MARYPORT HOSPITAL 218 4.0 218  
           
6.7  

               
3.0  00:05:09 654.0  18.7 

ALSTON HOSPITAL 105 12.6 105  
         
14.0  

               
1.3  00:02:18 140.8  4.0 

WIGTON HOSPITAL 149 7.5 149  
         
15.4  

               
8.0  00:13:41 1,190.0  34.0 

Grand Total 1996 5.8 738            7.1  
              
3.8  00:26:46 2857.8 81.7 

 

 

268



 NHS PROTECT PLEASE ENSURE THIS INFORMATION IS NOT TAKEN OUT OF CONTEXT  

 

The following table shows which hospital these people would attend if they were transferred to the next nearest hospital. It can be seen that there is a 

substantially increased demand placed on Workington Community Hospital: 

 

Nearest Hospital Model 3 

Current Hospital 
No 
Change 

Brampton 
Hospital 

Keswick 
Hospital 

Penrith 
Hospital 

Workington 
Community Hospital 

Copeland 
(WCH) 

Total 
admissions 
(Model 3) 

BRAMPTON HOSPITAL 181 
     

297 

COCKERMOUTH HOSPITAL 
 

3 18 3 232 10 
 KESWICK HOSPITAL 167 

     
227 

MARYPORT HOSPITAL 
 

3 
  

207 8 
 ALSTON HOSPITAL 

 
67 

 
37 

 
1 

 PENRITH HOSPITAL 339 
     

401 

COPELAND (WCH) 296 
     

315 

WIGTON HOSPITAL 
 

43 42 22 42 
  WORKINGTON COMMUNITY 

HOSPITAL 275 
     

756 

Grand Total 1258 116 60 62 481 19 1996 

 

  

269



 NHS PROTECT PLEASE ENSURE THIS INFORMATION IS NOT TAKEN OUT OF CONTEXT  

 

The maps below shows where patients who had previously used Cockermouth, Maryport, Alston or Wigton hospitals would transfer if they attended the 

next nearest hospital. Please note: a point may represent more than one person attending from that location. 

  

270



 NHS PROTECT PLEASE ENSURE THIS INFORMATION IS NOT TAKEN OUT OF CONTEXT  

 

The following table shows bed days used if these people moved to the above hospitals and stayed for the same lengths of time. There would be likely to be 

capacity issues at a number of sites, particularly Workington and Brampton. It is likely that some of those patients whose nearest hospital would be 

Workington would need to be admitted into the increased capacity created in the Copeland Unit at West Cumberland Hospital which is underused based on 

a ‘nearest hospital’ approach: 

Current Hospital Total bed days (Model 3) Bed capacity (Model 3) Max bed days Est Occupancy based on current LoS 

BRAMPTON HOSPITAL 7698 16 5840 131.8% 

KESWICK HOSPITAL 5307 16 5840 90.9% 

PENRITH HOSPITAL 10504 24 8760 119.9% 

COPELAND (WCH) 6100 32 11680 52.2% 

WORKINGTON COMMUNITY HOSPITAL 12328 16 5840 211.1% 

Grand Total 41937 104 37960 110.5% 

 

  

271



 NHS PROTECT PLEASE ENSURE THIS INFORMATION IS NOT TAKEN OUT OF CONTEXT  

 

Option 4: Consolidation around 3 sites 

This option maintains community hospitals at Copeland (increasing to 48 beds) and Penrith (24 beds), and involves a new 32 bed unit at either Cumberland 

Infirmary or the Carleton Unit. For this model, it has been assumed that the new unit will be sited at the Carleton Unit. This option has the greatest impact 

on travel, affecting 1,361 people and involving 5,105 additional miles with an estimated 145.9 hours of additional travel time. Travel time is reduced for 

many of those who previously used Brampton Hospital as a substantial proportion were Carlisle residents. 

 

Hospital 
No of 
admissions 

Baseline 
average 
distance 
from 
home 
(Miles) 

No. of 
patients 
affected 

Average 
Miles 
travelled 
to 
nearest 
available 
site 

Average 
Additional 
miles 
travelled 

Est 
additional 
travel 
time time 
per 
journey 
@35mph 

Est. Total 
Additional 
miles 
travelled 

Est total 
additional 
travel 
time time 
(Hours) 

BRAMPTON HOSPITAL 181 9.5 181  
           

5.9  -3.6 Reduced -655.0  -18.7 

COCKERMOUTH HOSPITAL 266 4.4 266  
           

7.2  2.7 00:04:35 712.1  20.3 

KESWICK HOSPITAL 167 7.3 167  
         

13.3  6.2 00:10:33 1,028.4  29.4 

MARYPORT HOSPITAL 218 4.0 218  
         

14.7  10.9 00:18:44 2,382.8  68.1 

ALSTON HOSPITAL 105 12.6 105  
         

13.8  1.1 00:01:54 116.3  3.3 

WIGTON HOSPITAL 149 7.5 149  
         

10.4  3.0 00:05:06 442.6  12.6 

WORKINGTON COMMUNITY 
HOSPITAL 275 2.2 275  

           
6.1  3.9 00:06:43 1,078.2  30.8 

Grand Total 1996 5.8 1,361            8.3               3.9  00:47:36 5,105.4  145.9  

 

272



 NHS PROTECT PLEASE ENSURE THIS INFORMATION IS NOT TAKEN OUT OF CONTEXT  

 

 

It can be seen that locating a community hospital in Carlisle would have a beneficial effect for the large population living in that area. However, there is a 

greater impact for those who used Maryport Hospital in 2015/16 and would have attended Workington Community Hospital under option 3.  

 

The following table shows which hospital these people would attend if they were transferred to the next nearest hospital: 

Nearest Hospital Model 4 

 

Current Hospital No Change Copeland (WCH) Penrith Hospital The Carleton Clinic Total admissions (Model 4) 

BRAMPTON HOSPITAL 
 

2 3 176 
 COCKERMOUTH HOSPITAL 

 
251 4 11 

 KESWICK HOSPITAL 
 

15 138 14 
 MARYPORT HOSPITAL 

 
202 

 
16 

 ALSTON HOSPITAL 
 

1 78 26 
 PENRITH HOSPITAL 339 

   
563 

COPELAND (WCH) 296 
   

1048 

WIGTON HOSPITAL 
 

9 1 139 
 WORKINGTON COMMUNITY HOSPITAL 

 
272 

 
3 

 The Carleton Clinic 
    

385 

Grand Total 635 752 224 385 1996 

 

 

  

273



 NHS PROTECT PLEASE ENSURE THIS INFORMATION IS NOT TAKEN OUT OF CONTEXT  

 

The maps below shows where patients who had previously used hospitals other than Penrith and Copeland would transfer if they attended the next nearest 

hospital, including a new site in Carlisle. Please note: a point may represent more than one person attending from that location. 

 

  

274



 NHS PROTECT PLEASE ENSURE THIS INFORMATION IS NOT TAKEN OUT OF CONTEXT  

 

The following table shows bed days used if these people moved to the above hospitals and stayed for the same lengths of time. The main pressure point 

would then be at Penrith hospital. Some of those patients whose nearest hospital would be Penrith could be admitted into the new site in Carlisle. 

However, overall capacity remains the same and the capacity at Carlisle could only accommodate 1030 additional bed days whilst Penrith is 5089 days over 

capacity: 

 

Current Hospital Total bed days (Model 4) Bed capacity (Model 4) Max bed days Est Occupancy based on current LoS 

PENRITH HOSPITAL 13849 24 8760 158.1% 

COPELAND (WCH) 17438 48 17520 99.5% 

The Carleton Clinic 10650 32 11680 91.2% 

Grand Total 41937 104 37960 110.5% 

 

275



 NHS PROTECT PLEASE ENSURE THIS INFORMATION IS NOT TAKEN OUT OF CONTEXT  
 

 

 

 

 

Impact of Integrated Care Communities and stretch assumptions  

on patient travel to hospital 

 

 

Date: 6th February 2017 

Version: 0.2 

APPENDIX 3c 

 

276



Report Specification 
Reader note 

This report considers the impact of Integrated Care Communities and other initiatives on anticipated growth in activity and its effects on additional travel 
resulting from the preferred options outlined in the West, North and East Cumbria Healthcare for the Future consultation. 

Recipients 

Success Regime West, North & East Cumbria. 

Sources 

Data was supplied by North Cumbria University Hospitals NHS Trust and Cumbria Partnership NHS Foundation Trust. It is based on A&E attendances for the 
period 1 April 2015 to 31 March 2016 and inpatient admissions where the person was an inpatient at any time between 1 April 2015 to 31 March 2016. 

Reference is made to the Department for Transport research paper ‘Analysis of travel times on local ‘A’ roads, England: 
2014’ https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/analysis-of-travel-times-on-local-a-roads-england-2014. 

Travel distances are calculated using data made available by the Ordnance Survey (OS OpenData) https://www.ordnancesurvey.co.uk/business-and-
government/products/os-open-roads.html 

Geography 

This report covers patients with a recorded address within the geographical boundaries of Cumbria CCG. 

Production 

This report has been produced by North of England Commissioning Support based on a specification from West, North and East Cumbria Success Regime.  
Please ensure this information is not taken out of context.   

Completion Date: 6th February 2017.   

 

277

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/analysis-of-travel-times-on-local-a-roads-england-2014
https://www.ordnancesurvey.co.uk/business-and-government/products/os-open-roads.html
https://www.ordnancesurvey.co.uk/business-and-government/products/os-open-roads.html


IMPACT OF INTEGRATED CARE COMMUNITIES AND STRETCH ASSUMPTIONS ON PATIENT TRAVEL TO HOSPITAL 

 

INTRODUCTION 

West, North and East Cumbria Success Regime has developed and consulted on a range of options to meet the challenges that health care services face 
today and in the future. Work to predict the impact of these options on patient travel to hospital has been undertaken. It has also been recognised that 
without intervention demand for emergency, acute and even community hospital inpatient services will increase over time as people live longer, but not 
always healthier, lives. 

This report summarises the travel impact of the preferred options and analyses the impact on travel of these options over the next five years. This is then 
compared with options to provide more outpatient appointments at locations across Cumbria and proposals to develop Integrated Care Communities to 
deliver joined up care involving the NHS, social care providers and the voluntary sector.  

 

ASSUMPTIONS 

The assumptions used are consistent with previous West, North and East Cumbria Success Regime travel impact analysis reports. Assumptions include: 

• It has been assumed that patients have travelled to hospital from their home. The transfer of patients between hospitals is excluded. 
• Pseudonymised postcodes have been mapped to the nearest travel node 
• Analysis was restricted to patients with a recorded address within the geographical boundaries of Cumbria. 
• It is assumed that all roads are available for travel and that the shortest routes are taken. 
• Specific modelling assumptions to identify patients affected were provided by Deloitte. These have been amended by the Success Regime where 

local or clinical knowledge suggested that this was appropriate. It is acknowledged that more detailed work to refine high-level assumptions is 
underway and that the assumptions used here may change. 

This report also models growth in demand for healthcare services and the impact of out of hospital initiatives. The table below summarises the assumptions 
that underpin this work. 

 

278



 

(Source: WNE Cumbria Pre Consultation Business Case, Additional Finance Material, June 2016, p15) 

 

  

 

279



PREFERRED OPTIONS 

The Public Consultation Document ‘The Future of Healthcare in West, North & East Cumbria’ identified preferred options with the following implications for 
services at West Cumberland Hospital: 

• Maternity Option 2 (provision of a standalone midwife-led maternity unit with antenatal and postnatal care delivered by both consultants and 
midwives and with consultants on site between 8am and 8pm) 

• Children’s Option 1 (short stay paediatric assessment unit plus some low acuity beds at Whitehaven for children with less acute, low risk illnesses 
where medical intervention is not anticipated overnight) 

• Emergency and Acute Option 1 (retains a 24/7 A&E at West Cumberland Hospital along with acute medical inpatient services and rehabilitation. 
Some of the most seriously ill patients would be treated at Carlisle if it was felt they would benefit from the extra support available there). 

• Hyper-Acute Stroke Option 2 (all acute stroke cases managed in a single hyper-acute stroke unit based at Cumberland Infirmary, prior to moves 
into a stroke unit for further treatment and rehabilitation - both sites and/or early supported discharge). 

In addition, the preferred option for Community Hospital Inpatients was Option 1 (no inpatient services at Alston, Wigton and Maryport 
community hospitals)  

Whilst the intention is to reduce the need for outpatient appointments and deliver those required by different means and/or closer to home wherever 
possible, detailed proposals for North Cumbria University Hospitals NHS Trust outpatient appointments have not been developed to date.  

PREFERRED OPTIONS: POTENTIAL IMPACT OF DELIVERING MORE CARE OUT OF HOSPITAL SETTINGS (FIVE YEARS)  

Activity (demand for services) is estimated to grow cumulatively at a rate of 2% per annum. Core assumptions have been developed to estimate potential 
reductions in hospital utilisation through the provision of Integrated Care Communities. 

West, North and East Cumbria Success Regime also developed some stretch assumptions based on workstream propositions and opportunities identified 
using Right Care and Better Care Better Value indicators. The following tables model the numbers of patients who would be affected under the preferred 
options and the total additional miles that they would travel to hospital. It also shows how the number of people affected would increase if no out of 
hospital initiatives are implemented and the impact of core and stretch assumptions on this growth.  

 

 

280



 

Maternity Option 2 

It is considered that the development of Integrated Care Communities will not have a significant effect on arrangements for births.  

 

Children’s Option 1 

If no out of hospital reductions are implemented, the number of children affected by these proposals would rise from 197 to 218 in five years.  Using the 
core assumptions shown earlier (5% reduction for non-elective inpatient and 1.3% for elective inpatients), the number affected still increases over 5 years 
but 11 fewer children would face additional travel compared to expected growth if no changes are implemented. If the stretch assumptions opportunities 
can be realised, numbers affected after 5 year growth would be lower than current levels.  

 

Children’s Option 
1 

Current 
no. of 
people 
affected 
(move to 
CIC) 

"Do Nothing" 5 year 
growth Core Impact 

Core Impact after 5 
year growth 

Stretch Impact 
  

Stretch Impact after 
5 year growth 

  
No’s 
affected 

Total 
additional 
miles 

No’s 
affected 

Total 
additional 
miles 

No’s 
affected 

Total 
additional 
miles 

No’s 
affected 

Total 
additional 
miles 

No’s 
affected 

Total 
additional 
miles 

Paediatrics - NEL 
inpatient 

188 
208 5595 179 4815 198 5326 152        4,089  172 4627 

Paediatrics - 
elective inpatient 

3 
3 78.3 3 78.3 3 78.3 3 78.3 3 78.3 

Neonatal services 
NEL inpatient  

6 
7 196.0 6 168.0 6 168.0 5 140.0 5 140.0 

Total 197 218 5869.3 188 5061.3 207 5572.5 160 4307.1 180 4845.1 
 

 

281



 

Emergency and Acute Option 1 

580 people are affected by this option. If no out of hospital reductions are implemented, the numbers affected by these proposals would rise to 640 in five 
years.  Using the core assumptions shown earlier (5% reduction for non-elective inpatient and 1.3% for elective inpatients), the number affected still 
increases over 5 years but 14 fewer people would face additional travel compared to expected growth if no changes are implemented. If the stretch 
assumptions opportunities can be realised, numbers affected after 5 year growth would be 546 (34 lower than current levels). 

Emergency and 
Acute Option 1 

Current 
no. of 
people 
affected 
(move 
to CIC) 

"Do Nothing" 5 year 
growth Core Impact 

Core Impact after 5 
year growth 

Stretch Impact 
  

Stretch Impact after 
5 year growth 

  
No’s 
affected 

Total 
additional 
miles 

No’s 
affected 

Total 
additional 
miles 

No’s 
affected 

Total 
additional 
miles 

No’s 
affected 

Total 
additional 
miles 

No’s 
affected 

Total 
additional 
miles 

Non elective 
inpatient Complex 156 172 4282.8 148 3884.4 164 4083.6 126 3137.4 142 3535.8 
Elective  Complex 
inpatient 216 238 2602.0 213 2361.4 236 2580.1 184 2011.6 206 2252.1 
Gynaecology - 
elective inpatient 182 201 4241.5 180 3840.6 199 4199.3 155 3270.8 174 3671.7 
Gynaecology - NEL 
inpatient 26 29 783 25 702 27 729 21 567 24 648.0 

 

Hyper-Acute Stroke Option 2 

362 A&E attendances for suspected stroke transported by emergency ambulance would be diverted from West Cumberland Hospital to Cumberland 
Infirmary under this option. 260 inpatients from West Cumbria would move their care from West Cumberland Hospital to Carlisle. It is likely that the 
majority of these patients will have attended A&E so their additional journey will have been included already. However, to take a worst case scenario, all of 
these patients have been included.  

 

282



This option could affect up to 622 patients who would travel an additional 16231 miles to Cumberland Infirmary. This is expected to increase within five 
years to 687 patients affected, travelling an additional 17927 miles. The core assumptions are expected to reduce this growth very slightly to 682 patients 
affected (ICC’s are not expected to impact on A&E attendances for suspected stroke). The stretch assumptions are predicted to reduce inpatient admissions 
by 5% (5.4% increase following 5 year’s growth). 

 

Hyper-Acute 
Stroke 
Option 2 

Current 
no. of 
people 
affected 
(move to 
CIC) 

"Do Nothing" 5 year 
growth Core Impact 

Core Impact after 5 
year growth Stretch Impact 

Stretch Impact after 5 
year growth 

  
Numbers 
affected 

Total 
additional 
miles 

Numbers 
affected 

Total 
additional 
miles 

Numbers 
affected 

Total 
additional 
miles 

Numbers 
affected 

Total 
additional 
miles 

Numbers 
affected 

Total 
additional 
miles 

A&E stroke 
attendances 
via 
ambulance 362 400 10404.1 362 9415.7 400 10404.1 339 8817.5 376 9779.8 
Inpatient  260 287 7522.7 255 6815.0 282 7391.6 247 6474.2 274 7181.9 

 

 

Community Hospital Inpatients Option 1 

Inpatient admissions would cease at Alston, Wigton and Maryport community hospitals. This is estimated to affect 472 patients who would travel an 
additional 1659 miles to the next nearest community hospital. This is expected to increase within five years to 521 patients affected, travelling an additional 
1831 miles. The core assumptions are not expected to reduce admissions to community hospitals, although they could reduce length of stay for patients. 
The stretch assumptions are predicted to reduce admissions to community hospitals by 19.6% (9.2% following 5 year’s growth). This equates to 429 
admissions in five years’ time, 43 fewer than currently and 92 fewer than that expected after five years growth if no action is taken. 

 

 

283



Community 
Hospital 
Option 1 
  

Current no. 
of people 
affected 
(move to 
CIC) 

"Do Nothing" 5 year 
growth 

Core Impact Core Impact after 5 
year growth 

Stretch Impact 
  

Stretch Impact after 
5 year growth 

Numbers 
affected 

Total 
additional 
miles 

Numbers 
affected 

Total 
additional 
miles 

No’s 
affected 

Total 
additional 
miles 

Numbers 
affected 

Total 
additional 
miles 

No’s 
affected 

Total 
additional 
miles 

  472 521 1831 - - 521 1831 379 1332 429 1508 
 

 

Outpatient options 

Outpatient services provided by Cumbria Partnership NHS Foundation Trust are not considered in this report as they are already provided through a wider 
range of sites. 

Numbers of outpatient attendances are predicted to grow by 2% per year.  There are no core assumptions that are expected to reduce numbers of 
outpatient attendances. Within five years, it is anticipated that demand for outpatient services will increase from 324977 attendances per year by nearly 
34000 to 358775. It is estimated that this would increase travel to hospital by over 390,000 miles per year. However, if Integrated Care Communities and 
stretch assumptions can be implemented, this growth could be reversed so that, after five years, the number of attendances is predicted to fall by 5.8% 
compared to the current position.  This would reduce the number of attendances to 306128 per year, incurring 217825 miles fewer than currently. 
Transformation plans for achieving this include better long term conditions management in primary care supported by secondary care as part of 
multidisciplinary team working and care planning thus preventing the need for referral, as well as proposals to provide care which result currently in 
outpatient visits in different ways – for example via Advice and Guidance and email options. 

NCUHT 
Outpatient 
Attendances 

Current 
No’s 

"Do Nothing" 5 year 
growth Core Impact 

Core Impact after 5 
year growth Stretch Impact 

Stretch Impact after 
5 year growth 

  
No’s 
affected 

Total 
miles 

No’s 
affected 

Total 
miles 

No’s 
affected 

Total 
miles 

No’s 
affected 

Total 
miles 

No’s 
affected 

Total 
miles 

All Attendances 
2015/16 324977 358775 4146126 - - 358775 4146126 272331 3147150 306128 3537720 

 

 

284



Other outpatient transformation work includes provision of more appointments at West Cumberland Hospital and Cumberland Infirmary based on 
proximity for the patient, with opportunities to offer more outpatient clinics in community hospitals (and potentially other community settings). Further 
work is required before the forecast impact on NCUHT outpatient appointments can be determined so at this point a range of scenarios are explored which 
are purely for illustrative purposes.  

All of these approaches would have a beneficial impact on patient travel compared to current arrangements. If, for example, appointments can be 
reconfigured between Cumberland Infirmary and West Cumberland Hospital to enable patients to attend the nearest main hospital, this could lessen travel 
for up to 43347 attendances per year (mostly benefitting people from West Cumbria). If just 25% of these attendances could be dealt with at the nearer 
hospital, this would result in 10,837 reduced journeys to hospital per year. 231,197 fewer miles would be travelled. 

If appointments can be decentralised further to community hospitals and 20% of Cumberland Infirmary and West Cumberland Hospital patients who live 
closer to another hospital could be treated at that site, this would reduce travel for up to 29,789 attendances per year. This would avoid 504,677 miles 
travel. 

The outpatient modelling in the table does not include the impact of any ICC reductions in outpatient activity. The number of miles saved by decentralising 
outpatient appointments would be reduced if delivery of care outside of hospital initiatives are successful in preventing outpatient activity.  However, 
clearly such initiatives would in themselves have an even more beneficial impact on patient travel. 

 

  

 

285



SUMMARY & CONCLUSION 

If the preferred options are adopted, this could lead to 2985 people being affected, travelling an additional 63148 miles. If no mitigating actions are 
implemented, this is expected to increase within five years to 3296 people affected, travelling an additional 69740 miles. Core assumptions would reduce 
this number by 30 people after five years. Stretch assumptions would reduce this number to 3035 people affected after five years, travelling an additional 
65626 miles. 

  

  
No. of 
people 
affected  

"Do Nothing" 5 year 
growth Core Impact 

Core Impact after 5 
year growth 

Stretch Impact 
  

Stretch Impact after 
5 year growth 

Preferred Option 
No’s 
affected 

Total 
additional 
miles 

No’s 
affected 

Total 
additional 
miles 

No’s 
affected 

Total 
additional 
miles 

No’s 
affected 

Total 
additional 
miles 

No’s 
affected 

Total 
additional 
miles 

Maternity Option 2 1114 1230 32204 1114 29167 1230 32204 1114 29167 1230 32204 
Children’s Option 1 197 218 5869 188 5061 207 5572 160 4307 180 4845 
Community Hospital 
Option 1 472 521 1831 472 1659 521 1831 379 1332 429 1508 
Emergency and 
Acute Option 1 580 640 11909 566 10788 626 11592 486 8987 546 10108 
Hyper-Acute Stroke 
Option 2 622 687 17927 617 16231 682 17796 586 15292 650 16962 
Total 2985 3296 69740 2957 62906 3266 68995 2725 59084 3035 65626 

 

 

 

It is recognised that travel for outpatient appointments will often be less time critical than in emergency situations. However, the table below demonstrates
that all options for decentralising outpatient appointments significantly outweigh the increased travel implications arising from Emergency, Acute and
community hospital inpatient proposals. The following table shows the number of patients affected and additional miles incurred if the preferred options
are implemented. It then illustrates potential overall net savings in travel if various options for providing more outpatient appointments closer to home are
implemented.

286



Overall Net Travel implications involving various outpatient scenarios: 

 

Preferred Option No. of journeys to hospital affected  
Total additional miles 
travelled 

Est total additional travel  time 
@35mph in hours 

Maternity Option 2 1114 29167 833.3 
Children’s Option 1 197 5303 151.5 
Emergency and Acute Option 1 580 10788 308 
Hyper-Acute Stroke Option 2 622 16231 463.7 
Community Hospital Option 1 472 1659 47.4 
Total 2985 63148 1804 

Less Potential Outpatient Travel Savings 
No. of journeys where other hospital 
is closer Total miles saved Est travel time saved @35mph in hours 

25% to nearer main hospital (CIC & WCH) 10837 231197 6606 
Potential Net reduction  -7852 -168049 -4801 
50% to nearer main hospital (CIC & WCH) 21674 462394 13211 
Potential Net reduction  -18689 -399245 -11407 
75% to nearer main hospital (CIC & WCH) 32510 693590 19817 
Potential Net reduction  -29525 -630442 -18013 
10% to Nearest CH 14895 252348.6 7210.0 
Potential Net reduction  -11910 -189200 -5406 
20% to Nearest CH 29789 504676.5 14419.3 
Potential Net reduction  -26804 -441528 -12615 
50% to Nearest CH 74472 1261786 36051 
Potential Net reduction  -71487 -1198637 -34247 

 

 

287



T
his page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 4 
 

 
    

 
 

Name of the Document West, North & East Cumbria  

Rapid Desktop Rural Proofing Assessment(v4) 
Date Completed February 2017 

Author Prepared by the Public Health Team as an independent professional 
assessment and does not necessarily represent County Council policy 

 Summary of the Document  

Rural proofing is a means to achieve equally effective and successful outcomes for communities, 
businesses and individuals from policy and in the design and delivery of publicly funded services, 
regardless of their size or location.     
 

It is therefore essential that policy makers: 
 

1. Consider whether their policy is likely to have a different impact in rural areas from 
elsewhere, because of the particular characteristics of rural areas. 

2.  Make a proper assessment of these impacts if they are likely to be significant; and adjust 
the policy, where appropriate, with solutions to meet rural needs and circumstances. 

 

Rural Proofing is therefore ‘a process’ that enables organisations and departments to ‘screen’ their 
policies and programmes at the development stage in order to ascertain their potential impact upon 
rural communities.   
 

It is not a substitute for consultation with rural communities, Policy Appraisal or the normal 
Regulatory Impact Assessment, and should be used as an additional tool alongside these. 

 

This initial desktop ‘rural proofing’ review of the Healthcare for the Future, West, North, East 
Cumbria proposals was undertaken in February 2017. The proposals were reviewed against the 
eighteen ‘underlying principles to rural proofing’ defined by Department for Environment, Food and 
Rural Affairs (DEFRA) (outlined in the document) 

 
 

 
 

289



Appendix 4 

 
 
 

Healthcare for the Future in 
West, North & East Cumbria  

Rapid Desktop Rural Proofing Assessment  
February 2017 

  

 
290



Healthcare for the Future, West, North, East Cumbria   – Rural Proofing Assessment 

Introduction 

What Is Rural Proofing? 

Rural proofing is a means to achieve equally effective and successful outcomes for communities, 
businesses and individuals from policy and in the design and delivery of publicly funded services, 
regardless of their size or location1. 

It is therefore essential that policy makers: 

1. Consider whether their policy is likely to have a different impact in rural areas from 
elsewhere, because of the particular characteristics of rural areas; 

2. Make a proper assessment of these impacts if they are likely to be significant; and adjust the 
policy, where appropriate, with solutions to meet rural needs and circumstances 

Rural Proofing is therefore ‘a process’ that enables organisations and departments to ‘screen’ their 
policies and programmes at the development stage in order to ascertain their potential impact upon 
rural communities.   

It is not a substitute for consultation with rural communities, Policy Appraisal or the normal 
Regulatory Impact Assessment, and should be used as an additional tool alongside these. 

Background 

In 2013 DEFRA published an updated version of the Commission for Rural Communities’ Rural 
Proofing Toolkit originally published in 2009. While the updated guidance material was applicable at 
all levels of Government, it was targeted at national-level policy-makers, not least because the 
Government has no formal focus in requiring local level public sector organisations to rural proof 
their own policies and services. However, DEFRA acknowledged that many local level service design 
and delivery practitioners do take account of their rural responsibilities in designing and delivering 
their services. In consultation with stakeholders, they identified an evidence gap concerning the 
underlying principles of good practice and exemplars of good practice at a local level. As a result a 
toolkit to support local level rural proofing was 
produced: http://randd.defra.gov.uk/Default.aspx?Module=More&Location=None&ProjectID=18130 

These underlying principles have been used as a framework to assess the Success Regime proposals.  

Methodology 

This initial desktop ‘rural proofing’ review of the Healthcare for the Future, West, North, East 
Cumbria proposals was undertaken in February 2017. The proposals were reviewed against the 
eighteen ‘underlying principles to rural proofing’ defined by DEFRA. A description of these principles 
is provided in table 1 below: 

1 DEFRA (2012) Local Level Rural Proofing: Resource #1: What is rural proofing and what are  
the benefits? [pdf] Accessed via: 
http://randd.defra.gov.uk/Default.aspx?Module=More&Location=None&ProjectID=18130 
 

 

                                                           

291

http://randd.defra.gov.uk/Default.aspx?Module=More&Location=None&ProjectID=18130
http://randd.defra.gov.uk/Default.aspx?Module=More&Location=None&ProjectID=18130


Table 1: Description of DEFRA’s sixteen underlying principles to rural proofing2 

Local Rural Proofing 
Principle 

Description 

Making an upfront 
commitment 

An overt and upfront commitment from service designers to provide fair 
and equitable treatment for users and to achieve proportionate 
outcomes in rural and urban places 

Seeking broad 
(sustainability) 
outcomes 

Factoring in broad outcomes, which enhance the future sustainability of 
rural communities as design objectives or within the criteria for assessing 
"return on investment" 

Understanding 
geography 

Investing in understanding local circumstances and the impact of 
geography on service costs and use, in order to inform the design of 
evidence-based solutions 

Harnessing rural 
strengths 

Approaches to service design which seek to address the fundamental 
challenges of rural delivery (sparsity, distance, etc) by harnessing and 
enhancing typical strengths within rural communities (social capital, self-
reliance, etc) 

Reducing the fixed 
costs of provision 

Finding ways to spread or reduce the fixed costs of service delivery, so as 
to mitigate increased unit costs of delivery arising from distance/time 
costs and lost economies of scale (the rural premium). This may involve 
organisations collaborating, services co-locating, the use of ICT, volunteer 
input or various other approaches 

Accounting for a 
range of outcomes 

Taking into account a broad range of potential outcomes (economic, 
social and environmental) when assessing options for rural delivery 
(beyond unit cost or "value for money") 

Taking a user focussed 
approach 

Taking a "user focused" approach to design; involving rural communities 
in the early stage of needs assessment service planning and then 
involving them in shaping appropriate local solutions 

Starting from first 
principles (i.e. needs) 

Starting this dialogue with rural communities from first principles, asking 
what their needs are and how they wish to use services rather than 
simply adjusting current service models 

Considering 
settlement 
interdependencies 

the benefits for rural communities arising from them 

 

                                                           

Considering urban-rural inter-dependencies and the scope to maximise

Designing in flexibility      Designing sufficient flexibility into delivery models, so they can be
to delivery models            adapted to local circumstance or opportunity
Increasing use of               Designing solutions to increase the use of existing assets within rural
existing assets                   areas (e.g. buildings, land and transport) in order to enhance their

viability
Offering a portfolio of      Offering a portfolio of delivery solutions to meet the varying needs and
solutions                             circumstances of rural users
Targeting spatial gaps      Targeting geographical gaps in delivery so that services are readily
in provision                        accessible to more (potential) users, especially those in remoter or more

isolated locations
Focusing on hard to         Focusing particular effort (and perhaps financial support) at those groups
reach groups                     who find it hardest to access existing services. This may involve tailored

solutions for individuals
Using incentives or           Service commissioners seeking to avoid spatial gaps in provision by

2 DEFRA (2012) LOCAL LEVEL RURAL PROOFING PROJECT: GOOD PRACTICE LITERATURE REVIEW [pdf] Accessed
via: http://randd.defra.gov.uk/Default.aspx?Module=More&Location=None&ProjectID=18130

292

http://randd.defra.gov.uk/Default.aspx?Module=More&Location=None&ProjectID=18130


penalties in contracts including incentives or penalties within contracts to avoid market failure 
among providers 

Seeking collaborative 
approaches 

Looking to collaborate beyond the boundaries of individual services, so 
additional outcomes may arise 

Testing new models 
before mainstreaming 

Testing innovative approaches in small areas (as pilots) in order to gain 
sufficient evidence, learning and support for their mainstream use 

Monitoring outcomes 
at local levels 

Recording and monitoring at lower or local levels of geography 
(commensurate with local delivery) and reviewing the outputs regularly 
to seek further rural service enhancements 

 

In order to ensure a fair and objective appraisal of the Healthcare for the Future in West, North, East 
Cumbria proposals, the following questions were used to assess the potential rural impact: 

• When considering the future, West, North, East Cumbria proposals against the DEFRA 
recommended principles, which elements potentially support rural proofing? 

• When considering the future, West, North, East Cumbria proposals against the DEFRA 
recommended principles, which elements potentially do not support rural proofing? What 
can be done to mitigate against any potential negative impacts? 

The table below summarises the findings from the assessment. 

Local Rural 
Proofing Principle 

Which elements of the 
proposals potentially 
support rural proofing? 

Which elements of 
the proposals 
potentially do not 
support rural 
proofing? 

Mitigation/ 
Recommendations 

Making an upfront 
commitment 

• The vision –agreed by 
all the local health 
and care bodies – is to 
‘create a centre of 
excellence for 
integrated health and 
social care provision 
in rural, remote and 
dispersed 
communities.’ 

• Rurality considered 
within the  pre 
consultation stages 
within the EIA 

• Dedicated work 
stream focussing on 
transport implications 
of proposals 

• Centralisation of 
some speciality 
services 

• Rural proofing 
assessment to be 
considered when 
deciding final options 
for full business case 

Seeking broad 
(sustainability) 
outcomes 

• High level ‘return on 
investment’ work has 
been undertaken at a 
system level. 

• Resources being 
focussed on 

• ‘return on 
investment’  at a 
sub system level  
is not finalised  

• Where relevant (e.g. 
Community 
Hospitals) ensure 
proposals to enhance 
local service provision 
factor in return on 

 
293



Local Rural 
Proofing Principle 

Which elements of the 
proposals potentially 
support rural proofing? 

Which elements of 
the proposals 
potentially do not 
support rural 
proofing? 

Mitigation/ 
Recommendations 

community service 
development through 
Integrated Care 
Communities 

• Widening the remit of 
community hospitals 
to become 
community health 
and care hubs 

investment 

Understanding 
geography 

• Travel Impact 
Assessment being 
completed. 

• Collaboration with 
Cumbria Rural Forum 
 

• Further work may 
be required 
regarding the 
impact for rural 
people of 
proposals to non-
acute services e.g. 
community 
hospitals 

• Review scope of 
travel impact 
assessment including 
the key stakeholders 
and enhance where 
required. 

• Consider alternative 
support services e.g. 
overnight 
accommodation for 
families 

Harnessing rural 
strengths 

• ICCs to promote 
community-led self-
care and asset based 
development 

• Mapping and risk 
stratification of  ICC 
population and 
tailoring care to local 
need as appropriate 

• Potential capacity 
and resilience of 
rural community 
to support the 
development of 
ICCs 

• Transport group to 
consider promoting 
alternative 
community provision 
e.g. community lift 
share. 

• Mapping of capacity 
and resilience of rural 
community to 
support  

Reducing the fixed 
costs of provision 

• Collaborative 
approach to 
community hospital 
provision 

• Digital healthcare 
strategy being 
developed 

• MDT approach to 
population based 
care  

• Extensive IT 
programme to 
support integrated 
ways of working 

• For some services, 
costs are not 
significantly 
reduced by 
centralising 
services 

• The costs of 
transport to 
centralised service 
becomes the 
responsibility of 
service users , 
which may 
particularly effect 
rural communities  

• Transport group to 
consider how to 
support travel needs 
of residents living in 
rural areas who 
require hospital care 
(especially for 
services that have 
been centralised to 
CIC) 

 

Accounting for a • Quality impact • Scope of work • Consider impact of

294



Local Rural 
Proofing Principle 

Which elements of the 
proposals potentially 
support rural proofing? 

Which elements of 
the proposals 
potentially do not 
support rural 
proofing? 

Mitigation/ 
Recommendations 

range of outcomes assessments have 
been undertaken 
from a health and 
care perspective  

undertaken for 
social and 
environmental 
proposals e.g. 
environmental 
impact of 
additional miles 
travelled.  

proposals from a 
social and 
environmental 
perspective in full 
business cases. 

Taking a user 
focussed approach 

• Communities 
supported by League 
of Friends  
encouraged to 
develop alternative 
sustainable models 
for community 
hospitals as part of 
the consultation 
process  

• Community Assets 
and Health & 
Wellbeing central to 
ICC development 

 • Involving rural 
communities in 
continued 
development of the 
proposals 

Starting from first 
principles (i.e. 
needs) 

• Service demand has 
been factored into 
quality impact 
assessments for 
proposed changes to 
services 

• Patient and public 
reps on many of the 
individual ICC 
coordination groups? 

• No specific rural 
needs assessment 
has been 
completed in 
Cumbria (however 
factors such as 
transport are 
included across 
other JSNA 
chapters 

• Feedback via public 
consultation is 
supporting 
amendments to 
proposed service 
changes 

Considering 
settlement 
interdependencies 

• Consideration of 
community hospitals 
becoming centre of 
excellence e.g. for 
rehabilitation, 
palliative care. 

• ICC boundaries 
based on GP 
registers rather 
than natural 
communities 

• Further work needs 
to be undertaken to 
compare how GP lists 
compare to the 
people resident 
within ICC 
geographical 
boundaries (and 
distances to services) 

Designing in 
flexibility to 
delivery models 

• ICC footprints will 
have mandated 
deliverables as well 
as flexibility to adapt 
for local 

• ICC footprint are 
not consistent in 
population or 
geographical size 
especially in rural 

• Consider sub-level 
coordination (based 
on defined natural 
communities) in large 
rural ICCs 

 
295



Local Rural 
Proofing Principle 

Which elements of the 
proposals potentially 
support rural proofing? 

Which elements of 
the proposals 
potentially do not 
support rural 
proofing? 

Mitigation/ 
Recommendations 

circumstances to 
support coordinated 
healthcare delivery 
closer to home 

areas e.g. Eden  

Increasing use of 
existing assets 

• ICCs aim to improve 
self-care utilising 
current (and 
developing) 
community assets in 
local communities 

• Potential capacity 
and resilience of 
rural community 
to support the 
development of 
ICCs 

• Targeting support to 
communities with 
less capacity 

Offering a portfolio 
of solutions 

• ICCs aim to better 
coordinate care in 
local communities, 
improving people’s 
links to local support 
services 

• Specialist clinical 
services such as 
maternity and 
A&E are not 
conducive to 
alternative 
delivery solutions. 

• Ensure 
implementation of 
the National 
Maternity Review 
(Better Births) 

• A&E Composite 
workforce to be 
considered  

Targeting spatial 
gaps in provision 

• Telecare and 
telemedicine services 
being developed 

• Improved care at 
home philosophy of 
ICCs 

• Centralising 
services with no 
tele medicine or 
tele care potential 
would not target 
spatial gaps e.g. 
maternity 
preferred option 

• Ensure 
recommendations 
from Equality Impact 
Assessment (EIA) 
(relevant to rurality) 
are implemented 
where possible 

Focusing on hard 
to reach groups 

• EIA has been 
completed, which 
includes rurality 

• Workshop requesting 
views of people from 
protected 
characteristics has 
taken place and EIA 
reviewed as a result 

• Affordability of 
transport for 
people having to 
travel further to 
access services at 
CIC 

• Transport group to 
consider needs of 
those living in 
poverty in rural 
communities 

Using incentives or 
penalties in 
contracts 

• County Council have 
‘rural’ and ‘extra 
rural’ rates built into 
homecare contracts 
(but this is currently 
outside scope of 
proposals) 

• Rurality is not 
currently 
incentivised in 
most health 
contracts 

 

• Issue to be 
considered by Joint 
Commissioning Board 

Seeking 
collaborative 
approaches 

• ICCs will improve 
links between 
primary care, acute 
care, social care, third 

• Whilst a 
collaborative 
approach is being 
used in some 

• Self-care element of 
ICC development e.g. 
promote better 
information re: 

 
296



Local Rural 
Proofing Principle 

Which elements of the 
proposals potentially 
support rural proofing? 

Which elements of 
the proposals 
potentially do not 
support rural 
proofing? 

Mitigation/ 
Recommendations 

sector and self-care 
• Community Hospitals 

– proposals to 
develop health and 
wellbeing ‘hubs’ 

• Transport Enabling 
Group, working in 
partnership to 
identify solutions 

areas, limited 
public 
involvement in co-
producing 
solutions in other 
areas e.g. 
maternity/A&E? 
 

appropriate use of 
A&E services to help 
public make informed 
choices. 

• Work in collaboration 
with County Council 
to target  
infrastructure 
developments 

Testing new 
models before 
mainstreaming 

• Discharge to Assess 
pilots. 

• Care navigation has 
been piloted in 
Copeland 

• Pilot testing not 
factored into 
changes to 
maternity/A&E 
services 
(especially when 
services are due to 
discontinue at 
WCH)? 

• Where pilots are not 
due to be carried out, 
ensure adequate 
service change 
impact modelling has 
been completed 

Monitoring 
outcomes at local 
levels 

• Possible introduction 
of ICC coordination 
hubs for both rural 
and urban ICCs, 
which will coordinate 
information and 
intelligence about 
individual patients 

 • Consider how 
benefits will be 
measured from a 
rural, social, 
environmental 
perspective as well as 
care.  

 

Conclusions and Recommendations 

It is refreshing to see that rurality and access to services has been considered as part of the desktop 
Equality Impact Assessments and is specifically recognised within the aspiration of the system to 
‘create a centre of excellence for integrated health and social care provision in rural, remote and 
dispersed communities.’  

The development of Integrated Care Communities has implications for care delivery depending on 
the demography and geography of those communities.  There is potential to reduce barriers and 
improve quality of care, however the actual impact will dependent on how these different initiatives 
are implemented.  This will need careful engagement and mapping with communities, patients and 
their families to ensure both equity and flexibility in provision, targeting those communities with less 
capacity. 

The ongoing work within the Transport Enabling Group and the development of the travel impact 
assessment is noted and welcomed. It is recommended that the travel impact assessment should 

 
297



consider the wider social, economic and environmental impact for patients,  their families and staff , 
particularly from rural areas  as a result of centralisation of speciality and more care into homes 

Where appropriate suggested mitigations and recommendations have been made against the 
eighteen ‘underlying principles to rural proofing’ defined by DEFRA. However, it is not a substitute 
for consultation with rural communities, Policy Appraisal or the normal Regulatory Impact 
Assessment, and should be used as an additional tool alongside these.  

Overall it is recommended that NHS Cumbria CCG and partners note the content of this report and 
further analysis is undertaken as required. 

 
298



APPENDIX 5 
 

 
    

 
 

Name of the 
Document 

Approach to Risk Explanatory Paper  

Date Completed February 2017 

Author Professor Stephen Singleton, Medical Director, WNE Cumbria 
Success Regime  

 Summary of the Document  

This paper summarises how the Success Regime (and subsequent Sustainability and 
Transformation Planning) has monitored and assessed risk in various options for the future, 
a process that has been different from the ‘risk register’ approach for managing current 
services. 
 
Summary of Conclusion: 
 
System and population risks and challenges have been assessed in the Success Regime 
process and proposed clinical strategy and service options have been reviewed against 
those risks in reviews of impact, ranging from health and fairness to population travel 
requirements and ability to attract staff 
 
It is equally important that risks to individual patients (and patient groups & categories) are 
considered and mitigations planned or simulated when service change is considered (just as 
they are under constant review for existing services).  The clinical groups considering 
service change options have looked intensively at these issues using all avenues of 
evidence, policy, expert advice and debate against a quality framework of safety, outcomes 
and experience (captured in quality impact assessment). 
 
Consultation has demonstrated that public and professionals nonetheless want more 
information on both risk and possible mitigations, especially for individuals in in the 
particular circumstances of their needs and location.  Whatever options are preferred in the 
decision making process, implementation planning will need further scenario planning and 
consistent joint work with communities to understand and plan for the agreed important 
risks and issues. 
 
Some themes about perceived risk have emerged in the consultation process, including 
everything to do with maternity (and an emphasis on the hazards and risks of labour), travel 
times and potential lost opportunities for particular early treatment and care options 
alongside acknowledgement of the severe system risks associated with recruitment and 
capacity in the system. 

 

 
 

299



Appendix 5 
 
 
 

 
 
 

Healthcare for the Future in 
West, North & East Cumbria  

Approach to Risk Explanatory Paper  
February 2017 

 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 

 

 
 

 
300



Our approach to Risk 

Introduction 
 
1. An important feature of the Public Consultation response was regular feedback from the 

public (and some professionals) that no consistent assessment of risk had been done, 
and that a documented risk assessment was not available in expected format. 
 

2. During the development of the options published in the Healthcare for the Future 
consultation document, risk was considered and assessed in a number of ways and, of 
course, risk assessment is a routine part of day-to-day service provision within the NHS. 

 
3. The term “risk assessment” can be used to describe how impacts have been considered 

and assessed in various ways, including 
 

• Benefits: are services as existing or proposed capable of consistently delivering the 
expected outcomes for patients? 

• Safety: are the potential hazards of services as existing or proposed understood and 
any risks of harm from those being approached with appropriate mitigations? 

• Patient experience: are services as existing or proposed likely to improve or 
compromise dimensions such as waiting times, communications, environmental 
factors and other context circumstances 

• Equality impact: are services as existing or proposed likely to be fair to potential 
recipients as individuals or populations? 

• Health needs: do individuals or populations have needs that services as existing or 
proposed can contribute to? 

• Cost: are finances under control and what are the possible issues related to loss of 
control? 
 

4. The first three of these factors: outcomes, safety and experience, are brought together 
under the umbrella of “quality” and the process of developing options for  Healthcare 
for the Future included quality impact assessment.  During and after consultation, the 
quality impact assessments have been updated, alongside other impact assessments 
such as equality, health, travel and finance. 
 

5. As part of good governance, NHS organisations will identify significant risks and use 
standard processes to assess existing services (be they financial, safety, logistical or 
however defined) to enable any risks to be prioritised.  Usually this would include 
classification of the likelihood of the risk being expressed and the impact if it is 
expressed. Using a simple scoring system, risks can then be prioritised. (i.e. priority given 
to those risks which combine high likelihood with high impact).  Mitigation and 
contingency plans would be made for priority risks.  These assessments would be 
maintained in a risk register. 

 
6. These processes will be familiar in many industries and in standard programme and 

project management. 
 

 
301



7. This paper summarises how the Success Regime (and subsequent Sustainability and 
Transformation Planning) has monitored and assessed risk in various options for the 
future, a process that has been different from the ‘risk register’ approach for managing 
current services. 

Making judgements of risk for Healthcare for the Future 
 
8. Pooling knowledge of the risks the NHS and its partners in West, North and East Cumbria 

were facing gave the Regime an overview of the highest priority ‘challenges’ the system 
was facing. Each of these challenges came from high likelihood, high impact risks. 

8.1 Without clear strategy and balanced investment for health promotion, 
prevention and clinical services, the overall health of the population will not be 
as good as other comparable parts of the country.  It is not. 

8.2 Without the right staff, important services cannot be maintained or consistently 
delivered. Locally the NHS finds it very difficult to attract and retain the doctors, 
nurses, paramedics and other staff that are needed. 

8.3 Without appropriate community services and other relevant mitigations, too 
many people are admitted to hospital or stay too long in hospital which wastes 
resources and can impair likelihood of best possible outcomes. 

8.4 Without delivering the right efficiencies and effective strategies the NHS cannot 
manage within the resources allocated to it.  The resulting over-spend, the 
financial gap, had been growing and affects the ability to mitigate other risks. 

8.5 Without the right strategies, the right staff, the right balance of services and the 
right investments, the overall quality of services would suffer and the Care 
Quality Commission (which inspects and regulates health and social care 
services) would declare some services to be inadequate or in need of 
improvement.  This is exactly what was happening. 

 
9. These risks are nationally recognised and summarised as the health and wellbeing gap, 

the care and quality gap and the funding and efficiency gap. 
 

10. The mitigation of these risks was known to be difficult because of some important local 
features, including: the significant & growing proportion of older people, the dispersed 
and rural communities separated by relatively large distances, the distance from 
specialised service centres and the history of service delivery patterns. 
 

11. In considering the overall mitigation of these population and system based risks and the 
locally relevant challenges, the Success Regime planned a process that included: 

11.1. Review of the current state of services (including the views of CQC and other 
regulators) 

11.2. Review of past plans and strategies to understand the successes and failures of 
implementation of previous mitigations (including the 2014 RCOG review of 
Maternity) 

11.3. Review the national and international evidence base, national policy and 
guidance. 

 
302



11.4. Asking for expert advice (from local clinicians & leaders, national respected 
leaders in their fields, the regional and specialist services, the Strategic Clinical 
Networks, the Clinical Senate and national clinical leads) 

11.5. Asking patient representatives, community leaders and other local stakeholders 
 

12. Based on advice and evidence, in March 2016 the Success Regime published a clinical 
strategy and the process outlined above was then further iterated in a range of specific 
service and clinical areas where some of the risks (for example recruitment, as in 
Paediatrics) or mitigation advice (for example the identification of specific service gaps, 
as in hyper-acute stroke care) had been highlighted. 
 

13. This further work led to a variety of options for change and these were tested, first 
against:  
• their ability to mitigate risks of missing essential standards for quality; 
• their ability to be delivered in light of risks like recruitment; 
• their ability to mitigate the financial risks; 
and then the short-listed options were examined again (jointly with wider stakeholders) 
against their ability to mitigate the health & wellbeing gap, the care and quality gap, the 
funding and efficiency gap and to test their ease of delivery.  This process is described in 
detail in the Pre-consultation business case. 
 

14. Each option was subject to an iterative process of quality impact (with a particular 
emphasis on clinical outcomes and safety), equality and health impact and the Success 
Regime programmed additional work on travel impact. 
 

15. The safety and outcome work was reviewed by the North West Clinical Senate. 
 

16. Some of the proposals involved substantial developments or variations in the provision 
of services and were therefore subject to a formal public consultation process. 
 

17. At this point, the focus of scrutiny of risk assessment shifted from system risks as 
identified in paragraph 8 above to individual risks for specifically defined individuals, 
that is from a population assessment of risk to a patient based assessment of risk (not 
exclusively, of course.  Patient risks were central to the process outlined above and 
system risks were much debated in the consultation process).   
 

18. Inevitably this changed the dialogue from mitigating a system risk (“You need to have a 
hyper-acute stroke unit and the most likely way of implementing such a development is 
one of these options…”) to the perceived lack of mitigation of a personal risk (“Someone 
who lives in Seascale cannot get to a stroke unit in Carlisle quickly enough to benefit 
from all possible therapy options”).  This dialogue was particularly intense in discussing 
the hazards associated with intra-partum care (women in labour). 
 

 

19. It was very apparent in the consultation, and reflecting upon the responses, that there
was  a  mismatch  of  expectations  between  some  consultees  and  the  Success  Regime.
Some members of the public and a few professionals expected to see and hear about
‘risk assessment’ in particular formats (both the [likelihood] x [impact] = score and the

303



statistical evaluation of the evidence) whereas the expert opinion and advice, whilst 
based particularly on the evaluation of evidence and experience, most often was in the 
form of qualitative review. 

Weighing up risk – why we have most often quoted risk assessments qualitatively rather 
than quantitatively 
 
20. There are four principle reasons: 

20.1. The sum of evidence, guidance and policy has gaps and applicability problems 
that require expert opinion rather than simple quantification 

20.2. System and population risk mitigation inevitably requires trade-offs that require 
opinion and may not be amenable to quantification 

20.3. Prior to decisions on the principle of options, detailed implementation planning 
cannot be done and therefore detailed risk quantification for individuals and all 
population subgroups is not possible (clearly, due diligence requires some 
scenario planning and the clinical groups have debated these issues at length) 

20.4. Risk quantification is different for individuals (where the impact is always hugely 
important) than it is for populations and so the mitigations are different.  This 
process was to decide system mitigations for population scale risks – it 
acknowledges the detail for some individuals still requires mitigation and 
contingency planning. 

 
21. For example, in the consultation document, in the discussion of risk and impact, the 

maternity option 1 (a consultant and midwife led unit at both hospitals) is acknowledged 
to be better for access but more difficult for achieving clinical standards; it would enable 
consultant care in Whitehaven but risks future unsustainability because of problems in 
another service (paediatrics). Furthermore (in the discussion of option 2) it was clear 
that for system risks such as ability to meet standards and deliverability the proposal 
had merit, resolving obvious transport problems for individuals would need to be done. 
 

22. One helpful part of the consultation process was to test the quantification (of evidence) 
that had been done.  Here the issue of debate was the interpretation of the same 
evidence.  So, for example, is extra travel time for mothers in labour dangerous?  Our 
expert advice was that most of the hazards did not have statistically significant impacts 
for populations of women who lived within 4 hours of the unit where birth was planned 
– and indeed it was difficult to interpret the applicability of the studies done elsewhere 
to the specific services planned for Cumbria.  In summary, the view was that all the 
proposed options where capable of delivering equivalent outcomes and none were 
unsafe (and indeed the options may be capable of improving some different risks – e.g. 
of stillbirth).  Some responders were unimpressed with this summary and quoted the 
same evidence as showing, in particular circumstances, individual standards couldn’t be 
met and individual mothers and babies had excess risk. It appeared to be no comfort to 
hear that our scenario planning indicated those circumstances were extremely unlikely.  
(The challenge to our expert advice led to review and confirmation of the opinion) 
 

 
304



Specific individual risks and mitigations for our preferred options 
 
Maternity 

 
23. The attached appendix details the hazards and risks and the overall mitigations 

associated with the all maternity options (NB the preferred option was option 2) 
 

24. Whichever option is chosen, clearly more assurance is required on the perceived risks 
associated with travel – considered from the expert analysis of evidence to be unlikely 
with respect to overall outcome but from the public views, clearly high impact on 
mother and family experience (for progressively larger numbers in options 2 and 3). 
 

Children 
 

25. Two risks were widely identified for the preferred option 1 (and each increased in 
perceived likelihood with options 2 & 3): 
 

Risk Mitigation 
Children’s condition might deteriorate 
during increased travel or transfer times  

No evidence was found that the impact of 
this risk was likely to be significant, like 
maternity the perception created 
fearfulness.  Scenario planning and 
standard operating procedures for urgent 
care and ambulance staff would help. 

There might be increased demand to 
stabilise and treat children prior to transfer 

This risk mitigation falls particularly on A&E 
staff at WCH, and other urgent care staff 
and ambulance staff.  Training, standard 
operating procedures and innovations in 
telehealth should all be employed. Option 
1 would have an on-call paediatrician out 
of hours. 

 
26. Whichever option is chosen, clearly more assurance is required on the perceived risks 

and loss of experience associated with travel. 
 
Community Hospitals 
 

Risk Mitigation 
(System risk) The reduction in total beds in 
an already ‘pressured’ system would 
create more problems for the acute 
hospital sites and access for local services 
to local people 

1. There are clear opportunities to reduce 
patients with ‘delayed transfers of 
care’ (ICCs etc.) and the beds available 
for acute care and rehabilitation would 
increase 

2. The clinical strategy assumes ability to 
prevent admissions and reduce length 
of stay, increasing flow thought the 
acute system and reducing the need 

 
305



for beds 
Increased travel / loss of local access for 
vulnerable older people 

Local planning (as per the Maryport 
Alliance alternative proposal option 2) and 
co-production of a population based health 
system reduces dependency on beds and 
creates a large net increase in locally 
accessed care 

 
Emergency and acute services 
 

Risk Mitigation 
Patients with severe and complex 
conditions may lose opportunity for key 
treatments in the ‘golden hour’ and during 
travel and/or transfer times 

Mitigations again fall to urgent care staff in 
and out of hospital, including in the 
ambulance service.  Training, telehealth, 
standard operating procedures and 
community partnerships (like first 
responder schemes) will all contribute. 

 
Hyper-acute stroke 
 

Risk Mitigation 
Patients with stroke may lose opportunity 
for key treatments in the ‘golden hour’ and 
during travel and/or transfer times 

Mitigations again fall to urgent care staff in 
and out of hospital, including in the 
ambulance service.  Training, telehealth, 
standard operating procedures and 
community awareness to avoid delays in 
seeking treatment will all contribute. 

 
 
Emergency surgery, trauma and orthopaedics 
 

Risk Mitigation 
Patients with severe and complex 
conditions may lose opportunity for key 
treatments in the ‘golden hour’ and during 
travel and/or transfer times 

Mitigations again fall to urgent care staff in 
and out of hospital, including in the 
ambulance service.  Training, telehealth, 
standard operating procedures and 
community partnerships (for example 
delivering road safety and other accident 
prevention schemes) will all contribute. 

 
  

 
306



Conclusion 
 
27. System and population risks and challenges have been assessed in the Success Regime 

process and proposed clinical strategy and service options have been reviewed against 
those risks in reviews of impact, ranging from health and fairness to population travel 
requirements and ability to attract staff. 
 

28. It is equally important that risks to individual patients (and patient groups & categories) 
are considered and mitigations planned or simulated when service change is considered 
(just as they are under constant review for existing services).  The clinical groups 
considering service change options have looked intensively at these issues using all 
avenues of evidence, policy, expert advice and debate against a quality framework of 
safety, outcomes and experience (captured in quality impact assessment). 

 
29. Consultation has demonstrated that public and professionals nonetheless want more 

information on both risk and possible mitigations, especially for individuals in in the 
particular circumstances of their needs and location.  Whatever options are preferred in 
the decision making process, implementation planning will need further scenario 
planning and consistent joint work with communities to understand and plan for the 
agreed important risks and issues. 

 
30. Some themes about perceived risk have emerged in the consultation process, including 

everything to do with maternity (and an emphasis on the hazards and risks of labour), 
travel times and potential lost opportunities for particular early treatment and care 
options alongside acknowledgement of the severe system risks associated with 
recruitment and capacity in the system. 

 
307



APPENDIX:  Maternity Options: Summary of Principle Hazards, Risks and Mitigations 

 
Known Hazards 

 
Identified Risks if no change 

agreed 

Mitigations offered by the proposed options  
Other considerations Option 1 

CLU both sites 
Option 2 

MLU at WCH, CLU+MLU 
at CIC 

Option 3 
Consolidation at CIC 

“pre-pregnancy” 
advice and care 
not accessed or 
not well provided 

There is a possible lack of 
emphasis on strategy to 
manage public health 
hazardsi associated with 
many problems (from failure 
to conceive to subsequent 
still birth and birth defects) 
and constant emphasis on 
‘place of birth’ could distract 
individuals, commissioners 
and providers of services 

For all options: Ending uncertainty about how services might be configured 
for place of birth is urgent and should allow progress to be made on wider 
health & pregnancy issues. 

The “Integrated Care 
Community” (ICC) way 
of working outlined in 
the Success Regime 
clinical strategy will 
deliver better strategies 
to tackle public health 
and inequalities 

Antenatal care 
not accessed or 
not well provided 

Again, the huge emphasis on 
‘place of birth’ and possible 
associated risks may down-
play the huge importance of 
good antenatal careii – which 
is commenced early in 
pregnancy – in the prevention 
of complications and 
reduction in bad outcomes 

For all options: A full antenatal service is offered, including consultant clinics 
at WCH – and all services are part of a regional network that includes very 
specialist advice and care (e.g. genetic issues, unusual pregnancy 
complications or baby health issues) accessed in Newcastle. The intention to 
implement the Maternity hub concept in line with ‘Better Births’ Better 
births implementation will also concentrate on continuity of carer 
throughout the pregnancy. 

Again, the ICC and 
‘Better Births’ 
philosophy  brings in 
GPs, community 
midwives, public health 
specialists and 
community leaders to 
deliver better antenatal 
care alongside public 
health strategy and a 
range of children’s 
services . 
 

WCH and CIC 
consultants will work as 
a single team creating 
improved access to 
specialist expertise 
across the system 

Full local access to 
ante-natal care with 
the added benefit of 
single team working by 
professionals 

Full local access to 
ante-natal care with 
the added benefit of 
single team working by 
professionals 

  

 

308



 
Known Hazards 

 
Identified Risks if no change 

agreed 

Mitigations offered by the proposed options Other considerations 

Option 1 
CLU both sites 

Option 2 
MLU at WCH, CLU+MLU 

at CIC 

Option 3 
Consolidation at CIC 

Unplanned or 
unexpected birth 
away from 
professional care 

Longstanding doubts about 
future of services may cause 
confusion about intended or 
best place for birth, leading to 
delay and not getting to 
desired unit on time 

For all options: Ending uncertainty about how services will be configured for 
place of birth is urgent and will allow planning. Better births implementation 
includes a renewed emphasis on birth plans, including planning to get to 
place of birth. 

The publicity and 
debate about maternity 
has raised awareness of 
this issue.  Unplanned 
delivery ‘out of 
hospital’ (Born Before 
Arrival) is rare but 
interest in the issue 
should reduce 
incidence. 

Although some births 
will have to book 
delivery at CIC or 
Newcastle, the large 
majority of women can 
book at a consultant 
unit of their choice, 
including at WCH 

A local MLU at WCH 
will offer choice to 
some women for care 
that is closer to home 

Absolute clarity on 
place of birth will 
support individual 
planning for labour 

Complications 
occur during 
labouriii 

1 Both current units are small 
and relatively isolated and 
the Kirkup report on 
Morecambe Bay identified 
clear risks associated with 
training, culture and 
behaviour by and between 
professionals 

For all options: single team working (across the different sites) will support 
exchange of ideas, expertise and leadership amongst the midwives and 
consultants  

The process of 
considering options 
(which itself built upon 
the review by the Royal 
College of Obstetricians 
& Gynaecologists) has 
led to stronger 
connections with the 
regional maternity 
network, itself a 
safeguard against 
relative isolation and 
supports the 
development of local 
teams and clinicians. 
 
 

Risk assessment during 
pregnancy will engage 
both CIC and Newcastle 
as possible planned 
venues for care during 
labour (for complex 
and anticipated ‘high 
risk’ pregnancy) 

Develops the skills of 
midwives (and MLU 
care is associated with 
fewer complications 
and fewer 
interventions during 
labour) including early 
decisions about 
recognition of 
problems 

A single bigger unit will 
allow development of 
MLU care and CLU care 
on one site with clearer 
leadership and single 
ethos 

 

309



 
Known Hazards 

 
Identified Risks if no change 

agreed 

Mitigations offered by the proposed options Other considerations 

Option 1 
CLU both sites 

Option 2 
MLU at WCH, CLU+MLU 

at CIC 

Option 3 
Consolidation at CIC 

Complications 
occur during 
labour (cont.) 

2 Both current units are small 
and find it difficult to recruit 
and retain sufficient staff 
creating problems of 
continuity and cover (more 
locums and agency staff) 
 

A clear decision 
removes uncertainty  

Increased autonomy 
and expertise will be 
attractive to some staff 

A single bigger unit will 
be more attractive to 
some staff 

The MLU concept is 
new to both units and 
particularly for option 2 
may have a negative 
impact on retaining 
midwives  

3 Both units are small and – 
particularly at WCH - have 
regular difficulties 
maintaining staffing for 
necessary supporting 
specialities such as 
paediatrics and anaesthetics 

Potential risks needing 
support are identified 
early and care is 
planned at CIC or 
Newcastle so fuller 
paediatric cover is 
available (NB of course 
this is a strong feature 
of current services) 

Only women with 
anticipated lower risks 
will be booked at 
stand-alone MLU.   
Dedicated transport 
will be available  and a 
specialist retrieval 
system will operate for 
babies who need 
additional care after 
birth  

Arrangements for all 
supporting speciality 
services are easier to 
arrange for one-site 
working.  Proximity to 
Newcastle makes some 
specialist jobs easier to 
recruit into 

The current services  on 
two sites are safe – but 
only high dependency 
on locum and agency 
staff.  This risks sudden 
service discontinuities, 
it reduces leadership 
capacity & consistency 
and it is very expensive 

4 There is sometimes a need 
to transfer mothers during 
labour (including occasionally 
to Newcastle) and if no 
change is agreed there is the 
possibility of unplanned 
movements of mothers and 
even relatively short-notice 
unit closures as staffing issues 
persist  

The reduced 
uncertainty over the 
future allows for better 
planning, more 
innovative staffing 
models and more 
stability reducing the 
risks of unplanned 
service discontinuity 

More mothers will 
transfer in early labour 
as MLU care indicates 
need for consultant 
cover (usually because 
of pain relief issues and 
delay in progression of 
labour).  Dedicated 
transport will be 
available 

Only the rare need to 
transfer to Newcastle 
will persist 

 

 

310



There is one further hazard worthy of fuller discussion: clearly the wellbeing of the mother (and baby) can be affected by both unfounded anxieties and 
concerns alongside all the real and rational worries associated with pregnancy.  This becomes a risk at every stage in the framework above and the 
consultation process has shown it is a particular concern at the time of labour (although obviously exists at every stage and continues after birth).  The 
mitigations for these wellbeing risks cover all of the technical issues discussed above (from teamwork and continuity in ante-natal care, transport to place 
of birth to access to pain relief) but the necessary mitigations are clearly wider and raise all of the important developments highlighted in ‘Better Births’.  
There is little doubt that mother and family experience can and should be improved. 

The change process itself is a cause for concern and fearfulness.  Mothers, midwives and many others have emphasised the need to work on a better vision 
of how “21st century” maternity care could be and seeing that better future is a required mitigation to the worries of what might happen to existing 
services. 

i There are many general issues for good health (like exercise, smoking, obesity, excess alcohol etc) that can impact on chances of a healthy pregnancy and some very 
specific ones like folic acid supplements to prevent some birth defects.  See https://cks.nice.org.uk/pre-conception-advice-and-management 
 
ii See https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/cg62 
 
iii See https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/conditions-and-diseases/fertility--pregnancy-and-childbirth/intrapartum-care 
 

 

                                                           

311

https://cks.nice.org.uk/pre-conception-advice-and-management
https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/cg62
https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/conditions-and-diseases/fertility--pregnancy-and-childbirth/intrapartum-care


T
his page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 6 
 

 
    

 
 

Name of the 
Document 

Consultation for NHS Cumbria CCG and Success Regime West, 
North and East Cumbria - Report from The Campaign Company 
(TCC) 

Date Completed February 2017 

Author The Campaign Company (TCC)  

 Summary of the Document  

The Campaign Company (TCC) were commissioned to undertake an independent analysis of 
the responses to the Healthcare for the Future Public Consultation. The report from TCC 
provides an analysis from each of:  
 

• The Consultation Questionnaire 

• Individual Written Submissions 

• Organisational and Stakeholder Submissions 

• Public Meetings 

• Stakeholder Meetings 

• NHS Staff Meetings 

• Demographically Representative Telephone Survey 

• Other Media (e.g. social media) 
 

The report sets out the key themes from the Consultation responses for each of the service 
areas included in the Consultation.  
 

The report is intended to provide an objective analysis of the responses received. 
Governing Body members must give the report full consideration in informing their decision 
making. 

 

 
 

313



 

 

 

 

 

 Healthcare for the Future in West, North and East 
Cumbria  

Consultation for NHS Cumbria CCG and  
Success Regime West, North and East Cumbria 

 
Report from The Campaign Company (TCC) 

 

 

February 2017 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

314



 

Contents  

Executive summary ................................................................................................................. 4 
Background to the consultation .................................................................................. 4 

The consultation process ............................................................................................. 4 

Headline findings ........................................................................................................ 5 

Concluding comments .............................................................................................. 16 

1 About the consultation ............................................................................................... 17 
1.1 Background to the consultation ....................................................................... 17 

1.2 The consultation process ................................................................................. 18 

1.3 Responses to the consultation ......................................................................... 19 

1.4 Interpreting the response ................................................................................ 25 

2 Analysis of consultation questionnaire responses .......................................................... 27 
2.1 Introduction .................................................................................................... 27 

2.2 Consultation questionnaire response ............................................................... 28 

2.3 Maternity services - key findings ...................................................................... 29 

2.4 Children’s services - key findings ..................................................................... 40 

2.5 Community hospital inpatient beds - key findings ............................................ 50 

2.6 Emergency and acute care services - key findings ............................................. 61 

2.7 Hyper-acute stroke services ............................................................................. 68 

2.8 Emergency surgery, trauma and orthopaedic services - key findings .................. 74 

2.9 Views about the vision and wider health and social care strategy ...................... 85 

2.10 Personal impact ........................................................................................... 89 

2.11 Other comments ......................................................................................... 93 

3 Analysis of individual submissions ................................................................................ 94 
3.1 Introduction .................................................................................................... 94 

3.2 Extended responses ........................................................................................ 94 

3.3 Summary of key themes .................................................................................. 95 

4 Analysis of organisational and stakeholder submissions .............................................. 104 
4.1 Introduction .................................................................................................. 104 

4.2 National organisations ................................................................................... 106 

4.3 Staff groups and trade unions ....................................................................... 109 

4.4 Local and regional NHS and medical bodies ................................................... 117 

4.5 Elected Representatives ................................................................................. 121 

4.6 Health and Patient Representation Groups ..................................................... 125 

315



 

4.7 Community and other Local Groups .............................................................. 130 

4.8 Local Authorities ........................................................................................... 134 

4.9 Other experts and organisations .................................................................... 140 

5 Analysis of public meetings ....................................................................................... 142 
5.1 Introduction .................................................................................................. 142 

5.2 Meeting format ............................................................................................ 143 

5.3 How issues were recorded ............................................................................. 144 

5.4 Summary of issues raised by meeting ............................................................. 144 

6 Analysis of stakeholder meetings ............................................................................... 150 
6.1 Introduction .................................................................................................. 150 

6.2 Summary of issues raised at stakeholder meetings ......................................... 152 

6.3 Summary of issues raised at deliberative events .............................................. 174 

7 Analysis of NHS staff meetings .................................................................................. 177 
7.1 Introduction .................................................................................................. 177 

7.2 Themes from staff engagement ..................................................................... 177 

8 Analysis of resident telephone survey ......................................................................... 179 
8.1 Introduction .................................................................................................. 179 

8.2 Sample breakdown ....................................................................................... 180 

8.3 Findings ........................................................................................................ 180 

9 Analysis of other responses ....................................................................................... 192 
9.1 Introduction .................................................................................................. 192 

9.2 Social media ................................................................................................. 192 

9.3 Petitions ....................................................................................................... 194 

9.4 Campaign letters .......................................................................................... 197 

9.5 Video submissions ......................................................................................... 199 

9.6 Press clippings............................................................................................... 200 

 

  

316



 

Executive summary 

Background to the consultation 

The health and social care system in West, North and East Cumbria faces a number of major 

challenges. The NHS set up the West, North and East Cumbria Success Regime in autumn 2015 

to work with local NHS organisations, clinicians, care bodies, communities and national experts 

to address some of these challenges. NHS Cumbria Clinical Commissioning Group is the partner 

organisation within the Success Regime responsible for undertaking the consultation. 

Building on this work, and on the ideas that had come from the public and patients in the past, 

the Success Regime has developed a vision to create a centre of excellence for integrated health 

and social care provision in rural, remote and dispersed communities. The Healthcare for the 

Future in West, North and East Cumbria consultation document sets out this vision and a 

number of proposals on how to turn this vision into reality. The document explains how services 

might change in communities and hospitals and details possible changes in services for 

maternity (including urgent gynaecology), stroke and acute medical patients, children’s 

inpatient services, emergency surgery and community hospital inpatient beds. 

A consultation to get the public’s views on these proposals was launched on 26 September 

2016 and ran until 19 December 2016. This report is an independent analysis of the responses 

to the consultation received during this period. 

 

The consultation process  

The Healthcare for the Future in West, North and East Cumbria consultation offered people a 

number of ways to make their views known including: 

• Online survey – this could be accessed through the Healthcare for the Future 

consultation website. The survey contained closed questions to gauge levels of support 

for the proposals and open-ended questions to give people the opportunity to express 

their opinions in their own words. 

• Paper survey – this mirrored the questions asked in the online response form. An Easy 

Read version was also available. 

• Written and video feedback – letters, e-mails and long-form submissions were sent 

to the Healthcare for the Future e-mail and freepost address. Six petitions were also 

submitted by e-mail or post. Video submissions were also submitted via e-mail. 

• Meetings – a number of public meetings, stakeholder meetings, NHS employee 

consultation events and deliberative events were held during the consultation period 

and reports of these were submitted as part of the consultation. 

317



 

• Representative telephone survey – a telephone survey of 1002 local residents, 

broadly representative by geography and demographics, was conducted across West, 

North and East Cumbria. 

• Social media – comments were received through the Success Regime’s Facebook, 

Twitter and Youtube channels. 

A total of 5194 responses were received within the consultation period. The number of 

responses received from different channels is shown in Table 1. 

Table 1: Responses to the public consultation 

Method Total number of responses 

Online consultation questionnaire 2856 

Paper consultation questionnaire 840 

Paper consultation questionnaire – Easy Read 14 

Telephone survey 1002 

Letters and e-mails (from individuals) 202 

Letters, e-mails and long-form submissions 

(organisations) 

112 

Public meetings 17 

Stakeholder meetings and deliberative events 27 

NHS staff meetings 20 

Video submissions 3 

Social media (Facebook – 85; 9 – Twitter; 1 – Youtube) 95 

Petitions 6 

 

Headline findings  

The Healthcare for the Future in West, North, and East Cumbria consultation document 

(referred to from now on as ‘the consultation document’) sets out the Success Regime’s vision 

and proposals for change. Some of the proposals involved substantial developments or changes 

in the way some services are provided and the Success Regime wanted to consult with the 

public on these before making any final decisions. The services concerned are: 

• Maternity services (including urgent gynaecology) 

• Children’s services 

• Community hospital inpatient beds 

318



 

• Emergency and acute care 

• Hyper-acute stroke services 

• Emergency surgery, trauma and orthopaedic services 

Each of these service areas had a number of options for consideration including the preferred 

option for the purpose of the consultation. 

Attitudes towards the proposals in each of these service areas were consistent across the 

different ways in which people responded so are summarised thematically by service area 

below. 

Maternity services 

The proposals 

The consultation document outlined three options for the future provision of maternity services 

in West, North and East Cumbria. These are summarised below. 

Maternity Option 1 – the provision of a consultant-led maternity unit at both Cumberland 

Infirmary Carlisle and at West Cumberland Hospital, alongside a midwife-led maternity unit at 

both sites, a full range of antenatal and postnatal care at both sites and the continued option of 

giving birth at the Penrith Birthing Unit or at home.  

Maternity Option 2 - the provision of a consultant-led maternity unit, alongside a midwife-led 

maternity unit and a special care baby unit at Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle along with a full 

range of antenatal and postnatal care. At West Cumberland Hospital in Whitehaven it would 

involve a standalone midwife-led maternity unit for low risk births, open 24 hours a day 365 

days a year, with antenatal and postnatal care delivered by both consultants and midwives and 

with consultants on site between 8am and 8pm.  

The consultants would not provide intrapartum care (care during labour). It may be possible to 

offer low risk, planned caesarean sections at West Cumberland Hospital, once the midwife-led 

unit was fully established. Maternity Option 2 would also involve the provision of a dedicated 

ambulance, based at Whitehaven, to transfer any women who experience complications during 

labour or who need further pain relief, to the consultant-led unit at Carlisle.  

Maternity Option 3 - involves the provision of a consultant-led maternity unit at Cumberland 

Infirmary Carlisle with a special care baby unit, alongside a midwife-led maternity unit and a full 

range of antenatal and postnatal care. There would be no births at West Cumberland Hospital 

in Whitehaven but consultants and midwives would give antenatal and postnatal care at West 

Cumberland Hospital. As with Maternity Option 1, women would continue to have the choice 

of giving birth at the Penrith Birthing Unit or at home.  

Maternity Option 2 is the preferred option for the purpose of the consultation. 

319



 

The findings 

In the consultation questionnaire, respondents were asked to rank the order in which they 

preferred the options. They were also asked to explain why they favoured their first option and 

were invited to offer proposals of their own. People also sent in their views on these options in 

different formats including letters and e-mails.  

The quantitative headlines, obtained from the consultation questionnaire, are shown below in 

Table 2. 

Table 2: Preferences for maternity services options 

 First preference expressed 

Responses 
Total  
(%) 

Total 
(actual) Option 1 Option 2 Option 3 

Number who expressed first 
preferences for the options 57% 2097 

85% 

(1782) 

11% 

(231) 

4% 

(84) 
Number who did not express 
preferences but commented on 
proposals 

37% 1366 

 

Number who did not respond to the 
question 6% 234 

Total number of respondents  100 % 3696 

 

57% of respondents identified preferred options; over a third (37%) chose not to rank any 

options but added comments to explain why they did not agree with any of the proposed 

options; and 6% did not answer either part of the maternity services section.  

Of those who expressed preferences, 85% of respondents selected Maternity Option 1 as their 

preferred option. Maternity Option 2 was the preferred option for the purpose of Consultation.  

In terms of the qualitative feedback received on this across the consultation response, it is clear 

that the main influence on the response to the maternity options is the relative safety that is 

offered to expectant mothers and babies by each of the options. Maternity Option 1 was 

perceived by many as the safest option.  

There was strongly expressed opposition to all of the options, across all the consultation 

channels, with many making the case for retaining the current level of maternity service 

provision at West Cumberland Hospital. 

 

 

 

320



 

Children’s services 

The proposals 

The consultation document outlined three options for the future provision of children’s 

inpatient services in West, North and East Cumbria. 

Children’s Option 1 - the development of an inpatient paediatric unit serving West, North and 

East Cumbria based at Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle along with a short stay paediatric 

assessment unit. At West Cumberland Hospital, Whitehaven there would be a short stay 

paediatric assessment unit for children requiring short term observation and treatment. There 

would also be some overnight beds at Whitehaven for children with less acute, low risk illnesses 

but children who needed more acute inpatient admission would be transferred to Carlisle. 

Children’s Option 2 - the development of an inpatient paediatric unit serving West, North and 

East Cumbria based at Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle along with a short stay paediatric 

assessment unit. At West Cumberland Hospital, Whitehaven – as with Children’s Option 1 – 

there would be a short stay paediatric assessment unit for children requiring short term 

observation and treatment but there would be no overnight beds at Whitehaven for children. 

Any child who needed inpatient admission would be admitted to Carlisle.  

Children’s Option 3 - the development of an inpatient paediatric unit serving West, North and 

East Cumbria based at Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle along with a short stay paediatric 

assessment unit. At West Cumberland Hospital, Whitehaven there would be paediatric 

outpatient services only and no short stay paediatric assessment unit. All urgent care would be 

delivered at Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle. 

The preferred option for the purpose of the consultation is Children’s Option 1.  

The findings 

In the consultation questionnaire, respondents were asked to rank the order in which they 

preferred the options. They were also asked to explain why they favoured their first option and 

were invited to offer proposals of their own. People also sent in their views on these options in 

different formats including letters and e-mails.  

321



 

The quantitative headlines, obtained from the consultation questionnaire, are shown in Table 3.  

Table 3: Preferences for children’s services options 

 First preference expressed 

Responses 
Total  
(%) 

Total 
(actual) Option 1 Option 2 Option 3 

Number who expressed first 
preferences for the options 46% 1690 

94% 

(1589) 

5% 

(84) 

1% 

(17) 
Number who did not express 
preferences but commented on 
proposals 

38% 1399 

 

Number who did not respond to the 
question 16% 607 

Total number of respondents  100 % 3696 

 

In total, 46% of respondents identified preferred options; over a third (38%) chose not to rank 

any options but added comments to explain why they did not agree with any of the proposed 

options; and 16% did not answer either part of the children’s services section.  

Children’s Option 1, the preferred option for the purpose of the consultation, is the most 

popular option among those who expressed preferences. 

In terms of the qualitative feedback received across the consultation channels, much of the 

response to the children’s services options relate to safety for patients as well as the impact on 

the wellbeing of their parents, carers and families. As is familiar with other service areas, 

location and distance from services is a major factor affecting respondents’ feelings on the 

options. 

Community hospital inpatient services 

The proposals 

The consultation document outlined four options for the future provision of community hospital 

inpatient services in West, North and East Cumbria. 

Community Hospitals Inpatients Option 1 – involves no community hospital closures but 

proposes the consolidation of inpatient community hospitals beds onto six sites. In total, there 

would be 104 inpatient beds at Whitehaven (Copeland Unit), Cockermouth, Workington, 

Penrith, Brampton and Keswick. 

Community Hospitals Inpatients Option 2 – involves no community hospital closures but 

proposes the consolidation of inpatient community hospitals beds onto five sites. In total, there 

would be 104 inpatient beds at Whitehaven (Copeland Unit), Cockermouth, Penrith, Brampton 

and Keswick.  

322



 

Community Hospitals Inpatients Option 3 - involves no community hospital closures but 

proposes the consolidation of inpatient community hospitals beds onto five sites. In total, there 

would be 104 inpatient beds at Whitehaven (Copeland Unit), Workington, Penrith, Brampton 

and Keswick.  

Community Hospitals Inpatients Option 4 – involves no community hospital closures but 

proposes the consolidation of inpatient community hospitals beds onto three sites. In total, 

there would be 104 inpatient beds at Whitehaven (Copeland Unit), Penrith and at a new site in 

the Carlisle area. 

Community Hospitals Inpatients Option 1 is the preferred option for the purpose of the 

consultation. 

The findings 

In the consultation questionnaire, respondents were asked to rank the order in which they 

preferred the options. They were also asked to explain why they favoured their first option and 

were invited to offer proposals of their own. People also sent in their views on these options in 

different formats including letters and e-mails.  

The quantitative headlines, obtained from the consultation questionnaire, are shown in Table 4. 

Table 4: Preferences for community hospitals inpatient beds options 

 First preference expressed 

Responses 
Total  
(%) 

Total 
(actual) 

Option 
1 

Option 
2 

Option 
3 

Option 
4 

Number who expressed first 
preferences for the options 45% 1659 

86% 

(1427) 

6% 

(100) 

4% 

(66) 

4% 

(66) 
Number who did not express 
preferences but commented 
on proposals 

36% 1338 

 

 

Number who did not respond 
to the question 19% 699  

Total number of respondents  100% 3696  

 

In total, 45% of respondents identified preferred options; over a third (36%) chose not to rank 

any options but added comments to explain why they did not agree with any of the proposed 

options; and 19% did not answer either part of this section.  

Community Hospital Inpatients Option 1, the preferred option for the purpose of the 

consultation, is the most popular option among those who expressed preferences. 

A substantial number of the comments in the questionnaire were unsupportive of the proposals 

with many saying that they had not stated a preferred option because none of the options were 

‘suitable’ or ‘acceptable’. There were also respondents who had stated Community Hospital 

323



 

Inpatients Option 1 or others as their preference because it was the ‘least worst’ option and 

they expressed concern or disappointment that the overall number of inpatient beds in 

community hospitals was being reduced. This level of concern reflects the significant response 

received through other consultation channels expressing disapproval at the overall reduction in 

number of beds in community hospitals and / or concern about inpatient beds no longer being 

available in Alston, Wigton and Maryport in any of the proposed community hospital options.  

Emergency and acute care 

The proposals 

The consultation document outlined three options for the future provision of emergency and 

acute care across West, North and East Cumbria. 

Emergency and Acute Option 1 – involves a 24/7 A&E at Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle along 

with acute medical inpatient services, including for the most complex cases. There would be 

assessment and inpatient beds for the frail elderly, as well as specialist rehabilitation. The 

number of intensive care beds currently on site would increase slightly, as would the number of 

emergency assessment unit beds. 

There would also be a 24/7 A&E at West Cumberland Hospital along with acute medical 

inpatient services and rehabilitation. There would also be a small intensive care unit but some of 

the most seriously ill patients would be transferred to Carlisle if it was felt they would benefit 

from the extra support available there.  

Emergency and Acute Option 2 – involves a 24/7 A&E at Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle and 

acute medical inpatient services with extra capacity at night and for more complex cases. There 

would be assessment and inpatient beds for the frail elderly, as well as specialist rehabilitation. 

The number of inpatient beds and intensive care beds would increase, as would the number of 

emergency assessment unit beds. 

At West Cumberland Hospital, there would be a daytime only A&E service and a 24/7 urgent 

care centre which would see patients overnight with less serious injuries and conditions. 

Selected patients would be admitted by emergency ambulance and through referral from their 

GP during the day. There would be no intensive care unit at Whitehaven but there would be 

support from specialist clinicians for any very sick patients in order to provide immediate care 

prior to transfer. There would a number of assessment and in-patient beds including beds for 

the frail elderly who are medically stable and for rehabilitation. 

Emergency and Acute Option 3 - involves a significantly expanded 24/7 A&E at Cumberland 

Infirmary Carlisle equipped to care for all West, North and East Cumbria patients brought in by 

emergency ambulance.  It would also care for the majority of GP referrals. The number of 

emergency assessment unit, inpatient, and intensive care beds would increase to manage all 

324



 

acutely ill patients in this area. There would also be inpatient beds for the frail elderly, as well as 

specialist rehabilitation. 

At West Cumberland Hospital, there would be no A&E unit and no intensive care unit but there 

would be a 24/7 urgent care centre which would see patients with less serious injuries and 

conditions. The urgent care centre and outpatient services for those not requiring admission 

would be supported by specialist clinicians in the daytime but there would be no overnight care 

for acutely unwell patients. Medically stable frail elderly patients could be admitted as 

inpatients, and there would also be assessment services for the frail elderly along with 

rehabilitation beds. 

This option would also require more paramedics and ambulances. 

Emergency and Acute Option 1 is the preferred option for the purpose of the consultation. 

The findings 

In the consultation questionnaire, respondents were asked to rank the order in which they 

preferred the options. They were also asked to explain why they favoured their first option and 

were invited to offer proposals of their own. People also sent in their views on these options in 

different formats including letters and e-mails.  

The quantitative headlines, obtained from the consultation questionnaire, are shown in Table 5. 

Table 5: Preferences for emergency and acute care options 

 First preference expressed 

Responses Total  
(%) 

Total 
(actual) Option 1 Option 2 Option 3 

Number who expressed first 
preferences for the options 46% 1709 

95% 

(1624) 

3% 

(51) 

2% 

(34) 
Number who did not express 
preferences but commented on 
proposals 

32% 1201 

 

Number who did not respond to the 
question 21% 786 

Total number of respondents  100 % 3696 

In total, 46% of respondents identified preferred options; 32% chose not to rank any options 

but added comments to explain why they did not agree with any of the proposed options; and 

21% did not answer either part of this section.  

Emergency and Acute Option 1, the preferred option for the purpose of the Consultation, is the 

most popular option among those who expressed preferences. 

Those who expressed a preference for Emergency and Acute Option 1 did so mainly because 

they disagreed with Options 2 and 3 which implied a loss of A&E services at West Cumberland 

325



 

Hospital. A large number of responses rejected all of the options, wanting instead to retain the 

status quo. The main concerns are in line with those received through other consultation 

channels. These focus on the risk for patients travelling from West or Southern Cumbria to 

Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle and an objection to the reduction in services currently provided 

by West Cumberland Hospital. 

Hyper-acute stroke services 

The proposals 

The consultation document outlined two options for hyper-acute stroke services in West, North 

and East Cumbria. 

Hyper-Acute Stroke Option 1 – would largely maintain services as they are now but the service 

would be enhanced by ensuring improved, early supported discharge in both Carlisle and 

Whitehaven. 

Hyper-Acute Stroke Option 2 – would see all acute stroke cases managed in a single hyper-

acute stroke unit based at Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle. Ambulances would take possible 

stroke patients direct to Carlisle. Patients arriving at West Cumberland Hospital by other means 

would be transferred by ambulance to Carlisle. On leaving the hyper-acute stroke unit patients 

resident in West Cumbria would be transferred to acute stroke and rehabilitation facilities at 

West Cumberland Hospital if further hospital care was needed. As with Hyper-Acute Stroke 

Option 1, this service would be complemented by ensuring improved, early supported discharge 

in both Carlisle and Whitehaven.  

Hyper-Acute Stroke Option 2 is the preferred option for the purpose of the consultation. 

The findings 

In the consultation questionnaire, respondents were asked to rank the order in which they 

preferred the options. They were also asked to explain why they favoured their first option and 

were invited to offer proposals of their own. People also sent in their views on these options in 

different formats including letters and e-mails.  

The quantitative headlines, obtained from the consultation questionnaire, are shown in Table 6. 

 

 

 

Table 6: Preferences for hyper-acute stroke service options 

 First preference expressed 

Responses Total  
(%) 

Total 
(actual) Option 1 Option 2 

326



 

Number who expressed first 
preferences for the options 44% 1635 

68%  

(1104) 

32% 

(523) 
Number who did not express 
preferences but commented on 
proposals 

32% 1161 

 

Number who did not respond to the 
question 24% 900 

Total number of respondents  100 % 3696 

 

In total, 44% of respondents identified preferred options; 32% chose not to rank any options 

but added comments to explain why they did not agree with any of the proposed options; and 

24% did not answer either part of this section.  

Hyper-Acute Stroke Option 1, which was not the preferred option for the purpose of the 

consultation, is the most popular option among those who expressed preferences. 

The strength of opinion for one option over another was more balanced for hyper-acute stroke 

services compared to the other service options being consulted on. This was also reflected 

across all consultation channels.  

Many of those who expressed support for Hyper-Acute Stroke Option 1 did so because it 

appeared to better serve people across West, North and East Cumbria and not just those in 

North Cumbria. Some also recognised that it would allow quick access to stroke services, 

respecting both the ‘golden hour’ required to minimise long-term damage arising from 

potential strokes and the act F.A.S.T. principles in place that recognise the signs of stroke. Many 

also expressed support for this option because it was the closest to ‘no change’ as possible. 

Many of those who expressed support for Hyper-Acute Option 2 agreed with the rationale 

outlined in the consultation document of having a specialist centralised service and felt that this 

was the most sustainable option in the long-term. 

  

327



 

Emergency surgery, trauma and orthopaedic services 

The proposal 

The consultation document outlined its approach for emergency surgery, trauma care and 

orthopaedic services. Respondents were asked for their views on this. 

FROM THE CONSULTATION DOCUMENT 

We are proposing that the arrangements previously made on safety grounds are now made 

permanent BUT with some further changes which allow additional emergency surgery and 

trauma care to take place at West Cumberland Hospital. Specifically, we are proposing: 

• Additional minor trauma surgery will take place on some days each week at West 

Cumberland Hospital with any displaced planned surgery being managed in an 

additional weekly list at West Cumberland Hospital. 

• Some non-complex day case general surgery is returned to West Cumberland Hospital 

including key-hole gall bladder operations, surgical treatment of abscesses, and 

investigation of abdominal pain (with key hole procedure if necessary). 

• Single ‘Professional Point of Access’ communication arrangements are used to allow the 

referrer (often the patient’s GP) to discuss directly with the hospital based surgeon the 

best place to see and assess individual patients. 

• Additional outpatient fracture clinics at West Cumberland Hospital. 

This proposal has been demonstrated to result in better outcomes for patients, however, some 

patients will continue to have to go directly to Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle or be transferred 

there from West Cumberland Hospital. 

A survey of patients who transferred between hospital sites in 2014 showed 85% of patients 

rated their experience of transfer as excellent, very good or good and 96% rating their care at 

the Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle excellent, very good or good. 

This proposal would save the NHS nearly £500,000 a year through savings on temporary staff. 

This would be offset by a small cost of about £65,000 per year relating to the additional 

surgical list each week. 

The findings 

The response to the proposal for emergency surgery, trauma and orthopaedic services is, in 

common with much of the rest of the questionnaire response, centred largely on the perceived 

effect on patient safety and the risks involved, with a particular focus in this case on the effect 

of the changes on staffing and recruitment challenges. 

 

328



 

There is no accompanying option ranking question for this service area, as the consultation 

document presented a single proposal, so it is not possible to precisely quantify support or 

opposition to it. On balance, the comments received in response to it are more critical of the 

proposal than in support of it.  

 

Concluding comments 

A consistent picture emerges from the different strands of the consultation. There is mixed 

support for many of the proposals outlined in the consultation document including the 

preferred options for the purpose of the consultation. Potential changes to services, particularly 

where loss of services are involved, understandably cause apprehension among those who may 

be affected. There has been clear and vocal opposition where this is potentially the case (for 

example, from those impacted by the proposed changes at West Cumberland Hospital and 

from the areas where there is a loss of inpatient beds in community hospitals in Alston, Wigton 

and Maryport). 

All the different strands of the consultation also highlight some clear concerns about the 

proposals including: 

• The impact on patient safety – and potentially the risk to life especially for those having 

to travel further distances to access emergency or acute services such as stroke services 

or maternity services. 

• Their impact on the ability to access high quality care closer to home – particularly for 

those who live in more rural areas of the county. This was also linked to the belief by 

many that the current infrastructure – mainly transport – and current resourcing could 

not deliver the proposed changes. 

• The health and social impacts – many felt these proposals impacted most on the most 

disadvantaged and vulnerable across the county and could lead to poorer health 

outcomes.   

329



 

1 About the consultation 

This section of the report describes the background to the consultation and the way the 

consultation has been conducted. It provides a summary of the different types of responses that 

were received throughout the consultation period; the quantity of responses by each 

consultation method; the process that was carried out to collect and manage these responses; 

and how they have been analysed to produce this report.  

 

1.1 Background to the consultation 

The NHS in West, North and East Cumbria is facing some key challenges:   

• overall the health of the local population is not as good as in other parts of the country; 

• locally the NHS finds it very difficult to attract the doctors, nurses, paramedics and other 

staff who are needed to deliver services; 

• some people are admitted to hospital, or stay too long in hospital, when they should be 

receiving care at home or in the community; 

• the NHS in this area has significantly overspent its budget over a number of years; 

• the Care Quality Commission, which inspects and regulates health and social care 

services, has declared some local NHS services to be either inadequate or in need of 

improvement. 

The West, North and East Cumbria Success Regime was set up by the NHS in autumn 2015 to 

try and address some of these challenges. The Success Regime is made up of a number of 

partners including: 

• NHS Cumbria Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) which is made up of 74 General 

Practices across Cumbria and holds the budgets to pay for the majority of NHS care 

provided for their patients. The CCG has the legal responsibility for undertaking the 

Healthcare for the Future public consultation. 

• Cumbria Partnership NHS Foundation Trust which delivers a range of community 

services and mental health services. 

• North Cumbria University Hospitals NHS Trust which delivers the services at West 

Cumberland Hospital and Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle. 

• North West Ambulance Service NHS Trust which delivers paramedic emergency services, 

patient transport, and 111 services. 

By working with local NHS organisations, local clinicians, national experts and local care bodies, 

and building on the ideas that had come from the public and patients in the past, the Success 

Regime has now developed a new vision which it believes will help it attract the right staff and 

enable them to deliver services that are tailor-made for communities in West, North and East 

330



 

Cumbria. This vision is to create a centre for excellence for integrated health and social care 

provision in rural, remoted and dispersed communities. 

The Success Regime sets out this vision and some of the proposals to begin the process to 

achieve this in the Healthcare for the Future in West, North, and East Cumbria consultation 

document. The consultation document also provides more detail on the case for change and 

the way the options for change were developed.  

Some of the proposals involve substantial developments or changes in the way some services 

are provided and NHS Cumbria CCG, on behalf of the local NHS partner organisations, was 

committed to consulting with the public before making any final decisions. The services 

concerned are: 

• Maternity services (including urgent gynaecology) 

• Children’s services 

• Community hospital inpatient beds 

• Emergency and acute care 

• Hyper-acute stroke services 

• Emergency surgery, trauma and orthopaedic services 

Each of these service areas has a number of options for consideration, including the preferred 

option for the purpose of the consultation. 

The consultation to get the views of patients, public and others with an interest in these issues, 

was launched on 26 September 2016 and ran until 19 December 2016. Because of a postal 

strike that took place in December, responses received by post up to 24 December 2016 were 

accepted and processed. Submissions received beyond this date are reported on in Appendix G. 

 

1.2 The consultation process 

The following channels were provided for people to respond throughout the consultation 

period: 

• Online consultation questionnaire hosted on the Future of Healthcare consultation 

website http://www.wnecumbria.nhs.uk. The survey included some closed questions to 

measure levels of support around the service options proposed and a number of open 

questions around the proposals to allow respondents to express views in their own 

words. Information about demographics and the context in which people were 

responding to the consultation were also asked for sub-group analysis.  

• Paper surveys were also available which contained the same questions as the online 

survey with a freepost return option. There were no requests for translation into 

additional languages. Easy Read versions of the survey were also available. 

331

http://www.wnecumbria.nhs.uk/


 

• Meetings – a number of public meetings, stakeholder meetings, staff consultation 

events and deliberative events were held during the consultation period and reports of 

these were submitted as part of the consultation. 

• Submissions in the form of letters, emails, videos and petitions could be submitted 

to the consultation by post or by e-mail.  

• Representative telephone survey – a telephone survey of 1002 local residents, broadly 

representative by geography and demographics, was conducted across West, North and 

East Cumbria. 

• Social media – comments were received through the Success Regime’s social media 

channels including Facebook, Twitter and YouTube. 

The consultation was communicated through the following channels: 

• Over 20,000 hard copy consultation documents distributed to hospitals, GPs surgeries, 

local authority centres, libraries etc. 

• Local and regional media (772 pieces of media coverage during the formal consultation 

period). 

• An interactive website (17,542 visits during the consultation period with 45,638 page 

views). 

• Widespread advertising in local newspapers, local radio and online. 

• Electronic newsletters sent to a database of over 1,000 local organisational and 

individual stakeholders (7 newsletters during consultation and one immediately after 

consultation). 

• A YouTube information channel. 

• Healthwatch ‘Chatty Van’ – Healthwatch’s ‘outreach’ consultation vehicle visited over 

30 locations and engaged over 3,500 during the consultation period. 

 

1.3 Responses to the consultation 

A total of 5197 responses were received during the consultation period. The number of 

responses received from different channels is shown in Table 7. 

Table 7: Responses to the public consultation 

Method Total number of responses 

Online consultation questionnaire 2856 

Paper consultation questionnaire 840 

Paper consultation questionnaire – Easy Read 14 

Telephone survey 1002 

332



 

Method Total number of responses 

Letters and e-mails (from individuals) 202 

Letters, e-mails and long-form submissions 

(organisations) 

112 

Public meetings 17 

Stakeholder meetings and deliberative events 27 

NHS staff meetings 20 

Video submissions 3 

Social media (Facebook – 85; 9 – Twitter; 1 – Youtube) 95 

Petitions 6 

The total number of responses by audience demographics is shown in Table 8. Demographic 

data was only collected in the questionnaires and surveys. These are self-reported and therefore 

not completed by everyone. 

Table 8: Responses by demographic profile 

Demographic information Total  Percentage 

Age 

16-25 155 5% 

26-35 586 20% 

36-45 474 16% 

46-55 533 18% 

56-65 558 19% 

66-75 449 15% 

76+ 147 5% 

Total recorded 2902 100% 

Gender 

Male 922 32% 

Female 1916 66% 

Prefer not to say 56 2% 

Total recorded 2894 100% 

333



 

Demographic information Total  Percentage 

Ethnicity 

White British 2660 93% 

White Other 40 1% 

Mixed/multiple ethnic groups 12 0% 

Asian/Asian British 14 0% 

Black/Black British 5 0% 

Other 15 1% 

Prefer not to say 128 4% 

Total recorded 2874 100% 

 

In Appendix D, the profile of consultation responses by age, gender and geography is compared 

with the profile of West, North and East Cumbria. These profiles show that consultation 

respondents are more likely to be older and female than the population of West, North and East 

Cumbria as a whole.  

Questionnaire responses are shown in Table 9 by the town area attributed to post codes.  

Table 9: Questionnaire responses by post town 
Town Area Postcode(s) Count Total (%) 
Whitehaven CA28 918 25% 
Workington CA14 417 11% 
Carlisle CA1, CA2, CA3, CA4, CA5, CA6 278 8% 
Cockermouth CA13 265 7% 
Keswick CA12 258 7% 
Egremont CA22 246 7% 
Cleator Moor CA25 178 5% 
Seascale CA20 144 4% 
Maryport CA15 114 3% 
Alston CA9 109 3% 
St. Bees CA27 91 2% 
Penrith CA10, CA11 89 2% 
Frizington CA26 87 2% 
Wigton; Carlisle CA7 83 2% 
Millom LA18, LA19 65 2% 
Holmrook CA19 62 2% 
Brampton; Carlisle CA8 46 1% 
Cleator CA23 46 1% 
Moor Row CA24 33 0.91% 
Beckermet CA21 28 0.77% 
Appleby-In-Westmorland CA16 19 0.52% 
Ravenglass CA18 14 0.38% 

334



 

Town Area Postcode(s) Count Total (%) 
Kirkby Stephen CA17 13 0.36% 
Kendal LA9 7 0.19% 
Barrow-In-Furness LA13, LA14 3 0.08% 
Lancaster LA1 3 0.08% 
Ware SG12 2 0.05% 
Northwich CW8, CW9 2 0.05% 
Ormskirk L40 2 0.05% 
London WC2A 1 0.03% 
Sunderland SR3 1 0.03% 
Skipton BD23 1 0.03% 
Melton Mowbray LE13 1 0.03% 
Ulverston LA12 1 0.03% 
Clitheroe BB7 1 0.03% 
Chorley PR6 1 0.03% 
Barnstaple EX31 1 0.03% 
Hexham NE47 1 0.03% 
Lanark ML11 1 0.03% 
Torrington EX38 1 0.03% 
Kilmarnock KA3 2 1 0.03% 
Liverpool L2 1 0.03% 
Ambleside LA22 1 0.03% 
Manchester M20 1 0.03% 
Canonbie DG14 1 0.03% 
Birmingham B33 1 0.03% 
Gretna DG16 1 0.03% 
Broseley TF12 1 0.03% 
Total  3641 100% 

 

Questionnaire responses by local authority are listed in Table 10 below. Where responses are 

shown divided into local authorities in this report, any post code area which includes a specified 

local authority is included. Therefore, responses from postcode areas which straddle local 

authorities, will appear among results shown from both. 

Table 10: Questionnaire responses, by local authority 

Local authority Postcode(s) Count Total 

Copeland CA18, CA19, CA20, CA21, 

CA22, CA23, CA24, CA25, 

CA26, CA27, CA28, LA18, 

LA19 

1912 53% 

Allerdale, Copeland CA14 417 11% 

Allerdale CA13, CA15 379 10% 

Allerdale, Eden CA7, CA12 341 9% 

City of Carlisle CA1, CA2, CA3, CA6 254 7% 

Eden, Northumberland CA9 109 3% 

335



 

Local authority Postcode(s) Count Total 

Eden CA11, CA16 68 2% 

Eden, South Lakeland CA10, CA17 53 1% 

City of Carlisle, Northumberland  CA8 46 1% 

City of Carlisle, Allerdale CA5 15 0.41% 

City of Carlisle, Eden CA4 9 0.25% 

South Lakeland LA9, LA22 8 0.22% 

City of Lancaster LA1 3 0.08% 

Barrow-in-Furness, South Lakeland LA14 2 0.05% 

Cheshire West and Chester CW8, CW9 2 0.05% 

East Hertfordshire SG12 2 0.05% 

West Lancashire, Chorley L40 2 0.05% 

Barrow-in-Furness LA14 1 0.03% 

Birmingham B33 1 0.03% 

Camden, Westminster, City of London WC2A 1 0.03% 

Chorley PR6 1 0.03% 

Craven and Ribble Valley BD23 1 0.03% 

Dumfries and Galloway DG14 1 0.03% 

Dumfries and Galloway, Carlisle DG16 1 0.03% 

East Ayrshire KA3 2 1 0.03% 

Liverpool L2 1 0.03% 

Manchester M20 1 0.03% 

Melton LE13 1 0.03% 

North Devon EX31 1 0.03% 

Northumberland NE47 1 0.03% 

Ribble Valley BB7 1 0.03% 

Shropshire TF12 1 0.03% 

South Lakeland, Barrow-in-Furness LA12 1 0.03% 

South Lanarkshire ML11 1 0.03% 

Sunderland SR3 1 0.03% 

Torridge EX38 1 0.03% 

Total  3641 100% 

 

The Success Regime covers the three districts of Carlisle, Allerdale and Eden, and most of 

Copeland, bringing in both western and eastern areas of the county as well as the north. Figure 

1 shows the spread of hospitals across West, North and East Cumbria. As part of its 

considerations, the Success Regime will also consider patient flows in the southern part of 

336



 

Cumbria, as patients often choose to access healthcare provided beyond their immediate 

geographical boundaries. 

Figure 1: Geographical coverage of Success Regime's scope 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

In this report, any analysis of responses by geography  is done by district council breakdown. 

The main healthcare institutions in each of these areas impacted by the proposals are show in 

Table 11. 

Table 11: Healthcare institutions covered in the proposals by district area 

District area Name of healthcare institution 

337



 

District area Name of healthcare institution 

Allerdale • Cockermouth Community Hospital 

• Mary Hewetson Cottage Hospital, Keswick 

• Victoria Cottage Hospital, Maryport 

• Wigton Community Hospital 

• Workington Community Hospital 

Carlisle • Brampton War Memorial Hospital 

• Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle 

Copeland • West Cumberland Hospital, Whitehaven 

Eden • Penrith Community Hospital 

• Ruth Lancaster James Cottage Hospital, Alston 

 

The key themes and findings from the consultation questionnaires are reported in section 2 of 

this report. Those from the telephone survey can be found in section 8. The responses from 

individuals, stakeholders and organisations who sent in bespoke submissions are analysed in 

sections 3 and 4. The key themes arising from consultation meetings held with members of the 

public, stakeholders and staff during this period can be found in sections 5-7. Responses in 

other forms (including social media and petitions) are reported on in section 9. 

 

1.4 Interpreting the response 

The Campaign Company was commissioned to provide an independent analysis of the 

consultation responses of each of the channels used to respond to the consultation. This report 

sets out the findings from this analysis.  

The outcome of this consultation will be reported to the NHS Cumbria Clinical Commissioning 

Group’s Governing Body, the West, North and East Cumbria Success Regime and to other local 

NHS Trust boards. The Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) will consider the outcome of the 

consultation – in partnership with the Success Regime, the local NHS Trusts and other partner 

organisations – before taking any decisions.  

The methods used to collect evidence are designed to allow everyone to contribute to the 

consultation, but the evidence collected is not necessarily representative of the population as a 

whole. Responses are self-selecting: only people who chose to give their views have had them 

recorded. Typically, in public consultations, responses tend to come from those who are more 

likely to be impacted by any proposals and more motivated to express their views. The 

responses must therefore be seen as representative of those who wanted their views heard. As 

338



 

a result, in interpreting the response, particular attention is paid to understanding who has 

responded to the consultation, to understand where some groups are being under or over 

represented through the findings.  

The exception to this is in the analysis of the telephone survey response. This was undertaken 

with a broadly representative cross-section of 1000 residents across West, North and East 

Cumbria to ensure that the consultation process also captured the views of the wider 

population. This was achieved using a stratified sampling approach with quotas based on age, 

gender, ethnicity and geography.  

For the analysis of the consultation questionnaire and telephone survey responses, closed 

question responses are described as percentages. In places, percentages may not add up to 100 

per cent. This is due to rounding or questions allowing multiple responses. Where questions 

have allowed multiple responses, this is clearly stated. 

Due to a high number of partially completed responses, ranging from only one question to all 

but one question being answered, the base number for many questions varies and is stated for 

each question. 

Open questions and free text responses were analysed using a qualitative data analysis 

approach. Using qualitative analysis software (NVivo), all text comments have been coded 

thematically to organise the data for systematic analysis. To do this, a codeframe was developed 

to identify common responses; this was then refined throughout the analysis process to ensure 

that each response could be categorised accurately and could be analysed in context.  

It is important to note that where open text comments have been analysed using qualitative 

methods, these aim to accurately capture and assess the range of points put forward rather 

than to quantify the number of times specific themes or comments were mentioned. Where 

appropriate, we have described the strength of feeling expressed for certain points, stating 

whether a view was expressed by, for example, a large or small number of responses. However, 

these do not indicate a specific number of responses that could be analysed quantitatively.  

 

 

  

339



 

2 Analysis of consultation questionnaire responses 

 

2.1 Introduction 

This section reports on the response to the Healthcare for the Future consultation questionnaire 

that was available online and as a tear out section at the back of paper versions of the 

consultation document. A copy of the survey questions is included in Appendix A. 

The consultation document provided information on the proposed changes and detail to help 

respondents understand how the proposals had been reached. The questionnaire asked 

whether people had read the consultation document to gauge the extent to which responses 

are informed by the supporting information. 

The consultation questionnaire was open to all members of the public throughout the 

consultation period and promoted in a number of ways (see section 1.2).  As with all public 

consultations, the response cannot be seen as representative of the population but rather a 

cross section of interested parties who were made aware of the consultation and were 

motivated to respond. We have conducted analysis on the response using statistical software 

and coding software.  

The consultation questionnaire sought opinion on the proposed changes in the following 

services that the Success Regime were recommending in order to meet the needs of patients in 

West, North and East Cumbria:  

• Maternity services 

• Children’s inpatient services 

• Community hospital inpatient beds 

• Emergency and acute care 

• Hyper-acute stroke services 

• Emergency surgery, trauma and orthopaedic services 

Quantitative and qualitative findings for each service area are reported on in this section as 

well as views expressed about the wider health and social care strategy and other issues raised 

by respondents as part of the consultation process. Where there is a notable difference in 

responses we have included breakdowns of the data by type of user, geography and 

demographics. For quantitative data, we have included a base figure to highlight the number 

of responses. 

 

340



 

2.2 Consultation questionnaire response 

A total of 3710 responses to the consultation questionnaire were received. Of these 840 were 

paper copies and 14 were Easy Read versions of the questionnaire. 

The demographic profile of respondents is shown in Table 12.  

Table 12: Demographic profile of respondents 

Demographic information  Total  Percentage 

Age 

16-25 155 5% 

26-35 586 20% 

36-45 474 16% 

46-55 533 18% 

56-65 558 19% 

66-75 449 15% 

76+ 147 5% 

Total recorded 2902 100% 

Gender 

Male 922 32% 

Female 1916 66% 

Prefer not to say 56 2% 

Total recorded 2894 100% 

Ethnicity 

White British 2660 93% 

White Other 40 1% 

Mixed/multiple ethnic groups 12 0% 

Asian/Asian British 14 0% 

Black/Black British 5 0% 

Other 15 1% 

Prefer not to say 128 4% 

Total recorded 2874 100% 

 

341



 

2.3 Maternity services - key findings 

2.3.1 Background 

The consultation document outlined three options for the future provision of maternity services 

in West, North and East Cumbria. 

Maternity Option 1 – the provision of a consultant-led maternity unit at both Cumberland 

Infirmary Carlisle and at West Cumberland Hospital, alongside a midwife-led maternity unit at 

both sites, a full range of antenatal and postnatal care at both sites and the continued option of 

giving birth at the Penrith Birthing Unit or at home. There would be a special care baby unit at 

both Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle and West Cumberland Hospital but the reduced availability 

of paediatric expertise at West Cumberland Hospital would mean that some higher risk births 

would take place in Carlisle. 

Maternity Option 2 - the provision of a consultant-led maternity unit, an alongside midwife-led 

maternity unit and a special care baby unit at Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle along with a full 

range of antenatal and postnatal care. At West Cumberland Hospital in Whitehaven it would 

involve a standalone midwife-led maternity unit for low risk births, open 24 hours a day 365 

days a year, with antenatal and postnatal care delivered by both consultants and midwives and 

with consultants on site between 8am and 8pm.  

The consultants would not provide intrapartum care (care during labour). It may be possible to 

offer low risk, planned caesarean sections at West Cumberland Hospital, once the midwife-led 

unit was fully established. Maternity Option 2 would also involve the provision of a dedicated 

ambulance, based at Whitehaven, to transfer any women who experience complications during 

labour or who need further pain relief, to the consultant-led unit at Carlisle. It is anticipated that 

between 300 and 400 women a year would use the stand-alone midwife-led maternity unit at 

West Cumberland Hospital once it was fully developed. As with Maternity Option 1 women 

would continue to have the choice of giving birth at the Penrith Birthing Unit or at home.  

Maternity Option 3 - involves the provision of a consultant-led maternity unit at Cumberland 

Infirmary Carlisle with a special care baby unit, alongside a midwife-led maternity unit and a full 

range of antenatal and postnatal care. There would be no births at West Cumberland Hospital 

in Whitehaven but consultants and midwives would give antenatal and postnatal care at West 

Cumberland Hospital. As with Maternity Option 1 women would continue to have the choice of 

giving birth at the Penrith Birthing Unit or at home.  

Maternity Option 2 is the preferred option for the purpose of the consultation. 

Respondents were asked to rank the order in which they preferred the options. They were also 

asked to explain why they favoured their first option and were invited to offer proposals of their 

own. 

342



 

2.3.2 Quantitative findings 

57% of respondents identified preferred options; over a third (37%) chose not to rank any 

options but added comments to explain why they did not agree with any of the proposed 

options; and 6% did not answer either part of the maternity services section (see Table 13). 

Of those who expressed preferences, 85% of respondents selected maternity Option 1 as their 

preferred option (see Table 14). Maternity Option 2, the preferred option for the purpose of the 

consultation, was the second preference for most respondents.  

Table 13: Preferences for maternity services options 

 First preference expressed 

Responses 
Total  
(%) 

Total 
(actual) Option 1 Option 2 Option 3 

Number who expressed first 
preferences for the options 57% 2097 

85% 

(1782) 

11% 

(231) 

4% 

(84) 
Number who did not express 
preferences but commented on 
proposals 

37% 1366 

 

Number who did not respond to the 
question 6% 234 

Total number of respondents  100 % 3696 

 

Table 14: Preferences for maternity options (by percentage of each preference) 

Maternity services options First preference Second preference Third 
preference 

Option 1 85% 13% 5% 
Option 2 11% 79% 7% 
Option 3 4% 7% 88% 

Total responses by preference  2097 (100%) 1479 (100%) 1463 (100%) 

A similar pattern of preferences is shown when looking at responses examined by different 

demographic and lifestyle variables (see Table 15). When looking at responses from residents 

who live across West, North and East Cumbria, people from Copeland District have a stronger 

preference for Maternity Option 1 than residents from other areas. Since this is the only option 

which offers to maintain the current provision of a consultant-led maternity unit at West 

Cumberland Hospital in Whitehaven, which is located in the Copeland district area, this 

response is not unexpected. 

Respondents who are pregnant or have more recent experience of maternity services are also 

more likely to favour Maternity Option 1.  

 

343



 

Table 15: First preferences for maternity options by socio-demographic and lifestyle variables 
Demographic / lifestyle 
characteristic 

Option 1 Option 2 Option 2 Totals 

First preferences by district area 
Allerdale 84% 12% 4% 750 (100%) 
Carlisle 66% 24% 9% 232 (100%) 
Copeland 93% 5% 3% 1222 (100%) 
Eden 66% 25% 9% 348 (100%) 

First preferences by gender 
Male 82% 13% 5% 506 (100%) 
Female 86% 10% 3% 1070 (100%) 

First preferences by age 
Under 45 92% 5% 3% 690(100%) 
Over 45 80% 15% 5% 925 (100%) 

First preference by pregnancy status 
Currently pregnant 92% 5% 3% 72 (100%) 
Not pregnant 85% 11% 4% 1366 (100%) 

First preferences of respondents who have children under the age of 24 months 
Has at least one child under 
24 months  

95% 4% 2% 164 (100%) 

Does not have a child under 
24 months 

84% 12% 4% 1301 (100%) 

 

2.3.3 Qualitative comments 

In total, 3134 qualitative responses were made by respondents to explain their preference for 

different options or their decision not to choose any of the options. Attitudes towards the 

proposed maternity options, common themes emerging from these responses and alternative 

suggestions to the proposals are summarised below. 

Attitudes towards maternity options 

The main influence on the response to the maternity options is the perception of safety that is 

offered to expectant mothers and babies by each of the options. While this is underpinned by a 

number of other themes, this is the main rationale from people supporting Maternity Option 1 

ahead of the other options. The decision of the Success Regime to prefer Maternity Option 2, 

for the purpose of consultation, is criticised by some on the basis that it is not felt to reflect the 

recommendation in the 2014 Royal College of Obstetricians and Gynaecologists report that two 

consultant-led units be maintained. 

344



 

Support for Maternity Option 1 

Support for Maternity Option 1 is perceived by many to be the safest option of the three. For 

many respondents, this is considered the only acceptable option, as it offers more choice for 

patients and does not carry with it the same need for transfers to Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle 

as the other options which are seen as a potential threat to the health of both mother and 

child. The accessibility of West Cumberland Hospital in Whitehaven for West Cumbria residents, 

and the concern about having to travel to Carlisle instead, is a consistent argument made 

particularly against Maternity Options 2 and 3 throughout the response to this question. 

Support for Maternity Option 2 

Many of those who chose this option as their first preference did so on the basis that it appears 

to provide a compromise between continuing to support births at both acute hospitals, and the 

sustainability of services in the longer term. There is some support for centralising specialist staff 

at Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle, and the option is seen as more realistic in terms of practicality 

and staffing. There are also some references from respondents that they are selecting this 

option in deference to the expert opinion outlined in the consultation document. In some 

isolated instances it is considered the fairest of the three, and the best for North Cumbria 

residents. 

Support for Maternity Option 3 

Maternity Option 3, while considerably less popular than the other options, does receive some 

support. Arguments for this option include the fact that it is most sustainable of the three, that 

a single consultant-led maternity unit will offer the best quality facility, and that the lack of 

resources means consolidation of them into one site is the best course of action. 

Rejection of all options 

A significant number of responses reject all three maternity options. These responses are 

particularly focused on maintaining the status quo of a consultant-led maternity unit at West 

Cumberland Hospital, with a large number of responses also arguing for reinstating any 

maternity services that have already been relocated. Respondents also argue for ‘all services’ 

without specifying a particular location in many cases. Safety is a major concern among these 

responses, with the threat of expectant or new mothers and babies losing their lives frequently 

stated. There is also a large response that does not provide a particular reason for rejection of 

the options, but makes clear a demand for either maintaining a consultant-led maternity unit at 

West Cumberland Hospital, a 24/7 consultant-led maternity unit there, returning all maternity 

services to West Cumberland Hospital, or variations of these. 

345



 

Key themes 

There are a number of key themes emerging from the responses that underpin people’s 

attitudes and views towards the maternity options. These are broadly expressed as concerns 

about: 

• the impact on patient well-being and risk to life 

• being able to access essential and timely maternity care when needed  

• the effect of resourcing on quality of care  

• wider financial, economic and social concerns  

Impact on patient well-being and risk to life 

There is a consistent fear expressed by many respondents about the life-threatening risk posed 

to mothers and babies if either Maternity Options 2 or Option 3 are considered. Some qualify 

their response with personal stories about their experiences as parents describing how they feel 

they, or their children, would not be alive today if consultant care or emergency intervention 

had not been immediately available when complications in their births had occurred.  

Many respondents state that there is no such thing as a low-risk birth. Some describe, with 

examples from their own births or those of their friends or relatives, that high-risk births can be 

unforeseeable, and often follow largely innocuous pregnancies. They raise concerns about how 

emergency or crash caesarean sections would be handled in a midwife-led unit when no 

consultant is available.  

There are also specific concerns raised around the effect the proposed changes could have on 

the mental health and wellbeing of mothers and their families. The time before and after birth 

is described by many as one of high risk and vulnerability for mental wellbeing. 

It is argued by some that if the consultant-led maternity unit was to be removed from West 

Cumberland Hospital, that anxiety among expectant mothers in that area would rise, especially 

if they were concerned about how any complications in birth would be dealt with. This could 

lead to possible ill effects on their health and that of their child.  

Some also raise concerns that those mothers who are transferred to Carlisle from West Cumbria 

would be further isolated from their families and support networks, which could increase the 

risk to their wellbeing, including a potential increase in postnatal depression. This is further 

complicated if they have other children at home whom they may worry significantly more about 

when they are further away from them. 

Access to essential and timely maternity care  

A large proportion of responses express deep concern about the distances and difficulty in 

travelling from one part of the county to another which could be the case if Maternity Options 

2 or 3 were implemented. The additional journey time for West Cumbria residents of 45-48 

346



 

minutes suggested in the consultation document is contested, with some saying this is a best-

case scenario, and others considering it altogether unrealistic. 

Several respondents specifically cite NICE guidelines on intrapartum care stating that where an 

emergency caesarean section is required, Category 1 cases should be carried out within 30 

minutes, and Category 2 cases within 30-75 minutes. These guidelines, it is pointed out, are in 

danger of not being met, particularly in the case of Category 1 caesarean sections, if a transfer 

from West Cumberland Hospital to Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle is needed. A point is also 

raised about guidelines stating that a newborn baby should not be in a car seat for more than 

30 minutes. 

Road infrastructure in general is criticised as poor and cited as a reason not to support 

Maternity Options 2 or 3. The A595, as the main channel between West Cumberland Hospital 

and Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle, is a single carriageway road which is often described in 

responses as dangerous and prone to both road traffic accidents and congestion. Potential 

hold-ups caused by tractors, agricultural transport, livestock and HGVs are cited as frequent 

issues on the road and add to the journey time between the two sites. Similarly, the road 

network to the more rural parts of the county is felt to be liable to disruption and unsafe for 

expectant mothers in need of urgent medical assistance, with concerns about the ability to 

administer pain relief over the course of a long journey.  

The geography and weather hazards in the county are frequently mentioned. While the 

remoteness of many areas and the physical characteristics of the area provide challenges for 

travel alone, a high frequency of road closures and hazardous travel conditions brought on by 

weather events is cited by many respondents. Flooding, snow and fallen trees are all mentioned 

as having caused recent road closures, and when these closures affect main roads connecting 

the North and East to the West of the county, the latter can become effectively cut off. This is 

seen to pose a risk to any expectant mothers or babies in need of emergency obstetric care in 

the West of the county. 

The size of the county and its rurality are also given as reasons why more than one consultant 

led maternity unit is necessary in West, North and East Cumbria to ensure women can easily 

access the maternity services they need without increasing any risks to their pregnancy or 

childbirth.  

For those residents and patients who do not drive, the difficulties are seen to be even more 

acute. The provision of public transport, or lack of it, is suggested as a major obstacle to 

covering any great distance for those without their own means of transport especially for those 

living in or south of the Whitehaven area who might be expected to travel to Carlisle.  

347



 

An additional point raised by some respondents concerns the added pressure on traffic and 

congestion at peak times around Sellafield – a situation some consider will become worse with 

increased investment and construction on the energy coast. 

The effect of resourcing on quality of care 

There are concerns raised by many about the potential resource pressures that could arise from 

the proposed options and the impact of these on the quality of antenatal and postnatal care 

that patients might receive.  

Many points are raised around the likely effects on resources of more births being delivered at 

Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle. Some recognise the benefits to clinical care standards that might 

be achieved by centralising resources and expertise at one site, as is suggested in Options 2 and 

3. However, more responses are critical of this and are specifically critical about locating the 

only consultant-led maternity unit at Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle. Some question the value in 

abandoning a recently refurbished and updated unit at Whitehaven.  

There is some doubt expressed as to whether Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle is in a position to 

absorb the extra births proposed from West Cumberland Hospital. The hospital and unit there 

are described by some as overcrowded and/or understaffed at present, with examples of 

women being sent from Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle to West Cumberland Hospital to give 

birth due to a lack of beds at the former. There are some arguments made that additional 

investment in staffing and capacity at Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle will be necessary for either 

Maternity Option 2 or 3 to be implemented. 

Some respondents anecdotally express complaint about their own experience of using 

Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle, and are critical of the quality of care provided there. 

For some the dedicated maternity ambulance proposed as part of Maternity Option 2, to 

address the West Cumberland Hospital to Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle transfer issue, is 

received with some scepticism. Many respondents question what would happen in a case when 

more than one patient needed to be transferred close to the same time, with round journeys 

potentially taking several hours.  

There is also concern about the level of expertise that will be available for an ambulance 

transfer, with some asking whether specialist doctors would be on board or what training 

paramedics would receive given the level of paediatric or obstetric expertise necessary.  

Some raise the point that resource pressures that are already placed on the North West 

Ambulance Service make it unlikely to be able to provide a dedicated maternity ambulance 

transfer service.  

348



 

The journey time is again called into question with little optimism about ambulances 

overcoming familiar challenges in the road network linking West Cumberland Hospital and 

Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle. 

There are also various comments made about staffing. Some point to the current recruitment 

and staffing issues (both in the hospitals and within the ambulance service), as outlined in the 

consultation documents, as jeopardising any proposed plans to improve quality of care. They do 

not feel that the job uncertainty and working conditions of the recent past, which have led to 

recruitment challenges, are being addressed in the proposed options. There are also a number 

of comments that suggest that the proposed options are likely to make staff feel more 

pressured and under-resourced, especially the midwives tasked with leading the maternity unit 

at West Cumberland Hospital. 

It is also speculated by some that the demand for services and pressure on resources is likely to 

increase in the county, and especially in West Cumbria. The planned development of the 

Moorside nuclear plant is suggested to be likely to attract a significant growth in the working 

age and childbearing age population locally, putting additional pressure on the local healthcare 

and specifically maternity healthcare provision. 

It was recognised by many that extensive training would need to be provided to staff, 

particularly life-saving obstetric and paediatric care if emergency transfers or midwife-led units 

are taken forward. 

An ongoing consultation by Sellafield and NuGeneration Ltd around how to deal with the extra 

traffic and its impact brought about by the Moorside development was also mentioned and it 

was suggested that this consultation should feed into that in some way.  

Wider financial, economic and social concerns  

There are a number of concerns raised about both the financial basis for these changes and the 

fairness of these proposals especially in terms of equality, or inequality, of access to services.  

There are a number of suggestions that the options proposed put cost savings before quality of 

care and, in some cases, patient wellbeing.  

There are more specific responses about where savings could be made instead. Management 

structures are criticised by some as a waste of money, with a top-heavy structure costing the 

hospital trust too much, leaving less funding for medical and nursing staff. Some responses also 

suggest that maternity should be the ‘last resort’ for cuts and accept cuts to other services to 

maintain the sufficient funding for maternity. 

The PFI contract for Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle is also mentioned in some responses, either it 

is simply blamed for the financial strains facing the hospital trust, or respondents demand that it 

be ended to free up more funds.  

349



 

A further source of funding some cite is central government, arguing that more could be done 

to lobby them for additional funding instead of imposing the changes suggested. 

There are several comments made around the socio-economic implications of the proposals 

especially on residents of West Cumbria. Respondents argue that there are pockets of high 

deprivation in West Cumbria, both within Whitehaven and in the rural areas of the region and 

that the proposals impact on those in these areas who are most disadvantaged or vulnerable.  

It is argued that people in these areas are faced with health and income inequalities that mean 

they are more likely to have high-risk births, less likely to be equipped to deal with the cost of 

travel to Carlisle and therefore most likely to be impacted by the proposals in Maternity Options 

2 and 3.  

Emotive language is used by respondents as they describe the sense that they, as West Cumbria 

residents, are being proposed a ‘second class service’, and even that they are being treated as 

‘second class citizens’. There are also some suggestions that the proposed options favour urban 

dwellers over those in rural areas. 

A repeated point made in responses is that there should be equal right for those in West 

Cumbria as those in the North and East to have access to equal healthcare provision in their 

local area. Reasons given for this include the fact that residents in all parts of the county pay 

taxes, meaning it is unfair to remove services from one part instead of the other.  

It is also stated by a number of respondents that a basic right exists that women and parents 

should be able to make a choice regarding where they give birth, something seen as being 

potentially removed under Maternity Options 2 and 3.  

Additional suggestions 

As well as providing reasons for why they favoured any of the options, or otherwise, some 

respondents volunteered suggestions as to other changes or initiatives that could be considered. 

The location of maternity and birth units 

There was support mentioned for the Copeland Borough Council proposal which recommended 

“the provision of a consultant led maternity unit at both Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle and at 

West Cumberland Hospital, alongside midwife-led maternity unit at both sites and the 

continued option of giving birth at the Penrith Birthing Unit or at home. There would be a 

special care baby unit at both Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle and West Cumberland Hospital.” 

There are also a number of suggestions that the proposal in Maternity Option 2 for a 

consultant-led unit at Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle and maternity-led unit at West Cumberland 

Hospital should be reversed. This is based on the idea that residents in the North of the county 

have more alternative hospitals with easier access, including Hexham, Glasgow, Newcastle and 

350



 

Lancaster. There is also a suggestion that maternity care is maintained at West Cumberland 

Hospital and a specialist unit could be at Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle to work with Newcastle.  

There are repeated suggestions that it will be important to have consultant expertise ‘on-call’ 

outside of the 8am to 8pm onsite hours outlined in Maternity Option 2.  

The Birthing Centre at Penrith is subject of a few conflicting suggestions. There is a suggestion 

that it could reasonably be closed and mothers travel to give birth at Cumberland Infirmary 

Carlisle instead, while in contrast it is also suggested that it should be expanded, to handle 

more births from a wide surrounding area, given that it is well connected to major roads. 

There are multiple calls for home births to be encouraged, ostensibly reducing demand on 

services within hospitals. There is also a suggestion that more services based in smaller, rural 

hospitals would temper the need to concentrate demand on larger acute hospitals. 

Staff, skills and recruitment 

Concerning staffing in the area, suggestions include relieving shortages by considering multi-

speciality roles and GPs with a Special Interest role, and for consultants to be contracted to 

work at both Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle and West Cumberland Hospital.  

There are a number of suggestions concerning recruitment, with a focus from some on 

incentives, including a weighting similar to the London Weighting for Cumbria, as well as 

offering ‘the right price’ and golden hellos if this means attracting the right quality candidates. 

Appropriate efforts into advertising roles is also suggested. One response suggests 

reintroducing matrons. 

Funding 

As efforts to generate the necessary funding to tackle the financial pressures on the Trust, 

several respondents comment that they would accept paying a higher tax or National Insurance 

contribution if it meant that services could be maintained locally, particularly at West 

Cumberland Hospital, or that a positive difference was made to consultant staffing levels. 

As previously mentioned, there are also several assertions that respondents would accept a 

reduction in other services in order to prioritise maternity services, especially at West 

Cumberland Hospital. 

Transport and infrastructure 

Many respondents argue the quality and capacity of the road network, especially between 

Whitehaven and Carlisle, must be improved in order for the proposed changes to be safely 

implemented. There are a few suggestions that the cost for such improvements could be met 

partly by the Highways Agency and NuGeneration Ltd. 

In addition to necessary road improvements, some respondents suggest it may be necessary, if 

transfers of mothers and babies with birth complications are implemented, to have a dedicated 

351



39 
 

or increased helicopter transfer available between Whitehaven and Carlisle, although in some 

responses this suggestion is tempered by the prospect that its use may be restricted in certain 

weather conditions. 

 

  

352



 

2.4 Children’s services - key findings 

2.4.1 Background 

The consultation document outlined three options for the future provision of children’s 

inpatient services in West, North and East Cumbria. 

Children’s Option 1 - the development of an inpatient paediatric unit serving West, North and 

East Cumbria based at Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle along with a short stay paediatric 

assessment unit. At West Cumberland Hospital, Whitehaven there would be a short stay 

paediatric assessment unit for children requiring short term observation and treatment. There 

would also be some overnight beds at Whitehaven for children with less acute, low risk illnesses 

but children who needed more acute inpatient admission would be transferred to Carlisle. 

Children’s Option 2 - the development of an inpatient paediatric unit serving West, North and 

East Cumbria based at Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle along with a short stay paediatric 

assessment unit. At West Cumberland Hospital, Whitehaven – as with Children’s Option 1 – 

there would be a short stay paediatric assessment unit for children requiring short term 

observation and treatment but there would be no overnight beds at Whitehaven for children. 

Any child who needed inpatient admission would be admitted to Carlisle.  

Children’s Option 3 - the development of an inpatient paediatric unit serving West, North and 

East Cumbria based at Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle along with a short stay paediatric 

assessment unit. At West Cumberland Hospital, Whitehaven there would be paediatric 

outpatient services only and no short stay paediatric assessment unit. All urgent care would be 

delivered at Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle. 

The preferred option for the purpose of the consultation is Children’s Option 1.  

Respondents were asked to rank the order in which they preferred the options. They were also 

asked to explain why they favoured their first option and invited to offer proposals of their own. 

 

2.4.2 Quantitative findings 

In total, 46% of respondents identified preferred options; over a third (38%) chose not to rank 

any options but added comments to explain why they did not agree with any of the proposed 

options; and 16% did not answer either part of the children’s services section (Table 16). 

353



 

Children’s  Option 1, the preferred option for the purpose of the consultation, is by far the most 

popular of the three options among those who expressed preferences (Table 17). 94% of first 

preference selections are for Children’s Option 1. Most second preferences are for Option 2 

(91%), while third preferences are mostly centred on Children’s Option 3 (94%). 

Table 16: Preferences for children’s services options 

 First preference expressed 

Responses 
Total  
(%) 

Total 
(actual) Option 1 Option 2 Option 3 

Number who expressed first 
preferences for the options 46% 1690 

94% 

(1589) 

5% 

(84) 

1% 

(17) 
Number who did not express 
preferences but commented on 
proposals 

38% 1399 

 

Number who did not respond to the 
question 16% 607 

Total number of respondents  100 % 3696 

 

Table 17: Preferences for children’s services options (by percentage of each preference) 

Children’s services options First preference Second preference Third 
preference 

Option 1 94% 5% 3% 
Option 2 5% 91% 3% 
Option 3 2% 4% 94% 

Total responses by preference  1690 (100%) 1270 (100%) 1259 (100%) 

 

A similar pattern of preferences is shown when looking at different geographic, demographic 

and lifestyle variables. Overall preference for Children’s Option 1 is strong across all district 

areas but most strong in Copeland (Table 18) where 97% of responses are for Option 1. Unlike 

the other proposals, Children’s Option 1 proposes some overnight inpatient children services at 

West Cumberland Hospital which is in the Copeland area. 

Table 18: Children's services first preferences, by district 

 
Allerdale Carlisle Copeland Eden 

Option 1 92% 87% 97% 89% 

Option 2 5% 10% 2% 9% 

Option 3 2% 4% 1% 2% 

Total responses by preference 622 (100%) 199 (100%)  941 (100%) 315 (100%) 

 

First preferences by different demographic and lifestyle variables are shown in Table 19. This 

shows a very strong preference for Children’s Option 1 across the board.  

354



 

Table 19: First preferences for children’s services options by socio-demographic and lifestyle variables 
Demographic / lifestyle 
characteristic 

Option 1 Option 2 Option 2 Totals 

First preferences by gender 
Male 91% 7% 2% 462 (100%) 
Female 95% 3% 2% 968 (100%) 

First preferences by age 
Under 45 95% 4% 1% 644 (100%) 
Over 45 93% 5% 2% 821 (100%) 

First preference by pregnancy status 
Currently pregnant 98% 2% 0% 65 (100%) 
Not pregnant 94% 4% 2% 1243 (100%) 

First preferences of respondents who have children under the age of 24 months 
Has at least one child under 
24 months  

95% 4% 1% 153 (100%) 

Does not have a child under 
24 months 

94% 4% 2% 1179 (100%) 

 

2.4.3 Qualitative findings 

In total, 2689 comments were made by respondents to explain their preferences or decisions 

not to choose any of the options. Attitudes towards the proposed children’s services options, 

common themes emerging from these responses and alternative suggestions to the proposals 

are summarised below. 

Much of the response to the options is framed around safety for patients. Particularly in the 

case of children’s services, mental wellbeing of child patients and their parents, carers and 

families is paramount in many responses. As is familiar with other service areas, location and 

distance from services is a major factor affecting respondents’ feelings on the options. 

Support for Children’s Option 1 

The large support for this option over the other two options is largely explained in terms of 

accessibility and proximity to children’s services, particularly for those in West Cumbria. The 

importance of local overnight services is emphasised in avoiding separating children from their 

families, and improving wellbeing. The difficulty of accessing Carlisle from other parts of the 

county is outlined repeatedly.  

A significant portion of the support for Children’s Option 1 is in terms of ‘best of a bad bunch’, 

with retention of the full inpatient unit preferred.  

355



 

Support for Children’s Option 2 

Support for Children’s Option 2 over the other options, whilst muted, is reasoned on the basis 

largely of concerns about staffing at West Cumberland Hospital. In some cases, retention of 

overnight services there is seen as the ideal but, with staffing uncertainties, possibly less realistic 

and therefore a less safe option. However, this view is tempered in some cases by concerns 

about accessibility of Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle for those in other parts of the county.  

Support for Children’s Option 3 

Support for Option 3 is limited, but where it is favoured it is again largely because of 

uncertainty over staffing at West Cumberland Hospital. Consolidation of services at Cumberland 

Infirmary Carlisle is seen by some as the best or only way of ensuring better quality of care and 

safety for patients. 

Rejection of options 

In many cases respondents refrain from giving preference to any option. In these cases, by far 

the most common desire is for maintenance of full services at West Cumberland Hospital. 

Particular focus is put on the need for 24/7 children’s services locally for West Cumbrians, with 

the distance from and difficulty of travelling to Carlisle frequently emphasised. The consequent 

separation of children from their families is a major concern. 

There are a number of responses of similar if not identical wording, demanding a “fully 

functioning paediatric department” and a “24/7 Children’s Ward” with overnight stays and a 

Special Care Baby Unit at West Cumberland Hospital. 

There is a degree of disagreement with the rationale for change presented in the consultation 

document. On staffing in particular, respondents argue that the priority should be to attract 

more staff through committing to a full service, rather than downgrading the existing provision. 

Level of inpatient service at West Cumberland Hospital 

A key overall theme in the response to the children’s services options is the provision of 

overnight beds at West Cumberland Hospital. While this is praised as an element of Children’s 

Option 1 over the other options, there is significant opposition to the notion of running this on 

a daytime admission only basis. The implications of reducing the current inpatient unit, or 

worse, absence of overnight beds altogether, are repeated concerns. The recurring themes 

among these responses are outlined below. 

Distance from and access to full paediatric services 

Respondents express concern at the prospect of needing to access paediatric services no longer 

available at West Cumberland Hospital, whether overnight or at all, when situated in West 

356



 

Cumbria or other parts of the county, from which access to Carlisle can be difficult. There are 

some responses in which a compromise of travelling a longer distance for the best care is 

accepted and supported, but these are relatively very few in number. 

Barriers to travelling 

The journey to Carlisle is described as long (particularly for those travelling from the other side 

of Whitehaven or further south east) and dangerous, including reference to the A595 being a 

particularly dangerous road. These accessibility and travel obstacles are seen to be liable to 

being exacerbated by poor weather – which can cut off parts of the county from others – or 

road traffic incidents en route. The road infrastructure is described as poor and public transport 

poorly served. At night public transport is said to be virtually non-existent, with weekends also 

adversely affected.  

Lack of public transport is seen as particularly important as West Cumbria is mentioned as being 

economically disadvantaged, with relatively low car ownership and fuel poverty being relevant 

issues. The cost of making the journey, using either personal or public transport, is seen as 

prohibitive in some cases for the same reason. Similarly, arranging childcare for parents’ other 

children is seen as a potential challenge, both in terms of availability and cost. 

Effects of difficulty of journey 

The idea of making the journey, said by many to be over an hour, with a sick child is described 

as worrying and in some cases unacceptable. It is noted by many respondents that children’s 

conditions can deteriorate rapidly, sometimes unexpectedly, and the need to be transported 

such a distance, either in an ambulance or in regular transport, could represent a serious risk to 

their health and, in some cases, life. The golden hour for treatment is mentioned by several 

respondents. 

There are various personal stories told of how either respondents or their children may have 

suffered critically had they not had the services they needed locally. The prospect of a long 

journey to Carlisle is a serious concern, and it is suggested by a few respondents that the 

awareness of this journey being necessary may actually put parents off taking their child as soon 

as they should, preferring to ‘wait and see’ for longer than they otherwise might. 

The added stress of the journey is seen as a threat to the mental wellbeing of both child and 

parent or travelling companion, and this potentially makes the journey itself more dangerous as 

a result.  

Separation of child and support (family and carers) and effects 

Once in an inpatient unit some distance from their home, many respondents suggest that 

children would be isolated from their families and support networks. The difficulty of the 

journey is present in terms of visiting, for many of the same aforementioned reasons, as well as 

several that surface specifically relating to visiting. 

357



 

Those most affected include again those who do not have their own means of transport, who 

have to rely on sometimes irregular or patchy public transport connections. Working parents or 

guardians are affected due to their other time commitments, and some respondents suggest in 

this case such a situation could lead to parents’ jobs being in jeopardy. Parents with other 

children, particularly single parents, have the added barrier of having to find childcare, pick up 

other children from school, and other commitments that make long distance visits difficult. 

Affordability of making regular journeys, and arranging cover for childcare or other 

commitments, again is seen to present a financial burden.  

The effects of this separation are described in blunt terms, including fear and anxiety for 

children in an unfamiliar and quite possibly scary environment, and in the longer term mental 

health issues stemming from the isolation. The latter is also a risk for parents, with stress and 

worry about their sick children exacerbated by the distance between them. There are several 

personal stories from respondents about their own emotionally stressful experiences as children 

in hospital with limited visits. 

There is also a suggested effect on recovery. Some respondents claim that recovery for children 

is aided by the presence of, or regular contact, with their family or support network, and that 

this contact is vital. This is coupled with anecdotal praise from respondents for the ability to visit 

their children in the past in a nearby hospital. In contrast, the suggested consequence of not 

being able to visit as frequently as liked, is a prolonged recovery time and bed-blocking. 

Creating this separation between sick children and their parents is described in strong terms; 

words such as ‘cruel’ and ‘inhumane’ are used. 

Resources and staffing 

Staffing 

For some the challenge in recruiting the staff needed, and the reliance on locums, makes 

consolidation of services at Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle the most sensible direction for the 

Trust to take. For others, the staffing and recruitment issues act as a rationale for maintaining 

and committing to services at both sites, particularly West Cumberland Hospital.  

Arguments that staffing problems are cause for consolidation generally state that the prospects 

for improving the current state of staffing affairs look unlikely, with a few pointing to a national 

shortage of paediatricians and that it is in the interests of quality of care and safety to 

concentrate expertise on permanent staff rather than temporary. If this involves consolidating 

the specialism in a single location, it is seen as a price worth paying. However, this viewpoint is 

heavily outweighed by the number of those who argue the opposite. 

There is a strong response that the current staffing problems are largely a result of the 

uncertainty around the future of healthcare in the area, particularly at West Cumberland 

Hospital. The solution to this, it is argued, is to commit to future services, or Children’s Option 1 

358



 

at the least, and provide some certainty to potential consultants and staff, aiding recruitment. 

Reduction of services is seen by some as likely to hamper recruitment further, as it makes 

working at West Cumberland Hospital a less attractive option for the best staff. Recruitment 

efforts thus far are criticised by some. There are many suggestions that consultants and staff 

employed by North Cumbria University Hospitals NHS Trust should be contractually obliged to 

work across both sites. A number of further suggestions around staffing and recruitment are 

outlined under Suggestions later in this section. 

Further community outreach nursing is advocated by several respondents, with references to 

previous plans to pursue this more directly, as a chance to supplement the main children’s units. 

Capacity and beds 

Capacity is a concern for some respondents, with comments that Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle 

is operating at or near capacity already, mentioning that ambulances are sometimes on 

‘postcode divert’ to other sites, and West Cumberland Hospital sometimes accepts patients 

from Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle due to lack of beds during winter (it is acknowledged that 

this works the other way at times too). The option to add more than 70 per cent extra 

admissions (based on the consultation document’s statement that 58% of children’s admissions 

are currently to Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle, and 42% to West Cumberland Hospital) is seen 

by some as a risk of exceeding capacity there. Parking at Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle is also 

mentioned as inadequate. A lack of beds is also seen by some as likely to exacerbate anxiety 

and stress. 

There is some concern expressed that the number of overnight beds at West Cumberland 

Hospital through Children’s Option 1 may not be sufficient. The wider capacity concerns are 

mentioned alongside the prediction that the local population may grow as a result of 

construction and then operation of the Moorside development. 

Ambulance service 

In support of the options, there is some approval noted of the plan to provide dedicated 

ambulance cover in order to help with the safe transfer of patients in need of acute care. But 

from others there are doubts about the proposed dedicated ambulance service. Primarily there 

are suggestions that the service faces staffing and capacity issues of its own, and will require 

more vehicles and paramedics to provide a sufficiently comprehensive service. The road 

infrastructure is also seen as limiting to its efficacy, and there are comments that other areas of 

the county will still need to be covered by the service. 

There is some confusion over whether the dedicated ambulance is an addition to the maternity 

ambulance or if it is proposed as single shared vehicle. One response states that the wider 

document and attendance at public meetings has suggested the latter is the case.  

359



 

A few responses state transfers for less severe conditions that need to be treated at Carlisle 

could stretch the service further. There are further concerns about who would accompany a 

patient in the dedicated ambulance, whether a consultant would be on hand or a specialised 

paramedic, and the real cost savings of the options with the necessary ambulance investment 

added is questioned. 

A response cautions that Grantham provides an example of a similar ambulance scheme not 

working in a geographically remote area.  

Additional safety impacts 

In addition to those impacts already outlined in the Distance section previously, further points 

are made about the risks attached to proposals to downgrade children’s services. 

There are frequent mentions of the added importance of being seen quickly for certain 

conditions. Respiratory problems such as asthma, as well as meningitis, anaphylaxis and sepsis 

are mentioned as potentially life-threatening if not treated quickly. It is pointed out that with 

transfers between two hospitals there may be double the normal time spent waiting to be seen 

by a doctor. Again, personal stories are recorded about either the respondent themselves, or a 

child, or someone they know, who may have died in a certain situation had it not been for the 

presence of a full children’s service within easy reach.  

There is an added difficulty identified in assessing the most appropriate course of action for a 

child. Parents, it is suggested, may well interpret symptoms in a way that leads them to take 

their child to one acute site when it would have been more appropriate to take them straight to 

the other. Doctors at West Cumberland Hospital too, face a more difficult decision in whether 

to send a child home, to transfer them to Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle, or to admit them to an 

emergency department inappropriately. Both situations, it is suggested, carry an inevitability of 

error at some point. 

A separate point is mentioned about the risk posed by young people who self-harm, and often 

are admitted at night. The likely mental health struggles of such patients are seen by some 

respondents to constitute an increased vulnerability to the mental wellbeing effects previously 

summarised.  

Equality of services 

There are various criticisms of the fairness of the options concerning the equality of care offered 

across the county. Those in West Cumbria, and the more rural areas across the county, are seen 

by some as being neglected in terms of the provision of basic healthcare services. The point is 

made particularly acutely that children deserve equal healthcare access independent of which 

part of the county or country they live in.  

360



 

There is again a sense conveyed that the most financially disadvantaged families and children 

are likely to be the hardest hit, due largely to the problems of accessibility previously outlined. 

Consultation comments 

There is, as well as widespread criticism of the options, pessimism about the consultation 

process itself and the rationale behind the options proposed. Several respondents infer that they 

demonstrate a lack of understanding of the impacts, particularly in terms of travel and 

accessibility, local infrastructure and its faults. 

There is also further scepticism expressed about figures used for average journey times and their 

impact, as well as use of other figures, or lack of them. A number of responses request clear 

evidence of recruitment efforts and an assessment of why consultants are not being attracted.  

There is also criticism of the document as misleading around the aforementioned ambiguity of 

the dedicated ambulance, with a perceived discrepancy between implication that these would 

be separate for maternity and children’s services, and the suggestion in meetings and other 

documents that this is not the case. 

Suggestions 

Staffing and recruitment 

A number of suggestions are made about the way staffing and recruitment could be made 

more effective. There are numerous comments advocating consultants and staff rotating 

between sites rather than patients. There are also suggestions of training nurses and midwives 

to be advanced practitioners, and to staff hospitals partnering these roles with consultants in a 

‘mixed economy’. 

Collaboration with other organisations such as medical schools, UCLan, Royal Victoria Infirmary, 

NuGen and local colleges to boost recruitment prospects are also suggested, including offering 

innovative job offers with opportunities to work in different roles and institutions throughout 

the year, attractive training opportunities and learning from recruitment techniques that have 

worked in other industries. Staffing models from A&E and emergency and acute care are also 

suggested for consideration. It is also suggested to offer locums ultimatums on permanent 

positions or something to encourage commitment, and more direct recruitment techniques are 

suggested in the form of head hunting. 

Alternative location of services 

There is a repeated suggestion that full paediatric inpatient services should be concentrated at 

West Cumberland Hospital rather than Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle, often citing the better 

connections from Carlisle to alternative hospitals if needed, compared with Whitehaven. A 

consultant-delivered service at West Cumberland Hospital, with a consultant-led service at 

Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle, is also advocated, with Furness General Hospital given as an 

361



 

example. The movement of non-urgent cases instead of those acutely unwell is also suggested 

to avoid the same disruption to families. 

There is a suggestion that children too sick for West Cumberland Hospital should go to Royal 

Victoria Infirmary rather than Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle, while another suggests the 

addition of a children’s intensive care unit at Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle. 

An isolated point is made about the apparent lack of consideration to facilities at Barrow, 

relevant to those in the south of West, North and East Cumbria.  

Alternative ways of working 

A small number of suggestions are put forward around alternative ways of working. Increased 

use of video conferencing and other technology could minimise travel time, and allow for more 

rotation of paediatricians between Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle and West Cumberland 

Hospital. Further preventative outreach work to combat paediatric health problems, such as 

obesity and smoking while pregnant, is advocated, as are working relationships with Great 

North Children’s Hospital and direct referrals there from West Cumberland Hospital. 

Additional elements with options 

Some additional suggestions are made as appendages to the options. The provision of free 

accommodation for parents travelling from the West of Cumbria to Carlisle is frequently 

suggested, sometimes as a condition of support for any such proposal, and transport assured by 

local authorities and businesses is also put forward. Assisted travel for parents with low incomes 

or on state benefits is also requested. The addition of a standby helicopter service is suggested. 

Endorsements 

Other alternative proposals are endorsed, those from Copeland Borough Council; West 

Cumbrians’ Voice for Healthcare; and Mahesh Dhubar, promoting a freeze on changes to 

pursue more training and recruitment. 

 

  

362



 

2.5 Community hospital inpatient beds - key findings 

2.5.1 Background 

The consultation document outlined four options for the future provision of community hospital 

inpatient services in West, North and East Cumbria. 

Community Hospitals Inpatients Option 1 – involves no community hospital closures but 

proposes the consolidation of inpatient community hospitals beds onto six sites. In total, there 

would be 104 inpatient beds at Whitehaven (Copeland Unit), Cockermouth, Workington, 

Penrith, Brampton and Keswick. 

Community Hospitals Inpatients Option 2 – involves no community hospital closures but 

proposes the consolidation of inpatient community hospitals beds onto five sites. In total, there 

would be 104 inpatient beds at Whitehaven (Copeland Unit), Cockermouth, Penrith, Brampton 

and Keswick.  

Community Hospitals Inpatients Option 3 - involves no community hospital closures but 

proposes the consolidation of inpatient community hospitals beds onto five sites. In total, there 

would be 104 inpatient beds at Whitehaven (Copeland Unit), Workington, Penrith, Brampton 

and Keswick.  

Community Hospitals Inpatients Option 4 – involves no community hospital closures but 

proposes the consolidation of inpatient community hospitals beds onto three sites. In total, 

there would be 104 inpatient beds at Whitehaven (Copeland Unit), Penrith and at a new site in 

the Carlisle area. 

Community Hospitals Inpatients Option 1 is the preferred option for the purpose of the 

consultation. 

Respondents were asked to rank the order in which they preferred the options. They were also 

asked to explain why they favoured their first option and invited to offer proposals of their own. 

 

2.5.2 Quantitative findings 

In total, 45% of respondents identified preferred options; over a third (36%) chose not to rank 

any options but added comments to explain why they did not agree with any of the proposed 

options; and 19% did not answer either part of this section (Table 20).  

363



 

Of those who expressed preferences, 86% of respondents selected Community Hospitals 

Inpatients Option 1 as their preferred option which was also the preferred option for the 

purpose of the consultation (Table 21). Community Hospitals Inpatients Options 2, 3 and 4 

which proposed consolidation of beds onto fewer sites were not popular, with Option 4 

(consolidation of beds onto three sites) gathering the lowest levels of support.  

Table 20: Preferences for community hospitals inpatient beds options 

 First preference expressed 

Responses 
Total  
(%) 

Total 
(actual) 

Option 
1 

Option 
2 

Option 
3 

Option 
4 

Number who expressed first 
preferences for the options 45% 1659 

86% 

(1427) 

6% 

(100) 

4% 

(66) 

4% 

(66) 
Number who did not express 
preferences but commented 
on proposals 

36% 1338 

 

 

Number who did not respond 
to the question 19% 699  

Total number of respondents  100% 3696  

 

Table 21: Preferences for community hospitals inpatients options (by percentage of each preference) 
Community hospitals 
inpatients options First preference Second 

preference 
Third 

preference 
Fourth 

preference 

Option 1 86% 8% 5% 5% 

Option 2 6% 69% 22% 2% 

Option 3 4% 21% 70% 3% 

Option 4 4% 2% 3% 90% 
Total responses by 
preference  1659 (100%) 1201 (100%) 1177 (100%) 1149 (100%) 

A similar pattern of preferences is shown when looking at different geodemographic and 

lifestyle variables. Responses from residents who live across West, North and East Cumbria are 

shown in Table 22.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Table 22: Preferences for community hospitals inpatients options by district area (by percentage of each preference) 

District 
Community Hospitals 

Inpatients option 
First 

preference 
Second 

preference 
Third 

preference 
Fourth 

preference 

364



 

District 
Community Hospitals 

Inpatients option 
First 

preference 
Second 

preference 
Third 

preference 
Fourth 

preference 
 
Allerdale Option 1 89% 7% 4% 3% 

Option 2 5% 69% 21% 1% 

Option 3 4% 22% 71% 3% 

Option 4 2% 2% 4% 92% 
Total responses by 
preference 628 (100%) 440 (100%) 425 (100%) 412 (100%) 

Carlisle 
Option 1 75% 11% 6% 13% 

Option 2 13% 64% 21% 1% 

Option 3 4% 20% 66% 7% 

Option 4 8% 4% 7% 80% 
Total responses by 
preference  181 (100 %) 137 (100%) 134 (100%) 132 (100%) 

Copeland 
Option 1 86% 8% 5% 4% 

Option 2 5% 66% 25% 3% 

Option 3 5% 24% 67% 3% 

Option 4 4% 3% 3% 91% 
Total responses by 
preference  931 (100%) 688 (100%) 679 (100%) 661 (100%) 

Eden 
Option 1 90% 7% 2% 6% 

Option 2 4% 77% 16% 1% 

Option 3 2% 15% 76% 5% 

Option 4 3% 1% 5% 88% 
Total responses by 
preference  325 (100%) 213 (100%) 209 (100%) 202 (100%) 

The strongest support for Community Hospitals Inpatients Option 1 came from the areas where 

community hospital inpatient beds were to be lost namely Eden district (where the community 

hospital in Alston is located) and Allerdale (where Wigton and Maryport community hospitals 

are located).  

First preferences by different demographic and lifestyle variables are shown in Table 23. This 

shows a very strong and consistent preference for Community Hospitals Inpatients Option 1 

across the board.  

 

 

 

 

Table 23: First preferences for community hospitals inpatients options by socio-demographic variables 

Demographic / lifestyle Option 1 Option 2 Option 3 Option 4 Totals 

365



 

characteristic 

First preferences by gender 
Male 83% 7% 4% 6% 483 (100%) 
Female 87% 5% 4% 3% 980 (100%) 

First preferences by age 
Under 45 87% 4% 5% 4% 645 (100%) 
Over 45 85% 7% 4% 5% 848 (100%) 

First preferences by declared disability status 
With disability 86% 7% 3% 4% 303 (100%) 
No declared disability 87% 5% 4% 4% 1093 (100%) 

  

2.5.3 Qualitative comments 

2476 respondents left comments to explain their preferences or decisions not to choose any of 

the options. Attitudes towards the proposed community hospital inpatient beds options, 

common themes emerging from these responses and alternative suggestions to the proposals 

are summarised below. 

Attitudes towards community hospitals inpatient beds options 

Over half of the comments were unsupportive of the proposals with many stating that they had 

not stated a preferred option because none of the options were ‘suitable’ or ‘acceptable’. There 

were also respondents who had stated Community Hospitals Inpatients Option 1 or others as 

their preference who expressed concern or disappointment that the overall number of inpatient 

beds in community hospitals was being reduced. This level of concern reflects the response 

received through other consultation channels expressing disapproval at the overall reduction in 

number of beds in community hospitals and / or concern about inpatient beds no longer being 

available in Alston, Wigton and Maryport in any of the proposed community hospital options.  

Support for Community Hospitals Inpatients Option 1 

Many respondents expressed support for this option because they felt it was the ‘most 

acceptable’ one being proposed since it offered consolidation of inpatient community hospital 

beds onto six sites. From their perspective, this kept the most number of community hospitals 

opened and offered the best coverage of community hospitals across the county. This would 

also increase the likelihood of inpatient services being offered closer to home.  

Some respondents also recognised that consolidation seemed to be an efficient use of resources 

and was probably the most sustainable option in the long-term and one that was less likely to 

lead to closure of community hospitals. Some felt that consolidation of inpatient provision made 

sense across sites that were close or easily accessible to other community hospitals (although 

366



 

some felt that this was not the case in Alston). A small number also qualified their response by 

saying that the loss of inpatient beds at Alston, Wigton and Maryport should not mean closure 

in the long-term but a genuine opportunity for different roles for these hospitals as part of the 

Integrated Care Communities plan. 

A number also expressed support for this option while also making the case to keep inpatient 

beds at the community hospitals in Alston, Maryport and Wigton.  

Support for Community Hospitals Inpatients Option 2 

The small number who commented on their support for Community Hospitals Inpatients Option 

2 felt that this option still provided good access to community hospital inpatient beds across the 

county. A number felt that this would still allow the new facilities at Cockermouth to be used 

(unlike Community Hospitals Inpatients Options 3 and 4). A small number also stated that 

consolidating beds between Workington and Whitehaven was sensible with some mentioning 

the good bypass link between the two. Some who believed that consolidation is sensible in the 

long-term felt that Community Hospitals Inpatients Option 1 had not addressed the issue 

enough which is why they were expressing support for this option. 

A number also made the case for keeping inpatient beds at the community hospitals in Alston 

and Maryport while supporting this option. A very small number also made the case for 

retaining inpatient beds at Keswick which was also a part of this option. 

Support for Community Hospitals Inpatients Option 3 

As with Community Hospitals Inpatients Option 2, this option offered the consolidation of 

inpatient community hospitals beds onto five sites. However, in this case, the proposal was to 

offer inpatient beds at Workington Community Hospital rather than Cockermouth Community 

Hospital (as suggested in Community Hospitals Inpatients Option 2). The small number who 

commented on their support for this option, tended to state that their preference was due to 

the fact that this option had community hospitals at sites that were well served by public 

transport and that offered reasonably good access from across the county. One respondent felt 

that this option would also address the potential demand on services that the introduction of 

Nugen Moorside reactor sites, and therefore new jobs and people, would bring. 

Support for Option 4 

This was the least supported option with many dismissing it because it provided the fewest 

opportunities for inpatient services closer to home. The small number who did support this 

option, and who explained their reasons, tended to welcome the long-term benefits of this 

option and saw the benefits of community hospital / step up step down services located 

alongside acute hospitals as a way of reducing pressure on acute hospital services. Some also 

felt that a new site at Carlisle would provide better access to community hospital inpatient beds 

for residents of Alston, Wigton and Brampton.  

367



 

Rejection of options 

Just over half of the qualitative comments were a rejection of all the options being proposed. 

Many of these were from respondents who would be impacted by the loss of inpatient beds at 

Alston, Maryport and Wigton. A number were also comments from organised campaign 

supporters who expressed the view that ‘No option is acceptable. We need to retain the beds 

we have in our community hospitals to alleviate the pressure on West Cumberland Hospital and 

Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle’. 

A number of respondents who were not impacted by these proposals, still found them 

unacceptable, because they were concerned for patients in very rural areas such as Alston. A 

small number felt they did not have the full information to be able to comment on the options 

so did not respond while a small number of others felt that options to keep Alston, Maryport 

and Wigton open should also have been presented. 

Even though no options recommended community hospital closures there were still a number 

of respondents who rejected the proposals because they appeared to indicate the closure of 

community hospitals at Alston, Maryport, Wigton and potentially others. 

Some respondents could not understand why there were suggestions to increase the number of 

beds at the Copeland Unit at Whitehaven, at the expense of other community hospitals, when 

those patients could have access to West Cumberland Hospital which the Copeland Unit is 

linked to. 

Key themes 

There are a number of key themes emerging from the responses that underpin people’s 

attitudes and views towards the Community Hospitals Inpatient Options. These are broadly 

expressed as: 

• lack of access to local healthcare services and the impact on patient wellbeing and 

safety 

• effect of resourcing on quality of care  

• the case for community hospitals 

• wider financial, economic and social concerns  

 

Accessibility to local healthcare and patient safety 

Many expressed concern that the proposals to lose inpatient beds at Alston, Maryport and 

Wigton impacted those in the most rural areas (Alston) and those with poor transport links (all 

sites). They felt that the limitations provided by the inadequate transport infrastructure and 

problem roads such as the A595 (from Whitehaven to Carlisle), the A686 (from Alston to 

Penrith and beyond) and minor roads, would limit people’s access to inpatient health services. 

368



 

They also mentioned the cost of the additional travel that might be needed to access services in 

other locations both in terms of time and money. The families and friends in these areas would 

also be impacted and may be restricted in their ability to visit patients as a consequence. This 

could have a negative impact on the recovery and rehabilitation of patients.  

As a result of these factors, many who supported Community Hospitals Inpatients Option 1 did 

so explicitly because this provided the most access to inpatient beds across the county and not 

necessarily because they supported the principle of consolidation of inpatient beds.  

A number of responses were concerned that these options did not really support the care 

‘closer to home’ principles that the NHS in Cumbria had been trying to encourage for over a 

decade which saw community hospitals as central to the delivery of health and social services in 

the communities they serve. Moving care further away from ‘home’ limits patients’ ability to 

access the right treatment, at the right place and at the right time. A number of personal 

experiences were described to show how important it was for patients, and their families, to 

have palliative / end of life care provided as locally as possible. This was raised as particularly 

important for older people who might be limited in their ability to travel long distances to visit 

loved ones including their spouses.  

Some responses expressed strong concern that the loss of inpatient beds would be putting lives 

at risk with some qualifying their concerns about the safety of patients in Alston. As touched 

upon previously, some also contended that removing access to local inpatient services might 

impact on a patient’s journey to recovery as well as impacting on the health and well-being of 

their families.  

Effect of resourcing on quality of care 

Those who supported the proposals felt the principle of consolidating beds and resources would 

lead to better staffing levels and a better quality of care for patients.  

There were many, however, who felt that the community hospitals which were potentially 

losing beds were being penalised because of the difficulty of recruiting staff. There were also 

many who recognised that the uncertainty surrounding the future of community hospitals 

would in itself lead to difficulties in recruitment. Many of these respondents felt that this was an 

‘NHS as employer’ problem and that patients should not be penalised as a consequence. They 

felt that the NHS should be offering better reward, recognition, flexible working arrangements 

and more training to its staff to attract the right calibre of people in areas that were struggling 

to do so. Some also felt that failure to recruit staff was an ‘excuse’ since their own community 

hospitals appeared to be well staffed while others worried that Integrated Care Communities 

would require more staff to succeed.  

Some were concerned that this would lead to a reliance on volunteers at a time when the third 

sector as a whole were struggling to recruit and retain good volunteers. Others suggested 

369



 

rostering staff from acute hospitals into community settings as a way of resolving capacity 

issues and broadening knowledge and expertise.  

Others felt that there needed to be an increase in number of beds rather than a reduction with 

some feeling that reducing numbers now was not sustainable in the long-term when an 

increasing and aging population who might be in need of more beds closer to home in the 

future.  

Many also felt that reducing the number of community hospital beds would put more pressure 

on beds at the acute hospitals where there are already problems such as bed-blocking 

mentioned in both West Cumberland Hospital and Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle. Some also 

felt the implications of pressured social care provision had not been taken account in these 

proposals: the fact that fewer care home or nursing home beds were available could put an 

increased pressure on the number of beds available in community hospitals. 

There were a number of comments raised about Cockermouth Community Hospital and how 

these new facilities, which seemed as if they were being under-used, could be used in a better 

way to support local community need. Others also mentioned the new facilities at Workington 

Community Hospital citing the investment in both of these hospitals as a reason not to reduce 

inpatient provision there.  

The case for community hospitals  

There were many who made the case for community hospitals, and specific community 

hospitals, as part of their case for or against the options. The benefits of community hospitals as 

community assets that provided trusted and easily accessible care for patients and their families 

was described by many. Many also described how these could relieve pressure on acute 

hospitals by providing rehabilitation, palliative care and urgent care services closer to people’s 

homes and also play a key role in Integrated Care Communities.  

It was also felt though, that community hospitals needed to be properly resourced in order to 

play a key role and anxieties were raised about the future function of those mentioned in the 

consultation document (especially Maryport and Wigton) whose buildings required substantial 

capital investment. The proposals did not appear to suggest how this would be addressed. 

Millom Community Hospital was cited by some as a good example of providing a small 

inpatient service alongside accessible medical, nursing, rehabilitation and end of life care close 

to patients’ homes. 

There were also cases made for specific community hospitals whose inpatient provision was 

potentially at risk in the proposed options with many using personal experiences to show why 

these community hospitals were important to them. The arguments presented for each are 

summarised below: 

370



 

Ruth Lancaster James Cottage Hospital, Alston – there were a number of recommendations 

for keeping Alston Community Hospital open including many from respondents who were not 

from that area. Suggestions for retaining or increasing inpatient beds in the Ruth Lancaster 

James Cottage Hospital were made on the basis that it was located in a remote and rural area 

and that it would be difficult for vulnerable people (and their families and friends) to travel to 

other inpatient sites especially in winter. There were a number of personal stories of good 

experience at the hospital mentioned to demonstrate how much local people valued it. Some of 

these stories also mentioned the fact that Alston patients and residents had raised money for  

beds and the electronic doors themselves. 

Victoria Cottage Hospital, Maryport – many recognised that the community hospitals in 

Maryport, Workington, Cockermouth and Keswick were closely located so some consolidation 

of inpatient beds in this area might be workable. However, many also suggested that this 

should not be at the expense of inpatient beds in Maryport which has been identified as one of 

the most deprived areas in the county (and is in the top 10% of most deprived areas in 

England). It was argued that loss of inpatient provision would hit low-income households more 

than families in the more affluent surrounding communities such as Cockermouth and Keswick. 

Wigton Community Hospital – Those who made the case for Wigton to retain inpatient beds 

used the fact that it was the site that provided easiest access to health and social care to 

residents across the Solway as well as people living south of the Carlisle area. Some argued that 

if it were to lose inpatient beds then proper investment to make it a new integrated healthcare 

hub would be needed.  

Wider financial, economic and social concerns 

There were a number of anxieties expressed about whether there was enough in the health and 

social care budgets to support the implementation of the options and the Integrated 

Communities Care proposals. A small number felt that impact of loss of community inpatient 

beds would cost the NHS more in the long-term because people would have to be treated at 

home. A number questioned whether the ‘small but positive’ financial impact these options 

would provide was worth the distress and increased risk to safety that would be caused to 

patients and their families. 

 

 

A small number also felt that they were paying for the cost of Cumberland Infirmary’s Carlisle’s 

Private Finance Initiative contract. Others felt that the Government should support the NHS 

more: they felt that these proposals were a direct consequence of reduced public sector 

spending and investment in costly initiatives such as HS2.  

371



 

A number of people also pointed out that loss of inpatient beds seemed to be happening in the 

most deprived areas (for example, Maryport) and areas of poor health with a bigger impact on 

those communities than in the more affluent areas with better transport links and so on. Others 

who have been identified as being disadvantaged by these proposals are: those living in rural or 

remote communities (for example, people in Alston); the elderly and vulnerable; and residents 

of West Cumbria. 

Alternative suggestions 

As well as providing reasons for why they favoured any of the options, or otherwise, some 

respondents volunteered suggestions as to other changes or initiatives that could be considered. 

Reallocating inpatient bed provision 

Many of the suggestions revolved around keeping the status quo or increasing the number of 

beds. A number also suggested different permutations of the current options (for example 

keeping inpatient beds at Maryport, Alston and/or Wigton at the expense of one of the other 

community hospitals).  A number also suggested that having 8 patient beds in some sites would 

allow inpatient provision in very rural areas like Alston to be accommodated.  

Recruitment and staffing 

There were a number of suggestions that investment in the recruitment and training of the 

right staff was needed to resolve the issues rather than reducing the number of inpatient beds. 

Investment in continued professional development was identified as a motivator for staff that 

might improve retention. Some thought that the continued use of temporary and locum staff 

was not going to address the staffing crisis. 

There was also a suggestion that staff at the acute hospitals in Whitehaven and Carlisle should 

be rotated into the community to spread learning and expertise. 

Services offered at community hospitals and at home 

There were some suggestions that palliative beds should be available in all community hospitals. 

One suggestion was that care agencies such as Cumbria Care could treat patients who required 

end-of-life/ palliative/ last resort care at home thus relieving pressures on acute and community 

hospitals. There was anecdotal evidence that there was capacity in areas such as Whitehaven 

for care agencies to do more in this area. 

There were also suggestions that more support services currently provided at acute hospitals 

could be provided in community hospitals as well as day surgery. This would relieve pressure on 

acute hospitals as well as invigorating community hospitals. 

Many suggested that there should be a transition period before inpatient bed provision was lost 

whereby adequate community care services were in place at the impacted locations so that local 

people would know where and how to access community or home-based healthcare services. 

372



 

Management and governance of Community Hospitals 

Suggestions relating to the governance of community hospitals included giving responsibility for 

managing these back to GPs and agreeing joint arrangements, including joint funding, with 

social services. There was also a suggestion that Alston Community Hospital should fall under 

the remit of Northumbria Healthcare NHS Trust due to its location.  

Other 

Support was mentioned for the alternative proposals that had been expressed by the Alston 

Hospital League of Friends and Dr Barrie Walker’s "A sustainable model for healthcare in West 

Cumbria." 

There was a view expressed that the decision-makers should be working directly with local 

communities to come up with local solutions to meet local needs (as happened in Millom 

Community Hospital). 

 

  

373



 

2.6 Emergency and acute care services - key findings 

2.6.1 Background 

The consultation document outlined three options for the future provision of emergency and 

acute care across West, North and East Cumbria. 

Emergency and Acute Option 1 – involves a 24/7 A&E at Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle along 

with acute medical inpatient services, including for the most complex cases. There would be 

assessment and inpatient beds for the frail elderly, as well as specialist rehabilitation. The 

number of intensive care beds currently on site would increase slightly, as would the number of 

emergency assessment unit beds. 

There would also be a 24/7 A&E at West Cumberland Hospital along with acute medical 

inpatient services and rehabilitation. There would also be a small intensive care unit but some of 

the most seriously ill patients would be transferred to Carlisle if it was felt they would benefit 

from the extra support available there.  

Emergency and Acute Option 2 – involves a 24/7 A&E at Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle and 

acute medical inpatient services with extra capacity at night and for more complex cases. There 

would be assessment and inpatient beds for the frail elderly, as well as specialist rehabilitation. 

The number of inpatient beds and intensive care beds would increase, as would the number of 

emergency assessment unit beds. 

At West Cumberland Hospital, there would be a daytime only A&E service and a 24/7 urgent 

care centre which would see patients overnight with less serious injuries and conditions. 

Selected patients would be admitted by emergency ambulance and through referral from their 

GP during the day. There would be no intensive care unit at Whitehaven but there would be 

support from specialist clinicians for any very sick patients in order to provide immediate care 

prior to transfer. There would a number of assessment and in-patient beds including beds for 

the frail elderly who are medically stable and for rehabilitation. 

Emergency and Acute Option 3 - involves a significantly expanded 24/7 A&E at Cumberland 

Infirmary Carlisle equipped to care for all West, North and East Cumbria patients brought in by 

emergency ambulance.  It would also care for the majority of GP referrals. The number of 

emergency assessment unit, inpatient, and intensive care beds would increase to manage all 

acutely ill patients in this area. There would also be inpatient beds for the frail elderly, as well as 

specialist rehabilitation. 

At West Cumberland Hospital, there would be no A&E unit and no intensive care unit but there 

would be a 24/7 urgent care centre which would see patients with less serious injuries and 

conditions. The urgent care centre and outpatient services for those not requiring admission 

would be supported by specialist clinicians in the daytime but there would be no overnight care 

for acutely unwell patients. Medically stable frail elderly patients could be admitted as 

374



 

inpatients, and there would also be assessment services for the frail elderly along with 

rehabilitation beds. 

This option would also require more paramedics and ambulances. 

Emergency and Acute Option 1 is the preferred option for the purpose of the consultation. 

Respondents were asked to rank the order in which they preferred the options. They were also 

asked to explain why they favoured their first option and were also invited to offer proposals of 

their own. 

 

2.6.2 Quantitative findings 

In total, 46% of respondents identified preferred options; almost a third (32%) chose not to 

rank any options but added comments to explain why they did not agree with any of the 

proposed options; and 21% did not answer either part of the acute and emergency care 

services section (Table 24).  

Of those who expressed preferences, there was overwhelming support (95%) for emergency 

and acute option 1 (Table 25). This was also the preferred option for the purpose of the 

consultation. 

Table 24: Preferences for emergency and acute care options 

 First preference expressed 

Responses Total  
(%) 

Total 
(actual) Option 1 Option 2 Option 3 

Number who expressed first 
preferences for the options 46% 1709 

95% 

(1624) 

3% 

(51) 

2% 

(34) 
Number who did not express 
preferences but commented on 
proposals 

32% 1201 

 

Number who did not respond to the 
question 21% 786 

Total number of respondents  100 % 3696 

 

Table 25: Preferences for emergency and acute options (by percentage of each preference) 

Emergency and acute options First preference Second preference Third 
preference 

Option 1 95% 3% 3% 
Option 2 3% 93% 4% 
Option 3 2% 4% 94% 

Total responses by preference  1709 (100%) 1145 (100%) 1123 (100%) 

 

375



 

A similar pattern of support for Option 1 as a first preference is shown when looking at 

different demographic variables (Table 26). 

Table 26: First preferences for emergency and acute options by demographic variables 
Demographic characteristic Option 1 Option 2 Option 2 Totals 

First preferences by district 
Allerdale 95% 3% 2% 624 (100%) 
Carlisle 88% 6% 6% 185 (100%) 
Copeland 98% 1% 1% 956 (100%) 
Eden 93% 4% 3% 333 (100%) 

First preferences by gender 
Male 95% 3% 3% 505 (100%) 
Female 96% 3% 2% 1070 (100%) 

First preferences by age 
Under 46 96% 3% 1% 668 (100%) 
46 and over 95% 3% 2% 924 (100%) 

First preferences by declared disability status 
With disability 95% 3% 2% 322 (100%) 
With no declared disability 95% 3% 2% 1163 (100%) 

 

2.6.3 Qualitative comments 

In total, 2598 comments were made by respondents to explain their preferences or decisions 

not to choose any of the options. Attitudes towards the proposed emergency and acute 

options, common themes emerging from these responses and alternative suggestions to the 

proposals are summarised below. 

Attitudes towards emergency and acute options  

There was strong support amongst those who selected a preference for Emergency and Acute 

Option 1. This was largely based on strong rejection of the loss of A&E services at West 

Cumberland Hospital in Emergency and Acute Options 2 and Options 3. A large number of 

responses rejected all of the options, wanting instead to retain the status quo. The main 

concerns are in line with those received through other consultation channels and focused on 

the risk for patients travelling from West Cumbria to Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle and 

objection with reduction in services currently provided by West Cumberland Hospital. 

Support for Emergency and Acute Option 1 

The reasons for support for this option centred on the retention of Accident and Emergency 

Services at West Cumberland Hospital. Many expressed that this was a minimum requirement 

376



 

necessitated by the need in the area. This need was linked to a number of factors included the 

location and distance from Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle, the poor condition of roads, the 

requirements of the nuclear facility, and the importance of being receiving emergency care 

rapidly. There were mixed views on nurses taking on additional roles: this was felt by some to 

be innovative, by others to be a risk.  

Support for Emergency and Acute Option 2 and 3 

There was very sparse support for Emergency and Acute Options 2 and 3. The reasons given 

regarded long term financial sustainability, and that this may reduce unnecessary Accident and 

Emergency visits.  

Rejection of all options 

A large number of responses rejected all the options being proposed. The predominant view 

was that all of the options represented a decline in services at West Cumberland Hospital and 

that no change and a full retention of services was their chosen choice. A key concern was the 

requirement to transport intensive care unit patients to Carlisle which was felt to be endanger 

patient safety, provide less accessible care, and unfairly impact more on West Cumbria. An 

additional concern was that the changes were the first step to future reduction in A&E services 

at West Cumberland Hospital. 

Key themes 

Accessibility and travel 

Many respondents expressed concerns about the accessibility of services in Carlisle for patients 

living in West Cumbria. The quality and safety of roads, specifically the A595, was felt to be 

unreliable and represent a significant risk both in terms of potential fatalities and also travel 

time. Alongside this the areas unique geography and the size of the catchment area were given 

as reasons to retain emergency and acute services at West Cumberland Hospital.  

The high number of accidents on the roads is felt to make the journey dangerous and also 

increase the likelihood of delays. The roads are described as perilous in adverse weather 

conditions such as snow and flooding, often blocked by slow moving vehicles, slowed by traffic 

jams, and less safe when travelling in the dark.  

The journey times were felt to be too long for emergency treatment and for friends and family 

visiting patients at Carlisle, this was particularly mentioned for people living south of 

Whitehaven. The lack of adequate public transport was also mentioned as placing additional 

demands on patients and their families. The impact of this was mentioned in terms of the 

mental and physical wellbeing of people visiting patients in the intensive care unit and that 

inpatients being more isolated from family and friends could negatively impact their recovery. 

377



 

It was felt by a number of respondents that transferring patients to Carlisle would cost more in 

terms of fuel, ambulances and air transfers.  

Patient safety 

Many respondents raised concerns for emergency and acute care with regard to patient safety. 

The main element of this concentrated on the ‘golden hour – the crucial time after a traumatic 

injury where treatment is required and how facilities at West Cumberland Hospital were 

required to ensure that treatment could be received in this time. A number of personal 

experiences were provided by respondents describing times when urgent treatment had been 

required. A large number of respondents were explicit in their views that changes reducing 

emergency and acute services would lead to an increase in fatalities.  

Another frequent safety issue raised regarded the nuclear facility at Sellafield and this requiring 

a fully functioning A&E locally in the case of an incident at the facility. Developments at the 

facility were felt likely to increase this need.  

Specific concerns were raised around the risk assessments used in developing proposals and the 

extent that the risk to safety had been adequately considered. The risk to patients of Emergency 

and Acute Option 1 not being tested was mentioned frequently as potentially risking the safety 

of patients.  

Staffing 

A number of views were given regarding staffing and recruitment. A frequent response was 

that the issue of staff shortages and recruitment challenges was due to uncertainty over services 

and low morale. Many respondents suggested that the way staff are recruited could be 

improved and that services should not suffer because of this. A number of respondents felt that 

the area of recruitment was being used as an excuse to reduce services, particularly at West 

Cumberland Hospital.  

There were mixed views regarding the proposal in Emergency and Acute Option 1 for the 

development of other clinicians (such as nurses) to take on acute care roles. Some respondents 

were very positive, feeling that this was an innovation that would benefit staff and patients. 

Other respondents were sceptical that nurses would be able to fulfil these roles, and felt that 

the quality of care could diminish through this. Other concerns included the cost of extensive 

training and increased salaries for staff taking on extra roles, and that the time required to 

supervise these staff members may not be available.  

Inequality 

A large number of respondents felt that the changes were unfair as they were not providing 

equal services for people across the region and the country. A frequent comment was that West 

Cumbrian residents were being treated as second class citizens and were not being afforded the 

378



 

same quality services as others and not getting what they deserve. For a number of 

respondents, the proposals represent preferential treatment for Carlisle, and would prefer 

services to move from Carlisle to West Cumbria.  

Respondents suggested that the area that would be most affected by changes to services would 

be West Cumbria, and that the geography and socio-economics of the area, mean that 

disadvantaged residents will be most affected by changes, and inequalities will increase.  

Additional travel from West Cumbria to Carlisle was felt by many respondents to impact 

negatively on the elderly, those with disabilities, and those with mental health difficulties.  

Capacity and resources 

A number of responses express concern regarding the capacity pressures facing the ambulance 

service, A&E and intensive care units at Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle and West Cumberland 

Hospital. The West Cumberland Hospital intensive care unit is described by many respondents 

as currently lacking capacity currently and having shortages. Many respondents state concerns 

over whether Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle, will be able to manage any additional resource 

pressures with views that Carlisle is currently struggling with capacity pressures in this area.  

A similar concern was expressed with regard to ambulance services. There was a feeling that 

these services are currently overburdened for lots of areas and that further transfers from West 

Cumbria to Carlisle would lead to additional resource pressures that would worsen patient 

outcomes.  

There was concern that the proposals had not factored in the expansion of the nuclear facility 

and developments in West Cumbria that would mean significant additional demand on health 

services in West Cumberland Hospital.  

Alternative suggestions 

A number of respondents felt that West Cumberland Hospital intensive care unit outperforms 

the intensive care unit at Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle, and that instead of moving beds to 

Carlisle, the reverse should be considered. A closer proximity to university medical schools and 

research centres was given as an additional reason for this.  

Comments were made that consultants should work across both hospital sites to maintain 

services at West Cumberland Hospital.  

To improve the transport connections between West Cumberland Hospital and Cumberland 

Infirmary Carlisle it was suggested that roads should be improved with the introduction of a 

dual carriageway, that parking should be improved at Carlisle, and that public transport should 

be improved. A government funded helicopter was also suggested. 

379



 

A number of respondents suggested that an investment in technology to enable remote 

consultation and diagnosis, using tools such as map of medicine, could improve services and 

help with staffing challenges.  

 

 

  

380



 

2.7 Hyper-acute stroke services 

2.7.1 Background 

The consultation document outlined two options for hyper-acute stroke services in West, North 

and East Cumbria. 

Hyper-Acute Stroke Option 1 – would largely maintain services as they are now but the service 

would be enhanced by ensuring improved, early supported discharge in both Carlisle and 

Whitehaven. 

Hyper-Acute Stroke Option 2 – would see all acute stroke cases managed in a single hyper-

acute stroke unit based at Cumberland Infirmary, Carlisle. Ambulances would take possible 

stroke patients direct to Carlisle. Patients arriving at West Cumberland Hospital by other means 

would be transferred by ambulance to Carlisle. On leaving the hyper-acute stroke unit patients 

resident in West Cumbria would be transferred to acute stroke and rehabilitation facilities at 

West Cumberland Hospital if further hospital care was needed. As with option 1, this service 

would be complemented by ensuring improved, early supported discharge in both Carlisle and 

Whitehaven.  

Option 2 is the preferred option for the purpose of the consultation. 

Respondents were asked to rank the order in which they preferred the options. They were also 

asked to explain why they favoured their first option and were also invited to offer proposals of 

their own. 

2.7.2 Quantitative findings 

In total, 44% of respondents identified preferred options; almost a third (31%) chose not to 

rank any options but added comments to explain why they did not agree with any of the 

proposed options; and 24% did not answer either part of the hyper-acute stroke services 

section (Table 27).  

Of those who expressed preferences, there was majority support (68%) for Hyper-acute Stroke 

Option 1 (see Table 28) and 32% support for Hyper-Acute Stroke Option 2, the preferred 

option for the purpose of the consultation. 

381



 

Table 27: Preferences for hyper-acute stroke service options 

 First preference expressed 

Responses Total  
(%) 

Total 
(actual) Option 1 Option 2 

Number who expressed first 
preferences for the options 44% 1635 

68%  

(1104) 

32% 

(523) 
Number who did not express 
preferences but commented on 
proposals 

32% 1161 

 

Number who did not respond to the 
question 24% 900 

Total number of respondents  100 % 3696 

 

Table 28: Preferences for hyper-acute stroke options (by percentage of each preference) 

Hyper-acute stroke options First preference Second preference 

Option 1 68% 38% 
Option 2 32% 62% 

Total responses by preference  1635 (100%) 1216 (100%) 

 

There are clear differences in support by district (see Table 29). This shows that residents in 

Eden are more likely to support Hyper-Acute Stroke Option 2 (which proposes the set-up of a 

hyper-acute stroke unit at the Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle) whereas there is a preference in 

other areas, even Carlisle, for Option 1. The strongest levels of support for Hyper-Acute Stroke 

Option 1 are in Copeland which is the furthest distance away from the proposed hyper-acute 

stroke unit in Carlisle. 

Table 29: Preferences for hyper-acute stroke options by district area (by percentage of each preference) 
District Hyper-acute stroke options First preference Second preference 

 
Allerdale Option 1 62% 44% 

Option 2 38% 56% 

Total responses by preference 590 (100%) 528 (100%) 
Carlisle 

Option 1 56% 53% 

Option 2 44% 47% 

Total responses by preference  188 (100 %) 142 (100%) 
Copeland 

Option 1 79% 26% 

Option 2 21% 74% 

Total responses by preference  929(100%) 666 (100%) 
Eden 

Option 1 42% 59% 

Option 2 58% 41% 

Total responses by preference  297 (100%) 250 (100%) 

382



 

Hyper-Acute Stroke Option 1 is also the preferred option when exploring responses by different 

demographic variables (Table 30).  

Table 30: First preferences for hyper-acute stroke options by demographic variables 

Demographic characteristic Option 1 Option 2 Totals 

First preferences by gender 
Male 67% 33% 492 (100%) 
Female 68% 32% 1016 (100%) 

First preferences by age 
Under 45 75% 25% 657 (100%) 
45 and over 63% 37% 886 (100%) 

First preferences by declared disability status 
With disability 62% 38% 312 (100%) 
With no declared disability 95% 2% 1163 (100%) 

 

2.7.3 Qualitative comments 

A total of 2312 comments were made by respondents to explain their preferences or decisions 

not to choose any of the options. Attitudes towards the proposed hyper-acute stroke options, 

common themes emerging from these responses, and alternative suggestions to the proposals, 

are summarised below. 

Attitudes towards hyper-acute stroke options  

As shown in the quantitative findings, the strength of opinion for one option over another was 

more balanced for these services compared to the other service options being consulted on. 

This was also reflected in the qualitative comments.  

Support for Hyper-Acute Stroke Option 1 

Many of those who expressed support for this option did so because it appeared to better serve 

people across West, North and East Cumbria and not just those in North Cumbria. Some also 

recognised that it would allow quick access to stroke services, in line with the act F.A.S.T. 

principles in place that recognise the signs of stroke. Many also expressed support for this 

option because it was the closest to ‘no change’ as possible. Some respondents had 

experienced good quality stroke services at Whitehaven and did not want to lose access to 

these. 

Support for Hyper-Acute Stroke Option 2 

Many of those who expressed support for this option agreed with the rationale outlined in the 

consultation document of having a specialist centralised service and felt that this was the most 

sustainable option in the long-term. Many also felt that it would lead to better care for people. 

383



 

Others could not believe that there was not already a specialist hyper-acute stroke service in 

Cumbria. 

However, many were also concerned about the impact on patient outcomes if a transfer from 

West Cumberland Hospital to Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle were required for someone with a 

suspected stroke. Some were concerned that this option disadvantaged those who lived in West 

Cumbria.  

Rejection of options 

A significant minority of respondents either did not accept the options or stated their 

preference for an alternative option of having an acute stroke unit at West Cumberland 

Hospital rather than just a rehabilitation service because it would serve a larger proportion of 

people across West, North and East Cumbria. 

Many of those who did not agree with any of the options felt that there should be full hyper-

acute stroke services provided at both West Cumberland Hospital and Cumberland Infirmary 

Carlisle.  

 

Key themes 

There are a number of key themes emerging from the responses that underpin people’s 

attitudes and views towards the Hyper-Acute Stroke options. 

These are broadly expressed as: 

• the impact on patient safety and risk to life  

• resource allocation and the effect on quality of care  

• wider financial, economic and social concerns  

Patient safety, well-being and risk to life  

A significant number of respondents commented that these options were not safe. Many 

referred to the importance of the ‘Golden Hour’ for stroke patients and how this might be lost 

if patients could not access acute stroke services at West Cumberland Hospital. They expressed 

concern that estimates of the time taken to transfer a stroke patient from West Cumberland 

Hospital to Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle did not fully take into account the poor road network 

especially the A595 (the main thoroughfare from Whitehaven to Carlisle) which is frequently 

congested; subject to flooding; has had a high number of fatal road traffic accidents in recent 

years; and has been widely recognised, even in parliament, as needing an urgent upgrade. The 

need to transfer such a long distance was seen by many as a big risk to patient safety, survival 

and recovery.  

384



 

Some respondents were also disturbed that the consultation document itself recognised that a 

very small number of people from West Cumbria might be ‘collateral damage’ under the 

preferred option and felt strongly that this was unacceptable. 

A small number of respondents raised the issue of risk assessment and questioned what type of 

risk assessment had been done to evaluate the impact of the options proposed. 

In addition to the concerns raised about not being able to access treatment quickly if there was 

a hyper-acute stroke unit located at Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle, many also expressed 

concern about the impact that having no acute stroke services at West Cumberland Hospital 

might have on the recuperation of patients no longer close to home. They also recognised the 

additional the pressure on their families who had to travel further distances to visit them. 

The effect of resources on quality of care 

Many welcomed the benefits that a specialist hyper-acute stroke unit would bring (irrespective 

of location) particularly in terms of rehabilitative services and support for ongoing care in 

community settings and people’s homes. This did lead others to question why these services 

could not be provided from West Cumberland Hospital as well as at Cumberland Infirmary 

Carlisle. 

While some recognised the advantages of a specialist and centralised hyper-acute stroke service 

particularly in terms of improving the quality of treatment and aftercare for stroke patients, they 

still felt that acute stroke services should be provided at both West Cumberland Hospital and 

Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle and on a 24/7 basis.  

Some also felt that early supported discharge in both Carlisle and Whitehaven was essential for 

any option to succeed. However, they were anxious that this would rely heavily on community 

rehabilitation support services that currently did not exist across the county (and which might be 

further diminished if inpatient provision in certain community hospitals were to close). 

Many praised the current telestroke arrangements at West Cumberland Hospital and 

questioned why this could not continue. There were a number of personal anecdotes about 

stroke services from respondents that they or a family member had recently experienced. In 

each instance people felt that the stroke patient had survived because they were seen quickly 

and expertly at Whitehaven. 

A number of respondents questioned whether the Ambulance Service would be equipped to 

deal with emergency transfers from West Cumberland Hospital to Cumberland Infirmary 

Carlisle. Some of them were worried that this would lead to additional pressure on a service 

that was already stretched. 

Some also questioned whether Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle could cope with the additional 

demand placed on them if a hyper-acute stroke unit were located there. 

385



 

Some respondents also felt that using ‘staffing’ as a reason for changes was not acceptable and 

that the NHS in Cumbria should take more responsibility for providing the right training at all 

levels to properly deal with suspected stroke patients and to introduce the right incentives to 

attract specialist stroke consultants. Others recognised that a specialist hyper-acute stroke unit 

would be more likely to attract good ‘talent’ but were concerned about the quality of care and 

standards that would exist at West Cumberland Hospital as a consequence. 

A small number referenced the work Dr Orugun is undertaking with UCLan to develop training 

and health modules in West Cumbria to provide succession planning and development of 

existing staff as well as the integration of new and emerging treatment concepts. They felt this 

should be capitalised on and might provide a solution that would improve the care of the 

people of West Cumbria in a better way than Hyper-Acute Stroke Option 2 would. 

Wider financial, economic and social concerns  

A small number of respondents felt that these proposals were driven by financial needs rather 

than patients’ needs. They criticised the Private Finance Initiative contract at Cumberland 

Infirmary Carlisle and the Government, and felt the Trust could do more do lobby for more 

adequate funding to make sure everyone in Cumbria was well served. 

A number of respondents also felt that the preferred option was unfair on residents of West 

Cumbria in particular and that people deserved equal access to healthcare wherever they lived. 

Some also expressed concern about the health inequality gap widening if Option 2 were in 

place with people’s health outcomes being different based on where you lived. There were 

anxieties that the health inequality gap would widen between North Cumbria and West 

Cumbria, which already has some of the most deprived areas in the county and indeed country. 

Many referred to people of West Cumbria being treated as ‘second class’ citizens. 

Alternative suggestions 

The main alternative suggestion offered was to have the hyper-acute stroke unit located at 

West Cumberland Hospital to serve more of the West, North and East Cumbria area. 

Other suggestions included: 

• reviewing the ability to have a ‘drip and ship’ system at Whitehaven to thrombolyse 

patients before they were transferred to Carlisle to improve patient safety 

• making more decisions for thrombolysis via telesharing with a rota of stroke experts to 

cover the entire West, North and East Cumbria area 

• reviewing whether a hyper-acute stroke unit is needed at all 

• having two hyper-acute stroke units – one at each of the acute hospitals 

• being able to thrombolyse a stroke patient at every acute and community hospital 

before transferring them to a specialist unit. 

386



 

2.8 Emergency surgery, trauma and orthopaedic services - key 
findings 

2.8.1 Background 

The consultation document outlined its approach for emergency surgery, trauma care and 

orthopaedic services. Respondents were asked for their views on these. 

Proposal for the purpose of the consultation 

We are proposing that the arrangements previously made on safety grounds are now made 

permanent BUT with some further changes which allow additional emergency surgery and 

trauma care to take place at West Cumberland Hospital. Specifically we are proposing: 

• Additional minor trauma surgery will take place on some days each week at West 

Cumberland Hospital with any displaced planned surgery being managed in an 

additional weekly list at West Cumberland Hospital. 

• Some non-complex day case general surgery is returned to West Cumberland Hospital 

including key-hole gall bladder operations, surgical treatment of abscesses, and 

investigation of abdominal pain (with key hole procedure if necessary). 

• Single ‘Professional Point of Access’ communication arrangements are used to allow the 

referrer (often the patient’s GP) to discuss directly with the hospital based surgeon the 

best place to see and assess individual patients. 

• Additional outpatient fracture clinics at West Cumberland Hospital. 

This proposal has been demonstrated to result in better outcomes for patients, however, some 

patients will continue to have to go directly to Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle or be transferred 

there from West Cumberland Hospital. 

A survey of patients who transferred between hospital sites in 2014 showed 85% of patients 

rated their experience of transfer as excellent, very good or good and 96% rating their care at 

the Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle excellent, very good or good. 

This proposal would save the NHS nearly £500,000 a year through savings on temporary staff. 

This would be offset by a small cost of about £65,000 per year relating to the additional 

surgical list each week. 

2.8.2 Qualitative comments 

In total, 1974 comments were made by respondents to explain their preferences or decision not 

to choose any of the options. Attitudes towards the proposed options, common themes 

emerging from these responses and alternative suggestions to the proposals are summarised 

below. 

The response to the proposal for emergency surgery, trauma and orthopaedic services is, in 

common with much of the rest of the consultation questionnaire response, centred largely on 

387



 

the perceived effect on patient safety and the risks involved, with a particular focus in this case 

on the effect of the changes on staffing and recruitment challenges. 

There is no accompanying option ranking question for this service area, as the consultation 

document presented a single proposal, so it is not possible to precisely quantify support or 

opposition to it. On balance, the comments received in response to it are more heavily critical of 

the proposal than in support of it. However, there is a body of support for the proposal, in 

some cases outright support and in others qualified by specific conditions or concerns. 

Support for the proposal 

There is shared support for elements of the changes proposed. The retention of those services 

that are outlined as being kept at West Cumberland Hospital are generally well received, with 

respondents pleased at the idea of more activity returning to the hospital, although there are 

some more isolated calls for greater centralisation to Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle. There is a 

repeated sense of ‘the more the better’ at West Cumberland Hospital in terms of services. As 

well as returning services to West Cumberland Hospital, some respondents express positivity 

about the idea that more operations taking place at West Cumberland Hospital may relieve 

some pressure on Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle. 

Some respondents also assert that the proposed model has been shown to work and are 

therefore happy to endorse it. For others support is more reluctant and based on the lack of 

confidence that the staffing challenges at West Cumberland Hospital will be resolved. Avoiding 

long travel distances for operations that could now take place at West Cumberland Hospital is 

also well received by a few respondents. 

Among support expressed with caveats, there is a strong body of feeling that in order for the 

proposal to be acceptable and workable, a readily available and reliable transport provision 

should be in place between West Cumbria and Carlisle, with caution expressed about this 

impacting on the availability of emergency ambulance services. 

Opposition to the proposal 

Opposition to the proposal varies in its scope and motivation. For many it is rooted in the safety 

issues it presents. For others, it is seen as the wrong solution to the problem of understaffing 

and financial pressures, as an unjust stripping of services from West Cumberland Hospital, or 

that there have been faults in the process of developing the temporary measures now being 

proposed to be made permanent. 

There is popular opposition to the option of centralising emergency surgery in Carlisle, with 

arguments around the need for rapid emergency surgery provision locally for residents in West 

Cumbria, the difficulty of travel to Carlisle, and the effect this is likely to have on recruitment 

prospects and staff morale at West Cumberland Hospital. Repeated references to the new 

388



 

facilities at West Cumberland Hospital are also made as grounds for more surgery to take place 

there. 

There is also criticism voiced around the implementation of the temporary measures in the first 

place, with some respondents alluding to the absence of public consultation in their 

implementation. In addition, many respondents are disparaging about the current proposal as 

motivated primarily by cost cutting at the expense of quality of care. 

Staff and recruitment 

Staff and consultants 

There is some support expressed for the proposal on the grounds of staffing issues. The lack of 

staff available for West Cumberland Hospital, and the perceived difficulty in retaining and 

recruiting staff, is seen by some to negate the benefits that the newer facilities present, and 

mean the proposal is the most sensible approach.  

West Cumberland Hospital-centric response 

There is a pushback from many respondents against the direction of the proposal: they feel that 

pulling services is the wrong approach to cost-cutting, in favour of more investment to make 

West Cumberland Hospital in particular attractive to staff, and boost retention. Short term 

contracts are seen by some as counterproductive as they do not make positions attractive or 

inspire confidence in future prospects. There are several suggestions that the top heavy 

structure of the local healthcare system is problematic, and that the preferable solution might 

be to replace management positions instead. 

The need for specialist or surgical staff at West Cumberland Hospital is a recurrent theme. 

Arguments are made that it would be more cost effective for staff to rotate between 

Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle and West Cumberland Hospital than patients, and that paying 

higher salaries for full time positions would still be cheaper than paying for temporary cover. 

Contracts, it is suggested by a few respondents, could include rotation between the two sites. 

The current staff at West Cumberland Hospital are widely praised, and there are comments that 

they have too little opportunity to practice specialisms since services have been relocated to 

Carlisle, potentially contributing to low morale and poor retention.  

The need to train staff is also mentioned frequently, with a desire expressed to turn West 

Cumberland Hospital into a teaching hospital where it can make the most of the trainees that 

come through. 

Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle-centric response 

There is a far smaller body of response that advocates more or full centralisation of surgery at 

Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle. Some cite it as a way of it increasing the likelihood of attracting, 

and recruiting more staff.  

389



 

Recruitment 

Many respondents express the view that the main issue in question is poor or failing 

recruitment. The blame for this is apportioned by some towards those responsible for 

recruitment not offering attractive contracts and opportunities. The lack of certainty about the 

future of the hospital is also seen as hindering recruitment of the best consultants and staff, 

and concerns are raised about the quality and effectiveness of advertising of posts.  

There is a strong sense of concern among the responses that scaling back any services at West 

Cumberland Hospital will only serve to make it an increasingly unattractive place to work. In line 

with the threat of current staff feeling disempowered and leaving, the prospects of attracting 

new recruits are also seen as likely to decline should services decrease. In contrast, there is a 

feeling that retaining and returning more services to West Cumberland Hospital will make it a 

more interesting place to work, and likely to help with recruitment efforts – the phrase, “build it 

and they will come”, or variations of this, are mentioned in some responses, with the feeling 

that commitment to services and long term contracts offer more to potential recruits.  

Some respondents express doubt or confusion as to the difficulty in attracting staff to an area 

with the benefits – on the doorstep of the Lake District in particular – that West Cumbria can 

offer, and the lack of trouble local business and industry has in recruiting. The fact that several 

consultants have been recruited “by Stephen Eames” suggests to some that recruitment may 

not be as great an obstacle as indicated in the proposal’s rationale. Similarly, with St Martins 

College and UCLAN nearby, some respondents question how attracting trainees is proving so 

difficult. 

Resources and capacity 

The capacity required versus that which is available is a repeated concern. Some support is 

expressed in small quantities for the proposal’s potential to free up beds at Cumberland 

Infirmary Carlisle. However, there is also a qualified level of support expressed on the condition 

that more beds are provided at Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle. 

Other comments on Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle’s capacity pressures include fears North 

Cumbria could suffer as a result of absorbing new patients from West Cumberland Hospital 

(with reports that Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle currently sends patients to West Cumberland 

Hospital due to lack of beds). Moving operations back to West Cumberland Hospital, the 

presence of many locums and a high sickness rate due to burnout are listed as examples of 

Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle struggling. Car parking is also described as a problem there, and 

the idea of future bed closures is considered by some as unrealistic. There are many personal 

stories of waiting hours to be seen as well as further comments about the shortage of beds. 

390



 

The lack of capacity at Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle, as well as a perceived underuse of West 

Cumberland Hospital, is given by many as a reason for more, or all, services to be returned to 

West Cumberland Hospital instead of just those laid out in the proposal. 

Several respondents highlight that they fear the proposed level of service would be unable to 

cope in the case of a disaster such as a nuclear incident, extreme weather or anything like the 

2010 Cumbria shootings. 

Many responses mention the need for more ambulances and paramedics to make this proposal 

work, with a reliance on transferring patients from West Cumberland Hospital to Cumberland 

Infirmary Carlisle potentially stretching the service. There are also more isolated suggestions that 

expansion plans for Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle are too far in the future, and worries that 

there is insufficient interim arrangement in the proposal. 

There are also many comments about the likelihood of the population of West Cumbria 

growing, raising the capacity required, and the number who would have to travel to Carlisle for 

major trauma or surgery. The planned Moorside nuclear development and the proposed new 

mining venture in the area are given as examples of industries likely to draw many more people 

to the area. 

There is also some isolated opposition to returning any orthopaedic surgery to West 

Cumberland Hospital that would require consultants to travel from Carlisle, citing safety issues 

due to lack of post-operative consultant supervision. 

Facilities 

Many respondents express confusion or anger that there has recently been a £90 million 

improvement of facilities at West Cumberland Hospital, yet the proposal is to concentrate many 

services away from it. There is strong support to make the most of the newer theatres and 

facilities by either having full services at both sites or concentrating them instead at West 

Cumberland Hospital.  

On the other hand, Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle is criticised by many for its facilities by 

comparison. Although there is some praise for staff and services there, and in some cases its 

facilities are considered better than West Cumberland Hospital, there are many comments 

about it being overcrowded and unsafe, even not fit for purpose, with specific references to fire 

risk and failing medical standards. 

Location and accessibility 

The point is made repeatedly that the implication of the proposal is at least a 40 minute drive 

from West Cumberland Hospital to Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle in the case of emergency 

surgery. While there is some acceptance that the journey is worth it for the best treatment, 

there is far more feeling against this. Even in the case of those who do accept the journey, there 

391



 

are often qualifications around local follow-up care and rehabilitation, and an acknowledgment 

that the journey will be difficult for many. 

The size of the county and the poor state of the roads are flagged as reasons why the journey 

to Carlisle from other parts of the county could be particularly difficult. The extra journey time 

for residents from areas south of Whitehaven is also noted. Poor public transport provision is 

mentioned as impacting those without cars, and the tourist season is highlighted as an added 

cause of congestion on the roads. Weather, once again, is mentioned as a significant obstacle, 

with recent storms and floods given as examples where emergencies had to be dealt with at 

West Cumberland Hospital as Carlisle as inaccessible. A few respondents suggest that Carlisle-

based patients would be highly unlikely to accept the reverse allocation of services. 

Impact of distance and journey time 

Impacts of the journey time are outlined mainly in opposition to concentration of emergency 

surgery and trauma at Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle. Aside from the discomfort or agony of a 

long journey with broken bones, the ‘golden hour’ for treatment is mentioned, with the stated 

transfer time of up to 48 minutes between West Cumberland Hospital and Cumberland 

Infirmary Carlisle alone leaving just 12 minutes’ leeway. Patients with certain critical conditions 

such as heart attacks are also mentioned as being particularly put at risk. 

There is an assertion that the aim of a ‘Closer to Home’ strategy within the health service is 

being ignored, with points made particularly about injuries such as broken hips and longer 

healing conditions. Visits are also mentioned as being more difficult, and cancelled and 

postponed operations (mentioned as happening due to shortage of beds at Cumberland 

Infirmary Carlisle) as more affecting due to the long journeys each way. Elderly patients, seen as 

more susceptible to trauma fractures, are mentioned as particularly vulnerable to any ill effects 

of a long journey as well as the impact of being far from home on recovery.  

A point is raised that with some serious cases being referred to Newcastle, treatment may have 

to go via transfers from West Cumberland Hospital to Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle and then 

to Newcastle. 

It is mentioned in one response that the court in West Cumbria has been kept open because it 

was deemed unacceptable for those attending to travel to Carlisle for court hearings – 

questioning the logic of asking people in need of emergency treatment to make the same 

journey. 

Choice of location 

A number of responses make points around the logic of the decision to concentrate services in 

Carlisle specifically, and thoughts on the alternatives. Carlisle, it is pointed out, is on the edge of 

the county so not well placed for residents of other parts of Cumbria, and is relatively well 

connected to sites of other acute hospitals, meaning not concentrating services there could be 

392



 

more easily offset by access to alternatives. Penrith is also mentioned as being better connected 

to other areas. 

As well as the argument against Carlisle being the main hospital for trauma and emergency 

surgery in West, North and East Cumbria, reasons are given as to why it may make more sense 

to use Whitehaven for this purpose. Its proximity to Sellafield and Moorside, as well as farms 

and the Lake District, mean it is better placed geographically to accept patients from any of 

these sites who require emergency surgery, trauma or orthopaedic services. 

Separation from support networks 

The importance of having local health services is strongly emphasised in many responses. As 

well as the negative effect predicted for areas south of Whitehaven, including Seascale and 

Egremont, the difficulty for patients to access or be accessed by their friends and family, as well 

as their children if they are parents, is frequently mentioned. The same issues as outlined in 

previous sections on travel practicality affect visitors too, making visits harder and potentially 

isolating patients from support that aids in their recovery and wellbeing. It is noted that as well 

as the added stress this puts on both patients and families and friends, discharge planning is 

easier when patients are treated closer to home, aiding recovery and freeing up beds. 

Effect of Private Finance Initiative  

There are many references to the Private Finance Initiative contract in place at Cumberland 

Infirmary Carlisle, and the perceived effect this has had on the financial position of North 

Cumbria University Hospitals NHS Trust. Some respondents assert that there were no financial 

pressures of the type currently experienced in West Cumbria before the construction of 

Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle and the formation of North Cumbria University Hospitals NHS 

Trust.  

Ambulance service 

A number of comments are made about the impact of the proposal on the North West 

Ambulance Service – the local ambulance service is seen as already being stretched. Personal 

stories include waits of up to four or more hours for ambulance transfers between the two 

hospitals. A few respondents emphasise the importance of involving the North West Ambulance 

Service in any decision making, noting the impact on the service, possible including vulnerability 

to having no cover for emergencies. 

As well as wider comments about the impact of a major incident or disaster on the proposed 

service, there are specific concerns raised about the ambulance service’s ability to cope in such 

an event, noting again that it is stretched under normal circumstances.  

There are a few comments mentioning the need for air ambulance cover to Newcastle, and that 

this cover may not be all-weather or available at night. 

393



 

Economic effects 

A number of comments are made about the economic logic of the proposal. There is a 

repeated, if outweighed, support for the proposal on the basis that centralising services makes 

more economic sense.  

While there is widespread concern that it appears to prioritise cost-saving over quality of care 

and patient safety, that savings are the only benefit from implementing it, and that the savings 

are not worth it when the negative impact is considered, there are also questions raised about 

how much financial sense it would make.  

Queries on the economic benefit include the cost of ambulance cover required, with several 

respondents suggesting that the cost for this alone would potentially be very high. Additional 

funding for Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle and the list at West Cumberland Hospital is seen to 

be required should the proposal be implemented, which it is suggested may negate a degree of 

the financial benefit.  

There is also a repeated claim that the top heavy workforce structure and poor management 

are to blame for the economic pressures on the area, and an argument that more, rather than 

less, funding is required to raise morale among staff. 

Equality and fairness 

In common with responses regarding other service areas, there is a sense voiced that West 

Cumbrians are being treated unequally through the proposal. Many respondents argue that it 

constitutes an effort to drive down healthcare in the West towards a two-tier healthcare system 

in the county. In some impassioned comments, respondents ask whether the wellbeing of 

people in this area matters. 

There is further criticism of the perceived unfairness of what is being proposed, that residents 

across the county pay taxes and deserve equal healthcare. The phrase ‘postcode lottery’ is used 

to describe the possible impact in several cases, and a few respondents complain that West 

Cumbrians are expected to accept the presence of large nuclear sites on their doorstep without 

equally accessible healthcare. 

Quality of care 

There are a number of responses that comment on the quality of care at either West 

Cumberland Hospital or Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle, or comparing both. Many of these are 

based on personal experience or anecdotally from their relatives or friends. 

West Cumberland Hospital is largely praised for its calmness and quality of service, including a 

few specific references to the former trauma service. Concerns are voiced by some that the 

service has been allowed to deteriorate in recent years, and some others mention that it has 

394



 

suffered since services were relocated elsewhere. However, there are also several responses that 

report long waits and quality issues – in a few cases pessimism about this improving is provided 

as a reason for support of centralisation of services at Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle. 

Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle is praised by some respondents but there is a more frequent 

negative response, largely alongside arguments against concentrating services there. Positive 

remarks include praise for the staff and approving anecdotes of procedures performed there. 

More unfavourable comments about Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle generally concern previously 

mentioned anxieties about capacity and the impact on waiting times and cancelled 

appointments and operations. There are also some remarks about quality and safety, including 

poor coordination and suboptimal care, and suggestions that there is a widely-shared lack of 

faith in services there. 

Lack of trust or information 

Trust in the process and decision making 

There are multiple concerns raised about the integrity of the consultation process. The 2013 

temporary changes are identified as not having been consulted on with the public, contributing 

to a lack of trust in that and subsequent processes. Respondents express doubt in the worth of 

this consultation, predicting in some cases that the changes will be made permanent whatever 

the feedback to the consultation. Some comments are more even more accusatory, with 

phrases including as “deliberate sabotage” used to describe the process. 

The Success Regime and North Cumbria University Hospitals NHS Trust are also mentioned as 

holding little trust, with the former accused of not taking local service users’ views into account, 

or having a connection to the area.  

Overall there is a sense among many respondents that the overall aim of the proposal is to act 

as a step in stripping services from West Cumberland Hospital, particularly given the impression 

that it is very hard to reinstate a service once it has been removed. 

Trust in rationale and supporting evidence 

The supporting argument for the proposal is criticised by many. As well as doubting the stated 

journey times as in responses regarding other service areas, there are further claims that the 

figures given in support of the proposal are either inaccurate or ‘spun’ to make them appear 

better.  

Lack of necessary information 

Some respondents claim there is insufficient information provided to comment on the proposal 

or state support or opposition in and informed way. Some respondents note that they would 

need more detailed numbers including mortality rates, lives saved and waiting times to be 

395



 

published. Others state that the definitions are unclear around what constitutes minor or major 

surgery.  

There are also repeated comments and queries about risk assessments, with many stating these 

are absent, but that they should have taken place in order to inform feedback and decisions. 

Alternative suggestions 

A number of alternative suggestions were made in response to the proposal. These vary in 

scope and are summarised under themes below. 

Mitigation for concentration or centralisation of services in Carlisle 

A number of suggestions or conditions are mentioned in the event that some services are 

concentrated as laid out in the proposal. A few points are made about the value of developing 

or making more accessible, surgical assessment tools and services to GPs or other healthcare 

personnel, to ensure patients are transferred directly to the most appropriate site. Similarly, 

there are comments made in support of being able to transfer certain orthopaedic patients, 

including those with neck of femur or hip fractures, directly to Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle. 

Making journeys easier is also a repeated theme among suggestions, with several calls for a 

regular, in some cases free, transport provision between Carlisle and other parts of the county. 

Improving roads in general is also mentioned again. Older and more vulnerable patients, it is 

also suggested, must be given the best care to help treatment, recovery and access. 

Suggestions are also made about emergency transport provision, with air ambulances 

suggested, although there are comments made that these may not be able to fly at night or 

stipulations about needing to be funded by the NHS. 

Service provision 

Several points are made suggesting priority given to recovering close to home, with minimal 

stays at Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle and relocation to hospitals closer to home where 

appropriate. A pro-active discharge and rehab pathway is suggested to allow patients to 

recuperate closer to home. There are also general suggestions that rehab take place at West 

Cumberland Hospital, as well as clear criteria to meet before discharge. 

Services are suggested as possible to continue at West Cumberland Hospital, including abscess 

and more in-demand local surgeries, and retention of an intensive care unit for complications. A 

reduction in opening hours is suggested as a cost-saver, while there are conflicting suggestions 

to invest in or cut tele-med services. 

Older people and those suffering from conditions such as dementia are again mentioned as 

needing special arrangements in place, including a suggestion of more care home services. 

396



 

Alternative allocations of services 

Instead of the allocation of services suggested in the proposal, some alternatives are suggested. 

These include maintenance of community hospitals in place of walk-in centres, enhancement of 

minor injuries units, and either upgrading certain community hospitals to cover more services or 

reducing them to free up funds. 

There is also a repeated suggestion that emergency surgery rather than planned and 

orthopaedic services, should be maintained at West Cumberland Hospital, so that emergencies 

can be dealt with quickly and that all services are concentrated there instead of Carlisle. 

Additionally, there are a few suggestions to build a new, more centrally located hospital to base 

these services at, in order to better serve residents of more areas, as well as suggestions to build 

either a standalone unit or medical school at Carlisle to support meeting the demand there. 

Financial 

There are a number of suggestions that the Trust should either close Cumberland Infirmary 

Carlisle or seek to nullify the Private Finance Initiative contract in place, or a suggestion to re-

mortgage it at current, lower rates, in order to escape the debt it is currently locked into there.  

There are again suggestions to cut managerial roles or salaries, and that the North Cumbria 

University Hospitals NHS Trust could be split into West and North trusts again to protect West 

Cumberland Hospital. 

There are a few responses including a suggestion to seek more funding from central 

government, including reassessing how its funding allocations are based, with the suggestion 

that Cumbria suffers from its low population density. A more detailed suggestion includes 

references to the government’s legal duty under the NHS Act 2006, for continuous 

improvement of quality of services and outcomes achieved from provision of services. 

Resources and capacity 

A small number of suggestions focussed on resources and capacity, aside from those 

summarised in other parts of this chapter, focus on more beds provided at Cumberland 

Infirmary Carlisle, and the use of Hexham as a site for orthopaedic surgery if requested, due to 

its accessibility. 

Staff and recruitment 

Among responses concerning staffing and recruitment, suggestions include reintroducing or 

reopening housing for doctors and other staff, incentives for graduates to improve recruitment, 

rebuilding West Cumberland Hospital’s status as a teaching hospital, and training general 

surgeons. 

397



 

2.9 Views about the vision and wider health and social care strategy 

Respondents were asked to comment on the vision and wider strategy that had been outlined 

in the Healthcare for the Future consultation document. 

Key findings 

Responses to this were mixed and tended to validate particular viewpoints that respondents had 

expressed elsewhere in the consultation that either supported or opposed specific proposals. 

Support for the vision and strategy 

A number of respondents supported what they saw as an ambitious vision for Integrated Care 

Communities. They felt it would provide more streamlined and joined-up services for patients 

particularly between community and acute care. They also felt it would also allow patients to be 

seen more quickly and increased the chances of them being seen closer to home.  

Some of the other benefits that were mentioned about the vision and strategy were that it 

allowed better integration of health and social care that would ultimately deliver safer and 

better quality care.  

Others welcomed the fact that it appeared to be evidence-based, person-centred and 

sustainable.  

Concerns about the vision and strategy 

There were a number of respondents who supported the principles and intent under-pinning 

the vision and strategy but also expressed concern about whether it was realistic and whether 

there was enough funding available to achieve the ambition stated in the document. Some 

also qualified their support by saying it would only work if there were enough full functioning 

community hospitals across the county; if services ‘did not appear to be going from the West 

to the North’; and if the problems of NHS staff recruitment were significantly addressed. They 

advocated that having a ‘fully-functioning’ West Cumberland Hospital was an important part 

of an Integrated Care Communities system. 

Some respondents felt they needed more information before being able to make an informed 

comment about the vision and strategy. Some of these explicitly asked for more detail about 

how it would work for primary, community and outpatient mental health care. Others felt that 

there should have been a risk assessment and equality impact assessment published as part of 

the business case materials that were produced alongside the consultation documents. 

There were a number of people who were critical of the strategy: many of them did not go into 

detail about their concerns. Of those who did, there were a number of consistent themes that 

were being raised that have also been mentioned elsewhere in the questionnaire response 

including: patient safety; the limiting impact that the poor transport infrastructure had on the 

success of the strategy; wider social concerns especially around the ‘fairness’ of the strategy and 

398



 

whether it would provide equal access to services or care closer to home for the residents of 

West, North and East Cumbria.  

Key themes 

There were a number of themes underpinning people’s attitudes to the vision and strategy. 

Patient safety 

A number of respondents felt the strategy and plans were unsafe and were putting the lives of 

patients at risk, especially if they lived in West Cumbria or remote places like Alston. They felt 

the pressure that was being put on an over-pressured Cumberland Infirmary, as well as a 

diverting of resources away from West Cumberland Hospital, would lead to poorer patient care 

and outcomes, potentially increasing Cumbria’s mortality rate rather than reducing it. 

Transport 

Many also linked safety to the poor transport infrastructure across the county and specifically on 

the A595 linking Whitehaven to Carlisle. There were a sizable number of comments that the 

county’s geography and the transport infrastructure had not been taken into consideration 

when the vision and strategy had been developed. Many referenced the fact that the 

consultation document had underestimated the travel time between the hospitals in 

Whitehaven and Carlisle and that this would impact on a number of the proposals including 

those on maternity services, stroke services and emergency care. Many also mentioned that the 

A595 had been recognised as the most dangerous road in Cumbria by the police and that it 

was often shut by accidents, flooding and bad weather and were anxious that the success of 

the proposals was based on a false assumption that these roads would be fully functions. 

Others implied the strategy was more suited to urban areas where transport is frequent and 

ambulances and hospitals are close by but that this did not apply in ‘rural, remote and 

dispersed’ Cumbria. Some also felt that the poor public transport provided in Cumbria meant 

that patients might find it difficult to get to Carlisle for non-urgent care and that families and 

friends might find it difficult to visit their loved ones.  

A number questioned whether the ambulance service would be able to cope with the increased 

demand. Some also mentioned specialist ambulance services such as Air Ambulance and 

wondered if they had been fully consulted about their role in realising the vision and strategy. 

Some also felt that lessons could be learnt from Scotland’s Ambulance Service and the way they 

coped in remote highland areas.  

Wider health and social impact 

There were also a significant number of comments about the apparent inequality of access to 

high quality care within the strategy particularly in areas within the West Cumbria that had high 

levels of socio-economic deprivation and were poor health outcomes already existed (some 

399



 

pointed out that the consultation document had said the health of West Cumbrians was the 

worst in the country). They were anxious that the strategy would increase this health inequality 

gap.  

While some related this to the reduction of community hospitals inpatient provision, the 

majority related their concerns directly to the seeming downgrading of services at West 

Cumberland Hospital and the transfer of some of them to the Cumberland Infirmary in Carlisle. 

They questioned the value of recent investment to modernise West Cumberland Hospital if 

these facilities were not going to be fully used and questioned why familiar services which local 

people valued were going to be taken away from them.  Living so close to Sellafield, many felt 

reassured by the knowledge that there was a fully functioning hospital near-by and were 

anxious about the capability of emergency services to deal with a crisis, should anything ever 

happen at the plant, without losing lives unnecessarily. This anxiety was particularly 

compounded by the knowledge that the Moorside nuclear power station was soon to be 

developed bringing with it increased risk but also an additional 6000-8000 workers and their 

families who would all be needing access to local health services. A small number expressed the 

vision as one which had ‘no vision for West Cumbria’. 

Concerns about Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle 

Many respondents were concerned about the Cumberland Infirmary’s ability to meet demand 

now and in the future if any of the preferred options were to be implemented. Some thought 

that the proposals wouldn’t address the fact that staff at the Cumberland Infirmary were over-

stretched. A small number also blamed the Private Finance Initiative Contract at the 

Cumberland Infirmary for the current state of finances within the health system in Cumbria.  

Costs 

There were a number of people who felt the strategy was just a centralisation of services to 

reduce costs rather than to improve quality of care. Some implied that this was a ‘cost-led’ 

rather than a care-led’ strategy which did not take into account the needs of local people. 

Others were worried that because of national policy and funding commitments that the money 

was just not available, particularly in social care, to invest in the successful implementation of an 

Integrated Care Communities programme. 

Staff 

Many recognized that the relationship between health and social care was strained because of 

lack of resources and ‘stressed burnt out staff’ who cannot provide the quality of treatment and 

support they aspire to. They felt that overstretched staff need better managerial support to help 

them deal with these stresses and to retain them in the long-term. 

Some felt that the development of new ways of working and utilising technology such as 

telemedicine, links to specialist consultants within the rest of the country should be developed 

400



 

and supported, but this should be enabling the West Cumberland Hospital and Cumberland 

Infirmary Carlisle to develop more services not less. It should be used to make posts more 

attractive, so that prospective staff feel that the hospitals are keeping up with medical advances 

and have the connectivity with the national specialists rather than feeling remote and cut off. 

Decision-making and management 

There was a strong feeling by some that the vision, strategy and proposals had been drawn up 

by people who did not know or appreciate the challenges of providing care in a huge rural 

county. For them, these felt like ‘urban’ solutions.  They felt that decision-makers and managers 

were out of touch with people who lived in Cumbria and were not willing to listen to the 

concerns of the public or those who worked within the NHS in Cumbria.  

A small number felt that the management at North Cumbria University Hospitals NHS Trust 

should take responsibility for the current state of affairs especially the staffing situation.  

Alternative suggestions 

A number stated their support for the Copeland Borough Council proposals as alternatives to 

the vision and strategy outlined in the response. 

  

401



 

2.10 Personal impact 

Among the specific equalities and monitoring questions raised in Part Two of the consultation 

questionnaire, respondents were also asked: ‘How do you think the options contained in this 

consultation document will particularly affect you?’. 

General responses 

While the question was focused specifically on respondents’ perceptions of what the proposed 

impact of changes might be for them personally, the majority of responses instead used the 

opportunity to repeat points already made in response to other questions or to make a general 

statement about the whole consultation. 

These repeated points tended to be negative about changes to the NHS in West, North and East 

Cumbria. There are three sets of concerns relating the proposals: that the proposed changes 

will make it harder to access required healthcare in a safe timescale; that they will result in 

increasing inconvenience to patients; and that the capacity of the system to provide treatment 

or facilitate access to treatment (i.e. demands upon the North West Ambulance Service) as a 

result of the proposed changes won’t keep up with patients’ needs. 

Where respondents expressed positive points, they focused around the belief that: the 

proposals would improve outcomes through increasing specialisation; they would move the 

local NHS to a better financial footing; the Integrated Care Communities proposals were good; 

and there would be improvements to staffing arrangements. 

None 

Few respondents indicated in their answers that the changes wouldn’t affect them in anyway, it 

may well be that respondents who did not identify a specific personal impact opted not to 

respond. Then again, non-respondents may well have felt they had already sufficiently detailed 

the way they were personally impacted earlier in the questionnaire. Some of those answering 

‘no’ explained that the reason for their response was that they lived near Carlisle or outside of 

West, North and East Cumbria. 

Yes… 

A fair number of answers indicated that the respondent, or a group that they were referring to, 

would be affected by the proposed changes but did not specify any details as to how they 

would be affected, nor even whether the impacts would be largely positive or negative. 

Save West Cumbria Hospital 

Many of the responses expressed a desire to retain, restore or improve services at West Cumbria 

Hospital, either as a simple statement or as part of a broader answer given to the question. 

402



 

Responding for the community 

Considerable numbers of respondents expressed that while they might not personally be 

affected by the changes proposed in the consultation document, they were responding on 

behalf of the whole of Cumbria, their individual community (Whitehaven, Alston Moor, 

Keswick, etc.) or future generations. 

Pointless question 

Some of those answering the question felt that the question itself was pointless, given that the 

services outlined in the consultation document were sufficiently all-encompassing that they 

would inherently impact upon all individuals living in the area at one point or another. 

Alternatively, they expressed the view that without the ability to see into the future it was not 

possible to provide an accurate account as to how the proposed changes might impact upon 

their lives. 

Impacted groups 

In addition to those who provided general responses, there were a number of answers which 

identified the respondent as belonging to a group which would be directly affected by the 

changes proposed in the consultation document for example expectant mothers or residents of 

West Cumbria. 

Expectant mothers 

There were a large number of responses from women who were either pregnant or were 

planning to conceive in the future, in addition to members of their family. While answers 

focused on changes to maternity provision, respondents also raised concerns about changes to 

children’s services and access to emergency treatment. Members of this group raised concerns 

around the possible impacts of changes with regard to safety and stress. They also said that 

changes would affect their decision around where they would choose to give birth, where they 

would choose to live in the future and whether they would choose to have any further children. 

Senior citizens 

A significant number of respondents either classified themselves as elderly or stated that they 

were likely to form part of that category in the near future. It was highlighted that members of 

this group experienced greater and increasing healthcare needs than the general population. 

Stroke services were highlighted as a particular area of concern, as was access to emergency 

treatment for a range of conditions, often by those with a history of those conditions. In 

addition to concerns over the safety of proposals this group raised concerns over their ability 

access more remote health facilities and the impact of increasing distances upon those who 

might wish to visit them. 

403



Friends and family 

Large numbers of respondents identified themselves as having a parent, child (adult or juvenile), 

grandchild, spouse, significant other, member of the wider family or close friend who would be 

directly affected by the proposals. Many highlighted a particular condition held by that friend or 

relative which resulted in the need for a high frequency of treatment, which posed a difficulty 

travelling far for treatment or where there was a high risk to that individual’s health if treatment 

were delayed. Parents with young children expressed particular concern over the future of 

children’s services and some commented that they would consider relocating out of the area if 

the changes were approved. Those with elderly relatives raised issues with the proposals for 

stroke and emergency services, and the loss of inpatient community beds. For members of this 

category the impact of changes upon the ability to visit a friend or relative in hospital was a 

regular point of concern, either making it harder to visit or ruling out visits entirely. 

Healthcare professionals 

Multiple responses were made by healthcare professionals working within the affected services 

and their answers displayed a wide range of opinions on the proposals. Some were of the view 

that the changes would be negative, impacting upon morale and recruitment (particularly at 

West Cumbria Hospital), and resulting in worse outcomes. Others felt that the changes would 

lead to improved outcomes and capacity, better recruitment and an enhanced financial position 

for the local NHS. Views were also expressed that there needed to be improvements to 

management for services to get better and that for Integrated Care Communities to work they 

needed a greater level of resourced than was anticipated. 

Geography and demography 

Various respondents made reference to their living in a rural area and the disadvantages that 

remoteness conferred with regard to their ability to access treatment. Others raised the high 

levels of economic deprivation which could be found in some communities, both in terms of 

changes potentially compounding existing health inequalities and the difficulties those on low 

incomes could face in accessing more remote healthcare facilities. 

Other service providers 

Some of those making comments identified themselves as members of other parts of the health 

and care services, such as GPs, community nurses and paid carers. A number of points were 

made in response to the proposals, particularly around the importance of investing sufficient 

resources in the services closer to the community in order to adapt to the general changes 

proposed and Integrated Care Communities in particular. 

Other Considerations 

Alongside the general responses and specifically impacted groups, several other considerations 

were raised in respondents’ answers to this question. 

404



 

Economy 

Several of those working in jobs connected to the nuclear and tourism industries highlighted 

that the proposed changes could affect these parts of the economy, particularly around the 

levels of local support for the proposed expansion of nuclear power production in the area and 

the attractiveness of the area for tourists. 

Mental wellbeing 

Respondents expressed a high level of fear in their responses regarding the potential impact of 

the proposals, both for themselves and others. It may well be that the fears people express, and 

the underlying impact upon people’s mental wellbeing, could reasonably be considered a direct 

impact in its own right. 

  

405



 

2.11 Other comments  

Respondents were asked if they had any other views they wanted to share.  

Key findings 

Many people used this as an opportunity to reinforce some of the key messages and 

points they had raised before. Most of these reflected their anxieties about specific 

proposals which have already been summarised in sections 2.3-2.8.  

The most common themes raised were: 

• the risk to lives that people thought the proposals would bring – there were some very 

emotional pleas for decision-makers to reconsider the reallocation of resources that 

were being suggested. Most of these were in support of retaining the current level of 

services at West Cumberland Hospital. 

• making the recruitment and retention of staff a priority – many felt that this was the 

only way the proposals would be viable in the long-term and others also felt that there 

had been no concerted attempts to tackle the situation.  

• lack of trust in the consultation process – some felt that the decisions had already been 

made by the Success Regime. Others felt that the evidence upon which decisions were 

being made was not robust enough with many challenging some of the assumptions 

underpinning the proposals as well as querying whether full risk and impact assessments 

had been made. 

• the need for good transport infrastructure and networks for this to work – many felt the 

proposals were built on the assumption that there was the supporting infrastructure to 

enable the changes but this was not the case at the moment. They felt this would be 

more pressure on patients and reduce their ability to access high quality care at the right 

place at the right time.  

• these proposals were not suitable for the people of Cumbria – the rurality and unique 

nature of Cumbria were mentioned by many as features that the proposals appeared to 

overlook. In particular, many felt these proposals were not suitable for the people of 

West Cumbria who many felt would be particularly disadvantaged by reduced access to 

key maternity and emergency services.  

 

 

 

 

    

406



 

3 Analysis of individual submissions 

3.1 Introduction 

While the vast majority of responses took the form of completed questionnaires, either on 

paper or via the online platform, a number of respondents chose to make separate written 

representations as part of the consultation. In total 107 written responses were made by letter 

and 75 were made by email, including some cases of more than one response by the same 

respondent. 

As the majority of these written submissions do not follow the format of the questionnaire, 

there is insufficient quantitative data across the letters and emails to provide a numerical 

breakdown of support for the options which have been proposed or details as to the 

demographic characteristics of respondents as a whole. It has also meant that many of the 

responses do not necessarily fit into the same sections as the qualitative responses provided to 

the questionnaire. Consequently, rather than looking at responses by letter and email alongside 

the questionnaires, they have been analysed separately, the findings of which are covered in 

this section of the report. 

The responses have been analysed thematically and the findings outlined in this section. 

Although the analysis has not inflated any single response over another, it should be noted that 

there were some extended or more technical responses received, addressing the viability of the 

proposed changes, and alternative proposals covering the consulted service areas and wider 

healthcare approaches. 

All of the original individual letter and email submissions have been shared with NHS Cumbria 

CCG and the Success Regime, and the detail taken into account by the decision-making bodies. 

 

3.2 Extended responses 

Two extended responses (included in the totals above) were received in the form of reports on 

the viability of the proposals, and on recommendations for a variety of preventative approaches 

to healthcare that did not relate directly to the proposals or specific service areas under 

consultation. 

These responses have been included in the thematic analysis reported in this section. They, like 

all the long form submissions, have also been shared in full with NHS Cumbria CCG and the 

Success Regime to ensure their full content is accessible to the decision makers. 

407



 

3.3 Summary of key themes 

Maternity Services 

Amongst the letters and emails received, a large number of comments were made about 

maternity services in relation to the proposed changes set out in the consultation document. 

In addressing the proposed changes to maternity services, respondents overwhelmingly 

expressed concern about the idea that consultant-led maternity provision would no longer be 

provided at West Cumberland Hospital.  

While the consultation document set out that only patients with high-risk births would need to 

access consultant-led maternity services, respondents highlighted that risk in pregnancy was 

hard to assess and that things could go wrong quickly. Consequently, underlying most of the 

issues raised was the risk posed to mothers in travelling to access consultant care at 

Cumberland Infirmary, as well as risk to the health of new-born babies. Concerns centred 

around the length of time it would take to access care (with scepticism expressed as to the 

length of time between hospitals stated in the consultation document), the poor standard of 

the road network connecting Carlisle and West Cumbria, and the availability of transport to 

access Cumberland Infirmary.  

Some raised concerns about the additional stress created through being required to make the 

journey to Carlisle while giving birth, but most responses stressed the perceived safety concerns 

involved, including the risk of having to deliver en route or the potential loss of life from a delay 

in accessing consultant care. 

There was further reference to a particularly acute impact of implementing a single CLU, on 

parents with other young children, and those most financially vulnerable. 

Alongside those submissions which expressed a desire to preserve the status quo for maternity 

provision, several respondents explicitly suggested retaining around the clock consultant cover 

at West Cumberland Hospital. In order to deal with any staffing issues it was suggested that 

consultants from Cumberland Infirmary could provide night-time cover on a rota, while existing 

consultant provision could be maintained during the daytime. 

Children’s Services 

Children’s services featured fairly infrequently amongst individual submissions to the 

consultation, typically being featured mainly in those responses which systematically went 

through the proposals or service areas raised in the consultation document. 

While responses featured more mixed support for the options than with maternity services, the 

majority of comments made were in opposition to the proposals for changing Children’s 

Services. Most respondents did not elaborate on their grounds for support or opposition to the 

proposed changes, other than to say that they did not believe them to be safe, and where 

408



 

arguments were made they often focused on the important role of paediatric care in ensuring 

the ongoing provision of maternity at West Cumberland Hospital.  

However, it was pointed out that children can become ill at any time, day or night, and can 

deteriorate fast, which was seen as grounds for maintaining more local overnight care. The fact 

that children cannot diagnose themselves, and that the severity of their condition can therefore 

be hard to ascertain, was also mentioned as a reason they needed access to treatment quickly. 

The impact of children spending time in Carlisle on West Cumbrian families was also 

highlighted, with the greater distance creating difficulties for parents wishing to visit sick 

children and the consequential impact to their mental wellbeing.  

Several responses made reference to staffing issues for Children’s Services, stating that they 

were not as bad as claimed or suggesting measures for resolving problems, such as rotating 

staff into West Cumberland Hospital from other hospitals, providing cheaper housing or making 

use of other types of clinician to make up for a lack of consultants. 

Longer or extra visits for children who are patients, as well as older and stroke patients, are 

suggested as useful to mitigate against isolation and to involve carers in rehabilitation and 

reduce strain on staff. 

Community Hospital Inpatient Beds 

Community hospital inpatient beds received a great deal of attention through individual letter 

and email submissions. While a number of different community hospitals were mentioned, the 

single hospital with the largest response was Ruth Lancaster James Hospital in Alston. While the 

consultation document sets out several alternative proposals for restructuring the provision of 

inpatient beds across West, North and East Cumbria, none of the proposals featured in the 

questionnaire include an option for retaining beds in Ruth Lancaster James Hospital, Maryport 

Victoria Cottage Hospital or Wigton Community Hospital. 

The response amongst letters and emails was almost wholly negative to all of the proposed 

options for community hospital inpatient beds, with respondents for the most part focusing on 

the impact for specific hospitals and communities. A few submissions directly questioned the 

assumptions which had gone into putting the options together, including the number of beds 

required for safe staffing to be provided.  

General concerns were raised around the loss of beds at a time when capacity was already 

stretched and with the potential growth in demand stemming from an ageing or growing 

population. Respondents were sceptical that Integrated Care Communities would produce a 

solution to the area’s care needs without maintaining inpatient beds in community hospitals, 

particularly considering funding restrictions around adult social care, the speed at which change 

was being proposed and the apparent lack of co-ordination with other public sector 

organisations. A view was also expressed that reductions in community hospital inpatient beds 

409



 

are a false economy, increasing pressures at acute hospitals through bed blocking, an increased 

susceptibility to hospital virus outbreaks and an increase in emergency admissions from those 

dying at home, with inpatient beds held up as an important level of provision between acute 

and home care.  

A number of submissions raised the increased distances and poor transport links which would 

result from losing inpatient beds at a particular hospital and the impact on patients’ ability to 

receive visits. It was felt that the result would be an additional source of stress and financial 

burden on visitors at a difficult time, hampering the effective recovery of patients in the process 

and resulting in longer hospital stays. Older people were seen to be particularly affected, 

including those struggling to visit as well as patient themselves. 

Several respondents highlighted the high quality of care they received or was available at a 

particular community hospital, something which was attributed to having members of staff with 

a strong local connection, and a number were keep to stress importance of choice in where you 

receive care. The hospital in Alston was praised in one response for particularly good end-of-life 

care.  

While the consultation document made it clear that the Success Regime is not proposing any 

community hospital closures, there were a number of responses which made the case for 

retaining other services at the hospitals, in one case specifically out of the concern that the 

resulting loss of staff from inpatient bed closures would force a further loss of services. Again, 

these submissions stressed the distance and difficulty in accessing other healthcare facilities and 

the potential impacts with regard to morbidity and mortality.  

Some community hospitals were held up as being important in addressing the additional 

pressure on health services created by tourists, whereas others highlighted the isolation of, and 

difficulty in getting to and from, Alston as justifying the retention of the local hospital. 

Residents of Alston were also keen to make the case that the loss of the Ruth Lancaster James 

Hospital would have much wider impacts than simply over residents’ access to healthcare, 

forming part of an ongoing loss of local services which threatened the ongoing viability of the 

community. 

A separate isolated criticism was made about the proposal to increase beds at Cockermouth 

Community Hospital, arguing the building and facilities, while relatively new, are not necessarily 

suited to expansion. 

Respondents suggested the retention of beds in community hospitals and made a number of 

arguments for making such provision viable. Several proposals were made for reducing wastage 

in order to free up funding for inpatient beds.  

Alternatives for intensifying the use of community hospitals were also put forward, including 

the provision of a midwife-led maternity unit in Alston and the integration of social care 

410



 

provision into several community hospitals, both onsite and homecare, alongside traditional 

health provision in order to increase the viability of local hospitals and provide better later-life 

and end-of-life care. Provision of facilities for physiotherapy and minor injuries is also suggested 

to offer care at a more accessible proximity to patients’ homes. 

One submission suggested the use of Wigton Community Hospital as a centre of specialist care 

for rehabilitation. It was proposed that any issues with staffing community hospitals could be 

confronted through a more effective advertising, such as in urban centres and other EU 

countries, or operating a rota between hospitals with temporary housing provision at more 

remote hospital sites.  

Several responses endorse proposals submitted by organisations, most frequently those 

submitted by the Alston League of Friends. 

Emergency and Acute Care 

A number of respondents referenced emergency and acute care in their written submissions, 

although often not in the same level of detail as their other responses and with a much 

narrower range of comments. 

Rather than focus on the options outlined in the consultation document, many respondents 

discussed the provision of emergency and acute care in general. None of the letters or emails 

expressed support for the downgrading of provision at West Cumberland Hospital, rather 

expressing support for ongoing 24/7 A&E treatment at the hospital or explaining the risks of 

moving away from such provision. Respondents were keen to highlight that in their view its 

retention was the only safe option and that requiring patients to travel to Carlisle would result 

in an increase in fatalities due to the distances involved.  

Concerns were also raised as to the ability of Cumberland Infirmary to adapt to a significant 

increase in the numbers of people accessing its services and the capacity of the ambulance 

service in taking on additional demand for patient transport. One respondent highlighted the 

potential long-term impact of changes to West Cumberland Hospital, that a significant change 

to the provision of A&E at the hospital could result in a deskilling of the existing workforce, a 

negative impact on the recruitment and retention efforts and eventual downgrading of 

emergency treatment, potentially meaning that the hospital would no longer have the ability to 

play a role stabilising patients prior to their transport to Carlisle. 

Hyper-Acute Stroke Services 

In considering the future provision of Stroke Services in West, North and East Cumbria the 

consultation document set out two ways of changing the provision of treatment within the 

area. Nonetheless, responses have generally focussed on a choice over whether it was best to 

concentrate provision in a single location in order to provide a centre of excellence, in this case 

411



 

at Cumberland Infirmary, or to retain the status quo, with a particular focus on West 

Cumberland Hospital. 

Respondents expressed a mixture of support and opposition to the idea of centralising stroke 

services at Cumberland Infirmary. There is a shared perception that Option 2 might result in an 

overall improvement in the quality of healthcare available within West, North and East Cumbria, 

while the chief point of contention was whether the improvement in quality justified the loss of 

direct provision within West Cumbria, and the consequential impact upon morbidity and 

mortality for patients in areas seeing a loss of direct provision.  

Frequent mention was made of the importance of speed in accessing treatment for strokes, 

particularly Thrombolysis, and view that many held that distances involved in reaching 

Cumberland Infirmary and the poor condition of the current transport infrastructure would 

prevent services being accessed within the critical timeframe. Concerns over the distance and 

accessibility of services centralised at Cumberland Infirmary were also raised in the context of 

visits from friends and family, with respondents highlighting the potential benefits of such visits 

in assisting patient recovery and the frequency of visits could decline as a result of services being 

centralised in a single location. One respondent questioned the quality of treatment available at 

Cumberland Infirmary. 

One response suggested that Cumberland Infirmary would need an additional CT scanner if it 

was to function as a local centre of excellence, while several others suggested that every local 

hospital should be able to undertake thrombolysis and the stabilisation of patients before they 

were moved to a centre of excellence. It was also suggested that expertise based at 

Cumberland Infirmary could be used to provide an enhanced service for treating strokes at West 

Cumberland Hospital through a creative use of information technology. 

Emergency Surgery, Trauma and Orthopaedic Services 

The proposals for emergency surgery, trauma and orthopaedic services attracted few comments 

and it did appear that there was some crossover in responses regarding this category differing 

from or overlapping the provision of emergency and acute services. 

For the few respondents who addressed this element of the consultation in their letters and 

emails, their responses were largely limited to a general statement of opposition without 

detailed explanation as to whether they were objecting to the whole proposal or specific 

elements. A detailed criticism raised came from a respondent who was in agreement with the 

proposal overall but was concerned that the proposal would result in more deaths as a result of 

using ‘the most dangerous road in the county’. Some others were pleased to see services 

restored to West Cumberland Hospital and felt that the proposals would offer a better quality 

of service. 

412



 

The only suggestion made with regard to emergency surgery, trauma and orthopaedic services 

was for the proposals to be regarded as temporary and to be reviewed at a later date, with a 

hope that West Cumberland Hospital would see further services restored in due course. 

Wider strategy 

Integrated Care Communities 

The individual submissions received made reference to Integrated Care Communities quite 

often. In many cases this related to the potential overlap between community hospital inpatient 

beds and Integrated Care Communities around the issues of later-life and end-of-life care. 

Indeed, the majority of responses in relation to Integrated Care Communities featured some 

mention of community hospitals. 

In addressing the issue of Integrated Care Communities there was general support for the 

concept; however that was accompanied with considerable scepticism around the likelihood 

that in practice they would achieve the ends set out in the consultation document. Existing 

problems in adult social care, a lack of financial resources and staffing on the community-level, 

and the speed at which it was proposed Integrated Care Communities would take effect were 

all raised as areas of concern. Others highlighted that the loss of community hospital inpatient 

beds seemed to limit how much local involvement there could be in providing care and that the 

size of ‘natural communities’ around which Integrated Care Communities would be built did 

not reflect the general dispersal of Cumbria’s population. 

No clear alternative to Integrated Care Communities was put forward in the letters or emails, 

but respondents did stress that the proposal would need time to work, improvements to 

staffing and resources, and far greater involvement of other organisations in designing and 

implementing, than appeared to have been the case. 

Suggestions 

Several suggestions are made about areas that could or should be prioritised as part of a wider 

healthcare strategy, including more focus on education, social initiatives and preventative health 

measures to reduce the demand for healthcare services in the long term; and specialised 

concentrated care for elderly people and for physiotherapy. 

It is also suggested there is a need for better connected healthcare and changing from over-

bureaucratised referral systems is stressed in one response, including for tests and specialist 

care.  

Overarching Comments 

In addition to commenting on proposed changes to specific service areas, a number of 

submissions made comments which referred to issues across West, North and East Cumbria and 

the local healthcare provision as a whole.  

413



 

Financial motivation and impact 

Many respondents doubted the claim that the proposed changes were not about money and 

felt that the current financial situation in the NHS was the dominant motivation behind the 

proposals. There was a recognition that money did have a role to play but that the options were 

potentially ignoring the human cost of what was being proposed and that the proposals would 

ultimately prove to be false economies, including as a result of subsequent legal actions brought 

against the NHS. A number of people put the blame for the Trust’s financial difficulties on 

Cumberland Infirmary and in particular on the hospital’s PFI deal. A question was also raised as 

to the cost of running consultations and whether they represented value for money. Others 

sought to argue that better ways to save money might be restructuring management, 

improving the efficiency of the system through better use of IT and reusing medical equipment. 

Inequality 

Various respondents made reference to the changes as in some way being unequal, unfair or 

compromising their rights. It was felt that the rural nature of Cumbria should not result in 

poorer health provision than would be available in an urban area and that local residents were 

being treated in a way which would not be considered acceptable in, for instance, the South of 

England. This was seen to be particularly wrong in the context of the area’s existing economic 

and health inequalities, with changes set to hurt those who already had the least. With poor 

transport infrastructure and higher levels of deprivation, the ability of those in West Cumbria in 

particular to afford to access healthcare further afield was judged to put them at a 

disadvantage when compared to other regions. 

Recruitment and retention 

A number of responses discussed the staffing issues in West, North and East Cumbria, which 

had featured strongly in the consultation document as part of the case for change. Many were 

of the view that the lack of certainty around local provision was contributing to the recruitment 

difficulties, as was the working environment – with a suggestion that staff do not feel 

sufficiently empowered or listened to by management – while others were of the view that local 

staffing was not the problem it had been made out to be. A number of suggestions were made 

around recruitment, many focusing on incentives which could be provided in the way of 

training, financial compensation and housing for those who chose to work at local hospitals. 

Some suggested developing programmes to grow the skills locally, working with other local 

organisations to recruit or adopting different advertising strategies, including working on this in 

collaboration with other groups such as the County Council locally. Others supported the 

proposals to centralise staff on the grounds of improving safety and helping to maintain 

training recognition, something which might be more attractive in bringing in new clinicians. 

 

414



 

West Cumberland Hospital 

Amongst the individual submissions were a number of respondents who expressed a desire to 

see as many services as possible retained or restored to West Cumberland Hospital, either 

alongside those same services still being provided at Cumberland Infirmary or relocating them 

entirely to Whitehaven. Amongst the arguments made were questions over the capacity of 

Cumberland Infirmary, the increasing demands upon local services stemming from growth in 

the nuclear industry locally, questions over the ongoing viability of the hospital without these 

services and concerns that having services based in Carlisle was detrimental to the health and 

wellbeing of those living in West Cumbria. 

Impact upon other services 

Various responses made reference to the impact that changes would have on other local 

services. There was some mention that changes may well negatively impact upon local GP 

provision and mental health services, and a significant response related to adult social care, 

ambulance services and concerns over whether or not they could cope with the changes.  

The importance of ensuring sufficient ambulance cover was raised, not only in order to deal 

with the increase in the number of trips between West Cumberland Hospital and Cumberland 

Infirmary, but also in ensuring that people could access services in Carlisle directly, such as 

stroke services. There was some scepticism that this would be possible. Similar doubts existed in 

the ability of councils to take on a role assisting local healthcare, particularly in the context of 

the loss of inpatient beds at community hospitals and the introduction of Integrated Care 

Communities. 

Consultation Comments 

In addition to any other comments or suggestions, a number of submissions had points to make 

about the consultation itself, ranging from issues with the consultation document to criticisms 

of the overall approach of the Success Regime. 

The consultation process and documentation 

Respondents raised concerns over the accessibility of the questionnaire and consultation 

document and the impact that this may have over response rates in comparison to other forms 

of response, such as signing petitions, attending public meetings or participating in local 

referenda, such as in Alston. Such issues included a belief that the language used in the 

consultation document may preclude a number of stakeholders from responding and that the 

document was too long for a population with increasingly busy lives to take the time to respond 

to. Particular concerns were expressed that it should not be inferred from a low response rate 

that those who had not taken the time to respond were in any way supportive of the proposals. 

415



 

Respondents also expressed the views around what could be done to improve response rates, 

including sending a copy of the document to every household affected by the proposals and 

tailoring specific consultations to individual communities within the affected areas. 

Other criticisms included the belief that the consultation document contained a lack of 

information, including a lack of relevant information for areas south of Whitehaven, and the 

options therein had not been properly risk assessed, that the document was contradictory or 

inaccurate in parts and contained insufficient options, particularly for those who would prefer 

to have selected ‘none of the above’ or for an option representing the status quo on one for 

one or more of the service areas.  

Local input 

A number of concerns were raised around the level of input into the redesign of local health 

services. There was a feeling that the consultation favoured certain conclusions, that those 

putting together the proposals were not local and that a lack of local understanding had 

resulted in a failure to understand their full impact, particularly with regard to the distances 

between populations (including unrealistic and unfounded average estimate journey times) and 

services and the knock-on effects of a loss of local provision to communities. 

There was a mixture of views over whether stakeholders were being listened to, although more 

frequently raised as a doubt, with concern that previous rounds of ‘engagement’ did not appear 

to have informed the proposals set out in the consultation document. 

Amongst those rejecting the proposals, there was a view that any new proposals should be 

drawn up on the basis of residents’ submissions, that they should show more imagination and 

feature greater involvement of frontline workers and other public sector bodies in the design 

process. 

Trust in the Success Regime 

While there was considerable overlap between concerns relating to the Success Regime and 

issues raised over local input and the consultation process, there were specific points made 

revealing an underlying lack of trust in the Success Regime itself. There was a particular concern 

that the results of the process are a foregone conclusion, although the reasons for that varied 

widely. Some respondents were of the view that there was a long-term plan to close West 

Cumberland Hospital, of which this was the latest stage, and that ultimately local issues were 

the result of political decisions taken either in Westminster or by NHS managers trying to 

preserve their own jobs at the cost of local services. Others were of the view that the issue 

stemmed from narrow-mindedness on the part of the Success Regime, that centralising services 

in Carlisle was the easiest option.  

  

416



 

4 Analysis of organisational and stakeholder 
submissions 

4.1 Introduction 

Submissions that were received from 112 organisations or elected representatives. Where 

organisations submitted multiple submissions, these have not been included in this total. These 

submissions were submitted as letters or emails either directly to the consultation or to the 

Success Regime or its organisations. All of the full original submissions have been shared with 

NHS Cumbria CCG and the Success Regime. 

Submissions have been classified as being from organisations where the organisation from 

which the submission is being written is clearly stated; where this was not the case submissions 

have been classified as individual and analysed in Section 3. Where organisations submitted 

multiple submissions, they have been counted as one in this total.  

These submissions are much wider in scope than the questions in the consultation questionnaire 

and include a wide range of arguments and evidence.  

Short summaries of each of these submissions are provided below. These summaries are not 

meant to act as a replacement for the full submissions which can be read in Appendix H. It is 

not possible for these summaries to capture the range of evidence and arguments included in 

these submissions. The summaries, instead, provide an overview of some of the points 

regarding the views on the proposals, consultation or other evidence in each submission. The 

length of summaries is not an indication of their individual importance or relevance. 

It should be noted that these summaries have been designed to accurately represent the views 

expressed rather than assess the strength of the evidence submitted. As a result, the evidence 

base for the arguments below has not been analysed here. 

Table 31 shows a breakdown of the submissions by type organisation or stakeholder.  

Table 31: Organisations, elected representatives and stakeholder groups who have provided formal submissions 
National organisations (10) 

Alzheimer’s Society 
Association of Air Ambulances Chief Executives  
British Medical Association  
British Orthopaedic Association 
Chartered Society of Physiotherapy 

Healthwatch and Public Involvement Association 
(HAPIA) 
Maternity and Women’s Health, NHS England  
Royal College of Midwives 
Royal College of Nursing  
Stroke Association 

417



 

Staff groups and trade unions (21) 

Consultant Paediatricians at Cumberland Infirmary 
Carlisle 
Medical and Dental Staff Committee for Cumbria 
Partnership NHS Foundation Trust  
Midwives and maternity care assistants at West 
Cumberland Hospital  
NCUHT, Foundation Programme   
NCUHT, General Surgery Consultant Body 
NCUHT, Obstetrics and Gynaecology  
NCUHT, Pathology consultant body  
NCUHT, Radiology and Nuclear Directorate  
NCUHT, Respiratory Services consultant body 
NCUHT, Trust, Trauma and Orthopaedic 
Consultant Body 
NCUHT, Head and Neck Consultant Body  
NCUHT, Stroke and Elderly Care Physicians  

NCUHT, Emergency Care and Acute Medicine 
NCUHT, Anaesthesia and Intensive Consultant 
Body  
North Cumbria University Hospitals NHS Trust 
Nursing, Midwifery and Allied Health Partnerships 
Leadership Team  
Paediatric Department / Children and SCBU teams 
at West Cumberland Hospital  
Royal College of General Practitioners, Cumbria 
Faculty  
The Royal College of Midwives North Cumbria  
West Cumberland Hospital Emergency Department 
team  
West Cumbria NHS staff  
Wigton Hospital Staff 

NHS bodies (14) 

Cumbria Local Medical Committee  
Cumbria Partnership NHS Foundation Trust  
Cumbria Partnership NHS Foundation Trust 
Governors Council   
North Cumbria Maternity Services Liaison 
Committees  
Newcastle upon Tyne Hospitals NHS Trust  
NHS North of England Clinical Senate  
NHS North of England Strategic Clinical Networks, 
Maternity Network  
North Cumbria University Hospitals Trust (NCUHT) 
Board  

North of England, Urgent and Emergency Care 
Network 
North West Ambulance Service NHS Trust  
Northumbria Healthcare NHS Trust  
Success Regime Transport Enabling and Advisory 
Group  
The Strategic Clinical Network of Paediatrics for 
the North East and Cumbria  
University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS 
Foundation Trust 
 

Elected Representatives (13) 

Cllr Peter Frost-Pennington, Muncaster Parish 
Council  
Cllr Bill Finlay, Allerdale Borough Council  
Cllr Christopher J Reay, Copeland Borough Council 
Cllr Colin Glover, Leader of the Council, and Cllr 
Lee Sherriff, Portfolio Holder for Communities, 
Health and Wellbeing, Carlisle City Council 
Cllr Rebecca Hanson, Cockermouth Town Council  
Cllr Judith Derbyshire, Eden District Council  
Eden District Council Liberal Democrat Group 

Jamie Reed MP, Member of Parliament for 
Copeland  
John Stevenson MP, Member of Parliament for 
Carlisle  
Lord Liddle, Councillor Cumbria County Council  
Peter McCall, Police and Crime Commissioner for 
Cumbria  
Rory Stewart MP, Member of Parliament for 
Penrith and The Border  
Sue Hayman MP, Member of Parliament 
Workington 

Patient and Health Representation Groups (12) 

Alston Moor Hospital Campaign 
Carlisle Carers Mental Health Group  
Copeland Patient Participation Group  
Friends of Brampton Community Hospital  
Friends of Mary Hewetson Hospital Keswick  
Healthwatch Cumbria  
Joint League of Friends of Cumbria Community 
Hospitals  

Penrith & Eden Community Hospital Leagues of 
Friends  
Seascale and Bootle Patient Group  
The Fellview Healthcare Patient Panel Group  
West Cumbrians’ Voice for Healthcare  
Wigton Hospital League of Friends 

418



 

Community and Local Groups (13) 

Age UK West Cumbria  
Alston Community Partnership  
Churches Together on Alston moor  
Copeland Citizens Advice  
Copeland Conservatives  
Cumbria Rural Forum   
Cumbria Third Sector Network  

Cumbria Youth Alliance  
Cumbrian Societies for the Blind  
Maryport ‘Alliance’  
Penrith and Border Young Labour  
Solway Community Partnership  
West Cumbria Liberal Democrats 

Local Authorities (23) 

Allerdale Borough Council  
Allhallows Parish Council  
Alston Moor Parish Council  
Aspatria Town Council  
Beckermet with Thornhill Parish Council  
Bewcastle Parish Council  
Blennerhasset and Torpenhow Parish Council  
Copeland Borough Council  
Cumbria County Council  
Dundraw Parish Council  
Eden District Council’s Housing and Community 
Scrutiny Committee  

Egremont Town Council  
Hayton and Mealo Parish Council  
Kirkby Stephen Town Council 
Lamplugh Parish Council 
Langwathby Parish Council  
Penrith Town Council  
Seaton Parish Council  
St Bees Parish Council  
Stanwix Rural Parish Council  
Waberthwaite and Corney Parish Council  
Waverton Parish Council  
Wigton Town Council 

Other experts and organisations (6) 

Cumbria Health on Call 
Cumbrian Newspapers Limited  
Health Education England North East 
Independent and external reviewer, Children 
Services at the West Cumberland Hospital and 
Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle 

Keswick Community Housing Trust  
NuGeneration Ltd 

 

4.2 National organisations 

Alzheimer’s Society - A submission was made by the Alzheimer’s Society. The submission 

includes views on the proposals and information about dementia services.  Views on the 

proposals include: ranking of options for community hospital inpatient beds with Option 1 most 

favoured, then Options 2, and 3 respectively; that the preferred option is one that offers 

sustainable numbers of beds at the remaining community hospitals; that removing hospital beds 

from Maryport, Wigton and Alston will mean longer travel times; ranking of Emergency and 

Acute Care Options with Option 1 first, then Options 2 and 3 respectively; belief in maintaining 

a full 24/7 accident and emergency unit at West Cumberland Hospital; Hyper-Acute Stroke 

Option 2 ranked first followed by Option 1; that strokes can be the trigger for vascular 

dementia and the needs of people with dementia and carers should be taken into account;  and 

that consolidation of expertise on one site will have the most beneficial clinical outcomes for 

patients. 

Association of Air Ambulances Chief Executives – A submission was received from the 

Association of Ambulance Chief Executives. The submission gives views on the proposals and 

the consultation. This includes: understanding that the provision of sustainable high quality 

419



 

healthcare may require significant transformation across a range of services; that it is clear the 

proposals have been developed in partnership with many key stakeholders including North West 

Ambulance Service NHS Trust; that there are noteworthy issues raised within the document, 

particularly relating to maternity services and Integrated Care Communities; and that continued 

engagement with the North West Ambulance NHS Trust will help positively in managing the 

complexities of implementing whichever options are eventually adopted. 

British Medical Association – A submission was received from the British Medical Association. 

The submission focussed on concerns regarding Sustainability Transformation Plans. These 

concerns include: that there is sufficient public awareness of the plans, that they are drawn up 

in an open and transparent way, and that they have the support and involvement of clinicians, 

patients and the public from the outset; that all proposals within plans are realistic and 

evidenced based; that there is no legal or clinical accountability within the Sustainability 

Transformation Plans process; that the plans need to be funded appropriately to have a chance 

to deliver what has been promised; and that the primary focus for Sustainability Transformation 

Plans is not on delivering the best possible patient care but in cutting back budgets and, 

therefore services. 

British Orthopaedic Association – A submission was received from the British Orthopaedic 

Association. This included a response to the consultation survey and clarification that the British 

Orthopaedic Association supports the preferred option with regard to emergency surgery. 

trauma and orthopaedic services.  

Chartered Society of Physiotherapy - A submission was received from the Chartered Society 

of Physiotherapy. The submission includes views on the proposals. Views on the proposals 

include: that the changes will have a detrimental impact on our ability to recruit and retain 

physiotherapists at the West Cumberland Hospital due to the downgrading of services; that the 

proposed options mean extra staff will be needed in the community; concerns as to how the 

University of Cumbria will be able to provide comprehensive learning opportunities and 

placements for the development of students within their core areas of physiotherapy; that the 

closure of community hospital beds and the relocation hospital services to the community will 

increase staff workload; that staff are concerned that community services will be expected to 

deal with the increased demand without the necessary financial support needed in order to 

provide safe and effective services for patients; that staff are concerned they will become de-

skilled and in turn de-banded due to the lack of acutely unwell or complex patients being 

treated at West Cumberland Hospital; and that the inability to recruit and retain experienced 

clinicians and the de-skilling of current staff will impact on the training opportunities available 

for newly qualified staff to acquire specialist physiotherapy skills. In addition, concerns are made 

regarding the removal of acute and community beds, maternity proposals, and 

ambulance/patient transfers. The submission also states that if the process was about quality 

420



 

and safety rather than being financially driven, more services would be invested in at a local 

level and at the West Cumberland Hospital.  

Healthwatch and Public Involvement Association - A submission was received from 

Healthwatch and Public Involvement Association. The submission gives a number of views on 

the consultation process and views on the proposals. Views on the consultation process include: 

that there is absence of clarity about the clinical evidence base underpinning proposals; that 

there is a lack of evidence that choices were drawn up in light of patient choice; that there was 

a lack of differentiation between options presented in the consultation document and other 

significant changes intended by the Clinical Commissioning Group and Success Regime that are 

not subject to consultation; and that references to practical considerations being relevant 

undermines the legitimacy of the consultation as they are undefined. Views on the proposals 

include: that the case for change in maternity is weak and Options 2 and 3 are inconsistent with 

the need of women and their families in rural areas; and that an ambulance is not sustainable 

for unplanned occasional use by maternity services. 

Maternity and Women’s Health, NHS England - A submission was received from Matthew 

Jolly, National Clinical Director for Maternity and Women’s Health and Jacqueline Dunkley-Ben, 

Head of Maternity at NHS England. The submission includes views on the proposals. Views on 

the proposals include: that the options outlined for maternity services show consideration of the 

recommendations of Better Births, the report of the National Maternity Review; that there are 

particular challenges involved in providing services to the people of West, North and East 

Cumbria, not least with regard to the sparsity and remoteness of the local population; that one 

area which may benefit from clarification is the proposal under Maternity Option 2 for a 

midwifery unit at West Cumberland Hospital where planned caesarean sections for low risk 

women may be carried out; and that although post-operative complications occur rarely for 

women of this group, it may be beneficial to set out explicitly how this risk will be managed. 

Royal College of Midwives – A submission was received from the Royal College of Midwives. 

The submission sets out the views of Royal College of Midwives’ members, representatives and 

officers with regard to the proposals. Views on the proposals include: recognition of the 

challenges maternity services in Cumbria face; that the quality of services at Carlisle and 

Whitehaven are currently good; support for Maternity Option 1; that the Royal College of 

Midwives would have been prepared to support the preferred option if they were satisfied that 

the distance between West Cumbria and Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle was acceptable; that 

support for Option 1 is on the basis it is implemented in accordance with the recommendations 

in the Royal College of Obstetricians and Gynaecologists review and is consistent with the 

preferred option for children’s services; and that the assertion that a continuing reliance on 

locum doctors could lead to temporary closures is alarmist. 

421



 

Royal College of Nursing – A submission was received from the Royal College of Nursing. The 

submission includes comments and questions regarding the proposals and consultation 

materials and comments on the proposals linked to the Royal College of Nursing’s 2015 

strategy regarding health and social care within Cumbria. Views on the proposal include: that 

the consultation only focuses on medical recruitment and not recruitment and retention of 

nursing staff across all grades and specialities; lack of recognition of the contribution made by 

highly trained and specialised nurses and other healthcare professionals in terms of patient 

experience and outcomes; that if all preferred options are implemented this may result in the 

affected areas finding it increasingly difficult to maintain, retain and develop the skills, 

experience and knowledge of staff across a breadth of clinical areas; that there is no community 

hospitals long term preferred option provided, only Option 1 as a medium term preference; and 

concern with proposed changes to children’s services leading to de-skilling of highly trained 

paediatric nurses. Views of the proposals linked to the Royal College of Nursing’s 2015 strategy 

for health and social care within Cumbria includes: concern about the lack of detail about how 

the proposed changes will be implemented and the timeframes for this; that there is little detail 

regarding integration of health and social care; that there is lack of alternative options for if 

additional funding is not forthcoming; concern that the proposed changes do not provide 

security regarding recruitment shortages; that there is little or no detail regarding how the area 

will develop and secure its own staff given changes to student nurse funding; and that 

whatever changes are introduced they need to adequately address the current as well as future 

needs of the population. 

Stroke Association – A submission was received from the Stroke Association. The submission 

gives views on proposals and proposes alternatives. The views on proposals include: a 

conditional preference for Hyper-Acute Stroke Option 2. This provides a single hyper acute base 

at Carlisle with rehabilitation delivered at Carlisle and Whitehaven. The condition is based on a 

review of the decision to rule out the addition of a triage set up at Whitehaven (a drip and ship 

protocol). It is felt that the fully benefits of this should be given further consideration. Further 

views on proposals include support for the Integrated Care Communities where it is urged that 

their development is based on community and third sector involvement.  

 

4.3 Staff groups and trade unions 

Consultant Paediatricians at Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle – A submission was received 

from Consultant Paediatricians; whose base site is the Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle. The 

submission includes views on the proposals. Views on the proposals include: support for the 

preferred Obstetric and Paediatric options stated in the Success Regime proposal document; 

recognition of the interdependencies of the Options Appraisal for both Obstetric and Paediatric 

Support with none of the three Paediatric options directly supporting the maintenance of 

422



 

consultant-led obstetric units on both sites; that all of the maternity options will involve an 

increase in the neonatal workload for the Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle Neonatal Unit and for 

Paediatric Staff, with this being most pronounced for the options where there is an end to the 

West Cumberland Hospital Consultant-led Obstetric Unit; that advantages for Maternity 

Options 2 and 3 include equality of provision of neonatal care, assisting with current neonatal 

nurse staffing shortage and enabling mothers to stay with their babies on either hospital site; 

advantages for paediatric options include higher likelihood of achieving Royal College of 

Paediatricians and Children’s Health standards for Paediatric care and Joint Royal Colleges 

Standard for maternity care, achieving a larger pool of consultants; and that the disadvantages 

of Obstetric and Paediatric Options are the perceived risk of longer travel times, inconvenience 

and expense for families and visitors. 

Medical and Dental Staff Committee for Cumbria Partnership NHS Foundation Trust –  A 

submission was received from the medical and dental staff committee for Cumbria Partnership 

NHS Foundation Trust, a body of senior doctors and dentists within the trust; this includes 

individual emails from consultants. The overall submission gives views on the proposals. Views 

on the proposals include: concern expressed by consultants about the potential increased risk to 

patients that could arise out of proposals to reduce acute medical services in West Cumbria and 

the significantly increased travel time to access acute service in Carlisle; concern around patient 

safety in the areas of maternity services, community beds and sexual health; the absence of 

mental health services from the consultation was expressed as a concern; and that minimal 

effort has been made to actively engage local doctors in the proposals. 

Midwives and Maternity Care Assistants from West Cumbria / at West Cumberland 

Hospital – A submission was received from Midwives and Maternity Care Assistants from West 

Cumbria. This includes views on the proposals and a number of questions. Views on the 

proposals include: welcoming a Midwife-Led Unit alongside Consultant-Led Unit at West 

Cumberland Hospital; severe concerns regarding the safety and sustainability of freestanding 

Midwife-Led Unit in Whitehaven; that it is not acceptable or safe to have no intrapartum care 

located in West Cumbria (as per Maternity Option 3); that the proposed changes will bring 

inequality in terms of fair access to maternity services across the county; and concern that a 

robust risk assessment has not been carried out detailing how the proposed changes would 

work in practice; that removing consultant-led care at West Cumberland Hospital will lead to 

removal of choice of birthplace to everyone. 

A further submission was received from midwives and maternity care assistants at West 

Cumberland Hospital, reiterating concerns about downgrading of maternity services. The 

submission includes views of the proposals. Views on the proposals include: concerns that 

downgrading of maternity service in West Cumbria is not a fair or safe option for West 

Cumbrian women; that the size of the unit is irrelevant when considering the unique 

423



 

circumstances of the local community; that a midwife-led unit in Whitehaven would have one 

of the longest transfer times to a consultant-led unit anywhere in the UK; that not provision has 

been made for the time effective, safe or secure transfer of women and/or their babies; concern 

that implementation of Maternity Option 2 will result in the eventual implementation of 

maternity Option 3; and that there is no evidence for a successful and safe midwife-led unit so 

far from a consultant-led unit and that the proposals are based on assumptions and guess 

work. 

North Cumbria University Hospitals NHS Trust Foundation Programme – A submission was 

received from the North Cumbria Foundation Programme. The submission provides a specific 

interpretation of the proposals from the perspective of the Foundation Programme and 

Foundation Year (FY) 1 & 2 training provision. Overall there is a view that the programme as a 

whole at West Cumberland Hospital may need to be reconsidered if service changes moved 

training posts away from the site, due to the knock-on effect of relative isolation for the fewer 

trainees left at West Cumberland Hospital. Views on the proposals include: that the options for 

maternity services, children’s services and emergency and acute care, and Hyper-Acute Stroke 

Option 2 could or would impact on the current training provision. Hyper-Acute Option 1 and 

the proposed options for community hospital inpatient beds and emergency surgery, trauma 

and orthopaedic services would not impact on the current distribution of FY doctors. 

North Cumbria University Hospitals NHS Trust General Surgery consultant body – A 

submission was received from North Cumbria University Hospitals NHS Trust General Surgery 

consultant body. The submission includes views on changes made three years previously and 

current provision. These include: that changes made to the service over the past three years had 

been for the benefit of patients; and more specifically: that centralisation of complex emergency 

services at Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle due to concerns regarding the provision of a safe and 

sustainable emergency service across two sites, means a safer service is being provided to 

patients regardless of where they live; that that changes have enabled improvements to be 

made to service provision at West Cumberland Hospital; that changes in surgery mean that the 

Consultant Surgeon of the week is now personally fielding all GP referrals on a dedicated line; 

and that if a patient does need to come into hospital, they will not have to wait in A&E but 

instead been seen directly on the new assessment unit.  

North Cumbria University Hospitals NHS Trust, Obstetrics and Gynaecology – A submission 

was received from the Obstetrics and Gynaecology consultant body at North Cumbria University 

Hospitals NHS Trust. The submission states the letter reflects the consensus view of the 

consultant body. The submission includes views on the proposals. These views on the proposals 

include: that the best option would be to have two consultant-led maternity units at 

Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle and West Cumberland Hospital; but if this is not feasible due to 

documented reasons including staffing issues, a preference for Maternity Option 3; support for 

424



 

all antenatal and postnatal services to be delivered at West Cumberland Hospital no matter 

what the outcome of the consultation, with only birth and labour parts of women’s care 

consolidated at Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle. 

North Cumbria University Hospitals NHS Trust, Pathology Consultant Body - A submission 

was received from the Clinical Director of Pathology at North Cumbria University Hospitals NHS 

Trust on behalf of himself and colleagues. The submission gives views on the current operation 

of pathology services and provides views on the proposals. Views on the current operation of 

Pathology services include: detail regarding the integration between West Cumberland Hospital 

and Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle; the current 24/7 blood science service on both sites; and the 

specimen transport between Trust sites. Views on the proposal include supporting change to 

develop better integrated services across West, North and East Cumbria. 

North Cumbria University Hospitals NHS Trust, Radiology and Nuclear Directorate – A 

submission was received from the North Cumbria University Hospitals NHS Trust Radiology and 

Nuclear Medicine Directorate. The submission includes views on the proposals and provides 

additional suggestions for service transformation. Views on the proposals include highlighting 

that diagnostic imaging provision is demand led and based on the requirements of other clinical 

services within both primary and secondary care, and that the key considerations from a 

diagnostic imaging perspective are: the continuation of MRI, CT, X-Ray and Ultrasound services 

for inpatients and outpatients on the Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle and West Cumberland 

Hospital sites; the requirement to expand diagnostic services at Community Hospitals; 

remodelling of Radiologist, Radiographer and Sonographer workforce to meet any potential 

change in urgent care, obstetric, paediatric and inpatient provision; and the need to review and 

where appropriate the realignment of diagnostic imaging requirements in primary and 

secondary care pathways. Additional ideas are mentioned regardless of the final outcome, these 

include: capital investment, introduction of a network approach to reporting, and continued 

investment in Advanced Practitioners.  

North Cumbria University Hospitals NHS Trust, Respiratory Services Consultant Body – A 

submission was received on behalf of the consultant body working in Respiratory Services at 

North Cumbria University Hospitals NHS Trust.  This includes: recognition of the challenge in 

recruiting and retaining staff at consultant levels; that they have supported the acute care 

model of transferring high risk patients to Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle; that they already work 

closely with the community respiratory team; and that the NHS is changing and there is a need 

to recognise this and keep up with the innovating practice, meaning staying the same is not an 

option.  

North Cumbria University Hospitals NHS Trust, Trauma and Orthopaedic Consultant Body – 

A submission was received from North Cumbria University Hospitals NHS Trust Trauma and 

Orthopaedic Services consultant body. The submission includes comments on changes three 

425



 

years ago, and views on the proposals. Changes three years ago are described as including 

centralisation of complex trauma and orthopaedic surgery at Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle due 

to urgent safety concerns at West Cumberland Hospital. The submission expresses that the 

changes made three years ago were for the right reasons and have enabled the maximisation of 

local service at West Cumberland Hospital. Views on the proposals include: that West 

Cumberland Hospital is a small district general hospital which should provide as many services 

as it can provide safely and for services such as obstetrics and paediatrics out-of-hours services 

cannot be sustained in the long term and attempts to provide this will hamper further 

development of clinical models and risk the service completely collapsing; and that the clinical 

model for West, North and East Cumbria needs finalising as soon as possible as uncertainty is 

affecting the Trust’s reputation as well as staff recruitment and retention. 

North Cumbria University Hospitals NHS Trust, Head and Neck Consultant Body – A 

submission was received from the consultant body working in Head and Neck Services at North 

Cumbria University Hospitals NHS Trust. The submission gives their views on current services. 

This includes: that oral and maxillofacial surgery and ear, nose and throat services have always 

been centrally provided at Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle with outreach clinics at West 

Cumberland Hospital in Whitehaven; that being based in one hospital has allowed the 

development of specialist services that are not always available in district general hospitals; that 

it would not be possible to provide this if expertise was spread more widely across two hospital 

sites; and that concentration of expertise has enabled extensive training opportunities for future 

consultants.  

North Cumbria University Hospitals NHS Trust, Stroke and Elderly Care Physicians – A 

submission was received from stroke and elderly care physicians at North Cumbria University 

Hospitals NHS Trust. The submission gives views on the proposals and views on what will be 

needed to make the proposed model work. The views on the proposals include: support for 

Hyper-Acute Stroke Option 2 and for Community Hospitals Inpatients Option 1. The reasons 

given for support for Hyper-Acute Stroke Option 2 include: that there would be a more resilient 

service by concentrating staff that will be required for the first 72 hours of stroke care on a 

single site, and that this would enable the Trust to develop seven day stroke services; and that 

the disadvantage for patients travelling from the furthest points of the catchment area are 

offset by a better service for a large number of people who present to a hospital with a stroke 

or mini stroke. The views given as to how to make the proposed model work include 

recruitment of consultants, increasing the number of stroke nurses, increasing and developing 

the capacity and infrastructure of the hyper-acute stroke unit, and a second CT scanner at 

Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle and improving imaging capacity.  

North Cumbria University Hospitals NHS, Trust Emergency Care and Acute Medicine – A 

submission was received from the Divisional Associate Medical Director for Medicine and 

426



 

Emergency Care and Associate Clinical Director for Emergency Care and Acute Medicine for 

North Cumbria University Hospitals NHS Trust. The submission includes views on the proposals 

and explanation of their work, including: that through the introduction of the composite 

workforce model they can improve safety, quality outcomes and patient experience that is 

sustainable; that specialities such as cardiology, gastroenterology and respiratory medicine have 

been working together across the two hospital sites to develop best care pathways; and that 

their overall aim is to provide the best clinical care, seven days a week; and that they support 

the proposals for medical services.  

North Cumbria University Hospitals Trust, Anaesthesia and Intensive Consultant Body – A 

submission was received from the Anaesthesia and Critical Care consultant body in North 

Cumbria, which includes both West Cumberland Hospital and Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle 

sites. The submission includes views on current services and views on the proposals. Views on 

current services include: that the provision of anaesthetic and intensive care unit across two 

remote sites presents a challenge in regard to out of hours cover; that there is a particular 

staffing challenge for their departments with the current small consultant-led obstetric unit in 

the West Cumberland Hospital combined with a small intensive care unit, both covered by a 

single anaesthesia consultant; that anaesthesia recruitment to West Cumberland Hospital has 

been unsuccessful for some years and present staffing arrangements are unlikely to be 

sustainable in the long term. Views on the proposals include: that Maternity Option 3 exhibits 

sustainability in delivery and recruitment which exceeds the current model to benefit critically ill 

patients managed at the West Cumberland Hospital site. 

North Cumbria University Hospitals NHS Trust Nursing, Midwifery and Allied Health 

Partnerships Leadership Team – A submission was received from North Cumbria University 

Hospitals NHS Trust Nursing, Midwifery and Allied Health Partnerships Leaderships Team. This 

sets out to reflect the views of staff members. The submission includes views on the proposals, 

including: support for the preferred options, whilst noting  certain points of concern. These 

include: that while midwives fully support the development of midwifery-led care, they have 

expressed concerns regarding the distance from the consultant-led unit, and the long-term 

violability of such a unit; and in Paediatrics concerns regarding children living in West Cumbria 

with lifelong or life-limiting conditions are raised, with a desire for some exception based criteria 

for this small cohort of children overnight.  

Paediatric Department / Children’s ward and special care baby unit staff at West 

Cumberland Hospital – A submission was received from the children’s ward and special care 

baby unit at West Cumberland Hospital, a subunit of the Children’s Business Unit. The 

submission is signed by 23 members of staff. The response gives views on the proposals, views 

on the consultation, proposes alternative options, and gives views on the current service. Views 

on the proposals include: that there has not been enough emphasis on levels of deprivation in 

427



 

the parts of West, North and East Cumbria affected by the changes; that the advantages of 

Maternity Option 1 do not adequately balance the disadvantages for both children and new-

born babies; that the proposals are unlikely to resolve recruitment and retention challenges; and 

that the proposals for transferring patients to Carlisle for care will have little additional benefit 

for West Cumbrian patients. Views on the consultation include: that the options provided do 

not match those on which both sides of the department did considerable work together and 

that their vision was not adequately described in the consultation and should not be defined as 

doing nothing. Alternative options provided include: for whole-system integration of hospitals 

and primary care; different staffing arrangements including the use of Paediatric Nurse 

Practitioners at night; the use of telehealth; and that using their uniqueness and focus on being 

an excellent General Paediatric Unit will attract good staff. 

Accompanying comments were made by ‘the 3 substantive consultants who work sessions’ in 

the Paediatric Department of the West Cumberland Hospital, responding to individual points in 

the submission made by consultants from Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle. This includes: that the 

increase in neonatal provision impacting on the availability of consultants for Children’s Ward is 

a better argument for keeping 2 level one SCBU’s rather than aiming for one larger one; that 

there is majority opinion that there is good clinical care to patients at West Cumberland 

Hospital; that a two site model can facilitate outreach and increase confidence for staff working 

with children in primary care; that losing one of A&E, anaesthetics and paediatrics could 

destabilise the process; and that the stated aims of the Success Regime and future aspirations of 

the Royal College of Paediatrics and Childcare would open up opportunities to attract from a 

different pool of candidates.  

The Royal College of General Practitioners, Cumbria Faculty – A submission was received 

from the Royal College of General practitioners, Cumbria Faculty. The submission includes views 

on the proposals. These views on the proposal include: agreement that if there is not a reliable 

paediatric service it is not safe to have a full maternity/delivery service; that absence of a full 

maternity service at West Cumberland Hospital is a frightening prospect; that without other 

alternatives reduction in community beds risks increasing the length of stay of patients at acute 

hospitals; that community hospitals will be a big loss especially in rural areas; that there should 

be proven alternatives before reducing beds in community hospitals; welcoming the 12 GP 

trainees in West, North and East Cumbria as last year there were none; and concern about 

plans to integrate the two sites heavily on the availability and use of ambulances as this would 

put more strain on the already stretched ambulance service.   

The Royal College of Midwives North Cumbria – A submission was received from the Royal 

College of Midwives North Cumbria Branch. The submission gives view on the proposals and on 

the consultation process. The views on the proposals include: concern about Maternity Option 2 

and disappointment that no meaningful conversations between midwives and the Success 

428



 

Regime preceded the publication of the documents outlining the preferred options; support for 

the questions and statements put forward in the initial submission from Midwives and 

Maternity Care Assistants of West Cumbria (see Page 110), which is included as an appendix to 

this submission; and seven detailed themes that they feel need to be considered against the 

preferred options. These seven points are: alignment with overarching maternity policy and 

strategy for England; classification of women suitable for different birth locations; transfers 

between units in emergency situations and the ambulance services; transport -impact on local 

families; inconsistencies in approach to services and the decision-making process; risk to quality 

of the service; and professional standards and training and recruitment. Views on the 

consultation process include:  that there is inconsistency in logic between paediatrics and 

maternity on staffing; need for risk mapping on Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle and 

contingencies if that facility is overburdened; plus questions over the modelling of future 

population needs.  

West Cumberland Hospital Emergency Department team –  A submission was received from 

the West Cumberland Hospital Emergency Department team. This includes views on the 

proposals. Views on the proposals include: concern that the interdependencies of the 

department have not been properly accepted and understood; and that there is an extremely 

high likelihood that should the favoured option be pursued for Obstetrics, Maternity and 

Paediatrics, the Emergency Department would be unable to function and forced to close in a 

short space of time. 

West Cumbria NHS staff – A submission was received that had been signed by 50 healthcare 

professionals working in West Cumberland including local GPs, GP Registrars, nurses and 

practice managers. The submission includes views on the proposals and views on current 

services. Views on the proposals include: that Maternity Options 2 and 3 will not provide the 

best service for West Cumbrians and that harm will be done to patients on an individual level 

and the Trust as a whole if the proposals go ahead; that there is a lack of plans for addressing 

future staffing of Maternity Option 2 and 3; that there is a risk of midwives taking early 

retirement, moving from the county or leaving the profession in the case of a standalone 

maternity-led unit at West Cumberland Hospital; that comparison with Withybush Hospital in 

Pembrokeshire is inappropriate due to West Cumbria’s unique geography with longer journey 

times; that the potential of the proposed changes include high risk roadside delivery without 

midwife assistance and an increased sense for women that they need to attend hospital very 

early in labour; that more needs to be done to recruit Paediatrics; and acknowledgement of the 

complexities involved and statement of wish to be part of greater investigation and discussion 

to solve them. 

Wigton Hospital Staff – A submission was received from staff at Wigton Hospital. The 

submission gives views on the current situation at the hospital and what services are currently 

429



 

provided, gives views on the proposals, and proposes alternative changes. It is noted that the 

hospital is coping and doing well, including excellent provision of rehabilitation services, 

nursing, and end of life care, and concern is expressed about the impact of the closure of beds 

on both the community and the staff. The proposed changes are for an intermediate care 

model that utilises therapy staff to become core leaders in the service.  The submission states 

that this model will meet the needs of patient case load and overcome challenges such as 

recruitment of Registered General Nurses and the lack of services to provide care for patients 

close to the home of the community. 

4.4 Local and regional NHS and medical bodies  

Cumbria Local Medical Committee – A submission was received from Cumbria Local Medical 

Committee. The proposal includes comments on Cumbria Local Medical Committee’s 

involvement in the Success Regime and views on the proposals. This states that Cumbria Local 

Medical Committee had observer status at the West, North and East Cumbria Success Regime 

programme board meetings, but as this merged into the Sustainability Transformation Plan 

board, this invitation was withdrawn. Comments on the proposals include: that the population 

of North Cumbria does not merit two centres of secondary care by current health needs 

assessment metrics; concerns that proposed changes appear untested, have a challengeable 

clinical evidence base, and lack detailed clinical or financial community plans; concerns that the 

modelling for the transfer of some emergency services to Carlisle from West Cumbria has not 

fully addressed concerns regarding travel time; and support for GPs in West Cumbria’s views on 

the proposals, particularly regarding the transfer time for labouring women the inability of the 

Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle Unit to cope with extra demand, the Royal College of 

Obstetricians and Gynaecologists report in 2015 not recommending removal of maternity 

consultant cover at West Cumberland Hospital and unacceptable travel time for parents to 

Special Care Baby Unit. 

Cumbria Partnership NHS Foundation Trust – A submission was received from the Cumbria 

Partnership NHS Foundation Trust. The submission gives views on proposals and provider 

alternatives. The views on proposals include a general acceptance of the clinical strategy with 

caveats including further consideration of commissioning and delivery of appropriate skills 

which is seen at the key to the whole system. Views on specific proposals and alternatives 

include community hospitals where work is ongoing to develop wider options than available in 

the consultation document with the community. The submission states that options will be 

consistent with the Integrated Care Communities and there is a view that no permanent 

changes should be made to inpatient beds until Integrated Care Communities are in operation 

in the relevant areas.  With Children’s and Paediatrics, the preferred option is supported but 

with a request for greater focus on community children’s services linked to Integrated Care 

Communities and universal children’s services commissioned by the County Council. In respect 

430



 

of the other four specific service proposals the Trust welcome strong and enduring links to 

Newcastle.  

Cumbria Partnership NHS Foundation Trust Governors Council - A submission was received 

from Cumbria Partnership NHS Foundation Trust Governors Council. The submission includes 

views on the proposals and views on the consultation process. Views include that proposals 

relating to the community hospitals in Wigton, Maryport and Alston are not acceptable; that 

Emergency and Acute Option 1 is acceptable provided the aspects covered in the “Summary of 

Options” are not degraded due to, or because of staffing issues; that Hyper-Acute Stroke 

Option 2 is reluctantly acceptable, although it will provide better outcomes for many patients, it 

will disadvantage West Cumbrians; and that reassurance is needed that patients travelling from 

North and East Cumbria for surgery at West Cumberland Hospital will not be disadvantaged 

compared to the present service provided to them at Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle. Views on 

the consultation include: disappointment in the poor engagement process; maternity issues 

have drowned out the impact on the other services affected in the consultation document; and 

that there is a need for public acknowledgement of the potential impact of the proposals on 

the wider health economies of Cumbria and beyond and the possible effects of decisions made 

elsewhere. 

North Cumbria Maternity Services Liaison Committees – A submission was received from 

North Cumbria Maternity Services Liaison Committee. The submission includes a response 

gathered from information collected at a number of engagement forums, meetings and other 

activities.  The submission includes seven appendices including presentations, correspondence, 

reports and meeting notes. The submission gives views on the proposals including: concern over 

maternity options regarding inequality of access, lack of clarity in proposals, a need for risk 

analysis of all options, potential reduction in continuity of carer under options, and concern over 

the quality, care and capacity of a larger consolidated unit at Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle; 

that Children’s Option 1 has the least negative impacts for West Cumbria, but it is felt that it 

needs modifying further; and that there will be difficulties from imposing change on a 

community unconvinced that the case for change benefits them. 

Newcastle upon Tyne Hospitals NHS Trust – A submission was received from Newcastle upon 

Tyne Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust. The submission gives views on the proposals. The views 

on the proposals include: support for Maternity Option 2; Children’s Option 1; Community 

Hospitals Inpatients Option 1; Emergency & Acute Option 1; and Hyper-Acute Stroke Option 2.  

The recent temporary changes to emergency surgery, trauma and orthopaedic services are seen 

to have reflected much needed reorganisation that has demonstrated improved outcomes. 

NHS North of England Clinical Senate – A submission was received from the Northern 

England Clinical Senate. The submission gives views regarding the Hyper Acute Stroke Service, 

this includes that a Cardiovascular Network review, visits by the Senate and a review by the 

431



 

National Clinical Director for Stroke Services all concluded that there would likely be an 

improvement to patient safety and outcomes if a more centralised service were on offer, 

probably at Carlisle. It states that the change would require careful consideration to be given to 

the rehabilitation part of the Stroke pathway and urges NHS Cumbria CCG to ensure this aspect 

is fully addressed.   

NHS Northern England Strategic Clinical Networks, Maternity Network – A submission was 

received on behalf of the two Clinical Leads for the NHS Northern England Maternity Clinical 

Network. The submission includes comments that the Northern England Maternity Network 

feels it has been able to contribute substantially, in a constructive and supportive way to 

discussions about the future of maternity services in Cumbria; that the arguments set out in the 

consultation document for each option, including the preferred option, are sound and well 

considered; and that the aspect of the consultation document that probably presents most 

challenges is that of transport. The proposal in Maternity Option 2 for a dedicated ambulance is 

welcomed, but it is noted that it is less clear in Options 2 and 3 whether there are any general 

transport and infrastructure improvements intended, to help the additional women and families 

who would have to travel to or stay in Carlisle before or after birth. 

A further submission gave views regarding evidence in papers that had been cited directly or 

indirectly in two other submissions to the consultation. The papers in question include 

statements in relation to an increased incidence of adverse outcomes amongst women who live 

far away from consultant-led obstetric care. Views submitted include the conclusion that there 

is not sufficient evidence in the papers referenced to justify the conclusion that increased travel 

times to the nearest maternity unit (at less than 4 hours’ distance) are associated with an 

increased risk of either stillbirth and / or neonatal death. 

North Cumbria Hospital University Hospitals NHS Trust Board – A submission was received 

from the North Cumbria Hospital University Hospitals NHS Trust Broad. The submission sets out 

views regarding the preferred options and the actions of the Trust. This includes support for 

Maternity Option 2, Children’s Option 1, Community Hospitals Inpatients Option 1, Emergency 

and Acute Option 1, Hyper-Acute Stroke Option 2, and maintaining changes to service 

provision for emergency surgery, trauma and orthopaedics at West Cumberland Hospital. 

North of England, Urgent and Emergency Care Network – A submission was received from 

the Urgent and Emergency Care Network. This includes feedback collected from group 

discussions and specific feedback from individuals. This includes comments on the proposals 

and evidence in the consultation document. This includes the view that the issues faced are 

balancing the economic challenges faced in healthcare versus centralisation of services, with the 

uniqueness of the geography it is fundamental to keep patient safety in mind. Individual 

clinicians’ views include: it was positive to note the highlighting of the key constraint of 

workforce, which in other circumstances has not been as well acknowledged in plans; there is a 

432



 

failure to reference workforce trends; the Penrith birthing unit seems an extravagance for the 

number of births per year; concerns over the proposal for Whitehaven and the proposed 

national guidance on ED provision; and concern that there is conflict between the current 

regulated systems and the proposed model. 

North West Ambulance Service NHS Trust – A submission was received from North West 

Ambulance Service NHS Trust. The submission includes views on the proposals. Views on the 

proposals include: broadly supporting the outlined proposals on the basis that they support 

their direction of travel in providing safe care, closer to home; welcoming the formation and 

implementation of integrated care communities; that Maternity Option 2 does not deliver a 

clinically safe transfer package for high acute cases and although the Trust can provide the 

vehicles and staff for these transfers, it will take time to implement due to recruitment and 

procurement; that the transport time to Carlisle is vastly longer than documented; support for 

the consolidation of children’s services on one site; that Community Hospitals Inpatients Option 

1 would mainly affect the non-emergency Patient Service and will have minimal impact on the 

Trust’s services; support for Emergency and Acute Option 1 but asks for consideration to be 

given to transfer numbers, positively or negatively and that the impact they may have on the 

Trust’s services;  support for Hyper-Acute Stroke Option 2 with recognition of the impact this 

would have on operational cover across the region whilst transfers and direct transport are 

taking place; and that the Trust supports the proposal to take emergency surgery and trauma 

services back to West Cumberland Hospital. 

Northumbria Healthcare NHS Trust – A submission was received from Northumbria NHS 

Foundation Trust. The submission includes views on the proposals. Views on the proposals 

include: support for Maternity Option 2; support for Children’s Option 1; support for 

Community Hospitals Inpatients Option 1; support for Emergency and Acute Option 1; support 

for Hyper-Acute Stroke Option 2; and support for the proposals described for Emergency 

Surgery, Trauma and Orthopaedics. 

Success Regime Transport Enabling and Advisory Group – A submission was made by the 

Success Regime Transport Enabling and Advisory Group. The submission notes issues raised by 

lay members of the group and responses from the Group Chair and other NHS group members. 

Issues mentioned include: that the no decisions should be made on other services until the 

shape and scope of the Integrated Care Communities has been defined and detailed; concern 

that the consultation has unduly focused on impact in the west of the county; that concern 

exists regarding the deliverability and affordability of the proposals.  

The Strategic Clinical Network of Paediatrics for the North East and Cumbria – A 

submission was received from the Strategic Clinical network for Paediatrics for the North East 

and Cumbria. The submission gives views on the proposals. Views on proposals relate to 

maternity and paediatric proposals. Regarding maternity services the need is emphasised for a 

433



 

dedicated ambulance service for transfers to avoid inevitable competition between hospital 

transfer and 999 calls. The importance of prompt transfer is highlighted. There is support for 

Children’s Option 1with a further suggestion regarding recruitment.  

University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust – A submission was received 

from University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust. The submission includes 

views on the proposals. Views on the proposals include: support in broad terms with the 

preferred options set out; support for Maternity Option 2;  support for Children’s Option 1; 

support for Community Hospitals Inpatients Option 1; support for Emergency and Acute Option 

1; support for Hyper-Acute Stroke Option 2; support for emergency surgery, trauma and 

orthopaedic services recommendations; and that it is important that the ongoing developments 

across North Cumbria and those undertaken by Bay Health and Care Partners continue to be 

taken forward in a way that is aligned and mutually supportive. 

4.5 Elected Representatives 

Councillor Peter Frost-Pennington, Muncaster Parish Council – A submission was received 

from Councillor Peter Frost-Pennington, Muncaster Parish Council. The submission includes 

views on the proposals including: that they diminish rather than enhance health care provision 

for people living in West Cumbria; that proposals will increase inequality of services and 

inequality of access to services to the local populace in West Cumbria; the importance of 

getting to maternity cases quickly and to those patients who are acutely ill; and concern 

regarding proposals to consolidate community bed provisions into fewer sites.  

Councillor Bill Finlay, Councillor Allerdale Borough Council – A submission was received 

from Councillor Bill Finlay, chair of Aspatria Rural Partnership. The submission includes views on 

the consultation and views on the proposals. Appended to the submission was a letter to 

Cumberland News and Times and Star. Views on the proposals include: lack of rationale for not 

conducting a root and branch restructuring; a need for Cumbria County Council to have been 

on the Success Regime partnership at the planning stage; and criticism of the health inequalities 

data used to compare West, North and East Cumbria with national data. Comments on specific 

proposals include: Maternity Option 2 and Children’s Option 1 the least worst options assuming 

NHS budgets cannot be enhanced; questioning of the rationale for the proposed changes to 

community hospital inpatient beds; lack of assessment of the costs and benefits of retaining 

and enhancing Wigton and Maryport hospitals prior to developing preferred option suggests 

predetermined non-viability of Maryport and Wigton community hospitals; an alternative option 

proposed to enhance facilities at Wigton and Maryport; Emergency and Acute Option 1 the 

least worst option; that sustainable delivery Hyper-Acute Stroke Option 2 depends on an 

enhanced capacity for paramedic transfers to Carlisle; and that, as no options are provided for 

emergency surgery, trauma and orthopaedic services, there is nothing being consulted on. 

Councillor Christopher J Reay, Copeland Borough Council 

434



 

A submission was received from Cllr Christopher J Reay, a Copeland Borough Councillor 

representing Mirehouse Ward. The submission includes views on the consultation. The views on 

the consultation include: that the consultation document and response are too long winded 

and the vast majority of the population do not have the time to deal with such a booklet; that 

the replies to the consultation will only represent a small percentage of the total population and 

not be able to show whether people support or oppose the plans; and that there may be a lack 

of ambition on the part of hospitals in attracting consultants. 

Councillor Colin Glover, Leader and Councillor Lee Sheriff, Communities, Health and 

Wellbeing Portfolio Holder, Carlisle City Council – A submission was received from the 

Leader of Carlisle City Council and the Communities, Health and Wellbeing Portfolio Holder. 

The submission includes views on the proposals and on the consultation. Views on the 

proposals include: that the current range of options do not represent safe and practical 

solutions that will sustainably improve quality of care and treatment; that the national picture 

for health and social care is a serious constraint on delivering a long term, sustainable solution 

to accessible, high quality health care and treatment; that preferred options are constrained by 

national ideology and a rigid determination to impose formula and regulations across all 

communities, irrespective of the local challenges for achieving good health; that the preferred 

options will disproportionately disadvantage those in greatest need, creating greater health 

inequalities, poorer community cohesion and lower economic productivity; concern about the 

impact of proposals on already strained resources, facilities and surrounding infrastructure at 

Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle; that local people feel the consultation approach has not 

engaged various important communities served by the NHS in Cumbria; that financial 

challenges facing the NHS in Cumbria are stark; that the issue of recruiting key staff is 

particularly stark in West Cumbria and it would appear that the proposals may well exacerbate 

this position; and that the proposals may lead towards a potential net migration from the 

County. Views on the consultation include: that whilst significant effort and expense have been 

targeted at the consultation there is concern that local people believe that this approach has 

not properly engaged the various important communities served by the NHS in Cumbria; and 

that it is not clear how the consultation relates to the West, North and East Cumbria 

Sustainability and Transformation Plan 2016-21. 

Councillor Rebecca Hanson, Cockermouth Town Council – Three submissions were received 

from Cllr Rebecca Hanson. A report investigating whether there is evidence that journey times 

to consultant-led care of over 45 minutes are safe was received. This submission’s conclusions 

include: that closure of the obstetric unit in Whitehaven is highly likely to be associated with 

increased perinatal and maternal risk due to transfer times; that expert assessments into level of 

risk could have but have not been carried out; that the fears of local people regarding the 

consultation have not been challenged by credible data and that no such reassuring information 

exists; and that local expert consultants are speaking out unanimously against Maternity 

435



 

Options 2 and 3. In light of the evidence put forward it is proposed that the consultation on 

obstetrics and paediatric services is suspended until there is an expert risk analysis of the impact 

of transfers from Whitehaven to Carlisle and the overall financial and birth outcome benefits 

can be demonstrated taking into account this analysis.  

An additional report was received, on the implications of closing obstetric care in Whitehaven 

on birth outcomes. This submission draws on evidence from various studies conducted 

elsewhere, and provides specific calculated estimates of the likely impact in the event of the 

closure of obstetric care in Whitehaven. Its conclusions include the prediction of extra neonatal 

deaths; additional cases of babies needing special care baby unit or intensive care; additional 

babies born out of hospital by accident; and increased incidences of births to mothers subject to 

serious stress attributed to lack of nearby obstetric support. Its recommendations include: that 

the consultation on obstetric, paediatric and emergency services is suspended until a quantified 

risk assessment and financial study recognising identified risks has been carried out; and that 

the Care Quality Commission review and change its behaviour towards providing hospital 

services in Cumbria. 

An additional statement was received, regarding the role of the Care Quality Commission in the 

proposed closure of paediatric and obstetric services in Whitehaven. The submission states that 

Cllr Hanson has been advised the CQC had imposed an ultimatum on Cumbrian healthcare 

administrators regarding paediatric staffing, leading to a consultation on closure of consultant-

led paediatric, and therefore obstetric, care in Whitehaven. The submission calls for the CQC to 

clearly state that closing emergency care in Whitehaven, including paediatric and obstetric care, 

is not its recommended way forward, unless it demonstrates through robust risk assessments 

that this will improve patient outcomes. 

Councillor Judith Derbyshire, Councillor Eden District Council – A submission was received 

from Judith Derbyshire. The submission includes views on the proposals. Views on the proposals 

include: that there should be no reduction in community hospital beds until the Integrated Care 

Communities have been well established; agreement with most points in the submission form 

the CPFT Governers’ response; agreement with most points in the submission from Midwives 

from West Cumbria regarding Maternity proposals; and agreement with the submission to the 

consultation from Eden Liberal Democrat Councillors.  

Eden District Council Liberal Democrat Group – A submission was received from the Liberal 

Democrat Group at Eden District Council, signed by 8 councillors. The submission includes views 

on the proposals. Views on the proposals include: that the consultation does not realise all the 

potential of the Pre-Consultation Business Case; that the rigidity of the passing/failing the 

‘Hurdle criteria’ does not allow a nuanced solution that will reflect the needs of the 

communities; concerns regarding community hospitals including over the impact of removal of 

in-patient beds from Alston Hospital on Alston Moor; welcoming of the introduction of the 

436



 

Integrated Care Communities but concern that social care provision may not be ready or 

adequately funded to pick up the care which they will need to deliver; that an increase in 

funding from Central government is essential to enable both social care and the NHS to make 

sustainable changes; that there is an inexplicable omission in not including specific 

recommendations for mental health; that there is a major concern, risk and expense in terms of 

transport and that Eden District has very poor public transport; that they are unconvinced that 

the RCOG report on maternity services was followed in the proposals; and that staffing 

problems are exacerbated by the culture of locums and there should be national consideration 

given to de-incentivising this employment status.  

Jamie Reed, Member of Parliament for Copeland – A submission was received from Jamie 

Reed MP. The submission was formed following hundreds of communications from constituents 

and attendance at a number of meetings and conferences on the issue – including a public 

meeting hosted in Whitehaven. The submission gives views on the proposals and the 

consultation.  Views on the proposals include: that there has not been any supportive 

comments of the Success Regime proposals made throughout engagement with constituents; 

rejection of the options proposed by the Success Regime regarding maternity services; support 

for 24 hour consultant-led paediatric services including inpatient beds being retained at the 

West Cumberland Hospital; opposition to proposals to remove community hospital beds; 

support for retention of consultant-led 24 hour A&E at the West Cumberland Hospital; rejection 

of the preferred option for stroke services; and rejection of the preferred option for emergency 

surgery, trauma and orthopaedic services. The submission also criticises the Success Regime as 

an expensive wasted opportunity due to the lack of support and resource from Government, 

and lack of consideration of the consequences of the proposals for communities in West 

Cumbria.  

John Stevenson MP, Member of Parliament for Carlisle – A submission was received from 

John Stephenson MP, Member of Parliament for Carlisle. The submission gives views on the 

proposals. The views on the proposal relate to a recognition of significant problems within the 

local healthcare economy and the need for a radical solution. There is recognition that the 

solutions put forward may not be perfect. The MP would be supportive of those solutions 

where the system adopted has clear leadership, clear accountability and is able to deliver an 

organisation that will deliver a health service fit for Cumbria. 

Lord Liddle, Councillor Cumbria County Council – A submission was received from Lord 

Liddle, a Cumbria County Councillor for Wigton. The submission gives views on the proposals 

and proposes alternative options. The views on the proposals relate to the removal of beds from 

Wigton Hospital. There are a number of points put forward to contest the decision, including 

the previously cited lack of low intensity beds to deal with acute admissions; the inadequacy of 

re-ablement services; and the premature removal of facilities prior to the development of a local 

437



 

integrated care community. The reasons for immediate closure are questioned and it is 

suggested that partnership with the University of Cumbria may provide some solution to the 

identified staffing issues.  

Peter McCall, Police and Crime Commissioner for Cumbria – A submission was received 

from Peter McCall, Police and Crime Commissioner for Cumbria. The submission includes views 

on the proposals. Views on the proposals include: recognition of financial and recruiting 

challenges; the need for all emergency services to work collaboratively to find a way forward for 

health in west Cumbria; concerns regarding the logistics and the safety of roads used for the 

robust and dedicated transfer service described; and the impact of, in urgent cases, the police 

being called upon for support. 

Rory Stewart MP, Member of Parliament for Penrith and The Border – A submission was 

received from Rory Stewart MP.  The submission includes views on the proposals relating to the 

future of community hospitals. The views of the proposals include: that community hospitals 

should continue to fulfil a key function in rural healthcare delivery in Cumbria; the in-patient 

beds should not be reduced; that the role of community hospitals should be significantly 

enhanced in order to address many of the issues of sparsity and rurality that the Success Regime 

approach seeks to solve; that Alston and Wigton pose particular problems of accessibility for a 

number of patients, are at capacity and are demonstrably effective at reducing the burden on 

the Acute Trust; support for proposals put together by CPFT/League of Friends; and support for 

the need for the North Cumbria University Hospital NHS Trust and Cumbria’s community 

hospitals to work more closely with the Royal Freeman Hospital in Newcastle.  

Sue Hayman MP, Member of Parliament Workington – A submission was received from Sue 

Hayman. The submission includes views on the proposals. Views on the proposal include: 

support for maternity services Option 1; disappointment that the status quo for children’s 

services is not offered as an option; disappointment that the status quo for community hospitals 

is not offered as an option; support for Emergency and Acute Option 1; support for Hyper-

Acute Stroke Option 1; that through additional recruitment of specialist staff, the Trust should 

ensure that as much surgery can be carried out at the West Cumberland Hospital as possible; 

that all minor surgery should be returned to the West Cumberland Hospital as soon as possible; 

that the focus on staff recruitment is welcome but must be an ongoing process; support for the 

concept of Integrated Care Communities; and that whatever decisions the Success Regime 

makes must be accompanies by a proper plan on how services will be managed going forward.  

 

4.6 Health and Patient Representation Groups 

Alston Moor Hospital Campaign – A submission was received from Alston Moor Hospital 

Campaign. The submission includes views on the consultation, these include: that the 

438



 

consultation fails the statutory duty under section 13Q of the National Health Service Act 2006 

(as amended by the Health and Social Care Act 2012), to involve the public in commissioning 

services for NHS patients; that the current public consultation document, as it relates to the 

provision of in-patient beds appears to provide both inadequate information and potentially 

misleading statements and as such can be demonstrated to have failed this fairness test; that 

there is an implication in the consultation document that the decision to remove inpatient beds 

from the Ruth Lancaster James Cottage Hospital has already been made; that other health care 

regions have lower numbers of community hospital inpatient beds than 16 and do not regard 

this practice as unsafe; that there is a lack of information about Integrated Care Communities; 

that there was a lack of sufficient clarity about the proposals at the public meeting in Alston; 

that the consultation document implies a decision on the minimum size of a Community 

Hospital In-patient Bed unit has been taken; and that by discounting the continuance of in-

patient beds at the hospital, the impression is given of being closed to proposals that fail to 

meet the 16 bed standard. 

Carlisle Carers Mental Health Group – A submission was received from Carlisle Carers Mental 

Health Group, this included 15 signatures from members of the group. The submission gives 

views on the proposals. The views on the proposals include concerns regarding: that the paper 

does not include details of plans for mental health developments; that there is a lack of details 

on the part to play of Integrated Care Communities in the delivery of outpatient mental health 

services; the quality of involvement at all stages; awareness of the wide range of carer needs; 

issues regarding information sharing; crisis support; the need to reduce stigma; half-way house 

housing provision; and the loss of beds and community care needs.   

Copeland Patient Participation Group – A submission was received from the Copeland Patient 

Participation Group. The submission includes views on the proposals. These include: support for 

maternity services Option 1; that maternity Option 2 is unacceptable and would disadvantage 

people living in west Cumbria; rejection of children services options; rejection of community 

hospitals inpatient beds options; support for Emergency and Acute Care Option 1; support for 

Hyper Acute Stroke Services Option 1; that regarding emergency surgery, trauma and 

orthopaedic services moving patients and families across Cumbria using the most dangerous 

road in the County will result in more deaths on the roads and an overall increase in the death 

rate; that many of the preferred options will remove or reduce medical services to these 

communities which are most at need with the shortest life expectancy; and that innovation is 

lacking throughout the proposals with the exception of the A&E proposals at West Cumberland 

Hospital. 

Friends of Brampton Community Hospital – A submission was received from the Friends of 

Brampton Community Hospital. The submission gives views on proposals, proposes alternatives 

and provides details of local support for the hospital. The views on the proposals include:  

439



 

rejection of the closure of the in-patient beds which are seen as cost effective in a system where 

prompt discharge to social care is absent.  The proposed alternatives view the consultation as an 

opportunity to establish additional services at the community hospital, reducing the strain on 

the Cumberland Infirmary and ‘bed-blocking’ in particular. Services that have been put forward 

as ‘suggested by the Brampton Medical Practice’ have their full support. Local support for the 

hospital includes 2500 local people signing a paper petition, 769 likes at 13000 cumulative visits 

to their Facebook page, and 233 people attending a pre-consultation meeting. 

Friends of Mary Hewetson Hospital Keswick – A submission was received from the Friends of 

Mary Hewetson Hospital Keswick. The submission gives views on proposals and proposes 

alternatives. The views on the proposals includes being heartened by Community Hospitals 

Option 1 and its recommendations for In-patient beds in Keswick. There is a commitment to 

fundraise and support the increase from 12 to 16 in-patient beds.  

Healthwatch Cumbria – A submission was received from Healthwatch. The submission was 

formed following engagement of over 14,000 people through a wide variety of engagement 

activities. Their submission is drawn up from responses from multiple sources and does not state 

preferences. Views on the proposals and consultation include: strong views being expressed for 

the full suite of consultant led services for maternity and paediatrics; people being very worried, 

concerned and angry, especially in West Cumbria, about the possible changes to services as this 

may result in key services being further aware from where they live; people feeling very strongly 

that all community hospitals should have beds; concerns about the process and analysis of the 

consultation and its relationship with the emerging Sustainability and Transformation Plan (STP); 

and concern over lack of awareness of the consultation. 

Joint League of Friends of Cumbria Community Hospitals – A submission was received from 

the Joint League of Cumbria Hospitals. The submission includes a range of views on the 

consultation document including regarding financial analysis, recruitment, integrated 

community care, and geography/topography. Views include: that the format and execution of 

the consultation exercise is flawed to the extent that it could be challenged in court; that it 

disregards many local factors that make the practices of other NHS areas unsuitable for this 

county; and that it has been produced by temporary visitors to the county. 

Penrith & Eden Community Hospital Leagues of Friends – A submission was received from 

the Penrith & Eden Community Hospital Leagues of Friends. The submission gives views on the 

proposals and proposes alternatives. The views on the proposals includes an acceptance in 

principle of the number of inpatient beds but that the removal of any beds should be linked to 

the effective operation of a local integrated care communities. Alternatives and additional 

services that should be part of the thinking around Penrith include: extension of the role of the 

intravenous teams role to administer Dialysis and possibly Chemotherapy; re-establishment of 

24 hour Blood Pressure monitoring; pre-op assessments to be carried out; increasing the volume 

440



 

of Elderly Care Clinics; greater use of the Eye Clinic and its assets; increased provision of 

respiratory clinics; establish a bone density clinic; equip Penrith for minor ops similar to Keswick; 

establish an audiology clinic; extend CDU to 7 days a week; and the use of Lonsdale Unit for 

community services. There is a recognition of cost implications and a commitment to 

fundraising support.  

Seascale and Bootle Patient Group – A submission was received from Seascale and Bootle 

Patient Group. The submission includes examples from patients registered with Seascale Health 

Centre of how patience feel they will be affected by the proposal and views on the proposals. 

Views on the proposals include: that the large majority of their patients already live more than 

20 miles from West Cumberland Hospital and at busy times a usual 30-40 minute journey can 

take over an hour and that extra travel to Carlisle will have a significant impact; concerns 

regarding the safety of additional travel to Carlisle; concern extra journeys will cause accidents 

on the roads; and request to offset the changes by providing investment in local primary care 

services to prevent strokes, educate patients and equip practice staff with training and 

technology to detect and improve the ongoing management of patients at risk of heart attack, 

stroke or respiratory conditions.   

The Fellview Healthcare Patient Panel Group – A submission was received from The Fellview 

Healthcare Patient Panel Group. The submission gives views on the proposals, the consultation 

process and proposes alternatives. An additional submission received includes additional data 

and other sources of information on how to improve transport systems for West, North and 

East Cumbria. The views on the proposals include: support for Maternity Option 1 and support 

for Children’s Option 1 (although the latter is contradicted in the additional submission, on the 

basis that the proposed dedicated ambulance service will make the ambulance service worse); 

opposition to Community Hospital Inpatients Option 4, and unable to support Community 

Hospitals Inpatients Options 1-3 until the necessary Integrated Care Communities are in place; 

support for Emergency and Acute Option 1; support for Hyper-Acute Stroke Option 1; and 

general support for the proposals outlined on page 41 of the consultation document about 

emergency surgery, trauma and orthopaedic services. Views also include: specific concerns 

relating to the adequacy of Emergency Transport Services – the basis of that concern is set out 

in detail in an analysis of the current and likely scenario; rejection of the preferred option for 

maternity and children services due to concerns about transport in the additional submission; 

and that the group are encouraged by some of the proposals but need further assurances on 

others.  Views on the consultation include: doubts as to whether the public response will carry 

any material influence; a challenge for the Success Regime to demonstrate it has really engaged 

by ensuring its final proposals reflect public opinion; a request for further information on 

quoted savings to provide reassurance, and question marks over the demographic assumptions 

that are used to make the case. The proposed alternatives include a new Health Budget that is 

based on the twin factors of rurality and equitability. This outlines an additional amount of 

441



 

funding to equalise the healthcare outcomes between rural areas (such as Cumbria) and urban 

areas. There is a request to revisit elements of the proposals to provide more innovative 

solutions such as, for example, supervised Physician Associates and Clinical Practitioners.  

West Cumbrians’ Voice for Healthcare – A range of submissions were received from the West 

Cumbrians’ Voice for Healthcare including: a letter citing a lack of, and including an example of, 

travel time and distance impact analysis; a research report; a handout; an extended response to 

the consultation questionnaire; notes of a meeting; and a collection of pre-consultation 

correspondence. These include views on the proposals, views on the consultation and 

alternative proposals. The views on the proposals include: a rejection of all of the options and 

proposals in the service areas; a belief that safe care can only be delivered by a consultant-led 

maternity service in Whitehaven; that Children’s Services should be retained in Whitehaven due 

to hardships removal would visit on families of sick children; that the removal of emergency and 

acute care capability will impact on treatment timescales and costs; and that centralisation of 

emergency surgery, trauma, and orthopaedics may have a negative impact on patients with 

long term conditions such as diabetes due to cancellations. Views on the consultation include: 

disappointment in the deficiencies of the consultation Travel Impact Analysis; that both the level 

of detail and the format of communications are inappropriate and are contrary to both the 

consultation principles and guidance from the NHS; and concern over the timescales of the 

consultation particularly given the perceived dominance of the maternity question and its 

potential to detract from other significant changes; and that the NHS and other health systems 

need to consider they deal with populations with different needs to the majority of their 

members, such as Cumbria’s isolated communities. The alternatives put forward include: leaving 

consultant-led maternity at Whitehaven whilst considering wider local developments, amend 

Option One for Children’s Services maintaining inpatient beds in both Whitehaven and Carlisle; 

adopt a model for community services inpatient beds put forward by Dr Barrie Walker; adopt 

‘drip and ship’ system for Hyper-Acute Stroke patients; that West Cumberland Hospital should 

deliver 24 hour emergency care with all but major injuries supported locally with consultant led 

care from 8am-8pm; and how to overcome problems left by a consultant-led service at 

Whitehaven with regard to issues including recruitment. 

Wigton Hospital League of Friends – A submission was received from Wigton Hospital League 

of Friends. The proposal includes two parts: a report titled “Sustaining Health and Care Services 

in Solway” and individual comments from different members of the public. The report includes 

views on the proposals and alternative proposals. Views on the proposals include opposition to 

the removal of the 19 inpatient beds in the community hospital. Alternative proposals are for a 

fully integrated exemplar of health and care provision in a rural setting based around the triple 

aim of better care, better health and long term sustainability. There are three components of 

this proposal: a new model of place based integrated health and care provision, a high level 

business case, and options for the delivery platform. Individual comments include a number of 

442



 

arguments for retaining beds at Wigton Hospital, including: the need for local beds in the area, 

that closure will lead to more bed blocking at Carlisle, that transport links are very poor which 

provides difficulties for relatives to visit, and that Wigton Hospital is an important half way 

house for people returning home after a stint in the city hospital. 

4.7 Community and other Local Groups 

Age UK West Cumbria – A submission was received from AGE UK West Cumbria. The 

submission states that Age UK West Cumbria contributed to and fully supports the Third Sector 

Network response to the Future of Healthcare in West, North and East Cumbria and contributed 

to West Cumbria Voice and Copeland and Allerdale Councils responses. This submission 

includes views on the proposals, views on the evidence for the proposals and views on the 

consultation. The comments include: that there is no mention of pensions and the attendance 

allowance; disappointment that a more joined up approach to acute heath financial issues is not 

being progressed with much vigour; that housing is not more actively involved as this is a key 

reason why older people in west Cumbria become ill and are unable to return home or have 

appropriate adaptions; an assumption that there should be more provision of day surgery but 

this may not be realistic or appropriate for many older people; that the preferred option for 

community hospitals would leave a large rural area on the Solway Plain particularly vulnerable 

with the proposed closure of beds at the Wigton and Maryport community hospitals; and 

disappointment at the absence of representatives from Social Care at consultation meetings; 

and that the Partnership Trust breaking even is achieved through poor delivery around mental 

health and long term dementia. 

Alston Community Partnership – A submission was received from the Alston Community 

Partnership. The authors of the submission are from Alston GP Surgery, Alston League of 

Friends, Alston Parish Council, Eden District Council and CPFT.  The submission rejects the 

proposals and sets out an alternative model. This model has three components, firstly a new 

place based model of health and care provision for Alston. This includes one fully integrated 

health and care team – this integration builds in greater flexibility in dealing with issues across 

the spectrum of need. An integrated bed base to support it – this bed base will be located in 

one place acting as an enabler for one team with a common purpose, within this option there 

are a mixture of bed types as well as a base for other services (a hub).  A radical increase in the 

use of digital technology including the adoption of tele-healthcare including testing and acute 

care administered by GPs with a support team to avoid admissions.  The proposal recognises 

that merging services would address some of the running costs and offset any capital costs 

needed to realise the model. The second component is a business case discussing how budgets 

can be pooled to create a more sustainable workforce across sectors. The third component is 

the exploration of delivery options to include local communities, this may be facilitated by a 

new vehicle – e.g. a community interest company.  

443



 

Churches Together on Alston moor – A submission was received from Churches Together on 

Alston Moor. The submission from clergy responsible for Alton Moor gives views on the 

proposals regarding beds at Alston Hospital and suggests alternatives. Views on the proposal 

include: that the proposal does not take account of the particular geographic circumstances of 

the area nor the nature of the hospital itself; is flawed in a number of respects; does not take 

proper account of the particular geographical circumstances of the area, nor the hospital itself; 

that the plans are likely to be seriously detrimental to the wellbeing of the people in their care 

and will not achieve their intended objectives. Alternatives proposed include expanding 

provision and using it more imaginatively. An appendix was received of a letter from the 

Cumbria Constabulary regarding travel times. 

Copeland Citizens Advice – A submission was received from Copeland Citizens Advice. The 

submission includes views on the community aspects of the proposals and views on the 

consultation. Views on the community aspect of the proposals include: a request that where 

possible consultant-led specialist services should be retained at West Cumberland Hospital; that 

sufficient recognition is given to ease difficulties which arise when Copeland patients and 

families are required to travel to Carlisle; that mitigation of additional burdens are mitigated 

through enhancing the Patient Transport Service, provision of a shuttle bus, and subsidy of the 

cost of transport for patients and visitors; and concerns regarding the physical capacity of the 

Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle to cope with an increase number of patients and staffing levels at 

Carlisle. Views on the consultation include that there has been only intermittent and irregular 

notice of meetings and events, that there is an understanding that there would be an 

opportunity for further submissions regarding mitigation measures at a later stage, and that full 

risk assessments of the proposals will be made to the public. 

Copeland Conservatives – A submission was received from the Copeland Conservatives. This 

submission raises a number of concerns with the Success Regime consultation and makes 

comments on the proposals. Maternity Option 1 is supported with fears expressed regarding 

safety for Option 2; support is set out for paediatric care at West Cumberland Hospital with the 

view that Option 1 for children’s services may not be enough and Options 2 and 3 certainly are 

not; Community Hospitals Option 1 is supported, Emergency and Acute Care Option 2 is 

supported; Hyper-Acute Stroke Option 2 is supported; and the proposal to bring emergency 

surgery, trauma and orthopaedic services to West Cumberland Hospital is welcomed. 

Cumbria Rural Forum - A submission was received from Cumbria Rural Forum. The submission 

includes general comments and views on the proposals. Views on the proposals include: that 

reduction in maternity services seems to lead inevitably to a reduction in the acute services 

available at the site; that there is a likelihood of poorer outcomes for babies and mothers from 

transferral due to complication in the proposals; children’s services will risk children health due 

to transport delays and have longer term implications and costs for health services; that the 

444



 

Integrated Care Communities should be up and running before changes made to Community 

Hospital beds; that the Emergency and Acute Care option is an example of an urban model not 

translating well in a rural situation; that the proposed option for strokes is welcomed on the 

whole; that proposals for Emergency Surgery and Trauma services will lead to poorer outcomes 

due to travel from and transfer; and that a Trauma Centre is needed on the west coast. 

Cumbria Third Sector Network – A submission was received from Cumbria Third Sector 

Network that comprises 17 specialist networks. It states that the submission is based on 

information gathered during network events and other engagement with the Success Regime 

process. The submission includes views on the proposals and the consultation. Views on the 

proposals include: that many of the options proposed would have the greatest impact on those 

already disadvantaged; that proposals to provide care “closer to home” are reliant on a social 

care system under significant strain; concerns with all Maternity options but preference for 

Option 1; concerns for all children’s services options but preference for Option 1; all community 

hospital inpatient beds proposals are not acceptable; support for Emergency and Acute Care 

Care Option 1; acceptance of clinical advantages of specialised hyper-acute stroke model; 

concerns with Hyper-Acute Stroke Option 2 will disadvantage patients who live south of West 

Cumberland Hospital; and support for the proposal to allow additional surgery and trauma to 

take place at West Cumberland with only more complex surgery being consolidated at Carlisle. 

Views on the consultation include that the Success Regime staff and local health system leaders 

although committed to finding solutions that work for the people of Cumbria, are too 

constrained by national regulations and structures to have the freedom to do this effectively 

and that these restraints are partly financial but also ideological and regulator. 

Cumbria Youth Alliance – A submission was received from the Cumbria Youth Alliance. The 

submission gives priorities for young people’s health based on a qualitative and quantitative 

exercise to establish young people’s current health care experience and future health care 

vision. Using ‘Sam’s House’ methodology the research and engagement exercise established 

‘Fair access to safe, sustainable, and high quality services and support to achieve a health 

future. Joined up services that are close to home and delivered in partnership with children, 

their families and other agencies’ as the goal. Supporting that goal are a number of pillars 

based on what children and families have said they want (for example ‘Waiting areas, treatment 

rooms and wards that are child and family friendly and where we feel comfortable’. These are 

in turn supported by a set of foundations that need to be in place such as ‘Universal services for 

all children and families’. The exercise is supported by primary evidence from surveys and focus 

groups.  

Cumbrian Societies for the Blind 

A submission was received from Cumbria Societies for the Blind, a consortium of local sight loss 

charities representing people with sight loss and visual impairment across Cumbria. The 

445



 

submission states a number of concerns relating to transport in the proposals. These include: 

that proposals refer to average travel times between sites but do not state the transport method 

used and the majority of people with sight loss and other disabilities will use public transport or 

voluntary transport which has longer travel times; and the proposals does not indicate or 

reference any improvement or expansion to be made to the Patient Transport Service or 

commissioning of additional provision. 

Maryport ‘Alliance’ – A submission has been received from the Maryport ‘Alliance’ made up of 

local community groups and local practices. The submission provides detailed alternatives to the 

proposals. The submission specifically addresses the Community Hospital proposals and reflects 

an exercise facilitated by the Success Regime. There is a rejection of the existing proposals in the 

consultation document as they relate to Maryport Hospital, two alternative options have been 

developed and put forward with detailed supporting evidence. The first alternative is Option 1 

(Maryport Alliance) proposes a smaller 8 bed unit running 24/7 focussing on short stay 

rehabilitation and re-ablement. The second alternative is Option 2 that proposes a 7 days a 

week Hospital with no overnight stays.  

Penrith and Border Young Labour – A submission was received from Penrith and Border 

Young Labour. The submission includes views on the proposals. Views on the proposals include: 

deep concerns and anger with the proposals; concern about hospital beds being lost; concern 

about the impact on the most vulnerable, the elderly and the local community; concern for 

West Cumbria not having consultant-led maternity care; and the view that the current financial 

situation is due to Private Finance Initiative contracts in Carlisle. 

Solway Community Partnership – A submission was received from the Solway Community 

Partnership.  The submission includes rejection of the proposals put forward and a detailed 

alternative proposal. The alternative put forward is built on three propositions: Better Health, 

Sustainable in the long term, and Better Care. The first includes: a bed base in Wigton to act as 

a hub for community health and social care services to allow clinicians to escalate and 

deescalate within the community; a different set of assets including the potential for a new 

facility on the existing site; 16 step up/step down beds, 40 residential care beds plus a base hub 

for a number of additional services; a maximisation of the use of digital health care tools; 

greater flexibility in working practice; and digital technology embedded to create the scope to 

use digital tools to create efficiency in provision.  The second component is a business case 

identifying how budgets may be pooled to create a more sustainable workforce across sectors 

and address infrastructure needs. The third component is the delivery of the model which sets 

out five potential options for the delivery vehicle including a new vehicle including a community 

interest company.   

West Cumbria Liberal Democrats – A submission was received from the West Cumbria Liberal 

Democrats. The submission includes views on the proposals, including: that all maternity 

446



 

options are not acceptable; that all children services options are not acceptable; that all 

inpatient beds in community hospitals options are not acceptable; that all emergency and acute 

care options are not acceptable; that hyper-acute stroke services options are not acceptable; 

that it is essential that emergency surgery is provided at West Cumberland Hospital due to the 

distances involved; that the absence of statements that acknowledge reality creates a narrative 

that appears disingenuous and does not encourage constructive discussion; and that the 

consultation is fatally flawed, misses context such as risk assessment of the expected impact of 

changes, the financial aspects and the relation to other services. 

 

4.8 Local Authorities 

Allerdale Borough Council – A submission was received from Allerdale Borough Council. The 

submission includes the council’s priorities, views on the consultation and views on the 

proposals. The council’s priorities include improving health and wellbeing, tackling inequality 

and strengthening our economy. Views on the proposals include concern for the long term 

effect the changes will have on communities due to demographic trends and levels of 

deprivation; concerns about journey times and public travel difficulties for those from West 

Cumbia who are transferred to the Cumberland Infirmary; concerns the proposed savings are a 

transfer of actual costs to social care providers; concerns that the removal of services due to 

recruitment issues will create a vicious cycle in terms of reliance on locums and lack of 

consistency of a quality service; and that the proposals threaten the well-being of the 

communities represented, will damage the social, economic and environmental sustainability of 

West Cumbria and are in direct confict with and undermine the policy and strategy of the 

Council.  

Allhallows Parish Council – A submission was received from Allhallows Parish Council. The 

submission includes four points regarding the proposals and consultation: opposition to the 

removal of any beds from Wigton (or Maryport) Cottage Hospital as this will add to the 

hardship that people suffer in visiting loved ones and friends in hospital as they must travel 

further; opposition to the removal of the Consultant Maternity facility at West Cumberland 

Hospital as this will increase the distance expectant women must travel; opposition to the 

removal of the Consultant Maternity facility at West Cumberland Hospital as this will increase 

the distance expectant women must travel; that in the proposals there appears to be little or no 

consideration for the geography of the area and the distances which people will be expected to 

travel and that public transport is very poor; and that during a presentation it was obvious that 

the proposals had not been costed or fully researched before they were put forward for 

consideration by the public.  

Alston Moor Parish Council – Two submissions were received from Alston Moor Parish 

Council. One submission gives views on the proposals and endorses objections made by Penrith 

447



 

Town Council. An additional submission shares the results of a ballot. Views on the proposals 

include: that action should be taken now to halt the process to stem the fears people have 

about the risk to health and wellbeing should services be lost; objection to the omission to 

include an option to retain the in-patient beds in Alston Cottage Hospital; that the consultation 

process is flawed; that community hospitals were set up to ease the pressure on the city 

hospitals; that there is no mention in the document of improving the ambulance service to take 

into account the additional journeys required and the stresses on family and friends of having to 

travel long distances to visit their loved ones; and that rural depopulation is an issue and 

facilities such as the hospital help give pride to the community. The second submission includes 

the results of a ballot conducted on the 15th December 2016 on proposals regarding in-patient 

beds. Overall t998 people, 859 on the Alston Moor registers and 139 others voted. The result 

was 100% in favour of keeping in-patient beds (996+2 spoilt papers).  

Aspatria Town Council – A submission was received from Aspatria Town Council. The 

submission gives views on the proposals. Views on the proposals include strong opposition to 

the removal of beds at Wigton and Maryport, and that Cockermouth Hospital will be the only 

alternative and is not served currently by a bus route from Aspatria.  

Beckermet with Thornhill Parish Council – A submission was received from Beckermet with 

Thornhill Parish Council. The submission was a joint response to the consultation questionnaire. 

The question response includes: selection of Maternity Option 1; selection of Community 

Hospitals Inpatients Option 1 as the first ranked option; selection of Emergency and Acute 

Option 1; selection of Hyper-Acute Stroke Option 1 as the first ranked option with Option 2 

ranked second with the comment that consolidation of Stroke Aftercare at one of the two sites 

would be acceptable; and views that if there is need for consolidation of the trauma service at 

one hospital there are benefits of this been in Whitehaven rather than Carlisle.  

Bewcastle Parish Council – A submission was received from Bewcastle. The submission 

includes views on the proposals, including: concern about the closure of beds at Brampton 

Cottage Hospital; that when considering ‘Care in the Community’ the remoteness of the area 

means that time allocated to the visits of Nurses and Carers must include this factor; that it can 

take up to two hours for an ambulance to reach the parish and drivers can become lot in our 

small lanes; and that the Parish Council is very impressed with re-ablement work that the Carers 

are doing with patients in the community. 

Blennerhasset and Torpenhow Parish Council – A submission was received from 

Blennerhasset and Torpenhow Parish Council. The submission gives views on the proposals. 

These include: opposition to the options put forward for community hospitals; that there is a 

need at Wigton Hospital for the beds to remain for pre-convalescence and respite care; that the 

closure of beds at Wigton Hospital will lead to bed blocking at Cumberland Infirmary; that with 

no hospital in Wigton the nearest option is Cockermouth, Brampton or Penrith and patients 

448



 

would be away from their families; and that Wigton Hospital is a vital facility for the 

community. 

Copeland Borough Council – A submission with an addendum was received from Copeland 

Borough Council. The submission gives views on the proposals, comments on the consultation 

and proposes alternatives. Views on the proposals include: that none of the options are 

accepted on maternity; rejection of all options on children’s services; rejection of all options on 

community hospital inpatient beds; that Option 1 is favoured on emergency and acute care 

with retention of A&E at West Cumberland Hospital; that on hyper-acute stroke services no 

view is given as it is felt the decision has been made on this; that the proposal for additional 

emergency surgery and trauma to take place in West Cumberland Hospital is supported in 

relation to Emergency Surgery, Trauma and Orthopaedic Services; and that the need to change 

the Strategy and Vision is accepted. Alternatives are suggested for some of those positions, for 

maternity this amounts to an altered Option One where West Cumberland Hospital retains 

consultant-led maternity and a Special Care Baby Unit as would Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle; 

on children’s services this would be a version of Option 1 with West Cumberland Hospital 

retaining 24 hour inpatient arrangements and overnight beds for children with less acute and 

more acute illnesses with specialist’s base in Carlisle and out with Cumbria; and on Community 

Inpatient Beds there is an expectation that no beds will be lost. The addendum provides specific 

points relating to the provision of Stroke services following further correspondence with the 

Success Regime. Those points highlight the evidence found that West Cumberland Hospital is 

currently performing better than Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle, that travel will be required for 

all West Cumbria stroke patients except those receiving rehabilitation, that there are concerns 

over ambulance availability, that statistically the area will have a greater need for stroke services 

and that given the level of stroke incidence in West Cumberland the Stroke centre should be 

moved to West Cumberland Hospital.  

Cumbria County Council – A submission was received from Cumbria County Council. The 

submission includes a views on the consultation across each of the proposals across service 

areas and makes some points regarding the financial assumptions used for the options. Views 

on the proposals include: support for the concept of Integrated Care Communities working 

within an Accountable Care Organisation; that the proposal to make savings by the removal of 

inpatient community hospital beds at Alston, Maryport and Wigton, without costed alternative 

arrangements being put in place and at the same time reducing the number of beds across the 

two hospital sites is not acceptable; support for the continuation of a consultant led maternity 

unit at both Cumberland Infirmary in Carlisle and at West Cumberland Hospital; that none of 

the options regarding paediatric provision at West Cumberland Hospital are acceptable; that 

there should not be a diminution of services currently provided at West Cumberland Hospital; 

that a key part of the solution for both the NHS and the County Council will be increasing 

449



 

integration of health and social care; and that there is a need for a fairer national funding 

formula. 

Dundraw Parish Council – A submission was received from Dundraw Parish Council. The 

submission includes views on the proposals. Views on the proposals include: concern about the 

future provision of inpatient beds at Wigton Hospital; that the trend towards concentration of 

acute high level medical and surgical services will continue given the expertise and investment 

needed to deliver them; that efficient use of acute beds in a scattered community such as 

Cumbria can only happen if acute services are supported by pre-convalescent and respite care 

beds in Community Hospitals; and that Wigton hospital provides a service for the whole of the 

Solway area and the number of beds makes it an efficient nursing unit.  

Eden District Council’s Housing and Community Scrutiny Committee – A submission was 

received from Eden District Council’s Housing and Community Scrutiny Committee. The 

submission includes comments on the consultation and on the proposals. Comments on the 

consultation include that with greater public engagement and publicity the Success Regime 

could inspire increased involvement from the public in discussions about the future of NHS 

services. Comments on the proposals include: general support for the move toward care in the 

community but concern about the process and costs of this, particularly in the transitional 

period; concerns that proposals regarding inpatient beds at Alston Community Hospital and 

Penrith Community Hospital will lead to further isolation of individuals and rural communities; a 

proposal to postpone removal of beds, if this is decided, until the Integrated Care Community is 

established and shown to be effective; that it is surprising that the consultation document does 

not contain options to achieve the aims interdependency between mental and physical health 

services; and support for the work of the Success Regime to deliver more cost effective services 

to the West, North and East of Cumbria but concerns that the options cannot be adequately 

funded and delivered. 

Egremont Town Council – A submission was received from the Council Chairperson of 

Egremont Town Council. The submission was prepared following discussions with residents. The 

submission gives views on the proposals. Views on the proposals include: the view that overall 

their residents will experience disadvantage and marginalisation from lack of equal access to 

services; opposition to all Maternity options and preference for a consultant-led maternity unit 

at both Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle and West Cumberland Hospital, alongside a mid-wife led 

maternity unity at both sites, the continued option of giving birth at the Penrith Birthing unit or 

at home, and a special care baby unit at both hospitals; opposition to all Children’s Services 

options and preference for a 24 hour paediatric unit at West Cumberland Hospital along with 

overnight beds; opposition to preferred options for Community Hospital Inpatient Beds and 

support for no reduction in beds; support for Emergency and Acute Care Option 1; and support 

450



 

for additional emergency surgery and trauma care to take place at West Cumberland Hospital 

and for the hospital to be used for more than minor and care services. 

Hayton and Mealo Parish Council – A submission was received from Hayton and Mealo parish 

Council. The submission includes two points regarding the proposals: opposition to the removal 

of any beds from either Wigton or Maryport Hospital as there are no direct public transport 

links to Cockermouth Hospital and it would be very difficult for relatives and friends to visit; and 

opposition to the re-location of consultant-led maternity facilities to Cumberland Infirmary as 

this would increase the travelling time on the already busy roads and could result in the loss of 

life.  

Kirkby Stephen Town Council – A submission was received from Kirkby Stephen Town 

Council. The submission gives views on the proposals. Views on the proposals include: that it is 

difficult to argue with the proposals or the reasoning for the preferred options; awareness of 

the pressures faced by the NHS in recruiting staff and managing resources; and concern about 

the impact to social care if the proposals to transform out-of-hospital care go ahead. 

Lamplugh Parish Council – A submission was received from Lamplugh Parish Council. This 

included views on the proposals. Views on the proposals include: concern over the potential 

reduction of services at West Cumberland Hospital and the potential loss of beds at the 

Cockermouth Hospital; concerns regarding the travel times and security of access in terms of 

bad weather from Lamplugh Parish to the Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle; that services at West 

Cumberland Hospital and Cockermouth Hospital are particularly valued by older parishioners 

both in terms of accessing appointments themselves and in terms of visiting loved ones; and 

that whilst Councillors do take note of the challenges of recruiting medical staff and the 

financial challenges to NHS Services in West Cumbria, current proposals appear to significantly 

disadvantage those living in more remote areas with dispersed populations such as in 

Lamplugh. 

Langwathby Parish Council – A submission was received from Langwathby Parish Council. The 

submission includes views on the proposals. Views on the proposals include: concern over the 

possible loss of bed space at Alston Hospital; that it is essential for there to be a small number 

of NHS and social care bed spaces available so that those in need, including the terminally ill, 

are not having to be transported in difficult road conditions, to available bed spaces elsewhere; 

that it is important that family and friends can visit easily; and that the suggestion of an 

Integrated Healthcare facility on the site of the Alston Hospital in which the NHS requirement 

and those of Social Care are combined, are to be applauded and given serious consideration. 

Penrith Town Council – A submission was received from Penrith Town Council. The submission 

gives views on the proposals. The views on the proposals include a complete rejection of the 

proposals to close inpatient beds in Cumbria, this is supported by a number of arguments 

including: the current demographic trends, the difficulties in establishing Integrated Care 

451



 

Communities, the subsequent establishment of vulnerable rural communities, and that it 

represents a minimal financial saving. There is serious concern expressed about the basis of the 

business case and the bed occupancy predictions that are contained within it.  

Seaton Parish Council – A submission was received from Seaton Parish Council. The 

submission gives views on the proposals. The view on the proposals state that none of the 

options put forward serve the interests of the people of Seaton.  

St Bees Parish Council – A submission was received from St Bees Parish Council. The 

submission states that the Parish Council wishes it to be noted that it supports in principle the 

concerns raised by Copeland Borough Council about the loss of services in West Cumbria. 

Stanwix Rural Parish Council – A submission was received from Stanwix Rural Parish Council. 

The submission includes views on the proposals and views on the consultation. Views on the 

proposals include: that there would be great difficulty in persuading the general public of the 

credibility of the proposals overall without proposals for primary, sub primary, social care and 

full consideration of transport; that the actual extent of problems of the dispersed population 

accentuated by the poor transport facilities in large parts of the area have not been credibly 

addressed; and that the Stanwix Rural Parish Council population is well served by the proposals 

for acute care, with the caveat that under adverse weather or travel conditions the Brampton 

College Hospital should be kept equipped and exercised to provide cover to the East. Views on 

the consultation include that completion of the option section is of little value due to the flawed 

nature of the study overall. 

Waberthwaite and Corney Parish Council – A submission was received from Waberthwaite 

and Corney Parish Council stating support for the submission provided by Copeland Borough 

Council. 

Waverton Parish Council – A submission was received from Waverton Parish Council. The 

submission gives views on the proposals and the consultation. Views on proposals highlight the 

disappointment that there is closure of beds at Wigton hospital built into all of the options. In 

referring to the consultation, the Council are keen to understand why no option to keep beds 

open locally has been included. 

Wigton Town Council – A submission was received from Wigton Town Councillors. The 

submission expresses support for the Community Care Alliance Group’s submission for the 

Solway area and states that the services provided by Wigton Hospital are critical to the 

community healthcare provision for the Wigton area. 

. 

452



 

4.9 Other experts and organisations 

Cumbria Health on Call – A submission was received from Cumbria Health on Call. The 

submission includes views on the proposals. Views on the proposals includes: support for 

Maternity Option 1; opposition to reduction of acute children’s services as proposed; support 

for any plans that maintain beds both in the acute hospital and in the community; opposition to 

no community beds at Alston, Maryport and Wigton; support for Emergency and acute care 

option 1; support for hyper-acute stroke Option 2; support for any plan to increase surgical 

expertise for better outcomes; and concern around the transfer of risk to the population and to 

Cumbria Health on Call. 

Cumbrian Newspapers Limited – A letter was received from Cumbrian Newspapers Limited on 

behalf of a group of newspapers that cover West, North and East Cumbria, including the News 

and Star, Whitehaven News, Times and Star and The Cumberland News. The submission 

includes views on the proposals, views on the consultation and references the petition in 

opposition to the proposals signed by 9,532 people. Views  include: that the proposals for 

maternity services, paediatrics and other care have not been demonstrated to have been safe; 

that there is not sufficient evidence that Cumberland Infirmary can cope with the planned influx 

of urgent transfers from the west; that the proposals regarding community hospitals do not 

take into account factors such as geography, isolation, poor transport links and deprivation and 

will have a detrimental impact on many communities; that there is a need for innovative 

discussions to respond to staffing; that Government should be lobbied for a fairer funding 

package; that the lack of detail in the options makes it virtually impossible for those taking part 

to make a clear choice; that the Success Regime did not appear to take into account feedback 

from the pre-consultation engagement phase in proposing the Healthcare for the Future 

options; and that no decisions should be made until the issues raised have been addressed. 

Health Education England North East – A submission was received on behalf of Health 

Education England North East. This welcomes the aspiration for a centre of excellence for 

integrated health and social care provision in rural remote and dispersed communities. There is 

recognition that recruitment is a challenge and that the system as proposed acknowledges that 

patient flow is a significant factor in future sustainability. It states that it is clear that it will not 

be possible to provide a full team of junior doctors for middle grade cover at all sites that deliver 

services within the region and that although training needs to occur where service is delivered, 

all service delivery does not require junior doctors in training to deliver it. It offers help in 

developing a model to support workforce transformation. It states that for plans to work there 

needs to be involvement by clinicians working in both primary care with the CCG’s as well as 

secondary care, and expresses concern for the level of engagement.  

Independent and external review, Children Services at the West Cumberland Hospital and 

Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle 

453



 

A submission was received from an independent and external reviewer of Children’s Services at 

West Cumberland Hospital and Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle. The submission includes 

comments on how the proposals relate to recommendations in the document “Report on the 

Proposals for Reconfiguration of Children Services North Cumbria University Hospital NHS Trust’ 

and gives views on the Children’s Services proposals. It states that the model of the “low acuity 

paediatric unit” in the proposals does accurately portray the difficulties in maintain paediatric 

inpatient services in smaller units and that the three options outlined are the most appropriate 

models of care if it is not possible to maintain a 24 hour inpatient service. Views on the 

proposals include: that Children’s services Option 1 would allow West Cumberland Hospital the 

most comprehensive service for the local population but would depend upon the ability to 

maintain/recruit paediatric nurses and doctors with the necessary skills; that Children’s Services 

Option 2 would mean no overnight beds at West Cumberland Hospital but there would be a 

short stay in paediatric assessment unit; and that Children’s Services Option 3 could be 

regarded as the model that would be easiest in terms of medical nurse staffing but would 

involve the most disruption to local families as more children would need to be treated on the 

Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle. 

Keswick Community Housing Trust – A submission was received from Keswick Community 

Housing Trust. The submission includes comments on the proposals. Comments on the 

proposals include: support for Community Hospitals Option 1 and that key workers find it 

difficult to afford making Keswick their home and are often forced out of the locality. The 

submission offers a partnership with Cumbria NHS to help support Option1 in providing 

affordable housing for people working in the health care service in Keswick. 

NuGeneration Ltd – A submission was received from NuGeneration Ltd. The submission 

acknowledges the process and points to the role that NuGeneration Ltd have taken in 

establishing a Health Impact Assessment (HIA) and an HIA Steering Group as part of recognised 

good practice in delivering major infrastructure projects. There is recognition of the issues set 

out in the consultation document and their relevance to the Moorside project. They seek via the 

HIA and working with the HIA Steering Group to ensure any impacts of the Moorside Project 

are understood and a mechanism for any mitigation which may be required is identified and 

agreed. They estimate that approximately 6500 people will work on the Moorside Projet, with 

the peak occurring around 2025. The areas of interest to NuGen are maternity, community 

hospitals and emergency and acute care. NuGeneration Ltd would like to take the opportunities 

provided by the HIA to discuss issues related as they relate to the Moorside Project.  

 

  

454



 

5 Analysis of public meetings 

5.1 Introduction 

Throughout the consultation period, 17 public meetings were held at different locations around 

West, North and East Cumbria. The dates and details of these events are outlined in Table 32 

below. Each meeting was attended by representatives of several of the NHS bodies involved in 

the consultation. Overall, approximately 1,947 members of the public attended the meetings. 

Table 32: Public meetings schedule 

Date Location / Time Senior NHS representative / SR representative in 

attendance 

12/10/2016 Silloth - Solway Technology 

Community College, Liddell 

Street, 6.30pm-8.30pm 

Anna Stabler (NCUHT), John Howarth (CPFT), Niall 

McGreevy (CCG), Colin Patterson (CCG), Stephen 

Childs (CCG), Mark Newton (NWAS) 

13/10/2016 Millom - Guide Hall, St 

George’s Road, 1pm-3pm 

Rick Shaw (NWAS), John Howarth (CPFT, Helen Ray 

(NCUHT), Joanna Cox (NCUHT) 

13/10/2016 Appleby - Public Hall, Appleby 

Town Council, 7pm-9pm 

Stephen Childs (CCG), Rod Harpin (NCUHT) 

Carol Davies, Michael Smillie (CPFT) 

18/10/2016 Carlisle -  Ballroom, Crown & 

Mitre Hotel, 4 English Street, 

1pm-3pm 

Debbie Freake (NCUHT), Peter Rooney (CCG), Andrew 

Brittlebank (CPFT), Rick Shaw (NWAS) 

19/10/2016 Maryport, St Mary’s Church, 

Church Street, 6.30pm-

8.30pm 

John Howarth (CPFT), Stephen Singleton (CCG), Carol 

Davies (NWAS), Rod Harpin (NCUHT), Christina Cuncarr 

(NCUHT), Dinesh Moga (NCUHT), John Wayman 

(NCUHT) 

19/10/2016 

 

Whitehaven - United 

Reformed Church, James 

Street, 1pm-3pm 

Stephen Eames (NCUHT), Rod Harpin (NCUHT), 

(NCUHT), David Rogers (CCG), Carol Davies (NWWS), 

Andrew Brittlebank (CPFT). Christina Cuncarr (NCUHT), 

Debbie Freake (NCUHT), Dinesh Moga (NCUHT) 

25/10/2016 Penrith Methodist Church, 

Wordsworth Street, 1pm-3pm 

Caroline Rea (CCG), Lynn Marsland (CPFT), Stephen 

Singleton (CCG), Derek Thompson (NCUHT), Christine 

Brereton (NCUHT) 

25/10/2016 Wigton, The Market Hall, 

Church Street, 7pm-9pm 

Stephen Childs (CCG), Andrew Brittlebank (CPFT), Rod 

Harpin (NCUHT), Carol Davies (NWAS) 

26/10/2016 Kirkby Stephen, Masonic Hall, 

North Road, 1pm-3pm 

Debbie Freake (NCUHT), Caroline Rea (CCG), Derek 

Thompson (NCUHT), Lynn Marsland (CPFT) 

455



 

Date Location / Time Senior NHS representative / SR representative in 

attendance 

26/10/2016 Alston, Samuel King’s School, 

Church Road, 6.30pm-8.30pm 

Craig Melrose (CPFT), Stephen Childs (CCG), Rick Shaw 

(NWAS), Helen Ray (NCUHT), Nick Strong (NCUHT) 

7/11/2016 Workington, Carnegie 

Theatre, Finkle Street 6.30pm-

8.30pm 

Stephen Eames (NCUHT), 

Anna Stabler (NCUHT), Andrew Brittlebank (CPFT), 

Stephen Singleton (CCG), Peter Rooney (CCG), Matt 

House (NWAS), Neil McKay (SR) 

8/11/2016 Whitehaven, United Reformed 

Church, James Street, 

6.30pm-8.30pm  

Stephen Eames (NCUHT), Rod Harpin (NCUHT), Anna 

Stabler (NCUHT), Stephen Childs (CCG), Claire Molloy 

(CPFT) 

9/11/2016 Cockermouth, Eco Centre, 

Cockermouth School, 

Castlegate Drive, 6.30pm-

8.30pm 

John Howarth (CPFT), Caroline Rea (CCG), Helen Ray 

(NCUHT), Mark Newton (NWAS), Rod Harpin (NCUHT), 

John Wayman (NCUHT) 

21/11/2016 Brampton, William Howard 

School, Longtown Road, 

6:30pm to 8:30pm  

Peter Rooney (CCG), Debbie Freake (NCUHT), Mark 

Newton (NWAS), Claire Molloy (CPFT) 

28/11/2016 Keswick, Queen Anne’s Hall, 

Keswick School, Vicarage Hill, 

7pm-9pm 

Matt House (NWAS), Niall McGreevy (CCG), Joanna 

Forster-Adams (CPFT), Stephen Eames (NCUHT), Rod 

Harpin (NCUHT) 

29/11/2016 Carlisle, Ballroom, Crown & 

Mitre Hotel, 4 English Street, 

6.30pm-8.30pm 

Stephen Childs (CCG), Helen Ray (NCUHT), Michael 

Smillie (CPFT), Maurya Cushlow (NCUHT) 

30/11/2016 Egremont, The Falcon Club, 

Croadella Avenue, 6.30pm-

8.30pm 

John Howarth (CPFT), Anna Stabler (NCUHT), Peter 

Rooney (CCG) 

 

5.2 Meeting format 

Each public meeting followed a standard format. Panel members representing various NHS 

organisations were introduced, and one or more of them delivered a presentation of the 

consultation, proposals and options in each service area. A copy of the presentation delivered 

can be found in Appendix C. A Q&A session with attendees, generally structured by service area 

or area of interest, then followed.  

456



 

 

5.3 How issues were recorded 

Each public meeting was attended by a panel of representatives from different NHS bodies 

involved in the Success Regime and/or the consultation. The panel heard and responded to 

questions and concerns directly at the meetings. Attendees were also encouraged to complete 

the consultation questionnaire or respond in other ways. 

Each meeting was audio recorded in full. Recordings have been made available to download on 

the consultation website, and were supplied to TCC for summary analysis. Analysts have 

listened to the recordings and noted the topics of discussion and issues raised. A head count 

was conducted at each meeting to provide an estimated attendance, as detailed in the 

summaries in this section. 

A brief summary of each meeting’s main topics of discussion are included in this section. All 

individual questions from attendees and responses from the panels can be heard in the audio 

recordings, publicly available on the consultation website and in possession of the decision 

making organisations. 

 

5.4 Summary of issues raised by meeting 

The following section includes topics of discussion at the public meetings. Full audio recordings 

of the meetings were collected by the Success Regime and have been published on their 

website, available to download. 

Silloth, 12th October 2016 

Panel: Anna Stabler, John Howarth, Niall McGreevy, Colin Patterson, Stephen Childs, Mark 

Newton.  

The meeting in Silloth was attended by approximately 30 people.  

There were a number of questions and issues raised about the challenges around staffing and 

recruitment and their causes. Additionally, several attendees enquired about ICCs and how they 

would be run. Finances were scrutinised in terms of the PFI contract and sources of funding for 

the proposed changes. 

Millom, 13th October 2016 

Panel: Rick Shaw, Joan Howarth, Helen Ray and Joana Cox.  

The meeting in Millom was attended by approximately 27 people.  

Much of the discussion centred on maternity services and the impact of the proposed options, 

including plans for a dedicated ambulance. There were additional points raised about 

457



 

community hospital inpatient beds and end-of-life care, as well as a question about the 

evidence presented in the consultation documentation. 

Appleby, 13th October 2016 

Panel: Stephen Childs, Rod Harpin, Carol Davies, Michael Smillie 

The meeting in Appleby was attended by approximately 33 people.  

Several questions were asked about the impact of ICCs and how they would work in the area. 

Concerns were raised about capacity at CUMBERLAND INFIRMARY CARLISLE, and the transport 

issues in Cumbria and travelling across the county, and the effect of this on maternity options. 

Concern was also raised regarding the future location of certain maternity services and the need 

for community hospital beds to meet demand from the population. Mental health services and 

drug and alcohol were raised as further points for consideration.  

Carlisle, 18th October 2016 

Panel: Debbie Freake, Peter Rooney, Andrew Brittlebank and Rick Shaw. Total number of 

attendees: around 27. 

The meeting in Carlisle was attended by approximately 27 people. 

Discussion focussed on a range of issues, including the issues of staffing and recruitment and 

the effect of the consultation on this. Several queries were made about funding and spending, 

in terms of hyper-acute stroke service and ICCs. Issues were raised about leadership and 

accountability within the local healthcare service, and concerns noted about whether the 

consultation feedback would influence decision making. 

Maryport, 19th October 2016 

Panel: John Howarth, Stephen Singleton, Carol Davies, Rod Harpin, Christina Cuncarr, Dinesh 

Moga, and John Wayman. 

The meeting in Maryport was attended by approximately 230 people. 

Questions and concerns raised varied in subject matter but there were a number of points made 

specifically about the impact on Maryport, including opposition to the possible closure of the 

town’s community hospital beds, concerns about future funding, and the plan for a Maryport 

Alliance to present a proposal to the Success Regime. Concerns were also raised about the 

safety of maternity proposals and appreciation of the county’s challenges in infrastructure and 

geography. 

Whitehaven, 19th October 2016 

Panel: Stephen Eames, Rod Harpin, David Rogers, Carol Davies, Andrew Brittlebank, Christina 

Cuncarr, Debbie Freake, Dinesh Moga 

458



 

The meeting in Whitehaven was attended by approximately 190 people.  

Many issues were raised over the course of the meeting, the majority of which concerned the 

impact of maternity services and other proposals that would see services being consolidated at 

CUMBERLAND INFIRMARY CARLISLE rather than West Cumberland Hospital. Many questions 

and concerns were about the safety implications of transferring women in labour between the 

two hospitals, as well as enquiries about the ambulance service and the ability to meet demand. 

Further points were also discussed around the need for paediatric consultants, the risk of 

centralising hyper-acute stroke services, and the post-trauma care for patients based in the 

West of the county. 

Penrith, 25th October 2016 

Panel: Stephen Singleton, Derek Thompson, Lynn Marsland, Caroline Rea, Rachel Preston, Carol 

Davies, Christine Broughton. Around 30 attendees.  

The meeting in Penrith was attended by approximately 50 people. 

A variety of subjects were discussed, including issues around ICCs’ workability, and 

communities and patients’ involvement in local healthcare. Several points were raised around 

the demand for services being met, including the need to support district nursing, social services 

and the concerns about the ambulance service. A point was also raised about the need to retain 

community hospital inpatient beds as care homes close. 

Wigton, 25th October 2016 

Panel: Stephen Childs, Andrew Brittlebank, Rod Harpin, Carol Davies.  

The meeting in Wigton was attended by approximately 200 people.  

Concerns were raised about a number of subjects, with the most frequent topics regarding the 

impact of the community hospitals inpatient beds options on the local hospital, and the effect 

on those in the town and nearby areas. Further questions and issues were raised about 

recruitment and retention of staff, capacity issues at Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle, and the lack 

of information on, and challenges facing, ICCs. 

Kirkby Stephen, 26th October 2016 

Panel: Debbie Freake, Caroline Rea, Derek Thompson, Lynn Marsland 

The meeting in Kirkby Stephen was attended by approximately 50 people.  

Issues discussed included the impact of proposed changes on the ambulance service and 

outpatient services for Kirkby Stephen residents, the need to consider the East, as well as West 

and North Cumbria, and the need for social provision and end of-life care. The importance of 

459



 

maintaining services to attract staff was also raised, as was the difficulty for people in rural 

areas to be treated closer to home. 

Alston, 26th October 2016 

Panel: Craig Melrose, Stephen Childs, Rick Shaw, Helen Ray, Nick Strong.  

The meeting in Alston was attended by approximately 230 people.  

The main issues discussed centred on the proposals for community hospital inpatient beds’ 

impact on the community hospital in Alston, with strong opposition expressed to closures of 

beds there and concern that that decision has already been made. The hospital was praised for 

its end of life care, convalescence and other aspects, and there are questions about the 

justification for closing its beds. It was also seen as relieving demand for Cumberland Infirmary 

Carlisle, which receives criticism. Scepticism about the chances of success for ICCs, staffing 

efforts and ambulance services were also noted. There was further discussion of the Alston 

League of Friends’ proposal. 

Workington, 7th November 2016 

Panel: Stephen Eames, Anna Stabler, Andrew Brittlebank, Stephen Singleton, Peter Rooney, 

Matt house, Neil McKay.  

The meeting in Workington was attended by approximately 75 people. 

A number of concerns were raised around the maternity proposals, including the need to treat 

women who with birth complications quickly, and the distance to Cumberland Infirmary 

Carlisle. There were further concerns raised about the impact on families of proposed changes 

to children’s services and risks associated with the travel time to Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle 

for stroke patients. There was also discussion of the staffing and recruitment challenges and 

concerns about the openness of the consultation and the potential savings achievable.  

Whitehaven, 8th November 2016 

Panel: Stephen Eames, Rod Harpin, Anna Stabler, Stephen Childs, Claire Molloy  

The meeting in Whitehaven was attended by approximately 125 people. 

Scepticism about the maternity options, particularly those that propose a single CLU at Carlisle, 

was expressed throughout. A particular point was raised about the RCOG changing its 

recommendation away from Option 2 on seeing the state of the county’s roads first-hand. 

Further criticism of the proposals on the grounds of safety and concern about the dedicated 

ambulance being inadequate or unrealistic was voiced. Further concerns were raised about the 

risks of a hyper-acute stroke centre of excellence and plans for a smaller ICU at West 

Cumberland Hospital. 

460



 

 

Cockermouth, 9th November 2016 

Panel: John Howarth, Caroline Rea, Helen Ray, Mark Newton, Rod Harpin, John Wayman  

The meeting in Cockermouth was attended by approximately 120 people. 

Questions and concerns were voiced around staffing and recruitment, the financial restraints 

facing local healthcare, and capacity issues at Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle and the ambulance 

service. There were more specific concerns expressed about the maternity proposals, community 

hospital inpatient beds and the role of ICCs in the consultation process.  

Brampton, 21st November 2016 

Panel: Peter Rooney, Debbie Freake, Mark Newton, Claire Molloy 

The meeting in Brampton was attended by approximately 120 people. 

ICCs were discussed, with thoughts raised that they were a good idea but hard to implement 

considering the financial cost and workforce involved. The challenges facing those in more rural 

and isolated communities were raised, and there was opposition to community hospital 

inpatient bed closure, with a focus from some on the effect this could have on bed blocking. 

Some disagreement with points made in the consultation rationale was voiced. 

Keswick, 28th November 2016 

Panel: Matt House, Niall McGreevy, Joanna Forster-Adams, Stephen Eames, Rod Harpin  

The meeting in Keswick was attended by approximately 150 people. 

The community hospital in Keswick was praised and the proposal to increase the number of 

inpatient beds there was welcomed by some attendees. Issues around the practicalities of 

implementation of ICCs were discussed, as was the importance of social care and providing care 

in the community or close to home. Questions were asked about staffing and the financial 

aspects of healthcare and the consultation. 

Carlisle, 29th November 2016 

Panel: Stephen Childs, Helen Ray, Michael Smillie, Maurya Cushlow  

The meeting in Carlisle was attended by approximately 210 people. 

There was repeated criticism of the consultation itself, as well as the proposals, including 

opposition to maternity transfers, closures of community hospital beds and stroke transfers. The 

proposed changes were described as unsafe by attendees and it was suggested local people 

and experts were not being listened to, and that the consultation was politicised. The capacity, 

461



 

organisation and PFI arrangement at Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle were all mentioned 

negatively. 

Egremont, 30th November 2016 

Panel: John Howarth, Anna Stabler, Peter Rooney 

The meeting in Egremont was attended by approximately 80 people. 

Several questions and issues were raised about the maternity proposals, including the dedicated 

ambulance. Discussion also covered children’s services, staffing and the impact on rural or 

isolated communities. There were also comments raised about the consultation process and 

finances, including discussion of the PFI arrangement at Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle. 

 

  

462



 

6 Analysis of stakeholder meetings 
 

6.1 Introduction 

23 meetings with stakeholder groups and four deliberative events with stakeholders were held 

at different locations around West, North and East Cumbria. The dates and details of these 

events are outlined below. 

Table 33: Details of stakeholder meetings 
Date Activity Location / Time Senior NHS 

representative in  
attendance 

05/10/2016 Maryport Health Alliance 
meeting 

Maryport Health Services, 
Alneburgh House, 6.30pm-8.15pm 

John Howarth (CPFT) 

6/10/2016 Penrith League of Friends 
meeting 

Penrith Hospital John Howarth (CPFT), Craig 
Melrose (CPFT) 

12/10/2016 Stakeholder Meeting 
 

Workington - The Oval Centre, 
Salterbeck, Workington CA14 5HA, 
10am-12pm 

Debbie Freake (NCUHT), 
Andrew Brittlebank (CPFT) 

13/10/2016 Health Scrutiny Committee 
 

Cumbria County Council  David Rogers (CCG), Rod 
Harpin (NCUHT), Debbie 
Freake (NCUHT), Stephen 
Singleton (CCG), Stephen 
Eames (NCUHT)  

14/10/2016 West Cumbria Community 
Forum 

Cleator Moor Civic Hall, 10am – 
12.30pm 

Stephen Eames (NCUHT) 

17/10/2016 CVS Action for Health 
meeting 

Rheged, Penrith John Brown (Chair Action 
for Health), David Rogers 
(CCG), David Lewis (CPFT), 
Mike Taylor (CPFT)  

17/10/2016 Brampton Hospital meeting Brampton Hospital John Howarth (CPFT) 

19/10/2016 Maryport Health Alliance 
Meeting 

Maryport Health Alliance John Howarth (CPFT) 

1/11/2016 Cumbria CCG AGM 
 

Stricklandgate House, Kendal, 4pm 
– 5:45pm 

Dr Hugh Reeve (Clinical 
Chair) 
Stephen Childs (Chief 
Executive) 
Charles Welbourn (Chief 
Finance Officer) 

2/11/2016 Allerdale & Copeland local 
area committee meeting 

Wigton Market Hall, Cumbria, 1pm-
2:45pm 

Stephen Childs (CCG), 
Craig Melrose (CPFT) 

7/11/2016 Stakeholder Meeting North Lakes Hotel, Penrith, 
12:20pm-2:30pm 

Debbie Freake (NCUHT), 
Joanna Forster-Adams 
(CPFT), Eleanor Hodgson 
(CCG) 

7/11/2016 Cockermouth League of 
Friends meeting 

Cockermouth Hospital, 2pm-4pm Claire Molloy (CPFT), Dr 
John Howarth (CPFT) 

7/11/2016 Copeland scrutiny meeting United Reform Church Hall, 
Whitehaven 
2pm-4pm 

Caroline Rea (CCG), Niall 
McGreevy (CCG) 

463



 

Date Activity Location / Time Senior NHS 
representative in  
attendance 

10/11/2016 Eden District Council 
meeting 

Eden District Council, Town Hall, 
Penrith, 
6pm 

Stephen Singleton (Success 
Regime) 

23/11/2016 Copeland Disability Forum 
meeting 

Copeland Disability Forum, Cumbria 
County Council 

Christine Harrison (CCG) 

24/11/2016 Eden Local Council Meeting  Town Hall, Penrith, 6pm Stephen Childs (CCG), 
Rachel Preston (CCG) 

25/11/2016 West Cumbria Community 
Forum 

Cleator Moor Civic Hall, 10am-
12pm 

Stephen Singleton (Success 
Regime) 

29/11/2016 Stakeholder Meeting Carlisle, Ballroom, Crown & Mitre 
Hotel, 4 English Street, 10am-12pm 

Debbie Freake (NCUHT), 
Joanna Forster-Adams 
(CPFT), Christine Brereton, 
Rachel Preston (CCG) 

29/11/2016 Breast Feeding support 
group meeting 

Howgill Children’s Centre, 
Whitehaven 

Christine Harrison (CCG) 

29/11/2016 Bumps to Babies meeting  Howgill Children’s Centre, 
Whitehaven 

Christine Harrison (CCG) 

29/11/2016 Antenatal group meeting Egremont Christine Harrison (CCG) 

30/11/2016 Eden Local Area Committee 
meeting 

Cumbria Fire Service QY, Carleton 
Avenue, Penrith, 10:30am-11:15am 

Debbie Freake (NCUHT) 

6/12/2016 Equality Impact Analysis 
Workshop 

Cumbria CCG Christine Harrison (CCG) 

7/12/2016 Stakeholder Meeting Cleator Moor Civic Hall and 
Masonic Centre, Cleator Moor, 
CA25 5AU, 10am-12pm 

Stephen Singleton (CCG), 
Peter Rooney (CCG), Rod 
Harpin, (NCUHT), 
Stephen Eames (NCUHT) 

15/12/2016 LGBT+ Discussion Sticky Bits Café, Carlisle 2pm-
3.30pm 

Christine Harrison (CCG) 

 

 

A summary of the issues raised at the stakeholder meetings can be found in section 6.2. 

 

Four deliberative events also took place as part of the Healthcare for the Future consultation. 

These were facilitated by the NHS North of England Commissioning Support team.  

Each event ran for a half-day and was publicised to existing networks and contacts in West, 

North and East Cumbria.  Although a limited attendance at each event was seen, this did not 

prevent in-depth discussion of the complex issues presented in the consultation. The topics 

specifically addressed at these events were:  hyper-acute stroke services, community hospitals, 

maternity and paediatric services, and a general discussion on consultation topics for the Hard 

of Hearing and Deaf Communities. 

The time, location and topic discussed at each event is shown in 

Table 34. 

464



 

 

Table 34: Schedule of deliberative events 

Place Topic Time and venue Number of 

attendees 

Penrith Hyper-acute Stroke 

Services 

 

Stoneybeck Inn, Bowscarr, Penrith, 

CA11 8RP 

21st November 2016 

9am -12:30pm 

Seven 

Penrith Community Hospitals Stoneybeck Inn, Bowscarr, Penrith, 

CA11 8RP 

21st November 2016 

2 pm – 5.30pm 

Eighteen 

Whitehaven Maternity and 

Paediatric Services 

Whitehaven Civic Hall, Lowther Street, 

Whitehaven, Cumbria, CA28 7SH 

3rd December 2016 

9am – 12 pm 

Eleven 

Workington General discussion 

on consultation 

topics for the Hard of 

Hearing and Deaf 

Communities 

Age UK, Solway House, Oxford Street, 

Workington, CA14 2AL 

14th December 2016 

2pm – 4:30pm 

Seven 

 

The full feedback from each deliberative event is included in Appendix E. A summary of the 

issues raised at these events can be found in Section 6.3  

 

6.2 Summary of issues raised at stakeholder meetings 

Maryport Health Alliance, Maryport, 5 October 2016 

There was a total of 20 attendees. 

Questions 

• If there is no criticism of the state of the hospital in the CQC report, why are there 

issues being raised now by the Success Regime? 

• Is it unfeasible to consider if the hospital was to accommodate more services if this 

would equal more investment into the infrastructure? 

• Had Social Services been invited to the meeting and asked if the limited provision by 

Social Services to support people in their own home is the biggest issue with regards to 

effective use of hospital beds? 

465



 

• What is the process for the implementation of the Success Regime’s plans? What is the 

role of the CCG in this? 

General Concerns 

• Success Regime proposals are to close the inpatient beds in Maryport; keeping them 

open is not an option they have offered.  

• Several people commented that it is difficult to communicate with social services and 

therefore it may be difficult for them to become partners in the discussions, plans and 

delivery of ICC. 

Service Issues 

Community Hospital Inpatient Beds (Maryport):  

• Hospital could comfortably accommodate 8 beds, but the opportunity to scale up to 16 

beds would be challenging. Many challenges to providing safe nursing practice with the 

current 13 beds as the wards and rooms are not currently big enough for hoists etc. The 

proximity of toilets and bathrooms to beds is not close enough at the moment either. 

Their summary was that the hospital as it stands could accommodate 8 beds but would 

need some remodelling to bring it up to modern standards, particularly toilets and 

bathing facilities. To accommodate more beds would require significant capital 

investment. 

• It was commented that out of all of the Success Regime’s recently stated options for 

health provision in Cumbria, the cottage hospitals are the only ones without a status 

quo i.e. all of the options involved the removal of beds. She said that some groups are 

investigating whether there is a legal challenge to the Success Regime to be made based 

on whether they are properly able to consult on something if it isn’t offered as an 

option. 

Suggestions 

• Will begin the process of developing the arguments as to why inpatient beds should 

remain open, but we need to do this within the wider discussion of how health and care 

services are delivered in Maryport for the future. 

Penrith League of Friends, Penrith, 6 October 2016 

Total of 15 attendees. 

General Concerns 

• Criticism of the consultation document that there is no option to keep all community 

hospital beds. 

466



 

• Although understanding of ICCs is improving, feeling that the consultation has come 

too soon and a better understanding is required. 

• The cost of aids/adaptations is increasingly falling to voluntary sector and the speed of 

delivery is resulting in more additions than necessary. 

• Community teams are already over stretched and worried about additional workloads 

with seemingly few plans to build up resources. 

• More care in the community will put additional pressure on carers creating additional 

pressures. 

Service Issues 

Community Hospital Inpatient Beds (Penrith) 

• Issues of removing beds at Penrith Community Hospital are rise in patients requiring 

acute care, number of patients needing home care, general rise in population and 

investment not increasing in line with this. Lack of affordable nursing homes in area, 

lack of transport with greater isolation. 

• Potential to provide additional services such as chemotherapy and dialysis. 

Suggestions 

• Discussed the need to find a balance between finance, quality and sustainability. 

• Concerns that there are insufficient numbers of Allied Health Professionals – a lot of 

admissions to hospital could be avoided with more therapeutic support, keeping people 

at home for longer.  

• Need to ‘re-educate’ public on what community hospitals are for – there is a perception 

that they are for long stays. Need to work differently and use the discharge to assess 

model if going to treat more people in the community. With communities need to be 

encouraged to get more involved/take more responsibility for their own health.  

• Social care needs to be adequate to support care in the community – although there is 

very little on this in the consultation document.  

• Discussed the need for stronger local partnerships and a revamp of the payment system 

– removing payment by results for acute. 

Workington stakeholder update, Workington, 12 October 2016 

Total number of attendees unknown. 

Questions 

• Will you take people’s opinions into account? Will opinions change anything? 

• We have had these problems for years and done nothing about them until now. Why 

haven’t we learned from our poor leadership over the years? 

467



 

• If SR moves all services to Carlisle, will Carlisle hospital be expanded? CIC is already full, 

what’s the plan? 

• Is one ambulance enough? 

• Can strokes and heart attacks be stabilised before transport up to Carlisle? 

• Will there be a children’s ward at Whitehaven Hospital? 

General Concerns 

• Concerns about lack of public engagement with consultation. Some doctors’ surgeries 

are not aware, how will people have their say if they do not know it’s happening? 

• Concern around submitted letters not being included in evaluation process. 

• Concerned with lack of inclusion of carers within consultation. 

• Mental health has been deliberately excluded from this consultation. Mental health can 

affect physical health and should have been taken into account in this consultation. This 

is very flawed. 

Service Issues 

Stroke services  

• The impacts caused by isolation and separating families on the rehabilitation of stroke 

patients. 

Maternity services 

• Taking away choice from pregnant women. May end up with 800-1200 pregnant 

women traveling to Carlisle for delivery as they will not risk being in midwife led unit if 

something goes wrong and have to travel over one hour. 

• Concerned about emergency caesareans at West Cumberland Hospital. If one is needed 

it must be done within 30 minutes, and if there is no consultant then transport to 

Carlisle is 45 – 48 minutes. 

Suggestions 

• Lack of understanding around Integrated Care Communities in consultation, feel should 

have been included in consultation document as need more information. Suggestion to 

pilot this before you close any beds? Various solutions to making the consultation 

document more accessible. 

• People won’t take home whole consultation document – suggestion to only include 4 

‘necessary’ pages. 

West Cumbria Community Forum, Cleator Moor, 14 October 2016 

Total number of attendees unknown. 

 

468



 

General Concerns 

• Lots of concerns over transport travel and turnaround times of ambulances, however 

has been acknowledge North West Ambulance Service recruitment programme means 

that is making progress in getting to where they need to be. 

• Issues re availability of data relating to transport and access and how much this has 

been taken into account in considering the options. 

• National programmes and CQC standards are designed for urban areas, often taking a 

narrow view, which does not suit an area like Cumbria.   

• Differences in the perception of risk between the public view and the medical view.  

• Concern that people will feel they cannot influence the outcome of the consultation so 

won’t bother taking part. 

Service Issues 

Maternity & Children’s Services  

• Any proposals must provide sustainable clinical services that meet the standards set out 

by CQC.   

• Children’s services and maternity services are aligned, with many issues surrounding 

assessing risk. 

• Impression from presentations that decision has been made, giving a negative view of 

maternity option 1. 

• GPs have been involved in discussions but would be giving individual responses not a 

joint one. 

• Taking away the choice of where to give birth, where the distance to travel is 

significant. 

• Strong feelings about the loss of consultant led maternity at West Cumberland and the 

recruitment issues.  Linked to the urban model not suiting a rural area and the lack of 

radical solutions that would suit the local area. 

• The amount of work and ideas that have gone into trying to improve recruitment and 

the difficulties highlighted nationally as well as locally. 

• A recognition that maternity is seen as the biggest issue as it’s been the most difficult to 

develop the options.  Clarification that finance isn’t the biggest issue and that 

Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle could be as vulnerable as West Cumberland. 

• Highlighted the developments with UCLAN and the medical school, but acknowledging 

that it would take time. 

Emergency & Acute Services 

• Concern that the only real option was Option 1, which is the preferred option 

469



 

• Importance of development of Integrated Care Communities with links into Primary 

Care to improve the management of long term conditions and support to prevent crisis’ 

happening that lead to a hospital admission. 

• Concern over all complex services moving to Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle, especially 

with the area having high prevalence of some conditions.   

• Specialist centres link to somethings coming back to West Cumberland and the ability to 

provide a 7-day service instead of a 5-day service.   

CVS Action for Health meeting, Penrith, 17 October 2016 

Attended by 30 people representing 24 third sector groups. 

Questions 

• Why are initiatives such as the ‘golden hello’ not used to aid recruitment? 

• Why are not enough Doctors being trained? 

• Is there a need for triage at West?   

• Would engagement that took place before consultation be considered or would 

responses need to be resubmitted? 

General Concerns 

• Recruitment issues in Cumbria are not confined to the health service, initiatives to be 

used. 

• Decisions are being taken from a clinical viewpoint rather than considering social care 

and the third sector. 

• Concern about capacity at Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle, having already experienced 

lack of access to physiotherapy services. 

• Concerns about key information not included in document, with specific comments 

made by the Voice Group that there are issues with the consultation and supporting 

document, in that the county’s geography was not completely taken into account citing 

rurality but not deprivation.  

• A participant with an interest in mental health felt this should have been included within 

this consultation rather than looked at as an independent service. 

Service Issues 

Maternity services  

• Primary concerns from service users in the West particularly relating to travel times. 

• Other concerns include limited choice for women including, lack of any consultant 

provision in the preferred option, the impact of mental health on women and babies 

during labour with increased diagnosis of a problem. 

Community Hospital Inpatient Beds 

470



 

• Lack of information and expertise to make an informed decision, with a need for 

geography and demographics to be taken into greater account.  

• Other concerns around recruitment and accessibility of local hospitals. 

Stroke Services 

• A number of concerns expressed surrounding the Stroke Services proposal, in that the 

proposal does not fully understands Cumbria’s infrastructure.  Added pressure on North 

West Ambulance Service due to having to assess patients risk.  Concerns about travel 

times and that the consultation lacks evidence of this point. 

Suggestions 

• Improvement to HR processes and development of recruitment hub to support GP 

recruitment. 

• Language being used during consultation process needs to be less clinical and in plain 

English. 

• Don’t think the ‘drip and ship’ model has been fully considered.   

• Social services are ‘on their knees’ with a real funding issue that is impacting on the 

third sector as less donations are being made.  We need to involve them more in the 

solutions. 

• Maternity service suggestions to conduct a risk analysis of each proposal, with provision 

of an alternative plan for high risk births. Greater input from women and families, with 

a need to co-design proposals. 

Brampton Hospital meeting, Brampton, 17 October 2016 

A total of 14 attendees. 

Questions 

• What happened to all the feedback that was gathered as part of the pre-consultation 

and how do we know if this is going to be fed into the process? 

• Will there be an increase in ambulance service? 

• PFI how much does this cost us? 

General Concerns 

• A number of concerns raised regarding the consultation document: It is not visible 

enough, there is no option to keep the status quo – in other parts of the consultation 

this is an option, the financial information is very difficult to find on the website, the 

way the document is written could lead, it is not clear whether you have to feedback on 

all of the consultation or just the part you are interested in. There was a feeling that the 

ideas within the consultation are ideologically driven. 

471



 

• Concern was raised as to the amount of consideration that has been given to public 

transportation. The transport that has been considered is either ambulatory or a car. 

There is concern for the Brampton community as many of the catchment areas have no 

bus service at all. 

• There is also concern that there has been no public acknowledgement of the integration 

of social care into the plans. 

Service Issues 

Community Hospital Inpatient Beds (Brampton)  

• There has been no formal acknowledgement of the BLOF plans of expanding the 

services at Brampton Hospital.  

Suggestions 

• People should still be encouraged to sign any petition as this will enable people to be 

properly represented. The Chair said that he was keen that the League of Friends should 

be part of constructive and collaborative talks. 

• Various suggestions for recruitment of staff and incentives. 

• The BLOF had asked if the “Back to Nursing” courses could be expanded. 

Maryport Health Alliance, Maryport, 19 October 2016 

Number of total attendees unknown. 

Questions 

• “Why does Maryport need overnight beds?” 

• How does accountability work? 

General Concerns 

• Centred around the closure of community beds in Maryport. Maryport Health Alliance 

to draw up alternative proposals which are financially viable.  

• There was concern that the proposals will be ignored. 

Cumbria County Council Health Scrutiny Committee, 13 October 2016 

Total number of attendees unknown. 

Questions 

• Can North West Ambulance Service deliver a dedicated ambulance vehicle and if it 

would be effective given the logistics of travel between Whitehaven and Carlisle? 

• If community beds removed from Alston, what is the travel time necessary if Alston 

residents had to visit other community hospitals? 

General Concerns 

472



 

• See consultation as creating disadvantages to west Cumbria and challenged proposals 

as creating further health inequality based on geographic circumstance. Disappointed 

this seems primarily based on centralisation of services. 

• Feel there’s a lack of availability of evidence, including the unpublished travel impact 

assessment already mentioned. 

• Expressed the need for West Cumberland Hospital, with problems of access to services 

for west Cumbria. These services changes were overly dependent on quality assurance, 

not patient safety. 

• Despite the county’s rurality, Cumbria remains underfunded.  

• Problems accessing the consultation document, including the fact the majority is online 

and is too complex. Statistics including too general and look at national rather than the 

unique case. 

• The impact ICCs will have on carers, could potentially lead to an increase of stress, cost 

and travel on Cumbria’s carers. 

Service Issues 

Maternity services  

• Do not meet with the expectations of West Cumbria in terms of travel times, availability 

of consultant-led maternity services is affecting women’s choice of where to give birth, 

there was a low-preference among the population for stand-alone midwifery led units, 

yet this constituted the preferred option of the provider which may leave women feeling 

pressured. Greater clarity needed. 

Suggestions 

• Full partnership with the local authority is necessary for the success of integrated care. 

Cumbria CCG AGM, Kendal, 1 November 2016 

About 20 members of the public attended. 

Questions 

• Various questions were raised about when the panel would respond to the issues raised 

(see below) at the meeting 

General concerns 

• The validity of the consultation was challenged – a challenge was submitted in written 

form to the panel by 15-20 Alston residents, which the panel agreed to look into and 

respond to following legal advice and guidance. 

473



 

• The Alston residents felt they had been cut out of the easy read version of the 

consultation document, and questioned how this could constitute a fair consultation, 

and whether the document would be removed from circulation 

Service issues 

Community Hospital Inpatient Beds 

• 15-20 Alston residents attended and made the case for Ruth Lancaster James Cottage 

Hospital, citing its isolation and the unique nature of the local community. 

Allerdale and Copeland Local Area Committee meeting, Wigton, 2 November 2016 

Attended by 17 county councillors, 7 officers and 1 reporter (28 attendees in total). 

Questions 

• Thoughts were this was going to be a holistic review of the Success Regime.  This isn’t 

so, why not reform the Trust, or configure the Trusts differently? Greater vision is 

limited e.g. building a new hospital has been ruled out because doesn’t fit Success 

Regime timetable. Why has the Success Regime changed? 

• Accessibility issues are real concern, roads are not fit for purpose, why isn’t the 

consultation addressing this? 

• What is the difference in cost of the Primary Care Trust to the Clinical Care 

Commissioning Group? 

• With increased capacity at Carlisle, is the Success Regime able to deliver on the 

proposals? 

• Why are there difficulties recruiting to West Cumbria? This has been an ongoing 

problem, with recruitment even coming from abroad with no resolution yet reached. 

• How far did the Care Quality Commission report on the proposals for the hospitals, 

especially Maryport?  

• What discussions has the Success Regime had with Moorside and Nugen about the 

developments near Sellafield and the impact an increased population will have? Similarly 

within industry, have the annual 26 million tourists and visitors been included in plans? 

• Lack of inclusion of South Cumbria – have communities around Haverthwaite, Bootle, 

Ulverston and Millom been told to go to Barrow? How are you increasing the 

understanding of people in South Copeland? 

• There is a lack of understanding surrounding Integrated Care Communities by the 

general public. People in South Copeland in particular are confused – are they part of 

the Success Regime? 

General Concerns 

• Should be greater argument for additional funding due to rurality of area. 

• “I fear that this is all finance driven – it is not community centred.” 

474



 

• Comments relating to equality and rights, being a part of NHS England feel areas 

deserves the same health service as everyone across England. 

• Issues with proximity of hospitals and separation of families, with patients being left 

stranded a long way from home. 

• Concern there are still no risk assessments which have been carried out. 

• Has been stated there is a problem recruiting staff with adequate skill level, has been 

suggested to upskill the workforce to alleviate these issues, but if services are withdrawn 

there will be nowhere for them to train. 

Service Issues 

Acute & Emergency Care 

• Stated organisations have accepted the new ways of working but these have not been 

accepted by any union. 

Stroke services  

• Issues around plans for stroke services and the 15% of stroke patients who are 

haemorrhagic. Suggestions those travelling from the South of the country should be 

stabilised at West Cumberland Hospital first. 

Suggestions 

• Question around whether alternatives have been looked at such as air ambulance. 

• A call to lobby Government for additional funds for Cumbria due to deprivation and 

industry development. 

• Make Wigton hospital a hub and keep the beds. 

• Clarify the projections of births at Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle and West Cumberland 

Hospital in the PCBC and the Consultation document. 

• Are the best use of resources having nurses driving to patients at home or treating them 

under one roof in a community hospital? 

Penrith stakeholder meeting, Penrith, 7 November 2016 

Number of attendees unknown. 

Questions 

• Could you lay out what is planned for Alston and the pros and cons? 

• Where are the resources for adult social care and carer organisations going to come 

from? 

• Can you clarify about the split of CCGs? 

General Concerns 

475



 

• Staffing issues not being solved, building a new maternity facility in Furness, could be 

used to pay staff increased wage to retain.  

• Further concern around recruitment of carers specifically. How many of the current 

carers are 55 or over and will be retiring in the next ten years? How will hospitals and 

communities cope? Concern over the amount carers paid in comparison to general 

workforce. 

• When SR first started we were told to write in, we have now been told that these 

submissions have scrapped - do we have to put forward another written submission to 

the CCG? 

• There is confusion about whether it’s SR or CCG. 

• It seems like the closure of community impatient beds will only work alongside 

successful implementation of ICCs. But I can’t see any GPs or carer organisations 

working with you, saying that this is possible. 

• Discrepancies between the figures being quotes for PFI costs by Sir Neil McKay range 

from £6-20 million. 

Service Issues 

Community Hospital Inpatient Beds  

• Everyone is holding up Millom as an example, but Millom retained all 8 of its beds in the 

reorganisation 8 months ago. Nobody has talked about adult social care or funding for 

it. What’s going to change in the future, that’s going to get delayed transfers of care 

down? 

• I Keswick have a great GP service that works with the community, would be good to 

have additional 8 beds. There’s an ICC already. Until NHS sorts out Cumbria’s problems 

and gets staff, you will never solve the problems. 

• Request the retention of Wigton Hospital, lots of success stories where Newcastle told 

people they wouldn’t be able to live independently and Wigton helped them do that.  

• Concerns re-ablement and acute rehabilitation do not work. 

Suggestions 

• Incentives for staff - The NHS should work with businesses to highlight this to the 

government. We need more affordable homes to keep young people here. 

• The advantages of having more education so that people can deal with issues without 

going to GP and hospitals. 

• There shouldn’t be any bed closures until the ICCs are running effectively. People will 

suffer if not. Partnership working is very difficult to achieve, I think it will take 7 to 10 

years before ICCs can be set up and said to be working well. And closing beds would 

only save 2 million. 

476



 

Cockermouth League of Friends meeting, Cockermouth, 7 November 2016 

Number of attendees unknown. 

Questions 

• Cumbria Partnership NHS Foundation Trust stated they could not support an option 

with no beds at Cockermouth. Following this response, it was asked why CHIP Options 

3 & 4, which do propose no beds at Cockermouth, were included in the consultation? 

• If the hospital increases to 16 beds, what are the plans for this?  

• If Maryport beds close, where will patients go? 

• Why are social services not involved? 

• What does the wider consultation mean for Cockermouth? 

General Concerns 

• Concerns were raised around finances in the system and changes in one area only 

putting pressure on another. 

Service Issues 

Community Hospital Inpatient Beds (Cockermouth)  

• Cockermouth hospital building was designed to provide integrated care which puts it in 

a good place for the future, is not currently being used to full potential. 

Suggestions 

• Cockermouth League Of Friends wants to offer voluntary support to the hospital and 

asked where this is most needed. 

Copeland Scrutiny meeting, Whitehaven, 7 November 2016 

Attended by 4 residents.  

Questions 

• Discussion around how we are looking at different approaches to recruitment to help to 

get GPs training in expertise areas. Further discussion about the long processes often 

involved in recruitment/formal procedures to go through for consultants (lead times, 

advertising, formal decisions and notice) sometimes this might take up to 6 months 

plus. 

• Is there any way to know why we are losing medics and they are moving areas (is this 

just one place/reason?) 

• Will ICCs put more pressure on GPs to be present in communities – will they ever find 

the services to make it work. It needs investment in the community and people to do 

this. GP situation getting worse and people are working to their limit which seems to 

477



 

contrast with the current locum situation. Will the cost to the tax payer be a lot more? 

Will families have to do more if they can’t get the staff from social services? 

• Worries with ‘Closer to home’ as the systems are going to change – will the hubs 

change with this? 

General Concerns 

• Often Cumbria not recognised for funding because it is masked by larger area of the 

lakes but we are now one of the few CCGs to support overseas recruitment and NHS 

England are helping with the funding. 

• Discussion around the availability of medicines – this can be due to numerous factors 

including regulations, factories burning down, cost changes etc. 

• Need to be a certain size to make ICCs work-able and going back to the beginning of 

prevention instead of the ‘finger in the dam’ approach. In order to get things more co-

ordinated through integration. 

Service Issues 

Maternity services 

• Discussion around the maternity issues/options – Would have consultancy in both – but 

how do you make this safe without the paediatricians, again another national issue 

which is particularly affecting west Cumbria. 

Suggestions 

• Talk around primary and secondary care stages, telephone triage, minor ailment 

schemes, choose wisely campaigns – basically trying to do more to get all patients on 

the same page. People are currently coming to ‘crisis points’ as they can’t get through 

the system in a timely way and struggling to get appointments. 

• How much would Physician Associates help, in the case of community hospitals? Need 

to work differently in general practice (eg. Practices getting together to operate a 

service). 

Different kinds of professionals working in primary care team: pharmacy, psychologists 

etc. 

• “Feeling that Carlisle can go to Newcastle but West can’t go anywhere.” 

Eden District Council meeting, Penrith, 10 November 2016 

A total of 10 attendees. 

Questions 

With an over spend of over £70 million at what stage will the government intervene? What 

savings are the Success Regime projected to make? 

Service Issues 

478



 

Maternity services  

• In relation to maternity journeys to Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle – inaccurate ties 

quoted for those living further South of Whitehaven – there will be less impact at 

Cockermouth and Keswick if changes are made there as suggested. 

Suggestions 

• Concerns from Alston relating to closure of community hospital, alternative plans have 

been proposed. Have you seen this plan? Is it deliverable? 

• It’s a very legitimate point of view to say that you don’t like the option for urgent care 

as creates a fragility at Carlisle but we need to look at what strengthens services or 

makes them more sustainable. To not have a 24-hour A&E doesn’t seem to make sense. 

Copeland Disability Forum, Copeland, 23 November 2016 

Attended by members of Cumbria Deaf Association, Cumbria County Council & Copeland 

Borough Councillor and representatives from Headway & Parkinson’s Association. There was a 

total of 9 attendees. 

Questions 

• How will governance arrangements of ICC’s work, which agency leads, budgets, etc.? 

• What efforts do the acute hospital make to ensure that follow up appointments can be 

delivered closer to people’s homes? Currently most admitted to Wigton or Workington. 

• General Concerns 

• Additional concerns surrounding accessibility, with Stagecoach due to withdraw services 

in Copeland from January, resulting in no public transport going through Moresby with 

reduced services through Egremont. 

• NHS in the area is underfunded and under resourced, leading to dishonesty surrounding 

the consultation that this is not related to financial strains. Further points raised that 

ICC’s must be sufficiently funded in order to meet new demand.  

• Part of the A595 is having major works done until next year, with a temporary road 

currently in place. Additional points raised surrounding accessibility and separating 

families include questions specifically looking at the access of disabled people visiting 

their partner or family member. Not all taxis are equipped to transport disabled people 

for visiting, with this even more so on public transport. This leads to greater 

disadvantages for being a disabled person in West Cumbria. 

• Several concerns discuss the accessibility of disabled people into Cumberland Infirmary 

Carlisle hospital itself, citing several design flaws which leave disabled people at greater 

disadvantage of accessing the hospital. This is expanded into concern for disabled 

children and isolation. 

479



 

• The success of ICC’s will greatly depend on Adult Social Care and the commitment of 

Cumbria County Council.  

Service Issues 

Maternity services  

• Opinions that the preferred option is unsafe, with a need to put aside finances for 

litigation costs 

• Issues surrounding the transfer of women in labour and managing births in the 

ambulance. 

Stroke services  

• Concern over stroke and the ‘golden hour’ for treatment and delays in being treated.  

Not just surviving but the level of disability people are left with. 

Suggestions 

• Will there be a formal review of what is put in place at the end of the consultation and 

what will happen if its seen to be not working. 

Eden Local Council meeting, Penrith, 24 November 2016 

There was a total of 15-20 attendees. 

Questions 

• What exactly does care in the community mean & how is specialist care going to work 

for Eden? 

• What if I don’t like the options? i.e. don’t want Alston to close – Why are we limited to 

this small range of options? 

• Patient numbers at A&E – has health service done enough to educate people on what 

it’s actually for? 

• To what extent has the public finance at the infirmary caused issues with the budget 

already? 

General Concerns 

• Greater consideration of how people get to hospital and the distances they travel on 

buses 

• Why was the council not involved in this process? Did they not want to join in – was 

there no way of integrating? 

• If we accept care in community is a good thing, it needs to be set up at same time so 

that the existing system is running and parallel running – how is this achievable? What if 

the resource needed is not available? 

• Difficulty in understanding all the joint organisations – a very confusing system. 

480



 

• Business case states it is not about saving money, but about cost and using money 

wisely. Technology a big part of this; getting phone signal in Cumbria is an issue. 

Service Issues 

Community Hospital Inpatient Beds 

• Concerns around the future of Keswick hospital, it alleviates pressure off the acute 

hospitals. 

West Cumbria Community Forum, Cleator Moor, 25 November 2016 

There was a total of 30 attendees. 

Questions 

• How local is ‘place based’? 

• Wide range in the size of ICCs, are there any agreed size or sub groupings within ICCs? 

General Concerns 

• Concern regarding Moorside over the impact on already stretched health services with 

the influx of a large number of people. 

• Issues regarding finance and governance of different integrated organisations. 

• Comment that ICCs are ‘nothing new; has been around at various times in the past’, 

that it is not a technical issue, rather legal and accessing records, so why should it be 

any different this time? 

• Concern about the ICC timeline and not waiting for results of ‘pilot’ before rolling out 

more. 

Suggestions 

• Re-opening Penrith to Workington railway line would take pressure off roads.   

• NHS England and Cumbria County Council – looking at how to better co-ordinate and 

work more effectively together to be more efficient. 

Carlisle stakeholder meeting, Carlisle, 29 November 2016 

Number of attendees unknown. 

Questions 

• Are you offering diverse roles to doctors to keep them satisfied? 

• Are we showing enough imagination to deal with these issues? 

• What is the cost of ambulance compared to driving? 

• Why do we have a shortage of doctors and nurses? 

• How much dialogue have we had with the Moorside project? 

• Care in the community, how much influence do you have on that? 

481



 

• How much focus is around prevention because that can reduce the load by 20%. Are 

we making use of the pharmacy, tackling diabetes and obesity? 

General Concerns 

• General feeling that locums are paid too much with whole departments run by them. A 

cap was imposed, has this shown any difference in Cumbria? Locums are a poor 

solution due to continuity of service. 

• Concerns about deprivation in West Cumbria especially cost to visit family in hospital. 

• Nursing homes closing, cost of renting alone is high. 

• There’s a big difference between community infrastructure levy and the 106 agreement. 

Issues and confusion around the organisation of the health service. 

• There is a danger of consultation and document fatigue. At what level do we get the 

best return? 

• Does SR have capacity for carers for increased care in the community? 

Service Issues 

Community Hospital Inpatient Beds  

• Issues around stating community beds work best with 8 beds. If wanted a hospital with 

6 beds, would we want one trained member of staff on their own? Would we want one 

lone worker in the community hospital because there are not enough beds and is that 

good for mental health? 

Suggestions 

• Offer staff incentives i.e. longer contracts, housing, access to schools. 

• With vast numbers of redundancies among local authorities – can some of these people 

be retrained in areas within health industry? 

• Suggestion to provide emergency helicopters to deal with stroke and maternity 

emergencies. 

• Looking at other rural examples in the Highlands, Asia, Australia. 

Breast Feeding support group; Bumps to Babies, Whitehaven; Antenatal group Egremont, 29 

November 2016 

Attended by members of local mother and baby groups and expectant parents. There was a 

total of 50 attendees (11 Breastfeeding Support Group; 15 Bumps to Babies; 24 Antenatal 

Group) 

General Concerns 

• Various responses specifically related to accessing maternity services during labour and 

an emergency whether this be condition of roads, driving a partner direct or waiting for 

482



 

an ambulance and the potential need to return home if labour hasn’t progressed, 

especially those in the South of the county. 

• Will Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle be able to cope with increased demand across all the 

proposed service changes? 

Service Issues 

Maternity services  

• All attendees concerned about the risks to mum and baby if no full consultant led 

service at West Cumberland, as well as the withdrawal of special baby care unit causing 

great concern. 

• Large concerns related to assessing risk and the inability to predict a low risk pregnancy 

changing to a high-risk labour.  

Stroke services  

• Delivery speed of ‘golden hour’: would not reach Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle within 

required time. 

Eden Local Area Committee meeting, Penrith, 30 November 2016 

Number of attendees not known. 

General Concerns 

• Concern that resource for local areas gets sucked into ‘central’ services. 

• Annoyance (Councillor Hughes) that presentation talks so much about West 

Cumberland Hospital, where all services are going to be impacted including Cumberland 

Infirmary Carlisle. 

• Lots of concern about ambulance response times, along with resident’s desire to keep 

beds and the lack of carers in Alston. Offered solutions that the community support 

health services to deliver locally. 

• Concern from another colleague that the ICC geographical areas are not really based 

locally. 

Service Issues 

Community Hospital Inpatient Beds (Eden)  

• Disappointed that the consultation presentation still continues with the options for CHs 

as set out including no beds at Alston. 

• The consultation was essentially flawed: why if nothing has been pre-determined had 

we excluded any option with Alston in-patient beds. 

483



 

• Main concern was the lack of community capacity to be able to remove beds/activity at 

Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle. Lacks specific detail about what exactly will be delivered 

in the community. 

Suggestions 

• Review of NHS patient transport provision, signposting patients/families/staff to 

available NHS, public and community transport options, working with wider Cumbria 

community to develop car share schemes, community transport services etc. Want to 

see the NHS invest money into public transport noting the particular Eden issues. 

• Need to work together across health and social care. 

Equality Impact Analysis Workshop, Cumbria CCG, Penrith, 6 December 2016 

Stakeholder meeting, held on 6th December 2016. Organised by Action for Health Network and 

attended by members with a protected characteristic. There was a total of 28 attendees. 

Questions 

• Better Births talks about “maternity hubs” – will these be part of ICC model? 

• Sexual orientation and sexuality - may prefer anonymous service? 

General Concerns 

• Conducting an equality impact assessment as to what impact this consultation will have 

on certain vulnerable members of the population. Identifying issues and providing 

solutions where appropriate. Identified issues include race particularly among traveller 

and immigrant communities, religion and beliefs, gender with concerns around staff 

and dignity, disability and how to overcome these issues at various levels, sexual 

orientation, age, pregnancy/maternity, rural isolation/deprivation and carers. 

• Problems understanding and accessing information from certain communities, greater 

understanding needed of how NHS system works. 

• Concerns over services less likely to be accessed by men, both at present and in the 

future.  

• Issues releasing people back into the community - home may be adapted if long term 

disability, but if new disability (e.g. amputation, stroke) then home may not be ready. 

• Accessibility of public transport not only issue, changes to benefits system means that 

many people have lost their mobility care and are now reliant on others for transport. 

Cuts to bus subsidies, and so loss of services, make this worse. Affordability and 

deprivation concerns: transport costs less affordable for those in deprived wards which 

may be a barrier to them accessing services. 

• Older adults who experience social isolation will not be included fully if they do not have 

support and encouragement to access local health and care services. 

484



 

Service Issues 

Community Hospital Inpatient Beds  

• Closure of some community hospital beds and care in a community hospital in another 

community will make it more difficult for people in those areas to see their families, 

increasing their isolation. This is especially relevant where people have existing 

vulnerabilities around their mental health. 

Cleator Moor stakeholder meeting, Cleator Moor, 7 December 2016 

 Number of attendees unknown 

Questions 

• Will you share the assessments that you’ve done? 

• Where will you get the staff for Integrated Care Communities? 

• Have we got plans in place for ‘grow our own’ staff? 

• Have the costs of changing services been factored into this, in addition to the 

overspend? 

• Are you optimistic that about getting enough funding? 

General Concerns 

• Concern around the standard of risk assessment completed at start of consultation – 

not a full review. 

• Conflicting facts, others been told that the risk assessment will be done after the 

consultation has finished. Differing views - staff talk about risks to patients, SR talk 

about risk to organisation. Where is the risk assessment for patients? 

• Additional evidence that supports a lot of the options that was not there at the start of 

consultation. 

• More information needed on Integrated Care Communities. We have a growing elderly 

population, the care in the home services aren’t there now, and unless they are 

completely effective you’ll be putting lives at risks. 

• More transparency needed in process, does not look like co-production. This process, 

and the Closer to Home process, are flawed.  

• Different views and opinions from various national organisations including Royal College 

of Paediatrics and Royal College of Surgeons. 

• Issues around gaining and retaining qualified paediatrics in Whitehaven. Seen as ‘end of 

the line’ career wise by medical profession. 

• Concern around accessibility of consultation document need reassurance that the 

mitigation plans or proposals will be available to discuss. Been communication issues 

and not enough people are aware of the consultation and meetings.   

485



 

• You haven’t involved the right people who know the area. 

Service Issues 

Maternity services  

• Midwife led unit not safe. Have a duty to keep people safe, sending the service 

backwards. 

Children’s Services  

• Concern around lack of pediatric care in Whitehaven. Suggested need for consultants to 

remain at West Cumberland Hospital as more remote places e.g. Seascale is too far to 

travel. 

Community Hospital Inpatient Beds 

• Cumberland Infirmary had 25 bed-blockers this week, but Wigton Hospital said they 

had 14 free beds; isn’t it cheaper for patients to be moved there? Give them some 

rehab as well, before they get care in the community. 

Suggestions 

• Should Cumbria be treated as a unique case in the medical profession? 

• Difficult planning for the future if still uncertain. We need a realistic plan, which include 

a proper network not just a small unit here for paediatric healthcare.  Better links to 

Newcastle, better links into communities. Suggestions that rather than go down the 

consultations route, we need to have certainty for 5 - 10 years, so we can develop a 

good model and build that network, formalise that relationship with Newcastle. 

• Currently working on an urban model which is unsuitable. Government to rethink how 

all this works; funding for all services (social care, public health, NHS) needs to go into 

one put and we need to work together. 

LBGT stakeholders meeting, Carlisle, 15 December 2016 

Chaired by Christine Harrison. There was a total of 12 attendees. 

Questions 

• Currently how do NHS organisations get in touch with the LGBT+ community? 

• Is this consultation a direct result of Brexit? 

• General concerns 

• Not many attendees understood the consultation proposals in great detail. 

• Mental health is a major concern with no mention of this in the consultation, especially 

when working with ICC’s. 

486



 

• Lack of transgender services available in the area meaning people already need to travel 

to areas further afield such as Newcastle, along with a lack of understanding by medical 

professionals about transgender issues, and sometimes a lack of compassion. 

• Comments that waiting times for referrals for transgender surgeries are too extensive 

and some have been on waiting lists for at least three months. 

Suggestions 

• Needs an increase in communication between healthcare professionals and the LGBT+ 

community. It was understood that conversations need to be two ways. 

• Should be transitional period when implementing the changes to services. 

• LGBT+ people are less likely to go for STI screening and more should be done to 

promote awareness. There were suggestions for pamphlets to be distributed from local 

GP surgeries. 

6.3 Summary of issues raised at deliberative events 

A summary of the issues raised at the deliberative events is outlined below. 

Summary of the deliberative event on hyper-acute stroke services  

There was an overall acceptance by participants that because of the geography of Cumbria it 

would be difficult to ensure that everyone had the same opportunities of access.   Reluctantly 

the participants felt that probably the preferred option was the best one but they wanted to 

ensure that: 

• Evidence considers potential delays in ambulance and transport issues 

• Ambulance arrival times are improved 

• Prevention and education form part of the mitigation to encourage people to recognise 

the signs and get help quickly 

• Patients, carers, social care, GP’s, specialist hyper-acute stroke staff all work together to 

ensure a quality service 

• Mitigation including drip and ship continue to be investigated as services are developed. 

 

Summary of the deliberative event on community hospitals  

The discussion was lively and productive.  The following key points were made by participants:   

• No beds should be closed until the Integrated Community Care models are operational 

• Inpatient beds are essential in rural areas and all localities present said they are 

important for their wider community 

• Transport issues and weather conditions also increases the important role of community 

hospitals and of ICC based on local needs 

487



 

• Further work is needed to take place with partners, especially with Adult Social Care to 

consider the impact on the whole system of these proposals. 

 

Summary of the deliberative event on maternity services and paediatrics  

The discussion was lively and productive and the following key points were made by those 

present:   

• Risk assessments work carried out so far is insufficient and concerns were raised that 

there will be fatalities if the proposals are implemented. 

• Inpatient beds are essential in rural areas with the appropriate level of expertise available 

to deal with emergencies for both mothers, newborns and children. 

• Staff including midwives, nurses and GPs need to be more involved in the work of 

Success Regime to support further work to improve the current delivery model and build 

upon current improvements. 

• Ambulance issues are a big concern because of the time transfers could take, the 

specialist support needed and the need for more than 1 specialist transfer vehicle.  

People are concerned about the limited things that can be done to monitor mother and 

baby during the journey. 

• Local people should be involved in working on models for their community which fit 

local circumstance. 

• Staff working on a locum contract should be asked if they want permanent contracts 

and the recruitment process should be re-visited. 

 

Summary of the deliberative event with members of the deaf community 

The group chose to talk about Operations, Stroke and Emergency and Acute Care.Key for the 

group was communication and how this impacted on all their attendances at hospitals and in 

the community for health and care. Their ability to understand what was happening and why 

was greatly affected and they felt isolated from decision making as a result. They wanted the 

same access to information as anyone else and were keen to support engagement with the 

wider deaf community as much as they could. The use of text, tablets, visual minutes were 

some of the methods of engagement the group felt were positive but the need for interpreters 

and staff to be trained in deaf awareness was key. 

 

Key points discussed are summarised as: 

• Training in deaf awareness for all staff. 

488



 

• Training up to Level 1 in Sign Language for all staff and, for more complex issues, level 3 

and above (always use a qualified interpreter not a family member). 

• Treat deaf people equally and respect them, allow extra time if necessary 

• More discussion needed on the Success Regime proposals and implementation with the 

wider deaf community. 

 

It should be noted that interpreters at the event also actively contributed to these discussions 

with comments about what they see and hear during the course of their work with the deaf 

community. 

 

  

489



 

7 Analysis of NHS staff meetings 

 

7.1 Introduction 

A number of approaches were used by the Success Regime during the consultation to engage 

with and communicate with staff during the consultation period. 

This included providing information about the consultation process and options, and 

signposting staff to attend public meetings and staff engagement meetings. Staff were also 

encouraged to complete the online questionnaire.  

 

7.2 Themes from staff engagement 

The themes arising from the staff engagement sessions largely mirrored the concerns of the 

community with a greater emphasis on how changes would impact on their services and 

therefore their job security.  

Some of the key issues raised are summarised below: 

• Asking for information on timescales 

• Likely impact on their service (and therefore jobs) 

• Recruitment  

• Transport 

• Capacity of social services 

• Impact on palliative care 

There have been formal submissions submitted by staff groups which have been included in 

section 5.3 of this report. Submissions were received from the following groups: 

• Children and SCNU teams at West Cumberland Hospital  

• Consultant Paediatricians at Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle 

• Medical and Dental Staff Committee for Cumbria Partnership NHS Foundation Trust  

• Midwives and maternity care assistants at West Cumberland Hospital  

• North Cumbria University Hospitals NHS Trust Nursing, Midwifery and Allied Health 

Partnerships Leadership Team 

• North Cumbria University Hospitals NHS Trust Nursing, Midwifery and Allied Health 

Partnerships Leadership Team  

• Royal College of General Practitioners, Cumbria Faculty  

• The Royal College of Midwives North Cumbria  

• West Cumberland Hospital Emergency Department team  

490



 

• West Cumbria NHS staff  

• Wigton Hospital Staff 

Any individual responses from staff to the consultation questionnaire have been analysed as 

part of the overall report. 

 

 

 

 

  

491



 

8 Analysis of resident telephone survey 

8.1 Introduction 

This section reports the results from a telephone survey of 1002 residents across West, North 

and East Cumbria. The telephone survey was conducted from the 24th November to the 18th 

December 2016. 

The purpose of the telephone survey was to supplement the information provided by the other 

channels. This method captures views of a more randomised sample of the population than 

other self-selecting consultation channels and provide findings that are representative of the 

population.  

A broadly representative sample was captured through a quota sample method, with quotas set 

for demographics and geography. The sample breakdown is provided below. 

The questions asked in the survey were different to those in the main consultation response 

form and the results should not be directly compared. The surveys were designed to provide 

additional information about residents’ perceptions of the service areas, and capture additional 

measures such as awareness of the consultation. The full questionnaire included scripted 

question introductions can be viewed in Appendix B. 

Analysis of the responses has been conducted using statistical software. Where respondents 

were asked to rank their top three choices, a weighted percentage is displayed in this report. 

This was calculated by assigning weightings of ‘3’ to any first choices, ‘2’ to second choices, 

and ‘1’ to third choices. The weighted percentage is the percentage of this weighted total for 

each option. For example: 

 

Table 35: Example of weighted percentage calculation 

 First choice Second 

choice 

Third 

choice 

Weighted 

total 

Weighted 

% 

E.g. Option A 5 4 1 24 40% 

E.g. Option B 3 5 2 21 35% 

E.g. Option C 2 1 7 15 25% 

 

E.g. Option A is chosen 5 times as a first choice, 4 times as a second choice and once as a third 

choice, so its weighted total is 24 (5 first choices*3 + 4 second choices*2 + 1 first choice*1). 

This accounts for 40% of all the weighted totals. 

Percentages may not add up to 100 per cent due to rounding.  

492



 

8.2 Sample breakdown 
Below is the breakdown of the survey sample by age, gender, ethnicity and district. 

 
 

Age  Gender 
16-25 128  Male 472 
26-35 120  Female 527 
36-45 163  Prefer not 

to say 
3 

46-55 180    
56-65 177    
66-75 131    
76+ 103    

 

Ethnicity  District 
White 
English/Welsh/Scottish/Northern 
Irish/British 

957  Allerdale  314 

White Other 2  Carlisle  300 
Mixed/Multiple ethnicities 10  Copeland  237 

Asian or Asian British 12  Eden  151 

Black or Black British 10    

Other 11    

 

8.3 Findings 

Experience of using secondary care 

Respondents were asked if they had any experience of using any of the following hospital 

services in the past 12 months (people could state more than one). 

493



 

While almost a third of respondents had not used any secondary care services, 42% had used 

Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle and 31% had used West Cumberland Hospital in Whitehaven. A 

third of respondents had experience of one of the community hospitals.  

Fig. 1: Have you had any experience of using any of the healthcare institutions in the past 12 months? (% response) 

 

Awareness of the consultation  

People were asked if they had heard about the consultation. Almost two-thirds of respondents 

(64%) had not heard of the consultation. (Fig. 2) 

Fig. 2: Have you heard about the Healthcare for the Future consultation (% response) 

  

42%

31%

11%

7%

5%

4%

1%

0.4%

0.1%

0%

4%

31%

Cumberland infirmary, Carlisle

West Cumberland Hospital, Whitehaven

Workington Community Hospital

Penrith Community Hospital

Cockermouth Community Hospital

Mary Hewetson Cottage Hospital, Keswick

Victoria Cottage Hospital, Maryport

Brampton War Memorial Hospital

Ruth Lancaster James Cottage Hospital, Alston

Wigton Community Hospital

Other

None of the above
Source: TCC, Nov- Dec 2016 Base: 1002

Yes- heard a lot, 
14%

Yes- heard a little, 
21%

No - not at all, 
64%

Source: TCC, Nov- Dec 2016 Base: 1002

494



 

Of those who had heard of it, over half (53%) had heard about it from local newspapers. A 

fifth had heard about it on social media and 19% by word of mouth. (Fig. 3) 

Fig. 3: If yes, where did you hear about it? (% - more than one response allowed) 

 

13% of survey participants had read the consultation document. 

Hospital services  

People were asked the extent to which they agreed with the statement that ‘hospital services 

that are not meeting basic national healthcare standards should change in order to do so’.  

Fig. 4: Do you agree or disagree that hospital services that are not meeting basic national healthcare standards 
should change in order to do so? 

 

53%

20%

19%

17%

16%

13%

9%

6%

5%

4%

1%

Local newspapers

Social media

Word of mouth

Other

Radio

Newsletters in community

Information in healthcare setting

Staff information

Public meetings

Community Noticeboards

Chatty Van

Source: TCC Nov-Dec 2016, Base: 356 

Strongly agree, 
56%

Slightly agree, 19%

Neither agree nor 
disagree, 13%

Tend to disagree, 
7%

Strongly disagree, 
5%

Source: TCC Nov-Dec 2016, Base: 1002

495



 

People were also asked the extent they agreed with the statement ‘if there is a health service 

traditionally provided in hospital, but could be provided at a GP surgery or in patients’ homes, 

this should be done’. 

Fig. 5: Hospital services that could be provided at a GP surgery / patients' homes should be (% agreement) 

 

 

Maternity services 

8% of respondents had used maternity services in Cumbria in the last 12 months. 

Asked to rank from a prompted list of the most important factors to consider when making any 

changes to maternity services, the factor attributed the highest level of importance overall was 

‘maintaining consultant-led maternity services at West Cumberland Hospital’ (34%), followed 

by achieving best practice clinical standards and safety (26%). 

Table 36: Important factors to consider when changing maternity services 

Rank Consideration % first 

choice 

% weighted 

1 Maintaining consultant-led maternity services at West 

Cumberland Hospital in Whitehaven 

34% 29% 

2 Achieving best practice clinical standards and safety 26% 22% 

3 Reducing travel times for pregnant women 18% 20% 

4 Maintaining consultant-led maternity services at Cumberland 

Infirmary in Carlisle 

18% 18% 

5 Avoiding reliance on temporary locum doctors that could 

create short-term service closures 

2% 6% 

6 Ensuring any plans are sustainable  2% 4% 

 

Strongly agree, 
47%

Slightly agree, 30%

Neither agree nor 
disagree, 9%

Tend to disagree, 
7%

Strongly disagree, 
7%

Source: TCC Nov-Dec 2016, Base: 1002

496



 

Table 37: Important factors to consider when changing maternity services, by district 

 

Allerdale Carlisle Copeland Eden 

First 
choice 
% 

Weight
ed % 

First 
choice 
% 

Weight
ed % 

First 
choice 
% 

Weight
ed % 

First 
choice 
% 

Weight
ed % 

Achieving best practice clinical 
standards and safety 20% 20% 35% 26% 16% 18% 38% 28% 

Maintaining consultant-led 
maternity unit services at 
Cumberland Infirmary in Carlisle 

12% 13% 28% 27% 8% 10% 25% 25% 

Maintaining consultant-led 
maternity unit services at West 
Cumberland Hospital in 
Whitehaven 

46% 35% 14% 20% 59% 41% 7% 13% 

Ensuring any plans are 
sustainable 2% 4% 2% 4% 1% 4% 4% 7% 

Avoiding reliance on temporary 
locum doctors that could create 
short term service closures 

1% 7% 3% 6% 1% 6% 7% 8% 

Reducing travel times for 
pregnant women 19% 21% 18% 18% 14% 20% 20% 19% 

Total respondents 314 300 237 151 

Respondents were offered the opportunity to make additional comments or observations. Of 

those who responded, the majority of comments focused on the need to retain a consultant-led 

maternity unit at both hospital sites. Many expressed concern about the travel time between 

Whitehaven and Carlisle and the potential risk on the health of a mother and child who had to 

face that journey.  

Others commented that all of these factors were important. A small number raised the issue of 

the need for more NHS funding and the need to recruit more staff. A small number of 

comments were also made about the cost of hospital parking and the impact on partners, 

families and friends visiting an expectant mother or new-born child.  

Children’s services 

3% of respondents had used children’s services in Cumbria in the last 12 months. 

People were asked to rank the most important three factors when considering any changes to 

children’s services. These are shown in ranked order of importance, using a weighted rank 

analysis, with the most important listed first. The % of respondents who had listed them as 

most important is also displayed to show the relative difference between the factors. 

Table 38: Important factors to consider when changing children’s services 

Rank Consideration % first 

choice 

% 

weighted 

1 Achieving best practice clinical standards and safety  36% 26% 

2 Maintaining all current inpatient treatment at West 25% 24% 

497



 

Cumberland Hospital in Whitehaven 

3 Avoiding long travel times for service users and their 

families  

16% 20% 

4 Maintaining all current inpatient treatment at 

Cumberland Infirmary in Carlisle 

15% 17% 

5 Avoiding reliance on temporary locum doctors that 

could create short-term service closures 

5% 8% 

6 Ensuring any plans are sustainable  2% 5% 

 

Table 39: Important factors to consider when changing children’s services, by district 

 

Allerdale Carlisle Copeland Eden 
First 
choice 
% 

Weigh
ted % 

First 
choice 
% 

Weigh
ted % 

First 
choice 
% 

Weigh
ted % 

First 
choice 
% 

Weigh
ted % 

Achieving best 
practice clinical 
standards and safety 

35% 25% 39% 27% 14% 15% 46% 30% 

Maintaining all 
current inpatient 
treatment at 
Cumberland 
Infirmary in Carlisle  

10% 12% 24% 25% 4% 7% 21% 23% 

Maintaining all 
current inpatient 
treatment at West 
Cumberland Hospital 
in Whitehaven 

31% 28% 8% 16% 26% 24% 4% 12% 

Ensuring any plans 
are sustainable 1% 5% 3% 5% 5% 6% 7% 9% 

Avoiding long travel 
times for service 
users and their 
families 

17% 21% 22% 20% 1% 10% 15% 17% 

Avoiding reliance on 
temporary locum 
doctors that can 
create short term 
service closures 

6% 9% 4% 7% 50% 38% 7% 10% 

Total respondents 314 300 237 151 

 

Respondents were offered the opportunity to make additional comments or observations. Of 

those who responded, a significant number of comments focused on the need to have services 

as locally as possible so that children and their families could have quick and easy access to high 

quality care. Many made the point that having inpatient treatment at both hospital sites was 

necessary to enable this to happen. They also felt that this would have a more positive impact 

498



 

on patient safety. Some linked these points with the travel issues that people of Cumbria 

uniquely face reinforcing the need for high quality care closer to home.  

A number of respondents also made the point about the need for more staff to provide the 

right care at the right time. 

 

Community hospital inpatient beds 

10% of respondents had used community hospital inpatient services in Cumbria in the last 12 

months. 

People were asked to rank the most important three factors when considering any changes to 

community hospital inpatient services. These are shown in ranked order of importance, using a 

weighted rank analysis, with the most important listed first. The % of respondents who had 

listed them as most important is also displayed to show the relative difference between the 

factors. 

Table 40: Important factors to consider when changing community hospital inpatient services 

Rank Consideration % first 

choice 

% 

weighted 

1 Achieving best practice clinical standards and safety  36% 26% 

2 Avoiding unexpected closures because of staff 

shortages 

23% 21% 

3 Avoiding significant reductions in inpatient beds overall 20% 20% 

4 Avoiding long travel times for service users and their 

families  

15% 20% 

5 Ensuring any plans are sustainable  4% 7% 

6 Make sure staff rotas work efficiently  3% 6% 

 

Table 41: Important factors to consider when changing community hospital inpatient services, by district 

 

Allerdale Carlisle Copeland Eden 
First 
choice 
% 

Weigh
ted % 

First 
choice 
% 

Weigh
ted % 

First 
choice 
% 

Weigh
ted % 

First 
choice 
% 

Weigh
ted % 

Achieving best 
practice clinical 
standards and 
safety 

32% 24% 38% 27% 34% 27% 40% 28% 

Avoiding 
significant 
reductions in 
inpatient beds 

25% 23% 21% 22% 14% 16% 16% 20% 

499



 

 
Allerdale Carlisle Copeland Eden 

overall 
Ensuring any plans 
are sustainable 

2% 6% 3% 7% 8% 9% 6% 9% 

Avoiding long 
journey times for 
service users and 
their families 

18% 22% 10% 18% 19% 22% 11% 15% 

Making sure staff 
rotas work 
efficiently 

2% 5% 2% 6% 3% 6% 5% 9% 

Avoiding 
unexpected 
closures because 
of staff shortages 

21% 20% 26% 21% 23% 21% 21% 20% 

Total respondents 314 300 237 151 

 

Respondents were offered the opportunity to make additional comments or observations. Of 

those who responded, the majority of comments focused on the need to retain as many 

inpatient beds in community hospitals as possible to allow patients to have access to services 

close to their homes. This was linked in some instances to the fact this would be more likely to 

lead to improved health outcomes for patients and to less additional pressure on a patient’s 

family friends.  

A small number also spoke about the role community hospitals played in a patient’s journey and 

reinforced the need for more seamless working between acute hospitals and community 

hospitals (to avoid issues such as bed blocking) and between community hospitals and GPs to 

ensure that high quality ‘at home’ care could be provided following a patient’s discharge from 

hospitals.  

Emergency and acute care services 

26% of respondents had used emergency and acute care services in Cumbria in the last 12 

months. 

People were asked to rank the most important three factors when considering any changes to 

emergency and acute care services. These are shown in ranked order of importance, using a 

weighted rank analysis, with the most important listed first. The % of respondents who had 

listed them as most important is also displayed to show the relative difference between the 

factors. 

 

 

Table 42: Important factors to consider when changing emergency and acute care services 

Rank Consideration % first 

choice 

% 

weighted 

500



 

1 Retaining 24 hour A&E departments in both Carlisle and 

Whitehaven  

45% 36% 

2 Achieving best practice clinical standards and safety  29% 21% 

3 Retaining an intensive care unit at Cumberland Infirmary 

in Carlisle  

8% 15% 

4 Retaining an intensive care unit at West Cumberland 

Hospital in Whitehaven 

8% 15% 

5 Avoiding long travel times for service users and their 

families 

10% 14% 

 

Table 43: Important factors to consider when changing emergency and acute care services, by district 

 

Allerdale Carlisle Copeland Eden 
First 
choice 
% 

Weigh
ted % 

First 
choice 
% 

Weigh
ted % 

First 
choice 
% 

Weigh
ted % 

First 
choice 
% 

Weigh
ted % 

Achieving best 
practice clinical 
standards and 
safety 

27% 19% 31% 23% 22% 17% 19% 17% 

Retaining 24 hour 
A&E departments 
in both Carlisle 
and Whitehaven 

44% 34% 44% 35% 52% 37% 20% 23% 

Retaining an 
intensive care unit 
at Cumberland 
Infirmary in Carlisle 

4% 12% 14% 22% 2% 7% 8% 14% 

Retaining an 
intensive care unit 
at West 
Cumberland 
Hospital in 
Whitehaven 

12% 19% 2% 8% 15% 23% 3% 6% 

Avoiding long 
journey times for 
service users 

12% 15% 9% 12% 9% 15% 50% 40% 

Total respondents 314 300 237 151 

Respondents were offered the opportunity to make additional comments or observations. Of 

those who responded, many made the case to retain full emergency and acute services at both 

West Cumberland Hospital and Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle.  

Many comments also referred to the long travel times between both hospitals and the increased 

risk to life and patient safety if people had to travel extra distances to access emergency and 

acute care. 

501



 

Stroke services 

4% of respondents had used stroke services in Cumbria in the last 12 months. 

People were asked to rank the most important three factors when considering any changes to 

emergency and acute care services. These are shown in ranked order of importance, using a 

weighted rank analysis, with the most important listed first. The % of respondents who had 

listed them as most important is also displayed to show the relative difference between the 

factors. 

Table 44: Important factors to consider when changing stroke services 

Rank Consideration % first 

choice 

% 

weighted 

1 Developing a 7 day a week hyper-acute stroke unit in 

Carlisle for patients across West, North and East 

Cumbria  

42% 31% 

2 Achieving best practice clinical standards and safety  27% 25% 

3 Retaining current 5 day a week services at West 

Cumberland Hospital in Whitehaven 

18% 20% 

4 Retaining current 5 day a week services at Cumberland 

Infirmary in Carlisle  

9% 14% 

5 Ensuring any plans are sustainable 3% 9% 

 

Table 45: Important factors to consider when changing stroke services, by district 

 

Allerdale Carlisle Copeland Eden 
First 
choice 
% 

Weigh
ted % 

First 
choice 
% 

Weigh
ted % 

First 
choice 
% 

Weigh
ted % 

First 
choice 
% 

Weigh
ted % 

Achieving best 
practice clinical 
standards and safety 

25% 22% 30% 27% 26% 24% 30% 27% 

Ensuring any plans 
are sustainable 3% 9% 4% 10% 2% 7% 3% 12% 

Retaining current 5 
day a week services 
at Cumberland 
Infirmary in Carlisle 

8% 14% 11% 17% 8% 11% 10% 16% 

Retaining current 5 
day a week services 
at West Cumberland 
Hospital in 
Whitehaven 

23% 24% 2% 10% 41% 35% 3% 9% 

Developing a 7 day a 
week Hyper-Acute 
Stroke Unit in Carlisle 

41% 31% 53% 36% 22% 24% 53% 36% 

502



 

for patients across 
West, North and East 
Cumbria 

Total respondents 314 300 237 151 

 

Respondents were offered the opportunity to make additional comments or observations. Of 

those who responded, many raised the issue of having a 7 day a week stroke service at both 

hospital sites. A significant number also raised the issue of a quick response to suspected stroke 

symptoms and expressed concern that the additional travel time from Whitehaven to Carlisle 

might impact negatively on a suspected stroke patient’s chances of survival / recovery. 

A small number also referred to the need for more expert staff being available to meet current 

and future need. 

Emergency surgery, trauma or orthopaedic services 

11% of respondents had used emergency surgery, trauma or orthopaedic services in Cumbria in 

the last 12 months. 

People were asked to rank the most important three factors when considering any changes to 

emergency and acute care services. These are shown in ranked order of importance, using a 

weighted rank analysis, with the most important listed first. The % of respondents who had 

listed them as most important is also displayed to show the relative difference between the 

factors. 

Table 46: Important factors to consider when changing emergency surgery, trauma or orthopaedic services 

Rank Consideration % first 

choice 

% 

weighted 

1 Achieving best practice clinical standards and safety  40% 28% 

2 Provision of additional emergency surgery and trauma 

services at West Cumberland Hospital  

27% 27% 

3 Maintaining services provided at Cumberland Infirmary 

in Carlisle  

21% 22% 

4 Travel time and transport links  6% 15% 

5 Ensuring any plans are sustainable 5% 9% 

 

Table 47: Important factors to consider when changing emergency surgery, trauma or orthopaedic services 

 

Allerdale Carlisle Copeland Eden 
First 
choice 
% 

Weigh
ted % 

First 
choice 
% 

Weigh
ted % 

First 
choice 
% 

Weigh
ted % 

First 
choice 
% 

Weigh
ted % 

503



 

Achieving best 
practice clinical 
standards and 
safety 

36% 26% 46% 31% 33% 25% 50% 31% 

Maintaining services 
provided at 
Cumberland 
Infirmary in Carlisle 

18% 18% 33% 31% 6% 11% 26% 29% 

Provision of 
additional 
emergency surgery 
and trauma services 
at West 
Cumberland 
Hospital 

36% 32% 11% 18% 48% 38% 6% 14% 

Travel time and 
transport links 

7% 17% 5% 11% 8% 17% 5% 11% 

Ensuring any plans 
are sustainable 2% 7% 6% 9% 5% 9% 12% 14% 

Total respondents 314 300 237 151 

 

Respondents were offered the opportunity to make additional comments or observations. Of 

those who responded, many made the point about the importance of travel time to get to 

emergency services and some linked this to the need to maintain current level of services at 

both hospital sites. A small number also made reference to the need for more specialist staff to 

be recruited to ensure everyone received high quality care. 

 

  

504



 

9 Analysis of other responses 

 

9.1 Introduction 

Responses were received through other channels including social media, video and petitions. 

These are noted below. 

 

9.2 Social media 

Social media posts and comments to the Success Regime’s Facebook page, Twitter account 

(@SRCumbria) and comments on the Healthcare for the Future consultation YouTube channel, 

have been logged and analysed thematically. This includes visitors to the site who posted on the 

group page, sent a direct message, or commented on other people’s posts.  

Table 48: Total number of social media responses 

Channel Responses  

Facebook 85 

Twitter 9 

Youtube 1 

 

Major concerns in response to the consultation 

Among the main concerns raised by those who responded to the consultation via social media 

were comments on the location of West Cumbria in relation to Carlisle. This was framed 

around a number of sub-categories and identified location as being the main reason for 

opposition to preferred proposals.  

Geography and Accessibility 

Many respondents were concerned by the difficulty of accessing Cumberland Infirmary from 

West Cumbria, with the local geography and weather hazards frequently mentioned. 

Particularly during winter, respondents noted and included photographs of their journeys being 

inaccessible due to recent snowfall. This was particularly cited regarding Alston, where 

communities were feared to be left isolated due to closures of the A595 and A686. 

The uniqueness of the county’s geography and its rurality were given as reasons why services 

should not be centralised at Carlisle. Distance and travel time concerns were raised particularly 

in relation to maternity and A&E services. 

505



 

Separating Families 

Again, regarding distance and accessibility of services, various comments were made about the 

impact and effect separating families would have. Some pointed towards the cost of visiting 

family members and the affordability and sustainability of this, suggesting this may lead to 

increased deprivation and financial hardship of families in West Cumbria.  

Others expressed concern with the isolation of patients from loved ones, particularly noting the 

effect on mental health, as well as recovery. The added separation of families was noted in the 

case of parents having to travel to visit one child in hospital, while needing to leave other 

children at home.  

Capacity 

Cumberland Infirmary’s ability to cope with additional patients was doubted, as it was stated 

the hospital already regularly reaches maximum capacity. Thoughts were expressed as to how 

further demand could be placed on this hospital with no additional investment. Capacity was 

also highlighted in relation to community hospitals and the closure of beds, including the 

impact this would have in further stretching the capacity at acute hospitals. 

Equality and Rights 

Respondents commented that proposals see West Cumbrians receiving less than their 

counterparts in Carlisle, in some cases referring to a ‘second-class’ health service, and noting 

that everyone deserves the same services and that they too are worthy of equal access to 

healthcare, for reasons including the fact that they pay the same taxes. Comparisons were also 

made between West Cumbria and the rest of the country as a whole, with a feeling that those 

living in rural areas are not receiving the same level of healthcare as those in urban areas. 

Suggestions 

As well as providing a response to the consultation, social media posts also included various 

suggestions for the future provision of healthcare in the area. 

A number of arguments were made for further investment or specialised funding into Cumbria, 

justified by its unique challenges, with suggestions the county’s rurality and isolated population 

needed to be taken into greater consideration. West Cumberland Hospital and Ruth James 

Lancaster Hospital in Alston received particular attention on this point. 

An isolated response suggested a contingency plan be made in the event that Cumberland 

Infirmary is closed due to unforeseen events such as flooding or power cuts.  More specifically, 

a suggestion was mentioned to continue all non-complex trauma at WCH, rather than 

transferring patients as is currently the case in the event of a broken limb, for example, to 

Carlisle for treatment.  

506



 

Consultation criticism 

A considerable portion of responses pointed to a lack of trust in the consultation process, citing 

either lack of trust towards the document and decision makers or the perceived lack of local 

input. Current consultation proposals were suggested to be not innovative enough, with an 

isolated response stating that the process was merely a continuation of those previously 

conducted and has not been developed based on previous feedback. 

Others saw the consultation process as a waste of money, with suggestions of potential money 

to be saved elsewhere.  

Campaign response 

A campaign response posted by 6 individuals mentioned accountability should their family 

members be negatively affected: 

“I would like to declare that should anything happen to either myself, my [husband/wife], 

children, [grandchildren] or our family. That is a direct result of Stephen Eames and SR failure to 

protect all aspects of Acute Healthcare and Consultant Led Maternity at West Cumberland 

Hospital. I will hold him totally accountable and will take legal proceedings against him and all 

other members of the Success Regime.” 

 

9.3 Petitions 

 6 petitions were received, all opposing the proposals. These are described below. 

Cumberland News: Save our Services 

"I appeal to the Success Regime to rethink its proposals because: 

- Removing consultant-led maternity care from the West Cumberland Hospital is not safe. 

- We cannot afford to lose beds from our community hospitals. It would put an unfair burden 

on patients and families.  

- No patients - adults or children - should have to undertake risky transfers for care. 

- Health chiefs - locally and nationally - have not addressed serious concerns raised across north 

and west Cumbria" 

3583 reported online signatures (adjusted total 3249) 

(Of a subsample of 3380, 1 ‘test’ and 314 duplicates – with both name and email address 

duplicated – were found; this was amended pro rata for the additional signatures) 

6601 reported paper signatures (adjusted total 5908) 

507



 

(The reported count included two other petitions, which are listed separately below. A random 

check of the signature lists revealed no discrepancies with the reported numbers. A check of 

batches of paper forms (as printed in newspapers) revealed five duplicates and 4 blank forms). 

TOTAL SIGNATURES: 9157 

 

Say No to Nonsense - Stop the Success Regime 

"We the undersigned consider that The Success Regime's proposals will result in a poorer 

services for all residents of Cumbria. The proposals place a heavy burden on patients and their 

families. Bed closures will harm our elderly population. There will be an increased cost in 

travelling and patient safety will be compromised." 

394 signatures 

 

Women’s Institute 

“We – Members of variouis Women’s Institute Groups in West Cumbria strongly object to the 

“Success Group’s” proposals to downgrade many services at the West Cumberland Hospital in 

Whitehaven and to transfer them to the Cumberland Infirmary in Carlisle.” 

64 signatures 

 

Alston Labour Party: Petition Against The Success Regime's Proposals 

No message 

24 signatures 

 

Our lives are under threat! Save Alston Cottage Hospital beds 

"Our cottage hospital is threatened, and it’s serious. We are a small community, separated by 

high passes and difficult roads from the next available hospital facilities (the Cumberland 

Infirmary in Carlisle is nearly 30 miles from Alston, more from other parts of Alston Moor). Our 

hospital provides first-call emergency facilities (a nurse-led treatment unit), used by locals and 

visiting tourists alike, and beds used for convalescence and the care of people who are dying.  

Without our hospital, the whole community will suffer. Public transport to Carlisle is extremely 

limited; the car journey is long and can be very difficult in winter. To travel for 50-70 minutes 

each way for a 10-minute visit (often all a sick person can cope with) cannot be done every day; 

the need to take time off work, caring commitments or school puts a strain on family and 

friends. 

508



 

The community is unanimous – we need our hospital and the cost of removing our remaining 

in-patient beds is too high in its impact on all of us. Cutting them to seven was already a 

mistake; removing them entirely is disastrous. We need 12-16 beds. We need medical beds for 

step up and step down care both of which take pressure off the Cumberland Infirmary. We 

need beds for respite, palletive and end of life care. 

It might even prove difficult to maintain our GP surgery without the hospital. We may be 

remote, but we still matter.  

Please sign to support us and our hospital." 

698 signatures, although this goes back 8 months. 1 is on there from 20 days ago so beyond 

the deadline, and there are 5 more from 'a month ago' non-specifically. 

 

Penrith Border Labour Party: Success Regime Petition 

“As the community of West, North and East Cumbria we have said: 

NO – to closing in-patient beds in community hospitals 

NO – to the downgrading of maternity and other services at the West Cumberland Hospital 

YES – to a secure future for healthcare in our largely rural area.  

"Success Regime" - is failing Cumbria   

WE’VE BEEN IGNORED.  THE SUCCESS REGIME INTENDS TO: 

CLOSE all the in-patient beds in Wigton, Alston and Maryport community hospitals 

DOWNGRADE services at the West Cumberland Hospital 

LABOUR IS FIGHTING THE TORY “SUSTAINABILITY & TRANSFORMATION PLANS” HERE IN 

CUMBRIA, AND ACROSS ENGLAND. 

Sign and share the petition below NOW!!  

The Tories billed this as a way to save money – not lives. 

They claim changes are essential because hospitals can’t recruit staff – hardly surprising when 

closures have been threatened! 

They say that ‘Integrated Care Communities’ (ICCs) will provide what’s needed – but their 

proposals don’t cover these.  They are in the early stages of planning.  Success Regime boss Sir 

Neil Mackay has publicly stated that the ICCs won’t be up-and-running before the changes are 

made and the beds closed. 

If implemented, these plans would damage people’s lives across Cumbria. Show your support 

for our hospitals; sign the petition. 

THIS TORY PLAN MAKES THE NHS SIMPLER TO HAND OVER TO PRIVATE BUSINESSES. 

CLOSING ALSTON HOSPITAL DESTROYS HEALTHCARE ON ALSTON MOOR. PEOPLE WILL 

LEAVE.  END OF A COMMUNITY. 

DOWNGRADING WEST CUMBERLAND HOSPITAL LEAVES AN INCREASING POPULATION 

WITHOUT ESSENTIAL SERVICES." 

509



 

313 signatures 

 

9.4 Campaign letters 

Two campaign letters – signed statements that were reproduced and submitted by several 

respondents – were received. 

The text of these responses is outlined below. Where respondents have altered the content of 

the response so that it is unique, this has been taken into account in the wider analysis within 

the ‘Individual Submissions’ section, or summarised below. 

Campaign response 1 – West Cumbrians’ Voice for Health Care 

"We the undersigned reject the proposals set out in the public consultation document: The 

Future of Health Care in West, North and East Cumbria, on the grounds that they 

disproportionately and seriously disadvantage the people of West Cumbria.  

The proposed reduction or removal of maternity services, children’s services, emergency and 

acute care, hyper-acute stroke services and emergency and trauma services from West Cumbria 

will increase inequality of services and inequality of access to services to the whole population 

of the area.  

We also call for a review of the proposals to consolidate inpatient community beds onto a 

reduced number of sites, leaving some isolated communities without community beds. 

We had been led to believe that innovative, workable solutions for the problems faced by the 

health and social care services in Cumbria would be found.  We are disappointed that this has 

not been the case." 

This response was received, in part or in full, 31 times, including the initial template from West 

Cumbrians’ Voice for Healthcare. 

This response was signed on behalf of the following organisations and elected representatives: 

• Aspatria Medical Group 

• Ennerdale & Kinniside Parish Council 

• Prospect Union 

• Sellafield Workers Campaign 

• Sellafield Joint Shop Stewards Committee 

• Whitehaven Residents and Nuclear Workers 

• Weddicar Parish Council 

• Cllr Alan Tyson (Cockermouth Town Council) 

510



 

In addition to the signed forms, a signature list was submitted by West Cumbrians’ Voice for 

Healthcare, of 89 signatures. This included members of the public, healthcare professionals and 

representatives of local organisations.  

In the case of Sellafield Workers Campaign and Sellafield Joint Shop Stewards Committee the 

response included specific reference to the impact of the Moorside development on the local 

population, adding strain to health services. 

Campaign response 2 

“Dear Success Regime Consultation Team 

I write in response to your document "The Future of Healthcare in West, North & East 

Cumbria”. It is not possible to respond via your questionnaire, since this permits little more than 

choice between flawed options, and provides no means of telling you that we will never accept 

any of the options you are suggesting. As a resident of Alston Moor, the fate of our community 

hospital (which you propose doing away with, or, in your terms 'closing the in  patient beds') is 

uppermost in my mind, but my concerns are not confined to this one issue. 

This whole consultation document is deeply flawed. It has ignored all the prior so-called 

consultation and seeks to impose a set of options that claim to have clinical rationale, but fails 

to make an adequate case for any of them (what reasons ARE given are contradicted by   a 

number of clinicians in the area). No financial information is provided, despite the budget deficit 

being another justification offered. Little thought appears to have been given to the reasons 

behind a third supposed reason for the changes, namely a difficulty in recruitment. 

Your specific proposals concern the fate of services at the West Cumberland Hospital, and of 

the community hospitals. Alongside your proposals, you claim that Integrated Care 

Communities will provide a new and different way of doing things that will provide what is 

needed in place of the community hospitals and the proposed reduction in beds across the 

region. Since there are as yet no functioning ICCs, nor even plans developed for them, it seems 

absurd to demand that we make a choice of options that rely on these as yet non-existent 

entities to make healthcare safe and effective across west, north and east Cumbria. 

Social care has been massively cut -  £4.6 billion cut from the care budget since 2010, and more 

cuts planned -   so the notion that there is some way to provide an integration of health and 

care that will magically solve all problems seems more than a little far-fetched. Stating that 

people prefer to be in their own homes rather than hospital might be true for a majority IF there 

were good, free, homecare, but this does not exist. Hence reduction of community hospital 

beds and closure of three community hospitals is a deeply flawed idea. 

Add to all this your total failure to comprehend the situation of a rural county like Cumbria, and 

you may see why we are implacably opposed to your proposals. You appear not to understand 

that the road from White haven to Carlisle is slow, difficult and dangerous, particularly in the 

511



 

bad weather which is a frequent feature.  You demonstrate that you have no notion how 

remote community like Alston Moor will suffer if you remove hospital beds. 

For all these reasons, I reject the entirety of your proposals, not because I am averse to change, 

but because I care about individuals and communities. There is a proposal for a community-

based form of integrated care for Alston Moor, produced by the League of Friends of the Ruth 

Lancaster James Hospital in Alston and the Alston Medical Practice. If as much effort could be 

put behind this as it deserves, it would be excellent for Alston Moor. Any further time and 

thought put into the Success Regime proposals would be time and thought wasted, and an 

insult to the people of Cumbria. 

Dear Success Regime Consultation Team 

I am writing as a response to your consultation document.  Since your questionnaire does not 

let me give any response that is not just saying 'yes' to one of the options you are offering, I can 

only express my views in a letter.  

I live on Alston Moor and the removal of our hospital beds would be catastrophic for me, my 

family and my community. If people who are convalescing or dying are in Carlisle, we cannot 

visit using public transport. We certainly can't manage to drive to Carlisle for a short visit every 

day. 

The only way that closing the hospital beds would be acceptable is if you implement the 

proposal from the League of Friends, so that there are beds available on a flexible basis, with an 

integrated system of care for those needing sheltered housing, care home, respite, 

convalescence and end-of-life care.  Of course, this must all be in place BEFORE you close the 

hospital beds.” 

This response was received in full or in part 9 times. 

 

9.5 Video submissions 

3 videos were received from individuals via email. These were: 

• A video entitled ‘Save Alston’s Hospital Beds’, of interviews with members of the public 

in Alston around the visit of the Healthwatch ‘Chatty Van’ discussing concerns about 

the proposals and their impact on Alston. The video also featured Leader of Cumbria 

County Council, Cllr Stewart Young, emphasising the importance of making efforts to 

maintain services in Alston. 

• A video entitled ‘Carols for the NHS’, from the Alston Moor Branch of the Labour Party 

singing Christmas carols with lyrics about the NHS and challenges it faces. 

• A video of Jeremy Corbyn MP, Leader of the Labour Party, speaking about the 

importance of having an ambulance service that serves all, no matter where they live. 

512



 

 

9.6 Press clippings 

A set of press clippings was received from the CN Group newspapers. These included articles 

and pages from The Cumberland News, The Whitehaven News, Maryport News & Star and 

West Cumbria News & Star.  The clippings covered news articles on the consultation and 

proposals throughout the consultation period, including reports of meetings, events and 

descriptions of the proposals themselves and their impact. They also included numerous 

references to the CN Group’s Save our Services campaign, of which a petition is summarised in 

the Petitions section above

513



 

514



APPENDIX 7 & 8 
 

 
    

 
 

Documents 

Appendix 7 - Greater Manchester, Lancashire and South Cumbria 
Clinical Senate Update Report 
Appendix 8 - Letter from the Northern England Clinical Network - 
Maternity    

Date Completed 
Appendix 7 - 27 February 2017 
Appendix 8 - 16 December 2016 

 
Summary of the Documents 

 
Appendix 7 - Greater Manchester, Lancashire and South Cumbria Clinical Senate Update 
Report 
 
This independent clinical assurance report was produced by the Greater Manchester, 
Lancashire and South Cumbria Clinical Senate. It follows on from the first Clinical Assurance 
report produced to inform the development of the Pre-Consultation Business Case and 
gives an independent view on the Maternity Services and Children’s Services options put 
forward for public consultation. Clinical Senates are non-statutory advisory bodies and any 
recommendations made are non-binding. 
 
Appendix 8 - Letter from the Northern England Clinical Network - Maternity    
 

This letter is a response from the Northern England Clinical Maternity Network following a 
request from Professor Stephen Singleton, Medical Advisor to the Success Regime, in 
regards to an assessment of the evidence in relation to an increased incidence of adverse 
outcomes amongst women who live far away from consultant-led obstetric care. 

 
 

 
 

515



Greater Manchester,  
Lancashire & South Cumbria 

Clinical Senate 

Follow-up to the Independent Review 
of Proposed Clinical Models for the 
North, West & East Cumbria Success 

Regime:  
Maternity and Paediatrics 

RESPONSE PAPER 

27th February 2017 

APPENDIX 7

516



 

 
 

Contents 
 
 

Section Title Page 

  
Chair’s Foreword 
  

2 

 
1 
 

 
Introduction 
 

3 

 
2 
 

 
Background 
 

4 

 
3 
 

 
Maternity 
 

7 

 
4 
 

 
Paediatrics 
 

10 

 
5 
 

 
Summary and Recommendations 
 

13 

 
Appendices: 
 

 
1 
 

 
Clinical Senate Recommendations Regarding Maternity (May 2016) 
 

 
15 

 
2 
 

 
Clinical Senate Recommendations Regarding Paediatrics (May 2016) 
 

 
16 

 
3 
 

 
Contributors to the Review 

 
18 

 
4 
 

 
Descriptions of Maternity Services Options 1 to 3 
 

 
20 

5  
Descriptions of Paediatric Services Options 1 to 3 
 

 
22 

 
 
 
 

517



 

Chair’s Foreword  
 
In March 2016, the Greater Manchester, Lancashire & South Cumbria (GMLSC) Clinical Senate 
received a commission from Cumbria Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) on behalf of the 
West, North and East (WNE) Cumbria Success Regime to review the proposed models of care 
for Integrated Care (including Community services), Mental Health, Elective Care, Proactive 
and Emergency Care, Children and Maternity.  
 
The Senate produced its report in May 2016, which contained a number of recommendations. 
Since the publication of the Senate report in May 2016, the WNE Cumbria Success Regime 
have undertaken a public consultation and approached GMLSC Clinical Senate to undertake 
the additional work described in this paper.  
 

The Senate would like to acknowledge the considerable amount of work undertaken by the 
Cumbria Success Regime towards progressing transformational service change in WNE 
Cumbria, particularly towards meeting many of the Senate’s original recommendations.  

 

This paper is solely based on the work, supplementary reports and data submitted by the 
Success Regime at the time of the review, and the clinical workshops held on 7th and 14th 
February 2017. The Senate would like to stress that the process that has been undertaken 
does not amount to a full clinical review for the purposes of assurance.  
 
I would like to thank the clinicians and managers who have contributed to this review. The 
contributors to this process provide their commitment, time and advice freely. I am grateful to 
the review team and members of the Clinical Senate for their ongoing support and 
commitment to the provision of robust clinical advice. I would like to thank Stephen Singleton 
and the Success Regime Team for providing the additional information requested in a timely 
fashion.  
 
The clinical advice within this report is given in good faith and with the intention of 
supporting commissioners in further development of the models  for maternity and 
paediatrics services in WNE Cumbria. This report sets out the methodology and findings of the 
review, and is presented with the offer of continued assistance should it be needed.  
 

  
Professor Donal O’Donoghue  
Senate Chair  
Greater Manchester, Lancashire & South Cumbria Senate 

518



 

1.0 Introduction 
 
1.1 This response paper is written in response to the WNE Cumbria Success Regime’s 

approach to the GMLSC Clinical Senate to undertake the work described in this 
response paper, regarding maternity and paediatrics services.  
 

1.2 This follows the Senate’s original report in May 2016 regarding the proposed models of 
care for Integrated Care (including Community services), Mental Health, Elective Care, 
Proactive and Emergency Care, Children and Maternity. This report contained a number 
of recommendations (the recommendations for maternity and paediatrics can be  seen 
in Appendices 1 and 2 respectively).  
 

1.3 The Senate have been made aware that mental health service transformation is taking 
place in a separate programme to this piece of work. From the evidence seen so far, 
the Senate recommends that the CCG should not underestimate the work required to 
meet these needs, particularly with regards to severe and enduring mental health.  
 

1.4 Similarly the challenges facing the population of WNE Cumbria, as with many other 
areas, of a super-ageing population and rising dementia prevalence, cannot be under-
estimated.  
 

1.5 This response paper is solely based on the work, supplementary reports and data 
submitted by the Success Regime at the time of the review, and the clinical workshops 
held on 7th and 14th February 2017. 
 

1.6 The Senate would like to acknowledge the considerable amount of work undertaken 
by the Cumbria Success Regime towards progressing transformational service change 
in WNE Cumbria, and particularly towards meeting many of the Senate’s  
recommendations. This includes an audit of expected patient transfers under each of 
the options as well as consideration of the interdependencies between each of the 
models for maternity and paediatrics, and the wider system, including emergency 
departments, anaesthetics and surgery. Indeed, aspects of this additional work have 
been valuable in allowing the Senate’s panels to produce this response paper.  
 

1.7 For this response, the Senate has focussed on the identification of the most clinically 
robust and sustainable solutions, as well as highlighting any clinical concerns or issues 
that need further examination or that should be considered by the CCG in making their 
decision regarding the future service delivery models for maternity and paediatrics in 
WNE Cumbria.  
 

1.8 For further information please contact Caroline Baines, Clinical Senate Manager (NW) 
on carolinebaines@nhs.net  
 

519

mailto:carolinebaines@nhs.net


 

2.0 Background 
 
2.1 Following the GMLSC Clinical Senate’s commission in March 2016 from Cumbria CCG 

(on behalf of the Cumbria Success Regime) to review the proposed models of care for 
Integrated Care (including Community services), Mental Health, Elective Care, 
Proactive and Emergency Care, Children and Maternity, the Clinical Senate:  

 

 Agreed the Terms of Reference, 

 Convened two independent review panels made up of clinical experts and 
citizen representatives (membership of which can be seen in Appendix 3) , 

 Reviewed the information provided,   

 Provided a report in May 20161.  
 
2.2 Due to the stage of development of the proposed clinical models at the time of the 

review, the process undertaken did not amount to a full clinical review for the 
purposes of assurance. Based on the work submitted by the Success Regime at the 
start of the review, the Senate focussed on the identification of the most clinically 
robust and sustainable solutions, as well as highlighting any clinical concerns or issues 
that need further examination or that should be considered by the CCG and other 
partners to inform the next steps in the development of the Success Regime 
programme.  

 
2.3 Since the publication of this report, the WNE Cumbria Success Regime has undertaken 

a public consultation which, at the time of writing has drawn to a close and moved into 
a period of reflection and analysis.  The Success Regime will report to the CCG 
Governing Body on 8th March 2017 regarding the consultation exercise, subsequent 
workshops and their recommendations.  

 
2.4 It is clear from the consultation process that neither the public nor some clinicians 

supported any of the presented options for paediatrics and maternity. Therefore the 
WNE Cumbria Success Regime approached GMLSC Clinical Senate to undertake some 
additional work. The commission was that for both maternity and paediatrics, the 
senate: 

 
1) Revisits the options and advises what they believe to be the best options and 

identifies any additional issues for consideration in the light of the 
consultation.  

2) Revisit the preparatory work, including risk assessments, and provides a view 
regarding the quality of that work (i.e. a judgment about the relative safety and 
appropriateness of any of the options compared to doing nothing).  

 
2.5 Supplementary information was provided to the original review teams to support part 

1 of the commission: 

                                              
1 GMLSC. (9th May 2016). Independent Review of the Proposed Clinical Models for the North, West & East 
Cumbria Success Regime. 

520



 

“Revisits the options and advises what they believe to be the best options and 
identifies any additional issues for consideration in the light of the 
consultation.”  
 

2.6 Panel responses to this supplementary information were fed into two clinically-led 
workshops on Tuesday 7th February and Tuesday 14th February 2017, which were 
attended by Clinical Leads nominated by Chief Executives, together with 
Strategic/Director Leads from each provider organisation. The workshops were also 
supported by Independent Clinical Experts from the North of England Clinical Senate 
and the Greater Manchester, South Cumbria and Lancashire Clinical Senate. Other 
attendees included NHS Cumbria CCG Governing Body Lay Members and GP Locality 
Leads. There was no patient representation at the workshops.   

 
2.7 At the latter workshop, the outcome was to recommend that Cumbria CCG chooses 

between the following: 
 

2.7.1 Option 1 Paediatrics and Option 1 Maternity 
This was with a caveat that an agreed review period is put in place (between 1-2 
years) and if this option is deemed unachievable and/or unsustainable then the 
system moves to Option 2 paediatrics and Option 3 maternity.  
 
This approach was deemed preferable because it demonstrates that the decision 
makers have listened to the consultation feedback. It involves the least change 
from the current situation and allows a period for co-production of the future 
model with the community. It also allows current initiatives regarding 
recruitment and wider system change to play forward to identify whether they 
reap rewards.  
 
However, there was some feeling that this is too similar to the status quo, the 
recruitment challenges are insurmountable and that there needs to be a bold 
decision to go straight to: 

 
2.7.2 Option 2 Paediatrics and Option 3 Maternity  

The general (though not unanimous) consensus was that this is the right clinical 
choice of options and is more achievable and sustainable. 
 
However there is likely to be significant opposition to this choice from the 
clinicians in West Cumbria including most of the GPs, most of the consultants in 
all specialities and most of the midwives. In addition opposition is likely to come 
from the public and politicians.  

 
2.8 The recommended choices for Cumbria CCG, described in section 2.8, were fed back to 

the review panel leads to seek their responses to the second part of the commission: 
“Revisit the preparatory work, including risk assessments, and provides a view 
regarding the quality of that work (i.e. a judgment about the relative safety and 
appropriateness of any of the options compared to doing nothing).” 
 

521



 

2.9 This response paper summarises the GMLSC Clinical Senate response to this 
commission, for which a final view from GMLSC was required by Tuesday 28th February 
2017.  

522



 

3.0 Maternity 
 

3.1 The first aspect of this follow-up commission was for the senate review panel to revisit 
the options and advise what they believe to be the best options, identifying any 
additional issues for consideration in the light of the consultation.  

 
3.2 The three maternity options are described in detail in Appendix 4. The preferred 

option going into consultation was Option 2:  A consultant-led unit (CLU) and alongside 

midwife-led unit (MLU) for births in Carlisle and a 24-hour standalone MLU unit for low 

risk births at Whitehaven.  

 

3.3 The review panel noted that all options had strengths and weaknesses, but that the 

most clinically robust and sustainable model was Option 2. This agreed with the 

preferred option highlighted in the consultation. The panel considered it a 

transformational model that needs testing, assuming the risks are robustly identified 

and properly mitigated against. 

 

3.4 One of the key risks identified was that women would opt not to use MLU. Public 

expectation in the area is not in line with current best practice guidance and could lead 

to an unintended consequence of women requesting caesarean sections to avoid 

travelling to Carlisle. There is a need to consider how expectations  can be managed 

and attitudes changed. 

 

3.5 The panel felt that the team had clearly thought about the model and that it contained 

some good ideas, such as assessing women in the latent phase of labour at 

Whitehaven to prevent unnecessary travel to the obstetric unit in Carlisle. 

 

3.6 They were also reassured and pleased to hear that the North West Ambulance Service 

(NWAS) had been fully involved in the discussions and planning regarding the use of 

the dedicated ambulance vehicle. 

 

3.7 However, they identified a number of issues regarding the robustness of the plans, 

which would need addressing before this model was implemented. These are: 

 

3.7.1 Would the elective consultant service at Whitehaven be an outpatient service 

or include elective caesarean section? If elective caesarean sections were to be 

delivered during consultant-hours this would need to be timed to ensure there 

is post-surgical doctor cover within the hospital.  

 

3.7.2 Would the day unit be for planned activity only or could it accommodate non 

planned maternity assessment for common complications of pregnancy?  

 

523



 

3.7.3 What would be the protocol at weekends when there was no medical  cover? 

There would need to be robust management algorithms for during and outside 

consultant presence at Whitehaven. 

 

3.7.4 Would the VBAC provision be a clinic alone or include deliveries? 

 

3.7.5 How does the day assessment unit from 8.00am-6.00pm described in Section 3.1 

of the Maternity Options Addendum paper differ to the antenatal assessment 

day unit from 8.00am-8.00pm described in the same section? 

 

3.7.6 Why are anomaly scans not down to be performed at Whitehaven? 

 

3.7.7 Would the Emergency Gynaecological Unit be provided during weekend days?  

 

3.7.8 Is paediatric medical cover 7 days a week from 8.00am-11.00pm? 

 

3.7.9 It is not usual for a retrieval team to attend MLU. Red 1 Paramedic ambulance is 

the norm. Would the maternity ambulance be equipped to transfer neonates 

with a midwife (and paediatrician during their hours)? 

 

3.7.10 Who would provide cover for post-surgical complications overnight? 

 

3.7.11 Could telemedicine provide some useful support? 

 
3.8 Further issues identified concerned  workforce issues in particular:  

 
3.8.1 The ability to provide the required upskilling of midwives in a timely way and 

whether any work was underway with the local educational establishments 
regarding the provision of this. 
 

3.8.2 Whether there had been a consideration using midwives in specialist roles such 
as diabetes management 

 
3.9 The panel agreed with the case for change as the current service was felt to be 

unsustainable and fragile due to workforce issues, particularly regarding recruitment 
of consultants, the lack of advanced nurses and an ageing midwifery workforce.  
 

3.10 Option 1 was felt to be too close to the status quo and therefore subject to the same 
issues previously identified in the case for change. It was not seen as transformational 
and reliant upon an expanded workforce, particularly consultant, which is unlikely to  
be deliverable.  

524



 

3.11 Option 3 was not supported as this removes all provision for births at Whitehaven and 
there is good evidence to support standalone MLUs and the provision of high quality 
care for low-risk multiparous and nulliparous women2.  
 

3.12 In light of the recommendations being made to the CCG (described in Section 2.8), the 
review panel does not support a decision that would lead to there being no MLU in 
Whitehaven.   

 

                                              
2 Nice. December 2014. Intrapartum care for healthy women and babies. www.nice.org.uk/guidance/cg190   

525

http://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/cg190


 

4.0 Paediatrics 
 
4.1 The first aspect of this follow-up commission was for the senate review panel to revisit 

the options and advise what they believe to be the best options, identifying any 
additional issues for consideration in the light of the consultation.  
 

4.2 The three paediatric options are described in detail in Appendix 5. The preferred 
option going into consultation was Option 1:  Full service at Carlisle and short stay 
paediatric assessment unit (SSPAU) and low acuity beds at Whitehaven plus Dedicated 
Ambulance Vehicle and consultant on-call overnight. 
 

4.3 The review panel felt the best option was Option 2:  Full service at Carlisle and 14 hour 
SSPAU at West Cumberland Hospital plus Dedicated Ambulance Vehicle. 
 

4.4 The primary reason for this preference is that it is a transformational model that has a 
good clinical case. This is demonstrated through provision of SSPAU on both sites, 
having consultants working across both sites in a network model to provide resili ence 
and maintenance of skills, as well as integration of community and secondary care. 
 

4.5 Option 2 was also considered to offer higher deliverability and sustainability by being 
more attractive to prospective consultants (offering an improved on call rota ratio) and 
by requiring fewer overall WTE consultants than in Option 1 – the preferred option. 
 

4.6 Option 2 presents a minimal number of additional transfers required between 
Whitehaven and Carlisle than Option 1 (estimated as 58 additional journeys/year with 
279 in Option 1 and 337 in Option 23). 
 

4.7 The panel felt that the following issues required consideration before the 
implementation of Option 2  to strengthen the case: 
 

4.7.1 A strong narrative to support the vision (e.g. better access to consultants who will be 
present until 22:00).  
 

4.7.2 The development of APNP role including:  
 
4.7.2.1 More work needs to be undertaken to enable recruitment and retention of 

these highly skilled practitioners. 
 

4.7.2.2 Consideration of the reasons for the previous loss of advanced nurse 
practitioners to primary care. 
 

4.7.2.3 Consider as to where this workforce will come from (e.g. experienced 
paediatric nurses). 
 

4.7.2.4 Time needed to train this cohort and resilience of rotas during that period. 
 

                                              
3 Data based on “Acute Hospitals Travel Impact Assessment version 0.8”. 17th October 2016.) 

526



 

4.7.3 Reliance on GPs within development of the whole system approach and the need to 
develop required skills through education, training and recruitment. 
 

4.7.4 The lack of overnight paediatric cover at WCH requires:  
 
4.7.4.1 By-pass policies and procedures for Whitehaven. 

 
4.7.4.2 Public education around facilities at Whitehaven to minimise seriously ill 

children presenting there. 
 

4.7.4.3 Consideration of ED/Anaesthetic staff and their management of critically ill  
children. These clinicians are likely to feel deskilled with fewer critically ill 
children passing through the ED and would feel vulnerable without presence of 
Paediatricians. This could be mitigated through provision of targeted training 
(e.g. by Nectar / Paediatric Critical Care ODN). 

 
4.8 If the decision is made to move to Option 2, this could be phased in over 1 year by 

initially keeping overnight beds at Whitehaven. This has been done elsewhere but 
carries risks to the service (e.g. resilience). 

 
4.9 Reflection on the current service is that it is fragile, and as such the case for change is 

supported. In particular, at Whitehaven, where there is a high reliance on locum 
consultants. Indeed, CQC West Cumberland Hospital Quality report (08/09/2015) states 
“Review the consultant paediatric cover provided out of hours. This was a concern as the 
service still offered a 24 hour emergency service for children and young people”. To date, 
Whitehaven has not been able to recruit substantive consultants. The panel noted that 
the outcome of the consultation was that either the current service, or the least 
possible service reconfiguration (Option 1) , was the preferred choices. However 
staffing and service resilience makes these options difficult to support. 
 

4.10 Option 1 also includes overnight beds at WCH. This would support overnight deliveries 
in maternity and again it was noted that the outcome of the consultation was that the 
current service or the least possible service reconfiguration (Option 1) were the 
preferred choices. However the panel felt that due to this option delivering minimal 
change from the current service, then there is significant uncertainty as to whether this 
is either deliverable or sustainable. Some of the key issues highlighted include: 
 
4.10.1 The requirement for two rotas or a dual rota across Whitehaven and Carlisle.  

 
4.10.2 The number of consultants required to support these rotas and associated 

daytime work.4 
 

                                              
4 RCPCH “Facing the Future” document suggests 7.8 wte consultants for a small unit such as Whitehaven 
(<2,500 admissions/year) and 8.6 wte for a medium sized unit such as Carlisle (2,500 -5,000) based upon 
2SPAs/consultant and 10PA job plans. 
 

527



 

4.10.3 No indication that it is possible to recruit the number of substantive 
consultants required to cover these rotas thereby placing an undue reliance 
on locums (often long term). 
 

4.10.4 Any maternity option based upon this paediatric option would also be at risk if 
Option 1 becomes unsustainable. 
 

4.11 Option 3 had no convincing clinical case and there would be a significant number of 
transfers required (1,713/year). It also had minimal support at consultation and is 
therefore not supported by the panel. 
 

4.12 In light of the recommendations being made to the CCG (described in Section 2.8), the 
review panel:  
 
4.12.1 Reiterates to the CCG that clinically Option 2 is the panel’s preferred option but 

that if Option 1 is chosen then the panel would suggest that the CCG seeks 
reassurance that there are clear timetables for recruitment to substantial posts, 
training of APNPs and an audit of inpatient stays at WCH. The CCG would also 
need to develop criteria by which ‘current initiatives regarding recruitment and 
wider system change’ are measured and decide upon the response to any 
failure to meet these criteria to ensure robust and sustainable service delivery.   
 

4.12.2 Suggests that the quality impact assessments for the Paediatric Options 1 and 2 
are revisited before a final decision is made to take into account additional 
information and discussions that have been held since they were written (e.g. 
from the travel impact assessment) and include mitigations for potential 
negative impacts.  

528



 

5.0  Summary and Conclusions 
 

5.1 Regarding maternity services, the Senate agrees with the Success Regime’s originally 

preferred option, i.e. Option 2. It is considered to be a transformational model that 

warrants testing, assuming the risks are robustly identified and mitigated against. The 

Senate does not support a decision that would lead to there being no MLU in 

Whitehaven.   

 

5.2 Should Option 1 maternity be implemented then the Senate  would suggest that the 

CCG seeks reassurance that there are clear timetables for recruitment to required 

posts (no more than two years). The CCG would also need to develop criteria by which 

current initiatives regarding recruitment and wider system change  are measured and 

decide upon the response to any failure to meet these criteria to ensure robust and 

sustainable service delivery.  

 

5.3 Regarding paediatric services, the Senate reiterates that clinically the preferred option 

is Option 2. This is consistent with the Clinical Senate’s original response in May 2016 

but differs to the Success Regime’s originally preferred option, i.e. Option 1. If Option 

1 is chosen then the Senate would suggest:  

 
5.3.1 That the CCG seeks reassurance that there are clear timetables for recruitment 

to substantial posts, training of APNPs and an audit of inpatient stays at WCH 

(no more than two years). The CCG would also need to develop criteria by 

which current initiatives regarding recruitment and wider system change are 

measured, and decide upon the response to any failure to meet these criteria 

to ensure robust and sustainable service delivery.  

 
5.3.2 That the quality impact assessments for the Paediatric Options 1 and 2 are 

revisited before a final decision is made to take into account additional 
information and discussions that have been held since they were written (e.g. 
from the travel impact assessment) and include mitigations for potential 
negative impacts.  

 
5.4 The Senate notes that, with regards to interdependencies between maternity and 

paediatrics, its preferred options are deliverable but would require some detailed 
work to develop robust pathways for very sick children and babies who present at 
Whitehaven out of hours. 
 

5.5 The Senate notes the diverse range of opinions regarding the range of both maternity 
and paediatric services. It should be noted that the Senate’s advice is based on the 
clinical challenges and the most robust clinical solutions.  
 

529



 

5.6 The advice within this report is given in good faith and is correct at the time of wri ting. 
Moving forward the Clinical Senate extends the offer of further assistance should it be 
required. 

530



 

Appendix 1: Clinical Senate Recommendations Regarding Maternity Services (May 2016) 
 
Recommendations:  Maternity services 
The Success Regime Leadership Team for Maternity Services is encouraged to: 

7. Ensure that the proposed clinical models build on NICE guidelines and quality standards.  

7 

Consider the clinical co-dependencies involved during the development of the proposals for 
maternity services.  Sources of useful information about the process for identifying clinical co-
dependencies are: 

o The South East Senate report on clinical co-dependencies 

o The Making It Better and Healthier Together Programmes  

o The GM Devolution Specialised Services co-dependency assessment framework 

o The Healthy Liverpool Programme 

7 
Consider and take account of the critical interface between maternity services and paediatrics 
in the further development of the proposals 

7 
Clarify how Cumbria responded to the concerns of the CQC.  It would be helpful to see evidence 
of how the concerns raised from previous reports have or are being addressed.  

7 

Undertake further work to develop a robust and realistic workforce plan which addresses the 
following: 

o models the proposed workforce roles and numbers and testing the assumptions re 

potential financial savings 

o Clarifies the age profile and turnover of the staff 

o Clarifies the assumptions which have been made about the recruitment of new staff 

into the area and whether the anticipated numbers are realistic. 

o Clarifies the assumptions which have been made re the flexibility of the workforce and 

whether these are realistic 

o Builds on the results of a risk assessment of staffing numbers and clarifies the proposed 

governance arrangements to manage the identified risks 

o Outlines plans for the ongoing training and development of staff 

o Describes how professional isolation will be addressed 

o Embeds Quality Improvement into work force training and CPD  

o Describes the extent that local commissioners have been engaged in the development 

of the workforce plan. 

 

7 

Clarify further the Enhanced Neonatal Nurse/Midwife roles in terms of: 
o Training numbers 

o Plans for supervision and ongoing training  

o Proposed level of ongoing support from the wider staffing infrastructure to reduce 

professional isolation 

o Proposed level of professional responsibility and accountability etc.  

 
Develop robust quality metrics and standards which can be used as a marker of progress and or 
success 

 

531



 

Appendix 2: Clinical Senate Recommendations Regarding Paediatrics Services (May 2016) 
 
Recommendations:  Children’s  Services  
The Success Regime Leadership Team for Children’s  Services is encouraged to:  

 

Make timely decisions and decide concurrently on models of care for both maternity and 
children & families in order to maintain the viability of any future services.  

o The requirements of a consultant led obstetric unit are such that the paediatric model 

of care needs to be robust to support it. This was considered by Dr Shortland in his 

review.  

o The Senate Review Team recommend that his opinion is considered further i.e. a 14 

hour SSPAU at the WCH site may be a more achievable and sustainable option.  

7 

Consider the following issues when modelling the effects of each option, reviewing 
achievability and making a decision: 

o cross-border activity (e.g. the number of patients that would move to Barrow) 
o Interim arrangements in terms of both staff resources and financial costs and 

likelihood of meeting target configuration. 

 

Further develop a robust and realistic workforce plan which addresses the following: 
o models the proposed workforce roles and numbers and tests the assumptions re 

potential financial savings 
o Clarifies the age profile and turnover of the staff 
o Clarifies the assumptions which have been made about the recruitment of new staff 

into the area and whether the anticipated numbers are realistic.  
o Clarifies the assumptions which have been made re the flexibility of the workforce and 

whether these are realistic 
o Builds on the results of a risk assessment of staffing numbers and clarifies the proposed 

governance arrangements to manage the identified risks 
o Outlines plans for the ongoing training and development of staff 
o Describes how professional isolation will be addressed  
o Embeds Quality Improvement into work force training and CPD  
o Describes the extent that local commissioners have been engaged in the development 

of the workforce plan. 
 
Also See General Recommendations in Section 4.3 

 

Employ novel recruitment models once a clear vision for the future of the service has been 
established.   Suggestions include: 

o Movement of clinical leaders between sites 

o Secondments of senior well established clinicians who may also provide additional 

clinical leadership 

o Working alongside universities to provide academic units 

 
Consider CAMHS and other service interdependencies throughout the decision making process 
and when putting in place transitional arrangements. 

 
Ensure that a whole systems approach is maintained by considering community services and 
general practice at the heart of the decision making process. 

 Support the Trust to continue to build upon its existing successes such as telemedicine. 

 
Ensure that a robust engagement plan which builds on Sam’s House is developed and 
implemented.   It also needs to address and explain the reasons why changes are required. 

 Further develop the standards and quality measures for the service.   

532



 

 
Undertake an audit of likely number of patient transfers if the SSPAU model was 
implemented. 

 

533



 

Appendix 3: Contributors to the Review 
 
Maternity Clinical Senate Review Team 
 
Dr Helen Scholefield  
(Review Team Lead) 

Consultant Obstetrician Liverpool Women's Hospital,  
 

Dr Ngozi Edi-Osagie Consultant Neonatologist, Central Manchester FT 
 

Dr David Rowlands FROG, Associate Medical Director, Arrowe Park Hospital,  
 

Kathy Murphy Deputy Director of Nursing & Head of Midwifery , Central 
Manchester FT 

Judith Shaw 
 

Volunteer Patient Cabinet member 

 
Paediatrics Clinical Senate Review Team 
 
Dr Jeff Perring  
(Review Team Lead) 

Director of Intensive Care and Vice Senate Chair, Sheffield 
Children's Hospital 

Dr James Bunn Consultant Paediatrician, Alder Hey Children's Hospital  
 

Angela Douglas Scientist and Genomic Lead, Liverpool Women's Hospital  
 

Kate McNulty Patient Representative GMLSC Clinical Senate, Oversight & 
Planning Group & Patient, Carer Public Advisory Group GMLSC  

 
GMLSC Clinical Senate Council 
 
Forename Surname Job Title Organisation 

Donal O'Donoghue Consultant Renal Physician, Salford Royal 
Foundation Trust and GMLSC Clinical Senate Chair  

Salford Royal FT 

Caroline Baines 
 

Clinical Senate Manager NW Clinical Senates  

Ivan Benett General Practitioner Central Manchester 
CCG 

Maureen Chadwick Managing Director Diabetes Complete 
Care Ltd 

Irfan Chaudry Consultant Critical Care Medicine & Anaesthesia, 
Divisional Medical Director/Honorary Senior 
Clinical Lecturer Manchester Medical School 

Lancashire Teaching 
Hospitals NHS FT 

Julie Cheetham Associate Director Greater Manchester 
& Eastern Cheshire 
SCN 

Nicola Cook Divisional Director North West United 
Response 

Robert Coward Consultant Physician & Nephrologist Lancashire Teaching 
Hospitals NHS FT 

Ian Donaldson Consultant Anaesthesia/Critical Care Lancashire Teaching 

534



 

Hospitals NHS FT 

Angela Douglas Clinical Director NWC Genomic 
Medicine Centre 

Martin Hogg Consultant Clinical Oncologist Lancashire Teaching 
Hospitals 

Helen Hurst Consultant Nurse 
 

CMFT Trafford 

Karley Hurst CQC Project Support Officer  
 

Pennine Care NHS FT 

Philip Jennings Head of Clinical Innovation, Liaison & Deployment The Innovation 
Agency, AHSN 

Sakthi Karunanithi Director of Public Health Lancashire  County 
Council 

Niall Lynch Consultant Radiologist 
 

Stockport NHS FT 

Patrick MacDowall Consultant Nephrologist Lancashire Teaching 
Hospitals NHS FT 

Claire Maguire Consultant Clinical Psychologist 
 

Pennine Care NHS FT 

Angela Manning General Practitioner & Deputy Medical Director NHS England Lancs & 
Gtr Mcr 

Phil  McEvoy Managing Director Six Degrees Social 
Enterprise 

Kate McNulty Patient Representative 
 

  

Javeed Mehran Consultant in Old Age Psychiatry & Clinical Lead 
Primary Care  

Salford Royal NHS FT 

Jane Ooi Consultant Breast Surgeon Bolton Foundation 
Trust 

Vats Patel Pharmacist 
 

Manchester 

John Patterson Medical Director & GP 
 

Hope Citadel 

Jaydeep Sarma Consultant Interventional Cardiologist South Manchester 
Hospital NHS Trust 

Mohammed Sarwar CEO Multicultural Arts & Medica Centre & Patient 
Representative 

Rochdale 

Graham Spratt Consultant Clinical Psychologist 5 Boroughs 
Partnership 

Ian Trodden Director of Nursing 
 

Pennine Care NHS FT 

Jan  Vaughan Associate Director 
 

NWC SCN  

Stephen Watkins Director of Public Health 
 

Stockport Council 

Irfan Zafar GP 
 

Blackburn 

  

535



 

Appendix 4: Descriptions of Maternity Services Options 1 to 3 
 
Option 1 
 

 Maintaining consultant-led units on both sites, with ‘alongside’ midwife -led units and 

special care baby units.  

 This option is not the status quo – some high-risk mothers will birth at Carlisle.  

 This option will use new ways of working to maintain safe staffing – one team across 

two sites with an innovative staffing structure. 

 There will be a full range of antenatal and postnatal services as well as gynaecological 

services both in Whitehaven and Carlisle. 

 The option for home birth and Penrith Birthing Unit will be available. 

 
Option 2 
 

 At Cumberland Infirmary in Carlisle: a consultant-led unit and ‘alongside’ midwife-led 

unit for births. There will be a full range of antenatal and postnatal care and a special 

care baby unit serving all of west, north and east Cumbria. 

 At West Cumberland Hospital in Whitehaven: a 24-hour standalone midwife-led unit 

for low risk births and a daytime consultant service offering antenatal and postnatal 

care and some gynaecological services (non-emergency cases) (8am-8pm).There will 

not be a consultant-led service for births. There may be the ability to offer elective 

caesareans in this new staffing model in the future. It is anticipated women will not be 

transferred back to WCH for postnatal care as NICE guidance supports discharge to 

home as soon as possible. Women requiring medical treatment will remain in Carlisle. 

There will be an antenatal day assessment unit (8am-8pm) provided five days a week 

(Monday-Friday) and could be staffed by midwives with telemedicine support.  

 Consultant obstetric and gynaecology input would be solely during the day but would 

include day case services across gynaecology (including day case surgery), outpatient 

investigations, emergency gynaecology unit, fertility, colposcopy and uro-

gynaecology. All inpatient emergency gynaecology and complex elective gynaecology 

as well as the consultant-led obstetric unit would be at CIC.  

 The option for home birth and Penrith Birthing Unit will be available.  

 There will be a Dedicated Ambulance Vehicle (DAV) for maternity  and paediatric 

transfers. 

 
Option 3 
 

 Cumberland Infirmary in Carlisle: a full obstetric service and a special care baby unit 

serving all of west, north and east Cumbria. Consultant-led service and ‘alongside’ 

midwife-led unit for births. There will be a full range of antenatal and postnatal care. 

536



 

 West Cumberland Hospital in Whitehaven: no births at West Cumberland Hospital. 

Consultant and midwife out-patient antenatal and postnatal care available.  

 There will be an antenatal day assessment unit (8am-8pm) provided five days a week 

(Monday-Friday) and could be staffed by midwives with telemedicine support.  

 Consultant obstetric and gynaecology input would be solely during the day but would 

include day case services across gynaecology (including day case surge ry), outpatient 

investigations, emergency gynaecology unit, fertility, colposcopy and uro-

gynaecology. All inpatient emergency gynaecology and complex elective gynaecology 

as well as the consultant-led obstetric Unit would be at CIC.  

 The option for home birth and Penrith Birthing Unit will be available. 

537



 

Appendix 5: Descriptions of Paediatrics Services Options 1 to 3 
 
Option 1 

 Full service at Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle and short stay paediatric unit and low 

acuity beds at West Cumberland Hospital plus Dedicated Ambulance Vehicle and 

consultant on-call over night  

 
Option 2 

 Full service at Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle and 14 hour short stay paediatric unit at 

West Cumberland Hospital plus Dedicated Ambulance Vehicle  

 
Option 3 

 Full service at Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle for West, North and East Cumbria. No 

beds or short stay paediatric unit at West Cumberland Hospital  

 

538



High quality care for all, now and for future generations 

Dear Stephen, 

Many thanks for your e-mails dated 7th and 15th November, 2016 asking the Maternity 
Network to look at correspondence received from Mr John Eldred and  
Councillor Rebecca Hanson. 

A network group comprising Stephen Sturgiss, Anne Holt and Vicki Smith, supported by 
myself and Suzanne Thompson met recently to discuss the content of their correspondence, 
including the 3 papers referenced in the document from Mr Eldred. Subsequently we have 
also looked at a further article (Grzybowski et al, 2011) arising from details contained in the 
Australian meta-study (reference 2 in Councillor Hanson’s paper). 

During the course of our deliberations we felt it was not going to be appropriate to comment 
on the arithmetic calculations in the correspondence because we feel certain aspects of the 
evidence not mentioned lead us to consider that, on balance, there is not a strong enough 
link between travel times and outcomes.  

The papers from Councillor Rebecca Hanson and John Eldred include a series of 
statements in relation to an increased incidence of adverse outcomes amongst women who 
live far away from consultant-led obstetric care.  

In addition, a series of calculations have been used to describe a theoretical increase in the 
numbers of neonatal deaths if WCH were not to have ‘obstetric services’. These calculations 
are based on the notion that ‘for every 15 extra minutes women have to travel the neonatal 
mortality rate increases by 15%’.  

We examined in detail the statements in Councillor Hanson’s paper – and have analysed 
each comment in relation to the reference from which it has been taken. We also looked in 
particular at the ’15 minute’ statement – as this is the key assumption within the theoretical 
modelling (in relation to neonatal deaths). This statement needs to be statistically valid in 
order for the rest of the conclusions to be credible. 

This analysis of the references is written in the order they appear in Councillor Hansen’s 
document – and under the same sub-headings. The three papers referenced in John 
Eldred’s correspondence are included. 

Professor Stephen Singleton 
Medical Director of the Success Regime in 
West, North and East Cumbria 
NHS Cumbria CCG 
Lonsdale Unit 
Penrith Hospital 
Bridge Lane 
PENRITH 
Cumbria 
CA11 8HX 

NHS England 
Waterfront 4 

Newburn Riverside 
Newcastle Upon Tyne 

NE15 8NY 

Email address –roy.mclachlan@nhs.net 

16 December 2016 

APPENDIX 8

539



 

High quality care for all, now and for future generations 

What is happening in Europe? 
 
The first publication referred to in the ‘Key Findings’ section of this paper is the ‘Dutch study 
on travel time in labour’ (page 2 – reference 3). In fact, the reference is to a review paper 
from the Public Health Wales Observatory (PHWO), in which there is a conclusion (page 4) 
that: 
 

‘This research evidence review did not find conclusive evidence to support a 
causal link between increasing distance, or the time, required to travel from 
mother’s residence to maternity services and adverse birth outcomes. All the 
studies finding any evidence of such an association were limited by their inability 
to account for important contributory factors and confounders (e.g. referral to 
specialist maternity units) and their reliance on a number of unsupported 
assumptions (e.g. women are at home at the onset of labour).’ 

 
This PHWO review paper refers to the findings of the ‘Dutch study’ (on page 10), but as 
we’ve already mentioned in a previous email (and as acknowledged in other papers on the 
subject), the Dutch system of maternity care involves women staying at home until they are 
confirmed to be in labour. This is not a feature of the UK (or other) system(s) of maternity 
care, in which women present to hospital when they suspect that they might be in labour 
 
Neonatal deaths: an extra 1.4 each year 
 
The paper from Councillor Hanson refers to page 43 of an ‘Australian meta-study’, from 
which it appears that the Councillor has taken the statement that ‘for every 15 extra minutes 
women have to travel the neonatal mortality rate increases by 15%’.  
This paper is another review of the subject, and includes the following statements in their 
conclusions about the association between distance to care and outcomes: 
 
‘Distance to Care: Key Points 
 

1. For BC women, neonatal mortality is three times more likely for 
 births in which the women had to travel four or more hours to  
 services; 
 
2. For BC women who have to travel more than 1 hour, induction is  
 1.3 times more likely due to travel logistics; 
 
3. International evidence shows that increasing numbers of women  
 travelling longer distances to care is creating greater resource  
 usage to compensate for greater rates of morbidity; 
 
4. An unequivocal relationship exists between distance and outcomes:  
 as distance goes up, so do negative outcomes.’ 

 
This meta-review draws these conclusions from several publications, relatively few of which 
have analysed the numbers of stillbirths and / or neonatal mortality in relation to distance 
from place of birth and / or the nearest maternity unit. The findings from each of the studies 
looking at perinatal mortality rates are summarised below: 
 
 

540



 

High quality care for all, now and for future generations 

 
Gryzbowski et al (2011) 
This is a study of pregnancy outcomes for women carrying a singleton baby in rural Canada. 
The authors noted that: 
 

 ‘For those few women who had to travel the longest distance (greater than 4 
hours to care), neonatal mortality was three times more likely (OR=3.17, 95% CI 
1.45-6.95) (Grzybowki, Stoll and Kornelsen 2011)’ 

 
However, the study group also found that the perinatal mortality rates for women living either 
60-120 minutes or 120-240 minutes from a specialist centre (5 and 6 per 1000 births, 
respectively) were very similar to those for women living within an hour of specialist services 
(6 per 1000). Hence, the findings from this study do not support the argument that the 
proposed reconfiguration of services in Cumbria would be associated with a greater number 
of perinatal deaths. 
 
Paranjothy et al, 2014 
It’s certainly the case that this (Welsh) study showed a statistically significant increase in the 
risk of both early and late neonatal death with every 15-minute increase in travel time to the 
place of birth. This study appears to have been the source of the claim that that ‘for every 15 
extra minutes women have to travel the neonatal mortality rate increases by 15%’ 
 
The authors, however, suggested that this finding was unsurprising as the most vulnerable 
babies are likely to be transferred to the nearest tertiary centre. For example, a preterm 
neonate or a baby with a congenital anomaly at term will be transferred to a tertiary centre 
for birth. 
 
Of interest, and in the same paper, there was no statistically significant association between 
intrapartum stillbirth, early or late NND and travel time to the nearest hospital. In fact, the 
odds ratios for such outcomes were very close to 1 
 
The authors concluded that ‘reconfiguration of maternity and neonatal services may have 
little impact on birth outcomes, provided there are appropriate neonatal transfer services in 
place’ 
 
Combier et al, 2013 
In a study from the Burgundy region of France, the authors reported that FHR abnormalities, 
meconium-staining of the amniotic fluid, hospitalisation of mothers, and out-of-hospital 
deliveries were significantly more common in mothers who lived further away from maternity 
units, but none of the women who lived more than 46 minutes away from the hospital gave 
birth out-of-hospital. 
 
Stillbirths and perinatal deaths were more frequent in mothers with longer travel times, but 
the differences between the mothers living closest to and furthest away from the maternity 
units weren’t statistically significant.  
 
The author’s acknowledge the contradictory findings in the evidence base – and (in fact) 
quoted 2 studies from Cumbria that apparently found no associations between perinatal 
mortality rates and travel time to the nearest maternity ward. 
 
 

541



 

High quality care for all, now and for future generations 

 
Pilkington et al, 2014 
In another large study from France, longer distances to a maternity unit had no impact on 
stillbirths or neonatal deaths when adjusted for confounding variables such as social risk 
factors 
 
There was a significant increase in the numbers of neonatal deaths in out-of-hospital births, 
but these were said to be very rare 
 
Seriously ill babies 
 
The statements in this section of the paper - relating to a potential increase in the numbers 
of babies admitted to neonatal intensive care - are taken from the article by Grzybowski et al 
(2011), in which the authors reported that: 
 

‘Newborns from catchments 2 to 4 hours, and 1 to 2 hours from services 
generated rates of 179 and 100 NICU 3 days per thousand births, respectively, 
compared to 42 days for newborns from catchments served by specialists’ 

 
The relevance of these findings, however, to the potential reconfiguration of services in 
Cumbria is questionable. The authors acknowledged difficulties in properly controlling for the 
potentially confounding effects of ethnicity and socio-economic status. Moreover, there are 
fundamental differences between the healthcare systems in Canada and those in the UK. 
 
Better Births 
 
It is noted that within Better Births (p90) a proactive approach to addressing issues relating 
to remoteness and rurality is offered.   
 
‘Remote and rural areas can introduce innovative working practices such as: 
 

• Robust triage and transferring the care of women with more serious complications at 
an appropriate time in the pregnancy to a more specialised unit 
 

• Defining which types of women should be advised to give birth at which units across 
the local maternity system 
 

• Providing transport facilities for women needing to travel to more specialist units and 
enhanced transfer services for women or their babies experiencing unexpected 
serious complications 
 

• Making use of technology, e.g., consultations by video link between the centre and 
smaller unit.’  

 
Summary 
 
Overall, we do not feel that there is sufficient evidence in the papers referenced to justify a 
conclusion that increased travel times to the nearest maternity unit (at less than 4 hours 
distance) are associated with an increased risk of either stillbirth and / or neonatal death.  
Hence, we could find no justification in the references contained within the paper from  

542



 

High quality care for all, now and for future generations 

Mr Eldred and Councillor Hanson for the theoretical modelling of increased neonatal 
mortality rates according to stepwise 15-minute increments in travel times to the nearest 
unit. 
 
There is evidence within the references quoted that longer travel times might be associated 
with an increased incidence of interventions such as inductions of labour and / or 
hospitalisation, as might be expected when clinicians and parents might be taking decisions 
with the intention of minimising potential problems caused by longer travel times 
 
The evidence that longer travel times might lead to an increase in the numbers of out-of-
hospital births is consistent across several studies, and is plausible. It is, therefore, 
particularly reassuring that even if out-of-hospital births are more frequent, overall perinatal 
mortality rates in these studies – when controlled for confounding factors – aren’t 
significantly affected by longer travel times (at < 4 hours from the nearest unit). 
 
Detailed consideration of infrastructure issues such as transfer arrangements and 
accommodation near Cumberland Infirmary, Carlisle would help mitigate any potential 
increased risks. 
 
Yours sincerely 
 

 
 
Roy McLachlan 
Associate Director 
 
 
cc Stephen Sturgiss, NUTH 
 Anne Holt, CDDFT 
 Jonathan Slade, NHS England 
 Robin Mitchell, Northern England Clinical Networks 
 Suzanne Thompson, Northern England Clinical Networks 
 

543



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 9 
 

 
    

 
 

Documents 
Appendix 9 – Letters received from Cumbria Partnership NHS 
Foundation Trust, North Cumbria University Hospitals NHS Trust, 
and North West Ambulance Service NHS Trust     

Date Completed February 2017, each letter is dated. 

 
Summary of the Documents 

 
The Governing Body should consider the views of the relevant NHS Trusts in relation to the 
deliverability of the options included in the Public Consultation to inform its decision 
making. 
 
In February 2017 NHS Cumbria Clinical Commissioning Group wrote to each of Cumbria 
Partnership NHS Foundation Trust, North Cumbria University Hospitals NHS Trust, and 
North West Ambulance Service NHS Trust seeking a formal position statement in relation to 
the options. 
 
In considering the deliverability of each of the options, the Trusts were requested to 
address each of the following:  
 

• Workforce sustainability, i.e. the ability of the Trust to retain, recruit and train 
the required workforce to deliver each Option  

• Operational Management and Clinical leadership, i.e. the ability of the Trust to 
deploy the appropriate leadership to enable the delivery of the option, and any 
relevant practical operational management implications  

• Estates and Infrastructure, i.e. the ability of the Trust to ensure a fit for purpose 
physical infrastructure for delivering each Option  

• Any other material consideration  
 
The response from each Trust is included as part of Appendix 9. 
 
 

 

 
 

545



 

 
546



APPENDIX 9 
 
 
 
 

CM/HR 
 
21st February 2017 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Attention: Dr David Rogers Accountable Officer Cumbria CCG 

Dear David, 

Re: Community Hospitals and the Success Regime Consultation 
 
In response to the request from the CCG, we are pleased to attach CPFT’s appraisal of the 
alternative proposals for Alston, Wigton and Maryport that were submitted during the consultation 
process. This includes a quality impact assessment for Maryport and the original community led 
alternative proposal. 

 
In submitting this appraisal, it is important to note that this is the opinion of CPFT. We recognise 
that two of the alternative proposals include suggestions that would have major implications for 
services provided by other organisations, including the Local Authority. To determine whether 
these have merit and are feasible or indeed whether there are any other alternative service 
models, there is a need for all partners to work jointly in determining the most appropriate future 
configuration. Recognition of this has been taken on board in coming to our conclusions.  
 
The position of Cumbria Partnership Foundation Trust is as follows: 
 
• We confirm our support for the preferred option in the Success Regime (Option 1). This will 

mean a reduction of medical community hospital beds from 133 to 104 with the remaining 
community hospital wards having a minimum size of 16 which brings operational resilience 
and more efficient staffing models 

 
• We support the implementation of the preferred option though progressing alternative option 

2 in Maryport and a further time limited piece of work in Alston and Wigton building on the 
ideas put forward by the local communities and local clinical teams, and in full partnership 
with our colleagues in the County Council. We anticipate this piece of work will be jointly 
commissioned and led by the CCG and CCC with our engagement and support ; and in full 
collaboration with the local community and other stakeholders 

 
• We are committed to continuing to operate the beds in Alston and Wigton during this period of 

further work. However, it should be noted that this is likely to pose significant operational 
challenges and we would highlight there may be occasions when we need to close beds on a 
temporary basis where quality and safety would otherwise be compromised. Given this 
challenge, we would recommend any further work is concluded as rapidly as possible and 
should last no longer than 12 months at the latest  

 
The work we have done with the local community groups, Hospital Leagues of Friends, local clinical 
teams and local general practices has been extremely positive and constructive. We should continue 
this co-production approach as we move forwards. 

 

547



APPENDIX 9 
We have submitted this report early to help your preparations for your governing body meeting in 
March. It should be noted that our board is not formally considering our appraisal until 28th Feb 
2017. If there is any change to our position after this we will inform you immediately. 

 
Yours 

sincerely, 

Claire Molloy 

 
 
 
 
 
Chief Executive 

 
 
 

Trust Headquarters | Voreda | Portland Place | Penrith | Cumbria | CA11 7QQ 

T:01228 603890 | E: www.cumbriapartnership.nhs.uk 

 

 
  

548

http://www.cumbriapartnership.nhs.uk/


APPENDIX 9 
Statement of Deliverability for Community Hospital Proposals 
Workforce Sustainability 
The underpinning principle which allowed for each of the proposals to be made was the recognition that a minimum 
bed number of 16 in each unit would provide: 

• Greater resilience and safety of staffing establishments in these isolated units 
• Improved development opportunities and career paths in our community hospitals 
• More stability and certainty in these units should enhance opportunities for recruitment and retention of 

staff 
• Further enhancement and standardisation of the operating model creating more skills development across 

all units. 
 
Through the evaluation process, CPFT consider the preferred option described in the consultation document to have 
the best opportunities to maximise workforce sustainability as set out above. 
 
Operational Management and Clinical Leadership 
The capacity and skills needed to transition to a new model has been developed and put into place as part of the 
Governance structure of CPFT supported by short term investment in project capacity offered at system level. 
Existing leadership arrangements would continue with supporting staff enabled to act under the leadership of the 
current management team. The development of ICC leadership will further enhance the opportunities to strengthen 
local clinical leadership in each community over a planned period of transition. 
 
Estates and Infrastructure 
The planned development of additional beds in each of the options will require additional capital investment as 
described in the pre consultation business case. 
 
Statement of Deliverability of Conclusions from the Critical Option Appraisal 
There was consensus that we should keep to the 104 ‘medical’ community hospital beds number proposed in the 
Success Regime consultation. 
 
Draft implementation plans have been developed which would enable us to move towards a consolidated and 
reduced hospital bed base but over a period of years. 
The timeline for implementation of this model is directly affected by a longstanding staffing fragility issue which is at 
high risk of deteriorating should a decision be reached to close hospital beds in any of the communities. It is 
important to note therefore that any period of planned implementation may be curtailed as a result of prolonged 
uncertainty for staff and that we may need to close facilities sooner than planned. 
 Whether planned or reactive we can deliver a reduction in sites and beds in line with the proposal made. There may 
be some shorter term impact on patient flow but plans to provide enhanced community services and in particular 
offer 7 day services in ICC’s will absorb much of this over time. 
 
 
There was agreement that we should aim to optimise the ward sizes in the other community hospitals as proposed 
in the consultation to a minimum of 16 to give future resilience and more cost effective staffing models. 
 
Draft implementation plans have been established for a number of scenarios based on the options within the 
consultation. As stated above, the timeline would be affected by the impact on staff at any units affected by a 
decision. 
 
Maryport alternative option 2 achieves the proposed bed reduction (-13 beds) but invests more in Maryport for 
admission avoidance and population health. 
 
The development of the options for the services in Maryport has included Service Managers and staff within CPFT. 
From a staff perspective there is broad agreement with the proposal to provide a service aimed to support people in 

549



APPENDIX 9 
the community to avoid admission to acute or community beds. Resources have been quantified as part of the 
modelling and this has now been expanded to include a fuller implementation plan to enable any transition. It is 
proposed that we would achieve deliverability of the model if resources were protected through this proposal thus 
enabling staff to practice in Maryport within a new service.  
It would be delivered using the principles and approach to the implementation of the Hospital at Home Service in 
Carlisle where transition was achieved through a 3 month process focusing on the reorientation and re-training of 
staff. 
 
It should be noted that as yet no plans have been made to deliver an integrated service with Social Care staff aimed 
at admission avoidance. The design and delivery of this model would be progressed as part of the ICC agenda. 
Without protected investment in line with the proposal this would be an undeliverable option. 
 
The Wigton and Alston proposals require further work subject to discussions and agreement  
with the county council. 
 
It is not possible at this stage to assess deliverability of this proposal without the active involvement of other 
providers and commissioners.  

 

 

550



Our Ref: SE/JAL/JL 

Date: 24 February 2017 

Mr P Rooney 
Chief Operating Officer 
Cumbria CCG 

Sent via email only 

Executive office 
Cumberland Infirmary 

Carlisle 
CA2 7HY 

Direct Tel:  (01228) 814001 
Email: Stephen.Eames@ncuh.nhs.uk 

Dear Peter 

WNE Cumbria Health Consultation – Option Deliverability Statement from NCUHT 

This letter provides a concise assessment of the deliverability of the service configuration 
options set out in the W,N,E Cumbria Public Consultation. As requested, NCUHT has 
considered option deliverability against the following key criteria: 

 Workforce sustainability

 Operational management  & clinical leadership

 Estates & infrastructure and associated capital costs.

Our assessment of Public Consultation option viability against these criteria is set out below. 

Emergency and Acute Care 

The Trust Board supports the continuation of 24/7 emergency and acute care at both WCH 
and CIC in line with the clearly articulated wishes of W,N,E, Cumbria population. This is 
underpinned by a high level of confidence in the Composite Work force model at WCH, where 
increasing numbers of appropriate trained and experienced non-medical clinicians will 
progressively reduce our reliance upon locum middle grade staff and will improve our ability to 
recruit Consultant Physicians. The Trust therefore prefers option one; the continued provision 
of 24/7 A&E and acute inpatient care at both WCH and CIC, recognising that some more 
seriously ill patients will be transferred from WCH to CIC.  

Emergency & Acute Care Option 1 – Maintaining A&E, acute medicine and ITU at WCH 
& CIC: This option is assessed as deliverable. Workforce sustainability issues are being 
addressed through the Composite Workforce Strategy and joint clinical / academic 
appointments with UCLan. There are no significant operational or clinical leadership concerns. 
Estate and infrastructure are well founded at WCH with the new build, and the impending 
reconfiguration of the Emergency floor at CIC will further support this option.  

APPENDIX 9

551

mailto:Stephen.Eames@ncuh.nhs.uk


 

 

 

Emergency & Acute Care Option 3 – Consolidation at CIC: This option is assessed as not 
deliverable. This option would improve workforce sustainability. However, the current 
configuration of services based at CIC and the existing estate will not permit the transfer of 
appx 80 beds from WCH to CIC. Future modifications to the estate, combined with further 
redistribution of clinical services across the W,N,E Cumbria health system may make this 
option viable in the future. 

 

Hyper Acute Stroke Care  
 
The Hyper Acute Stroke Unit (HASU) model is recognised best practice for the care of 
patients experiencing an acute stroke. Both the National ‘Stroke Tsar’ and the Stroke 
Association have been clear in their advice that a single stroke unit based at Carlisle is the 
optimal clinical model to adopt. The Trust Board therefore supports option 2; the creation of a 
new Hyper Acute Stroke Unit at CIC with subsequent acute care & rehabilitation provided at 
WCH and CIC. 
 
HASU Option 1 – Acute model status quo:  This option is deliverable, but with significant 
reservations. It fails to deliver recognised improvements to patient care. Continuation with the 
current model exacerbates our difficulties in sustainably staffing the service, as it duplicates 
staffing requirements (especially for Consultant and Specialist Stroke staff) in the context of a 
national Stroke Clinician shortage across the UK.   
 
HASU Option 2 – Single HASU at CIC:  This option is assessed as deliverable. It better 
supports a sustainable workforce, not least because the adoption of a best practice stroke 
model will improve our competitive position in respect of recruitment. Recruitment will, 
however, remain a challenge and innovative approaches to staffing (composite model & 
network relationships with adjacent Trusts) will be necessary. There are no operational or 
clinical leadership concerns, nor any estate or infrastructure concerns.  

Emergency & Acute Care Option 2 – Daytime A&E at WCH, ITU at CIC only: This option is
assessed  as  not  presently  deliverable;  although,  should  the  impact  of  Integrated  Care
Communities (ICCs) deliver the anticipated reduction in need for acute beds, it may be in the
future. The removal of ITU and overnight A&E from WCH will result increased transfers to,
and admissions at, CIC. This option will only marginally improve workforce sustainability and
in some respects worsen staff productivity as core clinical cover will be retained for fewer
patient numbers. It is operationally the most complex option and may to some extent confuse
service users. The key challenge will be the transfer of clinical activity from WCH to CIC
equating to appx 30 beds; current service configuration and the existing estate at CIC, at
present, preclude this option.

552



 

 

Emergency Surgery and Trauma & Orthopaedics at WCH  

 
The Trust Board supports the proposal to maintain changes to service provision at WCH 
already made on grounds of safety, but additionally to; conduct further minor trauma surgery 
at WCH, return more non-complex day surgery to WCH, provide additional fracture clinics at 
WCH, and improve communication channels between GPs and Surgeons. This proposal will 
increase the range and capacity of surgical services provided in West Cumbria. 
 
Adoption of proposal: The proposal is assessed as deliverable; there are no specific 
workforce concerns, or concerns relating to operational or clinical leadership. The proposal 
has the benefit of transferring surgical activity to WCH, releasing bed capacity (appx 16 beds) 
at CIC – which will enable the transfer of clinical activity proposed in other consultation options 
to CIC.  
 
Non-adoption: This option is assessed as not deliverable; as it will compromise clinical safety 
and unravel the improvements to surgical outcomes achieved. Non-adoption will worsen 
workforce sustainability in some surgical specialities and limit the expansion of surgical 
services available in West Cumbria.  

 

Maternity Service   
 
Of all the areas considered in the public consultation, proposals for the future provision of 
maternity services are recognised as the most complex, emotive and contentious. The Trust 
has made strenuous efforts to understand public opinion, assess the comparative merits of 
the clinical service options proposed, absorb the clinical advice provided by a variety of 
external professional and expert sources, and take into account the relative risks associated 
with the options proposed.   
 
After much deliberation, the Trust continues to support Option 2; the development of a 
Maternity Service configured with a single Consultant Led Unit (CLU) and an alongside MLU 
at CIC and an MLU at WCH, including retention of the midwife led Birthing Unit at Penrith 
Hospital. 
 
Maternity Option 1 – CLU & MLU at both sites: This option is assessed as highly unlikely to 
be deliverable. Workforce sustainability concerns over Obstetrics middle grade recruitment, 
Consultant Paediatricians (new born resuscitation) and Senior Anaesthetists (emergency 
interventions, separate from intensive care and other duties) mean that this option is 
considered extremely challenging . There are no operational management issues, although 
some concerns have been expressed over effective clinical leadership of the current service, 
as a single team, across two sites.  The estate at WCH & CIC will support this option. 
 
Maternity Option 2 – MLU only at WCH: This option is assessed as deliverable. There are 
no definitive workforce concerns, although potential reluctance of WCH Midwifes to relocate to 
CIC may be problematic in the short term. There are no operational management or clinical 
leadership concerns with this model and the estate at WCH & CIC will support this option. The 
relocation of births equates to the transfer of appx 15 beds from WCH to CIC – this will be 
offset by the planned transfer of emergency & more complex surgery and T&O activity from 
CIC to WCH. 
 

553



 

 

 

Children’s Services  

 
The short stay assessment model is well recognised as best practice in paediatric care. 
Continuing difficulty recruiting and retaining senior Paediatric clinicians, as well as the 
inefficiencies of operating a twin site service for a comparative small population, are important 
considerations. The Trust Board therefore supports Option one; the provision of an Inpatient & 
SSPAU at CIC and the development of a SSPAU with associated low acuity overnight beds at 
WCH. 
 
Children’s Services Option 1 - SSPAU on both sites, only low acuity overnight care at 
WCH: This option is assessed as deliverable. Reduction of overnight care at WCH to low 
acuity significantly improves workforce sustainability across the Paediatric team.  This 
sustainability gain is not achieved if this option is combined with maternity option one –as this 
option requires Paediatrician availability within 30 mins 24/7 at WCH. Recruitment & training of 
APNPs to staff the low acuity beds at WCH might also prove challenging in the short term. 
There are no operational or clinical leadership concerns with this model. Increased admissions 
to CIC will be accommodated by converting day-beds to acute overnight beds, plus an 
addition four beds. The existing service footprint will accept these changes so there are no 
estate / infrastructure concerns.  
 
Children’s Services Option 2 - SSPAU only at WCH: This option is assessed as 
deliverable. Cessation of overnight care at WCH significantly improves workforce sustainability 
across the Paediatric team to a greater extent than option 1.  There are no operational or 
clinical leadership concerns with this model. Increased admissions to CIC will be 
accommodated by converting day-beds to acute overnight beds plus an additional 7 beds. The 
existing service footprint will accept these changes so there are no estate / infrastructure 
concerns. Modest capital spend will be required to extend clinical areas into space currently 
used for administration. 
 
Children’s Services Option 3 - Consolidation of paediatric inpatient care at CIC: This 
option is assessed as deliverable. Consolidation of day assessment and inpatient paediatrics 
at WCH radically improves workforce sustainability.  There are no operational or clinical 
leadership concerns with this model. Increased admissions to CIC will be accommodated by 
converting day-beds to acute overnight beds plus an additional 10 beds. The existing service 
footprint will accept these changes so there are no estate / infrastructure concerns. Modest 
capital spend will be required to extend clinical areas into space currently used for 
administration. 
 
 
 
 
 

Maternity Option 3 – Consolidation of births at CIC: This option is assessed as deliverable.
There are no definitive workforce concerns, although potential reluctance of WCH Midwifes to
relocate to CIC may be problematic in the short term. There are no operational management
or clinical leadership concerns with this model and the estate at WCH & CIC will support this
option. The relocation of births equates to the transfer of appx 17 beds from WCH to CIC –
this will be offset by the planned transfer of emergency & more complex surgery and T&O
activity from CIC to WCH.

554



 

 

NCUHT Estate – ‘Will it Fit?’ 

 
The chief consideration in reviewing the Public Consultation options has been that several 
propose the consolidation of clinical services at CIC. Clearly there are estate limitations upon 
the viability of adopting all those consolidation options concurrently. 
 
The most significant consolidation options concern the partial and complete consolidation of 
A&E, emergency & acute medicine at CIC. These have both been assessed as not deliverable 
due to the number of additional acute beds required at CIC. It should be noted that partial 
consolidation of A&E, emergency & acute medicine at CIC (option 2) might become viable if 
ICCs deliver intended care closer to home / acute activity reduction effects. 
 
The full consolidation of all maternity services at CIC (option 3) is another significant proposal 
with impacts on the CIC estate. It is assessed that maternity consolidation at CIC can be 
achieved, independently of any benefits derived from the SR strategy of ICCs delivering care 
closer to home / acute activity reduction,  if the transfer of emergency & more complex surgery 
and Trauma & Orthopaedics to WCH takes place as proposed. 
 
Lastly, Children’s Services – Full consolidation of paediatric inpatient care at CIC (option 3): 
This option is assessed as deliverable from an estates perspective (as is option 2). Increased 
admissions to CIC will be accommodated by converting existing day-beds to acute overnight 
beds, and adding an additional 10 beds. The existing service footprint will accept these 
changes so there are no estate / infrastructure concerns. Modest capital spend will be 
required to extend clinical areas into adjacent space currently used for administration. 
 
I hope this letter provides a clear picture of our views concerning the deliverability of WNE 
Cumbria Public Consultation options.  
 
Yours sincerely 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Stephen Eames 

CHIEF EXECUTIVE & STP LEAD FOR  

WEST, NORTH & EAST CUMBRIA 

 
cc Trust Board Members 
 

555



APPENDIX 9

556



557



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	5 HEALTHCARE FOR THE FUTURE - WNE CUMBRIA
	Appendix 1 - Protocol
	Appendix 2 NHS Cumbria CCG Gov Body Mins
	Appendix 3
	1. Executive Summary
	1.1 Introduction to the executive summary
	1.2 Background to the proposed options
	1.3 Engagement and consultation
	1.4 The decision-making process
	1.5 The decision-making context
	1.6 Summary of recommendations
	1.7 Implementation considerations
	1.8 Next steps for the decision-making process

	2. Introduction
	3. Overview of the process to date
	3.1 The Clinical Strategy for West, North and East Cumbria
	3.2 Pre-consultation stage
	3.3 Independent expert advice and assurance
	3.4 Impact and risk assessment

	4. Engagement and the consultation
	4.1 Pre-consultation engagement
	4.2 The public consultation process
	4.3 Findings from the public consultation

	5. Decision-making process
	6. Decision-making context
	7. Maternity services
	7.1 Specific findings of the public consultation in relation to Maternity Services
	7.2 Overall consideration of the options
	7.2.1 External clinical view
	7.2.2 Travel time risk and impact on patients and their families experience
	7.2.3 Risk associated with transfer between sites
	7.2.4 Impact on choice

	7.3 Recommendations for Maternity Services
	7.4 Implementation considerations for Maternity Services

	8. Children’s services
	8.1 Specific findings of the public consultation in relation to Children’s Services
	8.2 Overall consideration of the options
	8.2.1 Travel time and transfers
	8.2.2 External clinical view

	8.3 Recommendations for Children’s Services
	8.4 Implementation considerations for Children’s Services

	9. Community hospital inpatient beds
	9.1 Specific findings of the public consultation in relation to the community hospital proposals
	9.2 Overall consideration of the options
	9.3 Recommendation for the community hospital bed base

	10. Emergency and acute services
	10.1 Specific findings of the public consultation in relation to emergency and acute services
	10.2 Overall consideration of the options
	10.3 Recommendation for the emergency and acute services

	11 Hyper-acute stroke services
	11.1 Specific findings of the public consultation in relation to hyper-acute stroke service
	11.2 Overall consideration of the options
	11.3 Recommendation for the hyper-acute stroke services
	11.4 Implementation considerations

	12. Emergency surgery, trauma and orthopaedic services
	12.1 Specific findings of the public consultation in relation to emergency surgery, trauma and orthopaedics
	12.2 Overall consideration of the options
	12.3 Recommendation for emergency surgery and trauma and orthopaedics

	13. Final decision-making considerations
	14. Implementation considerations
	15. Next steps for the decision-making process
	16. List of appendices

	Background 1
	Appendix 1 Equality Impact Assessment -  Cover Sheet
	Appendix 1 Part A
	Paediatric Services

	Appendix 1 Part B
	1) Introduction
	2) Impact Analysis Methodology
	3) Public Health, General Practice and Integrated Care Communities
	4) Community Hospitals
	5) Maternity Services
	6) Paediatric Services
	7) Emergency & Acute Care
	8) Emergency Surgery, Trauma & Orthopaedics
	9) Hyper-Acute Stroke
	10) Conclusions & Recommendations


	Background 2
	Appendix 2 Health Impact Assessment - Cover Sheet
	Appendix 2 Health Impact Assessment
	Other factors highlighted during public consultation:
	People expressed concern about the immunisation status of children from the following groups: immigrants, refugees, gypsies and travelers. The concern expressed was that children may be more likely to require acute care if they became ill with a serio...


	Background 3
	Appendix 3 Travel Impact Analysis - Cover Sheet
	Appendix 3a Acute Hospitals Travel Impact Analysis
	Report Specification

	Appendix 3a Notes on Acute Hospitals Travel Impact Analysis
	Appendix 3b Community Hospitals Travel Impact Assessment
	Appendix 3c Travel Impact Assessment ICC Assumptions
	Report Specification


	Background 4
	Appendix 4 Rural Proofing Cover Sheet
	Appendix 4 Rural Proofing Assessment

	Background 5
	Appendix 5 Approach to Risk assessment cover sheet
	Appendix 5 Risk Explanatory Paper
	Our approach to Risk
	Introduction
	Making judgements of risk for Healthcare for the Future
	Weighing up risk – why we have most often quoted risk assessments qualitatively rather than quantitatively
	Specific individual risks and mitigations for our preferred options
	Conclusion

	Appendix 5 Maternity Appendix

	Background 6
	Executive summary
	Background to the consultation
	The consultation process
	Headline findings
	Maternity services
	The proposals
	The findings

	Children’s services
	The proposals

	Community hospital inpatient services
	The proposals
	The findings

	Emergency and acute care
	The proposals
	The findings

	Hyper-acute stroke services
	The proposals
	The findings

	Emergency surgery, trauma and orthopaedic services
	The proposal
	The findings


	Concluding comments

	1 About the consultation
	1.1 Background to the consultation
	1.2 The consultation process
	1.3 Responses to the consultation
	1.4 Interpreting the response

	2 Analysis of consultation questionnaire responses
	2.1 Introduction
	2.2 Consultation questionnaire response
	2.3 Maternity services - key findings
	2.3.1 Background
	2.3.2 Quantitative findings
	2.3.3 Qualitative comments
	Attitudes towards maternity options
	Support for Maternity Option 1
	Support for Maternity Option 2
	Support for Maternity Option 3
	Rejection of all options

	Key themes
	Impact on patient well-being and risk to life
	Access to essential and timely maternity care
	The effect of resourcing on quality of care
	Wider financial, economic and social concerns

	Additional suggestions
	The location of maternity and birth units
	Staff, skills and recruitment
	Funding
	Transport and infrastructure



	2.4 Children’s services - key findings
	2.4.1 Background
	2.4.2 Quantitative findings
	2.4.3 Qualitative findings
	Support for Children’s Option 1
	Support for Children’s Option 2
	Support for Children’s Option 3
	Rejection of options
	Level of inpatient service at West Cumberland Hospital
	Distance from and access to full paediatric services
	Barriers to travelling
	Effects of difficulty of journey
	Separation of child and support (family and carers) and effects

	Resources and staffing
	Staffing
	Capacity and beds
	Ambulance service

	Additional safety impacts
	Equality of services
	Consultation comments
	Suggestions
	Staffing and recruitment
	Alternative location of services
	Alternative ways of working
	Additional elements with options
	Endorsements



	2.5 Community hospital inpatient beds - key findings
	2.5.1 Background
	2.5.2 Quantitative findings
	2.5.3 Qualitative comments
	Attitudes towards community hospitals inpatient beds options
	Support for Community Hospitals Inpatients Option 1
	Support for Community Hospitals Inpatients Option 2
	Support for Community Hospitals Inpatients Option 3
	Support for Option 4
	Rejection of options

	Key themes
	Accessibility to local healthcare and patient safety
	Effect of resourcing on quality of care
	The case for community hospitals
	Wider financial, economic and social concerns
	Alternative suggestions
	Reallocating inpatient bed provision
	Recruitment and staffing
	Services offered at community hospitals and at home
	Management and governance of Community Hospitals
	Other



	2.6 Emergency and acute care services - key findings
	2.6.1 Background
	2.6.2 Quantitative findings
	2.6.3 Qualitative comments
	Attitudes towards emergency and acute options
	Support for Emergency and Acute Option 1
	Support for Emergency and Acute Option 2 and 3
	Rejection of all options

	Key themes
	Accessibility and travel
	Patient safety
	Staffing
	Inequality
	Capacity and resources
	Alternative suggestions


	2.7 Hyper-acute stroke services
	2.7.1 Background
	2.7.2 Quantitative findings
	2.7.3 Qualitative comments
	Attitudes towards hyper-acute stroke options
	Support for Hyper-Acute Stroke Option 1
	Support for Hyper-Acute Stroke Option 2
	Rejection of options

	Key themes
	Patient safety, well-being and risk to life
	The effect of resources on quality of care
	Wider financial, economic and social concerns
	Alternative suggestions


	2.8 Emergency surgery, trauma and orthopaedic services - key findings
	2.8.1 Background
	2.8.2 Qualitative comments
	Support for the proposal
	Opposition to the proposal
	Staff and recruitment
	Staff and consultants
	West Cumberland Hospital-centric response
	Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle-centric response

	Recruitment
	Resources and capacity
	Facilities

	Location and accessibility
	Impact of distance and journey time
	Choice of location
	Separation from support networks

	Effect of Private Finance Initiative
	Ambulance service
	Economic effects
	Equality and fairness
	Quality of care
	Lack of trust or information
	Trust in the process and decision making
	Trust in rationale and supporting evidence
	Lack of necessary information

	Alternative suggestions
	Mitigation for concentration or centralisation of services in Carlisle
	Service provision
	Alternative allocations of services
	Financial
	Resources and capacity
	Staff and recruitment



	2.9 Views about the vision and wider health and social care strategy
	Key findings
	Support for the vision and strategy
	Concerns about the vision and strategy

	Key themes
	Patient safety
	Transport
	Wider health and social impact
	Concerns about Cumberland Infirmary Carlisle
	Costs
	Staff
	Decision-making and management
	Alternative suggestions


	2.10 Personal impact
	General responses
	None
	Yes…
	Save West Cumbria Hospital
	Responding for the community
	Pointless question
	Impacted groups
	Expectant mothers
	Senior citizens
	Friends and family
	Healthcare professionals
	Geography and demography
	Other service providers

	Other Considerations
	Economy
	Mental wellbeing


	2.11 Other comments
	Key findings


	3 Analysis of individual submissions
	3.1 Introduction
	3.2 Extended responses
	3.3 Summary of key themes
	Maternity Services
	Children’s Services
	Community Hospital Inpatient Beds
	Emergency and Acute Care
	Hyper-Acute Stroke Services
	Emergency Surgery, Trauma and Orthopaedic Services
	Wider strategy
	Integrated Care Communities
	Suggestions

	Overarching Comments
	Financial motivation and impact
	Inequality
	Recruitment and retention
	West Cumberland Hospital
	Impact upon other services

	Consultation Comments
	The consultation process and documentation
	Local input
	Trust in the Success Regime



	4 Analysis of organisational and stakeholder submissions
	4.1 Introduction
	4.2 National organisations
	4.3 Staff groups and trade unions
	4.4 Local and regional NHS and medical bodies
	4.5 Elected Representatives
	4.6 Health and Patient Representation Groups
	4.7 Community and other Local Groups
	4.8 Local Authorities
	4.9 Other experts and organisations

	5 Analysis of public meetings
	5.1 Introduction
	5.2 Meeting format
	5.3 How issues were recorded
	5.4 Summary of issues raised by meeting
	Silloth, 12th October 2016
	Millom, 13th October 2016
	Appleby, 13th October 2016
	Carlisle, 18th October 2016
	Maryport, 19th October 2016
	Whitehaven, 19th October 2016
	Penrith, 25th October 2016
	Wigton, 25th October 2016
	Kirkby Stephen, 26th October 2016
	Alston, 26th October 2016
	Workington, 7th November 2016
	Whitehaven, 8th November 2016
	Cockermouth, 9th November 2016
	Brampton, 21st November 2016
	Keswick, 28th November 2016
	Carlisle, 29th November 2016
	Egremont, 30th November 2016


	6 Analysis of stakeholder meetings
	6.1 Introduction
	6.2 Summary of issues raised at stakeholder meetings
	Maryport Health Alliance, Maryport, 5 October 2016
	Penrith League of Friends, Penrith, 6 October 2016
	Workington stakeholder update, Workington, 12 October 2016
	West Cumbria Community Forum, Cleator Moor, 14 October 2016
	CVS Action for Health meeting, Penrith, 17 October 2016
	Brampton Hospital meeting, Brampton, 17 October 2016
	Maryport Health Alliance, Maryport, 19 October 2016
	Cumbria County Council Health Scrutiny Committee, 13 October 2016
	Cumbria CCG AGM, Kendal, 1 November 2016
	Allerdale and Copeland Local Area Committee meeting, Wigton, 2 November 2016
	Penrith stakeholder meeting, Penrith, 7 November 2016
	Cockermouth League of Friends meeting, Cockermouth, 7 November 2016
	Copeland Scrutiny meeting, Whitehaven, 7 November 2016
	Eden District Council meeting, Penrith, 10 November 2016
	Copeland Disability Forum, Copeland, 23 November 2016
	Eden Local Council meeting, Penrith, 24 November 2016
	West Cumbria Community Forum, Cleator Moor, 25 November 2016
	Carlisle stakeholder meeting, Carlisle, 29 November 2016
	Breast Feeding support group; Bumps to Babies, Whitehaven; Antenatal group Egremont, 29 November 2016
	Eden Local Area Committee meeting, Penrith, 30 November 2016
	Equality Impact Analysis Workshop, Cumbria CCG, Penrith, 6 December 2016
	Cleator Moor stakeholder meeting, Cleator Moor, 7 December 2016
	LBGT stakeholders meeting, Carlisle, 15 December 2016

	6.3 Summary of issues raised at deliberative events
	Summary of the deliberative event on hyper-acute stroke services
	Summary of the deliberative event on community hospitals
	Summary of the deliberative event on maternity services and paediatrics
	Summary of the deliberative event with members of the deaf community


	7 Analysis of NHS staff meetings
	7.1 Introduction
	7.2 Themes from staff engagement

	8 Analysis of resident telephone survey
	8.1 Introduction
	8.2 Sample breakdown
	8.3 Findings
	Experience of using secondary care
	Awareness of the consultation
	Hospital services
	Maternity services
	Children’s services
	Community hospital inpatient beds
	Emergency and acute care services
	Stroke services
	Emergency surgery, trauma or orthopaedic services


	9 Analysis of other responses
	9.1 Introduction
	9.2 Social media
	Major concerns in response to the consultation
	Geography and Accessibility
	Separating Families
	Capacity
	Equality and Rights

	Suggestions
	Consultation criticism
	Campaign response

	9.3 Petitions
	Cumberland News: Save our Services
	Say No to Nonsense - Stop the Success Regime
	Women’s Institute
	Alston Labour Party: Petition Against The Success Regime's Proposals
	Our lives are under threat! Save Alston Cottage Hospital beds
	Penrith Border Labour Party: Success Regime Petition

	9.4 Campaign letters
	Campaign response 1 – West Cumbrians’ Voice for Health Care
	Campaign response 2

	9.5 Video submissions
	9.6 Press clippings


	Background 7 & 8
	Appendix 7 and 8 Clinical assurance and advice - Cover Sheet
	Appendix 7 GMLSC Senate Review Response Paper for WNE Cumbria Mat and Paeds - Febru...
	Appendix 8 Northern England Maternity Network 21.12.16

	Background 9
	Appendix 9 Cover Sheet
	Appendix 9 CPFT
	Re: Community Hospitals and the Success Regime Consultation
	Chief Executive

	Appendix 9 NCUHT
	Appendix 9 NWAS



